
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

 

CABINET 
at the Council Offices, Farnborough on 

Tuesday, 3rd October, 2023 at 7.00 pm 
 

 
To: 

Cllr D.E. Clifford, Leader of the Council 
Cllr M.L. Sheehan, Deputy Leader and Operational Services Portfolio Holder 

Cllr M.J. Tennant, Deputy Leader and Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder 
 

Cllr J.B. Canty, Customer Experience, Transformation and Corporate Portfolio 
Holder 

Cllr Sue Carter, Democracy, Strategy and Partnerships Portfolio Holder 
Cllr G.B. Lyon, Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder 

Cllr P.G. Taylor, Finance Portfolio Holder 
 

 
Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to Chris Todd, Democratic 

Support Officer, on 01252 398825 or e-mail: chris.todd@rushmoor.gov.uk 
 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST –  
 
Under the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors, all Members are required to 
disclose relevant Interests in any matter to be considered at the meeting.  Where the 
matter directly relates to a Member’s Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Other 
Registrable Interest, that Member must not participate in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless they have been granted a 
dispensation (see note below). If the matter directly relates to ‘Non-Registrable 
Interests’, the Member’s participation in the meeting will depend on the nature of the 
matter and whether it directly relates or affects their financial interest or well-being or 
that of a relative, friend  or close associate, applying the tests set out in the Code. 

Public Document Pack



 
NOTE: 
On 27th May, 2021, the Council’s Corporate Governance, Audit and Standards 
Committee granted dispensations to Members appointed by the Council to the Board 
of the Rushmoor Development Partnership and as Directors of Rushmoor Homes 
Limited. 
 

2. MINUTES – (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 12th September, 2023 (copy 
attached). 
 

3. FARNBOROUGH LEISURE AND CULTURAL HUB – NEXT STEPS – (Pages 5 - 
576) 
(Cllr Martin Tennant, Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder) 
 
To consider Report No. REG2307 (copy attached), which sets out the latest position 
in relation to the delivery of a Leisure and Cultural Hub in Farnborough. 
 
 

----------- 
 



- 15 - 
 

CABINET 
 
Meeting held on Tuesday, 12th September, 2023 at the Council Offices, 
Farnborough at 7.00 pm. 
 
Voting Members 

Cllr D.E. Clifford, Leader of the Council 
Cllr M.L. Sheehan, Deputy Leader and Operational Services Portfolio Holder 

Cllr M.J. Tennant, Deputy Leader and Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder 
 

Cllr J.B. Canty, Customer Experience, Transformation and Corporate Portfolio 
Holder 

Cllr Sue Carter, Democracy, Strategy and Partnerships Portfolio Holder 
Cllr G.B. Lyon, Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder 

Cllr P.G. Taylor, Finance Portfolio Holder 
 

The Cabinet considered the following matters at the above-mentioned meeting. All 
executive decisions of the Cabinet shall become effective, subject to the call-in 
procedure, from 25th September, 2023. 
 

21. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – 
 
Having regard to the Council’s Code of Conduct for Councillors, no declarations of 
interest were made. 
 

22. MINUTES – 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 8th August, 2023 were confirmed 
and signed by the Chairman. 
 

23. HOUSING AND HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION STRATEGY 2023-2027 – 
(Cllr Gareth Lyon, Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder) 
 
The Cabinet considered Report No. PG2329, which set out the Council’s proposed 
Housing and Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2023-2027. 
 
Members were informed that this document set out the Council’s strategic approach 
to housing and homelessness prevention. It also met the Council’s statutory 
obligation to have a Homelessness Strategy in place and supported the delivery of 
the separate Rough Sleeping Plan. It was explained that the document has been 
developed in consultation with the Council’s Policy and Project Advisory Board and 
the Strategic Housing and Local Plan Group. The scope of the strategy had been 
broadened to address current issues across all housing tenures and to develop 
housing products and services for the future that would better serve residents, 
communities and the economy. 
 
In expressing its strong support for the Strategy, the Cabinet stressed its importance 
in assisting the Council to meet its obligations in relation to the provision of new 
homes. 
 

Pack Page 1

AGENDA ITEM No. 2



- 16 - 
 

The Cabinet RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL that the adoption of the Housing 
and Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2023-2027, as set out in Report No. 
RG2329, be approved. 
 

24. ALDERSHOT CREMATORIUM - PROPOSAL TO UNDERTAKE FULL 
REFURBISHMENT OF EXISTING FACILITY – 
(Cllr Maurice Sheehan, Operational Services Portfolio Holder) 
 
The Cabinet received Report No. OS2312, which set out the full business case for 
the Council to undertake a major refurbishment of the Aldershot Crematorium and 
requested the approval of capital funding to progress the scheme through to 
development. 
 
Members were informed that, due to the age of the facility and the heavy operational 
demands, significant repair and refurbishment works were now required in addition 
to the regular maintenance regime. Other local crematoria had all seen significant 
investment in recent years and it was reported that, over that same period, demand 
for cremations at the Aldershot Crematorium had fallen. It was considered that 
investment was required to remain competitive and avoid further decline. It was 
proposed that the chapels at the Redan Road Cemetery would be refurbished and 
used as a temporary facility for services whilst the works at the main site were in 
progress. 
 
In discussing this, Members acknowledged the importance of this facility and service 
and were supportive of the proposed approach. 
 
The Cabinet  

 
(i) RESOLVED that: 

 
(a)  the total funding requirement of £4.726 million, as set out in Report No. 

OS2312, be approved, broken down as follows: 
- refurbishment of Aldershot Crematorium - £3.537 million 
- supply and installation of a new fully functional cremator to 

accompany existing, with abatement and DeNOx capability - 
£0.9 million 

- refurbishment of the chapels at the Redan Road Cemetery to be 
used as a temporary facility during the main works - £0.289 
million; 

 
(b)  the impact on the 2024/25 budget, which would require additional costs 

of around £0.457 million to be incorporated into the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy for consideration as part of the 2024/25 budget 
setting process, be noted, along with the fact that, from 2025/26 
onwards, surplus funds of around £0.2 million would be available to 
contribute towards future revenue budgets; and 

 
(ii) RECOMMENDED TO THE COUNCIL that approval be given to an additional 

capital allocation of £1.152 million for the crematorium refurbishment project, 
over and above the £3.574 million already agreed as part of the existing 
Capital Programme. 

Pack Page 2



- 17 - 
 

 
25. DEVEREUX HOUSE, FARNBOROUGH - EXTENSION OF LEASE TERM – 

(Cllr Martin Tennant, Major Projects and Property Portfolio Holder) 
 
The Cabinet considered Report No. PG2330, which sought approval to amend the 
length of the lease to be granted in respect of Devereux House, Albert Road, 
Farnborough from 199 years to 399 years to facilitate the redevelopment of the 
property into a replacement care home. 

 
Members were reminded that they had, previously, approved the disposal of the 
property by the granting of a development option with a 199 year headlease. 
Negotiations had been ongoing with a party that was considering purchasing the 
site. The Proposed Purchaser had asked whether, in order to market the premises 
to obtain a tenant or operator, the term of the proposed lease could be extended to 
399 years. It was confirmed that Sanderson Weatherall, the Council’s consultant on 
property matters, had confirmed that this extension would not materially affect the 
level of the valuation that had been provided previously. 
 
In discussing this matter, the Cabinet requested that any future owner or operator 
should be asked to consider retaining the current property name of Devereux 
House. 
 
The Cabinet RESOLVED that the extension of the term of the proposed long ground 
lease of Devereux House to up to 399 years, as set out in Report No. PG2330, be 
approved. 
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 7.20 pm. 
 
 
 

CLLR D.E. CLIFFORD, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
 

----------- 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Pack Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 3rd October 
2023 

COUNCILLOR MARTIN TENNANT 
MAJOR PROJECTS AND PROPERTY 

KEY DECISION? YES 
REPORT NO REG2307 

FARNBOROUGH LEISURE AND CULTURAL HUB – NEXT STEPS 

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS: 

In January 2023 the Government announced that the Council’s bid for £20m 
Levelling Up funding to support the delivery of a Leisure and Cultural Hub in 
Farnborough had been successful. In March 2023 Cabinet considered a report 
(REG2303) which identified the next steps in the project, authorised allocation of 
funding to enable work to commence and confirmed that Council should enter 
into a Memorandum of Understanding with Government to enable the drawdown 
of funding. The report also provided budget to enable the project to procure a 
Leisure Operator to commence. 

This report provides an update on the current position with the Leisure and 
Cultural Hub project and work undertaken on the design development. It 
proposes the final project scope, seeks confirmation of the schedule of 
accommodation to be included in the design and asks for permission to submit 
the required planning application(s). This report also confirms that officers will 
commence negotiation regarding the sale of Council owned land and termination 
of associated leases to enable the construction of a mobility hub. 

This report also sets out the approach and timing for the Leisure Operator 
procurement to ensure that the new operator can input into the final design of the 
facility. 

Finally, this report identifies the budget required to complete the pre-construction 
phases of the project and sets out the associated funding strategy and risks. 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1) Approves the scope of the project as follows:
a. Leisure and Cultural Hub to include:

• Leisure Centre with the revised facilities mix as set out in
paragraph 3.12

• Shared café/bar

• Library and associated community space

Pack Page 5

AGENDA ITEM No. 3



 

• Cultural space including art gallery, digital lab, collaboration
space and studios

• Customer access to council and voluntary sector services

• Council Offices

• Meeting rooms
b. Mobility Hub (circa 350 spaces)
c. Skate park
d. Play area

2) Agrees to progress design development to RIBA Stage 3, planning
submission and associated costs of circa £1,050m.

3) Delegate to the Executive Director in consultation with the Portfolio Holder
for Major Projects and Property and the Project Board as required to agree
the approach to finalise the sustainability and design based on Return-on-
Investment modelling.

4) Notes the project timetable, decision gateways and dependencies as set
out in the report.

5) Agrees the intended land assembly process as set out in confidential
Appendix 1.

6) Notes the estimated project budget and current funding strategy.
7) Agrees the overall operator procurement and appointment approach as

outlined in this report.
8) Confirms the immediate commencement of the operator procurement

process in accordance with the draft contract specification and conditions
outlined in appendices 2 & 3.

9) Delegates any decision to amend the procurement documentation as
required throughout the process to the Executive Head of Operations in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Operational Services

10) Agrees a further extension of the existing contract with Places Leisure to
operate the Aldershot Pools & Lido by up to 12 months, whilst the leisure
operator procurement process is undertaken.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to progress detailed 
design (to RIBA Stage 3 and planning submission) for the Leisure & Cultural 
Hub including Council office accommodation alongside the associated 
facilities including Mobility Hub, Play Area and Skate Park.   

1.2 The indicative project cost is £68 million including all elements of the scheme. 
This is the funding envelope that the project team will seek to achieve during 
design development. 

1.3 The report formally determines the scope and budget of the scheme and 
provides approval to undertake detailed design up to RIBA Stage 3 and 
submission of a reserved matters planning application.  

Pack Page 6



1.4 The cost for completion of the next phase of work is estimated at up to 
£1,050,411.  This will be funded using Levelling Up funding. 

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Since 2019, the site of the former Farnborough Recreation Centre, Plot B on 
the Civic Quarter Masterplan (See Figure 1 below) has been identified for the 
development of a new leisure centre. 

Figure 1 Civic Quarter Development Plots 

2.2 In 2020 (RP2009) an Outline Business Case was approved to develop a 
feasibility study for the development of a combined Leisure & Civic Hub 
including a new library and office space. The feasibility work considered a range 
of options including the relocation of the current Council offices alongside other 
public and voluntary sector uses. The relocation of the Council would enable 
the development of the Council’s current site (Plot J) for housing in line with the 
Masterplan aspirations. 

2.3 In February 2021 (Report OS2101), Cabinet took the decision not to re-open 
the existing Farnborough Leisure Centre due to the significant cost implications 
to the extension of the leisure contract because of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Following an interim use as a community testing venue, the building was 
demolished, and the site cleared ready for development of the new facility.  

2.4 In January 2023 confirmation was received that the Council’s application for 
£20million funding had been successful. Cabinet report REG2303 provided a 
detailed update on work undertaken to date on the project and secured 

Pack Page 7



approval of funding to commence design development (£900,000) as well as 
enter into a MoU with DLUHC. The MoU has now been signed and the first 
draw down of funding will take place in November 2023. 

2.5 The project set out in the bid includes co-located Leisure, Library and Cultural 
facilities. The Leisure offer includes a 6-court sports hall, 8-lane swimming pool, 
intermediate pool with moveable floor, large fitness suite, studios, soft play, 
health suite and TAGactive or similar. The Library and Cultural spaces include 
dedicated library area, digital lab, and a range of multi-purpose community 
rooms. It includes dedicated gallery and community gallery space as well as 
collaborative spaces for art projects. Spaces will wherever possible be flexible 
and multipurpose. The sports hall includes an area for tiered seating as well as 
acoustic separation to create performance space. A large café will also be 
located on the ground floor. 

2.6 Alongside the Hub, the project will deliver a car park, skate park and play area 
as part of the public realm elements of the Masterplan.  

2.7 Upon confirmation of LUF, the project team immediately engaged with 
colleagues at Hampshire County Council (HCC) to review the schedule of 
accommodation set out in the bid to understand current users and space 
utilisation in the library with a view to developing an area model that enables 
the delivery of the current offer (which is wider than just the traditional library 
functions) within an affordable area allocation.  The agreed outcome is detailed 
in section 3.15 below.   

2.8 During feasibility, a range of options were explored including providing new 
Council office accommodation as part of the scheme.  This was originally 
discounted as other options were explored (including Briarcliff Parc acquisition 
and Meads Business Centre).  Having reviewed alternative options, provision 
of office accommodation as part of the Leisure & Cultural Hub has been 
identified as a preferred option for development and has been included in 
options during RIBA Stage 2.  

2.9 RIBA Stage 2 development has been progressing over the summer period 
based on the scope outlined above with the inclusion of Council office 
accommodation.  

2.10 This report seeks to formally confirm the project scope and updates, indicative 
cost and next steps for delivery including commencement of Operator 
procurement.  

3. Project Brief and Scope

3.1 The scope of this project includes the following delivery: 

• Leisure, Library, Cultural and Civic Hub – Plot B

• Mobility Hub (350 spaces) – Plot A

• Skate Park – Between Plot A and B

• Large play area – public realm adjacent to Plot B

Pack Page 8



3.2 Detailed work has been undertaken to develop the brief for the project and the 
indicative Schedule of Accommodation (SoA) which has been used to inform 
options development in RIBA Stage 2.  The Stage One Brief for the project is 
included at Appendix 4 and the latest SoA reflecting RIBA 2 design is included 
at Appendix 5. 

3.3 A full design team has been appointed with GT3 as lead consultant to progress 
design up to the end of RIBA Stage 3 at which point it is proposed that they will 
novate to the main contractor.  

3.4 In July 2023 work began to develop RIBA Stage 2 design. RIBA Stage 2 
establishes the architectural concepts for the project and seeks to finalise the 
brief for the scheme prior to undertaking more detailed design development. 
Initial engagement with planning has taken place and an outline specification 
has been developed. An overview of Stage 2 design thinking is included in 
appendix 5. 

3.5 Upon approval of RIBA Stage 2, the final brief and scope for the scheme will be 
fixed and detailed design will commence.  This means that any changes after 
this are likely to have cost and programme implications. From this point a 
spatially coordinated design will be developed alongside a planning application 
which will be submitted at the end of Stage 3.   

3.6 Detailed technical design will then commence at RIBA Stage 4, preparing all 
design information required to manufacture and construct the project. This 
information will be costed by the Contractor and a detailed set of Contractors 
Proposals (CPs) and costs will be submitted at the end of RIBA Stage 4. 
Following review and agreement of this information and a contract sum, the 
Council will then enter into a construction contract and the build will commence. 
Cabinet approval will be sought prior to commencing RIBA Stage 4 
development.  

3.7 A detailed partner and community engagement programme during design has 
been developed and is included at appendix 6. 

Schedule of Accommodation 

Leisure 

3.8 In February 2019 the Council appointed GT3 Architects and Strategic Leisure 
Limited to look at options for the future provision of Farnborough Leisure Centre 
as part of its wider regeneration of the Farnborough Civic Quarter.  

3.9 A detailed Headline Needs Analysis was carried out which provided a strategic 
assessment of the existing Farnborough Leisure Centre facilities and set out 
the consultation feedback from the public, existing operator, clubs and users. 
This was revisited in 2021 to understand changes in the leisure market following 
the pandemic and ongoing engagement with operators has been undertaken 
as the brief has been finalised. 

Pack Page 9



3.10 In December 2019, Cabinet approved the proposed leisure facilities mix for a 
new Leisure Centre (OS1915). The mix was revisited in 2021, 2022 and again 
in recent months to understand any market changes that may have arisen 
following the pandemic, and to assess the viability of the scheme. This process 
has resulted in a revised facilities mix as detailed, below. Following feedback 
from leisure operators, the updated mix has reduced the 8-court sports hall to 
6-courts, and removed squash courts, treatment rooms and poolside sauna and
steam rooms. The commercial offer of the centre has also been reviewed and
it is likely that a larger soft play will be provided and that a specific commercial
offer may not be included. A new health suite has been introduced based on
market feedback and income generation potential.

3.11 To inform the final facilities mix, a number of soft market testing exercises have 
been undertaken with potential leisure operators. Having last engaged in March 
2022, further sessions with six major operators were undertaken last month. In 
addition to the leisure facilities offer, discussion topics included operational 
responsibilities, procurement process and timescales, risk allocation, net zero 
aspirations, financial arrangements and appetite to bid. Visits by the project 
team to a number of others centres similar to that proposed have also provided 
valuable intelligence. Industry specialists, Strategic Leisure, have provided 
financial modelling scenarios, including income generation assumptions, to 
inform the final mix. 

3.12 A summary of the proposed facilities mix is provided, below: 

• 25m x 8 lane pool

• Spectator provision (limited poolside seating, bring in additional for events as needed)

• 20m x 4 lane intermediate pool (with moveable floor)

• Village change (including Changing Places facility and group changing rooms)

• Fitness Suite (aiming for 150 to 170 stations)

• 6 court Sports Hall

• 2 x Studios (multi-purpose)

• Spinning studio (dedicated use)

• Café (100+ covers)

• Soft Play

• Retail & vending machine space

• Health suite

Library 

3.13 The delivery of the Civic Quarter Masterplan 
(https://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/town-centres-and-regeneration/farnborough-
civic-quarter/) requires the relocation of the existing Hampshire County 
Council Library with a commitment to reprovision of the service elsewhere 
within the development redline. Discussions have been underway between 
the two councils for a number of years to enable the smooth transition of any 
services. 

Pack Page 10

https://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/town-centres-and-regeneration/farnborough-civic-quarter/
https://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/town-centres-and-regeneration/farnborough-civic-quarter/


3.14 It is important for Members to understand that relocation to a new library facility 
will be based on the principle that the financial impact on the County Council 
should be neutral or better. This needs to recognise the current and future 
revenue cost of service provision, as well as the capital value of the freehold 
asset and providing the flexibility to deliver a range of services to residents and 
communities across Rushmoor, both now and into the future.  

3.15 Services include the Core Tier 1 Library provision in the area as well as the 
range of additional community facing activity currently delivered from the library 
site including the School Library Service, Community Link, Day Care Services 
and Youth Offending Service amongst others. All of these will need to be 
suitably re-homed as part of any change, at no additional cost to the County 
Council.  

3.16 Formal approval from the County Council will be based on a full and 
comprehensive business case, appropriate legal arrangements and will be 
subject to completion of statutory consultation which will be developed during 
the next phase of project delivery. The inputs for the business case will be 
completed during 2024 once the outcome of the operator procurement and 
costings of the detailed design are known. 

Culture 

3.17 The cultural brief was developed following analysis of the cultural strategy, 
identification of strengths and gaps within the cultural ecology and the 
opportunities to significantly enhance community engagement in arts and 
culture. There is currently very limited visual arts provision and limited 
community space both of which will be provided. The GIS gallery will enable 
borrowing art from national collections and will also allow development of an 
enhanced digital creative offer, which is a key strength in the local area.  

3.18 The space will allow immersive digital experiences and digital art both in 
specialist spaces and throughout the building. The digital lab will offer space for 
collaboration, training, and access to kit and equipment, building on the 
baseline digital skills offer of the library.  Work with local artists and Arts Council 
England identified the need for artistic collaboration and studio space.  It will 
enable the bringing in of artists in residence to work with our artists and provide 
training and development and community-based art.  This enables us to deliver 
a creative hub that can support the depth and range of the free-lance workforce 
and early-stage creative enterprises.  

3.19 Meeting different needs and providing specialist provision to support creativity 
and artistic development at all levels, the offer will sit within the wider eco-
system in the Borough – fostering a culture of culture. We will develop a 
continuum of provision which builds on our strengths and addresses our 
weaknesses – delivering cultural engagement from entry level to specialist. The 
detailed SoA can be found in Appendix 5. 

3.20 Whilst the capital cost of the cultural elements of the Hub will be predominantly 
met from the levelling up funding the revenue costs and income will need to be 

Pack Page 11



forecast over the coming months and fed into the final decisions to proceed with 
the build.  

Council Offices 

3.21 During feasibility, a range of options were explored including providing new 
Council office accommodation as part of the scheme to enable the 
redevelopment of the Council’s current location in line with the masterplan.  

3.22 Current cost estimates indicate that the sale of the Council’s current site will 
cover the additional costs of including the offices in the Hub building and should 
release a small surplus towards the scheme overall.   

3.23 A range of other alternatives including the acquisition of existing office space in 
the town have been evaluated and the inclusion of the Council offices and some 
meeting space in the Hub is currently the most cost-effective solution.  It also 
directly meets the key priority identified during public engagement around 
creating a community heart.  By collocating with other partners and services 
there is an opportunity to deliver a community hub which offers a range of 
services and activities and is greater than the sum of its parts.  

3.24 A summary of the work undertaken on alternative options is set out in exempt 
appendix 7. 

3.25 As part of feasibility activity on the office move options, detailed work was 
undertaken to capture future space requirements given the changes to working 
patterns, meeting arrangements and office usage. Work is currently underway 
to understand the opportunities for sharing space in the new building given the 
other public sector and community uses associated with the Library.   

3.26 The proposed area schedule reflects changes to ways of working which were 
accelerated during the pandemic.  Since returning to work, monitoring has been 
undertaken to validate reduced space requirements and understand how 
officers and Members use the office.  By collocating the Council office with the 
library and cultural spaces there are further opportunities for sharing spaces 
and reducing dedicated space requirements. The detailed SoA can be found in 
Appendix 5. 

3.27 A total area of 1780 square metres has been included in the brief for Council 
office accommodation which will include an Executive meeting suite with three 
large meeting spaces (1 x 50 people 2 x 25 people) as well as workspace, 
collaboration spaces, smaller meeting rooms and break out spaces.  

3.28 During the next stage of project delivery, the office move project workstream 
will be remobilised to work through detail of how the space will be configured, 
spatial planning and layouts in conjunction with design development.  

Pack Page 12



 

Mobility Hub 

3.29 The Civic Quarter masterplan includes the provision of two mobility hubs, one 
of which will be delivered as part of this scheme to provide parking for this 
project as well as future residential uses as the Civic Quarter is developed.  

3.30 The mobility hub will be developed on Plot A and will deliver 350 spaces. Work 
is underway to finalise the scope for the hub and initial proof of concept work is 
included at Appendix 8. 

Skate Park and Play Area 

3.31 The scheme will include a destination play area at the front of the new Leisure 
& Cultural hub adjacent to the café and outside dining space. The play area will 
be funded using S106 contributions. 

3.32 A new skate park will be provided between the proposed mobility hub and 
Leisure and Cultural Hub. 

4. Partner and Stakeholder Engagement

4.1 The scheme will accommodate a range of end users and partners including
Hampshire County Council, Hampshire Cultural Trust, Citizens Advice Bureau
and Rushmoor Voluntary Services.

4.2 Work has been undertaken with HCC officers to agree the schedule of
accommodation and ensure that it is fit for purpose in maintaining current
service delivery while offering flexibility for library service delivery in the future.

4.3 Work is also underway to develop the cultural offer for Farnborough town centre
with a programme of activities which will commence in spring 2024.  This has
been developed in conjunction with the Cultural Compact and key cultural
stakeholders with a view to ensuring that there is a vibrant cultural offer in the
town prior to completion of the new facility.

4.4 It will be necessary to appoint a third party to develop and run the cultural offer
on behalf of the Council and the process for doing this will be developed in
conjunction with the Cultural Compact.

4.5 As part of wider delivery of the Civic Quarter, work is also underway to develop

a programme of community engagement and activity which will be funded as

part of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) delivery programme.  This will

ensure we have community input and engagement as we move to

implementation of the regeneration programme.

Sustainability in construction and operation 

4.6 In June 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency with motion 
unanimously passed by Council. This included the target for the Council to be 

Pack Page 13



 

carbon neutral by 2030. In July 2023, the Cabinet agreed an Action Plan which 
provided targeted actions to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint (ACE2306).  

4.7 One of the agreed actions is “to review processes for the Council’s capital 
programme so that environmental impacts are incorporated into business case 
development and whole life cycle carbon assessments are undertaken”.  The 
Leisure and Cultural Hub once developed will be part of the Council’s 
operational carbon footprint and therefore there is a need to ensure that the 
building is designed with the Council’s climate change objectives in mind. 

4.8 Developing a sustainable building is a key element of the project brief and work 
has been undertaken to develop the approach to sustainability using a 
sustainability framework. As part of this, key building strategies have been 
adopted to minimise whole life carbon and apply PassivHaus principles. This 
will require up front capital investment in the fabric of the building but will 
improve operational performance.  

4.9 The current cost plan includes and allowance of 15-17 % capital uplift for 
delivery of the proposed sustainability strategy.  This is significant and will affect 
affordability.  Work has been undertaken to understand the Return-on -
Investment which has demonstrated payback between 7.32 and 8.4 years 
depending which option is selected and operational cost savings of between 
£656,000p/a and £1,115,000p/a.  This information is currently being evaluated 
and delegated authority is sought for the Portfolio Holder and Executive 
Leadership Team to agree the approach to sustainability and design.  The 
detailed report can be found at Appendix 9. 

4.10 Should a full PassivHaus route be adopted, design fees will increase, and 
additional design work will be required which will increase RIBA 3 and 4 design 
duration.  This has been factored into the Order of Cost Estimate budget and 
the team have confirmed that programme increases will still allow for a planning 
application in March 2024 and will not impact handover in March 2027. 

5. Operator Procurement

5.1 The Council is seeking a partner who shares its vision for the new Leisure and 
Cultural Hub and will operate flexibly with the key users to optimise participative 
opportunities and benefits for the local community. The new Leisure and 
Cultural Hub should play a significant role in reducing health inequalities, 
(physical and mental), increasing levels of physical activity and providing a wide 
range of cultural activities in a vibrant setting. 

5.2 The partnership and operational management contract will operate on an open 
book basis. The contract is based on the Sport England standard format, but 
has been updated to reflect relevant changes since the pandemic relating to 
change in law, risk and utility benchmarking.   

5.3 In relation to risk, the Council is seeking a hybrid approach to maintenance with 
the operator taking full lifecycle responsibility on the new facility, but the Council 
retaining responsibility for infrastructure repair and maintenance at the 

Pack Page 14



Aldershot Pools and Lido.  Soft Market testing has advised that Operators 
would be very reluctant to bid on the basis of accepting the lifecycle costs 
associated with the Aldershot facility. 

5.4 The draft Conditions of Contract are included at Appendix 3 for reference. 

5.5 The Contract Specification is also adapted from the standard Sport England 
toolkit and made bespoke for Rushmoor.  The full draft Specification is attached 
at Appendix 2, for reference, the key elements of the Specification are as 
follows: 

• Produce a balanced programme of activities to maximise participation,
engagement, physical activity and reduce health inequalities in the
borough.

• Liaise with other building users to maximise the benefits of co-located
facilities.

• Set an appropriate pricing system to deliver the core outcomes of the
contract whilst maintaining commercial viability, including a
concessionary pricing structure.

• Employment of a Health and Wellbeing Officer to establish links with
local health and care services and providers to provide pathways into
physical exercise and wellbeing activities, particularly for residents with
poorer health outcomes.

• Outreach into the borough to promote healthier lifestyles among
residents and communities that are harder to reach, those who are less
likely to access traditional facilities and those who are more likely to
experience longer term health inequalities.

Procurement process 

5.6 It is the Council's current view that the contractual arrangements are classified 
as a service concession contract under the Public Concessions Regulations 
(2016) and furthermore fall under the scope of the Light Touch Regime services 
listed under Schedule 3 of the regulations.  This allows the Council to determine 
with a little more flexibility, the specifics of the procurement process that is 
undertaken. 

5.7 In the interests of transparency, fairness, equality of opportunity, best value and 
future development flexibility, the Council will undertake a fully advertised 
procurement process which encompasses aspects of the Competitive Dialogue 
and Competitive Procedure with Negotiation processes as set out within the 
Public Contracts Regulations (2015). 

5.8 The first stage of the procurement process will invite suppliers to submit 
selection questionnaire applications. Selection questionnaire responses will be 
assessed on a pass / fail basis and will cover legal standing, financial standing, 
insurance, H&S and relevant experience.  This process will ensure that only 
operators with sufficient experience and scale will be taken forward to the next 
stage. 

Pack Page 15



 

5.9 The successful operators will then be invited to submit detailed tenders which 
will be assessed on a 60/40 basis in favour of quality. During this stage, 
tenderers will have the option to partake in structured dialogue meetings.  The 
dialogue meetings will allow bidders to test concepts with the Council and refine 
solutions to fit the Council’s requirements more specifically.  It also allows for 
better management of any uncertainty surrounding the process and the 
complexity of the multi-service building lends itself to a dialogue process.  Likely 
topics for dialogue are as follows: 

• Management of energy in the design and operation of the new facility.

• Working with other building users to enhance customer experience.

• Sharing of risk and incentivisation.

• Commercial services offered via the contract.

5.10 As the procurement progresses, the Council are likely to need to amend and 
update the procurement documents and delegation is sought for the Executive 
Head of Operations to make such changes in consultation with the Operational 
Services Portfolio Holder. 

5.11 Following evaluation of the detailed tenders, the Council will have the option to 
issue an award decision notice and instigate a standstill period, if it is satisfied 
that a preferred bidder can be selected on a compliant best value basis.  If the 
Council consider that a better outcome can be reached, it may instead enter a 
final period of negotiation and invite best & final tenders from either all tenderers 
or only the highest scoring tenderers. 

5.12 Consideration will be given to the composition of the evaluation team, which will 
include specialist expertise in the key areas associated with service delivery.   

An indicative programme for the procurement process outlined above is set 
out below: 

Selection Questionnaire 16 October 2023 

SQ return   6 November 2023 

SQ evaluation complete 17 November 2023 

SQ results notified to tenderers 24 November 2023 

Tender issue date 27 November 2023 

Dialogue meetings w/c 8 December 2023 

Tender return deadline 16 February 2024 

Evaluation and moderation w/c 5 February 2024 

Negotiated BAFO stage 18th March 2024 

BAFO Returns 29 March - 5 April 2024 

Evaluation complete Late April 2024 

Council Governance and decision making May - June 2024 

Standstill June 2024 

Award Date   June 2024 

Services Commencement Date September 2024 

Pack Page 16



 

5.13 The timetable for the operator procurement runs beyond the existing contract 
with Places Leisure for the operation of the Aldershot facility which end on 31 
March 2024.  To facilitate the operator procurement, as outlined above, 
Cabinet are recommended to approve an extension to the existing agreement 
with Places Leisure on the same terms for up to 12 months. 

6. Timescale and Programme

6.1 Based on the current programme. Key project delivery milestones are outlined
below.  There may be some changes to these depending on the final agreed
position regarding PassivHaus.

• RIBA Stage 2 October 2023
• RIBA Stage 3 February 2024
• Cabinet approval to appoint contractor (PCSA) February 2024
• Planning submission March 2024
• Planning approval July 2024
• RIBA Stage 4 October 2024
• Contractors Proposals November 2024
• Contract Award February 2025
• Construction 24 months (Handover March 2027)

6.2 As detailed in section 4.10 should a full PassivHaus scheme be identified as 
the preferred strategy additional design activity will be required which will impact 
the duration of RIBA Stage 3 and 4.  It is not anticipated that this will affect key 
milestones such as planning submission and building handover as there is an 
opportunity to submit planning without full RIBA 3 design and to complete RIBA 
4 in tandem with pricing activity.  

6.3 This report seeks approval to progress design to the end of RIBA Stage 3 and 
submit a Reserved Matters Planning Application. 

6.4 A further Cabinet report is scheduled in February 2024 which will include 
seeking formal approval to appoint Wilmott Dixon under a Pre-Construction 
Services Agreement (PCSA) to progress design to the end of RIBA Stage 4. 
Upon appointment the design team will novate to Wilmott Dixon.  Approval to 
procure Wilmott Dixon using the Procurement Hub was given by Cabinet in 
(RP2102) and re-validated in March 23 (REG2303).  

6.5 At the end of RIBA 3 we will have a more accurate view of construction costs 
and the outcome of the operator procurement. In late May/early June 2024 this 
will be the subject of a report including the project affordability and financing 
strategy for the construction and ongoing running of the building and services. 

6.6 At the end of RIBA Stage 4 a detailed suite of Contractors Proposals will be 
submitted for review by the technical team.  This information will form the basis 
of the build contract and final contract sum.  Once outstanding matters have 
been resolved, a Final Business Case will be prepared for approval by Cabinet 

Pack Page 17



 

and Council to secure agreement to enter the build contract.  It is anticipated 
that this will take place in early 2025.    

6.7 The scheme will take 24 months to build, and it is anticipated that handover will 
take place in early 2027. 

6.8 Remaining ground clearance work will be undertaken prior to the build contract 
award.  

7. Governance and Project Delivery

7.1 As detailed in RP2103 a Project Board has been established to ensure that the
project is focused and achieves the objectives set out in the project proposal
and achieves the expected benefits.

7.2 The Board will provide a steer as required on various project-related issues that
may arise throughout the lifecycle of the project as well as review the progress
of the project and receive updates on progress against programme, budget,
and risk.

7.3 The Board will report and escalate any decisions outside existing decisions or
officer delegations and will make recommendations to the Cabinet where
necessary.

7.4 The Project Team will make operational day to day delivery decisions within the 
agreed delegations following Cabinet/Council decisions in line with the Councils 
scheme of delegation as outlined in the constitution and Council procedure 
rules and project budget and contingency allocation, overseen by the Project 
Sponsor. 

7.5 A Project delivery team have been appointed including external advisory 
support where required. It is likely that additional legal resource will be required 
to support Operator Procurement and Contract negotiation. 

SUSAN FLOWERS

Cabinet

Nick Irvine

Project 
Delivery Team

Leisure & Cultural Hub Project Board 

Project Delivery Workstreams

Leisure & Cultural Hub 
Capital Project  

Leisure Operator 
Procurement Project  

Project 
Delivery Team

Project Delivery Workstreams

Pack Page 18



 

Dependencies 

7.6 There are a range of dependencies that are being managed as part of project 
delivery including:  

• Civic Quarter utilities Infrastructure – 1st scheme / opportunities / phasing
/ Discharge of planning conditions / S106

• Operator Procurement

Leisure & Cultural Hub Capital Project Delivery Structure 

Timeline
Risks/Issues
Reporting/Approvals

Resources
Project Budget
Outcome management
Communication
Community engagement

Procurement 
LUF Monitoring and reporting

Project Executive
Gemma Kirk

Development  Manager 
Johanna Cohen

Project Office
TBC

Technical Advisor 
Artelia

Key

Internal Project Team Member

External Project Team

Internal Project Team Member

Legal 
Browne Jacobson

Externally Appointed Client-
Side Resources

Design Team 
GT3 Lead 
Consultant*

Capital Programme Board

Leisure & Cultural Hub Project Board 

Contractor Wilmott 
Dixon Construction 

* Wider design team appointments:
• Hydrock – Civil, structural, MEP, Sustainability
• Colour – Landscape
• DPP- Planning
• Devin Consulting – Filtration
• SAJ – Transport
• Apex – Acoustics
• Bespoke Fire – Fire consultant
• Summers Inman – Principal Designer

Legal/ 
Procurement

Technical Design 
& Cost

Finance/funding

Workstreams

Property and 
Commercial

Consultation & 
Engagement

Culture 

HCC / Cultural Steering 
Group

LUF Monitoring 
& Evaluation

Operator 
Procurement
Strategic Leisure

Operator Procurement Project Delivery Structure 

Timeline
Risks/Issues
Reporting/Approvals

Resources
Project Budget
Outcome management
Communication
Community engagement
Procurement 

Project Executive
David Philips 

Project Manager
Kate Hilliard

Project Team
Tim Astley

Finance 
BFI Finance

Key

Internal Project Team Member

External Project Team

Internal Project Team Member

Legal 
Browne Jacobson

Externally Appointed Client-Side Resources

Leisure & Cultural Hub Project Board 

Legal

Procurement

Finance

Workstreams

Procurement

Operator 
Procurement

Strategic Leisure

Pack Page 19



 

• Land assembly

7.7 Matters relating to land assembly are set out in Appendix 1. 

8. Funding Strategy and Financing

8.1 The latest estimated project cost for delivery of the Leisure & Cultural Hub
including PassivHaus accreditation is £57.614m. £20m will be funded through
the Levelling Up allocation. The full project will include delivery of the Mobility
Hub, Skate Park and Play Area. The full project cost (assuming a maximum
uplift for sustainability) is estimated £68.265m, broken down as below.

Leisure, 

Cultural and 

Council 

Offices 

Mobility Hub Skate Park Play Area Total 

£57,649,000 £9,690,000 £375,000 £550,000 £68,265,000 

8.2 Based on the current outline delivery programme, funding from the Council will 
be required during financial year 25/26 and 26/27 as Levelling Up grant will be 
used to fund the first phases of project delivery. It is also possible that further 
grants will become available which will also be used as early as possible. 

8.3 £1.24m has been included in the 23/24 capital programme. Spend to the end 
of RIBA Stage 3 is forecast at £1,050,411. This will be funded using Levelling 
Up funding. It should be noted that should the scheme not progress, the Council 
will be required to cover these costs from within revenue resources / reserves. 
The Council has also utilised a Capacity and Capability grant payment of 
£50,000 from DLUHC and £300,000 One Public Estate Programme (OPE) 
funding to support project development up to RIBA Stage 2.  

8.4 Work is now underway to develop the options for the long-term financing of this 
asset. The Council’s current approach to financing the Council’s capital projects 
was set out in the Budget Strategy report considered by Cabinet in November 
and the subsequent Capital Strategy approved by Cabinet in February 2023 as 
follows: 

“The most credible and sustainable way of bringing forward a new capital 
investment is both to consider the most appropriate way of funding and to 
carefully think through sequencing of investment, as such the business case is 
based on the following capital principles:  

• All new capital investment priorities should be funded from either capital
receipts or external sources (grants).

• The financing of new capital investment should focus on ensuring borrowing
is limited to the lowest possible value.

Pack Page 20



 

• Schemes should be sequenced credibly and added each year through only
the Budget Setting report – single decision point for investment.

• The approach to new capital investment will be based around the following
process to ensure that all new investment is prudent, affordable, and
sustainable:

• Create a hierarchy of new capital investment priorities (officers and
Members)

• Develop a pipeline of asset disposals ringfenced to fund the new capital
investment – timing and value need to be accurate.

• Complete a global view of cashflows and funding need of the hierarchy.

• Determine any resultant borrowing need and test affordability vs. MTFS
budget gap”.

8.5 The programme of land and asset disposals to support the capital funding 
needed forms part of the Council’s regeneration programme and the funding of 
the Hub and parking is linked to the development of the remainder of the Civic 
Quarter. Whilst the new MTFS is currently being prepared, given the pressures 
linked to inflation and interest rates it is unlikely that the ‘capital first approach’ 
will change and any new borrowing by the Council will need to be minimised 
and disposals timed to reduce the need for cashflow wherever possible. All 
related/resultant borrowing costs will be capitalised as part of the project cost 
and included in the final financing and affordability decisions, currently 
scheduled for June 2024. 

8.6 The revenue costs of running the services currently anticipated to operate from 
the Hub are also being understood. The operator procurement is the most 
significant aspect here and is expected to have a positive impact. The cost 
implications of the move of the Council offices, forecasts of income from tenant 
rent and the costs of the new ‘cultural offer’ need to be estimated during the 
next stage of the project. This is anticipated to come forward as part of the 
budget process for 24/25 but will only impact at the end of the MTFS period.   

8.7 As set out in paragraph 6.5 at the end of RIBA 3 we will have a more accurate 
view of construction costs and the outcome of the operator procurement and in 
late May/June a cabinet report setting out project affordability, linked to the 
revised MTFS, and financing strategy for the construction and ongoing running 
of the building and services will come forward. 

Alternative Options 

8.8 There is an option not to deliver a new facility and use the land for other 
purposes. This is not in line with Masterplan or Council priorities. Alternative 
uses for the site have not been assessed but could include use as public open 
space or other commercial or housing uses. All of these alternative ‘exit 
strategies’ would have associated costs and budget implications which would 
need to be assessed in line with the MTFS. Reinstatement costs for the land 
would need to be absorbed in the revenue budget if there was no capital project 
proceeding. 

Pack Page 21



 

8.9 Not providing a new facility would have a significant impact on the leisure 
procurement and reduce the attractiveness of the current offer to the market. 

Consultation 

8.10 As outlined in Cabinet report REG2303 detailed public consultation and 
engagement has been undertaken to determine the proposed facilities mix as 
well as community aspirations for the town centre. A detailed piece of young 
person consultation was also undertaken to support the Levelling Up bid and is 
included.  

8.11 Members have been fully involved in formal and informal consultation activity 
including a range of workshops and other activities to inform the feasibility study 
and brief development.  

8.12 In March 2023 a two-day workshop was undertaken with key partners to review 
and develop the design brief.  Following this we ran a follow-up session with 
Hampshire Cultural Trust. 

8.13 As part of the cultural brief development, a workshop took place on 24th May 
with representatives from the Cultural Compact as well as local artists/ 
creatives. The session was well attended and follow up activity will take place 
to capture input from sectors that were not well represented such as digital 
media. 

8.14 A number of Soft Market Testing sessions have been undertaken with leisure 
operators. Initial meetings were conducted in March 2022, with further 
discussions with six leading operators taking place last month. Engagement 
with managers of similar leisure schemes as that proposed has also been 
undertaken through a number of site visits. 

9. IMPLICATIONS

Risk management

9.1 The Council will be accepting a number of risks in proceeding with delivery of
 this project. These include the usual risks associated with the development
 and delivery of a capital project of this scale and the associated stakeholder
 management. While the Council have secured £20,000,000 funding towards
the scheme, the Council will be accepting the risk of identifying the remaining
 funding for the project and the wider scheme as well as the wider revenue
 implications of delivering the cultural offer.

9.2 A detailed project and technical risk register have been developed for the
project and is included at Exempt Appendix 11. This is a live document which
has been developed during feasibility with input from the Project Team,
Technical Advisor and Wilmott Dixon Construction. This will continue to be
managed and updated throughout project delivery with risks being closed out
as the scheme progresses.

Pack Page 22



 

9.3 Procurement risks have been mitigated with public procurement compliant 
frameworks with core project, contractor, and design team appointments 
already in place. 

9.4 Top five risks are reviewed at fortnightly project team meetings as well as 
Programme Board with any significant changes to risk or new risks arising being 
escalated between meetings if necessary.  

9.5 Alongside the Risk Register, the Council have an established change 
management procedure in place. This will document any changes requested 
during the design phases of the project, assess the cost impact of this and 
assess the impact to the programme. Any change requests will need formal 
sign off through a change control form by the Client before any of these can be 
implemented. 

9.6 The highest scoring wider project risks include: 

• Insufficient funding available to proceed with the project results in decision not
to progress or change of scope and abortive costs.

• Grant funding dependent of project delivery and any costs incurred will need to
be covered by the Council if the scheme does not go forward.

• Lack of resource and capacity across the Council to support delivery of the
project.

• Wider Civic Quarter delivery alignment and dependencies unresolved delaying
the scheme.

• Significant ground contamination or other issues.

• Supply chain, labour and materials shortages resulting in price and programme
uncertainty.

Legal Implications

9.7 External legal assistance and budget will be required on various aspects of

the project, including property, planning and contractual matters. Work will

include (but is not limited to) reviewing of consultancy appointments, carrying

out necessary due diligence and drafting contractual agreements.

Equalities Impact Implications

9.8 The project addresses significant Health and Cultural inequalities as set out in
the case for change. An Equality Impact Assessment will be produced during
the next phase of the project and updated it as the project progresses.

10. CONCLUSIONS

10.1 This project is a significant priority for the Council, and it is important that all 
reasonable actions are taken to ensure the project can be delivered in line with 
the levelling up timelines. The focus of the project over the next year is to 

Pack Page 23



 

undertake design work at pace and to develop options for funding based on the 
delivery of the Civic Quarter Masterplan.  

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Confidential Appendix 1 Land Assembly  
Appendix 2 Operator Procurement Contract Specification 
Appendix 3 Operator Procurement Contract Conditions 
Appendix 4 Stage 0/1 design brief 

Appendix 5 RIBA 2 Design Overview and SoA 
Appendix 6 Partner and Community Outline Engagement Schedule 
Confidential Appendix 7 Office Move Options Overview 
Appendix 8 Mobility Hub Proof of Concept 
Appendix 9 Sustainability and RoI report 
Appendix 10 (Exempt) Order of Cost estimate 
Appendix 11 (Exempt) Project Risk Register 

Report No. OS2101 
Report No. RP2013 
Report No. REG2303 
Report No. REG2306 

AUTHORS AND CONTACT DETAILS: 

Karen Edwards – Executive Director 
karen.edwards@rushmoor.gov.uk 

Gemma Kirk – Project Director 
Gemma.kirk@rushmoor.gov.uk 

Jo Cohen – Project Manager 
Johanna.cohen@rushmoor.gov.uk 

Pack Page 24

mailto:karen.edwards@rushmoor.gov.uk
mailto:Gemma.kirk@rushmoor.gov.uk
mailto:Johanna.cohen@rushmoor.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Pack Page 25

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



LEGAL\62774762v1 

RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL 

FARNBOROUGH LEISURE AND CULTURAL HUB AND ALDERSHOT 
POOLS AND LIDO 

Services Specification 

(Schedule 1 to The Agreement) 

To Client V6 

01.09.23 

APPENDIX 2

Pack Page 29



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

LEGAL\62774762v1 

DOCUMENT CONTROL 

 
Amendment History – Drafts to Client 
 

Version 
No. 

Date File Reference Author Remarks/Changes 

1 04.05.23 V1 LT First draft 

2 30.05.23 V2 LT Second draft 

3 04.07.23 V3 LT Third draft 

4 07.07.23 V4 LT Fourth Draft 

5 24.7.23 V5  CE comments on previous draft 

6 02.09.23 V6 LT Sixth Draft 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 
 
Sign-off List 

 

Name Position Date Remarks 

    

 
Distribution List 

 
Name Position Date 

James Duggin Executive Head of Operations 22.05.23 

David Phillips Service Manager – Commercial Services 22.05.23 

Kate Hilliard Project Manager 22.05.23 

   

   

   

   

   

   

Pack Page 30



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

LEGAL\62774762v1 

Contents 
 
1 Introduction 1 

1.1. Background 1 
1.2. Measurement 2 
1.3. Reporting 2 

 
2 General Core Requirements 3 

2.1 Introduction 3 
2.2 The Borough of Rushmoor 3 
2.3 Strategic Priorities and Contribution to wider local Strategic Outcomes 3 
2.3 Facility Management 18 
2.4 Health and Wellbeing Development 20 
2.5 Partnership Philosophy and Governance 22 
2.6 Management Fee 23 
2.7 Asset Management 24 
2.8 Utility Costs and National Non-Domestic Rates 24 
2.9 Environmental and Energy Management 25 
2.10 Managing Performance against Strategic Priorities 25 
2.11 Quality Management 31 
2.12 Social Value 32 
2.13 Free Access 33 

 
3 Service Requirements 34 

3.1 Health and Wellbeing Development 34 
3.2 General Programming 34 
3.3 Health and Wellbeing 35 
3.4 Educational Use 36 
3.5 Partnership working 36 
3.6 Special Events 36 
3.7 Disability 37 
3.8 User Satisfaction 37 
3.9 Performance Standards 37 
3.10 GP Referral Scheme/Cardiac Groups 38 
3.11 Play Development 39 
3.12 Reporting Requirements 40 
3.13 Opening Hours 41 
3.14 Access 42 
3.15 Customer Experience 44 
3.16 ICT, Website and Bookings 44 
3.17 Customer Services Policy and Complaints 46 
3.18 Programming for All 47 
3.19 Special Events and Protected Bookings 49 
3.20 Non – Sporting Events 51 
3.22 Staffing and Skills Development 55 
3.23 Safeguarding 59 
3.24 Equalities 60 
3.25 Cleaning and Housekeeping 61 
3.26 Food and Beverages 62 
3.27 Marketing, Consultation and Communication 64 
3.28 Data and ICT Management 68 
3.29 Health and Safety Management 70 
3.30 Major Incident Reporting 76 

 
 
 
 Pack Page 31



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

LEGAL\62774762v1 

4 Asset Management 79 
4.1 Asset Management Capital and Revenue Funding 79 
4.2 Building Maintenance 79 
4.3 Statutory/ Mandatory inspections 84 
4.4 Maintenance and Replacement of Equipment 88 
4.5 Grounds Maintenance 91 
4.6 Environmental and Energy Management 92 
4.7 Legislation and Policy 96 
4.8 Water (Hot and Cold Installations) 97 
4.9 Drainage 98 
4.10 Ventilation 99 
4.11 Heating (Thermal Comfort) 99 
4.12 Lighting 100 
4.13 Pool Water Quality 100 
4.14 CCTV and Security 102 

 
5 Performance Management and Reporting 104 

5.1 Planning to Improve (Service Planning) 104 
5.2 Meetings and Reporting 106 

 

Appendices  

 
1. Example of client meeting agenda 
 
2. Annual Utility Consumption 
 
3. Protected Club Bookings 
 

4. 2019/20 Prices 
 

5. Branding Guidelines 
 

6. The Authority’s Safeguarding Policy 
 

7. Life Cycle Maintenance Responsibilities 
 

8. Site Plan Of Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub 
 

9. Site Plan Of Aldershot Pools And Lido 
 

10. Equipment Inventory 
 

11. List Of Existing Service Contracts 
 

12. User Survey Analysis 
 

13. GP Referral Scheme 
 

14. Aldershot Pools And Lido Planned Preventative Maintenance 
 
15. Fitness Membership Numbers 
 

16. Aldershot Pools Complex – Asbestos Re-Inspection July 2019 
 
 

17. Town Centre INDICATIVE Redevelopment Plans – TO FOLLOW 
 

18. Modern Slavery Transparency Statement

Pack Page 32



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

LEGAL\62774762v1 

Schedule of Changes  
  

The drafting in blue is the wording issued following the dialogues in the document Terms and Conditions:  
  

Clause  Provision Reason 

   

   
   

   

   

   

 
 
 

Pack Page 33



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

1 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

1 Introduction 
 
4.1 1.1 Background 
 

1.1.1. This Services Specification sets out the scope, Performance Standards and Reporting 
Requirements that the Operator Partner shall meet during the Contract Period. It details the 
requirements that the Operator Partner shall meet for the operation of the Services and 
Facilities specified within this Schedule throughout the Contract Period.  

 
1.1.2. The Services Specification forms a Schedule to the Agreement and is legally binding.  

 
1.1.3. The structure of this Services Specification is set out as follows: 

 
Section 2 
General Core Requirements 

• Strategic Priorities and Contribution to wider local 
Strategic Outcomes 

• Facility Management 

• Sport and Health Development (Sports Development, 
Health and Physical Activity Outreach Programme),  

• Partnership Philosophy and Governance 

• Management Fee 

• Asset Management  

• Utility Costs and National Non-Domestic Rates 

• Environmental and Energy Management  

• Managing Performance against Strategic Priorities 

• Quality Management 

• Social Value  
 

Section 3 
Service Requirements 

• Sport and Health Development  

• Opening Hours  

• Access  

• Customer Experience  

• Programming for All  

• Pricing  

• Staffing and Skills Development  

• Safeguarding  

• Equalities  

• Cleaning and Housekeeping  

• Food and Beverages  

• Marketing, Research and Communication 

• Data and ICT Management 

• Health and Safety Management  
 

Section 4 
Asset Management Requirements 

• Building Maintenance 

• Statutory/ Mandatory inspections 

• Equipment  

• Grounds Maintenance  

• Environmental and Energy Management  

• Legislation and Policy  

• Water (Hot and Cold Installations) 

• Drainage  

• Ventilation  

• Heating (Thermal Comfort)  

• Lighting  

• Pool Water Quality  

• CCTV and Security 
 

Section 5 
Performance Management and 
Reporting 

• Planning to Improve (Service Planning)  

• Meetings and Reporting 

Pack Page 34



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

2 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

1.1.4. This Services Specification applies the following structure to each element of the services 
described in Section 3 – Service Requirements, Section 4 – Asset Management 
Requirements and Section 5 – Performance Management and Reporting.  

 
Overall Requirement Provides the Operator Partner with a high-level 

summary of the overall requirement for each 
element of the services. 

  
Performance Standards Provides a list of standards that set out the 

required level of performance that the Operator 
Partner shall meet, and which will determine 
whether the Operator Partner is meeting the 
requirements of Rushmoor Borough Council (the 
Authority). The Operator Partner must meet these 
standards if the Services Specification is deemed 
to be achieved. 

  
Reporting Requirements Provides details of the reporting requirements that 

the Operator Partner shall meet in relation to each 
element of the services. 

  

 
4.2 1.2 Measurement 
 

1.2.1. Monitoring of the Operator Partner’s performance shall be measured in accordance with 
Clause 19 (Performance Monitoring) and Schedule 5 (Payment and Performance 
Mechanism). 

 

4.3 1.3 Reporting 
 

1.3.1 The Operator Partner is obliged to report on its own performance in accordance with this 
Services Specification. This is required as follows: 
 

• Every 6 weeks – operational meeting with the Authority to report on maintenance, 
marketing etc See Appendix 1 for Example Client/Operator Partner Meeting Agenda 

 

• Sport and Health Development – programme development and delivery; attendances; 
feedback - 1 meeting quarterly with the Authority 

 

• Annual strategic partnership board meeting 
 

• Other specialist meetings as required by the Authority 
 

• Meeting with Key Users (Library Service and Cultural Service) – 1 meeting quarterly 
with the Authority 

Pack Page 35



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

3 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

2 General Core Requirements 
 

2.1 Introduction 
 

2.1.1 This section sets out the general core requirements of this Services Specification in relation 
to the Facilities being: (i) Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub (Farnborough LCH); and 
(ii) Aldershot Pools and Lido (Aldershot).  

 
2.1.2 Farnborough LCH will replace the old Farnborough Leisure Centre, which permanently 

closed in March 2022. The new Facility, which is due to open in Spring 2027, will form part 
of the Council’s Civic Quarter regeneration scheme in Farnborough town centre. 
Farnborough LCH will provide a state-of-the-art leisure centre, library, cultural space and 
Civic Centre offices that will proactively address identified community needs aligned to 
health, physical activity, social wellbeing and culture. While the Operator Partner will have 
overall responsibility for the management of Farnborough LCH there will be Key User 
Agreements with the Library Service, provided by Hampshire County Council and Cultural 
Service provided by Hampshire Cultural Trust for designated areas of Farnborough LCH to 
ensure priority of access and use at agreed times to meet their needs. Key Users and their 
customers will have shared access to communal areas of the building including the café 
and toilets. 

 
2.1.3 The Operator Partner will provide Services in two distinct phases: (i) the Interim Phase, 

during which Services in relation to Aldershot, and pre-opening Services in relation to 
Farnborough will be provided; and (ii) the Main Phase, during which the full range of 
Services in relation to both Facilities will be provided. 

 
2.1.4 The general core requirements underpin the more specific requirements and standards for 

service delivery and asset management which are described in Sections 3 and 4.  

 
2.2 The Borough of Rushmoor 
 

2.2.1 Rushmoor Borough is an urban area, located 30 miles south-west of London. It is in north-
east Hampshire, adjacent to the Surrey and Berkshire Borders. The Borough is relatively 
small at 3,905 ha but is densely populated. 
 

2.2.2 There are two main urban communities: 
 

• Farnborough (north of the Borough and location of Farnborough LCH) – 60,652 
population (Census 2021). Farnborough is recognised internationally for British 
aerospace research work, its airfield (the first in Britain) and the Farnborough air 
show. 

 

• Aldershot (south of the Borough) – 39,807 population (Census 2021). Aldershot is 
a growing town, with a community predominantly comprised of young families, and a 
growing older population. It is also the location of the Aldershot garrison, based to the 
north of Aldershot Town Centre. The Garrison comprises around 11,500 people, 
including resident troops, soldiers on transit courses, civil servants, contractors and 
dependents. it has its own leisure facilities which offer limited public access. 

 
2.3 Strategic Priorities and Contribution to wider local Strategic Outcomes 
 

2.2.1 The Authority is seeking a long-term partnership which will contribute to local Health and 
Well-being priorities, whilst delivering, a Management Fee payment and a surplus share to 
the Authority. 

 
 
 Pack Page 36



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

4 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

2.2.2 The Operator Partner should assume in responding to the ITT that partnership working is 
fundamental to this Agreement 

 
2.2.3 The Operator Partner shall provide Services which contribute to the wider local Strategic 

Outcomes as set out below; the Operator Partner shall ensure that Services provided 
comply with existing strategies and those that supersede them.  

 
Table 1: Summary of local Policies/Strategies providing a context for the Specification 

   

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

Sport England 
Strategy: 
Uniting the 
Movement 
2021 
 

Sport England have three key objectives in the new 10 year strategy: 
1. Advocating for Movement, Sport and Physical Activity. 
2. Joining Forces on Five Big Issues. 
3. Creating the Catalysts for Change 
 
The ‘Five Big Issues’ are defined as: 
 
Recover and Reinvent - Recovering from the biggest crisis in a generation 
and reinventing as a vibrant, relevant and sustainable network of 
organisations providing sport and physical activity opportunities that meet the 
needs of different people. 
 
Connecting Communities - Focusing on sport and physical activity’s ability 
to make better places to live and bring people together. 
 
Positive Experiences for Children and Young People - An unrelenting 
focus on positive experiences for all children and young people as the 
foundations for a long and healthy life. 
 
Connecting with Health and Wellbeing - Strengthening the connections 
between sport, physical activity, health and wellbeing, so more people can 
feel the benefits of, and advocate for, an active life. 
 
Active Environments - Creating and protecting the places and spaces that 
make it easier for people to be active. 
 

Department for 
Culture Media 
and Sport 
 
Get Active: A 
Strategy for 
the Future of 
Sport and 
Physical 
Activity 

Our vision is to make sport and physical activity accessible, resilient, 
fun, and fair, for now and the years to come – for the benefit of 
individuals and the country. 
 
The government wants to help build a healthier nation by tackling high levels 
of inactivity, and by making sure that the sport and physical activity sector 
thrives for future generations.  
 
This strategy sets out how the government will work with the sector to 
achieve these aims by ensuring that everyone can be active. Central to this 
will be a focus on establishing a lifetime habit of being physically active 
amongst children and young people, including playing sport, supporting the 
sector to be welcoming to all, and ensuring the sector is prepared for both 
future challenges and opportunities. 
 
The government wants to help build a healthier nation by tackling high levels 
of inactivity, and by making sure that the sport and physical activity sector 
thrives for future generations. 
 
The 3 core priorities of this strategy are: 
 
1. Being unapologetically ambitious in making the nation more active, 

whether in government or in the sport sector 
2. Making sport and physical activity more inclusive and welcoming for all 

so that everyone can have confidence that there is a place for them in 
sport. Pack Page 37



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

5 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

3. Moving towards a more sustainable sector that is more financially 
resilient and robust. 

 
Targets to achieve by 2030: 
 

• Over 2.5 million more active adults as defined through the Chief Medical 
Officers’ guidelines on physical activity. 

• Over 1 million more children meeting the Chief Medical Officers’ 
guidelines on physical activity targets to reduce disparities in pa1.4 million 
more active adults from those in NS-SEC 6-8  

• 0.7 million more active people who identify as having 1 or more 
disabilities.  

• 1.5 million more active adults aged 55+.  

• 1.25 million more active women 

• 0.19 million more active Asian adults, particularly people from Indian, 
Pakistani, and Bangladeshi ethnic groups.  

• 0.09 million more active black adult 
 
To achieve this, the Government has committed to the following measures: 
 

• A new cross-government approach for activity for all, with clear metrics 
and targets for the sector, held to account by a joint government and 
sector National Physical Activity Taskforce.  

• More investment in the sector is targeted at inactive groups, and a more 
strategic approach to facilities to ensure communities have access to the 
facilities they need. 

• A focus on all children to meet the activity levels recommended by the 
UK’s Chief Medical Officers, supported by a new campaign aimed at 
children and young people 

 

Everybody 
Active, Every 
Day 
An evidence 
based approach 
to physical 
activity (2014), 
reviewed 2020 
Public Health 
England 

Public Health England wants to drive a step change in the public’s health. 
Tackling physical inactivity is a key part of making this step change to reduce 
the burden of preventable death, disease and disability, and support people 
and their communities to achieve their potential.  
 
Inactivity 
There are many reasons for the continued epidemic of physical inactivity. 
Social and economic trends over decades have ‘designed’ physical activity 
out of daily life.  
 
Inequalities 

• Geography: People living in in the least prosperous areas are twice as 
likely to be physically inactive as those living in more prosperous areas.  

• Age: Physical activity declines with age to the extent that by 75 years 
only 1 in 10 men and 1 in 20 women are sufficiently active for good health. 

• Disability: Disabled people are half as likely as non-disabled people to 
be active. Only 1 in 4 people with learning difficulties take part in physical 
activity each month, compared to over half of people without a disability. 

• Race: Only 11% / 26% of Bangladeshi women and men are sufficiently 
active for good health, compared with 25% / 37% of the general 
population 

• Sex: Men are more active than women in virtually every age group, with 
6 in 10 women not participating in sport or physical activity  

• Sexual orientation and Gender Identity: Over a third of lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transgender youth do not feel they can be open about their 
gender identity in a sports club. 
 

Physical Literacy 
 
Physical activity does not need to be strenuous to be effective.  

Pack Page 38



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

6 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

Dancing can be as beneficial as going to the gym and walking or cycling to 
the shops or work can be a great way to get the heart pumping as part of 
doing the everyday chores.  
Physical activity needs to be made easy, made fun and made affordable. If 
we want everyone to be active every day, exercise and active recreation must 
be available to all, at every stage of life in every community across England.  
 
To deliver this vision requires action across four areas at national and local 
level:  
 

• Active society: creating a social movement 

• Moving professionals: activating networks of expertise 

• Active Lives: creating the right environments 

• Moving at scale: scaling up interventions that make us active 
 

Towards A 
Healthier 
Hampshire: 
Improving 
Public Health 
2016-2021 

Hampshire’s Public Health Strategy Vision is: 
 
Healthy, happy and resilient communities now and for future generations 
in Hampshire. 
 
Our ambitions: 

 

• People living in Hampshire will be among the healthiest in Europe with a 
better than average healthy life expectancy.  
 

• We will narrow the gap in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy, to 
ensure that those living longer are also healthier for longer.  
 

• In Hampshire, living a healthy lifestyle will be the ‘norm’. 
 

• People who live in Hampshire will have good emotional wellbeing and 
mental health.  
 

• Children and families will be healthy and resilient, and children will have 
the best possible start to life.  
 

• Hampshire’s communities are thriving and healthy places to live.  
 

Hampshire 
Healthy Weight 
Strategy 2022 - 
2026 

The Strategy aims to reduce or level off the prevalence of overweight and 
obesity. 
 
To achieve this: 
 

• We will support places and communities to make it easier for 
residents to achieve and sustain a healthier weight 
➢ Interventions will include –  
➢ Focussing on opportunities to embed healthy environments arising 

from the development of new places. 
➢ Working together to ensure the development and the 

implementation of Local Transport Plan embeds health and 
wellbeing and promotes accessible active travel. 

➢ Involving and including all partners and residents to support 
communities in achieving a healthy weight. 

 

• We will work with health, care, education and community settings 
and systems to promote healthier weight across the life course 
➢ Interventions will include –  
➢ Promoting opportunities for physical activity in families 
➢ Working together to ensure our residents are ageing well, within 

the context of our ageing population in Hampshire. 

Pack Page 39



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

7 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

➢ Working together with large businesses/trusts to support workplace 
wellness programmes, including for residents wherever they work. 

 

• We will reduce inequalities in health by focussing on people and 
populations most at risk 
➢ Interventions will include: 
➢ Engaging with our ethnic minority communities to ensure they have 

equal access to services and environments that help promote 
healthy weight. 

➢ Working with partners to support individuals with physical and 
learning disabilities to achieve a healthier weight. 

➢ Support those who live with mental health condition to achieve 
healthier weight. 

➢ Focus interventions at our most deprived areas. 
➢ Tailoring interventions to target men as a group disproportionately 

affected by overweight and obesity. 
➢ Working with educational settings to identify and support children 

in those settings. 
➢ Focusing on people with other long term health conditions e.g. 

diabetes and cardiovascular disease. 
 

Hampshire 
Public Health 
Strategy 2023 - 
2026 

Hampshire Count Council is committed to improving the health of everyone 
living in Hampshire. 
 
To create a healthier Hampshire, we have two ambitions: 
 
1. To increase the number of years Hampshire residents can expect to 

live in good health. 
2. To reduce the unfair gap in healthy life years between the most and 

least healthy. 
 
There are 3 key themes: 
 
1. Healthy Places, Settings and Communities – areas of focus will include 

transport and climate change, healthy settings, planning strategy, 
policy and practice, healthy homes and the County Council’s role as 
an anchor institution. 

2. Healthy People – areas of focus will include health protection, public 
health emergencies, public health intelligence, and criminal justice and 
violence prevention. 

3. Healthy Lives – areas of focus include: 

• Best Start in Life  

• Healthy Adults – preventing the causes of ill health and long term 
conditions, focussing on those in mid life 

• Healthier older people – enabling older people to remain healthy 
and independent for longer 

• Mental Wellbeing  

• Sexual Health 

• Domestic Abuse 

• Substance misuse 
 

Energise Me 
 
‘We Can Be 
Active’ 
Strategy 
 
Hampshire and 
the Isle of 
Wight 
 

The We Can Be Active Strategy consists of five broad goals that 
summarises what local people need to be active: 
 
1. Positive early experiences for our children and young people. 

• Work with children and young people to create positive 
experiences 

• embed physical activity across all aspects of school life 

• enhance community provision in areas where fewer young people 
are active 

 Pack Page 40



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

8 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

 2. Opportunities that meet our needs and interests and are accessible 
and easy to find. 

• diversify opportunities by creating activities with people who find it 
hard to be active 

• increase the number of informal neighbourhood activities by 
providing support to kickstart ideas 

• increase the range of activities available to people with health 
conditions and disabilities 

• make activities easier to find by increasing the number of sessions 
published to OpenActive data standards 

 
3. Places and travel routes where we all feel safe and are encouraged 

to be active. 

• increase the range of places to be active by unlocking permission 
to use underutilised spaces 

• build community and cross sector partnerships to transform local 
spaces 

• come together as communities, planners and policy makers to 
create Healthy Streets 

 
4. Support to help us get started or keep moving when we feel that we 

can’t do it alone. 

• learn more about the support needed and work together to make 
it available on demand 

• promote campaigns which challenge perceptions around who can 
be active and how 

• be We Can Be Active Champions and have supportive physical 
activity conversations 

 
5. Bold leaders working together to create happier and healthier 

communities. 

• We will be open, human and can do 

• We will listen and learn, champion active lifestyles and work 
together 

 
Mission: To inspire and support active lifestyles so we can all be active in 
a way that suits us. 
 
Success will be people who once struggled to be active feeling the positive 
benefits of increased activity. 
 

Your Future, 
your place – a 
vision for 
Aldershot and 
Farnborough  
2030  
 

This document sets out the Council’s aspirations for Aldershot and 
Farnborough over the next 10 years. 
 
The priorities fit under the two themes of People and Place 
 
People 
Empowering and connecting communities and enabling people to live 
healthy and sustainable lives to fulfil their aspirations. 

• Strong communities, proud of our area 

• Healthy and green lifestyles 

• Opportunities for everyone – quality education and skilled workforce 
 
Place 
Ensuring our towns are family friendly, safe, vibrant, and sustainable places 
– now and in the future. 

• Housing for every stage of life 

• Vibrant and distinctive town centres 

• A thriving local economy – kind to the environment 
 

Pack Page 41



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

9 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

Rushmoor 
Borough 
Council Plan 
2022 - 25 

This document is refreshed and updated annually and provides a focus for 
the Council’s activities and services in the short to medium term to help 
realise its longer term vision. 
 
The Council Plan identifies and number of challenges and opportunities 
going forward: 
 

• Responding to the climate emergency. The Council’s Climate 
Change Action Plan sets out a series of local actions to make the 
Council carbon neutral and Aldershot and Farnborough greener and 
more sustainable by 2030. 

• Maintaining financial resilience in an uncertain environment. There 
has been growing demand for some of the Council’s services and more 
pressure on income because of the uncertainty caused by the Covid 
pandemic and changes to government regulations and restrictions. 

• Engagement and inclusion. Continue to improve on community 
engagement and deal with the challenge of digital exclusion. 

• A strong local economy – kind to the environment. Keeping our key 
businesses and attracting new 

• Healthy Lifestyles – continue to support the physical and mental health 
of residents. There will be a need to work with the health sector, 
community groups and no-for-profit organisations. 

• Changes in government policy – there is a significant future 
programme of legislative and government policy change e.g. changes 
to environment and planning rules, as well as local government finance 
arrangements, powers and structures through possible devolution and 
the government’s levelling up agenda. 

 
Key priorities relating to sport and physical activity over the next 3 years 
include: 
 

• Developing a walking and cycling plan to encourage sustainable travel 
and support our town centre regeneration plans 

• Develop a new leisure centre for Farnborough 

• Working with partners, encourage more residents to be active and have 
healthier lifestyles 

• Develop Southwood Country Park 
 

The Rushmoor 
Local Plan 
2014-2032 
 
 

Adopted in February 2019 the local plan sets out where and how many new 
homes should be built locally.  
 
It also establishes the scale and location of employment uses and identifies 
the need for new infrastructure, such as schools, parks and local transport.  
 
In addition, it contains policies to guide any future proposals to change the 
pattern, nature and/or number of business aviation movements at 
Farnborough Airport. 
 
The Local Plan seeks to improve the quality of people’s lives by:  
 
• helping to deliver high-quality homes, to meet local needs now and in 

the future, including the provision of about 3,850 homes and supporting 
infrastructure at Wellesley.  

 
• supporting the ambitious regeneration programme for both Aldershot 

and Farnborough Town Centres, which seek to build on existing assets 
and create distinctive, mixed-use town centres with high-quality 
housing, retail, leisure and employment offers.  

 
• employment land in the borough that supports a wide range of 

businesses from global sustaining a thriving economy and boost local Pack Page 42



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

10 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

business by protecting the most important corporations to local 
independents including bespoke policies for the UK’s only dedicated 
business aviation airport.  

 
• protecting our unique military and aviation heritage and enhancing the 

area’s character, natural and built environment, wildlife, and heritage 
assets for future generations to enjoy.  

 
Strategic Objectives: 
 
The Vision articulates how the Borough might look in 2032 when the Local 
Plan has been implemented.  
 
To provide a link between the Vision and the policies set out in the Local 
Plan, strategic objectives have been developed which represent the key 
issues that the Plan is seeking to address (as determined by the Key 
Challenges and the findings of the evidence base).  
 

Reference Strategic Objective 

A 
To address housing needs by planning for at least 7,850 new homes 
of an appropriate housing mix and tenure, including specialist housing 
needs, between 2014 and 2032.   

B 
To deliver a sustainable urban extension at Wellesley, Aldershot, of 
about 3,850 new homes by 2032.   

C 

To protect the land required to fulfil the Borough's role in enabling 
strong economic performance across the Functional Economic Area 
and wider Enterprise M3 LEP area through the safeguarding of 
Strategic and Locally Important Employment Sites.   

D 
To enhance the vitality and viability of Aldershot and Farnborough 
town centres as retail and leisure destinations to meet the needs of 
residents, and to support the vibrancy of North Camp District Centre.   

E 
To support the continuation of business aviation flying and the biennial 
Airshow at Farnborough Airport.   

F 
To ensure the appropriate protection of existing, and the provision of 
new, infrastructure, including green infrastructure and community 
facilities.   

G 
To ensure high-quality, well-designed development is delivered in the 
Borough.   

H 
To improve quality of life for residents, addressing Borough-wide and 
neighbourhood deprivation issues, including targeted improvement 
work in pockets of deprivation.   

 
Rushmoor Local Plan Rushmoor Borough Council 
 
Health and Well-being are underlying themes of the Rushmoor Local Plan. 
Through the interaction of a number of policies, it aims to make a positive 
contribution to physical and mental health. For example, its vision of 
Rushmoor in 2032, once its policies have been implemented, is one of a 
vibrant Borough which has a thriving and prosperous economy, where 
housing needs have been met, and which is safe, green and healthy. 
 
The role of the Plan is ‘to promote healthy living and to facilitate good physical 
and mental health’, ‘to reduce health inequalities’ and ‘to support locally 
accessible, high-quality health care’. 
 

Farnborough 
Civic Quarter 
Masterplan 
Supplementary 
Planning 
document 
(June 2015) 

This document makes reference to the opportunity for the reprovision of the 
leisure centre on its current site as part of the overall Masterplan and that the 
site could provide a foundation for the enhancement and clustering of other 
leisure activities. 
 

Pack Page 43



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

11 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

 

Enterprise M3 
Strategic 
Economic Plan 
2018 - 2030 

Since the adoption of the Core Strategy, the Enterprise M3 Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) has made significant progress in setting out the economic 
direction for the Enterprise M3 area. In 2014, it produced a Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP) which sets out future economic growth targets and 
aspirations for specific places within the LEP area. Those relevant to 
Rushmoor are as follows:  
 
1. The Rushmoor Sustainable Community Strategy 
2. The Enterprise M3 LEP Strategic Economic Plan 

 
Aldershot: identified as a 'Step-Up Town', which is an area of latent 
economic potential and which currently experiences barriers to growth that 
impact upon the performance of the Enterprise M3 area. 
 
Farnborough: identified as a 'Growth Town', along with Basingstoke, 
Guildford and Woking. Together, the 'Growth Towns' are expected to deliver 
about one-third of the jobs and GVA in the Enterprise M3 area. Ensuring their 
continued success is therefore fundamental to the economic growth of the 
LEP area as a whole. 
 

Rushmoor 
Climate 
Change 
Strategy 2020 - 
2030 

The Climate Change Vision for Rushmoor is: 
 
“Rushmoor Borough Council will seek to have a positive impact on future 
generations by working with businesses, communities and organisations to 
protect and enhance Rushmoor’s environment. Through direct action and by 
encouraging and supporting others, Rushmoor will address the challenges 
and opportunities presented by climate change” 
 
The 10 year vision is underpinned by the following principles: 
 

• Protect and enhance the environment and conserve and encourage 
biodiversity 

• The built environment and infrastructure reflect sustainability whilst 
enabling prosperity 

• Natural resources will be used sustainably and waste will be minimised  

• Raise awareness of the challenges and, through engagement, build 
resilience and involvement within the local community 

 
Action Plan following the themes of: 
 

• Awareness raising and engaging the local community  

• Reducing Climate Change Impacts  

• Building Resilience  
 
The focus is on: 
 

• reducing, eliminating, or offsetting carbon emissions 

• Support and involvement of other stakeholders 

• Enabling longer term resilience to climate change. 
 
 
 
 

Rushmoor 
Supporting 
communities 
 Strategy and 
Action Plan 
2021 - 2023 

The Strategy has been developed in order to meet the longer term objective: 
 
To tackle the effects of poverty and deprivation, and to have a positive 
impact on people’s daily lives. 
 
The Strategy has 4 priority themes: 
 Pack Page 44



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

12 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

• Economic Hardship – to support people back into employment, raising 
skills and confidence. 

• Young People – to raise aspirations and improve the participation of 
young people in education and employment through training 

• Physical and mental health – to support physical and mental health 
and wellbeing provision. To support the objective of Public Health 
England to increase life expectancy at birth by 2 years and reduce the 
gap in healthy life expectancy between the least and most deprived 
communities by 3 years. 

• Connecting communities – to increase levels of community 
engagement and specifically engage Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
communities, reduce social isolation and loneliness and support digital 
enablement. 

 
Examples of actions relating to physical and mental health include: 
Walking groups (Aldershot Park), Gardening Club (Aldershot Park), RVS 
Green Social Prescribing, BAME Leadership Programme, Parkrun and 
Junior Parkrun. 

 

Rushmoor 
Green 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 2022 

Vision:  
 
By 2032 the Council and its partners will have worked with the local 
community to achieve a high quality, connected and multi-functional 
green and blue infrastructure network that extends across the 
Borough, which is sustainable and provides benefits for people, place 
and nature. 
 
Objectives: 
 

• Provide green infrastructure facilities to encourage, promote and enable 
healthy lifestyles 

• Improve the connectivity of green infrastructure for people and provide 
active access to the outdoors 

• Enable the increased use of green infrastructure across all user groups, 
social groups and abilities 

• Deliver green infrastructure which protects and enhances the quality and 
character of the local environment 

• Enhance existing green infrastructure to function better for wildlife, 
supporting healthy and more diverse ecosystems 

• Protect and enhance biodiversity by creating new habitats and linkages, 
improving connectivity and reducing habitat fragmentation 

• Deliver green infrastructure which helps mitigate, and can adapt to, the 
existing and future effects of climate change 

• Work with partners to build and secure funding, effective governance and 
stewardship for new and green infrastructure to ensure its long term 
sustainability. Where possible, incorporate opportunities to educate and 
inspire people to care for the natural environment. 

 

Farnborough 
Town Centre 
Strategy 2022 

This Strategy has been developed taking into account the consultation 
undertaken in relation to the Farnborough Town Centre Supplementary 
Planning Document and Farnborough Civic Quarter Masterplan outline 
planning application. 
 
 

Rushmoor 
Open Space, 
Sport And 
Recreation 
Study: An 
Audit And 
Assessment Of 

The report recommends retention of existing levels of swimming pools, but 
that existing the Authority facilities are modernised. 
 
Existing levels of sports hall provision should be maintained as a minimum, 
and new facilities opened on education sites where possible. 
 

Pack Page 45



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

13 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategy/Policy Strategic Outcomes 

Need For Open 
Space And 
Indoor Sport 
Facilities 2014 
 

Maintain existing levels of fitness provision as a minimum and enhance 
that in the the Authority facilities. 
 

Farnborough 
Leisure Centre 
Headline 
Needs 
Analysis  
Aug 2021 
 

This needs assessment, which included desktop policy research, 
consultation with key stakeholders, and an analysis of existing facility 
provision, identified the preferred facility mix for a replacement 
Farnborough Leisure Centre: 
 
 

The North East 
Hampshire & 
Farnham CCG 
presentation 
that underpins 
the Hampshire 
Joint Strategic 
Needs 
Assessment 
(JSNA): 
 

These slides outline a range of demographic data, life expectancy, lifestyle 
risks and long-term conditions/multi-morbidities affecting the population 
served by the CCG (including Farnborough & Aldershot).  
 
In particular, it highlights the trends towards an ageing population and a 
greater prevalence of long-term conditions, reflected in the contract 
specification’s outcome measures: 
 
• Diabetes 
• Cardiovascular Disease 
• Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
• Mental health (including dementia) 
• Musculoskeletal (including arthritis/falls/fractured hips) 
 
Link to the slides:  
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/NorthEastHampshireandFarnhamCCG-
JSNA2017ver1HF000014938074.pdf 
produced by the Authority in October 2018  
 

 
Table 2: Summary of Factors relevant to future sport and leisure facility provision 
 

Population 
Profile1 
 

• The 2021 Census shows that there are 99,800 residents in the 
Borough of Rushmoor. This is made up of 49,054 females and 49,894 
males. 

• The population of Rushmoor has increased by 6.4% since the 2011 
Census. This increase is lower than the increase for the South East 
(7.5%). Rushmoor is the 11th most densely populated of the South 
East’s 64 local authority areas. 

• Approximately 16% (15,875) of residents in Rushmoor are aged 65 
years and over. There has been an increase of 32.8% in people aged 
65 years and over between 2011 and 2021. 

• Rushmoor has a younger than average population, 65.6% of the 
population is under 50, compared to 57% in Hampshire and 62.3% in 
England. 

• ONS 2018 Sub National Population Projections estimate that 
Rushmoor’s population will steadily reduce from 2027 down to 92,176 
in 2032. However, the proportion of people aged 65 plus will continue 
to increase. 

Ethnicity2 
 

• Approximately 77.4% White British 

• Approximately 14.7% Asian, Asian British or Asian Welsh and includes 
a sizeable Nepali community. 

• Approximately 2.5% black, Black British, Black Welsh, Caribbean or 
African 

• 15% of residents say that English is not their first language. 3.7% 

 
 
1 Source: 2021 Census 
2 Source: Census 2021 Pack Page 46

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/NorthEastHampshireandFarnhamCCG-JSNA2017ver1HF000014938074.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/NorthEastHampshireandFarnhamCCG-JSNA2017ver1HF000014938074.pdf


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

14 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

cannot speak English. 

• Rushmoor is the most ethnically diverse borough in Hampshire. 
 

Housing 
 

• 7,850 new homes projected by 2032, the end of the Local Plan period. 

• Key development areas are: Rushmoor and a new Sustainable Urban 
Extension of 3,850 homes in Wellesley, Aldershot. 

 

Deprivation3 
 

• Rushmoor is one of the most deprived districts in Hampshire. 

• Rushmoor is ranked 20 out of all local authority districts in the south 
east (there are a total of 51) and number 181 out of all 317 authorities 
in England.  

• Rushmoor has three small areas (LSOAs) in the 20% most deprived in 
England for multiple deprivation: 

• Part of Cherrywood ward (LSOA 119 ranked 3,693)   

• Part of Aldershot Park ward (LSOA 108 ranked 4,053)  

• Part of Wellington ward (LSOA 142 ranked 5,123) 

• Income - Rushmoor has five LSOAs (8.6%) in the 20% most deprived 
in England, two of which are in the 10% deprived (3.4%). 

• Income affecting older people index (IDAOPI) - Rushmoor has 18 
LSOAs (30.1%) in the 20% most deprived in England, 12 of which are 
in the 10% deprived (20.7%) 

• Health - Rushmoor has four LSOAs (6.98%) in the 20% most deprived 
in England, two of which are in the 10% deprived (3.4%) 

• Rushmoor is a very diverse Borough with some areas in the least 
deprived category and some in the most deprived. 

 

Car Ownership 
 

• The urban nature of the Borough means that residents are better able 
to access a range of facilities by walking and public transport than most 
Hampshire Districts and Hampshire as a whole, with the exception of 
access to hospitals.  

• Car ownership levels (the Authority SPD 2017) are 1.4 per 
household. This is lower than neighbouring authorities. 

• The level of car ownership is relatively consistent across the borough 
with the exception of Wellington Ward, Aldershot Park and 
Cherrywood, all areas with high levels of multiple deprivation. 

 

Health4 
 
 

• There are high levels of mental health, falls in older people and injuries 
resulting from self-harm amongst the Borough population. 

• In 2020/21, 64.7% of adults are categorised as overweight this is 
higher than both the regional (63.2%) and national (63.5%) averages 

• In 2021/22, 24.2% of children aged 4-5 are classed as overweight, 
higher than the regional (22.2%) and higher than national (22.3%) 
averages 

• In 2021/2, 40% of children aged 10-11 are categorised as overweight 
this is higher than both the regional (33.7%) and national (37.8%) 
averages 

• Total Health costs due to physical activity are £1,334,261 per annum. 

• In 2020/21, 12.5% of children in Rushmoor live in low income 
households. This is higher than the region (12.3%) but lower than the 
England average (18.5%). 

 

Physically Active / 
Inactive 

 
Adults (aged 16+)5 
 

 Active 
150 mins + per 
week 

Fairly Active 
20 – 149 mins 

Inactive 
< 30 mins per 
week 

 
 
3 Source: Rushmoor Borough Council The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 data sheet 
4 Source: Hampshire JSNA Healthy Lives Data  
5 Source: Sport England Active Lives Data Nov 2021 – Nov 2022 Pack Page 47



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

15 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

 

Rushmoor 65.7% 13.2% 21.1% 

Hampshire 66.3% 11.3% 22.4% 

England 63.1% 11.1% 25.8% 

 

• Rushmoor has a lower proportion of inactive adults compared to the 
region and England averages. 
 

• Rushmoor has a higher proportion of fairly active adults compared to 
the region and England averages.  

 
Children6 
 
N.B. Insufficient Data available for Rushmoor for Academic Year 
2021/22. 
 

 Active – 60+ 
mins a day 

Fairly Active - 30 
– 39 mins a day 

Less Active – 
less than 30 
mins a day 

Rushmoor 48.6% 25.1% 26.0% 

Hampshire 47.0% 23.4% 29.5% 

England 44.6% 23.0% 32.4% 

 

• Rushmoor has a lower proportion of less active children compared to 
the region and England averages. 
 

• Rushmoor has a higher proportion of children who are active compared 
to the region and England averages 

 

• Females:7 
➢ Less than 1 in 4 females are inactive in Rushmoor (23.8%). This is 

better than England (26.7%) and Energise Me (26.2%). Rushmoor 
are ranked 1st among their nearest neighbours in terms of the size 
of the proportion of inactive females 

➢ However, trend data suggests that there is a growing proportion of 
inactive females in Rushmoor 

➢ The gap between the proportion of inactive females and males 
within Rushmoor is 5 percentage points in favour of females. This 
is converse to national, Energise Me and all nearest neighbours 
where females experience the inequality 
 

• Limiting Disability: 
➢ Over 2 in 5 people with a limiting disability are inactive (43.1%) 

which is slightly better than England (43.3%) but worse than 
Energise Me (41.9%). Rushmoor are ranked 2nd among 6 nearest 
neighbours in terms of the size of the proportion of people with 
limiting disability that are inactive 

➢ While the proportion of people with a limiting disability that are 
inactive is high the smaller size of this group in the local population 
means that around 5,000 are inactive  

➢ There is a large inequality between the proportions of inactive 
people with a limiting disability (43.1%) and those without (22.8%). 
The trend data suggests that this gap is getting wider (worse) 

 

• Males: 
➢ Almost 3 in 10 males are inactive (29%). This is considerably worse 

 
 
6 Source: Sport England Active Lives Data Academic Yr 2020 - 2021 
7 Source: Public Health England – Health profile Rushmoor/Energise Me Pack Page 48



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

16 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

than England (24.2%), the Energise Me average (24.3%) and 
worse than all nearest neighbours 

 

• People in Middle Social Grades (NS Sec 3-5): 
➢ Over 3 in 10 of this group (30.1%) are inactive. This is considerably 

worse than England (24.6%) and worse than Energise Me (27.2%) 
and 4 out of 5 nearest neighbours 
 

• Young adults aged 16-34: 
➢ Only 56.2% of this group are active in Rushmoor compared to 

70.9% nationally and 71.4% across Energise Me. Rushmoor is the 
lowest (worst) among its nearest neighbours. Need to be cautious 
about this result as the May-May data suggests a dramatic 
improvement to 68.6% (just behind national figure of 69.8%).  Will 
need to review when second full year of data is available 

 
 

2.2.4 The key priorities for Rushmoor Borough Council in developing the approach for this 
operational specification are: 
 

• To increase physical activity and participation through the activities in our Leisure 
Facilities; 

 

• To ensure it will promote and address improved physical and mental health and well-
being in the borough; 

 

• To ensure that mental and physical health is addressed through a wide programme 
of activities, both within the Leisure Facilities, and on an outreach basis; 

 

• To ensure that opportunities for active travel are promoted; 
 

• To reduce energy consumption in the operational delivery of the contract to support 
the Authority’s ambition to become carbon neutral by 2030; and 

 

• That in operating the Leisure Facilities there is a balance between income generation 
and social outcomes. 

 
2.2.5 The Authority wishes to ensure that as a result of this future long term operational contract 

its active residents stay active, and/or become more active and that those who are inactive 
are encouraged and supported to become active.  
 

2.2.6 Ensuring that children and young people start to become physically active from an early 
age, adults integrate physical activity into their everyday lives, and older people stay active 
are key principles for this new operational management contract. the Authority wishes this 
operational management contract to focus on: 
 

• Improving the health and wellbeing of the whole community; 
 

• Contributing to reduced obesity levels, particularly for priority groups; 
 

• Contributing to improved mental health levels in the community, particularly for priority 
groups; and 

 

• Increasing levels of participation in physical activity and sport through behaviour 
change. 

 
METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – Delivery against 
County and Authority health priorities 

 Pack Page 49



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

17 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

 

2.2.7 The Authority has identified the following key Strategic Priorities for the Services to be 
delivered by the Operator Partner which are designed to contribute to the Authority’s wider 
local Strategic Outcomes. 
 
1. Deliver high quality Services that meet the Performance Standards and exceed 

customer expectations. 
 
2. Deliver financially and environmentally sustainable Facilities.  
 
3. Ensure Facilities are maintained to a high standard throughout the life of the contract. 
 
4. Increase inclusive opportunities to participate in sport and physical activity, from 

beginner to performance level for all sections of the community. 
 
5. Increase activity levels from underrepresented/priority groups identified as having no 

or low levels of physical activity including people with disabilities and their priority 
groups. 

 
6. Improved access to Facilities, activities and opportunities for priority groups that 

participate less in sport and physical activity, including people with disabilities. 
 
7. Provide wider social value through strong and positive engagement with 

partners/community  
 
8. Support the development of local sports clubs to deliver. 
 
9. Ensure programmes and activities provided maximise use of all the Facilities. 
 
10. Ensure Facilities remain commercially attractive; this recognises the fact that a quality 

environment attracts participation. 
 

2.2.8 Without prejudice to the additional commitments in the Operator Partner’s Method 
Statements, the Operator Partner shall provide as part of their Social Value commitments 
as a minimum: 

 
2.2.9 Apprenticeship programmes to be linked to local colleges and cover a diverse range of skills 

and levels aimed at new entrants targeting local residents. A minimum of one apprentice at 
all times from the Commencement Date until the end of the agreement. 

 

2.2.10 Support for community events as set out in this Specification paragraphs 2.12.5, 3.6, 3.19, 
3.20, 4.3.2 and 4.5.4. 

 

2.2.11 It is recognised that over the life of the contract the Strategic Priorities may require updating 
or replacing and it is envisaged that the Operator Partner will play a key role in the process, 
working in partnership with the Authority. 

  

Pack Page 50



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

18 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – Social objectives and 
outcomes 

 

2.3 Facility Management  
 

2.3.1 Table 2.3 below shows the Facilities that are included in the contract and which are to be 
managed by the Operator Partner in accordance with this Services Specification. 

 
2.3.2 This Agreement will be phased, with the Operator Partner providing the Interim Services 

from 1 September 2024 and the Main Services to be provided from opening of the 
Farnborough LHC. This is expected to be during Spring 2027. 

 
Map 1: Masterplan for Farnborough Civic Quarter 

 

 
 

2.3.3 Farnborough LCH will provide a state-of-the-art leisure centre, Civic Centre offices, library 
and cultural space as an important and integral part of the Authority’s Civic Quarter 
regeneration scheme, and will incorporate a destination play area, town park and skate 
park. This will sit alongside a mobility hub supporting the sustainable transport plans for the 
town centre. 

 
2.3.4 Through co-location, Farnborough LCH will deliver a range of leisure and cultural services 

to the community. While the Operator Partner will have overall responsibility for the 
management of the building, it is envisaged that there will be Key User Agreements with 
Hampshire County Council for the provision of a Library Service, and Hampshire Cultural 
Trust for the provision of Cultural Services within designated areas of the building to ensure 
priority of access and use at agreed times to meet their needs. The Key Users will be 
charged an appropriate fee for the space they occupy. However, it is the intention that the 
spaces within the building will be flexible and multi-purpose. For example, the sports hall 
includes an area for tiered seating as well as acoustic separation to create performance 
space. 
 

 
 

Pack Page 51



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

19 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

2.3.5 Aldershot Lido opened in 1930 and is a large (approximately 3,500 sq. m), irregular shaped 
unheated open air pool, located just over a mile from the centre of town. The Aldershot Lido 
was the venue for the Pentathlon Swimming event for the 1948 London Olympics Games. 
Although the Facility is not listed, it is considered a Hampshire treasure and is very fondly 
thought of by its users. It is situated in a park of about 9 acres in size, has a 2 court 3G 
floodlit pitch and a car park providing 170 spaces. There is additional overflow parking 
(approximately 130 spaces) in the adjacent Aldershot Park. There is also on street parking 
locally. To the rear of the Lido, and in a separate building is the Rushmoor Gymnastics 
Academy. 

 

2.3.6 The entrance to the Lido is located in the car park. Access to the Facility is controlled and 
restricted to the users of the Lido. The Facility is co-located with Aldershot Indoor Pools 
and both Facilities are currently managed under contract by Places Leisure. Usage of the 
Lido is heavily weather dependant and its opening times are from the late May Bank Holiday 
weekend, weekends in June and daily from the start of July to the end of the first week in 
September. 

 

2.3.7 In 2017 the cross-party Lido Working Group established the following Vision for the Lido as 
‘’ an integrated leisure facility for all ages, including a lido, splash pad, adventure golf, indoor 
pools, fitness suite, café, shop, changing rooms, slides and flumes’’. This Vision has cross-
party support. 

 
2.3.8 The Council is currently formulating capital investment plans for Aldershot Pools and Lido 

to be undertaken during the period of this contract. As such, the Authority will be inviting 
bidders to include any proposals for capital improvements to the site, together with details 
as to how these will be financed, and how this investment will improve the long term 
sustainability of the Facility. the Authority is particularly interested in measures which will 
contribute towards the Council’s carbon reduction commitments. 

 
Table 3: Rushmoor Borough Leisure Facilities 
 

Facilities Description 

Farnborough 
Leisure and 
cultural hub 

• 1 x 25m x 8 lane main pool; 
 

• Spectator provision – limited permanent poolside seating, with the ability to 
bring in seating for competitive events if needed; 

 

• Village change conforming to safeguarding guidance; fully inclusive; 
Changing Places room; village style changing, plus group changing rooms; 

 

• 1 x 20m x 4 lane intermediate pool with a moveable floor; 

 

• Fitness Suite – 150 – 170 stations; 
 

• 1 x 6 court main sports hall (spectator seating to be included to provide a 
performance area); 

 

• 2 x multi-purpose sprung floor studio; 
 

• 1 permanent sinning studio 

 

• 2 x squash courts with moving wall so can be converted into multi-purpose 
activity space; 

 

• 1 x Café with 60+ covers; 
 

• Clip and Climb adjacent to café/soft play; 
 

• Beauty/physio rooms etc if on rental income basis; 
 

• Retail space of 50 sq. m; 
 

Pack Page 52



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

20 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Facilities Description 

• Vending machine space; 
 

• 1 x sauna and steam suite; 
 

• Library space and multi-purpose rooms;  
 

• Civic Centre Offices 

 

• Outdoor Skate Park 
 

• Outdoor Play Area 
 

Aldershot 
Pools And 
Lido 

• 1 x 25m x 6 lane main pool; 
 

• 1 x 12.5 x 10m teaching and play pool; 
 

• 1 x 30 station Fitness Suite with stretching area and free weight rack; 
 

• Traditional separate male and female changing areas; 
 

• Vending machines in reception area (no café); and 
 

• Outdoor Lido (significant scale, horse-shoe-shape). 
 

 
2.3.9 Table 4 summarises the minimum opening times for the above Facilities. The Council is 

supportive of longer opening hours being introduced, particularly around Bank Holidays and 
weekends, to increase access for the local community. Local planning policy should be 
used to affect this outcome as appropriate. 

 
Table 4: Opening Times (minimum) – the Authority Leisure Facilities 
 

 C
e
n

tr
e
 O

p
e
n

in
g

 T
im

e
s

 

Farnborough Leisure and 
cultural hub 

Aldershot Pools And Lido 

Minimum opening hours 
Mon – Fri 6am-11pm 
Sat/Sun 8am-8pm 
Bank Holidays - opening times to be 
proposed by the Operator Partner 
 
No peak and off-peak periods. 
 
Minimum Opening hours for Skate 
Park: 
Mon – Fri 6am – dusk 
Sat/Sun – 8am – dusk 
Bank Holidays – opening times to be 
proposed by the Operator Partner 
 
No peak and off-peak periods. 

Minimum opening hours 
Weekdays 07.00am- 10.00pm 
Sat/Sun 08.00am - 06.00pm 
 
Lido – Open May (second Bank Holiday)– 
end September annually 9am – 7.30pm 
Bank Holidays - opening times to be 
proposed by the Operator Partner 
 
Off-peak opening times and prices – after 
3pm 

 

2.4 Health and Wellbeing Development  
 

2.4.1 The Operator Partner shall deliver a Health and Wellbeing Development Programme 
(Sports Development, Health Development and Physical Activity Outreach) which supports 
the Authority’s Strategic Priorities for the Service and contributes towards wider local 
Strategic Outcomes, and specifically Health and Well-being.  

 
2.4.2 The required outputs of the Health and Wellbeing Development Programme are shown in 

Table 2; details of the Authority’s wider Health and Wellbeing objectives are included in 
Table 1 and the online Data Room. 

 Pack Page 53



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

21 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

2.4.3 Dominant local Sport England market segments are: 
 

• Tim’s - ‘Settling down males’ Sporty male professionals, buying a house and settling 
down with partner (11.7% of Rushmoor popn) 

 

• Philips - ‘Comfortable middle-class males; Mid-life professional and sporty males with 
more time for themselves (11.2% of Rushmoor popn) 

 

• Jackie’s - ‘Middle England mums, juggling work, family and finance (8.1% of 
Rushmoor popn) 

 

• Roger and Joy – ‘Early retirement couples; free time couples nearing the end of their 
careers (6.7% of Rushmoor popn) 
 

• Alison - ‘Stay at Home Mums with a comfortable but busy lifestyle’ (6.5% of Rushmoor 
popn) 

 
2.4.4 Current activity levels: 

 
Table 2.5: Current Adult Activity Levels- Rushmoor Borough8 
  

Inactive (less than 30 
mins per week) 

Fairly Active (30 – 149 
mins per week) 

Active (at least 150 
mins per week) 

Nov 21/22 21.1% 13.2% 65.7% 

 
Table 2.6: Health and Well-being Development Programme (Sports Development, Health Development 
and Physical Activity Outreach) 
 

Required Outputs (examples) 

• An increase in the number of residents from priority groups participating regularly in sport 
and physical activity e.g. overweight children and adults, BAME, people with disabilities, life-
limiting illnesses, CV conditions, young people and older adults etc. 
 

• A range of high-quality programmes aimed at residents who are inactive or not engaging 
regularly in sport and physical activity  
 

• A decrease in physically inactive residents  
 

• An increase in the number of volunteers and volunteering opportunities 
 

• Support for local clubs in terms of access to Facilities, assistance with member, volunteer 
and coach recruitment etc.  
 

• Support for local schools to use the Facilities 
 

• Increased opportunities for access to sport and physical activity opportunities within priority 
localities (see paragraph 3.3.4) 
 

• Increased opportunities for access to sport and physical activity opportunities in community 
settings outside of the core Leisure Facilities e.g. Care Homes, Day Centres 
 

• A year round (term time only) programme of after school sport and physical activity / healthy 
eating /weight management educational programmes for prioritised primary schools  

 

 
  

 
 
8 Source: Sport England Active Lives Survey Nov 21 – Nov 22 Pack Page 54



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

22 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

2.4.5 The Health and Wellbeing Development Programme shall be delivered in partnership with 
the Active Partnership (EnergiseMe), Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), National 
Governing Bodies for Sport, local charities, clubs and other services such as Public Health, 
Education, Children and Youth Services and Adult Social Care, Hampshire County Council. 
The priority is to increase participation and levels of physical activity. 

 
2.4.6 Specific provision shall be made for looked after children, care leavers and young carers 

(registered in the Authority). 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – Delivery against 
County and Authority health priorities 
 

2.5 Partnership Philosophy and Governance 
 

2.5.1 the Authority is seeking to establish a Partnership Philosophy with an Operator Partner 
based on the following principles: 

 

• Development and delivery of high quality and appropriate services 
 

• Mutual respect 
 

• A shared vision and operational philosophy 
 

• A shared commitment to improving community Health and Well-being, and increasing 
participation in sport and physical activity and championing inclusivity in Rushmoor 
particularly amongst identified under-represented groups including people with 
disabilities 

 

• Development and implementation of a partnership with education to support and where 
appropriate, deliver, the 2019 Government’s Physical Activity Strategy 
 

• Proactive collaboration and cooperation 
 

• Partnership working with key public, private and third sector organisations involved in 
enabling and delivering opportunities for sport and physical activity participation 
 

• High quality and consistent service delivery 
 

• Effective and regular communication and reporting 
 

• A proactive approach to identifying new opportunities to develop or enhance the 
services. 

 
2.5.2 The Operator Partner shall commit to the Partnership Philosophy and recognise the 

importance of working collaboratively with the Authority in delivering the Services.  
 

2.5.3 The Partnership Philosophy shall be upheld and governed through the establishment of a 
Strategic Partnership Board made up of key representatives from the Operator Partner and 
the Authority. 

 
2.5.4 The Strategic Partnership Board shall be established within one month of the 

Commencement Date and shall consist of the following representatives: 
 

• Elected Member Portfolio Holder (the Authority) 
 

• Head of Service (the Authority) 
 Pack Page 55



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

23 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• Strategic Partners – Public Health, Adult Social Care and Children’s Services, the 
Authority, SCC, CCG, Hampshire Police, education representative (from local schools) 
 

• Authority’s Representative (the Authority) 
 

• Managing Director (Operator) Partner 
 

• Operations/Regional Director (Operator Partner) 
 

• Contract Manager (Operator Partner). 
 

2.5.5 The Strategic Partnership Board shall be chaired by the Authority, and meet on an annual 
basis; matters to be discussed shall include but not be limited to the following: 

 

• Delivery of Annual Service Plan  
 

• Progress against Strategic Priorities and contribution towards wider local Strategic 
Outcomes 
 

• Financial performance  
 

• Service improvement opportunities  
 

• Variations to contract and commissioning opportunities  
 

• Other matters of a strategic nature considered appropriate for discussion by the Board. 
 

2.5.6 Either the Operator Partner or Local Authority, subject to the agreement of the other party, 
may invite appropriate third parties to attend the Strategic Partnership Board meetings to 
help the Board’s understanding of a particular issue or decision. 

 

2.6 Management Fee 
 

2.6.1 The Operator Partner will be required to manage the Services as outlined in this Services 
Specification and in accordance with the contract and pay an annual management fee to 
the Authority. The Council expects that in addition, any surplus achieved on the contract 
will be shared between the Council and the Operator Partner. Tenderer must submit the 
former as a profiled annual management fee payment to the Authority over the contract 
term. The management fee payment will be payable monthly in arrears and shall be 
exclusive of VAT. The Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation rate will be applied to the 
management fee on an annual basis. 

 
2.6.2 Tenderers should note that the total payment to the Authority during the period of the 

contract (first 10 years) will be subject to Net Present Value (NPV). 
 

2.6.3 The surplus share will reflect the contract agreement over achievement of surpluses as set 
out in Schedule 18 of the Agreement. 

 
2.6.4 Where the Operating Surplus Statement shows an Excess Surplus, the Excess Surplus in 

respect of that Contract Year shall be divided between the parties according to the following 
table. 

 
 
 

Pack Page 56



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

24 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Table 5: XXXXX    9 

 

Excess Surplus Authority %10 Operator Partner % 

Up to £100,000 50% 50% 

£100,001 to £150,000 60% 40% 

Above £150,000 30% 70% 

 
2.6.5 The Facilities will operate under a lease agreement with a peppercorn rent. 

 

2.7 Asset Management  
 

2.7.1 The contract provides for a shared approach to maintenance, repair and lifecycle 
replacement of assets between the Authority and Operator Partner. The Authority will be 
responsible for building structure and foundations, and the Operator Partner shall be 
responsible for repair, maintenance, and lifecycle replacement of all assets except where 
specified. Full details of the split in responsibilities is provided in Section 4: Asset 
Management, of this document.   

 
2.7.2 The Operator Partner shall install an asset management ICT system to be in place for the 

period of the contract. This should include a Planned Preventative Maintenance (PPM) 
schedule, which has a record of all new and existing structures, plant, materials, 
components, and fittings over the Contract Period. See para 4.2.21, and 4.2.38-4.2.45.  

 
2.7.3 As a minimum, the Authority shall be provided with any information contained on the 

Operator Partner’s asset management ICT system as and when requested, and for this to 
be in an electronic format.  Ideally, the Operator partner shall provide the Authority with 
remote, read only access (3 licences) to the asset management ICT system during the 
Contract Period. This must be in electronic format using recognised software that is 
compatible with the Authority ICT systems. 

 
2.7.4 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for collecting all relevant user data; this will be 

discussed and agreed with the Authority to ensure all KPIs can be effectively monitored.   
 

METHOD STATEMENT 5: MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT PLUS 
FIXTURES, FITTINGS, DÉCOR AND CLEANING – development, implementation, monitoring 
and reporting of planned, preventative and responsive maintenance 

 
2.8 Utility Costs and National Non-Domestic Rates 
 

2.8.1 The Operator Partner is responsible for all utility costs and consumption and National Non-
Domestic Rates (NNDR) as applicable at the Facilities. NNDR will depend on the status of 
the appointed operator eg charitable status 

 
2.8.2 Any changes in tariff or consumption will not have any influence on the management fee 

payment/receipt to/from the Authority. The Operator Partner is required to keep a monthly 
record of all utility consumption for each Facility and to benchmark its utility consumption at 
all Facilities in this contract. Appendix 2 summarises annual records of utility consumption 
at the Facilities in the current contract. 

 
 
 

 
 
9 Source: Schedule 18 Agreement 
10 Table to be populated based on bidder’s submission 

Pack Page 57



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

25 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 6: ENVIRONMENTAL, WASTE AND PEST CONTROL MANAGEMENT 
– Management of Utilities 

 
 

2.9 Environmental and Energy Management  
 

2.9.1 The Authority is committed to responsible environmental and energy management and the 
efficient use of energy throughout its operations. It also recognises that good environmental 
and energy management helps to protect the environment by conserving natural resources 
and reducing harmful emissions. The Operator Partner shall take account of, and comply 
with, the Authority’s aims and objectives for minimising its environmental impact. 

 
2.9.2 The Operator Partner shall provide information for the Authority’s Environmental 

Management Systems to enable it to monitor the Authority’s carbon footprint. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 6: ENVIRONMENTAL, WASTE AND PEST CONTROL MANAGEMENT 
– Management of Utilities 

 

2.10 Managing Performance against Strategic Priorities 
 

2.10.1 The Operator Partner is required to deliver the Services to meet the Authority’s Strategic 
Priorities and to contribute towards wider local Strategic Outcomes, as set out in the Council 
Plan (summarised in Table 2.1)  

 
2.10.2 The performance indicators shown in Tables 2.6 and 2.7 are designed to help measure the 

Operator Partner’s performance against the Authority’s Strategic Priorities. The Operator 
Partner must ensure it collects information to enable it to measure the performance 
indicators in Tables 2.6 and 2.7 using up to date ICT and innovative data collection 
methods.  

 

2.10.3 During the term of the contract, the Authority, through discussion with the Operator Partner, 
may consider the use of alternative performance indicators that measure performance in a 
more effective or efficient way, taking advantage of any advances in technology or 
innovation in data collection methods. 

 

2.10.4 In the event that the performance information was not collected in this way under the 
previous management arrangements, the first year of the contract will be used as a base-
lining exercise for Aldershot Pools and Lido. The first year following the opening of 
Farnborough LCH shall be used as a baselining exercise for performance information 
pertaining to Farnborough LCH.  All subsequent years will involve setting targets through a 
collaborative annual service planning process in partnership with the Authority.  

 

2.10.5 The Operator Partner shall be required to work in partnership with the Authority to review 
the performance indicators on at least an annual basis and respond to any reasonable 
requests from the Authority for these to be amended to better reflect any changes to the 
Authority’s Strategic Priorities for the Service. The Operator Partner shall be responsible 
for all operational costs irrespective of concessions offered. 

 
Table 6: Minimum Facility Specific Key Performance Indicators to be implemented at Aldershot Pools 
and Lido and Farnborough LCH 
 

Farnborough Leisure and cultural hub/Aldershot pools and lido 

KPI 1 Participation targets: 
 

Agreed on an annual basis: 
 

• Number of annual visits to Farnborough LCH and Aldershot Pools and Lido individually and 
overall, by Facility element 

 Pack Page 58



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

26 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Farnborough Leisure and cultural hub/Aldershot pools and lido 

• Number of annual participants who are regularly engaged in physical activity in all Facility 
areas 

 
• Number of priority group users (young people, people with a disability, ethnic minority groups, 

those from deprived wards) 
 

• Number of new users per annum 
 
KPI 2 Annual Quest accreditation 
 
Reports to be produced received six-weekly and available for inspection on request:  

 

• Corrective Action Log,  
 

• H & S occurrences,  
 

• Customer feedback,  
 

• Attendance figures,  
 

• Monthly membership figures including casual pay/play concessions membership breakdown,  
 

• Marketing plan update,  
 

• Staffing update and training undertaken,  
 

• All servicing/maintenance checks,  
 

• P & L summary,  
 

• Legionella servicing log. 
 
KPI 3 Annual sports development plan and marketing plan. 

(Protected clubs are set out in Appendix 3) 
 
KPI 4 Energy consumption stats supplied twice yearly, based on monthly records (See para 2.8.2 
and Appendix 2). 
 
KPI 5 GP Referral Scheme- 

 

• Number of referrals/social prescriptions from GPs and other healthcare professionals for 
health interventions for the following long-term conditions, monthly and annually: 
➢ Diabetes 
➢ Cardiovascular Disease 
➢ Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
➢ Mental health (including dementia) 
➢ Musculoskeletal (including arthritis/falls/fractured hips) 

 

• Number of referrals for other mental/physical conditions per month and annually 
 

• Source of referral 
 

• Reason for referral i.e. illness/condition 
 

• Activities participated in on referral 
 

• Number of referrals who complete their referral programme 
 

• Number of referrals who go on to become Facility members 
 

• Number of those attending the Cardio-Rehab group 
 Pack Page 59



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

27 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Farnborough Leisure and cultural hub/Aldershot pools and lido 

 
The annual GP Referral Report/Update will form part of the annual Health and Wellbeing Report. 
 

KPI 6 Breakdown of all attendances per holiday playscheme by age, gender, postcode, deprived 
ward and activity  
 
KPI 7 Encourage balanced programme of use- pay and play community use, clubs, schools as a 
minimum 
 
KPI 8 Breakdown of number of members for all membership types e.g. all inclusive, gym only, pay 
and play etc.  
 
Breakdown of concessionary use by user type e.g. universal credit, care leaver, adult, child, those 
from the most deprived wards in Rushmoor etc 
 
KPI 9 Social Value delivered through the leisure Facilities 
 

 
2.10.6 In addition to the Facility specific KPI’s above, the Operator Partner’s overall performance 

must be measured as set out in Table 2.7: 
 

Table 7: Performance Indicators (Overall Performance) 

 

Strategic Priority 1  Performance Indicators 

High quality services that meet 
minimum Performance 
Standards set and exceed 
customer expectations. 
 
 
  

PI 1.1 
Customer and partner satisfaction indicators captured through 
an on-going monthly rolling programme e.g. Net Promoter Score 
(NPS) or similar: 

 

• the overall Service 
 

• staff/coaches 
 

• access and parking 
 

• Facilities 
 

• catering 
 

• cleanliness 
 

• changing rooms 
 

• value for money. 
 
PI 1.2 
 
Quest/Quest Plus for Leisure Facilities and Active Communities 
to be achieved within 2 years of the Main Phase of the contract 
commencing. Quest/Quest Plus scores for Leisure Facilities and 
Active Communities Programme. Minimum score of Very Good 
or above for all assessments. The aim should be to achieve and 
maintain Excellent during the period of the Main Phase of the 
contract.  
 
It is the Authority’s aspiration that the Operator achieves Quest 
Stretch for Leisure Facilities and Active Communities within 3 
years of the Main Phase of the contract commencing. 
 
Achieve and maintain Inclusive Fitness Scheme (IFS) 
accreditation within 18 months of the Main Phase of the contract 
commencing. 
 Pack Page 60



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

28 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategic Priority 1  Performance Indicators 

PI 1.3 
Customer retention data; fitness, swimming, Learn to Swim, 
courses and activities. 
 
PI 1.4 
Investors in People and ISO accreditation.   

 

Strategic Priority 2  Performance Indicators 

Delivering financially and 
environmentally sustainable 
Facilities.   

P1.2.1 
Annual income and expenditure per Facility area 
 
PI 2.2 
Subsidy/surplus per visit. 
 

PI 2.3 
Percentage target reduction in annual energy consumption. 
 

PI 2.4 
Reduction in annual CO2 emissions. 
 

PI 2.5  
Increase in recycling rate 
 
PI 2.6  
Reduction in food waste. 
 

PI 2.7  
Environmental standard 14001:2015 accreditation. Reference 
“Net Zero Carbon Buildings: A Framework Definition”: 
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Net-Zero-
Carbon-Buildings-A-framework-definition.pdf 
 
PI 2.8 
Reduced construction impacts 
 
PI 2.9 
Increased supply of energy from renewable resources 
 
PI 2.10  
Offsetting remaining carbon from leisure Facilities 
 

 

Strategic Priority 3  Performance Indicators 

Ensuring Facilities are 
maintained to a high standard 
throughout the life of the 
contract. 

PI 3.1 
Delivery of Schedule of Programmed Maintenance and approval 
by Local Authority of any proposed changes (based on 
achievement of maintenance schedule to date (Monthly) 
 

PI 3.2 
Target scores on maintenance / statutory compliance audits 
(based on successful achievement of required minimum 
standard). 
 

  

Pack Page 61

https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Net-Zero-Carbon-Buildings-A-framework-definition.pdf
https://www.ukgbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Net-Zero-Carbon-Buildings-A-framework-definition.pdf


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

29 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategic Priority 4  Performance Indicators 

Increased opportunities to 
participate in sport and physical 
activity, from beginner to 
performance level for all 
sections of the community.  
 
 

PI 4.1 (measured annually through Sport England Active Lives) 
 

a. Percentage of Rushmoor Borough residents (aged 16+) 
taking part in sport and physical activity for less than 30 
minutes per week (inactive) 
 

b. Percentage of Rushmoor Borough residents (aged 16+) 
taking part in sport and physical activity for 30-149 
minutes per week (fairly active) 
 

c. Percentage of Rushmoor Borough residents (aged 16+) 
taking part in sport and physical activity for 150 minutes 
per week (active) 
 

d. Percentage of Rushmoor Borough residents taking part 
in sport and physical activity at least twice in the last 
month. 

 

PI 4.2 (measured by Operator Partner) 
 

a. Number of Rushmoor Borough residents (aged 16+) 
participating in leisure centres and outreach programmes 
for at least 60 minutes per week as a percentage of the 
total in the Local Authority Area (fairly active) 
 

b. Number of Rushmoor Borough residents (aged 16+) 
participating in leisure centres and outreach programmes 
for at least 150 minutes per week as a percentage of the 
total in the Local Authority Area (active) 
 

c. Number of non-residents participating in leisure centres 
and outreach programmes for at least 60 minutes per 
week as a percentage of the total in the Local Authority 
Area.  

 

 

Strategic Priority 5  Performance Indicators 

Increases in activity levels from 
adults with low levels of 
physical activity 
 
 

PI 5.1 Percentage of adults with low levels of physical activity 
who are residents in Cherrywood, Northtown and Aldershot Park 
(aged 16+) taking part in formal sport and physical activity for 
30+ minutes per week  
 

 PI 5.2 Percentage of adults with one or more long-term 
conditions (see Table 2.7) taking part in formal sport and/or 
physical activity for 30+ minutes each week 
 

Increases in activity levels from 
children (<16) with low levels of 
physical activity 
 

PI 5.3 Percentage of young people with low levels of physical 
activity who are residents in Cherrywood, Northtown and 
Aldershot Park (aged <16) taking part in formal sport and 
physical activity for 30+ minutes per week  
 

 
  

Pack Page 62



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

30 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategic Priority 6  Performance Indicators 

Improved access to Facilities, 
activities and opportunities for 
groups identified in PI 5 that 
participate less in sport and 
physical activity. 
 

PI 6.1 Percentage of groups identified in PI 5 who use specific 
accessible booking systems. 
 

PI 6.2 Percentage of front-line staff who have had specialist 
quality training regarding underrepresented/priority groups 
identified in PI 5 within the last 12 months. 
 

PI 6.3 Number of programmed sessions per annum targeted at 
groups identified in PI 5  
 

PI 6.4 Number of casual concessionary pay and play 
memberships taken up by groups identified in PI 5 
 

PI 6.5 Number of casual pay and play memberships taken up 
annually by groups identified in PI 5 
 
PI 6.6 Casual visitor (non-member) to Infrequent member (4+ 
times a month in 1-4 months in the last year)  
 
PI 6.7 Infrequent member (4+ times a month in 1-4 months in 
the last year) to moderate member (4+ times a month in 5-8 
months in the last year) 
 
PI 6.8 Moderate member (4+ times a month in 5-8 months in 
the last year) to core member  (4+ times a month in 9-12 
months in the last year) 
 
PI 6.9 Initiatives taken or supported to engage people in health 
interventions (e.g. stop smoking, obesity, alcoholism, drugs, 
etc) or wellbeing initiatives in the community, including physical 
activities for adults and children 
Sources: https://socialvalueportal.com/national-toms/  
https://www.ukactive.com/reports/physical-activity-a-social-
solution/ 
 

 

Strategic Priority 7  Performance Indicators 

Providing wider social value 
through strong and positive 
engagement with partners. 

PI 7.1 
Percentage of the workforce that are Rushmoor Borough 
residents and the extent to which the workforce is representative 
of the local demographic profile. 
 
PI 7.2 
Number of workforce development opportunities provided 
through the employment of apprentices. 
 
PI 7.3  
Number of local companies used in the supply chain. 
 
PI 7.4 
Number of projects developed in partnership with the Local 
Authority and other organisations and stakeholders e.g. 
schools, public health, community and voluntary sector 
organisations, National Governing Bodies etc. 
 
PI 7.5  
Number of Operator Partner staff who have taken up 
volunteering opportunities within the community 
 
PI 7.6 Number of projects promoting sport that deliver strong 
social value (swimming, fitness, group workout) 

Pack Page 63

https://socialvalueportal.com/national-toms/
https://www.ukactive.com/reports/physical-activity-a-social-solution/
https://www.ukactive.com/reports/physical-activity-a-social-solution/


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

31 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Strategic Priority 7  Performance Indicators 

N.B As indicated in UK Active’s Social Value in Physical 
Activity document: https://www.ukactive.com/reports/physical-
activity-a-social-solution/ 
 
PI 7.8 Number of referrals from GPs and other healthcare 
professionals for health interventions (including exercise 
classes); 
 
PI 7.9 Reduction in carbon emissions 
 
PI 7.10 Voluntary time dedicated to the creation or 
management of green infrastructure, to increase biodiversity or 
keep green spaces clean 
 

 
2.10.7 The Operator Partner will work with the Authority during the first 12 months of the contract 

to develop baseline information on the above performance indicators for Aldershot Pools 
and Lido that will be used to set targets for second year and thereafter. The Operator will 
work with the Authority during the first 12 months of the Main Phase of the contract to 
develop baseline information on the above performance indicators for Farnborough LCH 
that will be used to set targets for subsequent years of the contract. 

 
2.10.8 An Annual Service Plan and associated development plans shall be provided to the 

Authority for approval one month prior to the Commencement Date and two months prior 
to the start of each subsequent contract year. 

 
2.10.9 The Operator Partner must provide a Monthly Performance Report and detailed Annual 

Service Plan containing qualitative and quantitative evidence of how the Operator Partner 
is delivering the Authority’s Strategic Priorities for the Service and contributing to wider local 
Strategic Outcomes.  

 

2.10.10 The Annual Service Plan should highlight any of the Authority’s Strategic Priorities that the 
Operator Partner has not contributed towards and provide an annual action plan for the 
following year to address any shortcomings or missed targets. It should also highlight any 
additional objectives it has achieved in addition to those required by the Authority. 

 

2.11 Quality Management 
 

2.11.1 The Operator Partner will be required to have a robust quality management system in place 
that covers all aspects of the Services and is focused on the customer’s experience. 

 

2.11.2 The Operator Partner shall achieve and maintain the Sport England recommended Quest 
Facility Management accreditation scheme (or any equivalent successor scheme) for the 
Facilities and Quest for the Active Communities Programme (Health and Wellbeing 
Development Programme). This should be obtained by: 

 

• The end of Year 2 of the Main Phase of the contract for the new Farnborough LCH 
and Aldershot Pools and Lido for the Health and Wellbeing Development Programme; 

 

• The end of Year 2 of the Main Phase of the contract for the new Farnborough LCH 
and Aldershot Pools and Lido for the Facility Management. 

 
2.11.3 The Operator Partner shall maintain these accreditations for the duration of the Contract 

Period. 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 64

https://www.ukactive.com/reports/physical-activity-a-social-solution/
https://www.ukactive.com/reports/physical-activity-a-social-solution/


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

32 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

2.11.4 The Operator Partner will be required to achieve and maintain a minimum standard of 
Excellent for the Sport England recommended Quest ™ /Quest ™ Plus Facility 
Management accreditation scheme (or any equivalent successor scheme) and Quest ™/ 
Quest™ Plus Active Communities scheme for the outreach Health and Wellbeing 
Programme. 

 
2.11.5 The Operator Partner shall maintain Quest [Quest ™ Stretch / Quest TM Plus] (or any 

equivalent successor scheme) accreditation for the Facilities and Active Communities 
schemes as described above through the Contract Period and aim to have continuously 
improving scores over the life of the contract.   

 
2.11.6 Quest scores will be included in the Annual Service Plan and will set targets for 

improvement. 
 

2.11.7 The Operator Partner shall inform the Authority of the results of its Quest assessments and 
any follow-up assessments within seven business days of receiving notification.  

 
2.11.8 The Operator Partner shall include its response to Quest assessments via an improvement 

plan within the appropriate Monthly Performance Report. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING, MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS, PUBLIC RELATIONS 
AND CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE – Positive customer experience and processes for 
maintaining continuous improvement 

 

2.12 Social Value 
 

2.12.1 The Operator Partner shall deliver the Services in accordance with the aims of The Public 
Services (Social Value) Act 2012 through the delivery of wider social, economic and 
environmental benefits.  
 

2.12.2 The Operator partner will provide an employment and skills plan to be up-dated annually 
and monitored quarterly with the appropriate the Authority officers. 

 
2.12.3 The Operator Partner shall work closely with the Authority and other partners such as 

education and training providers, the Authority Employment and Skills Zone Partnership to 
develop specific initiatives linking to and reflecting the developing the Authority procurement 
strategy, which offer realistic and sustainable employment opportunities to disadvantaged 
people in the Authority Area, and particularly those in Cherrywood, North Town and 
Aldershot Park. 

 
2.12.4 The Operator Partner shall offer a number of routes to full-time employment or training 

which are targeted at specific sectors of the community in Rushmoor. This should include 
the provision of work placement opportunities, including apprenticeships, for disadvantaged 
or underrepresented groups within the labour market including initiatives targeting priority 
groups including lone parents; people from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
backgrounds; women; people with physical and learning difficulties; Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, 
Transgender, Queer or Questioning (LGBTQ), long term unemployed; care leavers; ex-
offenders; NEETS (Not in Education, Employment or Training); individuals recovering from 
homelessness and people who are on long term benefits.   

 
2.12.5 The Operator Partner shall understand and embrace the role it has in supporting and 

working with Small and Medium Enterprises, social enterprises, charities and other third 
sector providers in Rushmoor through its procurement of supplies and sub-Operator 
Partners and through the delivery of the Services e.g. charitable events/ Rushmoor events 
with a Corporate presence) eg. The annual Donkey Derby, the annual North Camp Summer 
Fayre, the Victoria Day celebration in Aldershot, the annual Christmas Lights switch-on in 
Aldershot, other charitable events in the Borough. (See paragraph 3.13.14) 

 Pack Page 65



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

33 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

2.12.6 The Operator Partner is required to support The Children and Social Work Act 2017 and 
the work the Authority is doing on corporate social responsibility i.e. free/discounted leisure 
provision for children in care, care leavers and young carers, ex-army in the borough.  

 
2.12.7 The Operator Partner shall provide free use of Facilities to those on the Hampshire Scheme 

for Elite Athletes (- Free Access for National Sports People (FANS). 
 

2.12.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure the Services are fully inclusive to all sections of the 
community and shall proactively work to eliminate barriers to participation in sport and 
physical activity through programming, pricing, policies, development plans, marketing and 
training. The Operator Partner shall achieve Inclusive Fitness Scheme (IFS) accreditation 
within 18 months of the start of the Main Phase and retain this throughout the Contract 
Period. 

 
2.12.9 The Operator Partner shall work with the Authority and other partners to provide 

diversionary activities designed to help reduce levels of crime, disorder and anti-social 
behaviour by people in Rushmoor to contribute to social value outcomes. This should link 
into the strategic priorities and initiatives of the Safer North Hampshire Community Safety 
Partnership: 
 
 https://www.safernh.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Strategic-Assessment-2018-19-
Final-AMENDED-version.pdf 

 
2.12.10 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the environmental wellbeing of the local area is 

protected and enhanced through best practice approaches to energy and water 
management, waste and recycling, procurement of supplies and sustainable transport.   

 
2.12.11 The Operator Partner shall provide a detailed review of how the Services have achieved 

the above requirements as part of the Annual Service Plan. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – Social Value 
objectives and outcomes 

 

2.13 Free Access  
 

2.13.1 The Operator Partner shall accommodate free use of the leisure Facilities by the Authority 
for: 
 

• Authorising Officer allocated Gold Cards (maximum 10 annual passes per year) – to 
recognise Citizen of the Year, and similar awards 

 

Pack Page 66

https://www.safernh.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Strategic-Assessment-2018-19-Final-AMENDED-version.pdf
https://www.safernh.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Strategic-Assessment-2018-19-Final-AMENDED-version.pdf


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

34 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3 Service Requirements 
 
3.1 Health and Wellbeing Development 
 

Overall Requirement 
 

3.1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Development Programme shall provide increased opportunities 
for priority and inactive groups to be engaged in regular physical activity and improve their 
Health and Well-being. The Health and Wellbeing Development Programme shall be 
provided by the Operator Partner. 

 

3.2 General Programming  
 

3.2.1 The Operator Partner shall provide, promote and develop opportunities for people to 
participate in physical activity and competitive sport, and to lead active and healthy lives 
and reduce inactivity. 
 

3.2.2 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for developing the programming of all activities 
at the Facilities based on local demographic needs, aligning with current and emerging 
health, physical activity and sport initiatives.  
 

3.2.3 The programme shall reflect the needs of the local community and provide a varied and 
balanced range of opportunities for individuals and groups to progress according to their 
interests and abilities and for: 

 

• people of all genders;  

• people with a disability;  

• adults and children who are overweight or obese 

• adults and children who are inactive 

• all age groups; and  

• persons of all abilities and activity levels.  
 

3.2.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the programme for each area of the leisure Facilities 
reflects changing trends and customer expectations and is innovative, imaginative and 
progressive, taking into account the findings of customer feedback, Sport England insight 
and market research undertaken.  
 

3.2.5 The Health and Well-being Development programme shall be proactively driven by the 
Operator Partner and shall provide the full range of opportunities in the form of casual use, 
courses from beginner to advanced, regular bookings from clubs and organisations weekly 
session activities, educational use, leagues, special "one-off" and prestige sporting events, 
promoted by the community at large and by the Operator Partner. The Operator Partner will 
work with Key Users to facilitate use of the Performance Space and associated seating 
within the Sports Hall at Farnborough LCH for cultural activities as per the Key User 
Agreement requirements. 
 

3.2.6 A wide variety of different physical activity opportunities as recognised by Sport England, 
shall be accommodated and provided for within the programme. Where a proposed activity 
is not a sport or activity recognised by Sport England the Operator Partner shall obtain 
approval of the Authority’s Representative before including it in the programme.  

 
3.2.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all activities create a welcoming, inclusive and 

positive environment for everyone – including participants, professionals, volunteers and 
spectators.  

 

Pack Page 67



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

35 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.2.8 The Operator Partner shall work with local organisations to reduce obesity levels amongst 
adults and children by encouraging participation in sport and physical activity that is 
enjoyable for the family to participate in together. This shall be reflected in Health and 
Wellbeing Development Programmes. 

 
3.3 Health and Wellbeing  
 

3.3.1 The Operator Partner shall employ a full-time and appropriately qualified (minimum Level 4 
Cardiac Rehabilitation) and experienced Health and Well-being Development Officer 
across the Authority contract to support specific public health initiatives, (See Table 2.1,  
2.2, and para 4.66) to produce and implement an annual Health and Well-being 
Development Plan for each Facility; these shall demonstrate how the Operator Partner is 
going to achieve the required sport/physical activity and health PIs, which will be monitored 
on a quarterly basis. The Health and Well-being Development Officer will have full 
responsibility for managing the programme of activities across all of the leisure Facilities in 
the contract scope. 
 

3.3.2 The Health and Wellbeing Development Plan shall be comprehensive and well researched 
and shall require the dedicated time of members of staff. The exact content of the plan shall 
be decided through discussion between the Authority’s Representative and the Operator 
Partner, but as a minimum, shall consider the provision of new and existing sporting and 
physical activity opportunities and events for the target groups highlighted below and areas 
of high deprivation/need e.g. Cherrywood, Wellington and Aldershot Park wards. The 
Operator Partner shall consult with a range of relevant local, regional and national sport 
and community organisations upon the Development Plan e.g. the Hants and IOW CSP, to 
ensure local initiatives reflect countywide priorities and objectives. 

 
3.3.3 Three meetings per annum shall be held between the Operator Partner and the Authority’s 

Representative at which the Operator Partner’s implementation of the Sport and Health 
Development Plan shall be reviewed.  
 

3.3.4 The Operator Partner shall, within a balanced programme, provide specific opportunities, 
activities and events for the following groups as a minimum:  

 

• People with disabilities 

• Children 0-11 years (including those who are looked after) 

• Young people 12-19 (including those who are looked after) 

• Older people 

• Minority groups in line with the specific demographics of the Borough. 

• People who suffer from life-limiting conditions, including obesity and being over-
weight, and other life-limiting conditions 

• Those who are inactive i.e. those who engage with less than 30 minutes physical 
activity per week 

 
3.3.5 The Operator Partner shall for each of these groups:  

 
(a) carry out a range of actions, events and initiatives to engage with the local community 

to increase participation;  
 

(b) develop the programme, other initiatives and partnerships to ensure that there are 
adequate pathways through the sports development continuum, including 
opportunities for coaching development;  
 

(c) measure success against the non-financial Key Performance Indicators; and  
 

(d) measure and meet target admissions and include usage data in the Monthly Paymech 
documents. 

 Pack Page 68



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

36 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.3.6 The Operator Partner shall not only cater for these groups within their own programme but 
shall positively encourage and support all the clubs, groups and community organisations 
that use the leisure Facilities to improve their accessibility to all sectors of the community. 
In particular, the Operator Partner shall work with clubs and other providers to expand the 
provision of opportunities to include priority groups in paragraphs 3.3.4 and 3.3.5, juniors, 
youths, adults and veterans (ie older people) and for people with a disability. Where 
appropriate legitimate concessions from the Operator Partner may be used to encourage 
this provision at no additional cost to the Council.  

 
3.3.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the developmental aspects of the programmes are 

agreed with the Authority’s Representative and shall form a valued, complementary, and 
successful part of district, and where appropriate, county wide sports development 
programmes.  
 

3.4 Educational Use  
 

3.4.1 The Operator Partner shall encourage the use of the leisure Facilities by local educational 
establishments and shall, wherever possible, accommodate their requirements in relation 
to the use of the Facilities to meet the requirements of the National Curriculum.  
 

3.4.2 The Operator Partner shall maintain a positive relationship with local educational 
establishments including home school links and shall ensure that the appropriate links and 
opportunities are in place and sufficient information available to encourage young people 
and educational establishments to participate in the activities and opportunities provided. 
 

3.5 Partnership working 
 

3.5.1 The Operator Partner shall understand and deliver Rushmoor Borough Council’s priorities 
and outcomes for health and physical activity within the Borough. 
 

3.5.2 The Operator Partner shall attend relevant and appropriate fora and development meetings, 
including National Governing Body networking e.g. Rushmoor Health and Wellbeing 
Partnership, Rushmoor Strategic Partnership, Rushmoor Swimming Association, 
Rushmoor Indoor Bowling Meetings and others as they are formed. 
 

3.5.3 The Operator Partner will work in partnership with new and existing clubs and set up regular 
club committee meetings to discuss matters arising. They will support the clubs with their 
programming, coaching and volunteer workforce, funding applications and increasing in 
membership. 

 
3.5.4 The Operator Partner shall implement and host a leadership and volunteer workforce, who 

will support large events at the leisure Facilities. The Operator Partner shall set up a 
volunteer work programme to support local clubs, schools, community groups and local 
organisations to increase awareness and inspire others into becoming leaders and 
coaches.  

 
METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING and SOCIAL VALUE -  Social Value 
objectives and outcomes  

 

3.6 Special Events  
 

3.6.1 Special events are defined as sporting competitions or activities that take place on an 
infrequent basis and provide an attraction which is additional to the regular programme; 
special events may be accessible to the general public either for no charge or on payment 
of an appropriate fee. The Operator Partner will work with Key Users to facilitate use of the 
Performance Space and associated seating within the Sports Hall at Farnborough LCH for 
cultural activities as per the Key User Agreement requirements. 
 Pack Page 69



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

37 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.6.2 The Operator Partner shall give reasonable assistance to those individuals and teams 
representing Rushmoor in the Hampshire Youth Games.  
 

3.6.3 The Operator Partner shall host an annual event to celebrate National Disability Day by 
promoting activities running across all Facilities and invite both members and non-members 
to attend taster sessions free of charge. 
 

3.6.4 External sporting competitions, Hampshire County or local events (e.g. Hampshire Schools’ 
Sports Festival) are to receive a minimum discount of 20% per booking subject to prior 
approval by the Authority’s Representative. This is up to a maximum of 20 hours per annum. 
 

3.7 Disability 
 

3.7.1 The Operator Partner shall promote effective inclusive delivery, leadership and good 
practice for disabled people and individuals with health conditions by sharing evidence-
based methods, resources and promoting positive messaging around inclusivity.  
 

3.7.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure a high-quality experience, and for all participants to feel 
valued from their first attendance through to elite pathways. 
 

3.7.3 The Operator Partner shall encourage greater physical activity levels amongst disabled 
people and individuals with health conditions by providing and promoting inclusive 
opportunities and accessible Facilities and Services and shall provide evidence of positive 
outputs and outcomes that will lead to long-term impact on the health of disabled people 
and individuals with health conditions. 

 

3.8 User Satisfaction 
 

3.8.1 The Operator Partner shall create feedback tools linked to the identified KPIs; prioritising 
and considering the underrepresented priority groups in order to improve Services. The 
Operator Partner will work with the Authority Comms Team to undertake both user and non-
user consultation to better understand what the residents needs and wants, and the barriers 
to participation. 

 

3.8.2 The Operator Partner will track customer satisfaction among different users, including those 
identified as underrepresented priority groups. 
 

3.8.3 The Operator Partner will use this feedback to promote more widely to both users and non-
users and maximise the use of all leisure Facilities. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING, MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS, PUBLIC RELATIONS 
AND CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE – communication with target groups, customer satisfaction 
monitoring, contacting inactive people and identified target groups 

 

3.9 Performance Standards 
 

3.9.1 The Health and Well-being Development Programme shall include innovative and non-
traditional activities targeted at the priority groups set out in paragraphs 3.3.4 and 3.3.5 as 
well as a wider audience. 

 

METHOD STATEMENT 9: INNOVATION AND ADDED VALUE – specific areas of innovation 
demonstrated 

 
3.9.2 The Health and Well-being Development Programme shall ensure that sport and leisure 

Facilities are welcoming and accessible for identified priority groups (paragraphs 3.3.4 and 
3.3.5,) and those who would not ordinarily visit a traditional leisure centre as well as activity 
delivery. Specifically, the Operator Partner shall support the Authority’s Services for Older 
People Team which supports people prone to, or suffering from, falls and similar injuries.  

 Pack Page 70



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

38 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.9.3 The Health and Well-being Development Programme will promote inclusion in its widest 
sense particularly for people with disabilities including those individuals with one or a 
combination of the following disabilities, long-term conditions and/or multi-morbidity: 

 

• Vision impairment 

• Deaf or hard of hearing 

• Mental health impairments 

• Intellectual disability 

• Acquired brain injury 

• Autism spectrum disorder 

• Physical disability 

• Diabetes 

• Cardiovascular Disease 

• Chronic Pulmonary Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 

• Dementia  

• Musculoskeletal conditions (including arthritis) 
 

3.9.4 The Health and Well-being Development Programme will have a focus on increasing sport 
and physical activity participation / opportunities in line with the Quest™ Active 
Communities Generic Modules or equivalent. The Operator Partner shall achieve Quest 
Active Communities within 2 years of the Main Phase of the contract commencing. 

 
3.9.5 The Operator Partner shall support the implementation of local, regional and national sports 

development policies where appropriate and provide representation on local and county 
wide or regional sports development groups. 
 

3.9.6 The Operator Partner shall seek to increase the number of sporting volunteers and provide 
support to local clubs through community programming.  

 
3.9.7 The Operator Partner shall develop an annual Health and Wellbeing Development Plan in 

partnership with the Authority’s Representative which clearly identifies how the outputs 
shown in Table 2 will be achieved. This plan will be monitored and reviewed by the Authority 
on a Quarterly basis. 

 
3.9.8 The Operator Partner will be expected to continue to source external funding for sport and 

physical activity and healthy lifestyles programmes to continue provision already in place. 
 

3.9.9 The Operator Partner will be required to work in partnership with the Authority, and external 
partners to source external funding for new sport and physical activity and healthy lifestyles 
programmes\ Facilities. 

 
METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – how the Health and 
Wellbeing Development Programme will be developed, delivered and resourced 

 

3.10 GP Referral Scheme/Cardiac Groups 
 

3.10.1 The Rushmoor GP Referral Scheme takes place at Aldershot Pools and Lido and the 
Operator Partner will be required to deliver the same scheme at the Farnborough LCH. The 
Operator Partner is responsible for development and delivery of all aspects of this Scheme. 

 
3.10.2 Details of the existing scheme are set out in Appendix 13. It is expected that the Operator 

Partner will work collaboratively with the new GP Health Hub planned for development in 
Farnborough town centre. 

 
 
 

Pack Page 71



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

39 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – GP Referral, Cardiac 
Groups and Social Prescribing 

 

3.11 Play Development 
 
Holiday Activities Scheme 
 

3.11.1 The Operator Partner will be required to develop, organise, promote and deliver a 
comprehensive holiday activity scheme for children during all school holidays. This is 
expected include all the holiday periods with a minimum of 33 days per annum. The year 
will coincide with the school academic calendar from 1st September to 31st August.   
 

3.11.2 The scheme must as a minimum, cater for children aged 5 to 13 years of age and 
incorporate an extended day Facility to allow parents to drop their child off from 8am and 
pick up from 5.30pm. 

 
3.11.3 The scheme can be provided directly by the Operating Partner or sub-contracted to a 

suitably qualified and experienced organisation.  
 

3.11.4 The Operating Partner shall provide the Authority’s Representative with details of its 
proposed programme of activities a minimum of 2 months in advance of each holiday period 
for approval. The programme must be innovative and balanced, reflective of the interests 
and needs of the target age group and use all the Facilities across each site. The 
programme should incorporate use of outdoor activity areas including the Skate Park and 
Play Areas at the new Farnborough LCH. 
 

3.11.5 The scheme shall offer a minimum of one qualified coaching session as part of the day. 
 

3.11.6 All spaces booked must be clear of all other equipment prior to start of booking. 
 

 

3.11.7 The scheme shall incorporate discounted pricing for concessionary groups as specified in 
paragraphs 3.3.4 and 3.3.5 of this specification. The Operator Partner will be required to 
apply for external funding which enables free or subsidised access to holiday activities for 
children and young people e,g, Government Holiday Activities and Food Programme.  
 

3.11.8 The Operator Partner shall provide a weekly update on the number of Concession Card 
holders participating in the holiday scheme during their operating period. 

 

• The Operating Partner shall carry out regular consultation with its users to ensure that 
the programme reflects their wants and needs. 
 

• The Operating Partner shall provide an online booking facility for ease of booking. The 
booking facility must allow for payment by childcare vouchers. 
 

• The scheme shall obtain and maintain Ofsted registration and copies of all inspection 
reports be supplied to the Authority’s Representative together with an action plan 
where any areas of improvement are identified. 
 

• The Operating Partner shall provide and maintain up to date and relevant operating 
procedures and policies to support the operation of the scheme. These will include but 
not be limited to: 
➢ Safeguarding children policy 
➢ Accident and incident procedure 
➢ Behaviour management policy 
➢ Complaints procedure 
➢ First aid and medical information 
➢ Health and safety guidelines including sun protection 

Pack Page 72



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

40 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

➢ Late and non-collected child policy 
➢ Missing persons policy 
➢ Mobile phone and camera policy 
➢ Social media policy 
➢ Equalities and Diversity policy 
 

• The Operating Partner shall employ suitably qualified staff with an interest in children 
and play. 

 

• The staff shall be trained in the operating policies and procedures relating to the 
scheme and evidence must be supplied of regular refresher training undertaken by all 
staff. The training will include but not be limited to:  
➢ Safeguarding 
➢ Play theory, Play types, Play opportunities and activity planning 
➢ Policies and procedures 
➢ Paediatric first aid 

 

3.11.9 This training must be undertaken for all new staff and refresher training carried out on an 
annual basis. 
 

3.11.10 The Operator Partner shall produce an annual report on the Health and Wellbeing 
Development Programme which highlights how it has performed in meeting the Authority’s 
Strategic Priorities and contributing to wider local Strategic Outcomes e.g. holiday scheme 
provision. 
 

3.11.11 The Operating Partner shall obtain and manage all necessary customer consents required 
including medical and photography.  
 

3.11.12 The Operator Partner must publicise the Holiday Activities via its own social media and 
electronic advertisements boards on site, and also display the Authority promotional 
literature on site. Details of the Scheme and activities provided shall be shared with the the 
Authority Comms Team prior to and after the schemes running. 

 

3.12 Reporting Requirements 
 

Holiday Schemes 
 

3.12.1 The above policies and procedures shall be submitted to the Authority’s Representative 3 
months in advance of the Start Date of the Interim Phase for approval. Copies must also 
be available for the customer to view online and on site. The policies must be reviewed and 
updated at the beginning of each academic year as a minimum to reflect changes in 
legislation and policy. 
 

3.12.2 The Operator Partner shall meet with the Authorised Play Development Officer a minimum 
of 3 times per year following the Easter, summer and winter holidays to discuss the 
operation and future development of the scheme. As part of this process, the Operating 
Partner shall provide the following performance data on a monthly basis following the 
Easter, summer and winter holidays: 
 

• Number of participants by age, concession category 

• Postcode of customers 
 

3.12.3 The Operating Partner shall provide an annual marketing plan to ensure that existing and 
potential customers are made aware, through a wide range of channels of the holiday 
activity scheme. This will include, but not be limited to, publicity material displayed on site, 
social media, website, mobile phone apps (this may not be needed with a good mobile-
friendly website), and targeted communications including email and texting. 
 

Pack Page 73



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

41 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.12.4 The Operating Partner shall jointly promote the Authority outreach play development 
activities alongside its scheme. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – Holiday Playschemes 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING, MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS, PUBLIC RELATIONS 
AND CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE – marketing plans 

 

3.13 Opening Hours 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.13.1 Facilities that are fully accessible to the community during the “Minimum Opening Hours" 

as detailed in paragraph Table 2.4 of this Services Specification. 
 

Performance Standards 
 

3.13.2 The Facilities must be available for public use during the Minimum Opening Hours (see 
Table 2.4). 

 
3.13.3 The Operator Partner shall advertise all opening hours on the relevant Facility website and 

through social media and shall provide printed information on opening hours and timetables 
for the Facilities’ activity programmes. Any agreed changes to opening hours for bank 
holidays must be advertised at least 2 weeks prior to the actual holiday. 

 
3.13.4 The programming for the swimming pools shall allow for public access to all main pools 

during all minimum opening hours (this need not be the whole pool but must be a minimum 
of 2 lanes of the main pool at the new Farnborough LCH). 

 
3.13.5 The Operator Partner shall operate the vending services during the Minimum Opening 

Hours (see Table 2.4). 
 

3.13.6 Where appropriate, the Operator Partner shall agree with the Authority closures of the 
Facilities, or any element therein, for the purposes of maintenance, in accordance with the 
agreed Schedule of Programmed Maintenance. 
 

3.13.7 Where an item of equipment is broken, the Operator Partner will place in situ a printed, 
laminated sign to advise customers that the problem has been identified and provide a 
timescale for rectification. 

 
3.13.8 The Operator Partner will be required to advertise all planned maintenance closures and 

any variations in opening for at least 4 weeks before the closure period on site and on their 
website. Where private hire, block or club bookings have been made during a period of 
closure whether planned or unforeseen, the Operator Partner will be responsible for 
informing each hirer separately of the changes and meeting all costs incurred, inclusive of 
the reimbursement of any fees and charges made in advance. 

 
3.13.9 In the event of closure of any of the Facilities or part thereof or ceasing of the Health and 

Wellbeing Development Programme, or part thereof, owing to unforeseen or emergency 
conditions, the Operator Partner shall inform the Authority immediately, followed up in 
writing as soon as practicable. The Operator Partner shall ensure customers are kept 
informed of the situation in accordance with the agreed Emergency Plan (see paragraph 
3.13.11).  

 
3.13.10 The Operator Partner needs to report any closure/ problems with the Health and Wellbeing 

Development Programme with the appropriate funders, in line with specific grant conditions.  
 

Pack Page 74



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

42 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.13.11 The Operator Partner shall provide an Emergency Plan to the Authority for Aldershot Pools 
and Lido for approval three months prior to the Start Date of the Interim Phase. The same 
shall be provided for Farnborough LCH for approval three months prior to the start of the 
Main Phase of the contract. In an Emergency, the Operator Partner shall implement the 
agreed Emergency Plan and inform the Authority of any Emergency as soon as practicable. 
Any updates should be incorporated into the Emergency Plan and re-provided to the 
Authority immediately. 

 
3.13.12 All Facility opening hours are dictated by agreed individual planning conditions. Any request 

to amend the latter would need to go through a formal planning process and is unlikely due 
to the locations/proximity of housing. 

 
3.13.13 The Operator Partner is advised that variations to the specified opening hours may only 

occur in times of national or local emergency, or in the circumstances of 2.3.4. Farnborough 
LCH has been identified as an emergency rest centre in exceptional situations (this will 
extend to all areas within the building). Should such a situation arise, the Services may be 
temporarily suspended during the period of the emergency, by notification from an 
Authority’s Representative through the Authority Business Continuity process. The 
Operator Partner’s staff would be expected to assist with the setup of Farnborough LCH as 
a rest centre and provide further assistance in any way for which they are qualified during 
the emergency.  

 
METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING, MEDIACOMMUNICATIONS, PUBLIC RELATIONS AND 
CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE – promotion and awareness, promotional material, dealing with a 
major incident/accident, dealing with potentially unpopular decisions affecting customers, 
addressing adverse social media activity 

 
3.13.14 The Operator Partner shall be required to facilitate the use of all or part of Farnborough 

LCH for the following special events: 
 

• Elections (free access) 

• Galas – no more than 7 per annum; only 1 gala permitted in the pool at any one time, 
and only in 1 Facility 

• For use as a refuge, rest centre or morgue in the event of an emergency (free access) 
 

Reporting Requirements 
 

3.13.15 The Operator Partner shall produce an annual report on the Health and Well-being 
Development Programme which highlights how it has performed in meeting the Authority’s 
Strategic Priorities and contributing to wider local Strategic Outcomes. 

 
3.13.16 The Operator Partner shall maintain a daily log of hours that the relevant Facility or area 

within it is not open and submit details of any performance failures, closures or service 
limitations during the Minimum Opening Hours, setting out the details of the closure, the 
reasons for such closure and any remedial action taken by the Operator Partner as part of 
the Monthly Performance Report. 

 
3.13.17 Any closure should be reported to the Authority in accordance with Paragraph 3.15.8. 

 

3.14 Access 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.14.1 Facilities and Services that are fully accessible by all Customers during the “Minimum 

Opening Hours" as detailed in paragraph of this Services Specification.  
 

Pack Page 75



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

43 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Performance Standards 
 

3.14.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Facilities including entrances and exits, café / 
catering / vending areas, toilets, changing and shower Facilities, drop off points, spectator 
and viewing areas, indoor and outdoor activity areas, courts, buildings, doorways, halls, 
lobbies, reception areas, loading bays, corridors, lifts, building frontage and parameters, 
access roads and car parks are open and free from any obstruction or physical destruction 
or deterioration (save for fair wear and tear).  

 
3.14.3 Each Facility must be capable of performing its function in accordance with health and 

safety legislation and guidance and allow access and egress with appropriate controls.  
 

3.14.4 The Facilities and Services should be accessible for people with disabilities as per the 
Equality Act 2010. This should include access and egress in fire/emergencies, suitable 
evacuation routes and muster points. Specifically: 

 

• Accessible Facilities; physical access and accessible Service provision 
 

• Inclusive Fitness Initiative (IFI) accredited fitness equipment capable of providing a full 
body workout (cardiovascular and strength based, upper and lower body) for 
customers with a wide range of impairments and conditions 
 

• Workforce development; customer service training for all staff and adaptive exercise 
programming for fitness instructors / sports coaches, management / leadership, good 
practice and specialist area training (e.g. inclusive communications, access auditing 
etc.) 
 

• Inclusive and accessible marketing and communication available in different formats 
 

• Partnership development within the local community 
 

• Accessible sport and social activities 
 

• Appropriate policies and procedures 
 

• Wide and varied activity and programming offer. 
 

3.14.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Facilities and storage spaces within them are 
accessible only by authorised staff and customers, to include the following: 
 

• Secure multi-activity stores 
 

• Storage lockers accessible from all changing cubicles, accessible cubicles and 
changing rooms, ideally will large, clear and tactile number and be located at a range 
of heights with ‘oversized’ lockers for people with disabilities to store equipment e.g. 
their prosthetic whilst swimming 

 

• Secure storage for Library and Cultural services dedicated equipment within the 
Farnborough LCH. 

 
3.14.6 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all signage directing customers to and within the 

Facilities is clear and instructive and complies with the Equality Act 2010 and any relevant 
planning restrictions and should ideally comply with Sport England’s Wayfinding and 
Signage Design Guidance Note 2013: 
https://www.sportengland.org/media/4426/wayfinding-and-signage-2013.pdf. 

 
 Pack Page 76

https://www.sportengland.org/media/4426/wayfinding-and-signage-2013.pdf


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

44 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 2: STAFFING – training and development 
 
METHOD STATEMENT 7: HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT – overall approach to health 
and safety 

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
3.14.7 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required Overall 

Requirement set out above as part of the six-weekly meeting with the Authority. 
 

3.15 Customer Experience 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.15.1 A consistently high level of customer care that ensures all customers receive a high quality 

and enjoyable experience where inclusion in its widest sense is the norm. The level of 
customer care shall reflect good industry practice and provide a level of customer service 
that will facilitate achievement of the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contribute to wider 
local Strategic Outcomes. 
 
Making Every Contact Count 
 

3.15.2 Making Every Contact Count (MECC) is an approach to behaviour change that utilises the 
millions of day-to-day interactions that organisations and people have, to encourage 
positive and healthy lifestyle behaviour change. These interactions, referred to as ‘healthy 
conversations’ focus upon health and mental wellbeing whilst encouraging people to talk 
about and reflect upon the impact of risky lifestyle behaviours. 
 

3.15.3 The Operator Partner shall: 
 

• Sign up to the concept of MECC  

• Appoint MECC champions within the organisation  

• Provide feedback to the Authority on the initiatives delivered to customers and 
employees 

 
METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING, MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS, PUBLIC RELATIONS 
AND CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE – Making Every Contact Count 

 

3.16 ICT, Website and Bookings 
 

3.16.1 The Operator Partner shall implement and maintain a website and booking system for the 
Facilities and Health and Well-being Development Programme that is accessible, flexible, 
innovative and meets the needs of all users (including those with a visual impairment, 
cognitive disability and hearing disability) in order to optimise access to information and 
maximise participation. This should comply with the Equality Act (2010) 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance. 

 
3.16.2 The website and booking system shall incorporate comprehensive terms and conditions for 

Facility membership, hire, advanced booking arrangements, cancellation and non-
attendance policies, customer information, effective administration and operational 
information systems to record and effectively deliver all bookings. The system should 
support the development of deeper, more value-added relationships with users to enable 
better personalisation of services and promoted activities to support their lifestyle changes 
and behaviours. 

 
 

Pack Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

45 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.16.3 The system shall enable users to easily access and navigate the range of Services 
available, enable bookings to be made in person, by phone, in writing and online (including 
via smartphone apps) for both members and non-members. Bookings should incorporate a 
‘fast track’ service where possible for high volume, peak time activities. 

 
3.16.4 The system should enable better personalisation of services and promoted activities to 

support their lifestyle changes and behaviours. Automatic membership renewal should be 
facilitated on-line, following an annual reminder of the date due. 

 
3.16.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure that an online booking system is provided including 

smartphone Apps with equivalent functionality to the website. 
 

3.16.6 The Operator Partner will provide the necessary hardware and software equipment to 
sustain a website and computerised booking facility, which will be used to manage online 
bookings, bookings and to provide reports broken down by categories of user (the format 
to be agreed by the Authority’s Representative). 

 
3.16.7 The Operator Partner will be responsible for all maintenance costs relating to the website 

and computerised booking system, including the replacement of hardware, consumable 
items and software licenses. 

 
3.16.8 The Operator Partner must provide an advance booking facility for clubs / organisations 

who wish to make a regular booking.  
 

3.16.9 The Operator Partner must adhere to the times and spaces allocated to the Key Users 
(Library Service and Cultural Service) at Farnborough LCH as detailed within the Key User 
Agreements and manage the communication of these arrangements, giving advanced 
notice to all customers affected. Any booking related matters will be discussed as part of 
the quarterly review meeting with the Key Users and the Authority.  

 
3.16.10 The Operator Partner must give priority to existing clubs and organisations who wish to 

make further regular bookings at the end of their existing period. 
 

3.16.11 The Operator Partner must provide an advance booking facility for schools / colleges 
wishing to make a regular booking during normal school term time (details of which can be 
obtained from Hampshire County Local Authority Education Office / Educational Trust). 

 
3.16.12 The Operator Partner must, as far as practicably possible, allow for casual use at all times 

to a pool, fitness, studios, and a minimum of 1 badminton court in Farnborough LCH. At 
times of no casual use being available, the Operator Partner must give advance warning to 
users of the Facility. This includes any non-availability of Facilities as a result of regular 
bookings or events. 

 
3.16.13 The Operator Partner must acknowledge and indicate acceptance or otherwise, in writing, 

for all applications for regular bookings, functions or events within four weeks of receipt of 
an application. 

 
3.16.14 The Operator Partner must accept any form of legal tender, in sterling, cheques, and debit 

cards and / or credit card or any other credible alternative provided for payment and will 
issue a receipt for all payments accepted. 
 

3.16.15 The Operator Partner will permit provisional bookings to be cancelled without penalty at 
any time. In the case of confirmed bookings, the Operator Partner may charge the hirer 
20% of the total fee payable providing one month’s notice of cancellation is given by the 
hirer and the Facility is re-let, otherwise the Operator Partner may charge the hirer the full 
fee payable for the booking.  

 
Pack Page 78



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

46 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.16.16 The Operator Partner will be required to formulate a booking application form, which will 
include reference to the above conditions of hire available both in hard copy and 
electronically. 

 
3.16.17 All bookings are inclusive of rigging and derigging time for equipment relating to that 

particular Facility / activity. The Operator Partner should ensure that customers are aware 
of this arrangement and that the Operator Partner adheres to it, without adversely affecting 
the Service. 

 
3.16.18 The Operator Partner shall provide a card-less access system to Farnborough LCH and 

Aldershot Pools and Lido to facilitate pre-booked access to the Facilities. These should be 
compatible with the on-line booking system. 

 

3.17 Customer Services Policy and Complaints 
 

3.17.1 The Operator Partner shall provide a comprehensive and inclusive customer service policy 
that ensures that customers, partners and visitors are dealt with promptly, effectively and 
courteously at all times.  

 
3.17.2 The Operator Partner shall operate and administer a comprehensive and effective customer 

comments and feedback system (on-line linked to the booking system), to encourage 
feedback and record online, verbal and written comments. This shall apply to all Customer 
groups covering sporting and non-sporting use. The Operator Partner must also record its 
response to complaints and comments. 
 

3.17.3 The Operator Partner shall carry out a range of innovative and robust monitoring evaluation 
and reporting activities to demonstrate: 
 

• Customer satisfaction from a representative sample covering all aspects of the Service 
 

• Comparative performance through a recognised benchmarking approach e.g. Sport 
England National Benchmarking Service (NBS), or another appropriate model 

 

• An understanding of changes to the communities’ needs reflected in the programming 
of Facilities and Services. 

 
3.17.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all customer complaints and comments are dealt 

with in accordance with the agreed  
 

METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING, MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS, PUBLIC RELATIONS 
AND CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE – customer satisfaction monitoring 

 
3.17.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure a smart appearance by all staff at all times, with 

appropriate uniform and name badges being worn. 
 

3.17.6 The Operator Partner shall ensure that staffing levels are appropriate to meet the demands 
of the activity/usage patterns at each Facility and Health and Well-being Development 
Programme to ensure high standards of customer service.  

 
3.17.7 The Operator Partner shall formally display in public areas and email to its membership 

database results from internal and external monitoring visits, Customer Fora, customer 
comments/complaints and responses, reports, surveys and other customer care activities. 

 
3.17.8 The Operator Partner shall provide training in customer service as part of its new staff 

induction and on-going refresher training.  
 
 

Pack Page 79



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

47 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 2: STAFFING - training 
 

3.17.9 The Operator Partner shall keep notice and display boards updated at all times. 
 

3.17.10 The Operator Partner shall provide dedicated space within the reception area for promotion 
of Key User services, activities and programmes. This shall be maintained by the respective 
Key Users. 

 
3.17.11 The Operator Partner shall provide at all times information to the public on the availability 

of courses, activities and events delivered and/or hosted by the Operator Partner and the 
Authority through a variety of channels to meet the needs of target populations and 
communities. 

 
3.17.12 The Operator Partner shall ensure that any out-of-order equipment is clearly labelled 

accordingly within 15 minutes and information provided as to who reported and when, the 
estimated timescale for repair, and when it will be back in use. Notices about any out of 
order equipment/Facilities should also be placed in reception so that users are aware of the 
situation before paying to use the Facility. 

 
3.17.13 The Operator Partner shall operate an effective system for dealing with lost and found 

property.  
 

Reporting Requirements 
 

3.17.14 The Operator Partner shall provide a report to the Authority on a Monthly basis detailing all 
complaints and action taken. The Operator Partner shall ensure that a summary of this 
report and details of any failure to maintain the required Overall Requirement set out above 
are included within the Monthly Performance Monitoring Report. 

 
3.17.15 The Operator Partner shall ensure that an annual report detailing the outcomes of the 

customer feedback system is submitted to the Authority including on-going collection of 
customer satisfaction information.  

 
3.17.16 The Operator Partner will collect on-going information on customer satisfaction. 

 
3.17.17 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to implement the required website 

and booking system as part of the Monthly Performance Monitoring Report. 
 

3.17.18 The Operator Partner shall comply with and shall provide details of its compliance with 
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) for credit and debit card payment 
handling. 

 
3.17.19 The Operator Partner shall provide monitoring data on sources of bookings (e.g. in person, 

online, via a smart app etc) as part of the Monthly Performance Monitoring Report. 
 

3.18 Programming for All 
 

Overall Requirement 
 

3.18.1 A dynamic, innovative, inclusive and responsive programme of activities provided at the 
Facilities and through the Health and Wellbeing Programme that meets the needs of all 
sections of the community and ensures the delivery of the Authority’s Strategic Priorities. 
 

 
 
 
 

Pack Page 80



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

48 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Performance Standards 
 

3.18.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure a reasonable proportion of casual use and block 
bookings at the Facilities consistent with a balanced programme of use by the public, 
communities, inclusive and mainstream sport and recreation clubs, schools, and instructed 
development courses. 
 

3.18.3 There must be a sustainable balanced Programme of Use to accommodate community and 
club activity and to contribute towards the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and local Strategic 
Outcomes.  

 

3.18.4 There shall be activities and sessions to meet the needs of specific customers in 
accordance with the agreed activity programme. The Programme of Use should be 
dynamic, innovative and responsive to the requirements of Customers, including frequent 
or seasonal variations and should seek to target non-users as appropriate. The 
programmes should consider the various types of customer and use to ensure that they are 
balanced. The Programme of Use shall meet the needs of specific customers by offering 
activities and opportunities that are culturally sensitive and relevant to diverse communities 
across age, gender, religion, race, sexual orientation and disability. 

 
3.18.5 The Operator Partner shall provide the activities and sessions to meet the needs of specific 

Customers in accordance with the agreed Programme of Use and Annual Business Plan. 
 

3.18.6 The Operator Partner shall submit the initial proposed Programme of Use for Aldershot 
Pools and Lido to the Authority for approval 2 months prior to the Commencement Date for 
Aldershot Pools and Lido. An initial proposed Programme of Use for Farnborough LCH shall 
be submitted 2 months prior to the start of the Main Phase of the contract. The Programmes 
of Use for both Facilities need to be balanced, and the Authority reserves the right to refuse 
the Operator Partner’s proposed Programmes of Use, if they do not accurately reflect the 
needs and demographics of the local area. 

 
3.18.7 The Operator Partner shall submit a subsequent proposed Programme of Use to the 

Authority three months prior to the start of each new Contract Year.  
 

3.18.8 The Programme of Use should take into account the following: 
 

• The need to offer a wide-ranging and diverse programme of activities designed to 
encourage greater levels of community participation across all relevant local social and 
cultural groups with a particular focus on increasing participation from members of the 
community with specific health needs and using group activity to improve retention 
 

• Provision of a wide range of recreational opportunities to all Rushmoor residents, 
including a balanced programme of pre-paid courses, classes, pay-as-you play 
sessions, club and school block bookings, casual usage and where applicable, special 
events 
 

• Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub status and role as regional sporting and cultural 
event venue 
 

• A management philosophy that encourages participation and engagement with all 
sections of the community 
 

• A regular and planned review of the programme of activities, considering customer and 
non-user research 
 

• Responsiveness to recreational trends to provide a dynamic and forward-looking 
service 
 

• Setting and reviewing programme objectives on at least an annual basis Pack Page 81



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

49 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

 

• Having a promotional strategy in place that keeps Customers informed of the 
programme and any planned changes 
 

• Outreach activities 
 

• Making optimum use of all available resources and Facilities 
 

• Monitoring usage levels 
 

• Contributing towards the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and local Strategic Outcomes. 
 

• Proactive programming of social events and activities targeted at the local community\ 
customers\ partners sports groups. 

 
3.18.9 The Operator Partner should be familiar with and apply insight and knowledge from the 

latest research into swimming participation such as Swim England’s Three Frontiers Toolkit. 
This insight should be used to programme swimming Facilities to meet the needs of the 
local community whilst maximising usage. 

 
3.18.10 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Programmes of Use across the Facilities 

complement each other and provide an appropriate balance of activities. 
 

3.18.11 The Operator Partner shall review the effectiveness of the Programme of Use on a regular 
basis, but in any event, as a minimum every 12 months using market information and 
through consultation with relevant customers.  

 
3.18.12 The Operator Partner shall ensure that any future Programme of Use will continue to 

support the established arrangements with identified clubs and enable these to be 
expanded to meet demand where possible.  

 
METHOD STATEMENT 1:HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – how the Health and 
Wellbeing Development Programme will be developed, delivered and resourced 

 

3.19 Special Events and Protected Bookings 
 

3.19.1 A list of protected club bookings for Aldershot Pools and Lido is provided in Appendix 3. 
The Operator Partner shall note that whilst the hirer during the first year of the contract is 
protected, the times are not necessarily protected moving forward. The Operator Partner 
shall meet with and re-negotiate protected bookings for Aldershot Pools and Lido with the 
appropriate hirer during the first year of the contract to ensure that the overall programme 
meets the Authority’s identified requirements and strategic outcomes.  

 
3.19.2 A list of those clubs who previously hired the old Farnborough Leisure Centre is provided 

in Appendix 3. Although these clubs will not have protected use of the new Farnborough 
LCH, the Operator Partner will be required to contact all these clubs in advance of the start 
of the Main Phase of the contract and seek to accommodate them within the leisure centre 
programme where possible. The Operator Partner will need to evidence that it is providing 
a balanced programme of use across both sites, including club use.  

 
3.19.3 All clubs wishing to use Farnborough LCH and Aldershot Pools and Lido will be expected 

to: 
 

• achieve Club Mark accreditation 

• confirm their ability to contribute to the required physical activity outcomes of this 
contract 

 

Pack Page 82



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

50 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.19.4 The above is required for clubs to qualify for a subsidised hire rate. Subsidies will be 
reviewed on an annual basis by the Operator Partner against agreed participation 
outcomes, prior to being agreed for the forthcoming 12 months. 

 
3.19.5 All Learn to Swim classes at both Facilities will be delivered through the appointed operator.  

 
3.19.6 Special events (excluding those provided by Key Users) will be organised by the Operator 

Partner who will ensure that all statutory licences and arrangements are in place for the 
safe operation of the event. The following list identifies the type of events that have 
previously taken place in the Facilities: 

 

• Galas 

• Exhibitions 

• Open days 

• Tournaments/Competitions 

• Social events 
 

3.19.7 The Authority also requires the Operator Partner to make Farnborough LCH available for 
elections. 

 
3.19.8 The Operator Partner will be required to provide operational support for special events as 

required. This will include event supervision, cleaning, building security, equipment rigging 
and de-rigging and engineer support as required. 

 
3.19.9 For all special events, the Operator Partner must give adequate notice to customers, in an 

appropriate format to minimise any inconvenience. Where possible, alternative provision 
will be identified.  

 
3.19.10 The Programme of Use must be designed to ensure that regular activities are not unduly 

disrupted by special event use. Any event requiring use of a Facility, which precludes 
community use, or curriculum use for two or more consecutive days requires the written 
permission of the Authority’s Representative. 
 

3.19.11 The Operator Partner must provide an Event Management Plan which will demonstrate how 
the building and associated areas are managed through the special event programme ie 
Rushmoor Events with a Corporate presence. 

 
METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEALTH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – Event Management 
Plan 

 
3.19.12 The Operator Partner will take bookings for Blunden Hall, a small community hall in Cove. 

The hall will be hired by the Operator Partner who will manage bookings, send invoices, 
carry out the cleaning and some minor maintenance. The Operator Partner will also replace 
consumable items such as hand soap, paper towels and towel rolls. All income from these 
bookings will be transferred to the Council. 

 

3.19.13 Ticket Agency for local events – The Operating Partner will act as a ticket agent/outlet for 
local events (including Rushmoor events with a Corporate presence) eg. The annual 
Donkey Derby, the annual North Camp Summer Fayre, the Victoria Day celebration in 
Aldershot, the annual Christmas Lights switch-on in Aldershot, other charitable events in 
the Borough eg Fireworks Spectacular, Picnic in the Park, as instructed by the Council. The 
number of such events to be included in this contract is 6 per year. Any additional events 
for which the agency agreement will be required will be subject to negotiation between the 
Council and the Operating Partner. 
 
 

Pack Page 83



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

51 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.19.14 It is the intention of the Authority that the café area at Farnborough LCH will be used on a 
regular basis as a venue for evening cultural events (e.g. comedy nights, recitals, art 
exhibitions etc), taking advantage of its street frontage and providing a café bar experience.  
The café area will be required for this purpose on a minimum of x evenings per month from 
approximately 6pm - 11pm. The Authority (or Hampshire Cultural Trust?) will be responsible 
for selling tickets and promoting the events. The café will not be available for use by non-
ticketed customers during these events. 

 
3.19.15 The Authority shall notify the Operator Partner of the café bar programme of events 

quarterly in advance to allow the Operator Partner adequate time to notify all customers 
and minimise any inconvenience. The Authority shall notify the Operator Partner of any 
changes to the programme at the earliest opportunity. 

 
3.19.16 The Operator Partner will be required to provide operational support for each event 

including staffing and supervision, cleaning, and ensuring that all statutory licences and 
arrangements are in place for the safe operation of the event. The Operator Partner shall 
be required to provide an evening catering and bar service as required which reflects the 
requirements of the individual event. The Operator Partner shall retain all income from the 
bar and shall charge the Authority for any catering services provided outside the scope of 
the existing daytime café offer. 

 

3.20 Non – Sporting Events 
 

3.20.1 Facilities within the leisure centres may be used by the Operator Partner to provide a varied 
and balanced programme of non-sporting events providing that the proposed activity is not 
of a sensitive nature, is not an activity that might damage the Facility, its fixtures or 
equipment or detract from the image of the Authority.  

 
3.20.2 The Authority should be informed at the time of booking of any such proposed event, 

reserves the right to cancel any such proposed event and will accept no responsibility for 
any loss incurred as a consequence of such a cancellation. 

 
3.20.3 The Authority reserves the right to reject a booking from organisations with a political 

affiliation, those are that are linked to pressure groups / lobbying groups whose association, 
whether direct or indirect with the Authority could result in reputational damage. If there is 
any doubt, the Operator Partner should refer this to the Authority for approval.  

 
3.20.4 The Authority reserves the right to make use of the Facilities as a Polling Station and / or 

Count Centre as required for Parliamentary, European, Local Government or other 
Elections or By-Elections or Referenda, and also as a refuge or morgue in the event of an 
emergency. the Authority shall endeavour to give the Operator Partner reasonable notice 
of such matters and the Operator Partner shall ensure that all Facilities requested by the 
Authority are available for the purposes referred to in this condition.   

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
3.20.5 The Operator Partner shall submit a Programme of Use for Aldershot Pools and Lido 2 

months prior to the Commencement Date and annually thereafter during the Contract 
Period for the Authority’s approval and the Operator Partner's implementation the following 
Contract Year. The Operator shall submit a Programme of Use for Farnborough LCH 2 
months prior to the start of the Main Phase of the contract and annually thereafter, during 
the Contract Period for the Authority’s approval and the Operator Partner’s implementation 
the following Contract Year. 

 
3.20.6 A Programme of Use Progress Update must be supplied to the Authority as part of the 

Monthly Performance Monitoring Report. 
 

Pack Page 84



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

52 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.20.7 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to honour any events, functions and 
hire arrangements that are pre-booked at the commencement of this Agreement as part of 
the Monthly Performance Monitoring Report.  
 

3.20.8 The Operator Partner shall maintain a record concerning actual use of all of the Facilities 
and activities and shall submit details of the outcome of programming reviews, activity 
usage, and of any failure to meet the specified Performance Standards, as part of the 
Monthly Performance Report.  

 
3.20.9 The Operator Partner shall undertake an equality impact assessment for any new 

Service/Facility. 
 

3.21 Pricing 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.21.1 A pricing scheme that is consistent and aligned to local market rates ensuring that all 

sections of the community are able to access the Facilities and Health and Well-being 
Development Programme. The pricing scheme should be designed in a way that best meets 
the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contributes towards its local Strategic Outcomes. 

 
Performance Standards 

 
3.21.2 The current pricing for the Facilities as controlled by the Authority, is set out in Appendix 4 

Current Pricing/Fees & Charges.  
 

3.21.3 The Operator Partner is free to set prices for all activities, services and memberships 
providing that a concessionary scheme is offered at the Facilities and for the Health and 
Well-being Development Programme. 

 
3.21.4 The Authority is open to new approaches to pricing, in particular the concessionary scheme. 

The Operator Partner shall submit its proposed approach to pricing in the Pricing Method 
Statement 6. This should include casual prices, membership and concessionary prices for 
each activity.  

 
3.21.5 Any variations from Appendix 4 may be proposed and should take place to coincide with 

the Commencement Date of the contract, the annual pricing review or otherwise by written 
agreement between the parties.  
 

3.21.6 The Operator Partner shall offer a concessionary pricing scheme as an integral element of 
its membership offer, based on the following principles: 

 
Concession Pricing 

 
3.21.7 The Operator Partner's Pricing Policy shall promote the principles of equality of access and 

sustainability. Usage and attendance by all sections of the local and wider community shall 
be encouraged through the Operator Partner's Pricing Policy to support delivery of the 
Authority’s Strategic Priorities. 

 
3.21.8 Concession pricing aims to support targeted users who may be: 

 
1. in receipt of national or local benefits to address their personal circumstances – often 

linked to health, income levels or a disability. 
 

2. inhibited from participating as a result of the price of the activity because they are on 
a low income  
 

3. at risk of increasing health inequalities which would reduce their quality of life  Pack Page 85



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

53 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

 
4. caring for a family member who wishes to take part  

 
5. involved in performance sport (Free Access to National Sports People)  

 
6. at risk of getting involved in anti-social behaviour and the concession is aimed at 

providing diversionary activities – e.g. subsidised or free holiday schemes. 
 

Table 8:  

 

Example Concessions Key Considerations 

Young people Free swimming or discounted swimming is often provided to young 
people but consideration should be given to discounting swimming 
lessons, to given young people the opportunity to learn a life skill and 
take advantage of discounted or free swimming. 
 

Over 60’s  In many local areas, the over 60’s are some of the most affluent in a 
community. Consideration should be given to those over 60’s but who 
also qualify through being a disabled person, on a low income or who 
are in receipt of other council benefits. 
 
Many over 60’s is a target market for leisure services commercially. 
Given people are living longer, targeted concessions may be 
considered for older age groups – e.g. over 70’s but informed by 
insight. 
 

Low income Residents and their families on low income or in receipt of recognised 
state benefits are a recognised target group who would benefit from 
concessions. Consideration should be given to what is affordable 
rather than providing a % discount to the full price. 
 

Disabled people All recent research highlights the inequalities of access for disabled 
people and lower participation rates than the general population. In 
some cases, price may be factor but consideration of other 
multifaceted barriers need to be addressed.  
 

Public Sector 
employee discounts 

Discounting of specific groups of people such as NHS staff, fire 
service personnel, local authority staff, military personnel etc is 
offered by a number of local authorities as part of its concession 
policy. 
 
However, consideration should be given to the need to provide these 
discounts for public sector employees generally, rather than to 
specific employees that may make better use or have a greater need 
for the discounts, Consideration should also be given to veterans as 
part of the military covenant. 
 

Corporate Users Normally corporate users receive a discount to target bulk users, 
where the majority of income from the users is marginal, so attracting 
these groups can be financially advantageous to the business.  
 
These should not be seen as concessions as these individuals are 
more likely to be capable of paying the standard price but discounting 
the price can provide additional marginal income that can be used to 
contribute towards the overall funding of the concessionary policy, 
albeit that this funding could be greater where corporate discounting 
is not needed, but corporate sales are delivered. 
  

 
 

Pack Page 86



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

54 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.21.9 The above shall get the concession pay and play card for free, 20% discount off the 
standard rate for activities as a minimum, the benefits detailed in paragraph 3.21.8 and also 
concessionary priced activities (to be determined by the contractor as per paragraphs 
3.21.10-3.21.15). 

 
3.21.10 The Operator Partner shall offer a range of membership and payment options including 

direct debit, annual payments, course payments and casual pay and play. 
 

3.21.11 The Operator Partner shall offer a family membership and single parent family membership. 
 

3.21.12 Charges for Facilities, activities and services that are not listed in Appendix 4 Current 
Pricing/Fees & Charges ie non-core prices will be at the Operator Partner's discretion 
provided they do not in any way inhibit the achievement of the Authority's Strategic Priorities 
for the Service. 

 
3.21.13 The Operator Partner may offer an annual centre membership card. 

 
3.21.14 Elite level athletes – FANS (Hampshire-wide Scheme) - The Operator Partner shall ensure 

that talented sportspeople receive free access to all the sports Facilities included in the 
contract (Hampshire Scheme FANS). 

 
3.21.15 The Operator Partner shall continue to offer pricing promotions to encourage increased use 

at all periods of the day reflecting work and cultural patterns in the community and demand 
for Facilities.  

 
3.21.16 No charges shall be collected by the Operator Partner in respect of services extending 

beyond the Contract Period other than those authorised by the Authority during the last 
year of the Contract Period. 

 
3.21.17 The Operator Partner must ensure that all current fees and charges are displayed 

prominently in the reception area of the Facilities and on the centre websites and as 
appropriate within the Facilities.  

 
3.21.18 The Operator Partner shall operate comprehensive and effective systems for cash and non-

cash methods of payment and booking administrative services. The Operator Partner shall 
also provide a breakdown of number of members for all their membership types e.g. all 
inclusive, gym only, pay and play by user type e.g. universal credit, care leaver, adult, child 
etc. 

 
METHOD STATEMENT 4: PRICING – pricing strategy, membership approach, core activities, 
concession groups, development and promotion of new products and services 

 
Reporting Requirements  

 
3.21.19 The Operator Partner must provide proposals for concession pricing as listed in Appendix 

4 Current Pricing/Fees & Charges annually to the Authority no later than the August prior 
to the start of each financial year. Details of other pricing proposals will also be required at 
this time but for information only. Additional variations can be made with written agreement 
between both parties. 

 
3.21.20 The Operator Partner must submit details of any failure to achieve the required 

Performance Standards as set out above, as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
  

Pack Page 87



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

55 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.22 Staffing and Skills Development 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.22.1 Sufficient and suitably qualified staff to provide the Services, to comply with legislation and 

industry guidance and to best meet the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contribute 
towards its wider local Strategic Outcomes. 

 
Performance Standards 

 
3.22.2 The Facilities and Health and Well-being Development Programme shall have a sufficient 

number of suitably qualified staff to provide the Services in a manner which meets all 
relevant legislation and industry guidance. 

 
3.22.3 The Operator Partner shall ensure that: 

 

• A minimum of 1 member of staff to be qualified to Level 4 Cardiac Rehabilitation.  
 

• All GP Referral instructors to be qualified to Level 3 Cardiac Rehabilitation with an 
Exercise On Referral Qualification. 
 

• there is a designated full time suitably qualified Health and Well-being Development 
Officer on the contract team with responsibility for the Rushmoor Contract only. 
 

3.22.4 The Operator Partner is required to have sufficient competent staff within the building during 
all opening hours to comply with the agreed emergency evacuation procedures. 

 
3.22.5 The Operator Partner is required to have qualified personnel head office support (for 

example Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development).  
 

3.22.6 The Operator Partner is required to have a comprehensive set of supporting policies 
including disciplinary, safeguarding, training, induction processes etc. in accordance with 
industry best practice. 

 
3.22.7 The Operator Partner should have a recognised industry continued professional 

development programme such as that provided by the Chartered Institute for the 
Management of Sport & Physical Activity. 

 
 

Staffing and the transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 
(TUPE) 

 
3.22.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure that TUPE is fully adhered to and that the transfer of 

staff is handled smoothly and sensitively without any disruption to the Service. Staff 
employed, licensed, or permitted to offer personal training services or to deliver coached 
activities and courses must be qualified to the appropriate level according to the Governing 
Body for the sport/activity and in line with any required legislation. The Operator Partner 
shall ensure that, as a minimum, staffing levels are appropriate to the size of the Facilities 
and those activities are delivered by suitably trained personnel. 

 
3.22.9 The Operator Partner shall fully adhere to and provide written confirmation of compliance 

with the Modern Slavery Act 2015. See Appendix 19. 
 

3.22.10 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Modern Slavery Act 2015 is fully adhered to. 
 
 

Pack Page 88



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

56 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.22.11 The Operator Partner shall ensure that reception desks are appropriately staffed at all times 
the Facilities are open to the public. Reception staffing levels and access control 
procedures at times of peak demand shall be such that Customers are able to gain access 
without unreasonable delay. Telephone answering times e.g. 0-10 seconds, 10-20 seconds 
etc shall be reported as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 

 
3.22.12 The Operator Partner should aim to employ staff that are representative of the demographic 

profile of Rushmoor Borough and shall undertake annual workforce monitoring to measure 
this. Reports from such monitoring shall be provided to the Authority on an annual basis. 

 
3.22.13 The Operator Partner shall employ sufficient qualified and experienced staff to ensure a 

high standard of service and customer care at all times. Accordingly, it will be necessary 
for the Operator Partner to employ sufficient reserves of staff to provide these high 
standards in times of sickness, leave, training and other absence from work. 

 

3.22.14 The Operator Partner shall keep available and maintain an emergency maintenance back 
up, qualified to the level of Technical Assistant, with a response time of not more than one 
hour, for response to any failure of equipment / plant under the Operator Partner’s 
responsibility at all times. A continuous back up available to provide telephone solutions on 
request, must also be provided. 

 
3.22.15 The Operator Partner shall employ sufficient and appropriately qualified staff, coaches and 

instructors for all activities where coaching or instruction takes place or specific 
qualifications are required.  

 
3.22.16 The Operator Partner will ensure that all coaches and deliverers used meet the minimum 

standards set out by National Governing Bodies and all qualifications are checked prior to 
delivery commencing. Any sub-contracted deliverers of activities should be bound by a 
Service Level Agreement between the Operator Partner and the deliverer to ensure the 
same standards as set out in this Services Specification and that when required, 
replacement sports coaches can be found by the deliverer to ensure programmes can 
continue as planned.  

 
3.22.17 The Operator Partner’s employment of coaches, instructors, leaders etc. must be in 

accordance with Sports Coach UK. The Partner Operator must forward copies of 
certificates for coaches, instructors, leaders etc. to the Authority’s Representative upon 
request. 

 
3.22.18 The Operator Partner shall employ staff suitably trained in order to conduct induction 

training courses for Customers on all exercise equipment in the fitness suite. 
 

3.22.19 The Operator Partner shall also employ suitably qualified staff for School Holiday Activity 
Programmes and the Health and Well-being Development Programme in accordance with 
relevant legislation.  

 
3.22.20 The Operator Partner shall only employ staff that are registered on the Register of Exercise 

Professionals or equivalent subsequent industry standard for its aerobic/exercise to music 
sessions. The Operator Partner shall ensure that any transferring staff that are not 
registered are registered within three months of the commencement date.  

 
3.22.21 The Operator Partner shall ensure compliance in respect of all persons employed or 

seeking employment with the provisions of all employment legislation including equal 
opportunities, the EU Working Time Regulations, and the National Living Wage. 

 
3.22.22 The Operator Partner must meet the Disclosure and Barring Scheme requirements adopted 

by the Authority as outlined in paragraph 3.22.23 below in relation to all staff employed in 
relation to the provision of Services including any third-party club or coach. 

 Pack Page 89



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

57 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.22.23 The Operator Partner shall ensure compliance, where relevant, with the local OFSTED 
registration requirements, the relevant Local Authority’s Social Services Department, 
meeting the standards outlined in National Standards for under 8’s Day Care and Child-
minding as set out in The Children Act. 

 
3.22.24 The Operator Partner shall be entirely responsible for the employment and conditions of 

service of its employees.  
 

3.22.25 The Operator Partner shall be solely responsible for the employment and dismissal of all 
staff employed at the Facilities and through the Health and Well-being Development 
Programme, including all payments which may arise under the Employment Protection 
(Consolidation) Act 1978 and any amendments thereto. The Operator Partner shall at all 
times be fully responsible for the payments of all salaries, wages, taxes, National Insurance 
contributions, or levies arising out of employment. 

 
Workplace Wellbeing 
 

3.22.26 There are huge benefits for both employers and employees in having a healthy workforce. 
For employers, organisations that implement wellbeing programmes are likely to 
experience reduced sickness absence, improved productivity and reduced staff turnover 
and for employees, such programmes can provide additional opportunities to improve their 
health and wellbeing and help them flourish in the workplace. 
 

3.22.27 The Operator Partner shall: 
 

• sign up to the concept of workplace wellbeing, including HSE Stress Management 
standards or equivalent 
 

• undertake a workplace health needs assessment & implements a suitable and ongoing 
action plan  

 

• signpost employees to the Access to Work Programme, which can provide support to 
individuals with disabilities or health condition in work Reference 
https://www.gov.uk/access-to-work 
 

• provide feedback to Rushmoor Borough Council on the initiatives delivered 
 

3.22.28 The Operator Partner must be committed to a programme of continuous professional 
development that is linked to a nationally recognised accreditation scheme(s) such as 
CIMSPA or an industry-recognised equivalent. It shall implement a scheme for the 
continued assessment and development of staff.  

 
3.22.29 The Operator Partner shall therefore ensure that, through individual staff training plans 

where applicable to each role, staff undertake regular training (including refresher and 
advanced courses) to achieve qualifications relevant to their role. The Operator Partner 
shall ensure that this is appraised at least annually. 

 
3.22.30 The Operator Partner will be fully responsible for all training of staff employed and shall 

ensure that sufficient, regular training is undertaken to: 
 

• Provide a high-quality service 
 

• Ensure that all employees and volunteers, providing supervision of activities undertake 
an induction course which includes ensuring a full working knowledge of Health and 
Safety responsibilities, procedures of evacuation in case of fire, bomb threats, gas 
leaks, chemical spillage and electricity blackout and serious injury reporting 
 

Pack Page 90

https://www.gov.uk/access-to-work


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

58 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• Ensure staff fitness and awareness to perform all duties required in an efficient and 
prompt manner 
 

• Ensure all staff receive regular awareness training in customer care, health and safety, 
equality and diversity, safeguarding etc. and the special needs of target user groups 
 

• All staff (including casual staff) to be used by the Operator Partner, at any time, for 
poolside responsibilities must be qualified to the minimum standards laid down by the 
Royal Life Saving Society. 

 
3.22.31 The Operator Partner shall maintain detailed training records to include attendance at 

training sessions in line with privacy notice/GDPR specifications. 
 

3.22.32 The Operator Partner shall offer apprenticeships (through a qualified training provider), 
placements and volunteer opportunities to local residents and shall ensure that there is 
minimum of one apprentice employed in the Facilities and/or Health and Well-being 
Development Programme at all times during the contract. 

 
3.22.33 The Operator Partner shall ensure that appropriately qualified persons or sub-Operator 

Partner companies carry out all maintenance works. 
 

3.22.34 The Operator Partner shall ensure that user data developed and shared through Open Data 
Institute standards can be analysed by trained staff and reported on to support the Operator 
Partner and Local Authority in determining the effectiveness of programming and 
interventions.  

 
3.22.35 The Operator Partner shall ensure that specialist staff can provide the analysis and insight 

to support the development of a programme to reflect the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and 
contribute towards its local Strategic Outcomes.  

 
3.22.36 The Operator Partner shall, on request, provide a list of named staff together with details of 

their necessary professional and technical competence as appropriate to fully discharge 
the requirements of this Services Specification in a safe and efficient manner. 

 
3.22.37 The Operator Partner shall appoint an overall contract manager to be its Operator Partner 

Representative. The Operator Partner's Representative shall consult with the Authority as 
often as may reasonably be necessary for the efficient provision of the Services and shall 
attend meetings on a regular basis.  

 
3.22.38 The Operator Partner shall submit written Codes of Conduct for both customers and staff 

to be approved by an Authority’s Representative by the Commencement Date of the 
contract. 

 
3.22.39 The Operator Partner’s staff should not conduct or present themselves in any way that, in 

the opinion of an Authority’s Representative, is detrimental to the image or reputation of the 
Authority, or which would not uphold the professionalism of the Service. This includes 
wearing the correct uniform at all times on duty. 

 
3.22.40 No views should be expressed by the Operator Partner’s staff, which could appear to 

represent the Authority’s view of particular issues or policies. Enquiries on such matters 
which are received from the press must be referred to the Authority’s Representative to 
reply on the Authority’s behalf. 

 
  

Pack Page 91



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

59 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Reporting Requirements 
 

3.22.41 The Operator Partner shall provide an annual Workforce Monitoring report to the Authority 
designed to demonstrate the extent to which the workforce is representative of the local 
demographic profile. 

 
3.22.42 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required Overall 

Requirement set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Monitoring Report. 
 

3.22.43 The Operator Partner shall report on call answering times for the main reception point for 
each Facility in the contract as part of the Monthly Performance Monitoring Report. 

 
METHOD STATEMENT 2: STAFFING 

 

3.23 Safeguarding 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.23.1 All activities and programmes involving young people and vulnerable persons are carried 

out adhering to legal and best practice safeguarding standards. 
 

Performance Standards 
 

3.23.2 All staff delivering Services to or in contact with children and young people and adults at 
risk must have a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) check in line with DBS guidelines. 
The Operator Partner will be responsible for all costs relating to DBS checks. 

 
3.23.3 The Operator Partner must comply with all safeguarding legislation, statutory guidance and 

Rushmoor Borough ’s Safeguarding policy to ensure all children, young people and adults 
at risk are protected from abuse and neglect. The current policy can be found in Appendix 
6 – Safeguarding Children, Young People and Adults at Risk Policy or equivalent. 

 
3.23.4 The Operator Partner will be required to submit their safeguarding policy and procedures 

for review before the Commencement Date of the contract, whenever the policy or 
procedures are amended and whenever deemed necessary by the Authority during the 
Contract Period. 

 
3.23.5 All new staff are required to undergo safeguarding training prior to commencing work within 

the Facilities or the Health and Well-being Development Programme. 
 

3.23.6 Existing staff are required to have refresher training on safeguarding as a minimum annually 
or when there are significant changes to legislation or Rushmoor Borough’s safeguarding 
policies. 

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
3.23.7 The Partner Operator shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 

Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 
  

Pack Page 92



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

60 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 2: STAFFING – Safeguarding policy, standards and legal 
requirements, reporting and recording concerns, and dovetailing with the Authority’s 
policies 

 

3.24 Equalities 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.24.1 The Services provided adopt a holistic and inclusive approach to equality of access and 

participation for all users, regardless of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage or 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation.  

 
3.24.2 The Operator Partner shall undertake an Equalities Impact Assessment for any new 

activity/Facility introduced. 
 

Performance Standards 
 

3.24.3 The Operator Partner shall employ sufficient staff, coaches and instructors currently 
qualified to champion an inclusive approach to the provision of Services with appropriate 
equality and diversity training, disability inclusion training and specialist training for staff 
delivering instruction or classes. 

 
3.24.4 All new staff are required to undergo equality and diversity training and disability inclusion 

training prior to commencing work within the Facilities or the Health and Well-being 
Development Programme. This should also include all head office staff that visit public 
facing areas, and specialist Operator Partners involved in the delivery of Services. 

 
3.24.5 All staff delivering Services are required to undergo regular (at least once every two years) 

equality and diversity training and disability inclusion training. 
 

3.24.6 The Operator Partner will be required to submit their Equalities Policy for review before the 
commencement of the contract, whenever the policy is amended and whenever deemed 
necessary by the Authority during the Contract Period. 

 

3.24.7 The Operator Partner shall be required to undertake equalities monitoring of its staff and of 
users of the Services, at least annually and in accordance with all relevant data protection 
legislation. 

 

3.24.8 The Operator Partner should where appropriate implement guidance on equalities provided 
by National Governing Bodies including but not limited to:  
 

• Sport England 

• Activity Alliance 

• WheelPower 

• British Swimming 

• British Cycling 

• Badminton England 

• Reporting Requirements 
 

3.24.9 The Operator Partner shall submit an annual Equalities Monitoring Report to the Authority 
providing a breakdown of equalities information relating to staff employed and users of the 
Services.  

 

3.24.10 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 

 

Pack Page 93



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

61 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.25 Cleaning and Housekeeping 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.25.1 Facilities that are maintained to a high level of cleanliness so as to provide a healthy, high 

quality and safe environment for all customers, allowing for efficient and effective 
operational use of the Facilities and promoting a positive image of the Facilities at all times. 

 
Performance Standards 

 
3.25.2 The Operator Partner shall provide cleaning services in the Facilities as required over the 

Contract Period to meet the overall requirement described in Section 3.27. 
 

3.25.3 The Operator Partner shall be aware, and factor into its Cleaning Schedule, that some 
cleaning requirements may, of necessity, require to be undertaken outside the public 
opening hours or need to be more intensive when events dictate e.g. on open days/special 
events.  

 
3.25.4 The Operator Partner will ensure that cleaning schedules are designed to meet cleaning 

requirements during peak periods. 
 

3.25.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Facilities are consistently maintained to the 
standard of cleanliness set out above. The Operator Partner shall determine the precise 
nature of cleaning required in each centre depending upon the design, interior fitment and 
decoration of the building and usage level. 

 
3.25.6 The Operator Partner shall determine the cleaning frequency for each area within the 

Facilities.  
 

3.25.7 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for litter picking, bin emptying and removal of 
dirt, debris, weeds and leaves in the car park at Aldershot Pools and Lido. The Operator 
Partner shall be responsible for litter picking, bin emptying and removal of dirt, debris, 
weeds and fallen leaves within the Skate Park, Play Area and leisure centre street frontage 
area at Farnborough LCH. The Operator Partner shall comply with the Government Code 
of Practice on Litter and Refuse. 

 
3.25.8 The following standards are required to be met by the Operator Partner: 

 

a) Routine Cleaning 
 

The Operator Partner shall carry out routine (planned) cleaning at times that causes minimal 
or no disruption to the use of the areas being cleaned. The Operator Partner shall 
supplement routine cleaning with continuous and spot cleaning to achieve a consistently 
high quality of cleanliness / finish at all times. The Operator Partner shall carry out other 
non-routine cleaning in order to achieve the required Overall Requirement. 

 
b) Reactive Cleaning 

 
The Operator Partner shall provide non-routine (reactive) spot cleaning requirements on a 
continual basis as required in all the Facilities. They shall ensure that the Facility is 
comprehensively monitored for non-routine cleaning and this cleaning is undertaken as and 
when necessary and in accordance with the agreed procedures for reactive cleaning as set 
out in the Operator Partner’s Quality Management System.  
 
The Operator Partner shall ensure that all cleaning materials and equipment are 
appropriate for the job required and are used in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
instructions, British Standards and relevant health and safety requirements. 
 Pack Page 94



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

62 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

c) Deep and High-Level Cleaning 
 

The Operator Partner shall develop a robust schedule of ‘deep and high-level cleaning’ to 
maintain the required standards of cleanliness. This should include high level cleaning and 
deep cleaning of Facilities both internally and externally. 
If, in the opinion of the Authority’s Representative, standards of cleanliness or hygiene fall 
below an acceptable level, the Operator Partner shall be required to rectify this as soon as 
practicable. 
 
Reporting Requirements 

 
3.25.9 As part of the on-going capture of customer satisfaction, the Operator Partner will provide 

robust information on customer satisfaction with cleanliness of each of the Facilities. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 5 – MAINTENANCE – approach to keeping the Facilities clean 
 

3.26 Food and Beverages 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
3.26.1 A high quality, value for money, food and beverage service that offers a range of appetising 

and nutritious food and drink to customers including a full range of healthy food options. 
 

3.26.2 Provision of a limited range of foods that are high in salt, sugar and saturated fats.  
 

3.26.3 Clear guidance using a traffic light system (or similar) on the relative levels of salt, sugar 
and saturated fat in all food items. 

 
Performance Standards 

 
3.26.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that high quality, value for money catering and vending 

services are provided at each Facility unless otherwise agreed with the Authority. 
 

3.26.5 The catering activities which shall be undertaken by the Operator Partner include but are 
not limited to: 

 

• Compiling a nutritionally well-balanced menu to primarily feature healthy food and drink 
and ability to cater for special dietary requirements 

 

• Offering a range of meals, snacks and beverages which address the needs of all user 
groups, reflecting current trends with daily specials and seasonal variations 

 

• Ensuring that all menus are reviewed on at least an annual basis 
 

• Providing a counter service of food and beverages 
 

• Providing a catering service for children’s parties including healthy party food options 
at no additional cost 

 

• Providing a bar and catering service for evening cultural events held in the café  area 
at Farnborough LCH 

 

• Providing vending machines offering a wide range of hot and cold drinks and light 
snacks; the focus should be on healthy food and drink options with a / limited selection 
of confectionery  

 
 Pack Page 95



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

63 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• Ensuring that locally produced and sourced ingredients are used where possible 
 

• Provision of free water fountains in all Facilities 
 

3.26.6 The Operator Partner shall provide a comprehensive food and drink selection that caters 
for different groups of customers as well as different dietary requirements including 
provision for: 

 

• NGBs, elite athletes and sports coaches 

• Community, club, disability and school customers 

• Commercial customers such as conference delegates 

• Staff members and volunteers 

• Group/ individual visitors and spectators 

• Vegetarians, vegans and persons with particular dietary needs e.g. gluten-free 

• Diverse cultural and religious background of customers 

• Customers at special functions such as events, celebrations etc. 
 

3.26.7 The Operator Partner shall obtain and / or renew licences as necessary for the provision of 
the food and beverage services. 
 

3.26.8 The Operator Partner may sub-contract food and beverage services including vending.  
 

3.26.9 The Operator Partner shall ensure that a healthy, balanced menu is offered that is updated 
frequently. The Partner Operator shall ensure that the marketing associated with the 
catering Facilities focuses on and promotes healthy eating options and links to local healthy 
eating campaigns and key health messages identified through Public Health agencies.  

 
3.26.10 The Operator Partner shall promote and develop healthy food and beverage products by: 

 

• linking calorific intake to activity levels for a balanced life style with clear labelling; 
 

• ensuring food and beverage offers are based around healthy options and choices, 
using this as an opportunity to educate and promote the benefits of healthy eating to 
our customers and the general public; and- 

 

• promoting a new attitude towards healthy eating with a responsible approach to 
educating customers.  

 
3.26.11 The Operator Partner must adhere to other policies regarding appropriate places for 

consumption (away from activity areas) and sale of inappropriate products such as chewing 
gum. 

 
3.26.12 The Operator Partner must comply with all relevant food safety/hygiene legislation.   

 
3.26.13 The Operator Partner will be expected to obtain a rating of 5 from the National Food 

Hygiene Rating Scheme within 12 months of the Commencement Date for Aldershot Pools 
and Lido and within 12 months of the Main Phase of the contract commencing for 
Farnborough LCH.   

 
3.26.14 The Operator Partner shall ensure that food handlers have appropriate food hygiene 

training and are qualified to a minimum level 2 Food Safety and Hygiene for Catering. 
Regular food hygiene training for staff must be undertaken.  

 
3.26.15 The Operator Partner shall ensure that trays, litter and other debris shall be cleared away 

and tables wiped periodically to provide a tidy and clean environment at all times.  
 

Pack Page 96



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

64 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.26.16 The Operator Partner shall ensure that as a minimum the catering services shall be subject 
to an annual hygiene inspection (if requested) by the Authority’s Environmental Health 
team. 

 

3.26.17 The Operator Partner shall ensure that catering service efficiency is measured as part of 
the on-going collection of customer feedback. The Operator Partner shall ensure that the 
catering equipment, crockery and eating utensils are maintained in a clean, functional and 
hygienic condition, in compliance with all applicable health and safety regulations. 

 

3.26.18 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the provision of the catering service complies in all 
respects with relevant health and safety regulations. The Operator Partner shall ensure that 
appropriate safe methods of work i.e. risk assessments are in place and all staff shall have 
access to relevant information relating to health and safety and risk assessments. 

 

3.26.19 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all accidents and near misses are recorded in 
accordance with health and safety regulations and its own procedures and in accordance 
with 0 Health and Safety Management. 

 
3.26.20 The Operator Partner shall, wherever possible, make use of locally sourced produce and 

suppliers to contribute to the local economy and improve sustainability.   
 

3.26.21 All vending machines must provide healthy choice options and provide cost incentives to 
encourage making healthy choices. 

 
3.26.22 The Operator Partner shall raise awareness of the locations of existing drinking fountains 

across the sites. In Year 1 of the contract the Operator Partner shall review the number of 
existing drinking fountains at Aldershot Pools and Lido and submit proposals to the 
Authority to increase this provision.  

 
Reporting Requirements 

 

3.26.23 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 

 

3.27 Marketing, Consultation and Communication 
 

Overall Requirement 
 

3.27.1 An approach to Marketing, Consultation and Communication that promotes the Facilities 
and the Health and Well-being Development Programme in a way that best meets the 
Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contributes towards local Strategic Outcomes. 
 

3.27.2 The Operator Partner shall provide a marketing officer within their contract team with the 
appropriate professional qualifications and a sound understanding of public sector services; 
a shared resource with another local contract is acceptable.  

 

3.27.3 The Marketing Officer shall develop and supply: 
 

• MARKETING 
➢ Detailed marketing strategy and communications plan annually for each site. 

Strategy to include market research: competitor and SWOT analysis, target 
audiences and monthly action plans to increase membership and support 
community-based initiatives developed by Council 

➢ Site Strategy to be aligned to Council’s wider vision and objectives in terms of 
service delivery 

➢ Branding guidelines to be defined in partnership with the Council. (See Appendix 
8). Approval process with Council. 

➢ Reporting: monthly marketing report outlining marketing activities - current month 
and planned for next month (including print, online and social media activity) Pack Page 97



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

65 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

➢ KPI/measurement of marketing campaigns and social media engagement 
 

• MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS AND PUBLIC RELATIONS 
➢ Dissemination of information during mobilisation, refurbishment and construction 

(all communications to be shared between parties before release) 
➢ Communication of unpopular decisions or issues affecting customers or Council 
➢ Notification of inability to resolve a complaint such that the customer may contact 

the Council. NB: this does not assume that the Operator is at fault 
➢ Method to deal with major incident/accident 
➢ Steps taken to manage potential reputational damage to the operator and Council 

in case of major incident/accident 
➢ Regular dissemination of positive stories and PR 

 

• CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE MANAGEMENT  
➢ Yearly customer survey programme (online survey, face-to-face and focus groups) 
➢ Social media management and measurement of social media engagement 

(repeated from 4.) 
➢ How to ensure participation in community-based projects/courses/initiatives 
➢ Measurement of membership referrals 

 

• ENVIRONMENTAL, WASTE AND PEST CONTROL MANAGEMENT Noise control 
and PR messages around noise control 
➢ Eco policies – recycling, energy efficiency etc and communications around 

recycling and waste management 
 

• MOBILISATION FOLLOWING APPOINTMENT Communications regarding sales, 
marketing and membership 

  

• GENERAL DATA PROJECTION Photography policy 
 

• SUSTAINABILITY 
➢ Travel plan incentives/promotions 
➢ Initiatives to reduce carbon footprint 

 
Performance Standards 

 
3.27.4 The Operator Partner shall be required to market and promote the Services by means of 

the complete range of marketing communications tools at their disposal. 
 

3.27.5 The Operator Partner shall develop a Marketing Plan for the Facilities and the Health and 
Well-being Development Programme to ensure that existing and potential Customers are 
made aware, through a wide range of channels, of the Services being offered and are 
encouraged to use and re-use the Services. This plan shall promote community services 
alongside ‘commercial’ activities. 

 
3.27.6 The Marketing Plan shall identify the approach to Marketing to be undertaken by the 

Operator Partner to attract and retain user resulting in increased exercise participation, 
particularly amongst those from target groups that have been identified as less active or 
inactive. 

 
3.27.7 The Operator Partner is required to work with the Authority and its partners in the delivery 

of the Services. This will include a requirement for the Operator Partner to manage all 
display areas within Farnborough LCH (with the exception of display areas designated to 
Key Users (Hampshire County Council and Hampshire Cultural Trust)) and Aldershot Pools 
and Lido including those used for cross-venue selling, proactively requesting and updating 
material for inclusion.  

 Pack Page 98



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

66 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.27.8 The Authority will retain responsibility for provision and location of banners on the 
Farnborough LCH and Aldershot Pools and Lido sites, and the Operator Partner shall be 
responsible for their proper maintenance and display i.e. re-hang if come down in bad 
weather and ensure no unauthorised removal.   

 
3.27.9 The Operator Partner will be responsible for monitoring the publicity material displayed by 

non-commercial organisations hiring of the Facilities to ensure material is up to the standard 
agreed by the Authority and Operator Partner, and that permission is requested by clubs 
and hirers in the first instance.  

 
3.27.10 The Operator Partner shall not charge non-commercial organisations which hire Rushmoor 

Farnborough LCH and Aldershot Pools and Lido for on-site publicity. 
 

3.27.11 Branding is an important element of the Services and there is a requirement to implement 
a modern approach to branding that is compatible and complimentary to the Authority’s 
corporate image and Strategic Priorities and uses the Authority corporate logo. (See 
Appendix 5).  

 
3.27.12 The Operator Partner will be required to install the necessary ICT capacity to enable it to 

use the latest relationship and digital marketing techniques including a website with booking 
and transactional capability, mobile phone apps, social media, electronic advertising boards 
and targeted communications including email and texting. 

 
 

3.27.13 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Authority has the ability to put up 
banners/promotional material free of charge on site at locations to be agreed. The Operator 
Partner shall also make slots available to the Authority free of charge on any electronic 
marketing boards installed. Proposals for these elements should be included in Method 
Statement 3: Marketing. 

 
3.27.14 The Operator Partner will support the Hants and IOW CSP – Energise through promoting 

their activities and supplying them with updates on the Operator Partner’s programmes. 
 

3.27.15 The Operator Partner must ensure that the Service has strong branding which links to the 
Authority’s Strategic Priorities and enhances the reputation of the Authority. This should 
incorporate the Facilities and the Health and Well-being Development Programme.  

 
3.27.16 The Operator Partner shall develop, maintain and improve the standards and the quality of 

the presentation of the Services in order that all available and potential resources are used 
effectively. The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Marketing Plan is used as a key tool 
in promoting usage of and access to the Facilities and increasing commercial and brand 
awareness of the Facilities.  

 
3.27.17 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the materials and channels produced for marketing 

should reflect the Authority’s objective to raise the profile of the Facilities and increase 
participation in sport and physical activity. 

 
3.27.18 The Operator Partner should have a digital marketing platform that is used to communicate 

targeted messages to specific groups or localities. 
 

3.27.19 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Marketing Plan is prepared in consultation with 
and approved by the Authority. 

  

Pack Page 99



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

67 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.27.20 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Authority’s name and logo appears and is of 
equal size and prominence as the Operator Partner’s logo on external signage, signage in 
reception areas and all promotional mediums including web sites and published material 
relating to the Service. (See Appendix 5) 
 

3.27.21 The Operator Partner must have a planned approach to relationship and digital marketing 
and carry out full evaluations of this including website hits, downloads, open email etc. 

 
3.27.22 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the names and photographs of the Operator Partner 

's Representative, Facility Managers and other senior staff must be prominently displayed 
at all times, in a prominent location close to the entrance to the Facilities and in full view of 
customers. 

 
3.27.23 Should the Operator Partner wish to enter into third party sponsorship / advertising 

agreements/ promotion, such arrangements must be approved in advance in writing by the 
Authority, and in particular before the third party's name can be displayed in the Facilities. 
(See paragraph 3.29.29) 

 
3.27.24 The Operator Partner shall ensure that at all times the Service is open there is always 

printed information available on the opening hours of the Facilities, Services, activities and 
prices. 

 
3.27.25 The Operator Partner shall ensure that this information is also made available to all local 

Tourist Information Centres, other departments of the Authority, other sports Facilities 
throughout the Rushmoor Borough area, all public libraries and, where appropriate, to local 
clubs and organisations.  

 
3.27.26 The Operator Partner shall ensure that no publicity material or notices are produced or 

displayed in hand written form. 
 

3.27.27 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all standards laid down by the Advertising Standards 
Local Authority and Trading Standards Board are adhered to at all times. 

 
3.27.28 The Operator Partner shall provide appropriate versions of published materials for people 

with protected characteristics as defined in the Equality Act 2010. 
 

3.27.29 The Operator Partner may, with the Authority's prior written approval in accordance with 
this Agreement, sell a limited amount of advertising space within the Facilities. The Operator 
Partner shall not negotiate any agreement with any third party beyond the Expiry Date of 
this Agreement. 
 

3.27.30 The Operator Partner will promote joint programmes set up with Key Users and partners 
and promote partner websites through web links at no charge to the partner. 

 
3.27.31 the Authority reserves the right to make use of appropriate display space within the 

Facilities, free of charge, for promotional and publicity material. 
 

3.27.32 The Operator Partner shall, from time to time, be expected to support activities being run 
by the Authority either through cross-promotion or by being present at an event.  

 
3.27.33 The Operator Partner shall ensure that club notice boards are retained and clearly named, 

and that no information shall be displayed outside of the notice board area. 
 

3.27.34 The Operator Partner shall ensure that no publicity material whatsoever is affixed to walls, 
doors, glass or any surface with clear adhesive tape or adhesive putty e.g. blue tack. 

  

Pack Page 100



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

68 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.27.35 The Operator Partner may seek sponsorship for events and activities.  the Authority 
reserves the right to veto any sponsorship, which could result in reputational risk / damage 
to the Authority or conflicts with any current sponsorship arrangements. Any potential 
sponsorship or initiatives the Operator Partner may wish to enter into must be authorised 
by the Authority in writing. 

 
3.27.36 The Operator Partner shall ensure that no advertising/publicity material likely to cause 

offence to or mislead the public, or cause embarrassment to the Authority is used. the 
Authority retains the right to veto any advertising or promotional material, which is likely to 
breach this condition, and the Operator Partner shall remove such material immediately. 
the Authority accepts no responsibility for any loss incurred as a consequence of the 
removal of such material. 

 
3.27.37 The Operator Partner shall ensure that any event which may negatively affect the reputation 

of the Authority is reported within one hour of the event occurring.  
 

3.27.38 The Operator Partner shall adopt a partnership approach to external communications by 
submitting draft copies of relevant any press releases or media statements to the Authority 
for approval prior to them being issued. the Authority shall be permitted to include a 
statement from its own officers or Elected Members as part of the communication if deemed 
relevant. 

 
3.27.39 The Operator Partner shall include an opt in tick box for all their membership application 

forms for customers to receive marketing material relating to the Authority’s leisure services 
/ activities. The Operator / Partner shall supply a database to the Authority of those who 
have opted in on a frequency to be agreed. All material developed and used must be GDPR 
compliant. 

 
3.27.40 The Operator Partner shall ensure that compliance with the Marketing Plan is assessed 

annually. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING – marketing plans, promotion, promotional material, 
communication with target groups, working with the authority, branding 

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
3.27.41 The Operator Partner shall ensure that a Marketing Plan is submitted to the Authority in 

accordance with the Meetings and Reporting requirements in this Specification. 
 

3.27.42 The Operator Partner shall ensure that a report on progress against the Marketing Plan and 
any failure to deliver the Overall Requirement set out above is submitted as part of the 
Monthly Performance Report. 

 

3.28 Data and ICT Management 
 
Overall Requirement 
 

3.28.1 The provision of a robust, innovative Information and Communications Technology (ICT) 
system which enables a high quality of customer service and can comprehensively report 
on customer profiles and visit behaviour. This will enable the Operator Partner and Local 
Authority to effectively measure the Operator Partner’s performance in meeting the 
Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contribution towards wider local Strategic Outcomes 
through the measurement of Performance Indicators.  
 

3.28.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure that fully functioning and efficient ICT systems are 
maintained throughout the Services during the Contract Period. 

 
Pack Page 101



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

69 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.28.3 The Operator Partner shall be the Data Controller for all customer Personal Data. The data 
must be transferred in full to the Authority at the end of the contract at no cost to the 
Authority and the Operator Partner may not make copies or store the data for its own 
subsequent use.  

 
3.28.4 Participation data should be shared openly in compliance with Open Data Institute (ODI) 

data standards. The main booking system should work on common ODI data standards.  
 

3.28.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all onboarding and offboarding of data and the 
processes therein are fully documented inclusive of data formats, standards and incurred 
costs if applicable. 

 
3.28.6 The Operator Partner is encouraged to participate in initiatives such as Open Active 

https://www.openactive.io 
 

3.28.7 The Operator Partner’s ICT system must have, as a minimum, the following capability: 
 

• On-line bookings and payments (membership and bookings), block bookings and 
Facility hire 

 

• Pitch hire capability for 2 x 3G pitches on the Lido site 
 

• A membership system which allows authorised entry into designated areas regardless 
of where the membership was initially taken out by the customer (subject to 
membership status) 

 

• Usage and membership tracking enabling the Partner Operator to track participation 
and collect the information required for the Key Performance Indicators. This also 
includes tracking usage of target groups and postcode analysis to enable tracking of 
participation by underrepresented groups and residents from priority areas in a manner 
that is lawful and in accordance with Data Protection Legislation. 
 

• Real time tracking of income and expenditure 
 

• On-line training and web performance 
 

• Secure data import/export processes in line with data standards 
 

• Comprehensive database of customer groups accessible by authorised staff at all 
customer reception points. 
 

3.28.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all onboarding and offboarding of data and the 
processes therein are fully documented inclusive of data formats, standards and incurred 
costs if applicable. 

 
3.28.9 The Operator Partner’s ICT system must be flexible, mobile-friendly, and reflect modern 

technology. All customer facing solutions must follow standard practices (secure webpages, 
payment protection, accessibility standards, cross platform support etc) 

 
3.28.10 The Operator Partner must ensure that all data is protected through appropriate security 

protocols and related legislation; in particular, The Data Protection Act (2018), General Data 
Protection Regulation (EU) 2018 and Freedom of Information Act (2000) and any 
subsequent legislation relating to the management and use of data.  

 
 
 

Pack Page 102

https://www.openactive.io/


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

70 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.28.11 The Operator Partner must ensure the safeguarding of customer data and that all staff with 
access to the data are appropriately screened as highlighted in the safeguarding policies 
of the Authority highlighted in Appendix 14. The Operator Partner must ensure and be 
accountable for and be able to demonstrate full compliance with Data Protection 
Legislation.  

 
3.28.12 The Operator Partner shall ensure that its administration and finance systems are digitally 

based and compatible with the Authority’s systems (e.g. Microsoft Office to facilitate data 
sharing when needed, and to ensure that all data analysis is produced in compatible 
formats). 

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
3.28.13 The Operator Partner is required to make best use of its ICT systems to report on the Key 

Performance Indicators linked to the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contribution towards 
wider local Strategic Outcomes. 

 
3.28.14  The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 

Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

3.28.15  Should the Authority wish to analyse any specific ICT reports, the Operator Partner must 
produce the relevant report within seven business days from the initial request. 

 

3.29 Health and Safety Management 
 

Overall Requirement 
 

3.29.1 Services that fully comply with all relevant Health and Safety legislation, guidance and 
recognised industry best practice e.g. COSSH, Legionella etc. 

 
3.29.2 Services that implement continuous improvement of Health and Safety management, 

capturing and implementing learning and good practice throughout the period of the 
contract. 

 
Performance Standards 

 
3.29.3 The Operator Partner must provide one member of staff per site who will act as the 

“Appointed Person” for Health and Safety. This person must hold the NEBOSH National 
Certificate in Health and Safety or equivalent and must act as the contract person for all 
matters relating to health and safety. The Operator Partner shall comply with all relevant 
Health and Safety legislation including the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act (1974) as the 
Employer.  

 
3.29.4 All health and safety documentation shall be available for inspection by the Authority or 

other authorised bodies/persons at any time. 
 

3.29.5 The Operator Partner shall review all new, updated and existing relevant guidance relating 
to the management of health and safety in sports and leisure Facilities and Services. 
 

3.29.6 The Operator Partner shall submit a Health and Safety Policy including the following written 
documents within the first three months of the Contract Period: 

 

• Written policy on all appropriate safety training 

• Written policy for staff in reporting / dealing with violence 

• Written policy on incidents and accidents 

• Managing Health and Safety in Swimming Pools 

• Risk Assessments 

• Codes of Safe Working Practice Pack Page 103



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

71 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• COSHH 

• Legionella 
 

N.B EAP/NOP must be in place prior to the Commencement Date of the contract for 
Aldershot Pools and Lido and prior to the start of the Main Phase of the contract for 
Farnborough LCH. 

 
3.29.7 All of the above documents shall be reviewed by the Operator Partner at least annually or 

on the introduction of new legislation or working practice, or on the introduction of new 
equipment or working practices. 

 
3.29.8 The Operator Partner shall comply with all relevant regulations including the requirements 

of the Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, and in particular, the 
duty to make suitable and sufficient Risk Assessments of all the hazards associated with 
the premises, operations and Services under their control.  

 
3.29.9 The Operator Partner shall carry out as a minimum (more frequently if 3.31.10 applies) 

annual risk assessments for the Facilities and provide written evidence to the Authority that 
these have been undertaken. Given there are so many on-site risk assessments, the 
Operator Partner shall compile a list of all risk assessments, and then sign and date the list 
following each review and send a copy to the Authority. (see Paragraph 3.29.8)   

 
3.29.10 The Operator Partner shall carry out risk assessments and review or revise them: 

 

• if there is an accident or incident where a change is required to prevent a recurrence; 
 

• if a new task (for staff) or activity (for members of the public) is introduced where a new 
risk assessment is required before commencement; 

• before all new items of equipment are purchased; or 
 

• if a change to the Facilities is planned where new / revised arrangements for its safe 
use will be needed (See Appendices 11a and 11b); and when there is a change of 
personnel carrying out the task. 

 
3.29.11 The Operator Partner shall complete annual fire risk assessments. These shall be reviewed 

and updated whenever necessary. The Operator Partner shall ensure that copies are 
available to all staff and for inspection by the Council at all times. 
 

3.29.12 The Operator Partner shall provide safe working procedures for all activities including 
equipment, cleaning and rigging/de-rigging undertaken by staff or contractors. 
 

3.29.13 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all staff, agents or suppliers who may be required 
to enter the Facilities are fully aware of all relevant rules and procedures concerning 
safeguarding, health and safety at work and fire risk and precautions.  
 

3.29.14 This includes the relevant sections of a COSHH assessment and the regular recording and 
“signing-in” of sub-Operators their role and work undertaken. 
 

3.29.15 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all surface water and other liquid spillage within 
internal and external areas causing dangerous floor surfaces is dealt with immediately on 
identification of the problem and signed appropriately. 
 

3.29.16 The Operator Partner shall commission an annual survey of the external Play Area and 
Skate Park at Farnborough LCH by a suitably qualified and reputable independent 
specialist contractor. This survey will look at vandalism, minor and major wear, long term 
structural problems, changes in Standard compliance and design practice, and risk 
assessment.  Pack Page 104



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

72 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.29.17 A copy of all reports will be made available to the Authority’s Representative. An annual 
maintenance programme for repair and replacement of equipment shall be provided and 
implemented by the Operator Partner.  
 

3.29.18 The Operator Partner will ensure the safe operation of the Skate Park and Play Area and 
comply with the standards detailed in the Authority Play Strategy. The Operator Partner will 
also be required to carry out daily, weekly and periodic inspections of the Skate Park and 
Play Area. The scope and reporting format for these inspections must be agreed with the 
Authority. Staff undertaking this task will be required to hold a basic training qualification in 
playground inspections through RoSPA. 
 

3.29.19 The Operator Partner shall comply with all requirements of the Health and Safety (First Aid) 
Regulations 1981 as amended, including the provision and maintenance of adequate 
equipment, Facilities and first aid personnel. 
 

3.29.20 The Operator Partner will ensure that First Aiders are appropriately trained and retrained 
as required, and that both employees and customers are adequately informed of the 
arrangements made in connection with First Aid. 
 

3.29.21 The Operator Partner shall physically check the First Aid equipment and supplies weekly 
and shall ensure that a record of such checks is available for inspection by the Council. The 
Operator Partner shall provide and maintain defibrillators at each site to the same standard 
of rigour. N.B. The Operator Partner shall ensure defibrillators are available at each site. 
 

3.29.22 The Operator Partner shall ensure that a formal assessment of the 1st aid requirements for 
the Facilities is carried out and that the appropriate number of trained First Aiders are on 
site at any time. 
 

3.29.23 The Operator Partner shall display the names of the appointed first aiders in a prominent 
position on the wall in the reception area at each Facility. 

 
3.29.24 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all staff are competent and adequately equipped to 

undertake all health and safety responsibilities relevant to their individual roles and duties.  
 

3.29.25 The Operator Partner shall maintain a record of all training undertaken by staff with respect 
to health and safety training. 
 

3.29.26 The Operator Partner shall include health and safety training in the staff induction 
programme and provide appropriate refresher training in accordance with industry 
guidance. 
 

3.29.27 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all signs relating to exits and fire exits are to the 
standards required by health and safety Legislation and the requirements of Fire and 
Licensing Officers in respect both of general operation and of special events. For the 
avoidance of doubt, The Operator Partner shall be the ‘responsible person’ as defined by 
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. 
 

3.29.28 The Operator Partner shall repair any damaged health and safety notices with immediate 
effect.  
 

3.29.29 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all exits are cleared of rubbish and debris and are 
checked regularly as part of daily inspections by duty managers. 
 

3.29.30 The Operator Partner shall ensure compliance with the Authority insurance requirements 
as follows: 
 

3.29.31 All designated bin areas must be kept locked or the bin itself must have a lockable lid. Any 
on site skips on site must be located at least 10m away from the building. Pack Page 105



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

73 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

 
3.29.32 The Operator Partner shall adequately control any possible infectious diseases with respect 

to: 
 

• Air conditioning and ventilation systems. 

• Showers, toilets and hot water systems. 

• Pest control. 

• Food 
 

3.29.33 The Operator Partner will oversee and implement all necessary precautions to prevent or 
control Legionella ensuring compliance to The Prevention or Control of Legionellosis 
(including Legionnaires Disease) – Approved Code of Practice L8 (2013). (See Section 4) 

 
3.29.34 The Operator Partner must maintain records of precautionary measures carried out and of 

monitoring results. If monitoring shows an increased level of risk, or changes are made to 
a system or the way it is operated, the Operator Partner must inform the Authority’s 
Representative and, if necessary, carry out a new risk assessment. 

 
3.29.35 The Operator Partner shall produce a written statement of General Policies in accordance 

with the provisions of the Health and Safety at Work etc. 1974. 
 

3.29.36 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all employees have access to the statement of 
General Policies and understand its contents on the first day of the start of employment and 
that all employees have access to all other relevant documents concerned with the Health 
and Safety at Work Act. To this end, the Operator Partner shall issue all employees with a 
written list of all relevant documents together with a note of where these documents are 
kept within 7 days of the start of their employment. 

 
3.29.37 The Operator Partner shall provide sufficient numbers of qualified employees to be present 

at all operating times across the Facilities to ensure the safety of employees, customers 
and sub-operators. 
 

3.29.38 The Authority’s Representative retains the absolute right to, at any time, issue instructions 
to the Operator Partner prohibiting unsafe practices and, if necessary, require the closure 
of any Facility or building in the interests of Health and Safety. 
 

3.29.39 Any Facility or equipment in an unsafe condition shall be withdrawn from use immediately 
and equipment stored safely until the necessary repairs can take place.  
 

3.29.40 The Operator Partner shall notify to the Authority all defects or defacement to plant and 
equipment which affect or may affect the health and safety of employees, customers and 
other visitors to the centres within one Business Day of their occurrence, together with any 
action taken to repair, withdraw from use or replace the plant or equipment. 
 

3.29.41 The Operator Partner shall permit access at all times during the Minimum Opening Hours 
to all areas of any Facility by the Authority, any relevant corporate health and safety advisor, 
Licensing Officer, Environmental Health Officer, Fire Officer or officer of the Health and 
Safety Executive that has responsibility for matters concerned with health and safety or for 
the purpose of inspecting plant and equipment. 
 

3.29.42 The Operator Partner will inform the Authority’s Representative by the quickest practicable 
means, of any visit, inspection, or inquiry made by any Enforcement Authority (HSE / Local 
Authority / Fire Officer etc.) in connection with their undertaking, and of any subsequent 
enforcement action, including informal advice. 
 

3.29.43 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all aspects of the Personal Protective Equipment 
Regulations 2002 are adhered to. 

Pack Page 106



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

74 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.29.44 The Operator Partner shall set out the levels, types and quantities of protective clothing and 
equipment to be provided for each building. The Operator Partner shall also detail the 
frequency with which all protective clothing and equipment shall be replaced. Records of 
issue to employees shall be kept by the Operator Partner and made available for inspection 
by the Authority when required. 
 

3.29.45 The Operator Partner shall at all times ensure compliance with maximum occupation levels 
for each area within the Facilities as stipulated in the Fire Risk Assessment, and/or Public 
Entertainments Licence if applicable. 
 

3.29.46 The Operator Partner shall monitor safe occupancy levels bearing in mind the numbers and 
qualifications of staff on duty at the time and the nature of the activity taking place. 
 

3.29.47 The Operator Partner shall control public throughput of the Facilities to a level that does not 
jeopardise the safety of customers, reduce hygiene standards or compromise the provision 
of a quality service. 
 

3.29.48 The Operator Partner shall ensure that an induction session is carried out for all fitness gym 
customers. If the customer is an experienced fitness gym user and is unwilling to undertake 
an induction, the customer must sign a disclaimer stating that they are an experienced gym 
user and do not require an induction.  
 

3.29.49 The Operator Partner shall keep records of induction sessions and make them available for 
inspection by the Authority when required. 
 

3.29.50 The Operator Partner shall complete a registration pack in accordance with OFSTED 
requirements for all customers of the Children’s Holiday Schemes. The Operator Partner 
shall carry out suitable and timely risk assessments for all Children’s Holiday Schemes. 
 

3.29.51 The Operator Partner shall submit detailed procedures and action plans to deal with 
evacuation and emergency procedures for all buildings and shall inform the Authority in 
writing of any subsequent alterations necessary because of changes in legislation, changes 
in the Facility or improvements to the procedures.  
 

3.29.52 The Operator Partner shall provide all staff, where necessary, with instructions regarding 
emergency procedures, fire procedures including check / inspection and test procedures. 
The Operator Partner shall ensure that all staff are fully conversant with such procedures 
and use of emergency equipment. 
 

3.29.53 The Operator Partner shall enforce strictly all fire safety regulations and shall carry out 
practice evacuation drill at least every 6 months and maintain records of staff taking part 
and time taken for evacuation, and regular checks on firefighting equipment, including an 
annual service of such equipment by a recognised company. (See Appendix 9). 
 

3.29.54 The Operator Partner shall ensure that hazardous materials or equipment at the Facilities, 
which are to be used in the provision of the Services are kept under proper control and 
safekeeping, are properly and clearly labelled on their containers, and comply with the 
relevant Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002.  
 

3.29.55 The Operator Partner shall provide staff with written COSHH procedures. The Operator 
Partner must also ensure COSHH data sheets and assessments are easily accessible 
within the lockable storage areas at each Facility, for ease of reference should an accident 
involving any chemicals occur. 
 

3.29.56 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all cleaning materials and equipment are 
appropriate for their required function and are used in accordance with the manufacturer's 
instructions, British Standards, and relevant Health and Safety Legislation, particularly 
Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 2002. Pack Page 107



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

75 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

3.29.57 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for ensuring compliance with all relevant 
legislation, recommendations, regulations or Acts of Parliament with respect to the reporting 
of accidents, injuries, dangerous occurrences and diseases. This will include maintenance 
of all documentation, and notification to the HSE or Enforcing Authority in accordance with 
RIDDOR. 
 

3.29.58 The Operator Partner shall maintain comprehensive records of: 
 

• All accidents and incidents involving staff, members of the public and sub-Operator 
Partners – to be reported to a nominated member of staff who shall complete the 
appropriate accident form before leaving the Facility. 

 

• Evacuations and incidents occurring at the Facilities.  
 

• Records of reports made in accordance with Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR). 

 
3.29.59 The Operator Partner shall ensure that any RIDDOR reportable incident is reported to the 

Authority within a reasonable time period of its occurrence with a full incident and a copy of 
the RIDDOR report provided within 24 hours. 
 

3.29.60 The Operator Partner shall ensure that these records include details of any relevant actions 
taken/ to be taken and shall be made available to the Authority at any time.  

 
3.29.61 The Operator Partner shall ensure that there are full and comprehensive Normal Operating 

Plans (NOPs) and Emergency Action Plans (EAPs) in place prior to the Commencement 
Date for Aldershot Pools and Lido and prior to the commencement of the Main Phase of 
the contract for Farnborough LCH. The Operator Partner shall ensure the Facility’s fire and 
evacuation systems and equipment as part of the EAPs are maintained to relevant 
standards and regulations and appropriate records kept. 
 

3.29.62 The Operator Partner shall undertake annual safety checks on all fixed and portable sports 
equipment by a reputable external company e.g. Sport and Play Ltd and for remedial action 
to be undertaken as appropriate. 
 

3.29.63 The Operator Partner shall ensure that only authorised personnel are permitted in non-
public areas of the Facilities, such as offices, plant rooms, storage areas etc. Secure doors 
and have clearly visible signs shall be displayed to this effect. 
 

3.29.64 The following hygiene and safety standards and rules must be maintained and enforced 
within the Facilities by the Operator Partner as follows: 

 

• No person is allowed to enter the Facilities who: 
➢ is under the influence of alcohol or drugs (with the exception of prescribed 

medication) or carrying them on their person  
➢ is considered to be a risk to themselves or others 
➢ Is known to be or have been on the Child Sex Offenders List, known to have been 

prosecuted for Child Protection related offences or known to have been prosecuted 
for dealing / holding illegal drugs. 

➢ Causes inappropriate behaviour / noise / disturbance. 
 

• No animals or pets are allowed within the Facilities with the exception of special events, 
e.g. cat or dog shows. Guide dogs for the blind are restricted to reception and social 
areas only. 
 

• No use of sunbeds or similar sun lamps is permitted within the Facilities. 
 Pack Page 108



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

76 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• No persons are permitted to skateboard, roller skate, or partake in activity sports such 
as BMX cycling or motorised vehicle sports within the Facilities and car parks unless 
as part of an organised event agreed in advance with the Operator Partner. 

 
3.29.65 The Operator Partner’s staff shall cooperate fully with the Authority’s Representative in any 

investigation or enquiry carried out in respect of the operation of the Facilities or any incident 
which may have occurred therein or any insurance claim which may arise from the use of 
the Facilities, including cooperation in the preparation of legal proceedings and availability 
and attendance at any Court or enquiry to give evidence on behalf of the Authority at no 
cost to the Authority. 

 
Reporting Requirements  

 
3.29.66 The Operator Partner will produce and update a Health and Safety Management Plan and 

make available on request.   
 

3.29.67 The Operator Partner shall report details of any accidents, incidents and evacuations 
reportable under the RIDDOR regulations to the Authority and any other required 
organisation (i.e. the Health and safety Executive (HSE)) within the time restraints 
prescribed by the regulations. The Operator Partner shall ensure that records of accidents 
and actions taken are to be made available for inspection by the Authority. 
 

3.29.68 The Operator Partner shall make a formal record of all inspections or visits made by 
Environmental Health Officers, the Health and Safety Executive and any other person or 
body who, in the proper execution of their duties requires or is entitled to access to the 
relevant Facility. 
 

3.29.69 The Operator Partner shall make available upon request a summary of all accidents, 
incidents and near misses occurring at the Facilities as part of the Major Accidents and 
Incident report. 
 

3.29.70 The Operator Partner shall maintain records of precautionary measures carried out in 
respect of Legionella prevention and control and of monitoring results. 
 

3.29.71 The Operator Partner will maintain an asbestos register and policy and appropriate 
management plan (of which the asbestos register and policy should be a part) throughout 
the period of the contract. 
 

3.29.72 The Operator Partner is required to commission at its own cost, an annual independent 
health and safety review and audit of each Facility for submission to the Council. 
 

3.29.73 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failures to maintain the required 
Performance Standards as set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Monitoring 
Report. 

 
METHOD STATEMENT 7: HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT – approach to health and 
safety, updating of policies, monitoring, managing and supervising contract activities, 
management of chemicals and water used in conjunction with swimming pools 

 

3.30 Major Incident Reporting 
 

Overall Requirement 
 

3.30.1 the Authority and all other relevant authorities (e.g. Police, Fire, HSE, etc.) are to be made 
aware of all major incidents as soon as possible. 

 
 

Pack Page 109



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

77 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Performance Standards 
 

3.30.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure the Authority is made aware of all major incidents.  
 

3.30.3 A major incident (as defined by RIDDOR) includes major accidents or incidents such as 
fatalities, severe injury, assault on customers, theft of property, problems relating to security 
including vandalism, major damage to plant or equipment, major plant failure, industrial 
action, closure or any other issue likely to be of interest or concern to the Authority and 
customers. This includes programmes delivered as part of the Health and Well-being 
Development Programme.  

 
3.30.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that if there is a major incident, a procedure is put in 

place including consideration of the objectives.  
 
3.30.5 The objectives of this procedure are to: 

 

• Reassuring the public 

• Ensuring the Authority is fully briefed on the incident 

• Ensuring that any critical action or provision identified as a result of the incident can be 
progressed by the appropriate party 

• Minimising the likelihood of a repeat incident 

• Enabling the Authority to respond competently to enquiries. 
 

3.30.6 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Authority makes records of all major incidents, 
accidents, near misses and actions taken available for inspection. 
 

3.30.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all major incidents involving the Service in the 
Facilities or Health and Well-being Development Programme are reported to the Authority 
by telephone as soon as practicable followed by a full report by email. 
 

3.30.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure that, in the event of an incident relating to security, 
severe injury as defined by RIDDOR (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrence Regulations, 1995) or death or any other Emergency occurring within the 
Service, the incident is reported to the Authority by telephone at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Reporting Requirements 
 

3.30.9 The Operator Partner shall maintain an up to date log of all major incidents and severe 
injuries as defined by RIDDOR and their response to them. 
 

3.30.10 The Operator Partner shall ensure that, as soon as practicable, following any emergency, 
a full report of the actions taken and the implications is provided to the Authority.  
 

3.30.11 In the event of the Authority or its insurers wishing to undertake an investigation, the 
Operator Partner shall fully comply with any reasonable requests for information from staff 
attending such an inquiry. 
 

3.30.12 The Operator Partner shall provide a summary of all accidents, incidents and near misses 
occurring at the Facilities or in the Health and Well-being Development Programme as part 
of the Monthly Performance Report.  
 

3.30.13 The Operator Partner shall ensure that details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above should be included as part of the Monthly 
Performance Report. 

 
 

Pack Page 110



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

78 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 7: HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT – management and 
reporting 
 
METHOD STATEMENT 3: MARKETING, MEDIA COMMUNICATIONS, PUBLIC RELATIONS AN 
CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE – dealing with a major incident 

Pack Page 111



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

79 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4 Asset Management 
 

4.1 Asset Management Capital and Revenue Funding 
 

4.1.1 The Operator Partner is responsible for meeting the costs of all planned and reactive 
maintenance, lifecycle replacement and equipment maintenance and replacement 
excluding those items listed as the responsibility of the Authority in Appendix 7 Lifecycle 
Replacement Responsibility Matrix. 

 
4.1.2 The Operator Partner and the Authority shall work in partnership over capital investment 

projects where both parties agree there is a business case which will benefit increased 
participation, particularly by identified target groups, and both the Authority and the 
Operator Partner.  

 

4.2 Building Maintenance 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.2.1 That all buildings, plant and equipment included in the contract are maintained to a high 

standard to ensure a high-quality customer experience, to conform with legislation and 
statutory requirements and to maximise the lifecycle of the Authority’s assets. At the 
commencement of the contract, the Operator Partner will be given limited access to the 
Authority’s Building Maintenance System to upload the agreed repairs, maintenance and 
Lifecycle schedules agreed as part of the Tender; this will enable monitoring of this across 
the contract. 

 
4.2.2 That all building fabric, fittings, assets and equipment are replaced as specified in this 

Agreement and in accordance with the agreed Lifecycle Replacement Schedule. (See 
Appendix 7). 

 
4.2.3 Where agreed with the Authority the Operator Partner shall provide a quote for replacing 

the Authority Lifecycle Item; once the Authority agrees this quote, the Operator Partner shall 
proceed with the work and the Authority will pay them direct. If quote is not agreed, the 
Authority will request other quotations as appropriate. 

 
4.2.4 At the end of the contract, or as a result of any termination, the Operator Partner shall hand 

back all buildings, plant and equipment in the contract in a standard reflecting the year of 
the contract, all lifecycle and implementation of maintenance agreed as part of the contract, 
and all relevant legislation and statutory requirements, excluding those items listed in 
Appendix 7 Lifecycle Replacement Responsibility Schedule that are shown as being the 
Authority’s responsibility for replacement. Evidence that all lifecycle and other maintenance 
has been undertaken to the point of contract handover excluding those items listed in 
Appendix 7 Lifecycle Replacement Responsibility Schedule that are shown as being the 
Authority’s responsibility for replacement, shall be provided by the Operator Partner. 

 
Performance Standards 

 
4.2.5 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for repair and maintenance of all buildings, 

assets, plant and equipment at the Facilities (including the renewal/replacement of parts to 
minor/major plant and equipment that is required through general maintenance/or normal 
wear and tear) excluding those items listed in Appendix 7 Lifecycle Replacement 
Responsibility Schedule that are shown as being the Authority’s responsibility for 
replacement. 
 
 
 

Pack Page 112



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

80 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.2.6 The Authority shall maintain, repair and replace the following items of the Facilities so that 
they remain structurally sound, wind protected and watertight: 

 
a) The structure of the buildings to include foundations and underground services 

(excluding those belonging to statutory undertakers), structural steelwork and concrete, 
load bearing walls and beams (but not the plastered surfaces or finishes of such walls 
and beams), external walls, roofs, ramps, staircases and floor structure (but not the 
tiles, surfaces or coverings) 
 

b) Access roads, kerbs, car parks  
 

c) Renewal / replacement of plant, assets and equipment listed in Appendix 7 Lifecycle 
Replacement Responsibility Schedule as being the Authority’s responsibility. 
 

d) Whilst replacement of external drains, External landscaping and pathways shall be the 
responsibility of the Authority, the Operator Partner shall be responsible for their 
maintenance and repair. 
 

4.2.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all repair, maintenance and servicing of plant, assets 
and equipment is undertaken by suitably trained and qualified staff. 

 
4.2.8 The Operator Partner is responsible for the repair and maintenance of the building, 

including maintaining floor, ceiling and wall coverings and finishes (including the resealing 
of all sports floors), the sanding of the squash court floors and plastering repairs of squash 
court walls, maintaining internal decorations, sanitary ware, all internal/external glazing, 
repairs and adjustments to internal and external doors, skylights and windows including 
ironmongery; and the cleaning and clearing of rainwater goods and drains, traps and waste 
pipes. 

 
4.2.9 The Operator Partner is responsible for the repair, maintenance and lifecycle replacement 

of all telephone, ICT and associated data systems. 
 

4.2.10 The Operator Partner is responsible for the repair and maintenance of all external fencing, 
signage, and re-lining of the car park markings at Aldershot Pools and Lido. The Operator 
Partner is responsible for the repair and maintenance of all external fencing and signage 
directly relating to the Facilities which fall under the operation of Farnborough LCH. 
 

4.2.11 The Operator Partner is responsible for the maintenance, repair and replacement of all plant 
and equipment as specified.  This extends to the maintenance, repair and replacement of 
all consumable items (e.g. pool filter sand media, UV tubes/Arc tubes to UV system, cables 
and pulleys to poolside floors and booms, hydraulic floors and their moving parts, hoses 
etc.) 
 

4.2.12 Any underwater works to the pools must comply with the HSE Diving at Work ACOP’s 
(Inshore 104) standard.  
 

4.2.13 The Operator Partner must demonstrate all fixed plant is maintained on a regular basis. An 
update report should be prepared for discussion at the bi-monthly Client Meeting. (See 
Appendix 1). 
 

4.2.14 Due to the specialist nature of some items of plant, machinery and equipment, the 
maintenance of which may be beyond the normal scope of the operation, the Operator 
Partner will enter into direct servicing contracts with specialist companies.  

 
4.2.15 The Operator Partner shall not enter into a maintenance agreement with a specialist sub-

Operator Partner, which continues beyond the term of the contract, without the prior written 
approval of the Authority’s Representative.  

 Pack Page 113



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

81 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.2.16 In the event of the Operator Partner entering into an agreement, which continues beyond 
the term of the contract without the prior written approval of the Authority’s Representative, 
the Operator Partner, shall indemnify the Authority against any costs including legal costs 
involved in the termination of any such maintenance agreement. 
 

4.2.17 The Operator Partner is responsible for the operation, repair, and maintenance of all 
building services, including heating, ventilation, hot and cold and drinking water, electric 
power and lighting, alarms, communications, time and sound systems, CCTV, lightning 
conductors, lifts etc. 
 

4.2.18 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Facilities and all equipment are fully functioning 
and available for use, conform to legislation and comply with statutory requirements, 
perform in the most efficient manner and achieve full economic life.  
 

4.2.19 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for maintaining the Facilities to a high standard 
of repair, maintenance, decoration and cleanliness to ensure the proper performance of the 
Services. The Operator Partner is responsible for all costs and charges relating to the 
maintenance, repair and cleanliness of the Facilities. 
 

4.2.20 The Operator Partner shall regularly service, maintain and replace as appropriate all 
buildings, equipment and plant in accordance with this Services Specification.  

 
4.2.21 The Operator Partner shall undertake all Planned Preventative Maintenance (PPM) and 

reactive repairs including equipment maintenance, servicing and replacement as set out in 
this Services Specification and in accordance with the Operator Partner’s Method 
Statement or any subsequently agreed method.  
 

METHOD STATEMENT 5: MAINTENANCE – planned preventative and reactive maintenance 
 

4.2.22 The Operator Partner shall implement and maintain an electronic ICT asset management 
system (that is compatible with the Authority property database (Tech Forge) to list details 
of assets and equipment including records of any replacement, to record details of 
maintenance contracts and to log all servicing and maintenance of assets and equipment 
including both PPM and reactive maintenance.  The system should have the ability to record 
Licences of Alterations etc associated with any adaption works during the course of the 
contract. The ICT asset management system should allow for read only access to be 
provided to the Authority’s Representative.   
 

4.2.23 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the interior and exterior appearance of the Facilities 
are kept up to date and reflect the needs and expectations of customers. 
 

4.2.24 The Operator Partner shall carry out breakdown and repair maintenance for all buildings 
and Services to ensure that, at all times, the plant, buildings and equipment at the Facilities 
are maintained to a standard of good repair and are fully functional in respect of the 
activities taking place at the leisure centres. 
 

4.2.25 The Operator Partner as a minimum shall ensure that:  
 

1. Both planned preventative lifecycle and reactive maintenance is carried out in 
accordance with the Operator Partner’s previously agreed Method Statement 5: 
MAINTENANCE – MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
PLUS FIXTURES, DÉCOR AND CLEANING and the agreed Schedule of 
Programmed Maintenance (See Appendix 7). 
 

4.2.26 The Operator Partner shall comply with the O & M manuals provided for each Facility. (See 
Appendices 7 and 14, and online data room.) 
 
 Pack Page 114



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

82 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.2.27 Maintenance procedures ensure Facilities: 
 

• Comply with all applicable statutory requirements and Legislation and Approved Codes 
of Practice 
 

• Are in a safe, secure, wind protected and watertight condition 
 

• Are maintained to such levels of condition and to such specifications as are consistent 
with principles of good estate management applied to the Facility as a whole and in 
accordance with current and future industry standards, and 
 

• Are maintained in a manner that prevents deterioration save fair wear and tear of any 
part thereof. 
 

4.2.28 All maintenance repairs use materials that are comparable and compatible with existing 
materials used at each Facility 

 
4.2.29 All work is carried out in accordance with appropriate British Standards and Approved 

Codes of Practice. 
 

4.2.30 The Operator Partner shall ensure that on a continuing basis the maintenance and 
operating procedures comply with this Agreement.  

 
4.2.31 The Operator Partner shall take responsibility for and be responsible for the costs of all 

maintenance services as set out in this Agreement.  
 

4.2.32 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for all costs of the replacement of all items as 
set out in this Agreement and shall comply with the provisions of this Agreement with 
respect to the Authority’s assets.  

 
4.2.33 The Operator Partner shall implement programmed maintenance, comprising of: 

 

• Planned Preventative Maintenance; 

• Statutory/ mandatory testing/ inspections; and 

• Repair and replacement (in accordance with the terms of this Agreement). 
 

4.2.34 The Operator Partner shall carry out reactive maintenance in accordance with this Services 
Specification and applicable response/ rectification times. 

 
4.2.35 The Operator Partner shall ensure that copies of operating worksheets for periodic 

maintenance and repairs carried out are recorded on the asset management system.  
 

4.2.36 The Operator Partner shall maintain on the asset management system records of all 
breakdown failures, incidents or accidents involving any plant, machinery and equipment, 
together with details of all servicing or other such investigations that are carried out to plant, 
machinery and equipment. 

 
4.2.37 The Operator Partner is required to keep Building Manuals containing operating and 

maintenance instructions for each of the Facilities. They must be kept up to date whenever 
work is carried out and a copy be provided to the Authority when requested. 

 
  

Pack Page 115



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

83 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Planned Preventative Maintenance (PPM) 
 

4.2.38 The Operator Partner shall design, implement and maintain a Planned Preventative 
Maintenance (PPM) Schedule to manage the maintenance, testing and operation of all 
items of plant, equipment and building fabric within the Facilities, inclusive of fixtures and 
fittings.  
 

4.2.39 The Operator Partner shall ensure the PPM Schedule is used in a manner that helps 
optimise the performance of all assets for the duration of their effective life.  
 

4.2.40 the Authority may at any time carry out checks of the PPM Schedule and check any 
replacement, maintenance or repair of assets carried out by the Operator Partner.  
 

4.2.41 The Operator Partner shall meet their respective minimum response times to ensure that 
any reactive repairs are completed with the least inconvenience and disruption to the 
operation of the Facilities. 
 

4.2.42 The Operator Partner shall ensure that only appropriately trained personnel are dispatched 
to undertake PPM.  
 

4.2.43 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all maintenance repairs use materials that are 
comparable and compatible with existing materials used at the Facilities. 
 

4.2.44 The Operator Partner shall ensure that, where glass is replaced for whatever reason, the 
replacement glass meets the standards as set out in Regulation 14 of the Workplace 
(Health and Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992, and BS 6262: Part 4 and areas of 
special risk Class C of BS 6206 or any subsequent revision. 
 

4.2.45 The Operator Partner shall ensure that where materials have to be replaced, for whatever 
reason, the replacement materials match in every way the specification, quality, 
performance, and appearance of the original materials. 
 
Fabric Maintenance 

 
4.2.46 The Operator Partner shall maintain, repair and replace all internal building fabric excluding 

those items listed as the responsibility of the Authority in Appendix 7 Lifecycle Replacement 
Responsibility Matrix. 

 
4.2.47 Building maintenance and repairs will include but not be limited to: 

 

• Repairs and replacement to woodwork, masonry, floor, wall and ceiling finishes 
(including squash courts/studios), ceilings and all internal / external glazing; 
 

• Damage to the building caused by misuse or vandalism; 
 

• Internal joinery, locks, door fittings, spring and panic bolts; 
 

• Gutters and down pipes, including concealed gutters, wastes, drains, soil pipes and 
fittings; 
 

• Water waste preventers, cisterns, ball valves, taps, stop valves and associated 
equipment; 
 

• Data cables, ports and protective trunking; 
 

• Health and safety fittings and appliances; and 
 Pack Page 116



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

84 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• Replacement to electrical fittings, fuse and switch gear. 
 

4.2.48 The Operator Partner shall provide a professionally managed programme of building fabric 
maintenance. It shall make sure that the Facilities are in a safe, secure, wind protected and 
watertight condition. 

 
4.2.49 the Authority must provide the Operator Partner with a comprehensive Asbestos register, 

and associated risk analysis, of all areas within Aldershot Pools and Lido, identifying those 
areas which: 

 

• Are presumed by the Authority to contain Asbestos, or 

• It has been concluded by the Authority that they do contain Asbestos, or 

• It has been concluded by the Authority that they do not contain Asbestos, or 

• Are presumed by the Authority not to contain Asbestos. 
 

4.2.50 The Operator Partner shall discharge its obligations under the Control of Asbestos at Work 
Regulations 2002 and its amendments including the publishing and maintenance of a 
comprehensive Asbestos register, and associated risk analysis, of all areas within the 
Facilities, identifying those which reviewing and amending the survey provided by the 
Authority at the start of the contract. 

 
4.2.51 The Operator Partner shall make this Asbestos register permanently available to the 

Authority, sub-Operator Partners and suppliers and any other operatives carrying out work 
on either the Operator Partner’s or the Authority’s behalf at the Facilities. 

 
4.2.52 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all activities are executed, and records updated with 

due regard to the Control of Asbestos at Work Regulations 2002 and its amendments.  
 

4.2.53 The Operator Partner shall ensure that information relating to Asbestos and associated 
work schedules is maintained on its Facility management ICT system and supplied to the 
Authority. 

 
Mechanical and Electrical Maintenance 

 
4.2.54 The Operator Partner shall provide a professionally managed, high quality Mechanical and 

Electrical (M&E) maintenance service through a regular and organised regime.  
 

4.2.55 The Operator Partner shall follow the maintenance requirements specified by: 
 

• Original equipment manufacturer's recommendations; 

• the Authority’s requirements as set out in this Services Specification; 

• All relevant statutory regulations and requirements; and 

• Specific warranty period maintenance requirements. 
 

4.2.56 The Operator Partner shall use the Building Management System (BMS) to ensure 
operating conditions at each Facility are maintained effectively and efficiently and to record 
the performance of equipment and systems. 

 

4.3 Statutory/ Mandatory inspections 
 

4.3.1. The Operator Partner shall ensure that all statutory and other mandatory requirements are 
met in respect of the Maintenance Services and inspections. The Operator Partner shall 
inform the Authority in the first instance of any breaches of these obligations together with 
a programme for rectification and measures to safeguard against a repeat. 
 

4.3.2. The Operator Partner shall set up a programme of statutory, mandatory and insurance 
inspections to ensure all assets receive the required inspections at the correct time.  Pack Page 117



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

85 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.3.3. The annual programme shall be issued to the Authority in advance of the inspection. The 
Operator Partner shall at all times comply with all relevant EC and UK statutory and 
legislative requirements and all relevant guidance (including British Standards) including 
any alterations that may take place. 

 
4.3.4. The Operator Partner shall cooperate with any periodic inspections made by the Authority, 

partners or any authorised external agencies and shall provide such reasonable assistance 
to such inspectors as may be necessary. 

 
Portable Appliance Testing 
 

4.3.5. The Operator Partner shall ensure that as a minimum, Portable Appliance Testing ('PAT') 
is implemented and carried out in accordance with the Code of Practice for in-services 
inspection and Testing of Electrical Equipment published by the Institution of Electrical 
Engineers, as amended from time to time. The Operator Partner shall ensure that all 
portable appliances are tested and certified with copies of certificates promptly forwarded 
to the Authority.  
 

4.3.6. The Operator Partner shall test all portable electrical appliances to ensure compliance with 
The Electricity at Work Regulations (1989) and shall maintain a record of the equipment, 
test results and date of tests and action to be taken in a schedule, which is readily available 
for inspection by the Authority’s Representative. 
 

4.3.7. PAT testing shall be risk based. The Operator Partner shall determine the frequency based 
on the risk presented to the Class 1 and 2 electrical and electronic equipment used at the 
Facilities and by the working environments within them. 
 

4.3.8. The Operator Partner shall test any item of equipment introduced to the Facilities prior to 
its being used. Once tested, items shall be tagged and logged in accordance with the above 
regime by the Operator Partner.  

 
4.3.9. The Operator Partner shall maintain a register of portable appliances held at the Facilities, 

including but not limited to portable items and static items. The Operator Partner shall 
maintain the register containing details of the executed PAT tests. Such testing shall form 
part of the overall PPM regime and the Operator Partner shall ensure that all reports and 
recommendations are held centrally. 

 
Fire Detection, Emergency Lighting and Fighting Systems 
 

4.3.10. The Operator Partner shall ensure that all fire detection alarm systems are maintained and 
tested in accordance with BS 5839: Part 1 (or replacement standards) with copies of the 
relevant certificate promptly forwarded to the Authority. 
 

4.3.11. The Operator Partner shall ensure that all Emergency Lighting Systems are maintained and 
tested in accordance with BS 5266: Part 1 (or any replacement standards) with copies of 
the certificates promptly forwarded to the Authority following each service. Existing 
Emergency Lights require regular maintenance and replacement due to age. 
 

4.3.12. The Operator Partner shall test all fire detection equipment and emergency lighting on a 
weekly basis and in a manner, which ensures that every manual call point is activated 
through the testing period and cyclically at a frequency and at a time to be agreed between 
the Authority and the Operator Partner in accordance with manufacturer's and installer's 
guidance and in line with the above statutory guidance.  
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 118



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

86 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.3.13. The Operator Partner shall ensure that the results are logged within each location and 
centrally within the [CAFM] system. The Operator Partner shall ensure that all abnormal 
test results are acted upon and the appropriate action is taken to remedy any abnormal test 
results in line with the required response and rectification times. 
 
Security, Access and Intruder Systems 
 

4.3.14. The Operator Partner shall maintain any internal and external CCTV and intruder alarm 
systems at the Facilities to ensure their proper functioning at all times.  The Operator 
Partner shall ensure that any failure in such systems is rectified within the required 
rectification times. 
 

4.3.15. The Operator Partner shall ensure that all intruder alarm systems are maintained and tested 
in accordance with BS 4737 (or replacement standards) with copies of the certificates 
forwarded to the Authority when requested. 
 

4.3.16. The Operator Partner will maintain all Fire Exits and access doors at all times. 
 
Re-Lamping 

 
4.3.17. The Operator Partner shall carry out all necessary re-lamping at the Facilities. The Operator 

Partner shall adopt an organised approach to re-lamping across the Facilities. The Operator 
Partner shall monitor the provision of this service for efficiency with a view to achieving the 
greatest possible reductions in replacement frequency and cost.  All existing fittings and 
lamps will be replaced with LED replacements (including fixtures and fittings) as and when 
the lamps require replacement during the Contract Period. 

 
Duct Maintenance 

 
4.3.18. The Operator Partner shall regularly maintain and clean all ducts, shaft, risers and 

associated ventilation at the Facilities as set out in Appendix 7 and the PPM Schedule 
prepared by the Operator Partner.  
 
External Maintenance 

 
4.3.19. the Authority will be responsible for the maintenance of the external structure of the building 

as set out in Appendix 7 Schedule of Life Cycle Responsibilities Matrix. The Operator 
Partner will be responsible for ensuring that any defects or damage to the external structure, 
whether caused accidentally or not, will be reported to the Authority’s Representative as 
soon as possible. 
 

4.3.20. The Operator Partner shall be responsible for the Grounds Maintenance and general 
cleansing, grass cuttings, drain and litter clearance etc. of the access and car park areas 
and surroundings of the Facilities within the ‘Red Line Boundary’ of the contract. 

 
4.3.21. The Operator Partner shall be responsible for the cleaning, repair and renewal of access 

roads, fencing, steps, walls, gates, barriers, lighting columns, ramps, cycle racks, street 
furniture, and signage appropriate to the areas managed under this contract. 

 
4.3.22. The Operator Partner will be responsible for litter picking, removal of fallen leaves and 

weeds in all external areas within the ‘Red Line Boundary’ of the contract, and for all litter 
clearance following local sporting and special events / community events held at the 
Facilities, to the standard required in the Current Code of Practice for Litter and Refuse. 

 
4.3.23. the Authority is responsible for the maintenance of trees; no works should be undertaken 

to trees without agreement from the Authority/Authority’s Representative. 
 

Pack Page 119



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

87 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Car Parks 
 

4.3.24. The Operator Partner shall be responsible for maintaining the car park at Aldershot Pool 
and Lido to include the maintenance, repair and replacement where required of the 
following: 

 

• Paved or tarmacadam roadways and footpaths; 

• Foul and surface water drain, covers, manholes; 

• Access ramps; 

• All external lighting including free standing lighting columns; (the Authority is 
responsible at the Lido) 

• Electrical cables; 

• Fences, handrails and barriers (including redecoration and wood treatment); 

• Illuminated and non-illuminated signs and notices; 

• Litter bins; and 

• Landscape furniture i.e. benches, raised planters, bollards. 
 

 (See Appendices 7, 14 and paragraphs 3.14.2-3.14.4, 3.25.7, 3.29.61 and 4.2.6). 
 

4.3.25. The Operator Partner shall not hire / use the car park at Aldershot Pools and Lido for any 
other purpose than the parking of cars by uses / visitors to the Facilities unless agreed with 
the Authority in advance.  
 

4.3.26. Two mobility hubs will be provided within the new Farnborough Civic Quarter, including a 
multi-storey car park, disabled parking, car charging points and cycle hire, located 
approximately 120 metres from the new Farnborough LCH. There will be no dedicated 
parking for customers using the Farnborough LCH and the Operator Partner will have no 
management responsibility for the car parks serving the Farnborough LCH facilities. 
 
Modifications 
 

4.3.27. The Operator Partner will not be allowed to make any modifications to either the building, 
plant or equipment provided for the services without the written permission of the 
Authority/Authority’s Representative. 

 
Services and Utilities 

 
4.3.28. The Operator Partner will be responsible for ensuring that the means of sewerage disposal 

and supplies of mains water, electricity, gas and external telephone communications are 
maintained to the Facilities. The Operator Partner will be responsible for the prompt 
payment of all charges in connection with the provision of these services during the period 
of the contract. 
 

4.3.29. The Operator Partner will not permit the disconnection of any electricity, gas or water supply 
to the Facilities without the written agreement of the Authority/Authority’s Representative, 
except where these are to be carried out by the utilities themselves under their emergency 
or statutory powers. The Operator Partner will be responsible for any costs arising from the 
interruption to supplies, which are due to his failure to make payments for accounts or to 
make service agreements. 
 
Reporting Requirements 
 

4.3.30. The Operator Partner shall ensure that results of all non-compliant measurements are 
recorded and shared with the Authority. 
 

Pack Page 120



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

88 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.3.31. The Operator Partner shall report on all inspections and maintenance checks for the 
purpose of a building audit over the Contract Period.  The Operator Partner shall ensure 
that this information is stored on the asset management ICT system. 

 
4.3.32. The Operator Partner shall on an annual basis, review and update the Planned Preventative 

Maintenance (PPM) Schedule for the Facilities. This must be submitted to the Authority in 
accordance with the reporting requirements in Section 5 Performance Management and 
Reporting. 
 

4.3.33. The Operator Partner shall on an annual basis, produce a Schedule of Programmed 
Maintenance for the Facilities. This must be submitted to the Authority in accordance with 
Section 5 Performance Management and Reporting.  
 

4.3.34. The Operator Partner shall provide a Maintenance Programme Progress Update as part of 
the Monthly Performance Report.  
 

4.3.35. The Maintenance Programme Progress Update should cover (without limitation):  
 

• Any health and safety issues relating to buildings, plant and equipment; 
 

• Contractual issues requiring discussion and resolution; 
 

• Review of action plans as necessary; 
 

• Review of financial matters; 
 

• Overall contract compliance including completed and not completed PPM activities, 
completion of reactive maintenance within and outside the specified response and 
rectification times and exception report covering the maintenance activities; 
 

• Results of any audits; 
 

• Proposals for continuous improvement; 
 

• Review of cost saving / cost avoidance initiatives; and 
 

• Review of any matters affecting or affected by third party suppliers. 
 

4.3.36. The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failures to follow the Schedule of 
Programmed Maintenance or achieve the required Overall Requirement as part of the 
Monthly Performance Monitoring Report. 
 

4.4 Maintenance and Replacement of Equipment 

 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.4.1 Equipment that is available, well maintained, safe and fit for purpose for the activity it is 

designed for, taking into account the standard of sport or activity being undertaken and is 
able to meet the programming requirements of the Services. 

 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.4.2 The Operator Partner shall supply and maintain all equipment at Farnborough LCH 

ensuring that the supply of equipment is sufficient to deliver the required balanced 
programme of activities and Services on site. A list of all equipment to be supplied and 
installed by the Operator Partner at Farnborough LCH is detailed in Appendix x.  

Pack Page 121



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

89 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.4.3 The Operator Partner shall keep an up to date detailed inventory of this equipment and as 
a minimum, provide details of the model, type, and serial number of each item. A copy of 
this inventory will be supplied to the Authority within one month following the start of the 
Main Phase of the contract and provide a revised inventory annually thereafter within one 
month of the start of each subsequent Contract Year. The Operator Partner shall replace, 
when that item reaches the end of its useful life, all equipment listed in the Farnborough 
LCH inventory. On the expiry date, or if earlier, the termination date, all equipment will 
become the ownership of the Authority and will be returned to the Authority in good working 
condition (taking into account fair wear and tear). 
 

4.4.4 The Operator Partner shall maintain all equipment relating to Aldershot Pools and Lido as 
listed in Appendix 28 Equipment Inventory and return all equipment on the expiry date, or 
if earlier, the termination date, in good working condition (taking into account fair wear and 
tear).   
 

4.4.5 The Operator Partner shall replace, when that item reaches the end of its useful life, all 
equipment listed in Appendix 28 Aldershot Pools and Lido Equipment Inventory, excluding 
any items identified as the responsibility of the Authority, with equipment that is of equivalent 
or superior quality. The Operator Partner shall confirm the Aldershot Pool and Lido 
Equipment Inventory within 1 month of the Commencement Date and within one month of 
the start of each subsequent Contract Year. 
 

4.4.6 The Operator Partner shall provide, at its own cost, any additional equipment and materials 
required for carrying out the Services. The Operator Partner is responsible for the 
maintenance and replacement of any such additional equipment.  
 

4.4.7 The Operator Partner shall make provision for the hire of sports equipment within the 
Facilities in order to meet customer requirements.  
 

4.4.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all equipment listed in Appendix 28 Aldershot Pools 
and Lido Equipment Inventory and Farnborough LCH Inventory, and any replacement or 
additional equipment is fit for purpose, safe and is maintained to a suitable standard of 
repair and cleanliness at all times in accordance with the manufacturers’ recommendations. 
 

4.4.9 Equipment must be stored safely and securely. 
 

4.4.10 The Operator Partner accepts that the equipment listed in Appendix 28 Aldershot Pools and 
Lido Equipment Inventory and Farnborough LCH Inventory, is sufficient to deliver the 
Services set out in this Services Specification.  
 

4.4.11 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Equipment Inventories for both Farnborough 
LCH and Aldershot Pools and Lido are updated on a regular basis to reflect any replaced 
equipment and to identify any new or written off equipment.  
 

4.4.12 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all equipment shall comply with relevant industry 
standards, National Governing Body requirements and British and European Standards and 
shall be limited to the use it was designed for, as specified within the manufacturers or 
supplier’s guidelines and/or operating manuals. 

 
4.4.13 The Operator Partner shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that all equipment is 

replaced on a like for like basis having due regard to relevant advances in equipment 
manufacture, trends in activity programming and in compliance with relevant industry 
standards, National Governing Body requirements and British and European Standards. 
 

4.4.14 The Operator Partner shall replace the health and fitness equipment in accordance with the 
agreed Lifecycle Replacement Schedule. Any residual value of equipment that is replaced 
may be retained by the Operator Partner. 
 Pack Page 122



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

90 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.4.15 The Operator Partner shall ensure that any item of equipment that is found to be defective 
or has failed is immediately withdrawn from service and repaired or replaced. The Operator 
Partner shall make it secure and ensure it cannot inadvertently be used whilst withdrawn 
from service. 
 

4.4.16 The Operator Partner shall test all portable electrical appliances to ensure compliance with 
The Electricity at Work Regulations (1989) and shall maintain a record of the equipment, 
test results and date of tests and action to be taken in a schedule, which is readily available 
for inspection by the Authority’s Representative. 

 
4.4.17 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all equipment is regularly inspected and serviced in 

accordance with the manufacturers or industry guidelines and appropriate records kept. 
Inspections and servicing of specialist equipment shall be undertaken regularly by a 
recognised supplier in accordance with the manufacturers or industry guidelines. 

 
4.4.18 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all areas of the Facilities have equipment provided 

in accordance with the following standards: 
 

• Sufficient equipment for the activity programmed; 
 

• Suitable and reasonable arrangements for customers with disabilities; 
 

• 90% of the following to be available at any one time;  
 

• Health & Fitness Suite; 
➢ cardiovascular and resistance machines 
➢ high quality audio/visual systems (95%) 

 

• Changing & Toilet Facilities; 
➢ male/ female/disabled changing cubicles 
➢ male/ female/disabled toilets 
➢ shower cubicles/open showers 
➢ secure storage lockers 
➢ sanitary/hair-drying Facilities 
 

• Catering & Vending Facilities; 
➢ vending product range 
➢ covers/seating area 
 

• Car Park, Access & Other External Areas; 
➢ car/disabled/staff parking areas. 

 
4.4.19 The Operator Partner shall not introduce any additional coin-operated equipment (in 

addition to items identified in Appendix 8 Equipment Inventory), including gaming and 
amusement machines, to the Facilities without consultation with the Authority. 
 

4.4.20 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Facility has a defibrillator on each site and that 
supervisory staff receive regular training updates in line with British Association of Cardiac 
Rehabilitation (BACR) regulations. 

 
Reporting Requirements 
 

4.4.21 The Operator Partner shall provide an updated version of the Equipment Inventory found 
in Appendix 28 Equipment Inventory to the Authority within one month of the 
Commencement Date for Aldershot Pools and Lido and, annually thereafter, within one 
month of the commencement of each subsequent Contract Year.  

Pack Page 123



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

91 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.4.22 The same shall be provided for Farnborough LCH within one month of the start of the Main 
Phase of the contract and annually thereafter. 
 

4.4.23 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failures to maintain the required 
Performance Standards as set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 

 

4.5 Grounds Maintenance 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.5.1 External grounds within the ‘Red Line Boundaries’ of the Facilities to be maintained in such 

a way as to provide a well presented and safe environment for all customers, allowing for 
efficient and effective use of the Facilities and promoting a positive image of the Facilities 
at all times. 

 
Performance Standards 
 
The Grounds 
 

4.5.2 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for grounds maintenance and general cleansing 
which includes sweeping, re-marking and maintenance of car parks, maintenance of 
grassed and landscaped areas, drains and litter clearance of the access areas and 
surroundings of the Facilities at Aldershot Pools and Lido. 
 

4.5.3 The Operator Partner will be responsible for the grounds maintenance and general 
cleansing which includes sweeping, maintenance of grassed and landscaped areas, drain 
and litter clearance for the outside areas within the red line boundary of Farnborough LCH, 
as detailed in Appendix 6 Site Boundaries. 
 

4.5.4 The Operator Partner will be responsible for the maintenance of boundary fences 
surrounding the Facilities as identified in Appendix 6 Site Boundaries. 
 

4.5.5 The Operator Partner will be responsible for all litter clearance following local sporting and 
special events / community events held at the Facilities, to the standard required in the 
current Code of Practice for Litter and Refuse 

 
4.5.6 The Operator Partner will also be responsible for the grounds maintenance of the grassed 

areas, hedges, shrubbery and the 3G pitches. 
 

Slippery Surfaces  
 

4.5.7 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for treating hard surfaces, with an appropriate 
herbicide/fungicide or other suitable material to ensure that at no time there is a formation 
of algae, moss etc. causing the surface to be slippery. 
 
Snow and Ice 
 

4.5.8 During periods of snow and ice, the Operator Partner shall distribute de-icing salt over 
pathways and external entrances (but not car parks) to provide safe routes for customers 
and staff entering / exiting the Facilities.    
 

4.5.9 The Operator Partner shall ensure that any specific hazards caused by inclement weather 
shall be made safe and reported to the Authority immediately. 

 
 
 
 

Pack Page 124



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

92 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Graffiti and Flyposting  
 

4.5.10 The Operator Partner shall remove all graffiti and flyposting from all external walls of the 
Facilities to ensure that the site remains graffiti free and shall use reasonable endeavours 
to prevent and reduce the writing of graffiti in the sites.  
 

4.5.11 The Operator Partner will be responsible for ensuring that any defects or damage to the 
external structure of the Facilities is reported to the Authority’s Representative with the 
minimum delay and confirmed in writing. 

 
Pests, Vermin and Wild Animals  
 

4.5.12 The Operator Partner shall eradicate rodents and remove wasps’ nests, swarms of bees, 
pests, including Brown Tail Moth and vermin within the management areas. 
 
General  
 

4.5.13 the Authority shall give priority to areas of need in line with the requirements of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and follow the general principle that the ‘dirtier’ an area 
has become, the more quickly it should be cleaned and returned to "Grade A" in accordance 
with the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 

4.5.14 The Operator Partner shall make proper financial and operational arrangements for the 
disposal of all effluent, waste and refuse arising from all Sites during the Contract Period. 

 
Reporting Requirements 
 

4.5.15 The Operator Partner shall report to the Authority any failure to maintain the required 
Overall Requirement set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 6: WASTE MANAGEMENT AND PEST CONTROL MANAGEMENT – 
waste management, recycling, pest control 

 

4.6 Environmental and Energy Management  
 
Overall Requirement 
 

4.6.1 Facilities that are operated in an environmentally sensitive and sustainable manner, to 
reduce energy consumption, minimise chemical usage, recycle appropriate non-hazardous 
wastes and contribute to the delivery of the Authority’s policies for safeguarding the 
environment and promoting sustainability. 
 
Food Hygiene 
 

4.6.2 The Operator Partner shall comply with all statutory requirements in relation to food 
hygiene. 
 

4.6.3 The Operator Partner (Food Business Operators) will be expected to: 
 

• obtain and maintain a FHRS score of 5 (Very Good).  
 

Healthy Eating 
 

4.6.4 Healthy Eating – the Operator Partner will support both local and national healthy eating 
food schemes when and where appropriate. 

 
 

Pack Page 125



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

93 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Provision of Free Drinking Water 
 

4.6.5 The Operator Partner (Food Business Operators) shall offer and promote the availability of 
free drinking water to clients and where appropriate visitors to the site.  

 
Smoke Free 
 

4.6.6 Whilst smoking within a premises / enclosed space is prohibited under the Smoke Free 
(Premises and Enforcement) regulations 2006, it would be welcomed if the entire site 
including all external areas was designated smoke free areas, and measures to enforce 
this requirement was adopted by the operator.  
 

4.6.7 The Operator Partner shall: 
 

• Enforce all relevant smoke free legislation.  
 

• Designate the site predominantly smoke free, but provide a designated smoking area 
(external, but not at building entrance) for staff 

• Provide appropriate areas/shelters for the provision of smoking and vaping areas rather 
than smoking shelters 
 

• Support and promote public health smoking cessation opportunities- including the 
provision of Facilities where appropriate 

 
Sun beds  
 

4.6.8 Due to the documented health risks associated with the use of Sunbeds and UV tanning 
equipment https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/lifestyle/are-sunbeds-safe/  the 
Operator Partner will not provide this Facility/Service on site. 
 

4.6.9 The Operator Partner shall: 
 

• Not permit the use of Sunbeds / UV tanning equipment at the Facilities. 
 

Beauty treatments 
 

4.6.10 The range of beauty treatments that is offered by the sector is very wide and continually 
evolving. Not all treatments require registration or licensing under the Local Government 
Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982 and therefore limited controls exist for Environmental 
Health to control the activities being provided. 
 

4.6.11 The Operator Partner must inform the Council in advance of offering any beauty treatment 
service. This is so that the Council can be made aware of any potential issues that may 
need to be considered before the activity commences. 
 

4.6.12 The Operator Partner shall: 
 

• Communicate any newly proposed treatments to the Authority in advance of offering 
the service 

 
National and Local Health Promotion Initiatives 
 

4.6.13 There are numerous Local and National Health promotions initiatives run on an annual 
basis.  The Council would encourage the operator to support as many of these initiatives 
as it was deemed appropriate for the area. 
 
 Pack Page 126

https://www.nhs.uk/common-health-questions/lifestyle/are-sunbeds-safe/


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

94 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.6.14 The Operator Partner shall: 
 

• make use of and/or promote the free resources and services as they become available. 

• provides feedback to the Authority on the initiatives delivered / promoted. 

• include the promotion and participation in these as part of the annual marketing plan. 

• work with the Authority on local initiatives 
 

Pollution / Environmental Protection 
 

4.6.15 Operating as a Licensed Premises, the Operator Partner will be required to comply with the 
Noise Code for Licensed premises. 

 
Licensing 
 

4.6.16 If the venue is being used for an event for less than 500 people and that event includes as 
a minimum as this is not an exhaustive list): 

 

• the sale of alcohol 

• Regulated entertainment (including live music) 

• hot food or drink served after 11pm-5am 
 

4.6.17 Advice should be sought from the Licensing Authority regarding Paragraph 4.6.15.  The 
operator partner is responsible for obtaining any licence required for any event or activity 
provided within the Facilities 
 

4.6.18 The Operating Partner will need to apply for a Temporary Event Notice. 
 

4.6.19 If more than 499 people will be coming to an event held on site , the Operator Partner will 
need to apply for a premises licence.   
 

4.6.20 If the Operator Partner is holding an event and  selling tickets in advance for a raffle,  a 
lottery registration may be required but if tickets are being sold for a raffle/tombola for a 
charity or good cause on the day and  prizes are less than £500, then permission will not 
be required. 
 

4.6.21 Please contact the Council’s Licensing Team for any advice. 
 

Performance Standards 
 

4.6.22 The Operator Partner shall have a clear environmental and energy management policy and 
implement effective operational practices that have a demonstrably positive effect on the 
environment that includes: 

 

• Reduction in carbon emissions, with the aim of reaching net zero 

• Reduction in pollution, air and land 

• Reduction in the use of environmentally harmful chemicals  

• Reduction in single use plastics (see Appendices 7a and 7b) 

• Improved energy management (including as appropriate reducing energy 
consumption, energy conservation and use of renewable energy) 

• Increasing water efficiency and maximising water recycling opportunities; 

• Encouraging the purchase of environmentally sound, locally produced goods and 
services; 

• Raising awareness amongst staff and customers to ensure these environmental 
issues are addressed 

• Protecting and enhancing the Borough’s natural and built environment 

• Supporting biodiversity 
 Pack Page 127

https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/licensing/temporary-event-notice-ten/
https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/licensing/alcohol-and-entertainment-licences/
https://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/licensing/lotteries/


Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

95 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

METHOD STATEMENT 6: WASTE MANAGEMENT AND PEST CONTROL MANAGEMENT – 
waste management, recycling, noise control, management of utilities 

 
4.6.23 The Operator Partner must establish an Environmental and Energy Management Plan 

covering all the above requirements to be updated with new targets on an annual basis. 
The Partner Operator must comply fully with any environmental audit carried out by the 
Authority or external agencies. 
 

4.6.24 the Authority is committed to responsible energy management and the efficient use of 
energy throughout its operations. It also recognises that good energy management helps 
to protect the environment by conserving natural resources and reducing harmful 
emissions. The Operator Partner shall take account of, and comply with, the Authority’s 
approach to minimising its environmental impact. 
 

4.6.25 The Operator Partner shall provide information for the Authority’s Environment 
Management Systems (EMSs). Where applicable, the Operator Partner shall implement 
systems which are based on, or modelled upon, a recognised standard such as ISO 14001 
or Eco Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS). 
 

4.6.26 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for the procurement and management of 
Utilities11 and payment of the Utilities bills for all sites. 
 

4.6.27 The Utilities bills shall be in the name of the Operator Partner. 
 

4.6.28 The Operator Partner shall monitor and validate all meter readings at all of the Facilities. 
 

4.6.29 The Operator Partner shall take all responsible steps to ensure that meter readings (i) can 
be reconciled to Utilities bills, (ii) are correctly calculated and (iii) accurately reflect actual 
energy consumption. For each Facility the Operator Partner is to prepare a monthly report 
that shall include the following information, set out for the relevant Month and for the Year 
to Date: Electricity consumption (including half-hourly consumption data), Gas 
consumption, Other fuel use, and Total energy consumption in terms of kWh and CO2. 
 

4.6.30 The Operator Partner shall ensure contingency plans are in place to address the loss of 
each or all energy supplies, and that these have been reviewed and tested to a programme 
agreed with the Authority. 

 
4.6.31 The Operator Partner shall ensure its contingency plans are executed as planned with due 

expediency following the loss of one of more energy supplies. The Operator Partner shall, 
as soon as it is aware, immediately inform the Authority’s Representative of all scheduled 
interruptions to any energy supply whether or not it may affect the Authority’s operations. 
 

4.6.32 The Operator Partner shall arrange the implementation, display and renewal of Display 
Energy Certificates (DECs) at any Properties required by the Authority, including those 
Properties which require DECs under Government legislation. 
 

4.6.33 The Operator Partner shall ensure all DECs are correctly displayed by the required date. 
The Operator Partner shall advise the Authority on which recommendations to follow in the 
supplementary advisory reports. 
 

4.6.34 The Operator Partner shall advise the Authority on how to meet existing and forthcoming 
statutory requirements and compliance activities related to Air Conditioning plant (TM 44). 

 
 

 
 
 

Pack Page 128



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

96 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Reporting Requirements 
 

4.6.35 The Operator Partner will record and report on all energy consumption (electricity, gas and 
water) and the amount of non-recyclable waste collected from the Facilities on a monthly 
basis included total metered consumption and cost. Details of energy consumption shall be 
provided to the Authority as part of the Monthly Performance Report. The level of carbon 
emissions needs to be recorded to help measure performance against the Council’s target. 
 

4.6.36 A complete record of waste disposal records is to be kept on site as required by Department 
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA). 
 

4.6.37 The Operator Partner shall develop an Environmental Management Plan on an annual 
basis with clear targets to reduce energy consumption and non-recyclable waste. The 
Environmental Management Plan shall be provided to the Authority one month prior to the 
Commencement Date and annually thereafter during the Contract Period. 
 

4.7 Legislation and Policy 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.7.1 Services that comply fully with all Legislation (see Health and Safety section) relating to the 

management of the Facilities and the provision of Services. See Appendix 31 for external 
Operator Partner contracts covering a range of specialist services to ensure this 
requirement can be met). 

 
Performance Standards 
 

4.7.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure that there are no breaches of Legislation, including 
without limitation, that in respect of health and safety, data protection, child protection and 
the Equality Act 2010. the Authority and Operator Partner shall also ensure that any relevant 
planning conditions attached to the Facilities are complied with. 
 

4.7.3 The Operator Partner shall operate an "Equality Policy" covering all activities and events. 
 

4.7.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all employees and any sub-Operator Partners or 
third parties employed by the Operator Partner, have a working knowledge of the 
Legislation, Regulations and guidelines relating to best practice in managing sport, leisure 
and community Facilities. In particular, the Operator Partner should ensure that: 
 

• All agents or suppliers who may be required to enter the Facilities are fully aware of all 
relevant rules and procedures concerning the safeguarding, health and safety regime 
and fire risk and precautions. 

 

• All surface water and other liquid spillage within internal areas causing dangerous floor 
surfaces are dealt with immediately on identification of the problem and signed 
appropriately. 

 

• The first aid equipment and supplies, including signage for first aid provision, is 
physically checked weekly and a record is made which is available for inspection by 
the Authority. 

 

• Hazardous materials or equipment at the Facilities, which are to be used in the 
provision of the Services, are kept under proper control and safekeeping. The 
hazardous materials or equipment are properly and clearly labelled on their containers 
and comply with the relevant Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (2002). 

 
 Pack Page 129



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

97 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• It undertakes, at its own cost, its own risk assessments and associated training. 
 

• It keeps records of accidents and actions taken and these are to be made available for 
inspection by the Authority. 

 
4.7.5 There is a full and comprehensive fire and evacuation procedure. The Operator Partner 

shall ensure all fire and evacuation systems, and associated equipment are maintained to 
relevant standards and regulations and shall keep appropriate records. The Operator 
Partner shall develop and maintain a Normal Operating Procedure and Emergency Action 
Plan that aligns with the Authority’s overall approach to Emergency Planning. 
 

4.7.6 Only authorised personnel are permitted in non-public areas of the Facilities, such as plant 
areas, staff rooms, offices, cleaning stores etc. 
 

4.7.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Health & Fitness Facilities are managed in 
accordance with the CIMSPA document "Health and Fitness Partner Operators’ Guide” or 
the UK Active Code of Conduct for fitness suite Operator Partners or any replacement 
industry guidance. 

 
4.7.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure that OFSTED registered Holiday Schemes are provided 

where appropriate. The Partner Operator shall ensure that the Scheme is managed in 
accordance with standards required by The Children Act, OFSTED requirements and the 
requirements under 4.8 Safeguarding. (See Appendix 30). 

 
4.7.9 The Operator Partner shall comply with all relevant Local Authority policies as notified to 

the Partner Operator from time to time in accordance with this Agreement. These may 
include policies for Customer Service, Safeguarding, and Environmental Sustainability etc. 
 
Reporting Requirements 

 
4.7.10 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required Overall 

Requirement set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

4.8 Water (Hot and Cold Installations) 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.8.1 The provision of a hot and cold-water supply that meets the required standard for the 

operation of the Facilities. 
 

Performance Standards 
 

4.8.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure provision of a constant supply of hot and cold water to 
those areas requiring water for domestic usage, also ensuring that where such water is 
required for drinking purposes that it is from a potable source.   
 

4.8.3 The Operator Partner shall ensure water temperatures are maintained at required 
standards to prevent legionella and other water-borne contaminants i.e. 

 
Pre-swim showers 27 – 43 
Post swim showers 35 – 43 
Handwashing 35 – 43 
 
Cold water systems < 20 degrees 
Hot water systems > 50 degrees in 1 minute 
Calorifiers > 60 degrees flow > return…. 

 
Pack Page 130



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

98 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.8.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure the water system is maintained in accordance with the 
appropriate health and safety Legislation, standards, guidance and Approved Codes of 
Practice. 
 

4.8.5 The Operator Partner shall work proactively to develop and promote effective best practice 
water saving efficiency measures across the Facilities. 
 

4.8.6 The Operator Partner shall ensure that where domestic hot water is supplied all taps are 
appropriately labelled. 
 

4.8.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that water closets, drinking fountains and urinals have a 
supply of cold water, which allows these services to be usable in accordance with the 
manufacturers’ specification. 
 

4.8.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure that free drinking water is available at the Facilities. 
 

4.8.9 The Operator Partner shall undertake bacteriological testing of the hot and cold water 
systems, including sampling for Legionella as required by the Legionella risk assessment. 

 
Reporting Requirements 
 

4.8.10 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required Overall 
Requirement set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

4.9 Drainage 

 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.9.1 Drainage systems that provide safe effective removal of wastewater, surface water and 

liquid and solid waste from the Facilities in compliance with relevant Legislation and internal 
and external drainage systems that are maintained in accordance with the appropriate 
Health and Safety legislation and standards. (See Appendix 31). 

 
Performance Standards 

 
4.9.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure that requirements in building regulations are complied 

with for foul and surface water drainage. 
 

4.9.3 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all relevant areas within the Facilities have an 
adequate drainage and sewage system operating. 
 

4.9.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that discharge temperatures do not exceed 
recommendations set by the Environment Agency. 

 
4.9.5 The Authority shall undertake regular testing and, where appropriate, visual inspections of 

the external drainage systems. 
 
Reporting Requirements 
 

4.9.6 The Operator Partner shall ensure that results of all non-compliant measurements are 
reported to the Authority. 
 

4.9.7 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report with 
actions identified for rectification. 

 

Pack Page 131



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

99 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.10 Ventilation 

 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.10.1 Ventilation within the Facilities that provides a healthy and suitable environment conducive 

to the enjoyment of the sport, leisure or recreational activity being carried out at that 
particular time and is provided in an energy efficient manner. 
Reporting Requirements 
 

4.10.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure that results of all non-compliant measurements are 
reported to the Authority. 
 

4.10.3 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required Overall 
Requirement set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report with actions 
identified for rectification.  

 

4.11 Heating (Thermal Comfort) 
 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.11.1 A thermal environment conducive to the enjoyment of the sport, leisure or recreational 

activity being carried out in an area within the Facilities at a particular time in an energy 
efficient manner.  

 
Performance Standards 

 
4.11.2 The Operator Partner must ensure the heating system is maintained in such a manner to 

achieve the standard in 0 
 

4.11.3 The Operator Partner must ensure the heating system is maintained in accordance with the 
appropriate Health and Safety legislation and standards. 

 
4.11.4 The temperature levels which must be maintained will be as follows: 

 

• Changing accommodation / Wet side – minimum 21°C; 

• Changing accommodation / Dry side - 21°C; 

• Sports Hall – 12 - 18°C; 

• Fitness Suite – 14-18°C; and 

• Other Areas (Café / Reception / Multi-Purpose Rooms, Circulation Areas) – 18 - 22°C. 
 

4.11.5 The Operator Partner will be required to record the room temperatures of pool and sporting 
areas on a weekly basis to ensure the recommended temperatures are maintained. 
 

4.11.6 Humidity and temperature within the pool hall must be controlled to prevent undue wear 
and tear to the building fabric. The Operator Partner will be required to log the results of 
any tests taken and will be deemed financially responsible for any costs incurred by the 
Authority as a result of any such damage. 
 
Reporting Requirements  
 

4.11.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that results of all non-compliant measurements are 
reported to the Authority. 
 

4.11.8 The Operator Partner must submit details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

Pack Page 132



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

100 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.12 Lighting 

 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.12.1 Adequate levels of lighting (as set out in Sport England guidance) for the particular activity 

being undertaken within each area of the Facilities provided in an energy efficient manner.  
 

4.12.2 Lighting levels that create a safe and comfortable level of illumination for users, spectators 
and staff.  

  
4.12.3 The Operator Partner shall consider switching off lighting banks parallel to windows and 

adopt energy management control systems such as time switches, dimmable controls, and 
presence detectors.  
 

4.12.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure the lighting system is maintained in accordance with 
appropriate health and safety Legislation and standards and to address particular 
requirements of special needs groups for less powerful lighting. 
 

4.12.5 Maintenance of lighting throughout the Facilities must be carried out by a NICEIC approved 
and / or suitably qualified Operator Partner, with due regard to the recommendations of 
Sport England Technical Unit. The Operator Partner shall certify that the works are in 
accordance with current recommendations and the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 
1974. 
 

4.12.6 The Operator Partner shall ensure that external lighting is provided for security purposes 
adjacent to the leisure centres, and the Authority shall ensure the same for the car parks. 
 

4.12.7 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the number of non-operating lights or tubes does 
not exceed 10% of the total in any one area of the Facilities.  
 
Reporting Requirements 
 

4.12.8 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

4.13 Pool Water Quality  
 
Overall Requirement 

 
4.13.1 Swimming Pools with a safe and comfortable environment in which customers can 

participate in both swimming and water sports as required in this Services Specification. 
 

Performance Standards 
 

4.13.2 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Swimming Pools are maintained in accordance 
with the appropriate current and future health and safety legislation and that the following 
standards are complied with: 

 

• The Handbook of Sports and Recreational Building Design Volume 3 published as at 
1996 and The Pool Water Guide; Treatment and Quality of Swimming Pool Water; 
 

• CIMSPA Swimming Pool Treatment and Quality Standards; 
 

• HSC/HSE “Safety in Swimming Pools”; 
 

• Pool Water Treatment Advisory Group – Swimming Pool Water Treatment and Quality 
Standards; and Pack Page 133



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

101 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

• The Prevention or Control of Legionellosis (including Legionnaires Disease) – 
Approved Code of Practice L8 (2013). 
 

4.13.3 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all pool water is of the level of quality and 
temperature stipulated within the guidance listed in 4.13.2. as follows: 

 

• Main pool 27 – 29.5 degrees; and 

• Learner pool 30 – 32 degrees. 
 

4.13.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the pool water is maintained in a ‘balanced’ 
condition. The Operator Partner shall ensure that a balanced water test is taken weekly, 
duly recorded and action taken to ensure that the pool water is ‘in balance’, corrosion is 
eliminated, precipitants do not form, and the water is safe for pleasant bathing conditions. 

 
4.13.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the pool water is tested for pH and free Chlorine 

(Sodium hypochlorite (chlorine) and sodium bisulphate (ph. corrector) in accordance with 
the Swimming Pool Hall Data Sheet every 3 hours, with the initial test each day before the 
pools are brought into use. The Operator Partner must complete a weekly test to ascertain 
the level of total dissolved solids (TDS) ensuring always that the water quality is maintain 
within recommended guidance. The Operator Partner shall ensure that complete records 
are kept of all readings, date, time and type of test. These shall be available for inspection 
by the Authority at any time.  
 

4.13.6 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the filters are backwashed as recommended in the 
relevant plant maintenance instructions to ensure that the water quality is maintained at the 
required standard. 
 

4.13.7 A pool water dilation rate of 30 litres per bather per day is a CIMSPA recommendation that 
should be followed by the Operator Partner at the swimming Facilities. Standards shall be 
maintained in line with the up to date CIMSPA recommendations and industry standards. 
 

4.13.8 In the event of more stringent standards being set by the Sports Local Authority and/or the 
Health and Safety Executive during the Contract Period, the Operator Partner shall adhere 
to these more stringent standards. The Operator Partner shall not use different chemical 
constituents to maintain the above standards without the prior approval in writing of the 
Authority.  
 

4.13.9 The Operator Partner shall ensure that monthly bacteriological tests are undertaken. 
Reports on Legionella testing shall be available for the Bi-monthly meetings with the 
Authority. 
 

4.13.10 The Operator Partner shall ensure that no person is permitted to use the swimming pools 
who is clearly unwell and may pose a risk of infection to others, including persons with open 
wounds or sores, wearing a bandage, sore or infected eyes or skin and / or discharges from 
the ears or nose. 
 

4.13.11 Environmental Health Officers from the Authority retain the right to take occasional samples 
of water in the pools for the purpose of verifying the condition of the water. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 7: HEALTH AND SAFETY MANAGEMENT – management of chemicals 
and water used in conjunction with swimming pools 

 

Reporting Requirements 
 

4.13.12 The Operator Partner shall report inspections and results of all non-compliant 
measurements on the ICT Asset Management system. The Operator Partner shall ensure 
that non-conformance is reported to the Authority.  
 

Pack Page 134



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

102 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.13.13 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 

 

4.14 CCTV and Security 
 

Overall Requirement 
 

4.14.1 Facilities that are secure and are supported by systems that provide a safe level of security 
to customers and staff, but which do not compromise the personal privacy of customers.  
 

4.14.2 The Operator Partner shall: 
 

• Maintain the On-call company service; 
 

• Maintain all existing alarms, cameras etc in the Facilities. 
 

Performance Standards 
 

4.14.3 All relevant areas within the Facilities shall have adequate security arrangements in place. 
 

4.14.4 CCTV shall be maintained according to the manufacturer’s specification and operated in 
line with a system that provides a safe level of security to customers during their visit, but 
which does not compromise the personal privacy of customers. Where possible it should 
be linked to the central Authority’s system. 
 

4.14.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure compliance with the Information Commissioner’s Code 
of Practice issued under the Data Protection Act 1998 (or any replacement legislation). 
 

4.14.6 The Operator Partner shall at all times be responsible for the total security of the Facilities 
including all assets, equipment and stock.  
 

4.14.7 The Operator Partner shall supply, maintain and utilise a fit for purpose internal security 
system at Farnborough LCH. The Operator Partner shall utilise the security system installed 
or provided at Aldershot Pools and Lido and shall be fully responsible for its proper 
maintenance and function. In the event of any alarms or security devices or radios being 
removed or becoming non-operational or non-maintainable, the Operator Partner shall 
replace the same with a suitable alternative approved by the Authority. 
 

4.14.8 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all external and internal operational CCTV security 
cameras as part of the security system are operational within the Facilities. 

 
4.14.9 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for the safekeeping of any keys to the Facilities 

and the maintenance of a key register.  
 

4.14.10 The Operator Partner shall ensure that a list of key holders, together with their addresses 
and telephone numbers is supplied to the Authority, the alarm company and the Police 
before the Commencement Date. The Operator Partner shall update the list whenever 
changes are made and at least Monthly. 

 
4.14.11 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Authority’s Representative is informed 

immediately of any loss of any such keys, and the Partner Operator shall, at their own cost, 
replace any such keys or replace locks are required by the Authority’s Representative and 
shall reimburse to the Authority any cost of replacement and / or any reasonable security 
measures implemented as a result of such a loss. 

 
4.14.12 The Operator Partner shall supply a list of names, addresses and telephone numbers of 

members of the Operator Partner's staff who are on a 24 hour call out contact to the 
Authority, Police, and alarm companies prior to the Commencement Date.  Pack Page 135



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

103 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

4.14.13 This list shall be immediately updated by the Operator Partner and a new list provided in 
the event that there is a change to any member of staff on the list.  

 
4.14.14 One key holder must always be available for call-out in the event of an emergency out of 

normal operating hours, at a response time of not more than one hour. 
 

4.14.15 The Operator Partner shall ensure that only authorised personnel are admitted to any plant 
areas containing specialist equipment and machinery, e.g. boiler rooms. 
 

4.14.16 The Operator Partner shall ensure that appropriate out of hours key holders are appointed 
to respond to intruder alarms. 
 

4.14.17 The Operator Partner shall provide a Monthly update report on the Pool View system, and 
any incidents recorded. The Operator Partner should note that this system may be available 
for purchase; it is owned by the incumbent operator. 

 
Requirements 
 

4.14.18 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required 
Performance Standards set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

  

Pack Page 136



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

104 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

5 Performance Management and Reporting 
 

5.1 Planning to Improve (Service Planning) 
 

Overall Requirement 
 

5.1.1 An Annual Service Plan that is developed in partnership with the Authority which clearly 
sets out how the Services are to be developed and delivered over the forthcoming year in 
order to best meet the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contribution towards wider local 
Strategic Outcomes. 
 
Performance Standards 

 
5.1.2 The Operator Partner acknowledges the importance of a balanced programme and shall 

prepare an Annual Service Plan for approval by the Authority. 
 

5.1.3 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Annual Service Plan is effective, measurable 
and sustainable with clearly developed actions on how the Services are to meet the 
Authority’s Strategic Priorities and contribute towards wider local Strategic Outcomes. 

 
5.1.4 The Annual Service Plan (incorporating the Sport and Health Development Plan, and the 

Marketing Plan) will set out how the Operator Partner intends to meet the Performance 
Indicator targets for Aldershot Pools and Lido following year 1 of the Commencement Date 
once a baseline has been established. It will also address issues identified from customer 
satisfaction data and the achievement of financial targets. The Annual Service Plan will set 
out how the Operator Partner intends to meet the Performance Indicator targets for 
Farnborough LCH, 12 months following the start of the Main Phase of the contract once a 
baseline has been established for Farnborough LCH. 

 
5.1.5 The Operator Partner shall identify through the Annual Service Plan and through 

consultation with the Authority, where it will work with external partners, clubs/organisations 
within the Facilities and through the Health and Well-being Development Programme.  

 
5.1.6 The Annual Service Plan shall identify specific areas of joint working with the Authority to 

reflect the partnership approach in delivering the Services. 
 

5.1.7 The Operator Partner shall attend an Annual Service Plan workshop with the Authority two 
months prior to the Commencement Date and two months prior to the start of each 
subsequent year during the Contract Period.  
 

5.1.8 The Annual Service Plan workshop shall provide an opportunity for both parties to work 
collaboratively to review the Annual Service Plan from the previous year and agree the 
Service Plan for the year ahead.  
 

5.1.9 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for producing a draft Annual Service Plan for 
review at the workshop and for producing the final Annual Service Plan within 2 weeks 
following the workshop. 
 

5.1.10 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the final Annual Service Plan is developed and 
implemented. It shall ensure that the final plan is submitted to the Authority for approval six 
weeks prior to the Commencement Date and six weeks prior to the start of each subsequent 
year during the Contract Period.  
 

5.1.11 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Annual Service Plan sets out in detail how 
programmes will be measured through the Key Performance Indicators. It should make use 
of best practice improvement tools including Sport England’s Quest scheme and National 
Benchmarking Service (NBS), or equivalent model. Pack Page 137



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

105 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

5.1.12 The Operator Partner shall ensure that a key focus of the Annual Service Plan is the 
development of pathways into sport, health and physical activity and relationships with local 
sports clubs, schools and community groups in line with both National Governing Bodies of 
Sport and the Hants and IOW CSP Energise priorities, as well as those of the Authority set 
out in Section 2 of this Specification. 
 

5.1.13 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the Programme of Use within the Annual Service 
Plan includes the following requirements (See paragraphs 3.18.3 – 3.18.8). 
 

• The need to offer a wide-ranging and diverse programme of activities designed to 
encourage greater levels of community participation across all relevant local social and 
cultural groups with a particular focus on increasing participation from members of the 
community with specific health needs and using group activity to improve retention, 
and increasing participation from those under-represented groups and geographical  
areas specific to Rushmoor as referenced in Section 2 of this specification 
 

• Provision of a wide range of recreational opportunities to all Rushmoor residents, 
including a balanced programme of pre-paid courses, classes, pay-as-you play 
sessions, club and school block bookings, holiday playschemes, casual usage and 
where applicable, special events 
 

• A management philosophy that encourages participation and engagement with all 
sections of the community 
 

• A regular and planned review of the programme of activities, considering customer and 
non-user research 
 

• Responsiveness to recreational trends to provide a dynamic and forward-looking 
Service 
 

• Setting and reviewing programme objectives on at least an annual basis 
 

• Having a promotional strategy in place that keeps customers informed of the 
programme and any planned changes 
 

• Outreach activities, working in partnership with the Authority and other service 
providers 
 

• Making optimum use of all available resources and Facilities 
 

• Monitoring usage levels 
 

• Contributing towards the Authority’s Strategic Priorities and local Strategic Outcomes. 
 

METHOD STATEMENT 1: HEATLH, WELLBEING AND SOCIAL VALUE – programme of use, 
and Health and Wellbeing Development Programme development, delivery and review 

 
Reporting Requirements 
 

5.1.14 The Operator Partner shall ensure that an Annual Service Plan Progress Update is provided 
to the Authority on a monthly basis as part of the Monthly Performance Report. 
 

5.1.15 The Operator Partner shall submit details of any failure to maintain the required Overall 
Requirement set out above as part of the Monthly Performance Report. (See Performance 
and Deductions Document) 
 

Pack Page 138



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

106 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

5.1.16 The Operator Partner shall ensure that the draft Annual Service Plan is provided to the 
Authority prior to the Annual Service Plan Workshop, which is held two months before the 
start of each Contract Year. The final Annual Service Plan shall be submitted to the 
Authority for approval six weeks before the start of each Contract Year. 
 

5.2 Meetings and Reporting 
 

Overall Requirement 
 
5.2.1. A structured programme of bi-monthly partnership meetings will take place between the 

Operator Partner and the Authority and a series of reports, which provide the Authority with 
information on the Operator Partner’s performance in delivering the Services and plans for 
the future delivery of the Services will be supplied. (See Appendix 1 for an example 
Agenda). 

 
5.2.2. A clear governance structure for the contract through a Partnership Board which meets 

annually. See paragraphs 2.5.3-2.5.6. 
 

Performance Standards 
 
5.2.3. The Operator Partner shall ensure that there is in place at all times a clearly defined 

responsibility chain for implementing, monitoring and reviewing service delivery.  
 
5.2.4. The Operator Partner shall provide one overall Operator Partner's Representative to be its 

authorised representative for the Facilities and Services operated on behalf of the Authority.  
 
5.2.5. The Operator Partner's Representative shall consult with the Authority’s Representative as 

often as may reasonably be necessary for the efficient provision of the Services. 
 
5.2.6. The Authority shall be entitled to undertake inspections of the Facilities and Services at any 

time to monitor and review service delivery.  
 
5.2.7. The Authority and Operator Partner will use Quest reports and the Sport England National 

Benchmarking Service, or equivalent model, to monitor and improve performance. 
 
5.2.8. The Operator Partner's representatives shall attend meetings with the Authority’s 

representative(s) in accordance with the schedule set out in Table 9. 
 

Table 9: Meetings Schedule 
 

Meeting Attendees Agenda 

Bi-monthly from date of 
contract commencement 

Operator Partner’s 
Representatives 
 
Local Authority’s 
Representatives 
 

Review of operational and contract matters 
 
Monthly Performance Report 

Annual Service Plan 
Workshop (within 2 
months of the start of 
each Contract Year) 

Operator Partner’s 
Representatives 
 
Local Authority’s 
Representatives 
 

Review of Annual Service Plan (previous year) 
 
Development of Annual Service Plan 
(forthcoming year); final Annual Service Plan to 
be submitted to the Authority for approval six 
weeks prior to the start of each Contract Year. 
 

Pack Page 139



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

107 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Meeting Attendees Agenda 

Strategic Partnership 
Board 
(Annually) 

Operator Partner’s 
Representatives  
 
Local Authority’s 
Representatives  

Progress on Annual Service Plan  
 
Progress against Strategic Priorities and 
contribution towards local strategic outcome 
 
Financial performance  
Service improvement opportunities  
 
Variations to contract and commissioning 
opportunities  
 
Other matters of a strategic nature considered 
appropriate for discussion by the Board 
 

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
5.2.9. The plans / programmes listed in Table 10 are to be submitted by the Operator Partner to 

the Authority for approval. 
 

Table 10: Plans and Programme Reporting 
 

Plan Title 
Interim 
Phase/Main 
Phase 

Frequency Submission Date 

Draft Annual Service Plan Interim/Main Annual Fourteen weeks prior to the 
Commencement Date and six 
weeks prior to the Annual 
Service Plan Workshop. 
 

Final Annual Service Plan Interim/Main Annual Within two weeks following 
the Annual Service Plan 
Workshop. 
 

Sport/Health/Physical 
Activity Development Plan 

Interim/Main Annual (as part 
of Service 
Plan) 
 

One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
one month prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

Health and Safety 
Management Plan 

Interim/Main Annual One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
one month prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

Programme of Use  Interim/Main Annual (as part 
of Service 
Plan) 
 

One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
one month prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 

Pack Page 140



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

108 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Plan Title 
Interim 
Phase/Main 
Phase 

Frequency Submission Date 

Performance Indicator 
Targets (for 
implementation the 
following Contract Year) 

Interim/Main Annual (as part 
of Service 
Plan) 

Agreed as part of the Annual 
Service Plan. 
 
Year 1 of the contract will be 
base-lining for Aldershot 
Pools and Lido in order to set 
new Performance Indicators 
for Year 2. Subsequent years 
to be agreed at the Annual 
Service Plan Workshop. 
 
The first year of the Main 
Phase of the contract will be 
used to base-line for 
Farnborough LCH in order to 
set new Performance 
Indicators for the following 
Contract Year for the Facility. 
Subsequent years to be 
agreed at the Annual Service 
Plan Workshop. 
 

Marketing Plan Interim/Main Annual (as part 
of Service 
Plan) 
 

One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
one month prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

Planned Preventative 
Maintenance (PPM) 
Schedule 
 

Interim/Main Annual  One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
two months prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

Schedule of Programmed 
Maintenance 
 

Interim/Main Annual One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
two months prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

Proposal for changes to 
Holiday Opening Hours e.g. 
Xmas, Easter 
 

Interim/Main Annual Every August preceding the 
next contract financial year  
 
N.B. The Operator Partner 
shall note that minimum 
opening hours at all 
Facilities are dictated by 
planning conditions and 
therefore cannot be 
changed. 
 

Proposal for changes to 
Pricing Schedule 
 

Interim/Main Annual Every August preceding the 
next contract financial year  

Pack Page 141



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

109 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Plan Title 
Interim 
Phase/Main 
Phase 

Frequency Submission Date 

Emergency and business 
continuity Plan 
 

Interim/Main Annual One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and  
one month prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

Quest™ Plus Action Plan 
 

Main Biennial Within one month of the 
receipt of the Quest™ Plus 
report. 
 

Workforce Development 
Plan 
 

Interim/Main Annual  One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
 one month prior to the start of 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

 
Table 11: Reports 
 

Report Title 
Interim 
Contract/Main 
Contract 

Frequency Submission Date 

Monthly Update Interim/Main 
 

Monthly At meeting with Authority’s 
Representative 
 

Monthly Performance 
Report 
 

Interim/Main Monthly Within one week of the end 
of each month. 

Annual Service Plan Interim/Main Annual Within one week of the start 
of the second Contract Year 
and one week prior to the 
Annual Service Plan 
Workshop for each 
subsequent Contract Year. 
 

Active Communities 
Report 

Interim/Main Annual Within one month of the 
start of the second Contract 
Year and within one month 
following each subsequent 
Contract Year. 
 

Maintenance Report (to 
include evidence of 
annual servicing of all 
equipment including 
sports fixed and portable 
equipment 
 

Interim/Main Annual Within one month of the 
start of the second Contract 
Year.  
 
Within one month following 
each subsequent Contract 
Year. 
 

Fire Risk Assessments Interim/Main Annual One month prior to the 
Commencement Date and 
one month prior to the start 
of each subsequent 
Contract Year. 
 

Pack Page 142



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

110 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

Report Title 
Interim 
Contract/Main 
Contract 

Frequency Submission Date 

Fire Alarm Servicing and 
Certification 

Interim/ 
Main 

Annual One month prior to the 
Contract Commencement 
Date -   and one month prior 
to the start of each 
subsequent Contract Year. 
 

Site Risk Assessments 
(evidence to be provided 
demonstrating they have 
all been undertaken) 
 

Interim/Main Annual One month prior to the 
Contract Commencement 
Date  
One month prior to the start 
of each subsequent 
Contract Year. 
 

Legionella Risk 
Assessment 

Interim/Main Bi -annual For each site; remedial 
actions to be supplied as 
part of the assessment. 
 

Electrical Certificates Interim/Main Every 3 years for 
pools 
 
PAT testing 
should be in 
accordance with 
the wiring 
regulations and 
relevant 
guidance 
 

Within two weeks of receipt 
of certificate. 

Equipment Inventory Interim/Main Annual Within one month following 
the start of each Contract 
Year. 
 

Licenses and Legislation 
Compliance Report 

Interim/Main Annual Within one month following 
the start of each Contract 
Year. 
 

Insurance Interim/Main Annual One month prior to 
Commencement Date   
 
One month prior to the start 
of each subsequent 
Contract Year. 
 
Written evidence that the 
Operator Partner has valid 
insurance cover in place as 
per the requirements and 
limits set in the contract. 
 

Quest Plus Report Main Bi – annual  Within one week of receipt. 
 

Equalities Monitoring 
Report 

Interim/Main Annual Within one month following 
the start of each Contract 
Year. 
 

 

Pack Page 143



Rushmoor Borough Council 
Services Specification Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub; Aldershot Pools and Lido 
 

111 
LEGAL\62774762v1 

5.2.10. The Monthly Performance Monitoring Report shall contain details of any failures to maintain 
the Overall Requirement as set out in this Services Specification. 

 
5.2.11. The Monthly Performance Monitoring Report should be concise and contain a maximum 1-

page summary on each of the areas shown in  
5.2.12. 12. 

 
Table 12: Monthly Performance Report 
 

Customer Complaints and Feedback Summary 

Major Accidents, Incidents and near misses Report  

Usage Data  

Energy consumption data 

Membership numbers broken down by type 

Income and Expenditure accounts broken down by budget headings 

Maintenance Programme Progress Update 

Completion of all Legionella Checks 

Details of any servicing carried out during the period 

Copies of corrective action logs showing all reactive maintenance undertaken, time taken to rectify 
and any failings to complete within rectification period 

Service Plan Progress Report 

Marketing Plan Progress Report 

Sport England Quest and National Benchmarking Service, or equivalent, outputs and subsequent 
improvement plans 

 
5.2.13. An assessment of Key Performance Indicators shall be included as an Appendix to the 

Monthly Performance Report.  
 
5.2.14. The Annual Service Plan shall, as a minimum, provide a summary of the results and 

recommendations set out in all the reports outlined in Table 5.4 and report on performance 
against the annual plans and programmes agreed prior to the commencement of the 
relevant Contract Year.  

 
 

Pack Page 144



(1) Rushmoor Borough Council

(2) [Operator Partner]

Leisure Operating Contract 

In respect of the management and operation of Farnborough Leisure Centre and 

Aldershot Pools and Lido  

APPENDIX 3

Pack Page 145



 

  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

LEGAL\42297367v1  

  

CONTENTS  

PART 1 - PRELIMINARY ................................................................................................................ 1 
1.  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION.............................................................................. 1 
2.  COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION ............................................................................... 37 
3.  COLLATERAL WARRANTIES, SURVEYS AND GUARANTEES ...................................... 37 
4.  GENERAL WARRANTIES ................................................................................................. 38 
5.  AUTHORITY WARRANTIES ............................................................................................. 40 
6. DOCUMENTS ................................................................................................................... 41 
PART 2 - LAND AND SITE MATTERS ......................................................................................... 43 
7.  NATURE OF LAND INTERESTS ...................................................................................... 43 
8.  THE SITES ........................................................................................................................ 44 
9.  DEFECTS AND ASBESTOS ............................................................................................. 47 
10.  FOSSILS AND ANTIQUITIES ............................................................................................ 48 
11.  SERVICES ........................................................................................................................ 49 
12.  CONSENTS ...................................................................................................................... 51 
13.  USE OF THE FACILITIES ................................................................................................. 52 
14.  CONDITION OF THE FACILITIES..................................................................................... 53 
15.  FURTHER REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................ 59 
16.  REPRESENTATIVES ........................................................................................................ 62 
17.  EMERGENCIES ................................................................................................................ 63 
18. AUTHORITY STEP-IN ....................................................................................................... 64 
PART 3 - PERFORMANCE, REPORTING AND RECORDS......................................................... 67 
19.  PERFORMANCE MONITORING ....................................................................................... 67 
20.  CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT ....................................................................................... 68 
21.  QUALITY ASSURANCE .................................................................................................... 69 
22.  OPERATOR PARTNER'S RECORDS ............................................................................... 69 
23.  REPORTING ..................................................................................................................... 71 
24.  CO-OPERATION FOR INVESTIGATION AND SECURITY ............................................... 72 
25. AUDIT ............................................................................................................................... 73 
PART 4 - SUPERVENING EVENTS ............................................................................................. 76 
26.  CHANGE CONTROL PROCEDURE ................................................................................. 76 
27.  CHANGE IN LAW .............................................................................................................. 76 
28.  COMPENSATION EVENTS .............................................................................................. 78 
29.  RELIEF EVENTS ............................................................................................................... 80  

99120273.1\kp071 
  

30.  FORCE MAJEURE ............................................................................................................ 81 
PART 5 - LIABILITY AND RISK MANAGEMENT .......................................................................... 84 
31.  INDEMNITIES, GUARANTEES AND CONTRACTUAL CLAIMS ....................................... 84 
32.  OPERATOR PARTNER INSURANCES ............................................................................ 86 
33.  AUTHORITY INSURANCES .............................................................................................. 87 
34.  REINSTATEMENT AND CHANGE OF REQUIREMENT AFTER INSURED EVENT ......... 

88 35. RISKS THAT BECOME UNINSURABLE ........................................................................... 88 

Pack Page 146



 

  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 6 - PAYMENT AND SURPLUS SHARE .............................................................................. 93 
36.  PAYMENT ......................................................................................................................... 93 
37.  FINANCIAL ADJUSTMENTS ............................................................................................. 97 
38.  BENCHMARKING ............................................................................................................. 99 
PART 7 - TERMINATION AND CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION ..................................... 100 
39.  VOLUNTARY TERMINATION BY THE AUTHORITY ...................................................... 100 
40.  TERMINATION ON OPERATOR PARTNER DEFAULT .................................................. 100 
41.  TERMINATION FOR PERSISTENT BREACH BY THE OPERATOR PARTNER ............ 

101 42.  TERMINATION ON CORRUPT GIFTS AND FRAUD 

...................................................... 102 43.  TERMINATION ON AUTHORITY DEFAULT 

................................................................... 104 44.  COMPENSATION ON TERMINATION FOR 

AUTHORITY DEFAULT/VOLUNTARY TERMINATION 

................................................................................................................ 104 45. 
 COMPENSATION ON TERMINATION FOR OPERATOR PARTNER DEFAULT AND CORRUPT 

GIFTS AND FRAUD ...................................................................................... 105 46. 
 RETENDERING PROCESS ............................................................................................ 105 47. 
 COMPENSATION ON TERMINATION FOR FORCE MAJEURE .................................... 106 48. 
 ASSETS .......................................................................................................................... 107 49. 
 MISCELLANEOUS COMPENSATION PROVISIONS ...................................................... 107 50. 
 METHOD OF PAYMENT ................................................................................................. 108 51. 
 EXIT MANAGEMENT ...................................................................................................... 109 52. 
 SURVEYS ON EXPIRY AND RETENTION FUND .......................................................... 111 53. 
 CONTINUING OBLIGATIONS ......................................................................................... 113 PART 

8 - INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, DATA AND CONFIDENTIALITY.................................. 114 54. 
 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY .......................................................................................... 114 55. 
 DATA PROTECTION....................................................................................................... 116 56. 
 CONFIDENTIALITY ......................................................................................................... 119 57. 
 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ....................................................................................... 121 58. 
 PUBLICITY AND BRANDING .......................................................................................... 123  

99120273.1\kp072 
PART 9 - GENERAL ................................................................................................................... 124 

59.  TUPE AND EMPLOYEES ............................................................................................... 124 

60.  PENSIONS ...................................................................................................................... 131 

61.  ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING ...................................................................... 136 

62.  CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP .............................................................................................. 138 
63.  WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES ....................................................................... 139 
64.  RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES ................................................................................ 139 
65.  SEVERANCE .................................................................................................................. 139 
66.  FURTHER ASSURANCES .............................................................................................. 140 
67.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT .................................................................................................... 140 
68.  THIRD PARTY RIGHTS .................................................................................................. 140 
69.  NOTICES ........................................................................................................................ 140 
70.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION ................................................................................................. 141 
71.  SOLE REMEDY ............................................................................................................... 146 
72.  NO DOUBLE RECOVERY .............................................................................................. 147 
73.  COUNTERPARTS ........................................................................................................... 147 
74.  CAPACITY ...................................................................................................................... 147 
75.  INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENT .................................................................................... 147 
76.  GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION ........................................................................ 147 
SCHEDULE 1 - SERVICES SPECIFICATION ............................................................................ 148 
SCHEDULE 2 - SERVICE DELIVERY PROPOSALS ................................................................. 149 

Pack Page 147



 

  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 3 - FACILITIES ....................................................................................................... 150 
SCHEDULE 4 - SITE PLANS ...................................................................................................... 151 
SCHEDULE 5 - PPM .................................................................................................................. 152 
SCHEDULE 6 - COLLATERAL WARRANTIES ........................................................................... 153 
PART 1 - WARRANTY FROM THE OPERATOR PARTNER'S FM CONTRACTOR ....... 153 
APPENDIX 1 - FORM OF DEED OF NOVATION ....................................................................... 162 
PART 2 - WARRANTY FROM THE OPERATOR PARTNER'S LEISURE OPERATOR .. 166 
APPENDIX 1 - FORM OF DEED OF NOVATION ....................................................................... 175 
SCHEDULE 7 - REVIEW PROCEDURE ..................................................................................... 179 
SCHEDULE 8 - PROHIBITED MATERIALS ................................................................................ 184 
SCHEDULE 9 – NOT USED ....................................................................................................... 185 
SCHEDULE 10 - WARRANTED DATA ....................................................................................... 186 
PART 1 - OPERATOR PARTNER WARRANTED DATA ................................................. 186  

99120273.1\kp073 

Pack Page 148



 

  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 2 - PROPOSED WORKFORCE INFORMATION .................................................. 187 

SCHEDULE 11 - PROJECT DOCUMENTS AND ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS 

........................... 188 PART 1 - PROJECT DOCUMENTS 

................................................................................ 188 PART 2 - ANCILLARY 

DOCUMENTS ............................................................................. 188 SCHEDULE 12 - 

TITLE MATTERS ............................................................................................. 189 PART 1 - 

TITLE WARRANTIES ...................................................................................... 189 PART 2 - 

DISCLOSED TITLE MATTERS ........................................................................ 190 PART 3 - 

REPLIES TO ENQUIRIES ............................................................................... 191 PART 4 - 

DISCLOSED SEARCHES ................................................................................ 192 
SCHEDULE 13 - INSURANCES 

................................................................................................. 194 PART 1 - AUTHORITY 

INSURANCES ............................................................................ 195 PART 2 - OPERATOR 

PARTNER INSURANCES ........................................................... 196 PART 3 - 

ENDORSEMENTS ........................................................................................... 200 
SCHEDULE 14 - AUTHORITY 

POLICIES................................................................................... 204 SCHEDULE 15 - NNDR 

.............................................................................................................. 205 SCHEDULE 16 - 

HEAD LEASES ................................................................................................ 212 
SCHEDULE 17 – BENCHMARKING 

........................................................................................... 225 SCHEDULE 18 - SURPLUS 

SHARE .......................................................................................... 233 SCHEDULE 19 - 

EQUALITY REQUIREMENTS ......................................................................... 237 
SCHEDULE 20 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

..................................................................... 239 PART 1 - COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE 

CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS ...................... 239 PART 2 - COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE 

MATERIAL ...................................................... 239 SCHEDULE 21 - LOSS OF REVENUE 

....................................................................................... 240 SCHEDULE 22 - CHANGE 

PROTOCOL .................................................................................... 242 PART 1 - 

DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................. 242 PART 2 - 

SMALL VALUE CHANGES .............................................................................. 245 PART 3 - 

MEDIUM VALUE CHANGES ........................................................................... 248 PART 4 - 

HIGH VALUE CHANGES ................................................................................. 255 PART 5 - 

OPERATOR PARTNER CHANGES ................................................................ 271 PART 6 - 

PARTIAL TERMINATION ................................................................................ 274 
SCHEDULE 23 - LOBTA 

............................................................................................................. 275 SCHEDULE 24 - 

EXIT STRATEGY REQUIREMENTS ............................................................... 276  

  

  

99120273.1\kp074 

Pack Page 149



Pack Page 150



 

99120273.1\kp07                1  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

THIS AGREEMENT is made on  2020  

BETWEEN:  

(1) Rushmoor Borough Council of Council Offices, Farnborough Road, Farnborough, 

Hampshire GU14 7JU; and  

(2) [Operator Partner] Limited (company registration number [                    ]) whose 

registered office is at [                    ] (Operator Partner)1.  

(each a "party" and together the "parties")  

BACKGROUND  

(A) By an advertisement dated [                    ] in the Supplement to the Official Journal 

of the European Union, the Authority sought proposals for the provision of leisure 

and associated services at the Facilities.  

(B) On the basis of the Operator Partner's response to the advertisement and a 

subsequent tender process, the Authority selected the Operator Partner as its 

preferred supplier. The parties have agreed to contract with each other in 

accordance with the terms and conditions set out below.   

(C) The Authority is a Best Value Authority under the Local Government Act 1999 and 

the functions in respect of which the Authority wishes to procure the delivery of the 

Services are Best Value functions.  

PART 1 - PRELIMINARY  

1.  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION  

1.1  DEFINITIONS  

In this Agreement and in the Background unless the context otherwise requires the 

following terms shall have the meanings given to them below:  

 1999 Act  the Local Government Act 1999  

Adjudicator  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70 (Dispute 

Resolution)  

Adjusted Amount is an amount equal to one twelfth of the amount paid for the 

relevant Insurance Term in respect of the Contract Year 

preceding the Contract Year in which such Insurance 

Term is first unavailable (using a reasonable estimate of 

such amount where a precise figure is not available), 

(Indexed from the first day of such preceding Contract 

Year) less any annual amount paid or payable  

 
1 This Agreement has been drafted on the basis of a structure with the Operator Partner contracting with the Authority and then passing 
on its obligations to an FM Contractor and Leisure Operator. If a different structure is used the drafting will need to be updated accordingly.   

Pack Page 151



 

99120273.1\kp07                2  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

  
by the Operator Partner to maintain and/or procure the 

maintenance of any (whether full or partial) alternative or 

replacement insurance in respect of such term or 

condition pursuant to Clause 35.8  

Admission Body  an admission body for the purposes of paragraph 1 of 

Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the LGPS Regulations  

Administering Authority  Hampshire County Council of The Castle, Winchester 

SO23 8UJ, acting in its capacity as the administering 

authority of the Hampshire Pension Fund for the 

purposes of the LGPS Regulations  

Adverse Rights  any interests, rights, covenants, restrictions, stipulations, 

easements, customary or public rights, local land 

charges, mining or mineral rights, franchise, manorial 

rights and any other rights or interests in or over land, in 

each case whether or not registered that would, if 

exercised, prevent or disrupt the provision of the 

Services  

Affected Party  has the meaning given to it in the definition of Force  

Majeure Event in this Clause 1 (Definitions and  

Interpretation)  

Affiliate  in relation to any person, any holding company or 
subsidiary of that person or any subsidiary of such 
holding company, and "holding company" and  
"subsidiary" shall have the meaning given to them in  

Section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006  

Agreed Form  in relation to any document, the form of the document 

agreed between the parties and initialled by or on behalf 

of the parties for the purpose of identification  

Agreement  this agreement (including its Schedules)  

Ancillary Documents  the documents listed in Part 2 of Schedule 11 (Project 

Documents and Ancillary Documents)  

Annual Payment  the fee payable under this Agreement calculated in 

accordance with Schedule 5 (PPM)  

Annual Service Plan  has the meaning given to it in Clause 23 (Annual Service 

Report and Service Plan)  

Annual Service Report  has the meaning given to it in Clause 23 (Annual Service 

Report and Annual Service Plan)   

Annual Service Report  the date on which the Annual Service Report is required  

 

Pack Page 152



 

99120273.1\kp07                3  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Date  to be submitted pursuant to the Services Specification  

Approved Purposes  has the meaning given to it in Clause 54.1  

Asbestos  has the meaning given to it in the Control of Asbestos 

Regulations 2012  

Asbestos Surveys  the surveys referred to as such in the Services  

Specification   

As-built Drawings  drawings, technical information, models, operation and 

maintenance manuals and technical information of a like 

nature to encompass the method of construction, 

manufacture, operation and maintenance of each 

element of each Facility in sufficient detail to allow a 

competent person to understand all material elements of 

the construction of each Facility and to maintain, 

dismantle, reassemble, adjust and operate all plant, 

equipment,  fixtures,  structures  and 

 construction elements thereof  

Assets  
all assets and rights to enable the Authority or a 
successor contractor to own, operate and maintain each 
Facility in accordance with this Agreement including:  

(a) any land or buildings;  

(b) any equipment;  

(c) any books and records (including operating and  

maintenance manuals, health and safety 
manuals and other know how);  

(d) any spare parts, tools and other assets 
(together with any warranties in respect of 
assets being transferred);  

(e) any revenues and any other contractual rights;  

(f) any Intellectual Property Rights subject to and in 
accordance with Clause 54 (Intellectual 
Property); and  

(g) maintenance records, membership details/bulk 
transfer of direct debit details,  

but excluding any assets and rights in respect of which 

the Authority is full legal and beneficial owner  

Authority Change  has the meaning given to it in the Change Protocol  

Pack Page 153



 

99120273.1\kp07                4  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Authority Default  one of the following events:  

(a) a failure by the Authority to make payment(s) of 
an amount of money exceeding (in aggregate) 
one month's Management Fee (from time to 
time) that is due and payable by the Authority 
under this Agreement within twenty (20) 
Business Days of service of a formal written 
demand by the Operator Partner, where the 
amount fell due and payable one (1) (or more) 
months prior to the date of service of the written 
demand;  

(b) a breach by the Authority of its obligations under 
this Agreement which substantially frustrates or 
renders it impossible for the Operator Partner to 
perform its obligations under this Agreement for 
a continuous period of two (2) months; or  

(c) a breach by the Authority of Clause 61.1  

Authority Insurances  the insurances described at Part 1 of Schedule 13 

(Insurances)  

Authority Lifecycle 

Items  
those Lifecycle Assets at the Facilities which are shown 

as the Authority's responsibility at Appendix 10 (Lifecycle 

Replacement Responsibility Matrix) of the Services 

Specification  

Authority Lifecycle Item 

Instruction  

has the meaning given to it in Clause 14.28  

Authority Lifecycle Item 

Notice  

has the meaning given to it in Clause 14.25  

Authority Notice of  

Change  

has the meaning given to it in the Change Protocol  

Authority Pricing 

Requirements  

the Authority's pricing requirements, as set out in 

paragraph 3.21 of the Services Specification  

Authority Related Party  (a) an officer, agent, contractor, employee or 

subcontractor (of any tier) of the Authority acting 

in the course of his office or employment; and  

(b) any person visiting a Facility at the invitation (express 

or implied) of the Authority,  

but excluding in each case the Users, the Operator  

Partner and any Operator Partner Related Parties  

Pack Page 154



 

99120273.1\kp07                5  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

 

Authority Policies  the policies of the Authority in place from time to time 

including, without limitation, those referred to in 

Schedule 14 (Authority Policies)  

Authority's  

Representative  

the representative appointed by the Authority pursuant to 

Clause 16.1   

Base Surplus Amount  the Annual Payment as shown in [Base Case/LOBTA] (in 

the form of the LOBTA included at the Commencement 

Date without any adjustment) for a Contract Year 

(Indexed)  

BI Proceeds  Business Interruption Insurance proceeds  

"Bond"  [    ]  

"Building"  any building or other erection at any of the Sites  

"Buildings Surveys”  the surveys referred to as such in the Services 

Specification  

"Business Day"  
a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks 

are open for domestic business in the City of London  

Business Interruption 

Insurance  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2 of Part 2 of 

Schedule 13 (Insurances)  

Capital Expenditure  any expenditure which falls to be treated as capital 
expenditure in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United Kingdom from time to 
time, International Financial Reporting Standards from 
time to time, or proper accounting practices for local 
authorities as defined by section 21(2) of the Local 
Government Act 2003 and Regulation 31 of the Local  
Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

Regulations 2003  

CDM Regulations  the  Construction  (Design  and  Management)  

Regulations 2015  

Cessation Date  any date on which the Operator Partner or the relevant 

Sub-Contractor ceases to be an Admission Body other 

than as a result of the termination of this Agreement or 

because it ceases to employ any Eligible Employees  

Change  has the meaning given to it in Part 1 of Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol)  

Pack Page 155



 

99120273.1\kp07                6  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Change in Costs  in respect of any Relevant Event, the effect of that 

Relevant Event (whether of a one-off or recurring  

nature, and whether positive or negative) upon the actual 

or anticipated costs, losses or liabilities of the Operator 

Partner and/or any Sub-Contractors (without double 

counting), including, as relevant, the following:  

(a) the reasonable costs of complying with the 

requirements of Clauses 28 (Compensation 

Events), 27 (Change in Law), 18.5, 37 (Financial 

Adjustments) and the Change Protocol, 

including the reasonable costs of preparation of 

design and estimates;  

(b) the costs of continued employment of, or making 

redundant, staff who are no longer required;  

(c) the costs of employing additional staff;  

(d) reasonable professional fees;  

(e) the costs to the Operator Partner of financing 

any Relevant Event (and the consequences 

thereof) including commitment fees and capital 

costs interest and hedging costs, lost interest on 

any of the Operator Partner's own capital 

employed and any finance required pending 

receipt of a lump sum payment or adjustments to 

the Annual Payment;  

(f) the effects of costs on implementation of any 

insurance reinstatement in accordance with this 

Agreement, including any adverse effect on the 

insurance proceeds payable to the Operator 

Partner (whether arising from physical damage 

insurance or business interruption insurance (or 

their equivalent)) in respect of that insurance 

reinstatement and any extension of the period of 

implementation of the insurance  

reinstatement;  

(g) operating costs, lifecycle costs, maintenance 

costs or replacement costs;  

(h) Capital Expenditure (or, in the case of a  

Relevant Event which is a Qualifying Change in 

Law, Capital Expenditure for which the Authority 

is responsible);  

Pack Page 156



 

99120273.1\kp07                7  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(i) any deductible or increase in the level of 

deductible, or any increase in premium under or 

in respect of any insurance policy; and  

(j) Direct Losses or Indirect Losses, including 

reasonable legal expenses on an indemnity 

basis  

Change in Law  the coming into effect after the Commencement Date  

of:   

 (a)  Legislation, other than any Legislation which on 
the Commencement Date has been published:  

(i) in a draft Bill as part of a Government 
Departmental Consultation Paper;  

(ii) in a Bill;  

(iii) in a draft statutory instrument; or  

(iv) as a proposal in the Official Journal of 

the European Communities;  

 (b)  any Guidance; or  

 (c)  any applicable judgment of a relevant court of law 

which changes a binding precedent  

Change in Ownership  (a)  
any sale, transfer or disposal of any legal, 

beneficial or equitable interest in any or all of the 

shares in the Operator Partner [and/or Holdco] 

[and/or           [    ]] (including the control over the 

exercise of voting rights conferred on those 

shares, control over the right to appoint or 

remove directors or the rights to dividends); or   

 (b)  
any other arrangements that have or may have 
or which result in the same effect as paragraph  
(a)  

Change in Revenue  
in respect of any Relevant Event, the effect of that 
Relevant Event (whether of a one-off or recurring nature, 
and whether positive or negative) upon the actual or 
anticipated income of the Operator Partner and/or any 
Sub-Contractor save that any Loss of Revenue shall be 
calculated in accordance with  
Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue)  

Change Protocol  the procedure set out in Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Pack Page 157



 

99120273.1\kp07                8  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Collateral Warranty  a collateral warranty executed as a deed between the 
Authority and (as the case may be) the [Leisure  
Operator or the FM Contractor] in the relevant form as  

set out in Schedule 6 (Collateral Warranties)  

Commencement Date  the date of this Agreement  

Commercially  

Sensitive Information  
the subset of Confidential Information listed in column 1 

of Part 1 (Commercially Sensitive Contractual 

Provisions) and column 1 of Part 2 (Commercially 

Sensitive Material) of Schedule 20 (Confidential 

Information) in each case for the period specified in the 

respective columns 2 of Parts 1 and 2 of Schedule 20  

Compensation Event  (a)  the occurrence of a breach by the Authority of the 
following provisions:  

(i) Clause 7.8;  

(ii) Clause 10.7;  

(iii) Clause 14.4;  

(iv) Clause 36 (Payment);  

(v) Clause 52.2;  

(vi) Clause 32.2; or  

(vii) Schedule 7 (Review Procedure); and  

 (b)  any other event or circumstance identified as a 

Compensation Event in this Agreement  

Confidential 

Information  

(a)  
information that ought to be considered as 
confidential (however it is conveyed or on 
whatever media it is stored) and includes 
information whose disclosure would, or would be 
likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of 
any person, trade secrets, Intellectual Property 
Rights and know-how of either party and all 
Personal Data (including special categories of 
personal data and personal data relating to 
actual or potential criminal offences and 
convictions) within the meaning of the Data  
Protection Legislation; and  

 
(b)  Commercially Sensitive Information  

Pack Page 158



 

99120273.1\kp07                9  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Contamination  all or any pollutants or contaminants, including any 

chemical or industrial, radioactive, dangerous, toxic or 

hazardous substance, waste or residue (whether in solid, 

semi-solid or liquid form or a gas or vapour)  

 

Continuation Notice  has the meaning given to it in Clause 30.5  

Continuous  

Improvement Duty  
the duty imposed on the Authority to secure continuous 

improvement in the exercise of the Authority's functions, 

having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in relation to, inter alia, the Services, 

pursuant to the 1999 Act  

Continuous  

Improvement Service  

Change Notice  

has the meaning given to it in Clause 23.3  

Contract Month  any month in a Contract Year provided that:  

(a) the first Contract Month shall commence on the 
Service Commencement Date and end on the 
last day of the month in which the Service 
Commencement Date occurs; and  

(b) the last Contract Month shall begin on the first  

day of the month in which the last day of the  

Contract Period occurs and end on that day  

Contract Period  the period from and including the Commencement Date to 

the Expiry Date, or if earlier, the Termination Date  

Contract Year  a period of twelve (12) months commencing on 1 April, 
provided that:  

(a) the first Contract Year shall be the period 
commencing on the Service Commencement   
Date and ending on the immediately following 31 
March; and  

(b) the final Contract Year shall be the period 

commencing on 1 April immediately preceding 

the last day of the Contract Period, and ending 

on the last day of the Contract Period  

Controller  has the meaning given in, and shall be interpreted in 

accordance with, the Data Protection Legislation   

COSHH  the Control of Substances Hazardous to Health 

Regulations 2002  

Pack Page 159



 

99120273.1\kp07                10  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

CPI  the index published in Table 1 of the monthly Statistical 

Bulletin "Consumer price indices" published by the Office 

for National Statistics or failing such publication or in the 

event of a fundamental change to the index, such other 

index as the parties may agree, or such adjustments to 

the index as the parties may agree (in  

each case with the intention of putting the parties in no 

better nor worse position than they would have been in 

had the index not ceased to be published or the relevant 

fundamental change not been made) or, in the event that 

no such agreement is reached, as may be determined in 

accordance with Clause 70 (Dispute  

Resolution)  

Current Annual Payment  the Annual Payment that would have been payable had 

this Agreement not terminated as a result of Operator 

Partner Default  

Data Protection 

Legislation  

means:   

 (a)  any law, statute, declaration, decree, directive, 
legislative enactment, order, ordinance, 
regulation, rule or other binding restriction (as 
amended, consolidated or re-enacted from time 
to time) which relates to the protection of 
individuals with regards to the Processing of 
Personal Data or marketing activities to which a 
party is subject, including the EU General Data 
Protection Regulation 2016/679 (GDPR), the 
Data Protection Act 2018 and the Privacy and  
Electronic  Communications  (EC  Directive)  

Regulations 2003; and   

 (b)  any code of practice or guidance published by a 

competent supervisory authority from time to 

time  

Data Subject  has the meaning in, and shall be interpreted in 

accordance with, the Data Protection Legislation  

Defects  any defect in any of the Buildings, or any part of them, or 

anything installed in the Buildings attributable to:  

(a) defective design;  

(b) defective workmanship or defective materials 

(which shall exclude Asbestos), plant or 

machinery used in such construction having 

regard to Good Industry Practice and to 

appropriate British standards and codes of 

practice current at the date of construction of the 

Building;  

Pack Page 160



 

99120273.1\kp07                11  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(c) the use of materials in the construction of any 

Building which (whether or not defective in 

themselves) prove to be defective in the use to 

which they are put in the construction of any  

such Building;  

  (d) defective installation of anything in or on the 

Buildings;  

(e) defective preparation of the site on which the 
Building is constructed; or  

(f) defects brought about by adverse ground 

conditions or by reason of subsidence, water 

table change or any other change to ground 

conditions  

Deficit Annual  

Payment  

 the Annual Payment where it is a negative number  

Design Data   
all drawings, reports, documents, plans, software, 

formulae, calculations and other data relating to the 

design, construction, testing or operation of the Facilities 

in each case that is used by or on behalf of the Operator 

Partner and/or its sub-contractors in connection with the 

provision of the Services or the performance of the 

Operator Partner's obligations under this Agreement  

Directive   the EC Transfers of Undertakings Directive 2001/23 as 

amended  

Direct Losses   all damage, losses, liabilities, claims, actions, costs, 

expenses (including the cost of legal or professional 

services, legal costs being on an indemnity basis), 

proceedings, demands and charges whether arising 

under statute, contract or at common law but excluding 

Indirect Losses  

Pack Page 161



 

99120273.1\kp07                12  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Disclosed Data   information relating to the Services disclosed to the 
Operator Partner and its Shareholders and advisers 
before the Commencement Date including (without 
limitation):  

(a) [  ];2  

(b) the data room located at 
https://sebp.duenorth.com/, and holding the 
documents issued as part of the procurement 
process; and  

(c) [others]  

   

 

Disclosed Searches  the searches listed in Part 4 of Schedule 12 (Title 

Matters)  

Disclosed Title Matters  
the matters set out in Part 2 of Schedule 12 (Title 

Matters)  

Discriminatory Change 

in Law  

a Change in Law, the terms of which apply expressly to: 

(a)  the Services and not to similar projects;  

(b) the Operator Partner and not to other persons; 

and/or  

(c) persons  who  have  contracted  with 

 the  

Government, a Local Authority or other public or 

statutory body to provide services under a public 

private partnership arrangement and not to other 

persons  

Disputed Amount  has the meaning given to it in Clause 36.11  

Dispute Resolution 

Procedure  

the procedure for the resolution of disputes set out in 

Clause 70 (Dispute Resolution)  

 
2 Include details of the procurement documents issued.  

Pack Page 162

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/BKl4CDRp9UoDN32TWUAYD?domain=sebp.due-north.com
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/BKl4CDRp9UoDN32TWUAYD?domain=sebp.due-north.com
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/BKl4CDRp9UoDN32TWUAYD?domain=sebp.due-north.com


 

99120273.1\kp07                13  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

DOTAS  the Disclosure of Tax Avoidance Schemes rules which 

require a promoter of tax schemes to tell HMRC of any 

specified notifiable arrangements or proposals and to 

provide prescribed information on those arrangements 

or proposals within set time limits as contained in Part 7 

of the Finance Act 2004 and in secondary legislation 

made under vires contained in Part 7 of the Finance Act 

2004  and  as  extended  to  national 

 insurance contributions by the National Insurance 

Contributions (Application of Part 7 of the Finance Act 

2004) Regulations  2012,  SI  2012/1868)  made 

 under section 132A of the Social Security 

Administration Act 1992  

Elections  such local, regional or national elections or referenda 

that the Authority or its returning office is statutorily 

required to administer  

Eligible Employees  means:  

    

(a) those  employees  whose  contracts 

 of employment transfer to the Operator 

Partner or a Sub-Contractor from the Authority 

on a Service Transfer Date who are active 

members of or have the right to acquire benefits 

under the LGPS immediately prior to such 

Service Transfer Date; and  

(b) Transferring Original Employees who are active 

members of or have the right to acquire benefits 

under the LGPS, or a broadly comparable 

occupational pension scheme, provided by their 

existing employer on a Service Transfer Date,  

for so long as they are employed in connection with the 

provision of the Services  

Emergency  an event causing or, in the reasonable opinion of a party, 

threatening to cause death or injury to any individual, or 

serious disruption to the lives of a number of people or 

extensive damage to property, or contamination of the 

environment in each case on a scale beyond the 

capacity of the emergency services, or preventing the 

Services operating under normal circumstances and 

requiring the mobilisation and organisation of the 

emergency services  

Pack Page 163



 

99120273.1\kp07                14  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Employee Costs  all pay, benefits, PAYE payments/ contributions, national 

insurance contributions, pension contributions and other 

amounts (including, without limitation, all wages, holiday 

pay, bonuses, commission, premiums, and 

subscriptions) payable to or in respect of the 

employment or engagement of any person  

Employee List  has the meaning given to it in Clause 59.5  

Employment  

Liabilities  

all liabilities including, but not limited to, claims for 

redundancy payments, Beckmann Rights, pay including 

holiday pay, unlawful deductions from wages, unfair, 

wrongful or constructive dismissal compensation, 

compensation for discrimination or claims for equal pay, 

and any other claims whether in tort (including 

negligence), contract or statute or otherwise, and any 

demands, actions, proceedings and any award, 

compensation, damages, tribunal awards, fine, loss, 

order, penalty, disbursement, payment made by way of 

settlement and costs and expenses reasonably incurred 

in connection with a claim or investigation, and any 

expenses and legal costs on an indemnity basis  

Environmental  

Information  

Regulations  

the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 

together with any guidance and/or codes of practice 

issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant 

Government Department in relation to such regulations  

 

Equalities Legislation  the Racial and Religious Hatred Act 2006, the Civil 

Partnership Act 2004, the Sex Discrimination (Gender 

Reassignment) Regulations 1999 the Gender 

Recognition Act 2004 the Employment Equality (Sex 

Discrimination) Regulations 2005 the Employment 

Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 (Amendment) 

Regulations 2008, the Equality Act 2006 and the Equality 

Act 2010  

Equality Requirements  the requirements set out in Schedule 19 (Equality 

Requirements)  

European Economic 

Area  
from time to time the European Economic Area as 

created by The Agreement on the European Economic 

Area 1992 or any successor or replacement body, 

association, entity or organisation which has assumed 

either or both the function and responsibilities of the 

European Economic Area  

Expiry Date  14 August 2031, or such later date to which the Expiry  

Date is extended pursuant to clause 2.2  

Pack Page 164



 

99120273.1\kp07                15  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Existing Operator 

Partner  
the contractor of the Authority which, prior to the 

Commencement Date, performs services which are the 

same as, or similar to, some or all of the Services  

Exit Plan  the exit plan as developed between the parties in 

accordance with Clause 51 (Exit Management)  

Facility  the facilities listed in Schedule 3 (Facilities) being the 

buildings and other facilities to be provided, maintained 

and serviced in accordance with this Agreement located 

on and consisting of the Sites  

Fees Regulations  the Freedom of Information and Data Protection 

(Appropriate Limit and Fees) Regulations 2004  

Final Warning Notice  has the meaning given to it in Clause 41.2   

First Operator Partner  the person with whom the Authority initially contracted 

for the provision of services which are similar to the 

Services  

Five Year Maintenance 

Plan  the five year maintenance plan provided by the Operator 

Partner to the Authority in accordance with Clause 14.15   

FM Agreement  subject to Clause 6 (Documents) the agreement in the 

Agreed Form between the Operator Partner and the FM 

Contractor relating to the Maintenance Services  

 

FM Agreement Dispute  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70.16.1  

[FM Contractor  [INSERT NAME AND COMPANY NUMBER], or such 

other facilities management contractor as the Operator 

Partner may, subject to Clauses 6 (Documents) and 61 

(Assignment and sub-contracting), appoint to provide the 

Maintenance Services]  

FOIA  
the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any 
subordinate legislation (as defined in Section 84 of the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000) made under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 from time to time 
together with any guidance and/or codes of practice 
issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant  
Government Department in relation to such Act  

FOIA Code  has the meaning given to it in Clause 57.8  

Pack Page 165



 

99120273.1\kp07                16  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Force Majeure Event  the occurrence after the Commencement Date of:  

(a) war, civil war, armed conflict or terrorism;   

(b) nuclear, chemical or biological contamination 
unless  the  source  or  cause  of 
 the contamination is as a result of any act 
by the Operator Partner or its sub-contractors or 
any breach by the Operator Partner of the terms 
of this Agreement; or  

(c) pressure waves caused by devices travelling at 
supersonic speeds,  

which directly causes either party (Affected Party) to be 

unable to comply with all or a material part of its 

obligations under this Agreement  

Fund  the Hampshire County Council Pension Fund  

Future Operator Partner  a provider of services which are the same as, or similar 

to the Services, following the termination or expiry of this 

Agreement  

General Change in Law  
a Change in Law which is not a Discriminatory Change in 

Law or a Specific Change in Law  

Goods  all goods or equipment (recycled or otherwise) used in 

the provision of the Services  

Good Industry Practice  that degree of skill, care, prudence and foresight and 

operating practice which would reasonably and ordinarily 

be expected from time to time of a skilled and  

experienced operator (engaged in the same type of 

undertaking as that of the Operator Partner) or facilities 

management contractor or leisure operator or any 

subcontractor under the same or similar circumstances  

Guidance  any applicable guidance or directions with which the 

Operator Partner is bound to comply  

Handback  

Requirements  the requirements relating to the condition of the Facilities 

set out in section 4.2.4 of the Services Specification  

Head Leases  the leases relating to the Sites to be granted by the 

Authority to the Operator Partner in the Agreed Form as 

set out at Schedule 16 (Head Leases)  

Health and Safety File  has the meaning given to it in the CDM Regulations  

Pack Page 166



 

99120273.1\kp07                17  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Health and Safety 

Regime  
the Food Safety Act 1990 (and associated regulations), 

the Health & Safety at Work etc Act 1974 (and 

associated regulations), the Regulatory Reform (Fire 

Safety) Order 2005, the Environmental Protection Act 

1990, the Water Industry Act 1991, the Environment Act 

1995, the Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 and 

any similar or analogous health, safety or environmental 

legislation in force from time to time  

["Holdco"]  [insert details of the Operator Partner's one hundred per 

cent (100%) holding company if any]  

Holding Company  has the meaning given to it in Section 1159 of the 

Companies Act 2006  

Home Office Guidance  guidance issued by the Home Office relating to the level 

and nature of Criminal Records Bureau checks or the 

Disclosure and Barring Scheme (as appropriate at that 

time) that should be undertaken with respect to staff 

employed at the Facilities  

Improvement Plan  has the meaning given to it in paragraph 10 of schedule 

5  

Indemnified Party  has the meaning given to it in Clause 31.5  

Indemnifying Party  has the meaning given to it in Clause 31.5   

Index  means CPI  

Indirect Losses  loss of profits, loss of use, loss of production, loss of 

business, loss of business opportunity, or any claim for 

consequential loss or for indirect loss of any nature but  

excluding any of the same that relate to Loss of Revenue  

Information  has the meaning given to it under Section 76 of the 

FOIA  

Initial Contribution  

Amount  

zero  

Instalment Dates  has the meaning given to it in Clause 50.3   

Insurance Term  any terms and/or conditions required to be in a policy of 

insurance by Clause 32 (Operator Partner Insurances) 

and/or Schedule 13  (Insurances) but excluding any risk  

Pack Page 167



 

99120273.1\kp07                18  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Intellectual Property 

Rights  
any and all patents, trade marks, service marks, 

copyright, database rights, moral rights, rights in a 

design, know-how, confidential information and all or any 

other intellectual or industrial property rights whether or 

not registered or capable of registration and whether 

subsisting in the United Kingdom or any other part of the 

world together with all or any goodwill relating or 

attached thereto which is created, brought into 

existence, acquired, used or intended to be used by the 

Operator Partner or any Operator Partner Related Party 

for the purposes of providing the Services and/or 

otherwise for the purposes of this Agreement  

Irrecoverable VAT  has the meaning given to it in Clause 27.7  

Legislation  any one or more of the following:  

(a) any Act of Parliament;   

(b) any subordinate legislation within the meaning  

of Section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978;   

(c) any exercise of the Royal Prerogative; and  

(d) any enforceable community right within the 
meaning of Section 2 of the European 
Communities Act 1972,  

in each case in the United Kingdom  

Leisure Contract  
subject to Clause 6 (Documents), the agreement in the 
Agreed Form between the Operator Partner and the  
Leisure Operator relating to the Leisure Services  

Leisure Contract  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70.16.2  

Dispute  

Leisure Operator  [INSERT NAME AND COMPANY NUMBER] or such 

other leisure operator as the Operator Partner may, 

subject to the terms of this Agreement appoint to provide 

the Leisure Services  

Leisure Operator's Base 
Trading Account  
or LOBTA  

the financial model included at Schedule 23 (LOBTA) 

and agreed between the parties prior to the 

Commencement Date (as updated from time to time in 

accordance with this Agreement) for the purpose of, 

amongst other things, calculating the Annual Payment  

Leisure Services  the services set out in the Services Specification other 

than the Maintenance Services  

Pack Page 168



 

99120273.1\kp07                19  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

LGPS  the Local Government Pension Scheme  

LGPS Regulations  the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013; The Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014; The Local Government (Early  
Termination  of  Employment)  (Discretionary  

Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 
(as amended); and The Local Government 
(Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances)  
Regulations 2011 (where appropriate)  

Lifecycle Assets  each item of building fabric, plant and machinery, 

furniture, fittings and equipment to be renewed or 

replaced during the Contract Period as identified in the 

Lifecycle Schedule within the Schedule of Programmed 

Maintenance or as may be identified by the parties 

applying Good Industry Practice, comprising the 

Authority Lifecycle Items and the Operator Partner 

Lifecycle Items  

Lifecycle Profile  the amounts profiled to be spent by the Operator Partner 
on the replacement or renewal of Operator  
Partner Lifecycle Items at each Facility as shown in the 

LOBTA [in row [                    ]] as at the Commencement 

Date as may be adjusted from time to time in accordance 

with this Agreement  

Lifecycle Schedule  the detailed annual lifecycle schedule showing when the 

Lifecycle Assets will be renewed or replaced, and 

forming part of the Schedule of Programmed 

Maintenance  

Local Authority  a principal council (as defined in Section 270 of the Local 

Government Act 1972) or any body of  

government in England established as a successor to 

principal councils in relation to leisure services  

Losses  all damages, losses, liabilities, costs, expenses 

(including legal and other professional charges and 

expenses) and charges whether arising under statute, 

contract or at common law, or in connection with 

judgments, proceedings, internal costs or demands  

Loss of Revenue  the decrease in Revenue (whether of a one-off or 

recurring nature) arising as a direct result of a Loss of 

Revenue Event or Relevant Event calculated and paid in 

accordance with Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue)  

Pack Page 169



 

99120273.1\kp07                20  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Loss of Revenue Event  an event occurring pursuant to one or more of the 
following:  

(a) Clause 14.9;  

(b) Clause 17 (Emergencies);  

(c) Clause 30.5.1; or  

(d) Clause 18.5   

Maintenance Services  those services set out in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.5 of the 

Services Specification  

Maintenance Works  any works of maintenance or repair of the Facilities that 
are necessary to ensure that the Facilities are 
maintained in accordance with the Services  
Specification and Service Delivery Proposals (including, 

without limitation, the renewal or replacement of any 

plant and equipment) throughout the Contract Period  

Medium Value Change  has the meaning given to it in the Change Protocol  

Method Statement  the Operator Partner's method statements in relation to 

the Services as included in the Service Delivery 

Proposals  

Minimum Opening 

Hours  
the hours of required opening of the Facilities to Users 

as set out in paragraph 2.3.10 (table 2.4) of the Services 

Specification  

Monthly Payment  an amount calculated in accordance with Part 1 of the 

PPM, and which is payable in respect of each Contract 

Month  

Necessary Consents  all permits, licences, permissions, consents, approvals, 

certificates and authorisations (whether statutory or 

otherwise) which are required for the performance of  

any of the Operator Partner's obligations under this 

Agreement, whether required in order to comply with  

Legislation or as a result of the rights of any third party   

New Operator Partner  the person who has entered or who will enter into the 
Retendered Contract with the Authority following 
termination of this Agreement or the person who has 
entered or will enter into a new contract with the  
Authority following the expiry of this Agreement  

Notice of Adjudication  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70.3  

Pack Page 170



 

99120273.1\kp07                21  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Occasion of Tax 

NonCompliance  

(a)  
any tax return of the Operator submitted to a 
Relevant Tax Authority on or after 1 October 
2012 is found on or after 1 April 2013 to be 
incorrect as a result of:  

(i) a Relevant Tax Authority successfully 
challenging the Operator under the 
General Anti-Abuse Rule or the Halifax 
Abuse Principle or under any tax rules or 
legislation that have an effect equivalent 
or similar to the General Anti-Abuse 
Rule or the Halifax Abuse Principle; or  

(ii) the failure of an avoidance scheme 

which the Operator was involved in, and 

which was, or should have been, notified 

to a Relevant Tax Authority under the 

DOTAS or any equivalent or similar 

regime; and/or  

 (b)  any tax return of the Operator submitted to a 

Relevant Tax Authority on or after 1 October 

2012 gives rise on or after 1 April 2013 to a 

criminal conviction in any jurisdiction for tax 

related offences which is not spent at the 

Commencement Date or to a civil penalty for 

fraud or evasion  

Operating Manual  has the meaning given to it in Clause 15.3.1  

Operator Partner 

Change  

has the meaning given in the Change Protocol  

Operator Partner  

Damage  
any damage to any Facility or Site caused by any 

omission, default or negligent act by the Operator 

Partner or an Operator Partner Related Party  

 Operator Partner  any one or more of the following:  

Default  

(a) a breach by the Operator Partner of any of its 

obligations  under  this  Agreement 

 which materially  and  adversely 

 affects  the  

performance of the Services;  

(b) a Persistent Breach occurs;  

(c) a court makes an order that the Operator  

Pack Page 171



 

99120273.1\kp07                22  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Partner [or Holdco] be wound up or a resolution 

for a voluntary winding-up of the Operator 

Partner [or Holdco] is passed;  

(d) any receiver or receiver manager in respect of 

the Operator Partner [or Holdco] is appointed or 

possession is taken by or on behalf of any 

creditor of any property of the Operator Partner 

[or Holdco] that is the subject of a charge;  

(e) any voluntary arrangement is made for a 

composition of debts or a scheme of 

arrangement is approved under the Insolvency 

Act 1986 or the Companies Act 2006 in respect 

of the Operator Partner [or Holdco];  

(f) an administration order is made or an 

administrator is appointed in respect of the 

Operator Partner [or Holdco];  

(g) failure to comply with Clauses 61.2 and 61.3 or 

Clause 0 (Change in Ownership);  

(h) the criterion set out at paragraph 10 of the PPM 

is met;   

(i) in any three (3) month rolling retrospective 

period five or more Performance Failures  

occur;;  

(j) in each and every month of any six (6) month 

rolling period, one or more Performance  

Failures occur;  

(k) subject to Clause 35 (Risks that become 

Uninsurable) a breach by the Operator Partner 

of its obligations to take out and maintain any of 

the Operator Partner Insurances;   

(l) the Operator Partner committing a material 

breach of its obligations under this Agreement  

(other than as a consequence of a breach by  

the Authority of its obligations under this 

Agreement) which results in the criminal 

investigation, prosecution and conviction of the 

Operator Partner or any Operator Partner 

Related Party or the Authority under the Health 

and Safety Regime (an H&S Conviction) 

provided that an H&S Conviction of an Operator 

Pack Page 172



 

99120273.1\kp07                23  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Partner Related Party or the Authority shall not 

constitute an Operator Partner Default if, within 

ninety (90) Business Days from the date of the 

H&S Conviction (whether or not the H&S  

Conviction is subject to an appeal or any further 

judicial process), the involvement in the Services 

of each relevant Operator Partner Related Party 

(which in the case of an individual director, 

officer or employee shall be deemed to include 

the Operator Partner  

Related Party of which that person is a director, 

officer or employee) is terminated and a 

replacement is appointed by the Operator 

Partner in accordance with Clauses 61.2 and 

61.3 provided always that in determining 

whether to exercise any right of termination or 

right to require the termination of the 

engagement of an Operator Partner Related  

Party under this limb (k), the Authority shall:  

(i) act in a reasonable and proportionate 

manner having regard to such matters 

as the gravity of any offence and the 

identity of the person committing it; and  

(ii) give all due consideration, where 

appropriate,  to  action  other 

 than termination of this Agreement; 

or  

(m) the warranty set out at clause 4.1.8 is not 

accurate or an incident of Tax Non-Compliance 

occurs;   

(n) this Agreement has been subject to a substantial 

variation which would have required a new 

procurement procedure in accordance with 

regulation 72(9) of the PCR (provided that, 

where this variation was at the request of the 

Authority, this will not be deemed to be an 

Operator Partner Default);  

(o) the Operator Partner was, at the time when this 

Agreement was awarded, in one of the situations 

referred to in regulation 57(1) of the  

PCR, including as a result of the application of 

regulation 57(2), and therefore should not have 

been awarded this Agreement  

Pack Page 173



 

99120273.1\kp07                24  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Operator Partner 

Insurances  

the insurances set out at Part 2 of Schedule 13 

(Insurances) and any insurances required by law  

Operator Partner IPR  any Intellectual Property Rights created by or on behalf 

of the Operator Partner, the Leisure Operator or the FM 

Contractor in respect of, in each case, their:  

(a)  brand  names,  trademarks,  trade  names, 

designs, logos, domain names and name;  

 (b)  know-how and business systems;  

 (c)  quality management procedures and customer 

care programme;  

 (d)  sales and customer retention products and 

processes;  

 (e)  corporate policies and training documentation;  

 (f)  intranet, integrated management system and 

supporting documentation; and  

 (g)  Service Delivery Proposals, but 

excluding:  

(i) the Operating Manual;  

(ii) any User or member database relevant  

Facilities; and  

(iii) any booking system used at and in  

respect of the Facilities  

Operator Partner 

Lifecycle Items  
those Lifecycle Assets at the Facilities which are shown 

as the Operator Partner's responsibility at Appendix 7 

(Lifecycle Replacement Responsibility Matrix) of the 

Services Specification and any other Lifecycle Assets at 

the Facilities which are not Authority Lifecycle Items  

Operator Partner Notice 

of Change  

has the meaning given in the Change Protocol  

Operator Partner  

Physical Damage 

Policies  

has the meaning given to it in Clause 34.1  

 

Pack Page 174



 

99120273.1\kp07                25  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Operator Partner 

Related Party  

(a) an officer, servant or agent of the Operator 
Partner, or any Affiliate of the Operator Partner 
and any officer, servant or agent of such a 
person;  

(b) any Sub-Contractor or other sub-contractor of  

the Operator Partner of any tier and any of their 
officers, servants or agents; and  

(c) any person on or at any of the Facilities at the 

express or implied invitation of the Operator 

Partner (other than an Authority Related Party or 

a User)  

Operator Partner 

Warranted Data  

the information relating to the Operator Partner and its 

Affiliates contained in Schedule 10 (Warranted Data)  

Operator Partner's 

Holding Company  
[                    ] or such other person as shall guarantee 

the obligations of the Operator Partner under this 

Agreement  

Operator Partner's 

Representative  

the person to be appointed by the Operator Partner 

pursuant to Clause 16.6   

Performance 

Adjustments  
payments due, in respect of Performance Failures, from 

the Operator Partner to the Authority pursuant to 

Schedule 5  

Performance Failure  
has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1 of Schedule 5  

Persistent Breach  a breach for which a Final Warning Notice has been 

issued which has continued for more than fourteen (14) 

days or recurred in three (3) or more months within the 

six (6) month period following the date on which such 

Final Warning Notice is served on the Operator Partner  

Personal Data  personal data as defined in the Data Protection 

Legislation which is supplied to the Operator Partner by 

(or on behalf of) the Authority or obtained or otherwise 

Processed by (or on behalf of) the Operator Partner in 

the course of performing or providing the Services and 

includes an special categories of personal data and 

personal data relating to actual or potential criminal 

offences  

PPM  the  payment and performance mechanism set out at 

Schedule 6  

Prescribed Rate  two per cent (2%) above the base rate of the bankers of  

the Authority from time to time  

Pack Page 175



 

99120273.1\kp07                26  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Processor  has the definition in, and shall be interpreted in 

accordance with, the Data Protection Legislation  

Processing  has the definition in, and shall be interpreted in 

accordance with,  the Data Protection Legislation, and 

the term "Process" and shall be construed accordingly  

Profit Payment  the loss of profit suffered by the Operator Partner as a 

result of termination of this Agreement pursuant to 

Clause 39 (Voluntary termination by the Authority) or 

Clause 43 (Termination on Authority Default) for the 

period of 12 months from the date of termination or the 

period to the Expiry Date (whichever is shorter) (as 

shown at Schedule 23 (LOBTA)), subject to a cap of 

£300,000  

Programmed 

Maintenance  
the maintenance work and lifecycle replacement which 

the Operator Partner is to carry out in accordance with 

the Schedule of Programmed Maintenance  

Programmed  

Maintenance  

Information  

has the meaning given to it in Clause 14.11  

Prohibited Act  (a) to directly or indirectly offer, promise or give any 

person working for or engaged by the Authority 

a financial or other advantage to:  

(i) induce that person to perform improperly 

a relevant function or  

activity; or   

(ii) reward  that  person  for 

 improper performance of a relevant 

function or  

activity;  

(b)  to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or 

accept any financial or other advantage as an 

inducement or a reward for improper performance of a 

relevant function or activity in connection with this 

Agreement; (c)  an offence:   

(i) under the Bribery Act 2010 (or any 

legislation repealed or revoked by such 

Act);  

(ii) under  legislation  or  common 

 law  

concerning fraudulent acts; or  

Pack Page 176



 

99120273.1\kp07                27  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(iii) defrauding, attempting to defraud or 

conspiring to defraud the Authority; or  

(d) any activity, practice or conduct which would 

constitute one of the offences listed under (c) 

above if such activity, practice or conduct had 

been carried out in the UK  

Project Data  (a) all Design Data; and  

(b) any other materials, documents or data  

acquired, brought into existence or used in 
relation to the Services or this Agreement,  

in each case that is used by or on behalf of the Operator 

Partner and/or its sub-contractors in connection with the 

provision of the Services or the performance of the 

Operator Partner's obligations under this Agreement  

Project Documents  the documents listed in Part 1 of Schedule 11 (Project 

Documents and Ancillary Documents)  

Proposed Workforce   has the meaning given to in in Clause 59.7  

Protected  

Characteristics  

has the meaning given to it in Part 2, Chapter 1 of the 

Equality Act 2010  

PCR  the Public Contacts Regulations 2015  

Qualification Criteria  the criteria that the Authority requires tenderers to meet 

as part of the Retendering Process, which (subject to 

compliance with the procurement regulations) shall be:  

(a) the Retendered Contract terms;  

(b) tenderers should have the financial ability to 

deliver the Services for the price tendered;  

(c) tenderer is experienced in providing the  

Services or similar services;   

(d) the  technical  solution  proposed  by 

 the tenderers is capable of delivery and the 

tenderer is technically capable of delivery of the 

Services; and  

(e) any other tender criteria agreed by the Authority 

and the Operator Partner  

 

Pack Page 177



 

99120273.1\kp07                28  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Qualifying Change in 

Law  

means:  

(a) a Discriminatory Change in Law;  

(b) a Specific Change in Law;  

(c) a General Change in Law, which involves  

Capital Expenditure; and  

(d) which  was  not  foreseeable  at 

 the Commencement Date  

Quest  the UK Quality Scheme for Sport and Leisure of the 

same name (supported by, inter alia, Sport England) or 

any successor scheme thereto that is supported by Sport 

England (or its successors)  

Recipient  has the meaning given to it in Clause 36.19  

Redundancy Costs  those amounts owed and payable to an employee by a 

statutory and/or contractual entitlement as a result of a 

redundancy situation  

Referral Notice  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70.5  

Referring Party  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70.3  

Relevant Authority  any court with the relevant jurisdiction and any local, 

national or supra-national agency, inspectorate, 

minister, ministry, official or public or statutory person of 

the government of the United Kingdom or of the 

European Union  

Relevant Employees  the employees who are the subject of a Relevant 

Transfer, which may include Transferring Employees  

Relevant Event  an Authority Change, Qualifying Change in Law, 
Compensation Event, step-in without Operator Partner 
breach pursuant to Clause 18.5 or other matter as a 
result of which there may be an adjustment to the  
Annual Payment in accordance with Clause 37  

(Financial Adjustments)  

Relevant Payment  has the meaning given to it in Clause 35.4  

Relevant  

Requirements  
all applicable Law relating to bribery, corruption and 

fraud, including the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance 

issued by the Secretary of State for Justice pursuant to 

section 9 of the Bribery Act 2010  

Relevant Tax  HMRC, or, if applicable, a tax authority in the  

 

Pack Page 178



 

99120273.1\kp07                29  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Authority  jurisdiction in which the Operator is established  

Relevant Transfer  a relevant transfer for the purposes of TUPE  

Relief Event  any of the following:  

(a)  fire, explosion, lightning, storm, tempest, flood, 

bursting or overflowing of water tanks, apparatus 

or pipes, ionising radiation (to the extent it does 

not constitute a Force Majeure Event), 

earthquakes, riot and civil commotion;  

 (b)  failure by any statutory undertaker, utility 

company, local authority or other like body to 

carry out works or provide services;  

 (c)  any accidental loss or damage to the Sites or any 

roads servicing them;  

 (d)  any failure or shortage of power, fuel or 

transport;  

 (e)  any blockade or embargo which does not 

constitute a Force Majeure Event;  

 (f)  

any:  

(i) official or unofficial strike;  

(ii) lockout;   

(iii) go-slow; or (iv) other dispute,  

generally affecting the facilities management 
industry or a significant sector of the local 
authority leisure management industry in the 
United Kingdom but not including industrial 
action specific to the Sites or industrial action 
which affects only the employees of the  
Operator Partner or its Sub-Contractors,   

unless any of the events listed above arises (directly or 

indirectly) as a result of any wilful default or wilful act of 

the Operator Partner or any of its Sub-Contractors  

Replies to Enquiries  the matters set out in Part 3 of Schedule 12 (Title 

Matters)  

Representative  the Authority's Representative or the Operator Partner's  

Representative (as appropriate)  

Pack Page 179



 

99120273.1\kp07                30  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Request for Information  shall have the meaning set out in the FOIA or the 

Environmental Information Regulations as relevant 

(where the meaning set out for the term "request" shall 

apply)  

Required Action  has the meaning given to it in Clause 18.3  

Required Standard  has the meaning given to it in Clause 52.3.1  

Responding Party  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70.5  

Response  has the meaning given to it in Clause 70.6  

Retendered Annual 

Payment  

has the meaning given to it in Clause 46.1.7   

Retendered Contract  an agreement entered into following the Retendering 
Process with a replacement contractor on substantially 
similar terms and conditions as and which are no more 
onerous as regards the Operator Partner than this 
Agreement and the Head Leases at the Termination 
Date, but with the following amendments:  

(a) any accrued Performance Failures and/or 
Performance Adjustments and/or warning 
notices issued pursuant to Clause 41 
(Termination for Persistent Breach by the 
Operator Partner) shall, for the purposes of 
termination only, and without prejudice to the 
rights of the Authority to make financial 
adjustments, be cancelled;   

(b) the term of such agreements shall be equal to 
the term from the Termination Date to the Expiry 
Date; and  

(c) any other amendments which do not adversely 

affect the Operator Partner  

Retendering Costs  the reasonable and proper costs of the Authority 

incurred in carrying out the Retendering Process  

Retendering Process  shall  have  the  meaning  given  in  Clause  46  

(Retendering Process)  

Retention Fund Account  
has the meaning given to it in Clause 52.5  

Returning Employees  those employees wholly or mainly engaged in the 

provision of the Services as the case may be as  

Pack Page 180



 

99120273.1\kp07                31  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

immediately before the Return Date(s) whose 

employment transfers to the Authority or a Future  

Operator Partner pursuant to TUPE  

Revenue  the revenue or income received by the Operator Partner, 

[the Leisure Operator] (or where relevant would have 

been received but for the occurrence of a Relevant Event 

or Loss of Revenue Event) from Users of the relevant 

Facility for the provision of the Leisure Services at the 

relevant Facility  

Review Procedure  
the procedure set out in Schedule 7 (Review Procedure)  

Schedule of  

Programmed  

Maintenance  

the Operator Partner's annual programme for the 

maintenance of each  Facility to satisfy the Services 

Specification which includes the Lifecycle Schedule  

Serious Performance  

Failure  
any Performance Failure which, in the reasonable opinion 
of the Council results, or may result, in:  

(a) any health and safety or similar risk to any 

person;  

(b) damage to the reputation of the Council; or  

(c) the investment of management time by the 

Council in seeking to resolve the issue including 

(but not limited to) where the Performance 

Failure has generated complaints from any 

stakeholder  

Service  

Commencement Date  

1 April 2021  

Service Delivery 

Proposals  
the proposals for the method of providing the Services to 

satisfy the Services Specification set out in Schedule 2 

(Service Delivery Proposals)  

Service Standards  the standards required by the Authority in relation to the 

Operator Partner's performance of the Services as set 

out in Schedule 5 Payment & Performance Monitoring 

System  

Service Transfer Date  the transfer on a date agreed by the parties to the 

Operator Partner of responsibility for provision of (or 

procuring the provision by Sub-Contractors of) the 

Services in accordance with this Agreement  

Services  the  services  required  to  satisfy  the  Services  

Specification  

 

Pack Page 181



 

99120273.1\kp07                32  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Services Media  all pipes, sewers, drains, mains, ducts, conduits, gutters, 

water courses, wires, cables, meters, switches, 

channels, flues and all other conducting media, 

appliances and apparatus including any fixtures, louvres, 

cowls and other ancillary apparatus  

Services Specification  the specification contained in Schedule 1 (Services 

Specification)  

Shareholder  any person from time to time holding share capital in the 

Operator Partner [or Holdco]  

Site Conditions  the conditions of the Sites including (but not limited to) 

climatic, hydrological, hydrogeological, ecological, 

environmental, geotechnical and archaeological 

conditions  

Site Plans  the plans of the Sites set out in Schedule 4 (Site Plans)  

Sites  the area edged red on the relevant Site Plan for each 

Facility together with the Buildings and the service ducts 

and media for all utilities and services serving the 

Buildings  

Specific Change in Law  any Change in Law which specifically refers to the 

operation and maintenance of premises for the provision 

of a service the same as or similar to the Services or to 

the holding of shares in companies whose main business 

is the operation and maintenance of premises for the 

provision of services the same as or similar to the 

Services  

Sport England  Sport England (or its successors) of First Floor, 21 

Bloomsbury Street, London WC1B 3HF  

Sport England Guidance  the guidance adopted and published by Sport England 

at the Commencement Date together with any changes 

in such guidance which were reasonably foreseeable at 

the Commencement Date  

Sub-Contractor  
each of [the FM Contractor and the Leisure Operator] or 
any other person engaged by the Operator Partner from 
time to time as may be permitted by this Agreement to 
procure the provision of the Services (or any of them). 
References to sub-contractors means sub-contractors  
(of any tier) of the Operator Partner  

Sub-Contractor 

Breakage Costs  
Losses that have been or will be reasonably and properly 

incurred by the Operator Partner as a direct result of the 

termination of this Agreement, but only to  

the extent that:  

Pack Page 182



 

99120273.1\kp07                33  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(a) the Losses are incurred in connection with the 

provision of Services, including:  

  (i) any materials or goods ordered or 

subcontracts  placed  that 
 cannot  be cancelled without 

such Losses being incurred;  

(ii) expenditure incurred in anticipation of 
the provision of Services in the future;  

(iii) the cost of demobilisation including the 
cost of any relocation of equipment 
used in connection with the Services; 
and  

(iv) redundancy payments  

 (b)  the Losses are incurred under arrangements 

and/or agreements that are consistent with 

terms that have been entered into in the ordinary 

course of business and on reasonable 

commercial terms;   

 (c)  the Operator Partner and the relevant 
SubContractor has each used its reasonable  
endeavours to mitigate the Losses; and  

 (d)  the Losses do not include any element of Profit 

Payment  

Sub-Contracts  the contracts entered into between the Operator Partner 

and the Sub-Contractors  

Submitted Item  has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.2 of Schedule 

7 (Review Procedure)  

Subsidiary  has the meaning given to it in Section 1159 of the 

Companies Act 2006  

Suitable Third Party  any person who is not an Unsuitable Third Party  

Supplier  has the meaning given to it in Clause 36.19   

Surplus Annual 

Payment  

the Annual Payment where it is a positive number  

Tax  any kind of tax, duty, levy or other charge (other than 

VAT) whether or not similar to any in force at the 

Commencement Date and whether imposed by a local,  

governmental or other Relevant Authority in the United 

Kingdom or elsewhere  

Pack Page 183



 

99120273.1\kp07                34  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Termination Date  the date of early termination of this Agreement in 

accordance with its terms  

Termination Notice  a written notice of termination given by one party to the 

other, notifying the party receiving the notice of the 

intention of the party giving notice to terminate this 

Agreement on a specified date and setting out the 

grounds for termination  

Termination Sum  any compensation payable by the Authority to the 
Operator Partner or the Operator Partner to the Authority 
on an early termination of this Agreement under Clauses 
44 (Compensation on Termination for Authority 
Default/Voluntary Termination), 45  
(Compensation on Termination for Operator Partner  

Default and Corrupt Gifts and Fraud) and 47  

(Compensation on Termination for Force Majeure)  

Third Party Claim  has the meaning given to it in Clause 31.5   

Transferring Employees  those employees of the Existing Operator Partner that 

are likely to, or will, be subject to a Relevant Transfer to 

the Operator Partner on the Service Transfer Date by 

way of TUPE  

Transferring Original  

Employee  
a former employee of the Authority who was employed in 
connection with the provision of the Services:  

(a) who became an employee of someone other 
than the Authority pursuant to an agreement, to 
which the TUPE applied; between the Authority 
and a service provider in respect of the provision 
of the Services;  

(b) whose contract of employment on each occasion 
when an intervening contract was carried out in 
respect of the provision of the Services,  
transferred to another third party service 
provider; and  

(c) whose contract of employment transfers under 

this Agreement to the Operator Partner or a Sub-

Contractor  

TUPE   the Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) 

Regulations 2006 (246/2006) as amended and/or any 

other Regulations enacted for the purpose of  

implementing the Directive into English law  

[Underlease  the underleases relating to the Sites to be granted by the 

Operator Partner to the Leisure Operator in the Agreed 

Form]  

Pack Page 184



 

99120273.1\kp07                35  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Uninsurable  in relation to a risk, either that:  

(a) insurance is not available to the Operator 
Partner in respect of the Services in the 
worldwide insurance market with reputable 
insurers of good standing in respect of that risk; 
or  

(b) the insurance premium payable for insuring that 

risk is at such a level that the risk is not 

generally  being  insured  against  in 

 the worldwide insurance market with 

reputable insurers of good standing by 

contractors in the United Kingdom  

Uninsured Losses  
losses arising from any risks against which the Operator 
Partner or any Operator Partner Related Party does not 
maintain insurance (where not required to maintain 
insurance for such risk under this Agreement or by law), 
provided that neither:  

(d) the amount of any losses that would otherwise 
be recoverable under any Operator Partner 
Insurance but for the applicable uninsured 
deductible in respect of such insurance; nor  

(e) any exclusion of loss of insurance proceeds 
caused by or contributed to by any act or 
omission of the Operator Partner or any 
Operator Partner Related Party  

shall be treated as Uninsured Loss  

Unsuitable Third Party  any person:  

(a) who has a material interest in the production, 

distribution or sale of tobacco products, 

alcoholic drinks and/or pornography;  

(b) whose activities are, in the reasonable opinion 

of the Authority, incompatible with the provision 

of leisure services in the area; or  

(c) whose activities, in the reasonable opinion of 

the Authority, pose or could pose a threat to  

national security  

Users  those persons who use, or are entitled to use (whether 

they have done so or not) the Facilities and/or any or all 

of the Services from time to time  

Pack Page 185



 

99120273.1\kp07                36  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Utilities  each of natural gas, fuel oil, electricity, water and other 

utilities that may be required in order to provide the 

Services at the Facilities  

VAT  value added tax at the rate prevailing at the time of the 

relevant supply charged in accordance with the 

provisions of the Value Added Tax Act 1994  

Warranted Data  the information relating to the Operator Partner and its 

Affiliates contained in Schedule 10 (Warranted Data)  

Zone  has the meaning set out in Schedule 5 (PPM).  

1.2  INTERPRETATION  

In this Agreement except where the context otherwise requires:  

1.2.1 masculine includes the feminine and vice-versa;  

1.2.2 the singular includes the plural and vice versa;  

1.2.3 a reference to any Clause, sub-Clause, paragraph, Schedule, recital or 

annex is, except where expressly stated to the contrary, a reference to such 

Clause, sub-Clause, paragraph, Schedule, recital or annex of and to this 

Agreement;  

1.2.4 save where stated to the contrary, any reference to this Agreement or to any 

other document shall include any permitted variation, amendment or 

supplement to such document;  

1.2.5 any reference to any enactment, order, regulation or other similar instrument 

shall be construed as a reference to the enactment, order, regulation or 

instrument as amended, replaced, consolidated or reenacted;  

1.2.6 a reference to a person includes firms, partnerships and corporations and 

their successors and permitted assignees or transferees;  

1.2.7 headings are for convenience of reference only;  

1.2.8 words preceding "include", "includes", "including" and "included" shall be 

construed without limitation by the words which follow those words; and  

1.2.9 unless expressly stated to the contractor, obligations of either Party under 

this Agreement, or actions taken by the Parties pursuant to this Agreement, 

shall be performed at that Party’s own cost.   

Schedules  

1.3 The Schedules to this Agreement form part of this Agreement.  

Indexation  

Pack Page 186



 

99120273.1\kp07                37  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

1.4 Unless expressly stated otherwise, references to amounts or sums expressed to be 

“indexed” are references to amounts or sums in August 2021 (Base Date) prices 

which will be adjusted whenever the provision containing the amount or sum is given 

effect in accordance with this Agreement to reflect the effects of inflation after that 

date. The adjustment shall be measured on the relevant calculation date (which 

unless expressly provided to the contrary shall be 1 April 2022 and each anniversary 

thereof) by changes in the Index from the Base Date as calculated in accordance 

with the following formula:  

 Amount or sum in Base Date prices x  Indexd  

   Index0  

Where Indexd is the value of the Index published or determined with respect to the 

month falling two months prior to the relevant calculation date and Index0 is the value 

of the Index on the Base Date.    

Precedence of Documentation  

1.5 In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the body of this 

Agreement and the Schedules, or between the Schedules, the inconsistency shall 

be resolved according to the following descending order of priority:  

1.5.1 the Clauses of this Agreement and Schedule 5 (PPM), Schedule 7 (Review 

Procedure), Schedule 15 (NNDR), Schedule 17 (Benchmarking), Schedule 

17 (Surplus Share), and Schedule 22 (Change Protocol);  

1.5.2 Schedule 1 (Services Specification);  

1.5.3 the Schedules (excluding the Schedules referred to above and Schedule 2 

(Service Delivery Proposals); and  

1.5.4 Schedule 2 (Service Delivery Proposals).  

Responsibility for Related Parties  

1.6 Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the Operator Partner shall be 

responsible as against the Authority for the acts and omissions of the Operator 

Partner Related Parties as if they were the acts and omissions of the Operator 

Partner and the Authority shall be responsible as against the Operator Partner for 

the acts and omissions of the Authority Related Parties as if they were the acts and 

omissions of the Authority.  The Operator Partner shall, as between itself and the 

Authority, be responsible for the selection of and pricing by all Operator Partner 

Related Parties.  

Approval  

1.7 Neither the giving of any approval, consent, examination, acknowledgement, 

knowledge of the terms of any agreement or document nor the review of any 

document or course of action by or on behalf of the Authority, nor the failure of the 

same, shall unless otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement, relieve the 

Operator Partner of any of its obligations under the Project Documents or of any 

Pack Page 187



 

99120273.1\kp07                38  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

duty which it may have hereunder  to ensure the correctness, accuracy or suitability 

of the matter or thing which is the subject of the approval, consent, examination, 

acknowledgement or knowledge.  

Succession  

1.8 References to a public organisation (other than the Authority) shall be deemed to 

include a reference to any successor to such public organisation or any organisation 

or entity which has taken over either or both the functions and responsibilities of 

such public organisation.  References to other persons (other than the Authority) 

shall include their successors and assignees.  

2.  COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION  

2.1 Subject to Clause 2.2, this Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties shall 

come into force on the date of this Agreement and (subject to the provisions for early 

termination set out in this Agreement) shall continue until the Expiry Date.  

2.2 The Expiry Date may be extended by a single period of five years by agreement between 

the parties.  

3.  COLLATERAL WARRANTIES, SURVEYS AND GUARANTEES  

3.1  The Operator Partner shall:  

 3.1.1  on or before the Commencement Date deliver to the Authority:  

(a) the Collateral Warranties from the Leisure Operator and the FM 

Contractor to the Authority;  

(b) certified copies of the Ancillary Documents; and  

(c) [deliver to the Authority the Parent Company Guarantee/Bond on or 

before the Commencement Date]; and  

3.1.2 not engage any new Leisure Operator or FM Contractor in connection with this 

Agreement unless such person has delivered to the Authority a duly 

executed agreement substantially in the Agreed Form of the relevant 

Collateral Warranty and in each case such Collateral Warranties must be 

delivered to the Authority before such entity enters onto any Site.  

4.  GENERAL WARRANTIES  

Operator Partner Warranties  

4.1  The Operator Partner warrants and represents to the Authority that on the date 

hereof:  

4.1.1 it is properly constituted and incorporated under the laws of England and 

Wales and has the corporate power to own its assets and to carry on its 

business as it is now being conducted;  

Pack Page 188



 

99120273.1\kp07                39  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

 4.1.2  it has full capacity and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement;  

 4.1.3  this Agreement is executed by its duly authorised representative;  

4.1.4  it has all necessary consents and regulatory approvals to enter into this 

Agreement;   

4.1.5 the execution, delivery and performance of its obligations under this 

Agreement does not contravene any provision of:  

(a) any existing Legislation either in force, or enacted but not yet in 

force binding on the Operator Partner;  

(b) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Operator 

Partner;  

(c) any order or decree of any court or arbitrator which is binding on the 

Operator Partner; or  

(d) any obligation which is binding upon the Operator Partner or upon 

any of its assets or revenues;  

 4.1.6  the Warranted Data is true and accurate in all respects;  

4.1.7 there are no actions, suits or proceedings or regulatory investigations before 

any court or administrative body or arbitration tribunal pending or, to its 

knowledge, threatened against it that might affect its ability to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement;   

4.1.8 it has notified the Authority in writing of any Occasions of Tax NonCompliance 

and any litigation in which it is involved that is in connection with any 

Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance;   

4.1.9 it is not the subject of any other obligation, compliance with which will or is 

likely to have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Operator Partner 

to perform its obligations under this Agreement;  

4.1.10 no proceedings or other steps have been taken and not discharged (nor, to 

the best of the knowledge of the Operator Partner, threatened) for its 

winding-up or dissolution or for the appointment of a receiver, 

administrative receiver, administrator, liquidator, trustee or similar officer in 

relation to any of its assets or revenues;  

4.1.11 each of the Ancillary Documents is or, when executed, will be in full force and 

effect and constitutes or, when executed, will to the extent permitted by law 

constitute the valid, binding and enforceable obligations of the parties 

thereto; and  

4.1.12 the copies of the Project Documents which the Operator Partner has 

delivered or, when executed, will deliver to the Authority are or, as the case 

may be, will be true and complete copies of such documents and there are 

Pack Page 189



 

99120273.1\kp07                40  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

not in existence any other agreements or documents replacing or relating to 

any of the Project Documents which would materially affect the 

interpretation or application of any of the Project Documents,   

and the Authority relies upon such warranties and representations.  

Operator Partner Undertakings  

4.2 The Operator Partner undertakes with the Authority that for so long as this Agreement 

remains in full force:  

4.2.1 it will upon becoming aware that any litigation, arbitration, administrative or 

adjudication or mediation proceedings before or of any court, arbitrator or 

Relevant Authority may be threatened or pending and immediately after the 

commencement thereof (or within twenty (20) Business Days of becoming 

aware the same may be threatened or pending or within twenty (20) 

Business Days after the commencement thereof where the litigation or 

arbitration or administrative or adjudication or mediation proceedings is 

against a Sub-Contractor) give the Authority notice of all such litigation, 

arbitration, administrative or adjudication or mediation proceedings which 

would adversely affect, to an extent which is material in the context of this 

Agreement, the Operator Partner's ability to perform its obligations under 

this Agreement;  

4.2.2 it will not without the prior written consent of the Authority (and whether by a 

single transaction or by a series of transactions whether related or not) sell, 

transfer, lend or otherwise dispose of (other than by way of security) the 

whole or any part of its business or assets which would materially affect the 

ability of the Operator Partner to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement;  

4.2.3 it will not cease to be resident in the United Kingdom or transfer in whole or in 

part its undertaking, business or trade outside the United Kingdom; and  

4.2.4 it will not undertake the performance of its obligations under this Agreement 

for the provision of the Services otherwise than through itself or a Sub-

Contractor.   

Status of Warranties  

4.3 All warranties, representations, undertakings, indemnities and other obligations made, 

given or undertaken by the Operator Partner in this Agreement are cumulative and 

none shall be given a limited construction by reference to any other.  

5.  AUTHORITY WARRANTIES  

No Warranty by Authority  

5.1 Subject to Clause 5.3, Clause 5.4 the Authority does not give any warranty or 

undertaking as to the relevance, completeness, accuracy or fitness for any purpose 

of any of the Disclosed Data.  

Pack Page 190



 

99120273.1\kp07                41  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

No Liability to Operator Partner  

5.2 Subject to Clause 5.3 and Clause 5.4 neither the Authority nor any of its agents or 

employees shall be liable to the Operator Partner in contract, tort (including 

negligence or breach of statutory duty), statute or otherwise as a result of:   

5.2.1 any inaccuracy, omission, unfitness for any purpose or inadequacy of any kind 

whatsoever in the Disclosed Data; or  

5.2.2 any failure to make available to the Operator Partner any materials, 

documents, drawings, plans or other information relating to this Agreement.  

Fraudulent Statements  

5.3  Nothing in this Clause 5 (Authority Warranties) shall exclude any liability which the  

Authority or any of its agents or employees would otherwise have to the Operator 

Partner in respect of any statements made fraudulently prior to the Commencement 

Date.  

Authority Title Warranty  

5.4 The Authority warrants to the Operator Partner on the terms set out in Part 1 of Schedule 

12 (Title Matters), provided that no inaccuracies or omissions in such information 

shall be capable of giving rise to an Authority Default.  

Operator Partner's Due Diligence  

5.5  The Operator Partner shall, subject to the terms of this Agreement, be deemed to 

have:  

5.5.1 satisfied itself as to the assets to which it will acquire rights and the nature and 

extent of the risks assumed by it under this Agreement; and  

5.5.2 gathered all information necessary to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement and other obligations assumed including:  

(a) information as to the nature, location and condition of the  

Facilities;  

(b) information relating to areas of natural interest, local conditions and 

facilities in the Facilities and the quality of existing structures 

forming part of each Facility;   

(c) any other risk or contingency that affects the performance of the 

Services and/or affects the performance of the Operator Partner's 

obligations under this Agreement; and (d) [other relevant 

information].  

No Relief  

Pack Page 191



 

99120273.1\kp07                42  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

5.6 Subject to Clause 5.3 and Clause 5.4 the Operator Partner shall not in any way be 

relieved from any obligation under this Agreement nor shall it be entitled to claim 

against the Authority on grounds that any information, whether obtained from the 

Authority or otherwise (including information made available by the Authority), is 

incorrect or insufficient and shall make its own enquiries as to the accuracy and 

adequacy of that information.  

Operator Partner acknowledgement  

5.7 The Operator Partner hereby acknowledges and agrees that it has been provided 

with copies of all of the Disclosed Title Matters, Replies to Enquiries and Disclosed 

Searches listed in Part 2, Part 3 and Part 4 of Schedule 12 (Title Matters) and that 

all such matters that are disclosed within the Disclosed Title Matters, Replies to 

Enquiries and Disclosed Searches are disclosed against the warranties set out in 

Part 1 of Schedule 12 (Title Matters).  

6.  DOCUMENTS  

Ancillary Documents  

6.1 The Operator Partner shall perform its obligations under, and observe all of the 

provisions of, the Ancillary Documents and shall not:  

6.1.1  terminate or agree to the termination of all or part of any Ancillary Document;  

 6.1.2  make or agree to any material variation of any Ancillary Document;  

6.1.3 in any material respect depart from its obligations (or waive or allow to lapse 

any rights it may have in a material respect), or procure that others in any 

material respect depart from their obligations (or waive or allow to lapse any 

rights they may have in a material respect), under any Ancillary Document; 

or  

6.1.4 enter into (or permit the entry into by any other person of) any agreement 

replacing all or part of (or otherwise materially and adversely affecting the 

interpretation of) any Ancillary Document,  

unless the proposed course of action (and any relevant documentation) has been 

submitted to the Authority's Representative for review under the Review Procedure 

and there has been no objection in accordance with paragraph 3 of the Review 

Procedure within twenty (20) Business Days of receipt by the Authority's 

Representative of the submission of the proposed course of action (and any relevant 

documentation), or such shorter period as may be agreed by the parties, and, in the 

circumstances specified in Clause 6.1.1, the Operator Partner has complied with 

Clauses 61 (Assignment and Sub-Contracting) and 0 (Change in Ownership).  

Delivery of Changed Ancillary Documents  

6.2 Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 6.1, if at any time an amendment is made 

to any Ancillary Document, or the Operator Partner enters into a new Ancillary 

Document (or any agreement which affects the interpretation or application of any 

Pack Page 192



 

99120273.1\kp07                43  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Ancillary Document), the Operator Partner shall deliver to the Authority a conformed 

copy of each such amendment or agreement within ten (10) Business Days of the 

date of its execution or creation (as the case may be), certified as a true copy by an 

officer of the Operator Partner.  

     

Pack Page 193



 

99120273.1\kp07                44  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 2 - LAND AND SITE MATTERS  

7.  NATURE OF LAND INTERESTS  

Grant of the Head Lease  

7.1 On or before the Commencement Date the Authority shall grant to the Operator Partner, 

and the Operator Partner shall accept, the Head Lease for the Sites.  

Exclusion of Security of Tenure for the Head Lease  

7.2 The Operator Partner hereby confirms that before it became contractually bound to enter 

into the tenancy created by the Head Lease pursuant to this Agreement:  

 7.2.1  the Authority served on the Operator Partner a notice dated  

[                    ] day of [                    ] in relation to the tenancy created by 

the Head Lease (Head Lease Notice) in a form complying with the 

requirements of Schedule 1 to the Regulatory Reform (Business 

Tenancies) (England and Wales) Order 2003 (Order);  

7.2.2 the Operator Partner, or a person duly authorised by the Operator Partner, in 

relation to the Head Lease Notice made a statutory declaration (Head 

Lease Declaration) dated [                    ] day of [                    ] in a form 

complying with the requirements of Schedule 2 of the Order;  

7.2.3 the Operator Partner further confirms that, where the Head Lease Declaration 

was made by a person other than the Operator Partner, the declarant was 

duly authorised by the Operator Partner to make the Head Lease 

Declaration on the Operator Partner's behalf; and  

7.2.4 the Authority and the Operator Partner agree to exclude the provisions of 

sections 24 to 28 (inclusive) of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 in 

relation to the tenancy created by the Head Lease.  

Grant of the Head Lease  

7.3 The grant of the Head Leases shall take place at the offices of the Authority's solicitors 

[DETAILS TO BE INSERTED].  The term of the Head Lease relating to the Facilities 

shall commence on the Commencement Date.  

Registration  

7.4 The Operator Partner shall apply for, and procure, registration of the Head Leases at the 

Land Registry as soon as reasonably practicable after the relevant Head Lease is 

completed. The Authority shall use all reasonable endeavours to assist the Operator 

Partner in responding to any proper requisitions raised by the Land Registry of such 

documents that are in the Authority's possession relating to the freehold reversion 

as the Land Registry may request.  

Early Termination  

Pack Page 194



 

99120273.1\kp07                45  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

7.5 If this Agreement is terminated for any reason prior to the Expiry Date, the Head Leases 

shall automatically cease and determine with effect from the date of termination of 

this Agreement (or, if not granted at the time, the obligation to grant the Head Leases 

shall automatically cease to apply).  Where the Head Leases have been entered 

into, the Operator Partner shall forthwith deliver to the Authority the Head Leases 

together with all relevant title deeds, releases from any charge and a direction to the 

Chief Land Registrar to cancel the registered titles relating to the Head Leases.  The 

Operator Partner shall take all steps as may be proper and reasonable to cancel or 

assist in the cancellation of all entries at the Land Registry and the Land Charges 

Registry in relation to the Head Leases.   

No Compensation  

7.6 The Operator Partner shall not be entitled to any compensation in respect of any 

variation of the terms of the Head Leases or the unexpired part of its interest as 

tenant under the Head Leases on assignment or surrender or automatic 

determination in accordance with this Clause.  

Compliance with Disclosed Title Matters  

7.7  The Operator Partner shall without prejudice to Clause 5.4 procure that:  

7.7.1 the provision of the Services at the Sites by or on behalf of the Operator 

Partner shall be carried out in a manner which does not breach any 

provisions of the Disclosed Title Matters relating to the Sites or the 

Facilities; and  

7.7.2 in providing the Services at the Sites, there shall be no action, or omission to 

act by the Operator Partner or any Operator Partner Related Party, which 

shall give rise to a right for any person to obtain title to or any right or 

interest over the Sites or any part of them (save in accordance with the 

terms of this Agreement).  

Compliance with Head Lease  

7.8 The Authority and the Operator Partner shall comply with their respective obligations in 

the Head Leases.  

[Grant of Underlease[s]  

7.9 The Authority hereby agrees to the grant by the Operator Partner to the Leisure Operator 

of the Underlease[s]].  

8.  THE SITES  

Access  

8.1 Subject to the other terms of this Agreement if at any time the Operator Partner requires 

access to the Sites or any interest in any land which does not form part of the Sites 

or any additional rights beyond those which the Operator Partner has in  

Pack Page 195



 

99120273.1\kp07                46  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

relation to any part of the Sites, the responsibility and cost of securing or acquiring 

such access or interest shall be entirely the responsibility of the Operator Partner.  

Site Matters  

8.2 Subject to the other terms of this Agreement, the Site Conditions shall be the sole 

responsibility of the Operator Partner and accordingly (but without prejudice to any 

other obligation of the Operator Partner under this Agreement) the Operator Partner 

shall be deemed to have:  

8.2.1 inspected and examined the Sites and their surroundings and (where 

applicable) any existing structures on the Sites;  

8.2.2 satisfied itself as to the nature of the Site Conditions, the form and nature of 

the Sites, the risk of injury or damage to property affecting the Sites, and 

the nature of the works, labour and materials necessary for the execution 

of the Services;  

8.2.3 satisfied itself as to the adequacy of the means and rights of access to and 

through the Sites and any accommodation it may require for the purposes 

of fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement (such as additional land or 

buildings outside the Sites);  

8.2.4 satisfied itself as to the possibility of interference by persons of any description 

whatsoever (other than the Authority) with access to or use of, or rights in 

respect of, the Sites with particular regard to the owners of any land 

adjacent to the Sites; and  

8.2.5 satisfied itself as to the precautions, times and methods of working necessary 

to prevent any nuisance or interference, whether public or private, being 

caused to third parties.  

8.3 Subject to the other terms of this Agreement, the Operator Partner accepts full 

responsibility for all matters referred to in Clause 8.2.  

8.4 Subject to Clause 8.6, the Authority shall be responsible for unforeseen ground 

conditions and/or Contamination existing in any parts of the Sites.  

8.5 Where pursuant to Clauses 8.4 the Authority is responsible for any of the matters 

referred to in that clause the following provisions shall apply:  

8.5.1 such matter shall be deemed to be a Relief Event and no Performance will 

accrue and no Performance Adjustments may be made in respect of the 

relevant Zone pursuant to Schedule 5 (PPM) and any work or change to 

the Services or to the operation of the affected Facility or part thereof as a 

result or which is required or instructed to be done in consequence of it, 

shall be deemed to be an Authority Change; and  

8.5.2 where any such matter is Contamination the Authority shall further hold the 

Operator Partner harmless from cleaning up and otherwise dealing with 

such Contamination and shall indemnify the Operator Partner in  

Pack Page 196



 

99120273.1\kp07                47  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

respect of all Direct Losses incurred by the Operator Partner resulting from 

such Contamination,  

and the Operator Partner shall in carrying out any works referred to in Clause 8.5.2 

do so in accordance with and so that it shall at all times comply with its obligations 

under this Agreement including (without limitation) complying with Good Industry 

Practice, any applicable Legislation and any Necessary Consents, orders, notices 

or directions of any regulatory body (whether made against the Authority or the 

Operator Partner).  

8.6 Subject to Clause 8.7, to the extent that any part(s) of the Sites suffer from or are affected 

by Contamination arising from a source off Site (whether or not on adjacent land) 

the Operator Partner shall be responsible for cleaning up or otherwise dealing with 

such Contamination and for preventing the reoccurrence of such Contamination on 

the Site and then the following provisions shall apply:  

8.6.1 such matter shall be deemed to be a Relief Event and no Performance Failures 

will be deemed to occur and no Performance Adjustments may be made 

in respect of the relevant Zone pursuant to Schedule 5 (PPM) for a 

reasonable period (to be agreed between the parties acting reasonably) 

and any work or change to the Services required or instructed to be done 

in consequence of it, shall be the Operator Partner's responsibility and 

shall not constitute an Authority Change;  

 8.6.2  the Operator Partner shall:  

(a) clean up, or otherwise deal with, such Contamination, and take 

steps reasonably necessary to prevent the recurrence of the same, 

all in accordance with Good Industry Practice, all relevant 

Necessary Consents and Legislation; and  

(b) other than where Clause 8.6.3(b) applies and subject to Clause 8.7 

hold the Authority harmless from, and indemnify the Authority in 

respect of, all Direct Losses incurred by the Authority resulting from 

such Contamination; and  

8.6.3 the Authority shall, but only to the extent that the Operator Partner is able to 

demonstrate to the Authority that it does not have the right to take action 

against third parties in its own name to recover the losses suffered or 

incurred by the Operator Partner in cleaning up or otherwise dealing with 

such Contamination, at the Authority's option either:  

(a) take such action against third parties in its own name as the 

Operator Partner may (acting reasonably) direct; or  

(b) permit the Operator Partner to take such action in the name of the 

Authority at the Operator Partner's own expense in which case the 

provisions of Clauses 31.6 and 31.7 shall apply as if the Operator 

Partner were the Indemnifying Party and the Authority were the 

Pack Page 197



 

99120273.1\kp07                48  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Indemnified Party, except that the Operator Partner shall not pay or 

settle such claims without the prior consent of the Authority,  

subject to the Operator Partner indemnifying the Authority in respect of all 

costs properly and reasonably incurred by the Authority in respect of such 

action.  Where the Authority takes action under Clause 8.6.3(b) or 8.6.3(b) 

(or where it is otherwise obliged to take action against third parties in 

respect of such losses), the Authority shall be liable to the Operator Partner 

for all losses suffered or incurred by the Operator Partner as a result of its 

obligations under this Clause 8 (Site Matters) provided that the Operator 

Partner's entitlement in respect of any matter to which this Clause 8.6 

applies shall be limited to the amount recovered by or in the name of the 

Authority from the relevant third party in respect of the losses referred to 

in this Clause 8.6.  

8.7 The Operator Partner's responsibility and liability under Clause 8.6 shall be limited 

to the amount recovered by the Operator Partner from the third party responsible for 

the Contamination arising from the source off the Site subject to the Operator 

Partner having taken all reasonable steps (including as applicable the operation of 

Clause 8.6.3) to recover the losses suffered or incurred.  

No Warranty  

8.8 Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement the Operator Partner shall 

take the Sites in their state and condition in all respects as at the Commencement 

Date and nothing in this Agreement or otherwise shall constitute or imply a warranty 

by or on the part of the Authority as to the fitness and suitability of the Sites or any 

part thereof for the Services or for any other purpose.  

Third Party Rights  

8.9 The Operator Partner shall observe and comply with any third party rights (including 

public rights) which may exist from time to time in respect of land comprising and 

adjoining the Sites, and the Operator Partner shall ensure that the Services are 

carried out in such a way as not to interfere with access to and use and occupation 

of public or private roads or footpaths by any person who is entitled to any such 

access, use or occupation.  

9.  DEFECTS AND ASBESTOS  

Surveys  

9.1  The Authority shall provide to the Operator Partner on or before the Commencement 

Date:  

 9.1.1  the Buildings Surveys; and  

 9.1.2  the Asbestos Surveys.  

Defects  

Pack Page 198



 

99120273.1\kp07                49  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

9.2 The Operator Partner accepts, in relation to the Buildings, entire responsibility (including 

any financial and other consequences which result whether directly or indirectly) for:  

 9.2.1  any Defects identified in the Buildings Surveys; and  

 9.2.2  any Defects caused by the Operator Partner.  

9.3 The Authority accepts, in relation to the Buildings, entire responsibility for Defects which 

have not been identified in the Buildings Surveys (other than those referred to in 

Clause 9.2) and the discovery of any such Defects shall be deemed to be a Relief 

Event and no Performance Failures will be deemed to occur and no Performance 

Adjustments may be made in respect of the relevant Zone pursuant to Clause 

Schedule 5 (PPM) for the period during which the Defect subsists and/or in respect 

of which remedial works are being carried out and any work or change to the 

Services or to the operation of the affected Facility or part thereof as a result or 

which is required or instructed to be done in consequence of it, shall constitute an 

Authority Change.  

Asbestos Liability  

9.4 Subject to Clause 9.5 the Operator Partner accepts, in relation to the Buildings, full 

responsibility (including any financial and other consequences which result whether 

directly or indirectly) for any Asbestos identified in the Asbestos Surveys.  

9.5 The Authority accepts, in relation to the Buildings, full responsibility for Asbestos which 

has not been identified in the Asbestos Surveys and the discovery of any such 

Asbestos shall be deemed to be a Relief Event and no Performance Failures will 

accrue and no Performance Adjustments may be made in respect of any relevant 

Zone during which such Asbestos is subsisting and in respect of which removal or 

remedial works are being carried out and any work or change to the Services or to 

the operation of the affected Facility or part thereof as a result or which is required 

or instructed to be done in consequence of it, shall constitute an Authority Change.  

9.6 Unless the exposure arises directly or indirectly as a result of any negligent act or 

omission of the Operator Partner or any Operator Partner Related Party, the 

Authority accepts, in relation to the Buildings, full responsibility (including any 

financial and other consequences which result whether directly or indirectly) for 

death and personal injury in respect of exposure to Asbestos in such Buildings.  

10.  FOSSILS AND ANTIQUITIES  

10.1 As between the parties, all fossils, antiquities and other objects having artistic, historic 

or monetary value and human remains which may be found on or at the Sites are or 

shall become, upon discovery, the absolute property of the Authority.  

10.2 Upon the discovery of such item during the course of the Services, the Operator Partner 

shall:  

 10.2.1  immediately inform the Authority's Representative of such discovery;  

Pack Page 199



 

99120273.1\kp07                50  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

10.2.2 take all steps not to disturb the object and, if necessary, cease any Services 

insofar as the carrying out of such Services would endanger  

the object or prevent or impede its excavation; and  

10.2.3 take all necessary steps to preserve the object in the same position and 

condition in which it was found.  

10.3 The Authority shall procure that the Authority's Representative promptly, and in any 

event within ten (10) Business Days, issues an instruction to the Operator Partner 

specifying what action the Authority's Representative requires to be taken in relation 

to such discovery provided that if no such instruction is forthcoming within such 

period the Operator Partner may continue to carry out the Services.  

10.4 The Operator Partner shall promptly and diligently comply with any instruction issued 

by the Authority's Representative referred to in Clause 10.3 at its own cost (except 

and to the extent that such instruction constitutes an Authority Change pursuant to 

Clause 10.6 in which case the provisions of the Change Protocol shall apply).  

10.5 If directed by the Authority's Representative, the Operator Partner shall allow 

representatives of the Authority to enter the Sites for the purposes of removal or 

disposal of such discovery, provided that such entry shall be subject to the Authority 

complying with all relevant safety procedures, which shall include any relevant 

health and safety plans for the construction of the Facility from time to time and any 

reasonable directions with regard to site safety that may be issued by or on behalf 

of the Operator Partner's Representative from time to time.  

10.6  If any instruction referred to in Clause 10.3 includes a requirement for the Operator  

Partner to suspend the carrying out of the Services and/or to carry out works  

(being any work of alteration, addition, demolition or extension or variation in any 

Facility) which are not works which would be strictly necessary for the purpose of 

compliance with Legislation or any Necessary Consents, such works or instruction 

to suspend shall be deemed to be an Authority Change and the provisions of the 

Change Protocol shall apply.  

10.7 The Authority shall act promptly and diligently in dealing with its obligations in this 

Clause 10 (Fossils and Antiquities) in relation to any find so as to mitigate any effect 

on the Operator Partner and the Services.  

11.  SERVICES  

11.1  The Operator Partner shall provide the Services for the Contract Period.   

Standard of Services  

11.2 Subject to Clause 11.5, the Operator Partner shall provide the Services in accordance 

with (and so as to comply with):  

 11.2.1  the terms of this Agreement;  

 11.2.2  the Services Specification;  

Pack Page 200



 

99120273.1\kp07                51  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

 11.2.3  the Service Delivery Proposals;  

 11.2.4  Good Industry Practice;   

 11.2.5  Quest;  

11.2.6  TrackMark (and the Operating Partner will successfully obtain 

certification from UK Athletics every three years, starting on the 

Commencement Date);  

11.2.7 FIFA Quality artificial pitch testing and certification (and the Operating Partner 

will successfully obtain certification from FIFA for all artificial pitches on 

an annual basis);  

 11.2.8  Sport England Guidance; and  

 11.2.9  all applicable Authority Policies and Legislation.   

Operator Partner covenants  

11.3  In performing its obligations under this Agreement, the Operator Partner shall:  

11.3.1 apply such time, attention, resources, trained and qualified personnel and 

skill as may be necessary for the due and proper performance of the 

Services;   

11.3.2 ensure that all written information and material given to the Authority by the 

Operator Partner is accurate when given, and remains accurate and 

comprehensive in all respects;   

11.3.3 deliver the Services using efficient business processes and ways of working 

having regard to the Authority's obligation to ensure value for money;  

11.3.4 provide the Authority with such assistance as the Authority may reasonably 

require during the Term in respect of the supply of the Services;   

11.3.5  gather, collate and provide such information and co-operation as the 

Authority may reasonably request for the purposes of ascertaining the 

Operator Partner's compliance with its obligations under this 

Agreement;   

11.3.6 ensure that neither it, nor any Operator Partner Related Party, embarrasses 

the Authority or otherwise brings the Authority into disrepute by engaging 

in any act or omission which is reasonably likely to diminish the trust that 

the public places in the Authority, regardless of whether or not such act 

or omission is related to the Operator Partner's obligations under this 

Agreement; and    

11.3.7 ensure, and shall procure that any Operator Partner Related Party shall 

ensure, that the Services are carried out in compliance with the Equality 

Requirements.   

Pack Page 201



 

99120273.1\kp07                52  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

11.4  The Operator Partner shall ensure that (unless otherwise agreed in writing or the  

contrary is set out in the Services Specification) Goods do not contain any of the 

products or materials listed in Schedule 8 (Prohibited Materials);   

Discrepancies  

11.5 Subject to Clause 11.6, in the event of a conflict or potential conflict between the 

standards listed in Clause 11.2, the Operator Partner shall, as soon as reasonably 

practicable, notify the Authority in writing of the same and the Operator Partner shall 

submit proposals to the Authority for review through Schedule 7 (Review Procedure) 

as to how it proposes to deal with such inconsistency or conflict and, after such 

review, the standards shall be amended accordingly and any amendment shall be 

made without adjustment to the Annual Payment. The Authority may not withhold its 

approval (or impose conditions in giving its approval) where the purpose of such 

withholding or such conditions is to deal with matters other than the correcting of 

any such inconsistency or conflict.  

11.6 The Services Specification shall at all times have priority over the Service Delivery 

Proposals. Any changes to the Service Delivery Proposals may only be made in 

accordance with the Review Procedure.  

Ordering of Goods and Services  

11.7 Neither party shall place or cause to be placed any orders with suppliers or otherwise 

incur liabilities in the name of the other party or any representative of the other party.  

12.  CONSENTS  

12.1  The Operator Partner shall:  

12.1.1 obtain and maintain all Necessary Consents which may be required for the 

performance of the Services;  

12.1.2 be responsible for implementing each Necessary Consent within the period 

of its validity in accordance with its terms;  

12.1.3 supply free of charge to the Authority's Representative a copy of any 

application for a Necessary Consent (with a copy of all accompanying 

drawings and other documents) and a copy of any Necessary Consent 

obtained;  

12.1.4 comply with the conditions attached to any Necessary Consents and procure 

that no such Necessary Consent is breached by it or any person under 

its control and use all reasonable endeavours to procure that no 

Necessary Consent is revoked and that all Necessary Consents continue 

in full force and effect for such time as is necessary for the Operator 

Partner to carry out the Services; and  

12.1.5 not (and shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that any other person 

over whom it has control shall not) without the prior consent of the 

Authority under this Agreement (which consent shall not be unreasonably 

Pack Page 202



 

99120273.1\kp07                53  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

withheld or delayed) apply for or agree to any change, relaxation or 

waiver of any Necessary Consent (whether obtained before or after the 

Commencement Date) or of any condition attached to it but, subject to 

the compliance by the Operator Partner with its obligations under this 

Clause 12.1, references in this Agreement to Necessary Consents shall 

be construed as referring to the Necessary Consents as from time to time 

varied, relaxed or waived.  

13.  USE OF THE FACILITIES  

Priority  

13.1 The Facilities shall be made available for use in the provision of the Services during 

the Contract Period as set out in the Services Specification.   

Use of the Facilities  

13.2 The Operator Partner may enter into arrangements for use of the Facilities provided 

that:  

 13.2.1  any such use is in accordance with Legislation;  

13.2.2 the use cannot reasonably be expected to impair the provision of the Services 

or such use is not incompatible with the use of the Facilities as community 

leisure centre facilities;  

13.2.3  the use is not one which the Authority (acting reasonably) has objected 

to;  

13.2.4 the use does not involve sponsorship, advertisement or other direct 

involvement by any organisation, entity or person engaged, or with 

substantial interest in the production or sale of products containing or 

derived from tobacco or the manufacture or sale of arms and weapons; 

or  

13.2.5 the use is not one which could be expected to involve undue violence 

(provided that the provision of organised sport shall not be considered 

undue violence) or otherwise be incompatible with the ethos of the 

Authority.  

Third Party Use  

13.3 Subject to the Authority's Pricing Requirements and the Services Specification, the 

Operator Partner shall be entitled to charge for, and be paid by, each User, a fee 

determined by the Operator Partner for the use made of the Facilities.  

Elections  

13.4 The Operator Partner will allow the Authority to use the Facilities for the purpose of 

Elections provided reasonable prior notice has been given to the Operator Partner 

and the Authority agrees to pay for the use of the relevant parts of the Facilities for 

Pack Page 203



 

99120273.1\kp07                54  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

such purposes, with terms to be agreed between the parties acting reasonably. In 

exercising its right to use the Facilities pursuant to this Clause only the Authority 

shall be regarded as a User.  

14.  CONDITION OF THE FACILITIES  

Maintenance  

14.1 The Operator Partner shall ensure on a continuing basis that at all times its 

maintenance and operating procedures set out in the Service Delivery Proposals 

are and remain sufficient to ensure that:  

14.1.1  the Facilities meet the requirements of this Agreement and the Services 

Specification;  

14.1.2 the Facilities are kept in good structural and decorative order (subject to fair 

wear and tear) in accordance with this Agreement, the Services 

Specification and the Service Delivery Proposals;  

14.1.3 the Operator Partner can deliver the Services in accordance with this 

Agreement and the Services Specification; and  

14.1.4 the Facilities are handed back to the Authority on the Expiry Date in a 

condition complying with Handback Requirements.   

Surveys  

14.2 If the Authority reasonably believes that the Operator Partner is in breach of its 

obligations under Clause 14.1 then it may carry out or procure the carrying out of a 

survey of the Facilities to assess whether the Facilities have been and are being 

maintained by the Operator Partner in accordance with its obligations under Clause 

14.1. This right may not be exercised more than once a year.  

14.3 The Authority shall notify the Operator Partner in writing a minimum of ten (10) Business 

Days in advance of the date it wishes to carry out the survey. The Authority shall 

consider in good faith any reasonable request by the Operator Partner for the survey 

to be carried out on a different date if such request is made at least five (5) Business 

Days prior to the notified date and the Operator Partner (acting reasonably) is able 

to demonstrate that carrying out the survey on the notified date would materially 

prejudice the Operator Partner's ability to provide the Services.  

14.4 When carrying out any survey, the Authority shall use reasonable endeavours to 

minimise any disruption caused to the provision of the Services by the Operator 

Partner. The cost of the survey, except where Clause 14.5 applies, shall be borne 

by the Authority.  The Operator Partner shall give the Authority (free of charge) any 

reasonable assistance required by the Authority from time to time during the carrying 

out of any survey.  

14.5 If a survey shows that the Operator Partner has not complied or is not complying with 

its obligations under Clause 14.1, the Authority shall:  

Pack Page 204



 

99120273.1\kp07                55  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

14.5.1 notify the Operator Partner of the standard that the condition of the Facilities 

should be in to comply with its obligations under Clause 14.1 and this 

Agreement generally;  

14.5.2 specify a reasonable period within which the Operator Partner must carry out 

such rectification and/or maintenance work; and  

14.5.3 if the survey shows a material non-compliance by the Operator Partner with 

its obligations under Clause 14, be entitled to be reimbursed by the 

Operator Partner for the cost of the survey and any administrative costs 

incurred by the Authority in relation to the survey other than where the 

costs of the rectification and/or maintenance work are less than the costs 

of the survey in which case the cost of the survey shall be shared equally 

between the Authority and the Operator Partner.  

14.6 The Operator Partner shall carry out such rectification and/or maintenance work within 

the period specified by the Authority and any costs it incurs in carrying out such 

rectification and/or maintenance work shall be at its own expense.  

14.7 In the event of any failure by the Operator Partner to comply with Clause 14.6 or if the 

Authority is or becomes aware of a breach by the Operator Partner of its obligations 

under Clause 14.6 then the Authority shall be entitled to exercise its right of access 

and remedy such breach in accordance with Good Industry Practice and shall be 

entitled to recover any costs or expenses incurred in so doing from the Operator 

Partner as a debt.  

Programmed Maintenance  

14.8 The Operator Partner shall undertake Programmed Maintenance of the Facilities in 

accordance with a Schedule of Programmed Maintenance which has been approved 

or not commented on by the Authority under the Review Procedure.  

Schedule of Programmed Maintenance  

14.9 The Operator Partner shall implement the initial Schedule of Programmed Maintenance 

for each Facility in the Agreed Form for the period from the Commencement Date 

to the expiry of the first Contract Year.  

14.10 Not later than two (2) months prior to the commencement of each subsequent 

Contract Year the Operator Partner shall submit to the Authority's Representative in 

accordance with Schedule 7 (Review Procedure) a Schedule of Programmed 

Maintenance for that Contract Year.  

14.11 Each Schedule of Programmed Maintenance shall contain the following information 

(Programmed Maintenance Information):  

14.11.1 details of the proposed start and end dates for each period of Programmed 

Maintenance, the works to be carried out and the proposed hours of work 

(including any proposed closures of the Facilities or any element therein);  

Pack Page 205



 

99120273.1\kp07                56  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

14.11.2 details of any effect of the Programmed Maintenance on the delivery of any 

of the Services; and  

14.11.3 a proposed Lifecycle Schedule, including details of when Operator Partner 

Lifecycle Items and Authority Lifecycle Items are proposed to be replaced 

(including the proposed costs of the replacement of the Authority 

Lifecycle Items).  

14.12 Not later than twenty (20) Business Days prior to the commencement of any Contract 

Month, the Operator Partner may submit to the Authority's Representative in 

accordance with Schedule 7 (Review Procedure) a revision to the Schedule of 

Programmed Maintenance for the Contract Year in which the relevant Contract 

Month falls showing the effect of the proposed changes to the Programmed 

Maintenance Information. If the Authority's Representative does not raise comments 

on such proposed revision in accordance with Schedule 7 (Review Procedure), the 

Schedule of Programmed Maintenance as revised shall become the Schedule of 

Programmed Maintenance in respect of that Contract Year.  

14.13 Where the Authority's Representative raises comments in respect of any Programmed 

Maintenance periods and/or hours of work shown in a Schedule of Programmed 

Maintenance in accordance with Schedule 7 (Review Procedure), he shall indicate 

whether, and if so when, the Programmed Maintenance can be rescheduled and the 

Operator Partner shall amend the relevant Schedule of Programmed Maintenance 

accordingly.  

14.14 The Operator Partner shall not carry out any Programmed Maintenance save in 

accordance with a Schedule of Programmed Maintenance to which no objection has 

been made under Schedule 7 (Review Procedure) or, where comment has been 

raised in respect of the Programmed Maintenance periods and/or time, the Schedule 

of Programme Maintenance has been amended pursuant to this Clause 14 

(Condition of the Facilities).  

14.15 The Operator Partner shall deliver to the Authority's Representative not less than two 

(2) months prior to the Commencement Date and two (2) months prior to the 

commencement of each subsequent Contract Year the latest version of the Five 

Year Maintenance Plan.  

Unprogrammed Maintenance Works  

14.16 If during the Minimum Opening Hours, the need arises for Maintenance Works which 

are not scheduled to be carried out as part of Programmed Maintenance 

(Unprogrammed Maintenance Works) but will or may lead to either closure of part 

of a Facility, or a material impact on Users, the Operator Partner may carry out such 

Unprogrammed Maintenance Works provided that the Operator Partner shall notify 

the Authority's Representative as soon as reasonably possible (and in any event, 

within two (2) Business Days of the occurrence) of the extent of the necessary 

Unprogrammed Maintenance Works and the reasons for them. The Operator 

Partner shall take all reasonable steps to minimise the duration of such 

Unprogrammed Maintenance Works.  

Pack Page 206



 

99120273.1\kp07                57  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

14.17 There shall be no restrictions on the performance of Unprogrammed Maintenance 

Works carried out outside of the Minimum Opening Hours.  

14.18 Nothing in Clause 14.16 or 14.17 shall prevent the allocation of Failure Points and/or 

Performance Adjustments in accordance with this Agreement.  

Programmed Replacement – Operator Partner Lifecycle Items  

14.19 The Operator Partner shall or shall procure the replacement of Operator Partner  

Lifecycle Items in accordance with the Lifecycle Profile, the Five Year Maintenance 

Plan and the relevant Schedule of Programmed Maintenance (or if Operator Partner 

Lifecycle Items require replacing earlier than anticipated in the Lifecycle Profile, the 

Five Year Maintenance Plan or relevant Schedule of Programmed Maintenance, at 

the time required by applying Good Industry Practice).  

14.20 No later than forty (40) Business Days before each occasion on which any of the 

Operator Partner Lifecycle Items are due for replacement (as identified in the 

Lifecycle Schedule), where the Operator Partner does not believe it is necessary to 

undertake such replacement, the Operator Partner shall submit to the Authority 

(under the Review Procedure) a written statement detailing:  

14.20.1  the replacement(s) which the Lifecycle Schedule records as being due; 

and  

14.20.2 why the Operator Partner does not believe it is necessary to undertake such 

replacement having regard to the condition of the relevant part and the 

Operator Partner's obligations under this Agreement.  

14.21 If the Authority approves in accordance with the Review Procedure (or it is determined 

in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure) that the replacement should 

be deferred, the Operator Partner shall amend the Lifecycle Schedule to reflect such 

deferral.  

14.22 Without prejudice to Clause 14.21 the Operator Partner shall replace any items listed 

in the Lifecycle Schedule (both Operator Partner Lifecycle Items and Authority 

Lifecycle Items) with parts of at least equivalent standard to those at the 

Commencement Date so that as a minimum any replacement part should have an 

equivalent or greater anticipated lifespan at the same quality as the original part.  

14.23 In the event that the Operator Partner fails to either:  

14.23.1  replace any Operator Partner Lifecycle Item by the date that it is due 

for replacement (as identified in the Lifecycle Schedule, or earlier, applying Good 

Industry Practice); or 14.23.2  comply with Clause 14.22,  

and such failure is not remedied within one (1) month of receipt of written notice of 

such failure from the Authority, the Authority may remedy such failure itself and 

recover the cost from the Operator Partner.  

Pack Page 207



 

99120273.1\kp07                58  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

14.24 The Operator Partner is responsible for all costs of replacing the Operator Partner 

Lifecycle Items.  

Authority Lifecycle Items  

14.25 The Operator Partner shall notify the Authority in writing as and when any Authority 

Lifecycle Items listed in the Lifecycle Schedule become due for replacement:  

14.25.1  giving at least forty (40) Business Days' notice of any Authority Lifecycle 

Items due for replacement pursuant to the Lifecycle Schedule; and  

 14.25.2  giving as much notice as is reasonably possible of any Authority  

Lifecycle Items listed in the Lifecycle Schedule which the Operator  

Partner considers are due for replacement earlier than shown in the 

Lifecycle Schedule applying Good Industry Practice, (Authority Lifecycle Item 

Notice).  

14.26 The Operator Partner shall include in any Authority Lifecycle Item Notice the following 

details:  

 14.26.1  details of the Authority Lifecycle Item;  

14.26.2 evidence and confirmation that the Authority Lifecycle Item has been 

maintained by the Operator Partner in accordance with its obligations 

under this Agreement;  

14.26.3 when the Authority Lifecycle Item is due for replacement (and whether this 

is assessed based on the Lifecycle Schedule or earlier than listed in the 

Lifecycle Schedule, with the Operator Partner applying Good Industry 

Practice); and  

14.26.4 if the Authority Lifecycle Item is due for replacement pursuant to the 

Lifecycle Schedule, a confirmation of the costs for replacement of the 

Authority Lifecycle Item and a confirmation that these are the same as 

those set out in the relevant Lifecycle Schedule, and an Estimate (as 

defined in the Change Protocol) showing the consequences of the item 

not being replaced;  

(a) if an Authority Lifecycle Item is due for replacement according to the 

Lifecycle Schedule, whether the Operator Partner, applying Good 

Industry Practice, considers that such replacement can be deferred 

with no adverse consequences for the Services; and  

(b) if the Authority Lifecycle Item is due for replacement earlier than 

listed in the Lifecycle Schedule based upon the Operator Partner's 

application of Good Industry Practice, two Estimates (as defined in 

the Change Protocol): one showing the consequences of the 

Operator Partner replacing the item and one showing the 

consequences of the item not being replaced.  

Pack Page 208



 

99120273.1\kp07                59  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

14.27 The Authority shall, within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of an Authority Lifecycle 

Item Notice confirm to the Operator Partner whether it requires any further 

information in order to assess the Authority Lifecycle Item Notice and/or for the 

parties to meet to discuss the content of the Authority Lifecycle Item Notice.  

14.28 Within twenty (20) Business Days of receipt of the Authority Lifecycle Item Notice 

and the information referred to in Clause 14.27 and the meeting referred to in Clause 

14.27 (whichever is the later), the Authority shall confirm in writing to the Operator 

Partner whether the Operator Partner should proceed to replace the Authority 

Lifecycle Item, or whether the replacement should be deferred, and the basis of such 

instruction (for instance, confirming the details in the Authority Lifecycle Item Notice 

or if the parties have agreed different terms to those included in the Authority 

Lifecycle Item Notice, confirming such details) (Authority Lifecycle Item 

Instruction).  

14.29 If the Authority does not give an Authority Lifecycle Item Instruction, the Operator 

Partner shall not proceed with the replacement of the relevant Authority Lifecycle 

Item.  

14.30 If the Authority Lifecycle Item was one which was due for replacement according to 

the Lifecycle Schedule and the Authority, gives an Authority Lifecycle Item 

Instruction to proceed to replace the item, the Operator Partner shall proceed on the 

basis of the Authority Lifecycle Item Instruction, and when the Authority is satisfied 

(acting reasonably) that the item has been replaced in accordance with the Operator 

Partner's obligations under this agreement, the Operator Partner may issue an 

invoice to the Authority for its costs of such replacement (as confirmed in the 

Authority Lifecycle Item Instruction) and the Authority shall pay such invoice within 

twenty (20) Business Days of receipt of a valid VAT invoice.  

14.31 If the Authority Lifecycle Item was one which was due for replacement according to 

the Lifecycle Schedule and the Authority gives an Authority Lifecycle Item Instruction 

not to proceed with the replacement, the parties shall process the instruction as a 

Medium Value Change, with the Estimate being the Estimate the Operator Partner 

provided to the Authority in the Authority Lifecycle Item Notice.  

14.32 If the Authority Lifecycle Item was one which was due for replacement earlier than 

listed in the Lifecycle Schedule applying Good Industry Practice and the Authority 

gives an Authority Lifecycle Item Instruction to proceed or not to proceed, the parties 

shall process the instruction as a Medium Value Change, with the Estimate being 

the relevant Estimate the Operator Partner provided to the Authority in the Authority 

Lifecycle Item Notice.  

14.33 When preparing any quote, proposal, Estimate, Schedule of Programmed 

Maintenance or Five Year Maintenance Plan which includes the costs of 

replacement for an Authority Lifecycle Item, the Operator Partner shall use all 

reasonable endeavours to obtain a competitive price, in particular by obtaining at 

least three (3) quotes for such costs and the Authority shall be entitled to require the 

Operator Partner to obtain a quotes from particular contractors.  

Pack Page 209



 

99120273.1\kp07                60  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

14.34 The Authority shall have the right (acting reasonably) to defer the replacement of an 

Authority Lifecycle Item if such non-replacement will not have an adverse impact on 

the Services.  

14.35 In the event that the Operator Partner fails to either:  

14.35.1 replace any Authority Lifecycle Item by the date that it is due for 

replacement (as approved by the Authority); or  

14.35.2 comply with Clause 14.22,  

and such failure is not remedied within one (1) month of receipt of written notice of 

such failure from the Authority, the Authority may remedy such failure itself and 

recover the cost from the Operator Partner.  

14.36 If the Operator Partner is unable to demonstrate to the Authority (acting reasonably) 

that the Operator Partner has maintained an Authority Lifecycle Item to the standard 

required by this Agreement, then, when such item is due for replacement, the 

Operator Partner shall be responsible for the costs of such replacement.  

Lifecycle Records  

14.37 Without prejudice to paragraphs 4.2.35 or 4.2.51 of the Services Specification, the  

Operator Partner shall upon written request permit the Authority access to all the 

Operator Partner's records, receipts, invoices, reports, drawings, technical 

specifications and performance logs relating to any Lifecycle Asset, so as to enable 

the Authority to obtain an accurate assessment of the figures quoted and 

Programmed Maintenance undertaken. The Operator Partner shall provide all 

reasonable co-operation and assistance to the Authority to allow it access to such 

documents and information and shall in a bona fide manner respond promptly to all 

reasonable requests for further documents and information made by the Authority 

in respect of any Lifecycle Asset and the condition of the same, provided always that 

such access shall not in any way obstruct, hinder or prevent the Operator Partner in 

the provision of the Services. The Operator Partner shall maintain all documents 

and information relating to any Lifecycle Asset.  

15.  FURTHER REQUIREMENTS  

Utilities  

15.1  The Operator Partner shall:  

15.1.1 procure [or shall ensure that the Leisure Operator procures] all Utilities 

required for the Facilities;  

15.1.2 ensure that it [or the Leisure Operator] is the counterparty to the relevant 

Utility supply contracts;   

15.1.3 pay [or procure payment to] the relevant Utility suppliers directly for all Utilities 

supplied; and  

Pack Page 210



 

99120273.1\kp07                61  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

15.1.4 pay [or procure payment of] all present and future rates, taxes, levies, costs, 

charges and other impositions (of whatever nature) payable in respect of 

the supply of Utilities to the Facilities.   

15.2  Fire Folder  

The parties shall each act reasonably and in good faith to procure that an up-to-date 

fire folder is maintained for each Facility in accordance with government guidance 

referring to the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.  In particular the 

Operator Partner shall:  

15.2.1 provide information relating to the operation of the fire alarm system and 

emergency lighting;  

15.2.2 maintain maintenance/test records for the fire alarm systems and emergency 

lighting;  

 15.2.3  prepare risk assessments for emergency events including fires;  

15.2.4  prepare and communicate the evacuation procedures including 

instruction to staff and visitors at the Facilities on the correct action 

when discovering a fire and on the correct action when the fire alarm is 

sounded;  

 15.2.5  prepare notices/signs reinforcing the evacuation procedures; and  

15.2.6 take all reasonable steps to ensure and maintain discipline of the occupants 

of the Facilities to prevent fires and deliberate and/or accidental activation 

of the system.  

15.3  Operating Manual  

15.3.1  The Operator Partner shall throughout the Contract Period maintain and 

update an operating and maintenance manual setting out the 

procedures for providing the Services (Operating Manual).  

15.3.2 The Operator Partner shall at the request of the Authority provide the 

Authority with access to the Operating Manual in order to demonstrate 

that the Operator Partner has complied with its obligation to maintain and 

update the Operating Manual under Clause 15.3.1.  

15.3.3 Each party agrees to co-operate (but without being compelled to incur 

material expenditure) with the other party in the fulfilment of the purposes 

and intent of this Agreement. Neither party shall be under any obligation 

to perform any of the other's obligations under this Agreement.  

15.4  Hazardous Substances  

15.4.1 The Operator Partner shall ensure that any hazardous materials or 

equipment used or intended to be used in the provision of the Services 

are kept under control and in safe keeping in accordance with all  

Pack Page 211



 

99120273.1\kp07                62  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

relevant Legislation and Good Industry Practice, and shall ensure that all 

such materials are properly and clearly labelled on their containers, and 

shall promptly inform the Authority of all such materials being used or 

stored at the Sites and shall comply with any other reasonable 

requirement of the Authority in respect of such materials and equipment.  

15.4.2 The Operator Partner shall maintain a COSHH register in relation to each 

Facility and shall ensure that a copy of each register is held at the relevant 

Facility, at the Operator Partner's registered office and that a copy is 

given to the Authority.  The Authority shall notify the Operator Partner of 

any items which it or any Authority Related Party is using or storing at 

any of the Sites and which requires to be included in such register.  

15.5  CDM Regulations Responsibility 

for Design  

15.5.1 As between the Operator Partner and the Authority, the Operator Partner 

shall be entirely responsible for the safety of any design which forms part 

of the Services and for the adequacy, stability and safety of all site 

operations and methods of construction.  

The Operator Partner as Client  

15.5.2 In accordance with the CDM Regulations, the Authority and the Operator 

Partner have elected that the Operator Partner shall be, and shall be 

treated as the only client in respect of the Services pursuant to Regulation 

4(8) of the CDM Regulations.  The Operator Partner shall not, prior to the 

completion of the Services, seek in any way to withdraw, terminate or 

derogate from such election.  

Duties under the CDM Regulations  

15.5.3 The Operator Partner shall observe, perform and discharge and/or shall 

procure the observance, performance and discharge of the obligations 

requirements and duties arising under the CDM Regulations in 

connection with the Services (other than those that remain with the 

Authority pursuant to Regulation 4(8) of the CDM Regulations).  The 

Operator Partner shall ensure that any Health and Safety File is revised 

as often as may be appropriate to incorporate any relevant new 

information in relation to the Services during the Contract Period.  

Authority to Co-operate and Provide Information  

15.5.4 Upon the Operator Partner's reasonable request the Authority shall provide 

to the Operator Partner such information and documents as may be in 

the Authority's possession or which the Authority may reasonably obtain 

which may be required by the Operator Partner to fulfil its duties as client 

for the purposes of the CDM Regulations.  

Pack Page 212



 

99120273.1\kp07                63  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

15.5.5 Notwithstanding the election made under Clause 15.5.2 the Authority shall 

observe and continue to observe the duties that are, pursuant to 

Regulation 4(8) of the CDM Regulations, to remain with the Authority, 

notably those duties under Regulations 4(4), 8(4) and 8(6).  

16.  REPRESENTATIVES  

Representatives of the Authority  

16.1 The Authority's Representative shall be the Leisure Facilities Manager of the Authority 

from time to time, or such other person appointed pursuant to this Clause 16.  The 

Authority's Representative shall exercise the functions and powers of the Authority 

in relation to this Agreement which are identified in this Agreement as functions or 

powers to be carried out by the Authority's Representative.  The Authority's 

Representative shall also exercise such other functions and powers of the Authority 

under this Agreement as may be notified to the Operator Partner from time to time.  

16.2 The Authority's Representative shall be entitled at any time, by notice to the Operator 

Partner, to authorise any other person to exercise the functions and powers of the 

Authority delegated to him pursuant to this Clause, either generally or specifically.  

Any act of any such person shall, for the purposes of this Agreement, constitute an 

act of the Authority's Representative and all references to the Authority's 

Representative in this Agreement (apart from this Clause) shall be taken as 

references to such person so far as they concern matters within the scope of such 

person's authority.  

16.3 The Authority may by notice to the Operator Partner change the Authority's 

Representative.  The Authority shall (as far as practicable) consult with the Operator 

Partner prior to the appointment of any replacement for the Authority's 

Representative, taking account of the need for liaison and continuity in respect of 

this Agreement.  Such change shall have effect on the date specified in the written 

notice (which date shall, other than in the case of emergency, be such date as will 

not cause material inconvenience to the Operator Partner in the execution of its 

obligations under this Agreement).  

16.4 During any period when no Authority's Representative has been appointed (or when 

the Authority's Representative is unable through illness, incapacity or any other 

reason whatsoever to carry out or exercise his functions under this Agreement) the 

Authority shall carry out the functions which would otherwise be performed by the 

Authority's Representative.  

16.5 Save where notified in writing by the Authority before such act or instruction, the 

Operator Partner and Operator Partner's Representative shall be entitled to treat 

any act or instruction of the Authority's Representative in connection with this 

Agreement as being expressly authorised by the Authority and the Operator Partner 

and the Operator Partner's Representative shall not be required to determine 

whether authority has in fact been given.  

Representative of the Operator Partner  

Pack Page 213



 

99120273.1\kp07                64  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

16.6 The Operator Partner's Representative shall be [                    ] or such other person 

appointed pursuant to this Clause 16.  The Operator Partner's  

Representative shall have full authority to act on behalf of the Operator Partner for 

all purposes of this Agreement.  Except as previously notified in writing before such 

act by the Operator Partner to the Authority, the Authority and the Authority's 

Representative shall be entitled to treat any act of the Operator Partner's 

Representative in connection with this Agreement as being expressly authorised by 

the Operator Partner and the Authority and the Authority's Representative shall not 

be required to determine whether any express authority has in fact been given.  

16.7 The Operator Partner may by notice to the Authority, change the Operator Partner's 

Representative.  Where the Operator Partner wishes to do so it shall by written 

notice to the Authority propose a substitute for approval, taking account of the need 

for liaison and continuity in respect of this Agreement.  Such appointment shall be 

subject to the approval of the Authority (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).  

Appointment of Representatives  

16.8 At any time the Authority may appoint more than one Authority's Representative and 

the Operator Partner may appoint more than one Operator Partner's Representative 

provided in each case the appointor provides written confirmation to the Operator 

Partner or Authority as appropriate of the extent of its Representative's authority.  

17.  EMERGENCIES  

17.1 If an Emergency arises which cannot be dealt with by performance of the Services, the 

Authority may instruct the Operator Partner to use its best endeavours to procure 

that such additional or alternative services are undertaken by the Operator Partner 

as and when required by the Authority to ensure that the Emergency is dealt with 

and normal operation of the relevant Facility resumes as soon as is reasonably 

practicable provided that the Operator Partner shall not be obliged to provide any 

service which it is neither qualified nor competent to provide.  

17.2 The properly incurred costs of the Operator Partner of any additional or alternative 

services provided to the Authority under Clause 17.1 and/or any Loss of Revenue 

(if any) arising as a direct result of the Operator Partner providing any additional or 

alternative services shall be borne by the Authority (unless the Emergency was 

caused by the Operator Partner, in which case such costs and/or Loss of Revenue 

shall be borne by the Operator Partner). In respect of any such properly incurred 

costs and/or Loss of Revenue, these shall be paid against the Operator Partner's 

invoice in accordance with Clause 36 (Payment). If such costs and/or Loss of 

Revenue are not agreed, the matter shall be referred to the Dispute Resolution 

Procedure.  

18.  AUTHORITY STEP-IN  

Right to Step-In  

18.1 If the Authority reasonably believes that it needs to take action in connection with the 

Services:  

Pack Page 214



 

99120273.1\kp07                65  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

18.1.1 because a serious risk exists to the health or safety of persons or property or 

to the environment;  

18.1.2  to discharge a statutory duty; and/or 

18.1.3  because an Emergency has arisen,  

then the Authority shall be entitled to take action in accordance with Clauses 18.2 

to 18.6.  

Notice to the Operator Partner  

18.2 If Clause 18.1 applies and the Authority wishes to take action, the Authority shall notify 

the Operator Partner in writing of the following:  

 18.2.1  the action it wishes to take;  

 18.2.2  the reason for such action;  

 18.2.3  the date it wishes to commence such action;  

 18.2.4  the time period which it believes will be necessary for such action; and  

18.2.5 to the extent practicable, the effect on the Operator Partner and its obligation 

to provide the Services during the period such action is being taken.  

Action by Authority  

18.3 Following service of such notice, the Authority shall take such action as notified under 

Clause 18.2 and any consequential additional action as it reasonably believes is 

necessary (together, the Required Action) and the Operator Partner shall give all 

reasonable assistance to the Authority while it is taking the Required Action.  The 

Authority shall provide the Operator Partner with notice of completion of the 

Required Action and shall use reasonable endeavours to provide such advance 

notice as is reasonably practicable of its anticipated completion.  

18.4 Where the Required Action has been taken otherwise than as a result of a breach by 

the Operator Partner, the Authority shall undertake the Required Action in 

accordance with Good Industry Practice and shall indemnify the Operator Partner 

against all Direct Losses where it fails to do so.  

Step-In without Operator Partner Breach  

18.5 If the Operator Partner is not in breach of its obligations under this Agreement, then for 

so long as and to the extent that the Required Action is taken, and this prevents the 

Operator Partner from providing any part of the Services:  

18.5.1 the Operator Partner shall be relieved from its obligations to provide such 

part of the Services; and  

18.5.2 in respect of the period in which the Authority is taking the Required Action 

and provided that the Operator Partner provides the Authority with 

Pack Page 215



 

99120273.1\kp07                66  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

reasonable assistance (such assistance to be at the expense of the 

Authority to the extent that incremental costs are incurred) the Annual 

Payment, where it is a Deficit Annual Payment due from the Authority to 

the Operator Partner shall equal the amount the Operator Partner would 

receive if it were satisfying all its obligations and providing the Services 

affected by the Required Action in full, together with any Loss of Revenue 

(but only to the extent that such Loss of Revenue arises as a direct result 

of the Authority taking the Required Action) over that period; or  

18.5.3 where the Annual Payment is a Surplus Annual Payment due from the 

Operator Partner to the Authority it shall be suspended and the Authority 

shall account to the Operator Partner for all revenue received by the 

Authority in respect of the Services affected by the Required Action in full, 

together with any Loss of Revenue (but only to the extent that such Loss 

of Revenue arises as a direct result of the Authority taking the Required 

Action) over that period less such amount of the Surplus Annual Payment 

that would have been payable over that period had the Required Action 

not been taken subject to the Operator Partner being in a no worse 

position in respect of the amount of revenue and Loss of Revenue 

received or paid.  

Step-In on Operator Partner Breach  

18.6 If the Required Action is taken as a result of a breach of the obligations of the Operator 

Partner under this Agreement, then for so long as and to the extent that the Required 

Action is taken, and this prevents the Operator Partner from providing any part of 

the Services:  

18.6.1 the Operator Partner shall be relieved of its obligations to provide such part 

of the Services; and  

18.6.2 in respect of the period in which the Authority is taking the Required Action, 

the Annual Payment, where it is a Deficit Annual Payment due from the 

Authority to the Operator Partner shall equal the amount the Operator 

Partner would receive if it were satisfying all its obligations and providing 

the Services affected by the Required Action in full over that period, less 

an amount equal to all the Authority's costs of operation in taking the 

Required Action having deducted any revenue received by the Authority 

and which is due to the Operator Partner; or  

18.6.3 where the Annual Payment is a Surplus Annual Payment due from the 

Operator Partner to the Authority it shall be suspended and the Authority 

shall account to the Operator Partner for all revenue received by the 

Authority in respect of the Services affected by the Required Action in full 

over that period, less:  

(a) an amount equal to all the Authority's costs of operation in taking the 

Required Action; and  

Pack Page 216



 

99120273.1\kp07                67  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(b) the Surplus Annual Payment adjusted pro-rata for that period. 3  

  
PART 3 - PERFORMANCE, REPORTING AND RECORDS  

19.  PERFORMANCE MONITORING  

Operator Partner Monitoring  

 
3 This drafting assumes that the revenue that the Authority receives is likely to be greater than the Authority's costs of operation and the  

Surplus Annual Payment for the step in period. If this is not the case, the drafting may need to be amended to place an obligation on the 
Operator Partner to pay the Authority the Surplus Annual Payment for the step in period less the revenue received by the Authority and 
the Authority's costs of operation.  

Pack Page 217



 

99120273.1\kp07                68  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

19.1 The Operator Partner shall monitor its performance in the delivery of the Services in 

accordance with the provisions of Schedule 5 (PPM).  

Authority Monitoring  

19.2 The Authority may elect to undertake its own performance monitoring at any stage 

during the Contract Period for any purpose, in order to ensure that the Services are 

being provided in accordance with this Agreement. The Operator Partner will use its 

reasonable endeavours to assist the Authority in such an exercise.  The Authority 

shall be entitled to notify the Operator Partner of the outcome of the performance 

monitoring exercise, and the Operator Partner shall have due regard to the 

Authority's comments in relation to the future provision of the Services.  

19.3 Without prejudice to the Authority's rights under Clause 40 (Termination on Operator 

Partner Default) and to any other express rights under this Agreement, where the 

Operator Partner has been found to:  

19.3.1 be fraudulent in the submission of monitoring reports or claims for payment 

under Clause 36 (Payment); or  

19.3.2 have submitted at least two (2) materially erroneous monitoring reports, 

within a three (3) month period,  

the Authority may by notice to the Operator Partner increase the level of its 

monitoring of the Operator Partner, and/or (at the Authority's option), of the Operator 

Partner's monitoring of its own performance of its obligations under this Agreement 

in respect of the relevant Service or Services the subject of such fraudulent or 

erroneous reporting until such time as the Operator Partner shall have demonstrated 

to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority that it will perform (and is capable of 

performing) its obligations under this Agreement.  

19.4 For the purposes of Clause 19.3, the Authority acknowledges that if the Operator 

Partner has otherwise failed to have demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of 

the Authority as required by Clause 19.3 but:  

19.4.1 if the Operator Partner has removed the person or persons responsible for 

the fraudulent reporting; or  

 19.4.2   (under Clause 19.3.2), if in the following three (3) month period  

following the Authority notice (if it has not already been established) there 

have been no further erroneous reports of any kind,  

this shall be regarded as sufficient demonstration that the Operator Partner will 

perform and is capable of performing its obligations.  

19.5 If the Authority issues a notice under Clause 19.3, the Operator Partner shall bear its 

own costs and indemnify and keep the Authority indemnified at all times from and 

against all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Authority 

in relation to such increased level of monitoring arising due to circumstances under 

Clause 19.3.2.  

Pack Page 218



 

99120273.1\kp07                69  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

20.  CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT  

Authority's Continuous Improvement Duty  

20.1  The Operator Partner acknowledges that:  

 20.1.1  the Authority is subject to the Continuous Improvement Duty;  

20.1.2 the provisions of this Clause 20 (Continuous Improvement) are intended to 

assist the Authority in discharging its Continuous Improvement Duty in 

relation to the Services; and  

20.1.3 the provisions of this Clause 20 (Continuous Improvement) shall apply in 

respect of the obligations of the Operator Partner and the Authority 

concerning the Continuous Improvement Duty and the 1999 Act 

generally.  

20.2 The Operator Partner shall, throughout the Contract Period, but only to the extent of its 

obligations in this Agreement, make arrangements to secure continuous 

improvement in the way in which the Services are provided, having regard to a 

combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  

20.3 The Operator Partner shall use reasonable endeavours to assist the Authority in 

demonstrating that the Authority is meeting its Continuous Improvement Duty in 

respect of this Agreement including:  

20.3.1 complying with requests for information, data or other assistance made by 

the Authority in pursuance of its Continuous Improvement Duty in order 

to:  

(a) facilitate any inspection or audit undertaken by any Relevant 

Authority in connection with the Continuous Improvement Duty in 

respect of the Services, including any inspection undertaken with a 

view to verifying the Authority's compliance with its Continuous 

Improvement Duty;  

(b) assist the Authority in relation to any action taken by the Secretary 

of State;  

(c) enable the Authority to comply with any Government departmental 

direction; and  

(d) enable the Authority to report on its performance to Relevant 

Authorities;  

20.3.2 complying with all requests by the Authority to procure the attendance of 

specific officers or employees of the Operator Partner or any 

SubContractor (or to procure the attendance of any of its or their 

subcontractors) at any meetings of the Authority at which the Services 

are to be discussed (but not, otherwise than in exceptional 

circumstances, more than twice in any one year); and  

Pack Page 219



 

99120273.1\kp07                70  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

 20.3.3  co-operating in audits and/or other inspections by Relevant Authorities.  

21.  QUALITY ASSURANCE  

21.1 The Operator Partner shall appoint (or shall procure the appointment of) as soon as 

reasonably practicable following the Commencement Date a quality manager, who 

may be directly involved in the day-to-day performance of the Services and who 

shall, in respect of the Services:  

 21.1.1  implement and monitor a quality assurance system; and  

 21.1.2  liaise with the Authority on all matters relating to quality assurance.  

21.2 The Authority may carry out periodic audits of the aforementioned quality assurance 

system (and Quest, UK Athletics TrackMark accreditation scheme) at approximate 

intervals of three (3) months and may carry out other periodic monitoring, spot 

checks and auditing of the Operator Partner's quality system.  The Operator Partner 

shall procure that the Authority shall have a like right in respect of any relevant sub-

contractors.  The Operator Partner shall co-operate and shall procure that any 

relevant sub-contractor co-operates with the Authority including providing it with all 

information and documentation which it reasonably requires in connection with its 

right under this Clause 21 (Quality Assurance).  

22.  OPERATOR PARTNER'S RECORDS  

Records and Open Book Accounting  

22.1  The Operator Partner shall (and shall procure that each sub-contractor shall):  

22.1.1 at all times maintain a full record of particulars of the costs of performing the 

Services;  

22.1.2 upon request by the Authority, provide a written summary of any of the costs 

referred to in Clause 22.1.1, including details of any funds held by the 

Operator Partner specifically to cover such costs, in such form and detail 

as the Authority may reasonably require to enable the Authority to monitor 

the performance by the Operator Partner of its obligations under this 

Agreement;  

 22.1.3  provide such facilities as the Authority may reasonably require for its  

representatives to visit any place where the records are held and 

examine the records maintained under this Clause 22.1; and  

22.1.4 provide to the Authority copies of its annual report and accounts within twenty 

(20) Business Days of publication.  

Books of Account  

22.2 Compliance with Clause 22.1 shall require the Operator Partner to keep (and where 

appropriate to procure that each sub-contractor shall keep) books of account in 

Pack Page 220



 

99120273.1\kp07                71  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

accordance with best accountancy practices with respect to this Agreement, 

showing in detail:  

 22.2.1  administrative overheads;  

22.2.2 payments made to the Sub-Contractors and from the Sub-Contractors to their 

sub-contractors;  

 22.2.3  capital and revenue expenditure; and  

22.2.4 such other items as the Authority may reasonably require from time to time 

to conduct costs audits for verification of cost expenditure or estimated 

expenditure, for the purpose of this Agreement,  

and the Operator Partner shall have (and procure that its sub-contractors shall have) 

the books of account evidencing the items listed in sub-Clauses 22.2.1 to 22.2.4 

inclusive, available for inspection by the Authority (and its advisers) upon reasonable 

notice, and shall provide a copy of these to the Authority as and when requested 

from time to time.  

Maintenance of Records  

22.3 The Operator Partner shall maintain or procure that detailed records relating to the 

performance of the Services, in each case in accordance with Good Industry 

Practice, the requirements of Clause 21 (Quality Assurance) and any applicable 

Legislation, are maintained.  

22.4 Without prejudice to Clause 22.3, the Operator Partner shall maintain or shall procure 

that the following are maintained:  

22.4.1 a full record of all incidents relating to health, safety and security which occur 

during the term of this Agreement;   

22.4.2 full records of all maintenance procedures carried out during the term of this 

Agreement; and  

22.4.3  full records of all staff matters including turnover, pay and disciplinary 

matters,  

and the Operator Partner shall have the items referred to in Clauses 22.4.1 to 22.4.3 

available for inspection by the Authority (and its advisers) upon reasonable notice, 

and shall provide copies of these to the Authority as and when requested from time 

to time.  

Termination or Expiry  

22.5 Upon termination or expiry of this Agreement, and in the event that the Authority wishes 

to enter into another agreement for the operation and management of a  

Facility or Facilities the same as or similar to Services provided under this 

Agreement, the Operator Partner shall (and shall ensure that the sub-contractors 

Pack Page 221



 

99120273.1\kp07                72  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

will) comply with all reasonable requests of the Authority to provide information 

relating to the Operator Partner's costs of delivering the Services.  

Provision of Information  

22.6 The Operator Partner shall use all reasonable endeavours to assist the Authority in its 

preparation of any report required by the Department of Culture, Media and Sports 

or HM Treasury, from time to time.  

Confidentiality  

22.7  All information referred to in this Clause 22 (Operator Partner's Records) is subject 

to the obligations set out in Clause 56 (Confidentiality).  

23.  REPORTING  

Annual Service Report and Annual Service Plan  

23.1 Without prejudice to any other provision in this Agreement the Operator Partner shall 

on the Annual Service Report Date provide to the Authority a written report (Annual 

Service Report) in accordance with the requirements of the Services Specification.  

23.2 The Operator Partner shall upon a written request from the Authority promptly provide 

such written evidence or other supporting information as the Authority may 

reasonably require in order to verify and audit the information and other material 

contained in the Annual Service Report.  

23.3 If, in the Authority's reasonable opinion, the provision, performance or delivery of the 

Services (or any part) may be more effective, efficient and economic having regard 

to the Annual Service Report and the Continuous Improvement Duty, then the 

Authority may serve a written notice upon the Operator Partner (Continuous 

Improvement Service Change Notice) stating the nature and timing of the 

changes to the provision, performance or delivery of the Services (or the relevant 

part) which the Authority desires.  

23.4 The Operator Partner shall, within twenty (20) Business Days of the date of receipt of 

the Continuous Improvement Service Change Notice, provide the Authority with a 

written statement (Annual Service Plan) containing the Operator Partner's 

proposals to achieve the change to the Services (or the relevant part) in accordance 

with the Continuous Improvement Service Change Notice.  

23.5 As soon as practicable after the Authority receives the Annual Service Plan, the parties 

shall discuss and agree the issues set out in the Annual Service Plan.  In such 

discussions the Authority may modify the Continuous Improvement Service Change 

Notice, in which case the Operator Partner shall, as soon as practicable, and in any 

event not more than twenty (20) Business Days after the receipt of such 

modification, notify the Authority of any consequential changes to the Annual 

Service Plan.  

23.6 If the parties cannot agree on the contents of the Annual Service Plan then the dispute 

will be determined in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

Pack Page 222



 

99120273.1\kp07                73  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

23.7 As soon as practicable after the content of the Annual Service Plan has been agreed 

or otherwise determined in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure the 

Authority shall:  

 23.7.1  confirm in writing the Annual Service Plan; or  

 23.7.2  withdraw the Continuous Improvement Service Change Notice.  

23.8 If the Authority either withdraws the Continuous Improvement Service Change Notice 

or does not confirm the Annual Service Plan within twenty (20) Business Days of the 

Annual Service Plan having been agreed or determined under the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure then the Annual Service Plan and the Continuous 

Improvement Service Change Notice shall be deemed to have been withdrawn.  

23.9 If the Authority confirms the Annual Service Plan then the Authority shall in accordance 

with the Change Protocol issue an Authority Notice of Change (which shall include 

all the information set out in the Continuous Improvement Service Change Notice).  

23.10 The Operator Partner shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate any costs and 

maximise any savings arising as a consequence of a Continuous Improvement 

Service Change Notice and an Authority Notice of Change served under Clause 

23.9.  

24.  CO-OPERATION FOR INVESTIGATION AND SECURITY  

24.1 The Operator Partner shall co-operate with any investigation relating to a breach of 

security relating to this Agreement which is carried out by or on behalf of the 

Authority and:  

24.1.1 shall use its reasonable endeavours to make its employees (and other 

Operator Partner Related Parties) identified by the Authority available to 

be interviewed by the Authority for the purposes of the investigation; and  

24.1.2 shall, subject to any legal restriction on their disclosure, provide all copies of 

documents, records or other material of any kind which may reasonably 

be required by the Authority for the purposes of the investigation.  The 

Authority shall have the right to retain copies of any such material for use 

in connection with the investigation.  

24.2 The Authority shall, insofar as is practical, inform the Operator Partner of any specific 

or general security information which would reasonably be expected to affect the 

security of the Operator Partner or any Operator Partner Related Party or their 

property.  

24.3 The Operator Partner shall comply with the Authority's reasonable reporting 

requirements relating to infectious and notifiable diseases to the extent made known 

to the Operator Partner.  

Pack Page 223



 

99120273.1\kp07                74  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

25.  AUDIT  

25.1 The Operator Partner shall keep and maintain until twelve (12) years after the end of 

the Contract Period full and accurate records of this Agreement including the 

Services supplied under it, and specifically those records detailed at Clause 22.  

The Operator Partner shall on request afford the Authority or the Authority's 

Representative such access to those records as may be requested by the Authority 

in connection with this Agreement.   

25.2  Except where an audit is imposed on the Authority by a Relevant Authority, the  

Authority may at any time during the Contract Period and for a period of twelve (12) 

Months after the Contract Period, conduct an audit for the following purposes:   

25.2.1 to verify the accuracy of the Annual Management Payments in respect of the 

Services (and proposed or actual Changes to this in accordance with the 

Agreement) or the costs of all suppliers (including SubContractors) of the 

Services;   

25.2.2 to review the integrity, confidentiality and security practices in relation to the 

Processing of Personal Data;   

25.2.3 to review the Operator Partner's compliance with the Data Protection 

Legislation, FOIA and other Legislation applicable to the Services;   

25.2.4 to review the Operator Partner's compliance with its obligations under the 

Agreement;   

 25.2.5  to review any records created during the provision of the Services;   

25.2.6 to review any books of account kept by the Operator Partner in connection 

with the provisions of the Services;   

 25.2.7  to carry out the audit and certification of the Authority's accounts;   

25.2.8 to carry out an examination pursuant to section 6 (1) of the National Audit Act 

1983 of the economy efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority 

has used its resources; and   

25.2.9  to verify the accuracy and completeness of any management information 

delivered or required by this Agreement.   

25.3 The Authority shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the conduct of each 

audit does not unreasonably disrupt the Operator Partner or delay the provision of 

the Services.   

25.4 Subject to the Authority's obligation of confidentiality, the Operator Partner shall on 

demand provide the Authority and any other Relevant Authority (and/or their agents 

or representatives) with all reasonable co-operation, access and assistance in 

relation to each audit, including:   

 25.4.1  all Information requested within the permitted scope of the audit;   

Pack Page 224



 

99120273.1\kp07                75  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

25.4.2 reasonable access to any premises or sites controlled by the Operator 

Partner and to any Assets used (whether exclusively or non-exclusively) 

in the performance of the Services;   

 25.4.3  access to the Staff;   

 25.4.4  access to software owned or licenced to the Operator Partner including  

software which is or will be used by the Operator Partner for the purposes 

of providing the Services; and   

25.4.5 accommodation (including desks) at the Operator Partner's premises as 

reasonably required to conduct the audit.   

25.5 The Authority shall endeavour to (but shall not be obliged to) provide at least fourteen 

(14) calendar days' notice of its intention to conduct an audit.   

25.6  If an audit identifies that:   

25.6.1 the Operator Partner has committed an Operator Partner Default which is 

capable of remedy, the Operator Partner shall correct such Operator 

Partner Default as soon as reasonably practicable and implement a 

Remediation Plan in accordance with the Remediation Plan Process; and   

25.6.2 the Authority has not been paid such charges which have are properly due in 

respect of any Performance Failure,  

then the Operator Partner shall pay to the Authority the amount outstanding, plus 

the cost of the audit incurred by the Authority if this underpayment was due to an 

Operator Partner Default, within twenty (20) Business Days.   

Exceptional Audit  

25.7  The Operator Partner shall permit the Authority and/or its appointed 

representatives access to conduct an audit (Exceptional Audit) of the Operator 

Partner in any of the following circumstances:   

 25.7.1  actual or suspected impropriety or fraud   

 25.7.2  there are reasonable grounds to suspect that:   

(a) the Operator Partner has committed an Operator Partner Default;  

or  

(b) the Operator Partner is in financial distress or at risk of insolvency or 

bankruptcy, or any fact, circumstance or matter which is reasonably likely to 

cause the Operator Partner financial distress and result in a risk of the 

Operator Partner becoming insolvent or bankrupt.   

25.8 If the Authority notifies the Operator Partner of an Exceptional Circumstance and 

that it wishes to conduct an Exceptional Audit, the Operator Partner shall provide  

Pack Page 225



 

99120273.1\kp07                76  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

access in accordance with Clause 25.1 as soon as reasonably practicable after such 

request and in any event within forty eight (48) hours of the request having been 

made.   

Audit Costs  

25.9 The parties agree that they shall each bear their own respective costs and expenses 

incurred in respect of compliance with their obligations under Clauses 25.2 to 25.6 

unless an audit identifies an Operator Partner Default by the Operator Partner in 

which case the Operator Partner shall reimburse:   

25.9.1 the Authority for all the Authority's identifiable, reasonable costs and 

expenses properly incurred in the course of the audit; and   

25.9.2 where the Authority, a Relevant Authority and Auditor General appoint 

another contracting body to conduct an audit, the Authority shall be able 

to recover on demand from the Operator Partner the identifiable, 

reasonable and properly incurred costs and expenses of the relevant 

contracting body.   

Exploitation of Information  

25.10 The Operator Partner shall not make use of this Agreement or any information 

issued or provided by or on behalf of the Authority in connection with this Agreement 

otherwise than for the purposes of this Agreement, except with the written consent 

of the Authority.   

Information about Users and Authority Related Parties  

25.11 Where the Operator Partner, in carrying out its obligations under this Agreement, is 

provided with information relating to Users and Authority Related Parties, the 

Operator Partner shall not disclose or make use of any such information otherwise 

than for the purpose for which it was provided, unless the Operator Partner has 

sought the prior written consent of that User or Authority Related Party and has 

obtained the prior written consent of the Authority.   

Disclosure by Audit Commission   

25.12 The parties acknowledge that the Audit Commission has the right to publish details 

of this Agreement (including Commercially Sensitive Information) in its relevant 

reports to Parliament.   

25.13 The provisions of this Clause 25 are without prejudice to the application of the 

Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989.   

    

Pack Page 226



 

99120273.1\kp07                77  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 4 - SUPERVENING EVENTS  

26.  CHANGE CONTROL PROCEDURE  

26.1 The provisions of Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall have effect in respect of 

Changes except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.  

27.  CHANGE IN LAW  

27.1 The Operator Partner shall take all steps necessary to ensure that the Services are 

performed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement following any Change in 

Law.  

Qualifying Change in Law  

27.2 If a Qualifying Change in Law occurs or is shortly to occur, then either party may write 

to the other to express an opinion on its likely effects, giving details of its opinion of:  

 27.2.1  any necessary change to the Services;  

27.2.2 whether any changes are required to the terms of this Agreement to deal with 

the Qualifying Change in Law;  

27.2.3 whether relief from compliance with obligations is required, including the 

obligation of the Operator Partner to meet the Services Specification 

and/or the Service Delivery Proposals during the implementation of any 

relevant Qualifying Change in Law;  

27.2.4 any Change in Revenue that will result from the relevant Qualifying Change 

in Law;   

27.2.5 any estimated Change in Costs that directly result from the Qualifying 

Change in Law; and  

27.2.6 any Capital Expenditure that is required or no longer required as a result of a 

Qualifying Change in Law,  

in each case giving in full detail the procedure for implementing the change in the 

Services.  Responsibility for the costs of implementation (and any resulting variation 

to the Annual Payment) shall be dealt with in accordance with Clauses 27.3 to 27.6.  

Parties to Discuss  

27.3 As soon as practicable after receipt of any notice from either party under Clause 27.2, 

the parties shall discuss and agree the issues referred to in Clause 27.2 and any 

ways in which the Operator Partner can mitigate the effect of the Qualifying Change 

in Law, including:  

27.3.1 providing evidence that the Operator Partner has used reasonable 

endeavours (including (where practicable) the use of competitive  

Pack Page 227



 

99120273.1\kp07                78  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

quotes) to oblige its sub-contractors to minimise any increase in costs or 

decrease in Revenue and maximise any reduction in costs or increase in 

Revenue;  

27.3.2 demonstrating how any Capital Expenditure to be incurred or avoided is being 

measured in a cost effective manner, including showing that when such 

expenditure is incurred or would have been incurred, foreseeable 

Changes in Law at that time have been taken into account by the 

Operator Partner;  

27.3.3 giving evidence as to how the Qualifying Change in Law has affected prices 

charged by any similar businesses, including similar businesses in which 

the shareholders or their Affiliates carry on business; and  

27.3.4 demonstrating that any expenditure that has been avoided, which was 

anticipated to be incurred to replace or maintain assets that have been 

affected by the Qualifying Change in Law concerned, has been taken into 

account in the amount which in its opinion has resulted or is required 

under Clauses 27.2.5 and/or 27.2.6.  

Change Agreed  

27.4 If the parties agree or it is determined under the Dispute Resolution Procedure that the 

Operator Partner is required to incur additional Capital Expenditure due to a 

Qualifying Change in Law, then the Operator Partner shall use its reasonable 

endeavours to obtain funding for such Capital Expenditure on terms reasonably 

satisfactory to it.  

Financing  

27.5 If the Operator Partner has used reasonable endeavours to obtain funding for the 

Capital Expenditure referred to in Clause 27.4, but has been unable to do so within 

forty (40) Business Days of the date that agreement or determination pursuant to 

Clause 27.4 occurred, then the Authority shall pay to the Operator Partner an 

amount equal to that Capital Expenditure on or before the date falling twenty (20) 

Business Days after the Capital Expenditure has been incurred or, at the Authority’s 

option, in instalments to be paid on the value of works carried out on a monthly 

basis.  

Adjustment to Annual Payment  

27.6 Any compensation payable under this Clause 27 (Change in Law) by means of an 

adjustment to or reduction in the Annual Payment shall be determined and made in 

accordance with Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments).  

Payment of Irrecoverable VAT  

27.7 The Authority shall pay to the Operator Partner from time to time as the same is incurred 

by the Operator Partner sums equal to any Irrecoverable VAT but only to the extent 

that it arises as a result of a Change in Law. Any such payment shall be made within 

Pack Page 228



 

99120273.1\kp07                79  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

twenty (20) Business Days of the delivery by the Operator Partner to the Authority 

of written details of the amount involved accompanied by details as  

to the grounds for and computation of the amount claimed. For the purposes of this 

Clause 27.7, Irrecoverable VAT means input VAT incurred by the Operator Partner 

on any supply which is made to it which is used or to be used exclusively in 

performing the Services or any of the obligations or provisions under this Agreement 

(together with input VAT incurred as part of its overhead in relation to such activities) 

to the extent that the Operator Partner is not entitled to repayment or credit from HM 

Revenue & Customs in respect of such input VAT.  

28.  COMPENSATION EVENTS  

Effect of a Compensation Event  

28.1 If, for any Facility, as a direct result of the occurrence of a Compensation Event the 

Operator Partner will:  

28.1.1  be unable to comply with its obligations under this Agreement; and/or 

28.1.2  incur costs or lose Revenue,  

then the Operator Partner is entitled to apply for relief from its obligations and/or to 

claim compensation under this Agreement.  

Procedure for Relief and Compensation  

28.2 Subject to Clause 32.4, to obtain relief and/or claim compensation the Operator Partner 

must:  

28.2.1 as soon as practicable, and in any event within twenty (20) Business Days 

after it became aware that the Compensation Event has caused or is 

likely to cause breach of an obligation under this Agreement and/or the 

Operator Partner to incur costs or lose Revenue, give to the Authority a 

notice of its claim for payment of compensation and/or relief from its 

obligations under this Agreement;  

28.2.2 within ten (10) Business Days of receipt by the Authority of the notice referred 

to in Clause 28.2.1, give full details of the Compensation Event and the 

relief from its obligations under this Agreement and/or any estimated 

Change in Costs and/or any estimated Change in Revenue claimed; and  

 28.2.3  demonstrate to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority that:  

(a) the Compensation Event was the direct cause of:  

(i) the estimated Change in Costs;   

(ii) the estimated Change in Revenue; and  

Pack Page 229



 

99120273.1\kp07                80  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(iii) breach of the Operator Partner's 

obligations under this Agreement; and  

(b) the estimated Change in Costs, estimated Change in Revenue and/or relief 

from the obligations under this Agreement claimed, could not reasonably be 

expected to be mitigated or recovered by the Operator Partner acting in 

accordance with Good Industry Practice.  

Giving of Relief and Compensation  

28.3 In the event that the Operator Partner has complied with its obligations under Clause 

28.2, then:   

28.3.1 in the case of an additional cost being incurred or Change in Revenue, 

the Authority shall compensate the Operator Partner for the estimated 

Change in Costs as adjusted to reflect the actual Change in Costs 

reasonably incurred and/or, without double counting, for any Change in 

Revenue (to the extent it could not reasonably have been mitigated) in 

accordance with Clause 28.6 by an adjustment to the Annual Payment in 

accordance with Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments); and/or  

28.3.2 the Authority shall give the Operator Partner such relief from its 

obligations under this Agreement as is reasonable for such a 

Compensation Event.  

Late Provision of Notice or Information  

28.4 In the event that information is provided after the dates referred to in Clause 28.2, 

then the Operator Partner shall not be entitled to any compensation or relief from its 

obligations under this Agreement in respect of the period for which the relevant 

information is delayed.  

Failure to Agree  

28.5 If the parties cannot agree the extent of any compensation, relief from the Operator 

Partner's obligations under this Agreement, or the Authority disagrees that a 

Compensation Event has occurred (or as to its consequences), or that the Operator 

Partner is entitled to relief under this Clause 28 (Compensation Events), the parties 

shall resolve the matter in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

Method of Calculating Compensation  

28.6 Any payment of compensation referred to in Clause 28.3.1 shall be calculated in 

accordance with Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments), other than any Loss of 

Revenue which shall be calculated in accordance with Schedule 21 (Loss of 

Revenue) and compensated in accordance with Clause 37 (Financial  

Adjustments).  

29.  RELIEF EVENTS  

Occurrence  

Pack Page 230



 

99120273.1\kp07                81  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

29.1 If and to the extent that a Relief Event adversely affects the ability of the Operator 

Partner to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, then the Operator 

Partner shall be entitled to apply for relief from any rights of the Authority arising 

under Clause 40 (Termination on Operator Partner Default) and its obligations under 

this Agreement.  

Relief  

29.2  To obtain relief, the Operator Partner must:  

29.2.1 as soon as practicable, and in any event within twenty (20) Business Days 

after it becomes aware that the Relief Event is likely to adversely affect 

the ability of the Operator Partner to perform its obligations give to the 

Authority a notice of its claim for relief from its obligations under this 

Agreement, including full details of the nature of the Relief Event, the date 

of occurrence and its likely duration;  

29.2.2 within five (5) Business Days of receipt by the Authority of the notice referred 

to in Clause 29.2.1, give full details of the relief claimed; and  

 29.2.3  demonstrate to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority that:  

(a) the Operator Partner and its Sub-Contractors could not have 

avoided such occurrence or consequences by steps which they 

might reasonably be expected to have taken, without incurring 

material expenditure;  

(b) the Relief Event directly caused the need for relief from  

obligations;  

(c) the relief from the obligations under this Agreement claimed could 

not reasonably be expected to be mitigated or dealt with by the  

Operator Partner acting in accordance with Good Industry Practice, 

without incurring material expenditure; and  

(d) the Operator Partner is using reasonable endeavours to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement.  

Consequences  

29.3 In the event that the Operator Partner has complied with its obligations under Clause 

29.2, then the Authority shall not be entitled to exercise its right to terminate this 

Agreement under Clause 40 (Termination on Operator Partner Default) and, subject 

to Clause 29.4, shall give such other relief as has been requested by the Operator 

Partner.  

Performance Failure and Performance Adjustments4  

 
4 For Surplus Annual Payment schemes, the Operator Partner should be entitled to apply for relief from having to pay Performance 
Adjustments as the Authority will continue to receive the Monthly Payment and it will reduce the cost of BII cover on the basis no 

Pack Page 231



 

99120273.1\kp07                82  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

29.4 Nothing in this Clause 29 (Relief Events) shall, where the Annual Payment is a 

Deficit Annual Payment, affect any entitlement to apply Performance Failures and/or 

Performance Adjustments under Clause 36 (Payment) and Schedule 5 (PPM) 

during the period in which the Relief Event is subsisting provided that any such 

Performance Failures and Performance Adjustments shall be disregarded for the 

purposes of the Authority's right to terminate this Agreement for an Operator Partner 

Default.   

Information  

29.5 In the event that information required by Clause 29.2 is provided after the dates 

referred to in that Clause, then the Operator Partner shall not be entitled to any relief 

during the period for which the information is delayed.  

Notice  

29.6 The Operator Partner shall notify the Authority if at any time it receives or becomes 

aware of any further information relating to the Relief Event, giving details of that 

information to the extent that such information is new or renders information 

previously submitted materially inaccurate or misleading.  

Disputes  

29.7 If the parties cannot agree the extent of the relief required, or the Authority disagrees 

that a Relief Event has occurred or that the Operator Partner is entitled to relief from 

obligations under this Agreement, the parties shall resolve the matter in accordance 

with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

30.  FORCE MAJEURE  

Obligations  

30.1 No party shall be entitled to bring a claim for a breach of obligations under this 

Agreement by the other party or incur any liability to the other party for any losses 

or damages incurred by that other party to the extent that a Force Majeure Event 

occurs and the Affected Party is prevented from carrying out obligations by that 

Force Majeure Event. The Authority shall not be entitled to terminate this Agreement 

for an Operator Partner Default if such Operator Partner Default arises from a Force 

Majeure Event.  

Notification for Force Majeure  

30.2 On the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Affected Party shall notify the other 

party as soon as practicable.  The notification shall include details of the  

  

 
Performance Adjustments are payable. On Deficit Annual Payment schemes Payment Adjustments will continue to apply on the basis the 
Authority should not pay for a service it is not getting.  

Pack Page 232



 

99120273.1\kp07                83  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Force Majeure Event, including evidence of its effect on the obligations of the 

Affected Party and any action proposed to mitigate its effect.  

Consultation  

30.3 As soon as practicable following such notification, the parties shall consult with each 

other in good faith and use all reasonable endeavours to agree appropriate terms to 

mitigate the effects of the Force Majeure Event and facilitate the continued 

performance of this Agreement.  

Unable to Agree  

30.4 If no such terms are agreed on or before the date falling eighty (80) Business Days 

after the date of the commencement of the Force Majeure Event and such Force 

Majeure Event is continuing or its consequence remains such that the Affected Party 

is unable to comply with its obligations under this Agreement for a period of more 

than one hundred and twenty (120) Business Days, then, either party may terminate 

this Agreement by giving twenty (20) Business Days' written notice to the other party.  

Notice to Continue  

30.5 If the Operator Partner gives notice to the Authority under Clause 30.4 that it wishes to 

terminate this Agreement, then the Authority has the option either to accept such 

notice or to respond in writing on or before the date falling ten (10) Business Days 

after the date of its receipt stating that it requires this Agreement to continue. If the 

Authority gives the Operator Partner such notice (Continuation Notice), then:  

30.5.1 the Authority shall (where the Annual Payment is a Deficit Annual Payment) 

pay to the Operator Partner the Annual Payment and any Loss of 

Revenue (to the extent that such Loss of Revenue arises as a direct result 

of the Force Majeure Event) or, where the Annual Payment is a Surplus 

Annual Payment, the Operator Partner shall pay the Authority the Annual 

Payment less any Loss of Revenue arising as a direct result of the Force 

Majeure Event from the day after the date on which this Agreement would 

have terminated under Clause 30.4 as if the Services were being fully 

provided; and  

30.5.2 this Agreement will not terminate until expiry of written notice (of at least 

twenty (20) Business Days) from the Authority to the Operator Partner 

that it wishes this Agreement to terminate.  

Mitigation  

30.6 The parties shall at all times following the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event use all 

reasonable endeavours to prevent and mitigate the effects of any delay and the 

Operator Partner shall at all times during which a Force Majeure Event is subsisting 

take all steps in accordance with Good Industry Practice to overcome or minimise 

the consequences of the Force Majeure Event.  

Cessation of Force Majeure Event  

Pack Page 233



 

99120273.1\kp07                84  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

30.7 The Affected Party shall notify the other party as soon as practicable after the Force 

Majeure Event ceases or no longer causes the Affected Party to be unable to comply 

with its obligations under this Agreement. Following such notification this Agreement 

shall continue to be performed on the terms existing immediately prior to the 

occurrence of the Force Majeure Event.  

     

Pack Page 234



 

99120273.1\kp07                85  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 5 - LIABILITY AND RISK MANAGEMENT  

31.  INDEMNITIES, GUARANTEES AND CONTRACTUAL CLAIMS  

Operator Partner's Indemnity  

31.1 The Operator Partner shall, subject to Clause 31.3 be responsible for, and shall release 

and indemnify the Authority on demand from and against all liability for Direct Losses 

arising from:  

 31.1.1  death or personal injury;  

31.1.2 loss of or damage to property (including property belonging to the Authority 

or for which it is responsible) but excluding the land, buildings, plant, 

equipment and other assets which are the responsibility of the Operator 

Partner to provide under this Agreement and which form part of the 

Facilities; and  

31.1.3 third party actions, claims and/or demands other than those which are the 

subject of the indemnity in Clause 31.2,  

which may arise out of, or in consequence of, the operation or maintenance of the 

Sites and/or Facilities or the performance or non-performance by the Operator 

Partner of its obligations under this Agreement or the presence on the Authority's 

property of the Operator Partner or an Operator Partner Related Party or the 

presence on the land or buildings forming part of a Facility of any User.  

31.2 The Operator Partner shall, subject to Clause 31.3, be responsible for, and shall release 

and indemnify the Authority or any Authority Related Party, on demand from and 

against all liability for Direct Losses and Indirect Losses arising from third party 

actions, claims or demands (as described in Clause 31.1.3) brought against the 

Authority or any Authority Related Party for breach of statutory duty which may arise 

out of, or in consequence of a breach by the Operator Partner of its obligations under 

this Agreement to the extent that there are no other remedies available to the 

Authority under this Agreement.  

Operator Partner not Responsible  

31.3  The Operator Partner shall not be responsible or be obliged to indemnify the  

Authority for:  

31.3.1 any matter referred to in Clause 31.1 which arises as a direct result of the 

Operator Partner acting on a written notice issued by the Authority (and 

for the purposes of this Clause 31.3.1, Clause 1.6 shall not apply); or  

31.3.2 any injury, loss, damage, cost and expense caused by the negligence or wilful 

misconduct of the Authority or any Authority Related Party (other than to 

the extent such negligence or wilful misconduct would not have occurred 

but for a breach by the Operator Partner of its obligations under this 

Agreement) or by the breach of the Authority of its obligations under this 

Agreement.  

Pack Page 235



 

99120273.1\kp07                86  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Limitation of Indemnity  

31.4 An indemnity by either party under any provision of this Agreement shall be without 

limitation to any indemnity by that party under any other provision of this Agreement.  

Notification of Claims  

31.5 Where either party (Indemnified Party) wishes to make a claim under this Agreement 

against the other (Indemnifying Party) in relation to a claim made against it by a 

third party (Third Party Claim), the Indemnified Party shall give notice of the 

relevant claim as soon as reasonably practicable setting out full particulars of the 

claim.  

Conduct of Claims  

31.6 Subject to the rights of the insurers under the Operator Partner Insurances and the 

Authority Insurances, the Indemnifying Party may, with the assistance and co-

operation of the Indemnified Party, have conduct of the Third Party Claim including 

its settlement and the Indemnified Party shall not, unless the Indemnifying Party has 

failed to resolve the Third Party Claim within a reasonable period, take any action to 

settle or prosecute the Third Party Claim.  

Costs of Claims  

31.7 The Indemnifying Party shall, if it wishes to have conduct of any Third Party Claim, give 

reasonable security to the Indemnified Party for any cost or liability arising out of the 

conduct of the Third Party Claim by the Indemnifying Party.  

Mitigation  

31.8 The Indemnified Party shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise and 

mitigate any loss for which the Indemnified Party is entitled to bring a claim against 

the Indemnifying Party pursuant to this Agreement.  

Sub-Contractor Losses  

31.9  Where:  

31.9.1 a Sub-Contractor is entitled to claim any compensation and/or relief from the 

Operator Partner under the Sub-Contracts; and  

31.9.2 the Operator Partner subsequently makes a claim against the Authority under 

this Agreement in relation to such compensation and/or relief,  

the Authority waives any right to defend the Operator Partner's claim on the ground 

that the Operator Partner is only required to pay compensation or grant relief to the 

Sub-Contractor under the Sub-Contracts to the extent that the same is recoverable 

from the Authority.  

Pack Page 236



 

99120273.1\kp07                87  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

32.  OPERATOR PARTNER INSURANCES  

Requirement to Maintain  

32.1 The Operator Partner shall, in relation to each Facility, during the Contract Period take 

out and maintain or procure the maintenance of the Operator Partner Insurances.  

Obligation on Parties  

32.2 Neither party to this Agreement shall take any action or fail to take any reasonable 

action, or (insofar as it is reasonably within its power) permit anything to occur in 

relation to it, which would entitle any insurer to refuse to pay any claim under any 

insurance policy in which that party is an insured, a co-insured or an additional 

insured person.  

Evidence of Policies  

32.3  The Operator Partner shall provide to the Authority:  

 32.3.1  copies on request of all insurance policies referred to in Clause 32.1  

(together with any other information reasonably requested by the 

Authority relating to such insurance policies) and the Authority shall be 

entitled to inspect them during ordinary business hours; and  

32.3.2 evidence that the premiums payable under all insurance policies have been 

paid and that the insurances are in full force and effect in accordance with 

the requirements of this Clause 32 and Schedule 13 (Insurances).  

Renewal Certificates  

32.4 Renewal certificates in relation to any of the Operator Partner Insurances shall be 

obtained by the Operator Partner as and when necessary and copies (certified in a 

manner acceptable to the Authority acting reasonably) shall be forwarded by the 

Operator Partner to the Authority as soon as possible but in any event on or before 

the renewal date.  

Breach  

32.5 If the Operator Partner is in breach of Clause 32.1, the Authority may pay any premiums 

required to keep such insurance in force or itself procure such insurance and may, 

in either case, recover such amounts from the Operator Partner on written demand.  

Notification of Claims  

32.6 The Operator Partner shall give the Authority notification within ten (10) Business Days 

after any claim in excess of twenty thousand pounds (£20,000) (Indexed) on any of 

the Operator Partner Insurances or which, but for the application of the applicable 

insurance policy excess, would be made on any of the Operator Partner Insurances 

and (if required by the Authority) give full details of the incident giving rise to the 

claim.  

Pack Page 237



 

99120273.1\kp07                88  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Limit of Liability  

32.7 Neither failure to comply nor full compliance with the insurance provisions of this 

Agreement shall limit or relieve the Operator Partner of its other liabilities and 

obligations under this Agreement.  

Premia  

32.8 Save where expressly set out in this Agreement, the insurance premia for the Operator 

Partner Insurances and the amount of any loss that would otherwise be recoverable 

under any of the Operator Partner Insurances but for the applicable uninsured 

deductible and limit of indemnity in respect of such insurance shall at all times be 

the responsibility of the Operator Partner.  

Authority Approval  

32.9 The Operator Partner Insurances shall be effected with insurers approved by the 

Authority, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  

33.  AUTHORITY INSURANCES  

33.1  The Authority shall take out and maintain the Authority Insurances.  

33.2  In relation to the Authority Insurances the Operator Partner shall:  

 33.2.1  comply with all reasonable requirements of the insurers;  

33.2.2 comply with all requirements of the fire authority as to fire precautions relating 

to the Facilities or the Sites; and  

33.2.3 give notice to the Authority of any requirements and recommendations of the 

fire authority as to fire precautions relating to the Facilities or the Sites or 

any requirements or recommendations of the insurers.  

33.3 Claims under the Authority Insurances shall be pursued by the Authority at its 

discretion.  Where the Authority pursues such claims, the Operator Partner shall 

give its full co-operation in assisting the Authority including providing all such 

documents, data and information as may be reasonably required by the Authority.  

33.4 To the extent that the premium levels and/or deductible levels in respect of the 

Authority's Insurances have increased as a result of a change in the Authority's 

claims made under the Authority's Insurances caused by Operator Partner Damage 

then the Authority shall be entitled to claim:   

33.4.1  the increased premia attributable to such Operator Partner Damage; and  

33.4.2 in respect of each claim on the Authority's Insurances made by the Authority 

for which the Authority carries deductible risk, the amount by  

which the deductible applying under the Authority’s Insurances at the 

relevant time has increased as a result of Operator Partner Damage,    

Pack Page 238



 

99120273.1\kp07                89  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

in each case as a debt due or exercise its rights of set off pursuant to Clause 36.16, 

provided always that in each case the Authority shall provide written confirmation 

from the insurance broker responsible for the Authority's Insurances that the 

increases in premia and/or deductibles (and the amount of such increases) have 

been caused by Operator Partner Damage claims in accordance with this 

Agreement.  

34.  REINSTATEMENT AND CHANGE OF REQUIREMENT AFTER INSURED 

EVENT  

34.1 All insurance proceeds received under any policy referred to in paragraph 1 of Part 2 

of Schedule 13 (Insurances) (Operator Partner Physical Damage Policies) shall 

be applied to repair, reinstate and replace each part or parts of the assets in respect 

of which such proceeds were received.  

34.2 In the event of any damage to any Facility or Site which damage is covered or would 

be covered by the Authority Insurances, the Authority shall in consultation with the 

Operator Partner carry out or procure the carrying out of reinstatement works to 

repair or replace property or assets so damaged and the occurrence of such 

damage and any such reinstatement works carried out to the extent it affects the 

Services and/or the operation of the Facility shall be treated as an Authority Change.  

35.  RISKS THAT BECOME UNINSURABLE  

Uninsurable Risks  

35.1 Nothing in Clause 32 (Insurance) or this Clause 35 shall oblige the Operator Partner to 

take out insurance in respect of a risk which is Uninsurable save where the 

predominant cause of the risk being Uninsurable is an act or omission of the 

Operator Partner or an Operator Partner Related Party.  

Risks Become Uninsurable  

35.2 If a risk usually covered by property damage, third party liability, business interruption 

(but excluding loss of profits) or statutory insurances, in each case required under 

this Agreement, becomes Uninsurable then:  

35.2.1 the Operator Partner shall notify the Authority within five (5) Business Days 

of the risk becoming Uninsurable; and  

35.2.2 if both parties agree, or it is determined in accordance with the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure, that the risk is Uninsurable and that:  

(a) the risk being Uninsurable is not caused by the actions, breaches, 

omissions or defaults of the Operator Partner or a sub-contractor; 

and  

(b) the Operator Partner has demonstrated to the Authority that the 

Operator Partner and a prudent board of directors of a company 

operating the same or substantially similar businesses in the United 

Kingdom to that operated by the Operator Partner would in similar 

Pack Page 239



 

99120273.1\kp07                90  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

circumstances (in the absence of the type of relief envisaged by this 

Clause 35) be acting reasonably and in the best interests of the 

company if they resolved to cease to operate such businesses as a 

result of that risk becoming Uninsurable, taking into account inter 

alia (and without limitation) the likelihood of the Uninsurable risk 

occurring (if it has not already occurred), the financial 

consequences for such company if such Uninsurable risk did occur 

(or has occurred) and other mitigants against such consequences 

which may be available to such company,  

then the parties shall meet to discuss the means by which the risk should 

be managed or shared (including considering the issue of self-insurance 

by either party).  

Consequences  

35.3 If the requirements of Clause 35.2 are satisfied, but the parties cannot agree as to how 

to manage or share the risk, then:  

35.3.1 in respect of such third party liability insurance only, the Authority shall 

(at the Authority's option) either pay to the Operator Partner an amount 

equal to the amount set out in Clause 47 (Compensation on Termination 

for Force Majeure) and this Agreement will terminate or elect to allow this 

Agreement to continue and Clause 35.3.2 shall thereafter apply in respect 

of such risk;  

35.3.2 in respect of such property damage insurance or third party liability 

insurance (if the Authority elects to allow the Agreement to continue in 

accordance with Clause 35.3.1) business interruption (but not loss of 

profits), delay in start-up (but not loss of profits) or statutory insurances 

this Agreement shall continue and on the occurrence of the risk (but only 

for as long as such risk remains Uninsurable) the Authority shall (at the 

Authority's option) either pay to the Operator Partner an amount equal to 

insurance proceeds that would have been payable had the relevant 

insurance continued to be available and this Agreement will continue, or 

an amount equal to the amount calculated in accordance with Clause 47 

(Compensation on Termination for Force Majeure) plus (in relation to third 

party liability insurance only) the amount of insurance proceeds that 

would have been payable whereupon this Agreement will terminate;  

(a) where pursuant to Clauses 35.3.1 and/or 35.3.2 this Agreement 

continues then the Annual Payment where it is a Deficit Annual 

Payment shall be reduced in each Contract Year for which the 

relevant insurance is not maintained by an amount equal to the 

premium paid (or which would have been paid) by the Operator  

Partner in respect of the relevant risk in the Contract Year prior to  

it becoming Uninsurable (Indexed from the first day of the Contract 

Year in which such risk became Uninsurable) from the date that the 

risk became Uninsurable provided that where in applying such 

Pack Page 240



 

99120273.1\kp07                91  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

amount the Deficit Annual Payment is reduced to zero or would after 

such payment result in a Surplus Annual Payment any such excess 

amount shall be for the account of the Operator Partner;  

(b) where the risk is Uninsurable for part of a Contract Year only the 

reduction in the Annual Payment (where it is a Deficit Annual 

Payment) shall be pro-rated to the number of months for which the 

risk was Uninsurable; and  

(c) where pursuant to Clauses 35.3.1 and/or 35.3.2 this Agreement 

continues the Operator Partner shall approach the insurance 

market at least every four months to establish whether the risk 

remains Uninsurable.  As soon as the Operator Partner is aware 

that the risk is no longer Uninsurable, the Operator Partner shall 

take out and maintain and procure the taking out and maintenance 

of insurance (to be incepted as soon as reasonably practicable) for 

such risk in accordance with this Agreement.  

35.4 If, pursuant to Clause 35.3.2, the Authority elects to make payment to the Operator 

Partner (such that the Agreement will terminate) (Relevant Payment) the Operator 

Partner shall have the option (exercisable within twenty (20) Business Days of the 

date of such election by the Authority (Option Period)) to pay to the Authority on or 

before the end of the Option Period, an amount equal to the insurance proceeds 

that would have been payable had the risk not become Uninsurable, in which case 

this Agreement will continue (and the Relevant Payment will not be made by the 

Authority), and the Operator Partner's payment shall be applied for the same 

purpose and in the same manner as insurance proceeds would have been applied 

had the relevant risk not become Uninsurable.  

Increase in Insured Amounts  

35.5 The limit of indemnity and the maximum deductibles for each of the Operator Partner 

Insurances shall be Indexed, provided such limits of indemnity and maximum 

deductibles shall only be increased on each renewal date such that the limit that is 

Indexed becomes equal to or exceeds the next whole insurable amount or 

deductible (as the case may be) available in the insurance market.  

Unavailability of Terms or Conditions  

35.6 If, upon the renewal of any insurance which the Operator Partner is required to 

maintain or to procure the maintenance of pursuant to this Agreement:  

35.6.1 any Insurance Term is not available to the Operator Partner in the worldwide 

insurance market with reputable insurers of good standing; and/or  

35.6.2 the insurance premium payable for insurance incorporating such  

Insurance Term is such that the Insurance Term is not generally being  

incorporated in insurance procured in the worldwide insurance market 

with reputable insurers of good standing by contractors in the United 

Kingdom,  

Pack Page 241



 

99120273.1\kp07                92  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(other than, in each case, by reason of one or more actions or omissions of the 

Operator Partner and/or any sub-contractors) then Clause 35.7 shall apply.  

35.7 If it is agreed or determined that Clause 35.6 applies then the Authority shall waive 

the Operator Partner's obligations in Clause 32 (Operator Partner Insurances) 

and/or Schedule 13 (Insurances) in respect of that particular Insurance Term and 

the Operator Partner shall not be considered in breach of its obligations regarding 

the maintenance of insurance pursuant to this Agreement as a result of the failure 

to maintain insurance incorporating such Insurance Term for so long as the relevant 

circumstances described in Clause 35.6 continue to apply to such Insurance Term.  

35.8 To the extent that the parties agree (acting reasonably), or it is determined pursuant 

to the Dispute Resolution Procedure, that an alternative or replacement term and/or 

condition of insurance is available to the Operator Partner in the worldwide 

insurance market with reputable insurers of good standing which if included in the 

relevant insurance policy would fully or partially address the Operator Partner's 

inability to maintain or procure the maintenance of insurance with the relevant 

Insurance Term, at a cost which contractors in the UK are (at such time) generally 

prepared to pay, the Operator Partner shall maintain or procure the maintenance of 

insurance including such alternative or replacement term and/or condition. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement whatsoever, the costs of such 

insurance shall be for the account of the Operator Partner.  

35.9 Where the Authority has exercised the waiver pursuant to Clause 35.7, it shall where 

a Deficit Annual Payment applies, be entitled to deduct from the Monthly Payment, 

the Adjusted Amount.  

35.10 While Clause 35.6 applies, the Annual Payment where a Deficit Annual Payment 

applies, shall be reduced each Contract Year by the aggregate Adjusted Amount for 

that Contract Year.  

35.11 The Operator Partner shall notify the Authority as soon as reasonably practicable 

and in any event within five days of becoming aware that Clause 35.6.1 and/or 

35.6.2 are likely to apply or (on expiry of the relevant insurance then in place) do 

apply in respect of an Insurance Term (irrespective of the reason for the same).  The 

Operator Partner shall provide the Authority with such information as the Authority 

reasonably requests regarding the unavailability of the Insurance Term and the 

parties shall meet to discuss the means by which such unavailability should be 

managed as soon as is reasonably practicable.  

35.12 In the event that Clause 35.6.1 and/or 35.6.2 apply in respect of an Insurance Term 

(irrespective of the reasons for the same) the Operator Partner shall approach the 

insurance market at least every four months to establish whether Clause 35.6.1 

and/or 35.6.2 remain applicable to the Insurance Term. As soon as the Operator 

Partner is aware that Clause 35.6.1 and/or 35.6.2 has ceased to  

apply to the Insurance Term, the Operator Partner shall take out and maintain or 

procure the taking out and maintenance of the  insurance (to be incepted as soon 

as is reasonably practicable) incorporating such Insurance Term in accordance with 

Pack Page 242



 

99120273.1\kp07                93  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

this Agreement and any amount of Annual Payment adjusted pursuant to Clause 

35.9 or 35.10 shall cease to apply.  

     

Pack Page 243



 

99120273.1\kp07                94  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 6 - PAYMENT AND SURPLUS SHARE  

36.  PAYMENT  

Payment of the Monthly Payment  

36.1 Following the Commencement Date, the Authority shall pay the Operator Partner the 

Monthly Payment in respect of each Contract Month where the Annual Payment is 

a Deficit Annual Payment, and the Operator Partner shall pay the Authority the 

Monthly Payment in respect of each Contract Month where the Annual Payment is 

a Surplus Annual Payment, in each case calculated in accordance with Schedule 5 

(PPM).  

36.2 Where the Annual Payment is a Deficit Annual Payment, the Monthly Payment shall be 

reduced in each Contract Month by any Performance Adjustments applicable in 

accordance with Schedule 5 (PPM).  

36.3 Where the Annual Payment is a Surplus Annual Payment, the Operator Partner shall 

separately pay to the Authority in respect of a Contract Month any Performance 

Adjustments applicable in accordance with Schedule 5 (PPM).  

Report and Invoice  

36.4 On the first Business Day of each Contract Month the Operator Partner shall submit to 

the Authority:  

36.4.1 a report showing the Monthly Payment and any Performance Adjustments for 

the previous Contract Month and, individually, each item taken into 

account in calculating such Monthly Payment and Performance 

Adjustments pursuant to Schedule 5 (PPM); and  

36.4.2 in respect of a Deficit Annual Payment, an invoice for the amount (if any) 

shown by the report as owing by the Authority to the Operator Partner, 

taking into account the Monthly Payment and any Performance 

Adjustments applied in accordance with Clause 36.2 and for any VAT 

payable by the Authority in respect of that amount; or  

36.4.3 in respect of a Surplus Annual Payment a statement showing the Monthly 

Payment payable by the Operator Partner to the Authority for the 

Authority to issue an invoice to the Operator Partner for such amount plus 

any VAT (if any) payable in respect of that amount.  The Authority shall 

issue its invoice to the Operator Partner, taking account of the Operator 

Partner's statement (but not being bound by it).  

Final Payment Period  

36.5  Where the Annual Payment is a Deficit Annual Payment:  

36.5.1 during the final two Contract Months, in addition to the amounts referred to in 

Clause 36.4.2 the Authority may withhold an amount equivalent to the 

average per Contract Month of the sum of the Performance  

Pack Page 244



 

99120273.1\kp07                95  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Adjustments applicable to the previous six (6) Contract Months until  

such time as the Operator Partner shall have provided a report to the 

Authority in respect of those Contract Months containing the information 

set out in Clause 36.4.1; and  

36.5.2 on receipt of the reports from the Operator Partner in respect of the final two 

Contract Months the Authority may retain from the amounts withheld 

pursuant to Clause 36.5.1 a sum equivalent to the sum of the 

Performance Adjustments identified in the report or any other amount 

agreed by the parties or determined pursuant to Clause 70 (Dispute 

Resolution) as owing to the Authority.  The Authority shall pay the balance 

of any monies withheld to the Operator Partner or if it is agreed or 

determined the Operator Partner owes monies to the Authority in excess 

of those sums withheld, the Operator Partner shall pay such additional 

amounts to the Authority, in each case with interest on that amount at the 

Prescribed Rate calculated on a daily basis and compounded quarterly 

from the date on which the payment was withheld by the Authority 

pursuant to Clause 36.5.1 or from the date on which over payment was 

made (in the case of excessive claims by the Operator Partner) until all 

relevant monies have been paid in full and whether before or after 

judgement.  

Payment  

36.6 Subject to the remaining provisions of this Clause, the Authority shall pay the amount 

stated in any invoice submitted under Clause 36.4.2 and the Operator Partner shall 

pay the amounts stated in any invoices submitted by the Authority pursuant to 

Clause 36.4.3 on the final Business Day of the Contract Month in question.  

36.7 Where the Annual Payment is a Surplus Annual Payment, the amount of any 

Performance Adjustments calculated in accordance with Schedule 5 (PPM) shall be 

paid by the Operator Partner to the Authority at the same time as the Monthly 

Payment in respect of the relevant Contract Month is paid.   

Disputed Amounts  

36.8 If either party (Disputing Party) disputes the other Party's (Claiming Party) entitlement 

to any part of the amount claimed by the Operator Partner pursuant to Clause 36.4 

in respect of any Contract Month the following provisions shall apply.  

36.9 At least five (5) Business Days before the final date for payment due to the Claiming 

Party, the Disputing Party shall give notice to the Claiming Party of the following:  

36.9.1 any amounts claimed by the Claiming Party that the Disputing Party objects 

to and is seeking to withhold; or  

36.9.2 any amounts that the Disputing Party is owed by the Claiming Party (including 

any amounts previously overpaid to the Claiming Party) which the 

Disputing Party is seeking to withhold.  

Pack Page 245



 

99120273.1\kp07                96  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

36.10 Any notice shall set out the sum or sums proposed to be withheld, grounds for 

withholding payment and the amount attributable to each ground.  

36.11 The Disputing Party shall notify the Claiming Party in writing within ten (10) Business 

Days of receipt by the Disputing Party of the relevant invoice and supporting report 

of that part of the amount (insofar as at the time of such notice the Disputing Party 

is reasonably able to quantify it) which the Disputing Party (acting in good faith) 

disputes (Disputed Amount) and submit to the Claiming Party such supporting 

evidence as the Disputing Party may have.  

36.12 The Authority may withhold payment of any Disputed Amount pending agreement or 

determination of the Operator Partner's entitlement in relation to the Disputed 

Amount but shall pay on the due date any undisputed amounts. The Operator  

Partner may, where there is a Surplus Annual Payment, withhold payment of any 

Disputed Amount pending agreement or determination of the Authority's entitlement 

in relation to the Disputed Amount but shall pay on the due date any undisputed 

amount.  

Response to Disputing Party Notice  

36.13 Within five (5) Business Days following receipt by the Claiming Party of any notice 

served by the Disputing Party pursuant to Clause 36.9, the Claiming Party shall 

respond by notifying the Disputing Party as to whether or not it agrees with the 

statements made in that notice. If the Claiming Party indicates that it does agree, or 

if the Claiming Party fails to make such a response within that time limit, the 

Disputing Party shall be entitled:  

36.13.1 to retain on a permanent basis any amounts withheld pursuant to Clause 

36.12; and  

36.13.2 to reclaim from the Claiming Party the amount of any over-payment which 

may have been made to the Claiming Party together with interest on any 

such amount at the Prescribed Rate calculated on a daily basis and 

compounded quarterly from the date on which the over-payment was 

made until that amount has been paid in full and whether before or after 

judgment.  

Dispute  

36.14 If the Claiming Party responds (pursuant to Clause 36.13) that it does not agree with 

all or any of the statements made in any notice served by the Disputing Party 

pursuant to Clause 36.9, the matter or matters in question shall be determined under 

the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

Determination of Dispute  

36.15 If the determination of any dispute conducted pursuant to Clause 36.14 shows that:  

36.15.1 the Disputing Party has withheld any amount which the Claiming Party was 

entitled to be paid; or  

Pack Page 246



 

99120273.1\kp07                97  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

36.15.2 the Claiming Party has claimed under Clause 36.4 any amount which it was 

not entitled to be paid,  

the Disputing Party shall pay such amount to the Claiming Party or the Claiming 

Party shall repay such amount to the Disputing Party with interest in each case on 

that amount at the Prescribed Rate calculated on a daily basis and compounded 

quarterly from the date on which payment should have been made (in the case of 

failure to pay by the Disputing Party) or from the date on which over payment was 

made (in the case of excessive claims by the Claiming Party) until all relevant 

monies have been paid in full and whether before or after judgment.  

Rights of Set Off  

36.16 Each party shall be entitled to retain or set off any amount owed to it by the other party 

under this Agreement which has fallen due and payable against any amount due to 

the other party under this Agreement.  

Set Off and Disputed Amounts  

36.17 If the payment or deduction of any amount referred to in Clause 36.16 is disputed then 

any undisputed element of that amount shall be paid and the disputed element shall 

be dealt with in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

VAT on Payments  

36.18 All amounts due under this Agreement are exclusive of VAT.  

36.19 If any supply made or referred to in this Agreement is or becomes chargeable to VAT 

then the person receiving the supply (Recipient) shall in addition pay the person 

making the supply (Supplier) the amount of that VAT against receipt by the 

Recipient from the Supplier of a proper VAT invoice in respect of that supply.  

36.20 Where under this Agreement any amount is calculated by reference to any sum which 

has or may be incurred by any person, the amount shall include any VAT in respect 

of that amount only to the extent that such VAT is not recoverable as input tax by 

that person (or a member of the same VAT group), whether by set off or repayment.  

36.21 The Operator Partner shall provide the Authority with any information reasonably 

requested by the Authority in relation to the amount of VAT chargeable in 

accordance with this Agreement and payable by the Authority to the Operator 

Partner.  

Promoting Tax Compliance  

36.22 If, at any point during the Contract Period, an Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance 

occurs, the Operator shall:  

36.22.1 notify the Authority in writing of such fact within 5 Business Days of its 

occurrence; and  

 36.22.2  promptly provide to the Authority:  

Pack Page 247



 

99120273.1\kp07                98  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(a) details of the steps which the Operator is taking to address the 

Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance and to prevent the same from 

recurring, together with any mitigating factors that it considers 

relevant; and   

(b) such other information in relation to the Occasion of Tax 

NonCompliance as the Authority may reasonably require.  

Indexation  

36.23 The Annual Payment, and other amounts stated to be subject to indexation, shall 

be Indexed in accordance with clause 1.4 on 1 April 2022 and on each anniversary 

thereof.  

NNDR  

36.24 The parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 15 (NNDR).  

Surplus Share  

36.25 The Authority is entitled to share in the surpluses generated at the Facilities in 

accordance with the sharing mechanism set out in Schedule 17 (Surplus Share).  

37.  FINANCIAL ADJUSTMENTS  

Updating the LOBTA  

37.1 Whenever a Relevant Event or Loss of Revenue Event occurs, the financial 

consequence shall (save where otherwise provided in this Agreement or where the 

parties mutually agree otherwise) be determined in accordance with this Clause 37 

(Financial Adjustments).  Where for the purposes of this Clause 37 (Financial 

Adjustments) the LOBTA is to be adjusted by reference to a Relevant Event or Loss 

of Revenue Event, this shall be carried out by the Operator Partner, in consultation 

with the Authority, to reflect the cumulative impact of any prior Relevant Event or 

Loss of Revenue Event on the version of the LOBTA applicable immediately prior to 

the relevant adjustment and to reflect the impact of the Relevant Event or Loss of 

Revenue Event in respect of which such adjustment is being undertaken. In 

calculating the Change in Costs and Change in Revenue (in respect of Relevant 

Events) and in calculating the Loss of Revenue (in respect of Loss of Revenue 

Events) and in assessing other adjustments to be made to the LOBTA arising from 

a Relevant Event or Loss of Revenue Event, the Operator Partner shall be entitled 

to take into account, inter alia:  

37.1.1 any Change in Costs and Change in Revenue in respect of a Relevant Event 

and any Loss of Revenue (only) in respect of a Loss of Revenue Event;  

 37.1.2  reasonable economic assumptions prevailing at the time; and  

37.1.3  changes in the prospective technical performance of Services arising as 

a result of the Relevant Event or Loss of Revenue Event,  

Pack Page 248



 

99120273.1\kp07                99  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

provided that the Authority shall not be required (and the Operator Partner shall not 

be entitled) to take into account the financial impact up to the date of the Relevant 

Event or Loss of Revenue Event of those risks which the Operator Partner bears 

under the terms of this Agreement, including (to the extent so borne by the Operator 

Partner under this Agreement) changes in VAT rates, taxation rates, CPI and the 

impact of Performance Adjustments.  

Application to the LOBTA  

37.2 Where, pursuant to this Agreement, either party is entitled to payment of any sum the 

assessment of which properly requires reference to the LOBTA, the adjustment to 

the Annual Payment due shall be that required to ensure that, by reference to the 

LOBTA adjusted under this Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments), the Operator Partner 

is left in a no better and no worse position than under the version of the LOBTA 

applicable immediately prior to the relevant adjustment, and shall be ascertained by 

determining the adjustment to the Annual Payment required to maintain the financial 

position of the Operator Partner with that in which it would have been under the 

version of the LOBTA applicable immediately prior to the relevant adjustment.  

No Better and no Worse  

37.3 Subject to Clause 37.4, any reference in this Agreement to no better and no worse or 

to leaving the Operator Partner in a no better and no worse position shall be 

construed by reference to the Operator Partner's:  

37.3.1 rights, duties and liabilities under or arising pursuant to performance of this 

Agreement, the Leisure Contract and the FM Agreement; and  

37.3.2 ability to perform its obligations and exercise its rights under this Agreement, 

the Leisure Contract and the FM Agreement,  

so as to ensure that:  

37.3.3 the Operator Partner is left in a position which is no better and no worse in 

relation to the Base Profit, Base Head Office Costs and Base Modelled 

Costs (as defined in Schedule 17 (Benchmarking) by reference to the 

version of the LOBTA applicable immediately prior to the Relevant Event 

than had the Relevant Event not occurred; and  

37.3.4 the ability of the Operator Partner to comply with this Agreement is not 

adversely affected or improved as a consequence of the Relevant Event.  

37.4 In respect of any Loss of Revenue, the sum calculated pursuant to Schedule 21 (Loss 

of Revenue) and compensated by way of a lump sum payment, in instalments or by 

way of an adjustment to the Annual Payment shall be deemed to leave the Operator 

Partner in a "no better and no worse position".  

37.5 Where in accordance with this Agreement any adjustment is to be made to the Annual 

Payment (where it is a Surplus Annual Payment) or where such adjustment would, 

when applied to the Annual Payment give rise to a Surplus  

Pack Page 249



 

99120273.1\kp07                100  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Annual Payment the amount of the adjustment shall in all respects be limited so that 

in no circumstances will the Annual Payment, where it is a Surplus Annual Payment 

following an adjustment to be applied to it, exceed the Base Surplus Amount.  

Replacement of LOBTA and Loss of Revenue Schedule  

37.6 Any LOBTA produced following adjustments in accordance with this Clause 37 

(Financial Adjustments) shall, when it is approved by the Authority (such approval 

not to be unreasonably withheld), become the LOBTA for the purposes of this 

Agreement until its further amendment in accordance with this Agreement.   

37.7 When an LOBTA is updated for the purposes of this Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments), 

an updated Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue) shall also be prepared. When the 

updated Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue) is approved by the Authority (such approval 

not to be unreasonably withheld), it shall become Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue) 

for the purposes of this Agreement until its further amendment in accordance with 

this Agreement.  

Amendments to Logic and/or Formulae  

37.8 Where it is necessary to amend the logic or formulae incorporated in the LOBTA to 

permit adjustments to be made, this shall be done to the extent necessary and in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  

37.9 Where any amendment is made to the logic or formulae incorporated in the LOBTA, 

the LOBTA, shall first be run as at the date immediately prior to amendment to 

ensure that the key ratios from the LOBTA are maintained at no lower or no higher 

levels than the key ratios immediately post the amendment.  

Copies of the Revised LOBTA and Loss of Revenue Schedule  

37.10 Following any change to the LOBTA and/or Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue) under the 

provisions of this Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments), the Operator Partner shall 

promptly deliver a copy of the revised LOBTA and/or Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue) 

to the Authority in the same form as is established at the Commencement Date or 

in such other form as may be agreed between the parties.  

38.  BENCHMARKING  

The benchmarking exercises shall be carried out as required by and in accordance 

with Schedule 17 (Benchmarking).  

    

PART 7 - TERMINATION AND CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION  

39.  VOLUNTARY TERMINATION BY THE AUTHORITY  

39.1 The Authority may terminate this Agreement at any time on or before the Expiry Date 

by issuing a Termination Notice to the Operator Partner in accordance with this 

Clause 39.  

Pack Page 250



 

99120273.1\kp07                101  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

39.2  A Termination Notice pursuant to this Clause 39 must state the following:  

39.2.1 that the Authority is terminating this Agreement under this Clause 39 

(Voluntary Termination by the Authority);  

39.2.2 that this Agreement will terminate on the date specified in the notice, which 

must be a minimum of twenty (20) Business Days after the date of receipt 

of the notice; and  

39.2.3 whether the Authority requires the Operator Partner to transfer its rights, title 

and interest in and to the Assets to the Authority or as directed by the 

Authority.   

39.3  This Agreement will terminate on the date referred to in Clause 39.2.2.  

40.  TERMINATION ON OPERATOR PARTNER DEFAULT  

40.1 The Authority shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement by notice in writing to the 

Operator Partner if an Operator Partner Default has occurred. Any such Termination 

Notice must specify:   

40.1.1 the type and nature of Operator Partner Default that has occurred, giving 

reasonable details; and  

40.1.2 that in the case of any Operator Partner Default falling within limbs (a) 

(material breach), (g) (assignment, subcontracting and change of control) 

and (k) (insurance) of the definition of Operator Partner Default this 

Agreement will terminate on the day falling forty (40) Business Days after 

the date the Operator Partner receives the Termination Notice, unless:  

(a) in the case of a breach under limb (a) (material breach) of the 

definition of Operator Partner Default the Operator Partner puts 

forward an acceptable rectification programme within twenty (20)  

Business Days after the date the Operator Partner receives the 

Termination Notice (and implements such programme in 

accordance with its terms and rectifies the Operator Partner Default 

in accordance with the programme); and  

(b) in the case of any Operator Partner Default falling within limbs (a) 

(material breach), (g) (assignment, sub-contracting and change of 

control), (k) (insurance) and (m) (tax non-compliance) of the 

definition of Operator Partner Default the Operator Partner rectifies  

the Operator Partner Default within forty (40) Business Days after 

the date the Operator Partner receives the Termination Notice; or  

(c) that in the case of any other Operator Partner Default (not being 

limbs (a) (material breach), (g) (assignment, subcontracting and 

change of control) (k) (insurance) or (m) (tax) non-compliance), this 

Agreement will terminate on the date falling forty (40) Business 

Pack Page 251



 

99120273.1\kp07                102  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Days after the date the Operator Partner receives the Termination 

Notice.  

40.2 If the Operator Partner either rectifies the Operator Partner Default within the time 

period specified in the Termination Notice, or implements the rectification 

programme, if applicable, in accordance with its terms, the Termination Notice will 

be deemed to be revoked and this Agreement will continue.  

40.3 If either in the case of an Operator Partner Default within limb (a) (material breach) 

of the definition of that term where no acceptable rectification programme has been 

put forward pursuant to Clause 40.1.2(a) or in the case of an Operator Partner 

Default falling within limbs (g) (assignment, subcontracting and change of control) 

or (k) (insurance) of the definition of Operator Partner Default, the Operator Partner 

fails to rectify the Operator Partner Default within the time period specified in the 

Termination Notice, the Authority may give notice stating that this Agreement will 

terminate on the date falling five (5) Business Days after the date of receipt of such 

notice.  

40.4 If the Operator Partner fails to implement any rectification programme in accordance 

with its terms, this Agreement will terminate on the date falling thirty (30) Business 

Days after the date of notification by the Authority to the Operator Partner of such 

failure to implement the rectification programme in accordance with its terms.  

40.5 On termination the Authority may require the Operator Partner to transfer all of its 

rights, title and interest in and to the Assets to the Authority or as directed by the 

Authority.  

41.  TERMINATION FOR PERSISTENT BREACH BY THE OPERATOR PARTNER  

Warning Notice  

41.1 If a particular breach, other than any breach for which Performance Failures and/or 

Performance Adjustments could have been applied, has continued for more than 

fourteen (14) days or occurred more than three (3) times in any six (6) month period 

then the Authority may serve a notice on the Operator Partner:  

 41.1.1  specifying that it is a formal warning notice;  

 41.1.2  giving reasonable details of the breach; and  

41.1.3 stating that the breach is a breach which, if it recurs frequently or continues, 

may result in a termination of this Agreement.  

Final Notice  

41.2 If, following service of a warning notice the breach specified has continued beyond 

thirty (30) days or recurred in three (3) or more months within the six (6) month 

period after the date of service, then the Authority may serve another notice (Final 

Warning Notice) on the Operator Partner:  

 41.2.1  specifying that it is a Final Warning Notice;  

Pack Page 252



 

99120273.1\kp07                103  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

41.2.2 stating that the breach specified has been the subject of a warning notice 

served within the six (6) month period prior to the date of service of the 

Final Warning Notice; and  

41.2.3  stating that if the breach continues for more than fourteen (14) days or 

recurs in three (3) or more months within the six (6) month period after 

the date of service of the Final Warning Notice, this Agreement may be 

terminated.  

Currency of Warning Notices  

41.3 A warning notice may not be served in respect of any incident of breach which has 

previously been counted in the award of a separate warning notice.  

42.  TERMINATION ON CORRUPT GIFTS AND FRAUD  

42.1 The Operator Partner represents and warrants that neither it, nor to the best of its 

knowledge any Operator Partner Related Party, have at any time prior to the 

Commencement Date:  

42.1.1 committed a Prohibited Act or been formally notified that it is subject to an 

investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged Prohibited Act; or  

42.1.2 been listed by any government department or agency as being disbarred, 

suspended, proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise 

ineligible for participation in government procurement programmes or 

contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act.   

42.2  The Operator Partner shall not during the term of this Agreement:  

 42.2.1  commit a Prohibited Act; or  

 42.2.2  do or suffer anything to be done which would cause the Authority or any  

Authority Related Party to contravene any of the Relevant Requirements 

or otherwise incur any liability in relation to the Relevant Requirements.  

42.3  The Operator Partner shall during the term of this Agreement:    

42.3.1 establish, maintain and enforce, and require that any Sub-Contractors 

establish, maintain and enforce, policies and procedures which are  

adequate to ensure compliance with the Relevant Requirements and 

prevent the occurrence of a Prohibited Act; and  

42.3.2 keep appropriate records of its compliance with its obligations under Clause 

42.3.1 and make such records available to the Authority on request.  

42.4 The Operator Partner shall immediately notify the Authority in writing if it becomes 

aware of any breach of Clause 42.1 and/or 42.2, or has reason to believe that it has 

or any Operator Partner Related Party have:  

Pack Page 253



 

99120273.1\kp07                104  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

42.4.1 been subject to an investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged 

Prohibited Act;  

42.4.2 been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, 

suspended, proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise 

ineligible for participation in government procurement programmes or 

contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act; or  

42.4.3 received a request or demand for any undue financial or other advantage of 

any kind in connection with the performance of this Agreement or 

otherwise suspects that any person or party directly or indirectly 

connected with this Agreement has committed or attempted to commit a 

Prohibited Act.   

42.5 If the Operator Partner makes a notification to the Authority pursuant to Clause 42.4, 

the Operator Partner shall respond promptly to the Authority's enquiries, cooperate 

with any investigation, and allow the Authority to audit books, records and any other 

relevant documentation. This obligation shall continue for twelve (12) calendar years 

following the expiry or termination of this Agreement.   

42.6 If the Operator Partner is in breach of Clause 42.1 and/or 42.2, the Authority may by 

notice:  

42.6.1 require the Operator Partner to remove from performance of this Agreement 

any Operator Partner Related Party whose acts or omissions have 

caused the breach; or  

 42.6.2  immediately terminate this Agreement.  

42.7 Any notice served by the Authority under Clause 42.6 shall specify the nature of the 

Prohibited Act, the identity of the party who the Authority believes has committed 

the Prohibited Act and the action that the Authority has elected to take (including, 

where relevant, the date on which this Agreement shall terminate).   

42.8 Where the Authority serves a notice under Clause 42.6.1, the Operator Partner shall 

comply with such notice within ten (10) Business Days, failing which the Authority 

shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement with immediate effect by serving written 

notice on the Operator Partner.  

43.  TERMINATION ON AUTHORITY DEFAULT  

43.1 If an Authority Default has occurred and the Operator Partner wishes to terminate this 

Agreement, the Operator Partner must serve a Termination Notice on the Authority 

within thirty (30) Business Days of becoming aware of the Authority  

Default.  

43.2 Unless the Authority rectifies the Authority Default within twenty (20) Business Days of 

receipt of the Termination Notice, this Agreement will terminate on the day falling 

forty (40) Business Days after the date the Authority receives the Operator Partner 

Termination Notice.   

Pack Page 254



 

99120273.1\kp07                105  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

44. COMPENSATION  ON  TERMINATION  FOR  AUTHORITY  

DEFAULT/VOLUNTARY TERMINATION   

44.1 On termination of this Agreement pursuant to Clauses 39 (Voluntary Termination by 

the Authority) or 43 (Termination on Authority Default), the Authority shall pay the 

Operator Partner in accordance with Clauses 49 (Miscellaneous Compensation 

Provisions) and 50 (Method of Payment) an amount equal to the aggregate of 

(without double counting):  

44.1.1 such amounts properly due to the Operator Partner and invoiced in  

accordance with Clause 36 (Payment) in respect of the period prior to 

such termination but which have not been previously paid;  

44.1.2 where a Deficit Annual Payment applies such amount that can be 

reasonably and properly attributed to Services carried out following the 

most recent invoice issued pursuant to Clause 36 (Payment) and/or such 

other amounts properly due to the Operator Partner in accordance with 

this Agreement which, in each case remains due at the Termination Date, 

including any sum set off by the Operator Partner pursuant to Clause 

36.16;  

44.1.3 any Sub-Contractor Breakage Costs; and  

44.1.4 the Profit Payment,  

LESS to the extent it is a positive amount, the aggregate of (without double 

counting):  

44.1.5 where a Surplus Annual Payment applies such amounts properly due to 

the Authority in accordance with Clause 36 (Payment) in respect of the 

period up to the Termination Date but which have not been previously 

paid;  

44.1.6 amounts which the Authority is entitled to set off pursuant to Clause  

36.16; and  

44.1.7 BI Proceeds, to the extent that they compensate the Operator Partner in 

respect of any of the items listed at Clauses 44.1.1 to 44.1.6.  

45. COMPENSATION ON TERMINATION FOR OPERATOR PARTNER DEFAULT AND 

CORRUPT GIFTS AND FRAUD  

45.1 On termination of this Agreement in accordance with Clause 40 (Termination on 

Operator Partner Default) or 42 (Termination on Corrupt Gifts and Fraud), the 

Operator Partner shall be liable to and shall pay the Authority:  

45.1.1 the reasonable costs incurred by the Authority in the rectification of any part 

of any Facility which is necessary due to any failure of the Operator 

Partner to comply with its obligations under this Agreement;  

Pack Page 255



 

99120273.1\kp07                106  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

45.1.2  where the Authority carries out a Retendering Process, the Retendering 

Costs;  

 45.1.3  where the Authority carries out a Retendering Process, an amount  

equal to the aggregate of the Retendered Annual Payment less the 

Current Annual Payment where it is a positive number; and  

 45.1.4  all other Direct Losses which the Authority suffers or incurs arising out  

of any breach of this Agreement or as a result of the termination of this 

Agreement including (without limitation) any liability to any third party,  

LESS, without double counting and subject to the Authority's right of set off under 

Clause 36.16:  

 45.1.5  such amounts properly due to the Operator Partner and invoiced in  

accordance with Clause 36 (Payment) in respect of the period prior to 

such termination but which have not been previously paid; and  

45.1.6 where a Deficit Annual Payment applies, such amount that can be reasonably 

and properly attributed to Services carried out following the most recent 

invoice issued pursuant to Clause 36 (Payment) and/or such other 

amounts properly due to the Operator Partner in accordance with this 

Agreement which, in each case, remains due at the Termination Date 

including any sum set off by the Operator Partner pursuant to Clause 

36.16.  

46.  RETENDERING PROCESS  

46.1 If the Authority elects to retender the Services following termination under Clauses 40 

(Termination on Operator Partner Default) or 42 (Termination on Corrupt Gifts and 

Fraud), then the following provisions shall apply (Retendering Process):  

46.1.1 the objective of the retendering process shall be to retender the Services and 

enter into a Retendered Contract with a replacement contractor;   

 46.1.2  the Authority shall (subject to any legal requirements preventing it from  

doing so) use its reasonable endeavours to complete the Retendering 

Process as soon as practicable;   

46.1.3 the Authority shall notify the Operator Partner of the Qualification Criteria and 

the other requirements and terms of the Retendering Process, including 

the timing of the Retendering Process, and shall act reasonably in setting 

such requirements and terms;   

46.1.4 the Operator Partner authorises the release of any information by the 

Authority under the Retendering Process which would otherwise be 

prevented under Clause 56 (Confidentiality) that is reasonably required 

as part of the Retendering Process provided that the Authority shall not 

release information which is commercially sensitive as described or 

referred to in Clause 51.5.3;   

Pack Page 256



 

99120273.1\kp07                107  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

46.1.5 the Authority shall require bidders to bid on the basis that they will receive 

the benefit of any outstanding claims under any material damage 

insurance policies;  

 46.1.6  as soon as practicable after tenders have been received, the Authority  

shall (acting reasonably) determine which (if any) of the tenderers it 

wishes to enter into a Retendered Contract with;  

46.1.7 the replacement contractor shall be required to set out in its tender 

submission the proposed annual payment amount (Retendered Annual 

Payment); and  

46.1.8 the tenderers will be required to tender on the basis that the successful 

tenderer shall take the benefit of all existing bookings and any 

membership fees relating to each Facility.  

47.  COMPENSATION ON TERMINATION FOR FORCE MAJEURE  

47.1 On termination of this Agreement under Clause 30 (Force Majeure), the Authority shall 

pay to the Operator Partner in accordance with Clauses 49 (Miscellaneous 

Compensation Provisions) and 50 (Method of Payment) an amount equal to the 

aggregate of (without double counting):  

 47.1.1  such amounts properly due to the Operator Partner and invoiced in  

accordance with Clause 36 (Payment) in respect of the period prior to 

such termination but which have not been previously paid;  

47.1.2 where a Deficit Annual Payment applies such amount that can be reasonably 

and properly attributed to Services carried out following the most recent 

invoice issued pursuant to Clause 36 (Payment) and/or such other 

amounts properly due to the Operator Partner in accordance with this 

Agreement which, in each case remains due at the Termination Date 

including any sum set off by the Operator Partner pursuant to Clause 

36.16; and  

 47.1.3  any Sub-Contractor Breakage Costs,  

LESS to the extent it is a positive amount, the aggregate of (without double 

counting):  

47.1.4 where a Surplus Annual Payment applies such amounts properly due to the 

Authority in accordance with Clause 36 (Payment) in respect of the period 

up to the Termination Date but which have not been previously paid;  

47.1.5 amounts which the Authority is entitled to set off pursuant to Clause 36.16 

(Rights of set off); and  

47.1.6  BI Proceeds, to the extent that they compensate the Operator Partner in 

respect of any of the items listed at Clauses 47.1.1 to 47.1.3.  

Pack Page 257



 

99120273.1\kp07                108  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

48.  ASSETS  

48.1 Subject to Clause 48.2 where this Agreement expires due to effluxion of time or 

terminates earlier, the Authority shall have the option to require the Operator Partner 

to transfer to the Authority its rights, title and interest in and to the Assets or as 

directed by the Authority at nil cost to the Authority.  

48.2 Where the Authority exercises its right under Clause 48.1, then to the extent that the 

Assets to be transferred are neither already owned by the Authority nor have already 

been paid for through the Annual Payment or via another payment pursuant to this 

Agreement, the Authority shall pay to the Operator Partner an amount equal to the 

lesser of the market value and the written down value of such Assets.   

48.3  Transfer of Assets that are subject to an agreement of hire or hire purchase  

48.3.1 If this Agreement is terminated prior to the Expiry Date or expires due to the 

effluxion of time at the Expiry Date, the Authority is entitled to instruct the 

Operator Partner to assign or novate any agreement of hire or hire 

purchase which relates to Assets to the Authority (or as the Authority 

directs) and the Operator Partner shall forthwith deliver up to the Authority 

such Assets.  

48.3.2  If the Authority elects to exercise its rights to transfer the benefits of any 

agreement of hire or hire purchase where termination has occurred as a 

result of Operator Partner Default, the Authority reserves its right to take 

action against the Operator Partner should the Authority be obliged to 

take on a hire/hire purchase agreement on terms that are unreasonably 

restrictive or expensive compared to normal market rates for 

agreements of that nature in order to maintain the Services.  

49.  MISCELLANEOUS COMPENSATION PROVISIONS  

Gross Up of Termination Payments  

49.1  If any amount of compensation payable by the Authority or the Operator Partner  

(whether payable as a lump sum or in instalments) under Clauses 44  

(Compensation on Termination for Authority Default/Voluntary Termination), 45 

(Compensation on Termination for Operator Partner Default and Corrupt Gifts and 

Fraud) or 47 (Compensation on Termination for Force Majeure) is subject to Tax 

payable to a Relevant Authority in the United Kingdom, then the Authority shall pay 

to the Operator Partner or the Operator Partner shall pay to the Authority (as 

appropriate) such additional amount as will put the receiving party in the same after 

Tax position as it would have been in had the payment not been subject to Tax 

taking account of any relief, allowances deduction, setting off or credit in respect of 

Tax (whether available by choice or not) which may be available to the Operator 

Partner or the Authority to reduce the Tax to which the payment is subject.  

Exclusivity of Remedy  

Pack Page 258



 

99120273.1\kp07                109  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

49.2 Any and all sums irrevocably paid by the Authority to the Operator Partner or the 

Operator Partner to the Authority under this Part 6 shall be in full and final settlement 

of each party's rights and claims against the other for breaches and/or termination 

of this Agreement or any Project Document whether under contract, tort, restitution 

or otherwise, but without prejudice to:  

49.2.1 any antecedent liability of the Operator Partner to the Authority which the 

Authority has been unable to set off pursuant to this Agreement;  

49.2.2 any antecedent liability of either party to the other that arose prior to the 

Termination Date (but not from the termination itself) to the extent such 

liability has not already been taken into account in determining or 

agreeing the Termination Sum; and  

49.2.3 any liabilities arising in respect of any breach by either party of their 

obligations under Clause 53 (Continuing Obligations) which arises or 

continues after the Termination Date to the extent not taken into account 

in the calculation of any Termination Sum or other payment of 

compensation on termination pursuant to this Agreement.  

50.  METHOD OF PAYMENT  

Termination Sum  

50.1  All amounts payable by a party to the other party pursuant to Clauses 44  

(Compensation on Termination for Authority Default/Voluntary Termination) to 47 

(Compensation on Termination for Force Majeure) of this Agreement shall (save 

where the Authority elects to pay in instalments pursuant to Clause 50.3) be paid 

within forty (40) Business Days of receipt of an invoice demanding payment of the 

relevant amount. In the event of failure to make payment in accordance with this 

Clause interest shall accrue on any unpaid element of the Termination Sum at the 

Prescribed Rate from the Termination Date until the date payment is made and any 

unpaid amount of the Termination Sum and accrued interest thereon shall be 

recoverable as a debt from the party that is liable to make payment.  

50.2 If the calculation of any Termination Sum produces a negative figure, then such sum 

shall not be paid by the party described as paying such sum pursuant to Clauses 44 

to 47, but shall instead be paid by the party described as receiving such sum 

pursuant to Clauses 44 to 47 to the other party.  

Instalments  

50.3  The Authority may elect to pay the Termination Sum:  

 50.3.1  in pro-rated instalments for a period of up to two (2) years from the  

Termination Date, on the dates (Instalment Dates) that the  Monthly 

Payment would have been paid had the Termination Date not occurred; 

or  

 50.3.2  as the parties may otherwise agree.  

Pack Page 259



 

99120273.1\kp07                110  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Interest  

50.4 Where the Authority elects to pay the Termination Sum in instalments pursuant to 

Clause 50.3 from the Termination Date until the date of payment, interest shall 

accrue on any unpaid element of the Termination Sum at the Prescribed Rate and 

shall be payable on the next occurring Instalment Date.  

Payment of outstanding element  

50.5 If the Authority has elected to pay in accordance with Clause 50.3 it may (on twenty 

(20) Business Days' prior written notice to the Operator Partner) elect to pay any 

outstanding element of the Termination Sum in full on any Instalment Date.  

Authority Default in payment  

50.6  If the Authority:  

50.6.1 fails to make a payment to the Operator Partner in accordance with Clauses 

50.1 and/or 50.3 and/or 50.4; or  

 50.6.2  breaches Clause 61 (Assignment and sub-contracting),  

the Operator Partner may issue a notice to the Authority declaring any unpaid and 

outstanding element of the Termination Sum together with any interest accrued 

pursuant to Clause 50.4 to be immediately due and payable.  

51.  EXIT MANAGEMENT  

51.1 Upon expiry or termination of all or any part of this Agreement, the Operator Partner 

shall provide all reasonable assistance and information to the Authority and any New 

Operator Partner (including, without limitation, fulfilling its obligations under the Exit 

Plan), to the extent necessary to effect an orderly assumption of the Services by the 

Authority or a New Operator Partner. Any payment in respect of exit obligations shall 

be set out in the Exit Plan.   

51.2 The Operator Partner shall, prior to the Commencement Date, produce an Exit Plan for 

the orderly transition of the Services from the Operator Partner to the Authority 

and/or any New Operator Partner in the event of termination or expiry of this 

Agreement. Any Exit Plan shall at a minimum comply with the provisions of this 

Clause 51 and the Exit Strategy Requirements detailed at Schedule 24. Within  

twenty (20) Business Days after the submission of the Exit Plan, the parties shall 

meet and use all reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of that Exit Plan, 

based on the principles set out in Clause 51.5. If the parties are unable to agree the 

contents of the Exit Plan within that twenty (20) Business Day period, the principles 

set out in Clause 51.5 shall apply an either party may refer the dispute for resolution 

in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.   

51.3 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for keeping the Exit Plan up to date and shall 

submit any updates to the Authority from to time or on request from the Authority.   

Pack Page 260



 

99120273.1\kp07                111  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

51.4 In addition to its obligations under Clauses 51.1 to 51.3, the Operator Partner shall, on 

receipt or service of a Termination Notice or six (6) months prior to expiry of this 

Agreement (whichever is the sooner):  

51.4.1 appoint a transition manager to be the point of contact in relation to the Exit 

Plan and to manage the implementation of the provisions of the Exit Plan; 

and  

51.4.2 update the Exit Plan taking into account the then current circumstances, any 

amendments to the Exit Plan shall be developed jointly by parties and 

any agreed changes to the Exit Plan will be incorporated into it. No 

amendment to the Exit Plan shall be effective until signed by the 

Authority.   

51.5  Any Exit Plan provided under this Agreement shall, as a minimum include:  

51.5.1 provisions to ensure the transfer of all Operator Partner rights, title and 

interest in and to the Assets to the New Operator Partner or Authority  

with effect on and from the Termination Date or Expiry Date (as 

applicable) at nil cost to the Authority;   

51.5.2 provisions to ensure that the Authority and/or any New Operator Partner have 

the right to access (at reasonable times and on reasonable notice) the 

Facilities, but not so as to interfere with or impede the provision of the 

Services;  

51.5.3 an option for the Authority and/or New Operator Partner to take an 

assignment or novation (to the extent reasonably required to ensure 

service continuity) or any sub-contracts with Sub-Contractors entered 

into by the Operator in connection with this Agreement without cost;   

51.5.4 provisions to ensure that any consents and licences are provided to the 

Authority and/or New Operator Partner in a timely manner;   

 51.5.5  provisions ensuring that that the Authority and/or any New Operator  

Partner have the right to use any Intellectual Property Rights, Personal  

Data and Confidential Information in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement; and  

51.5.6 providing to the Authority and/or to any New Operator Partner all and any 

information concerning the Facilities and the Services which is 

reasonably required for the efficient transfer of responsibility for their 

performance, a copy of the Operating Manual, but information which is 

commercially sensitive to the Operator Partner shall not be provided (and 

for the purpose of this Clause 51.5.3, commercially sensitive shall mean 

Operator Partner IPR and information which would if disclosed to a 

competitor of the Operator Partner give that competitor a competitive 

advantage over the Operator Partner and thereby prejudice the business 

of the Operator Partner but shall not include any information referred to 

in Clause 59 (TUPE and Employees)).  

Pack Page 261



 

99120273.1\kp07                112  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

51.6 The Operator Partner shall not knowingly do or omit to do anything which may 

adversely affect the Authority's ability or the cost to the Authority of ensuring an 

orderly transfer of responsibility for the provision of the Services (or services similar 

to the Services) on termination or expiry of this Agreement.   

52.  SURVEYS ON EXPIRY AND RETENTION FUND  

52.1  Final Survey  

52.1.1 No later than the date eighteen (18) months prior to the Expiry Date, the 

Authority shall be entitled to carry out or procure the carrying out of a final 

survey of the Sites to assess whether they have been and are being 

maintained by the Operator Partner in accordance with its obligations 

under Clause 14 (Maintenance).  

52.1.2 The Authority shall notify the Operator Partner in writing a minimum of five 

(5) Business Days in advance of the date it wishes to carry out or procure 

the carrying out of the final survey.  The Authority shall consider in good 

faith any reasonable request by the Operator Partner for the final survey 

to be carried out on a different date if such request is made at least two 

(2) Business Days prior to the notified date and the Operator Partner 

(acting reasonably) is able to demonstrate that carrying out the final 

survey on the notified date would materially prejudice the Operator 

Partner's ability to provide the Services.  

52.2  Minimisation of Disruption  

When carrying out the final survey, the Authority shall use reasonable endeavours 

to minimise any disruption caused to the provision of the Services by the Operator 

Partner. The Operator Partner shall afford the Authority or any person carrying out 

the survey any reasonable assistance required by the Authority during the carrying 

out of the final survey. The cost of the final survey shall be borne by the Authority.  

52.3  Results of Survey  

If the final survey shows that the Operator Partner has not complied with or is not 

complying with its obligations under Clause 14 (Maintenance) the Authority shall:  

52.3.1 notify the Operator Partner of the rectification and/or maintenance work which 

is required to bring the condition of the Facilities to the standard it would 

have been in if the Operator Partner had complied or was  

complying with its obligations under Clause 14 (Maintenance) (Required 

Standard);  

52.3.2 specify a reasonable period within which the Operator Partner must carry out 

such rectification and/or maintenance work; and  

52.3.3 if the survey shows a material non-compliance by the Operator Partner with 

its obligations under Clause 14 (Maintenance), recover the cost of the 

survey from the Operator Partner by means of a withdrawal from the 

Pack Page 262



 

99120273.1\kp07                113  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Retention Fund Account or deduction from the next payment of the 

Monthly Payment.  

52.4  Maintenance Work  

The Operator Partner shall carry out such rectification and/or maintenance work 

notified pursuant to Clause 52.3.1 (Outstanding Work) in order to reach the 

Required Standard within the period specified.  

52.5  Retention Fund  

If the Operator Partner has been notified under Clause 52.3.1 that rectification 

and/or maintenance work is required, twelve (12) months prior to the Expiry Date (to 

the extent the Outstanding Works have not been carried out by the Operator Partner 

in the interim):  

52.5.1 where the Annual Payment is a Deficit Annual Payment, the Authority shall 

deduct the costs of that work as quantified by the survey referred to in 

Clause 52.1 from the next following instalment (or, if the amount of such 

instalment is insufficient, the next instalments as necessary) of Monthly 

Payment; or   

52.5.2 where the Annual Payment is a Surplus Annual Payment, the Operator 

Partner shall pay the costs of that work as quantified by the survey 

referred to in Clause 52.1,  

and in either case, the relevant party shall pay such amount into an interest bearing 

escrow account (Retention Fund Account) (subject to Clause 52.6).  

52.6  Costs  

If and to the extent that the Operator Partner carries out the Outstanding Work, to 

the extent that then or subsequently there are funds standing to the credit of the 

Retention Fund Account, the Operator Partner shall be reimbursed its costs of so 

doing by withdrawing amounts from the Retention Fund Account. If the aggregate 

of the amounts from time to time paid into the Retention Fund Account are 

insufficient to cover the Operator Partner's costs the Operator Partner shall bear the 

balance of such costs itself.  

52.7  Failure to Carry Out Work  

If and to the extent that the Operator Partner fails to carry out the Outstanding Work 

within the period specified in Clause 52.3.2, the Authority shall be entitled to carry 

out itself, or procure, such rectification and/or maintenance work at the Operator 

Partner's expense and shall make withdrawals from the Retention Fund Account or, 

where there are insufficient funds in the Retention Fund Account, shall be entitled 

to recover such amounts from the Operator Partner as a debt payable on demand.  

52.8  Balance of Fund  

If:  

Pack Page 263



 

99120273.1\kp07                114  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

52.8.1 all the rectification and/or maintenance work identified by the Authority or the 

person the Authority procures to carry out the final survey has been 

carried out to the Required Standard;  

52.8.2 all such rectification and/or maintenance work has been paid for by the 

Operator Partner; and  

52.8.3  no termination notice given in accordance with this Agreement is 

outstanding,  

then the Authority shall pay any credit balance on the Retention Fund Account to 

the Operator Partner as soon as practicable.  

53.  CONTINUING OBLIGATIONS  

53.1 Save as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or as already taken into 

account in the calculation of any Termination Sum or other payment of 

compensation on termination pursuant to this Agreement, and notwithstanding the 

provisions of Clause 49.2 and 71 (Sole Remedy):  

53.1.1  termination of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to any accrued 

rights or obligations under this Agreement as at the date of termination; 

and  

53.1.2 termination of this Agreement shall not affect the continuing rights and 

obligations of the Operator Partner and the Authority under Clause 7 

(Nature of Land Interests), Clause 22 (Operator Partner's Records), 

Clause 59 (TUPE and Employees), Clause 55 (Data Protection) Clause 

0 (Pensions), Clause 36 (Payment) Clause 51 (Exit Management), 

Clause 56 (Confidentiality), Clause 31 (Indemnities, Guarantees and 

Contractual Claims) in respect of any claim arising prior to the 

Termination Date, Clause 32 (Operator Partner Insurances), Clause 34  

(Reinstatement and Change of Requirement after Insured Event),  

Clause 35 (Risks that Become Uninsurable), Clause 54 (Intellectual 

Property), Clause 69 (Notices), Clause 70 (Dispute Resolution), Clause 

72 (No Double Recovery), Clause 74 (Capacity)] Clause 71 (Sole 

Remedy), Clause 75 (Interest on Late Payment), Clause 76 (Governing 

Law and Jurisdiction),  or under any other provision of this Agreement 

which is expressed to survive termination or which is required to give 

effect to such termination or the consequences of such termination.  

    

PART 8 - INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, DATA AND CONFIDENTIALITY  

54.  INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY  

Project Data  

54.1 The Operator Partner shall make available to the Authority free of charge (and hereby 

irrevocably licences the Authority to use) all Project Data that might reasonably be 

Pack Page 264



 

99120273.1\kp07                115  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

required by the Authority and the Operator Partner shall ensure that it obtains all 

necessary licences, permissions and consents to ensure that it can make the Project 

Data available to the Authority on these terms, for the purposes of:  

54.1.1 the Authority providing the Facilities for leisure and ancillary purposes, its 

duties under this Agreement and/or any statutory duties which the 

Authority may have; and  

54.1.2 following termination or expiry of this Agreement, the operation, maintenance 

or improvement of the Facilities and/or the provision of services the same 

as or similar to the Services (by the Authority or New Operator Partner),  

(together, Approved Purposes), and in this Clause use shall include the acts of 

copying, modifying, adapting and translating the material in question and/or 

incorporating them with other materials and the term "the right to use" shall be 

construed accordingly.  

Licence in respect of Intellectual Property Rights  

54.2  The Operator Partner:  

54.2.1 hereby grants to the Authority, free of charge, an irrevocable, non-exclusive 

and transferable (but only to any assignee or transferee of any rights or 

benefits under this Agreement or upon or at any time following 

termination of this Agreement) licence (carrying the right to grant sub-

licences) to use the Intellectual Property Rights which are or become 

vested in the Operator Partner; and  

 54.2.2  shall, where any Intellectual Property Rights are or become vested in a  

third party, use all reasonable endeavours to procure the grant of a like 

licence to that referred to in Clause 54.2.1 to the Authority,  

in both cases, solely for the Approved Purposes.  

Vesting of Intellectual Property Rights  

54.3 The Operator Partner shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that any 

Intellectual Property Rights created, brought into existence or acquired during the 

term of this Agreement vest, and remain vested throughout the term of this 

Agreement, in the Operator Partner and the Operator Partner shall enter into 

appropriate agreements with any Operator Partner Related Party (or other third  

parties) that may create or bring into existence, or from which it may acquire, any 

Intellectual Property Rights.  

Maintenance of data  

54.4 To the extent that any of the data, materials and documents referred to in this Clause 

are generated by or maintained on a computer or similar system, the Operator 

Partner shall:  

Pack Page 265



 

99120273.1\kp07                116  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

54.4.1 use all reasonable endeavours to procure for the benefit of the Authority, at 

no charge or at the lowest reasonable fee, the grant of a licence or sub-

licence for any relevant software to enable the Authority or its nominee to 

access and otherwise use (subject to the payment by the Authority of the 

relevant fee, if any) such data for the Approved Purposes.  As an 

alternative, the Operator Partner may provide such data, materials or 

documents in a format which may be read by software generally available 

in the market at the relevant time or in hard copy format; and  

54.4.2 enter into the National Computing Centre's then current multi-licence escrow 

deposit agreement or standard single licence escrow deposit agreement 

as appropriate in each case.  

54.5 The Operator Partner shall ensure the back-up and storage in safe custody of the data, 

materials and documents referred to in Clause 54.4 in accordance with Good 

Industry Practice. Without prejudice to this obligation, the Operator Partner shall 

submit to the Authority's Representative for approval its proposals for the back-up 

and storage in safe custody of such data, materials and documents and the Authority 

shall be entitled to object if the same is not in accordance with Good Industry 

Practice. The Operator Partner shall comply, and shall cause all Operator Partner 

Related Parties to comply, with all procedures to which the Authority's 

Representative has given its approval. The Operator Partner may vary its 

procedures for such back-up and storage subject to submitting its proposals for 

change to the Authority's Representative, who shall be entitled to object on the basis 

set out above.  

Indemnity  

54.6 Where a claim or proceeding is made or brought against the Authority which arises out 

of the infringement of any Intellectual Property Rights or because the use of any 

materials, plant, machinery or equipment in connection with the Services infringes 

any Intellectual Property Rights of a third party then, unless such infringement has 

arisen out of the use of any Intellectual Property by or on behalf of the Authority 

otherwise than in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Operator Partner 

shall indemnify the Authority at all times from and against all Direct Losses and 

Indirect Losses arising as a result of such claims and proceedings and the provisions 

of Clause 31 (Indemnities, Guarantees and Contractual Claims) shall apply.  

54.7 Where a claim or proceeding is made or brought against the Operator Partner which 

arises out of the infringement of any Intellectual Property Rights or because  

the use of any materials, plant, machinery or equipment in connection with the 

Services infringes any rights in or to any Intellectual Property Rights of a third party 

then, if such infringement has arisen out of the use of any Intellectual Property Rights 

by or on behalf of the Authority otherwise than in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement and otherwise than as a result of a breach of this Clause 54 by the 

Operator Partner then the Authority shall indemnify the Operator Partner at all times 

from and against all Direct Losses and Indirect Losses arising as a result of such 

claims and proceedings.  

Pack Page 266



 

99120273.1\kp07                117  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Licence to Operator Partner  

54.8 The Authority hereby grants to the Operator Partner a non-transferable, nonexclusive, 

royalty free licence (carrying the right to grant sub-licences) to use for the duration 

of this Agreement only and only for purposes directly relating to this Agreement any 

Intellectual Property Rights relating to the Services which are or become vested in 

the Authority.  

Intellectual Property Rights on expiry or termination of this Agreement  

54.9 The rights referred to in Clause 54.1 and Clause 54.2 shall not apply to the Operator 

Partner IPR upon or following termination or expiry of this Agreement provided that 

where a replacement item (for any item (or any Intellectual Property Rights in any 

item comprised in Operator Partner IPR)) is necessary for the operation and/or 

maintenance of the Facilities by the Authority and/or any New Operator Partner and 

is not available to the Authority and/or any New Operator Partner on reasonable 

commercial terms following such expiry or termination from any third party, then the 

Operator Partner may grant to the Authority, an irrevocable, non-exclusive and 

transferable licence (carrying the right to grant sublicences) to use the relevant 

elements of such Operator Partner IPR for the Approved Purposes on reasonable 

commercial terms and rates.  

55.  DATA PROTECTION  

55.1 In relation to all Personal Data that is Processed in connection with the Services, the 

Operator Partner shall, and shall procure that any Sub-contractor that may Process 

Personal Data shall, at all times comply with the Data Protection Legislation and not 

by act or omission cause the Authority to breach the Data Protection Legislation.   

55.2 The parties acknowledge that the factual arrangements between them dictate the role 

of each (or any) party in respect of the Data Protection Legislation. Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, the Authority and the Operator Partner shall act as Controllers 

individually (and in common from time to time) of any Personal Data Processed in 

connection with the Agreement.  

55.3 The parties do not envisage that either party will Process any Personal Data for or on 

behalf of the other party as a Processor or as joint Controllers, under or in connection 

with this Agreement.  Where and to the extent that in undertaking the obligations in 

connection with this Agreement, the Operator Partner anticipates that either party 

will Process the Personal Data for and on behalf of the other party as a Processor, 

or as joint Controller, it shall:    

 55.3.1  notify the Authority immediately; and   

55.3.2 agree a Change to this Agreement to incorporate appropriate provisions in 

accordance with articles 28 or 26 of the GDPR as appropriate, or as 

otherwise required by the Data Protection Legislation.   

55.4 The Operator Partner shall (and shall procure that any Sub-contractor shall) in 

connection with the Processing undertaken in connection with the Agreement:   

Pack Page 267



 

99120273.1\kp07                118  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

55.4.1 only Process the Personal  Data for the purposes set out in this Agreement 

and not for any incompatible purposes;  

55.4.2 maintain valid and up to date records of Processing and records of consents 

(where consent is the relevant lawful processing ground, including 

suppression and consent withdrawal lists) which as a minimum meet the 

requirements of the Data Protection Legislation, including but not limited 

to articles 7 and 30 of the GDPR;    

55.4.3 maintain valid and up to date registrations and notifications under the Data 

Protection Legislation with a competent supervisory authority;   

55.4.4 ensure that it is not prevented or restricted from disclosing, permitting access 

or transferring any Personal Data to the Authority;  

55.4.5 ensure appropriate fair processing notices have been provided to Data 

Subjects (and/or, as applicable, consents obtained), in relation to any 

Personal Data Processed ensuring they:   

(a) comply with the Data Protection Legislation; and   

(b) are sufficient in scope to allow the Authority to lawfully Process the Personal 

Data for the purposes and rights envisaged by this Agreement including in 

relation to:   

(i) any data sharing or access by the Authority from time-totime; and   

(ii) any exit or transition provisions under this Agreement,  

including the use of Personal Data for direct marketing by 

the Authority or any New Operator Partner;  

55.4.6 provide copies of all fair processing notices and consents on demand and 

take such steps as the Authority reasonably instructs to ensure that the  

Authority is able to lawfully Process the Personal Data;  

55.4.7 implement reasonable measures to ensure that any Personal Data made 

available to the Authority is accurate, adequate and not excessive, 

implementing procedures to ensure the principles of privacy by design 

and default under the GDPR are upheld;  

55.4.8 ensure that appropriate operational and technical measures are in place 

and suitably maintained, reviewed and refreshed to safeguard against  

any accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised 

disclosure of, or access to, corruption or unavailability of the Personal 

Data Processed (Personal Data Breach Incident) including the measures 

as are set out in any of the relevant Authority Policies;  

55.4.9 promptly and independently:   

Pack Page 268



 

99120273.1\kp07                119  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(a) respond to any request to exercise any Data Subject rights, any 

correspondence or complaints from or on behalf of a Data Subject, 

third party or supervisory authority;  

(b) and in any event within twenty-four (24) hours, notify the Authority 

upon becoming aware of any actual or suspected Personal Data 

Breach Incident and shall in particular:   

(i) implement any measures necessary to restore the security 

of compromised Personal Data, investigate ad mitigate the 

impacts of the incident and its cause(s);   

(ii) if requested, promptly provide the Authority with a report 

containing details about the nature, extent and impact, of 

the Personal Data Breach Incident; and proposed  

mitigation steps; and    

(iii) not refer to the Authority in any statement in relation to the 

Personal Data Breach Incident without the Authority's prior 

written consent;   

55.4.10 take reasonable steps to ensure the reliability, integrity and appropriate 

training in the Data Protection Legislation and the terms of this 

Agreement of any personnel or approved Sub-contractor who have 

access to the Personal Data;  

55.4.11 not transfer or permit the Processing of any Personal Data outside the 

United Kingdom except as approved by the Authority in writing (such 

approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, but may be subject to 

conditions to ensure compliance with Data Protection Legislation prior to 

the transfers and Processing taking place);   

55.4.12 not transfer or permit the Processing of any Personal Data to or by a third 

party, unless expressly authorised by the Authority at its absolute 

discretion. Such authorisation may be subject to conditions imposed by 

the Authority including, but without prejudice to Clause 61 (Assignment 

and subcontracting):   

(a) due diligence being undertaken by the Operator Partner in respect 

of the proposed third party's data protection practices to the 

Authority's reasonable satisfaction;  

(b) the Operator Partner ensuring that appropriate contractual terms 

which comply with the Data Protection Legislation shall be agreed 

with an approved third party; and   

(c) the Operator Partner remaining liable to the Authority for any act or 

omission of the third party's Processing operations;   

Pack Page 269



 

99120273.1\kp07                120  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

55.4.13 hold the Personal Data confidentially and separately from any other 

personal data Processed by the Operator Partner;    

55.4.14 not do anything or omit to do anything in relation to the Personal Data which 

shall damage the reputation of the Authority with any party;  

 55.4.15  permit the Authority access free of charge during normal business  

hours on reasonable notice to conduct compliance monitoring of the 

Operator Partner of its obligations set out in this Clause 55;  and  

55.4.16 indemnify on demand and keep indemnified the Authority against any Direct 

and Indirect Losses incurred by, awarded against or agreed to be paid by 

the Authority to the extent arising from the Operator Partner's failure to 

comply with the Data Protection Legislation or this Clause 55.   

55.5 Any material breach of this Clause 55 shall entitle the Authority to terminate this 

Agreement with immediate effect.  

55.6 On termination of the Agreement, the Operator Partner shall ensure that any Personal 

Data is, at the Authority's discretion either provided to the Authority or a nominated 

replacement and any remaining copies are securely destroyed, unless the Operator 

Partner notifies the Authority of a legal or regulatory duty to retain the Personal Data, 

and the Authority provides written consent for the ongoing retention of the Personal 

Data.  

56.  CONFIDENTIALITY  

Duty of Confidentiality  

56.1 The parties agree that the terms of this Agreement and each Project Document shall, 

subject to Clause 56.2, not be treated as Confidential Information and may be 

disclosed without restriction.  

56.2 Clause 56.1 shall not apply to terms of this Agreement or a Project Document 

designated as Commercially Sensitive Information and listed in Part 1 of Schedule 

20 (Commercially Sensitive Contractual Provisions) to this Agreement, which shall, 

subject to Clause 56.4, be kept confidential for the relevant periods specified in that 

Part.   

56.3 The parties shall keep confidential all Confidential Information received by one party 

from the other party relating to this Agreement and the Project Documents and shall 

use all reasonable endeavours to prevent their employees and agents from making 

any disclosure to any person of any Confidential Information.  

Permitted Disclosure  

56.4  Clauses 56.2 and 56.3 shall not apply to:  

 56.4.1  any disclosure of information that is reasonably required by any person  

engaged in the performance of their obligations under this Agreement for 

the performance of those obligations;  

Pack Page 270



 

99120273.1\kp07                121  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

 56.4.2  any matter which a party can demonstrate is already or becomes  

generally available and in the public domain otherwise than as a result of 

a breach of this Agreement;   

56.4.3 any disclosure to enable a determination to be made under the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure or in connection with a dispute between the 

Operator Partner or any of its Sub-Contractors;  

56.4.4  any disclosure which is required pursuant to any statutory, legal 

(including any order of a court of competent jurisdiction) or 

Parliamentary obligation placed upon the party making the disclosure or 

the rules of any stock exchange or governmental or regulatory authority 

having the force of law or if not having the force of law, compliance with 

which is in accordance with the general practice of persons subject to 

the stock exchange or governmental or regulatory authority concerned;  

56.4.5 any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the possession of 

the receiving party, prior to its disclosure by the disclosing party;  

56.4.6 any provision of information to the parties' own professional advisers or 

insurance advisers or funders (or to their funder's professional advisers 

or insurance advisers) or, where it is proposed that a person should or 

may provide funds (whether directly or indirectly and whether by loan, 

equity participation or otherwise) to the Operator Partner [and/or Holdco] 

to enable it to carry out its obligations under this Agreement, or may wish 

to acquire shares in the Operator Partner [and/or Holdco] in accordance 

with the provisions of this Agreement to that person or their respective 

professional advisers but only to the extent reasonably necessary to 

enable a decision to be taken on the proposal;  

56.4.7 any disclosure by the Authority of information relating this Agreement and 

such other information as may be reasonably required for the purpose of 

conducting a due diligence exercise to any proposed new contractor, its 

advisers and lenders should the Authority decide to retender this 

Agreement;   

56.4.8 any registration or recording of the Necessary Consents and property 

registration required;  

56.4.9 any disclosure of information by the Authority to any other department, office 

or agency of the Government or their respective advisors or to any person 

engaged in providing services to the Authority for any purpose related to 

or ancillary to the Agreement; and  

 56.4.10  any disclosure for the purpose of:  

(a) the examination and certification of the Authority's or the Operator 

Partner's accounts;  

Pack Page 271



 

99120273.1\kp07                122  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(b) any examination pursuant to the 1999 Act of the economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority has used its 

resources;  

(c) complying with a proper request from either party's insurance 

advisers or insurers on placing or renewing any insurance policies; 

or  

(d) (without prejudice to the generality of Clause 56.4.4) compliance 

with the FOIA and/or the Environmental Information Regulations,  

provided that neither Clause 56.4.10(d) nor 56.4.4 shall permit disclosure 

of Confidential Information otherwise prohibited by Clause 56.3 where, in 

the opinion of the Authority, that information is exempt from disclosure 

under section 41 of the FOIA.  

Obligations Preserved  

56.5 Where disclosure is permitted under Clause 56.4 (other than Clauses 56.4.2, 56.4.4, 

56.4.5, 56.4.8 and 56.4.10) the party providing the information shall procure that the 

recipient of the information shall be subject to the same obligation of confidentiality 

as that contained in this Agreement.  

57.  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION  

57.1 The Operator Partner acknowledges that the Authority is subject to the requirements 

of the FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations and shall assist and co-

operate with the Authority to enable the Authority to comply with its Information 

disclosure obligations.    

57.2 Where the Authority receives a Request for Information in relation to Information that 

the Operator Partner is holding on its behalf the Authority shall transfer to the 

Operator Partner such Request for Information that it receives as soon as 

practicable and in any event within five (5) Business Days of receiving a Request 

for Information and the Operator Partner shall:  

57.2.1 provide the Authority with a copy of all such Information in the form that the 

Authority requires as soon as practicable and in any event within ten (10) 

Business Days (or such other period as the Authority acting reasonably 

may specify) of the Authority's request; and  

57.2.2 provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Authority in 

connection with any such Information, to enable the Authority to respond 

to a Request for Information within the time for compliance set out in 

section 10 of the FOIA or Regulation 5 of the Environmental Regulations.  

57.3  Following notification under Clause 57.2 and up until such time as the Operator  

Partner has provided the Authority with all the Information specified in Clause 57.2.1, 

the Operator Partner may make representations to the Authority as to whether or 

not or on what basis Information requested should be disclosed, and whether further 

Pack Page 272



 

99120273.1\kp07                123  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Information should reasonably be provided in order to identify and locate the 

Information requested, provided always that the Authority shall be responsible for 

determining at its absolute discretion:  

57.3.1 whether the Information is exempt from disclosure under the FOIA and the 

Environmental Information Regulations; and  

57.3.2  whether the Information is to be disclosed in response to a Request for 

Information,  

and in no event shall the Operator Partner respond directly, or allow its 

SubContractors to respond directly, to a Request for Information unless expressly 

authorised to do so by the Authority.  

57.4 The Operator Partner shall ensure that all Information held on behalf of the Authority is 

retained for disclosure for at least six (6) years (from the date it is acquired) and 

shall permit the Authority to inspect such Information as requested from time to time.  

57.5 The Operator Partner shall transfer to the Authority any Request for Information 

received by the Operator Partner as soon as practicable and in any event within two 

(2) Business Days of receiving it.  

57.6 The Operator Partner acknowledges that any lists provided by him listing or outlining 

Confidential Information, are of indicative value only and that the Authority may 

nevertheless be obliged to disclose Confidential Information (including 

Commercially Sensitive Information) in accordance with the requirements of the 

FOIA and the Environmental Information Regulations.  

57.7 In the event of a request from the Authority pursuant to Clause 57.2, the Operator 

Partner shall as soon as practicable, and in any event within five (5) Business Days 

of receipt of such request, inform the Authority of the Operator Partner's estimated 

costs of complying with the request to the extent these would be recoverable if 

incurred by the Authority under section 12(1) of the FOIA and the Fees Regulations. 

Where such costs (either on their own or in conjunction with the Authority's own such 

costs in respect of such Request for Information) will exceed the appropriate limit 

referred to in Section 12(1) of the FOIA and as set out in the Fees Regulations the 

Authority shall inform the Operator Partner in writing whether or not it still requires 

the Operator Partner to comply with the request and where it does require the 

Operator Partner to comply with the request the ten (10) Business Days' period for 

compliance shall be extended by such number of additional days for compliance as 

the Authority is entitled to under Section 10 of the FOIA. In such case, the Authority 

shall notify the Operator Partner of such additional days as soon as practicable after 

becoming aware of them and shall reimburse the Operator Partner for such costs 

as the Operator Partner incurs in complying with the request to the extent the 

Authority is itself entitled to reimbursement of such costs in accordance with its own 

FOIA policy from time to time.  

57.8 The Operator Partner acknowledges that (notwithstanding the provisions of this Clause 

57) the Authority may, acting in accordance with the Department of Constitutional 

Affairs' Code of Practice on the Discharge of Functions of Public Authorities under 

Pack Page 273



 

99120273.1\kp07                124  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Part I of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA Code), be obliged under the 

FOIA, or the Environmental Information Regulations to disclose Information 

concerning the Operator Partner or the Services:  

57.8.1  in certain circumstances without consulting with the Operator Partner; or  

57.8.2 following consultation with the Operator Partner and having taken their views 

into account,  

provided always that where Clause 57.8.1 applies, the Authority shall, in accordance 

with the recommendations of the FOIA Code, draw this to the attention of the 

Operator Partner prior to any disclosure.  

58.  PUBLICITY AND BRANDING  

58.1  The Operator Partner shall not by itself, its employees or agents, and shall procure 

that its Sub-Contractors shall not:  

58.1.1 make any press announcements or publicise this Agreement or its contents 

in any way;  

58.1.2 use the Authority's name or brand in any promotion or marketing or 

announcement; or  

58.1.3  exhibit or attach to any part of the Sites any notice or advertisement,  

without the prior written approval of the Authority.  

58.2 No permission to photograph or film in or upon any property used in relation to the 

Services shall be given unless the Authority has given its prior written approval (such 

approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).  

    

PART 9 - GENERAL  

59.  TUPE AND EMPLOYEES   

Relevant Transfers  

59.1  The parties agree that the following events:  

 59.1.1  the commencement of the Services on the Service Transfer Date; and  

59.1.2 the commencement of the Services where the identity of a provider (including 

the Authority) of any service which constitutes or which will constitute one 

of the Services is changed whether in anticipation of changes pursuant 

to this Agreement or not,  

shall constitute a Relevant Transfer and that the contracts of employment of any 

employees who are the subject of a Relevant Transfer and shall have effect (subject 

to Regulation 4(7) of TUPE) thereafter as if originally made between those 

employees and the new provider.    

Pack Page 274



 

99120273.1\kp07                125  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

59.2 Notwithstanding the agreement in Clause 59.1, and in recognition of the possibility that 

the transaction contemplated by this Agreement may be determined not to be a 

Relevant Transfer by a court or tribunal, the Operator Partner shall with effect from 

the Service Transfer Date, offer to employ or shall procure that the relevant Sub-

Contractor offers to employ each Relevant Employee on like terms to the terms on 

which they were employed prior to the Service Transfer Date.  

Emoluments and Outgoings  

59.3 The Authority shall be responsible for all Employee Costs in respect of any Relevant 

Employees employed by it, and which are attributable in whole or in part to the period 

up to the Service Transfer Date.  

59.4 The Operator Partner shall be responsible for or shall procure that any relevant Sub-

Contractor is responsible for all Employee Costs in respect of the Relevant 

Employees which are attributable in whole or in part to the period from and including 

the Service Transfer Date.  

Employee List  

59.5 The Authority has supplied to the Operator Partner the information, as at the 

Commencement Date, which is contained in Schedule 10 Part 1 (Employee List) 

affecting each of those Transferring Employees who it is expected, if they remain in 

the employment of the Existing Operator Partner until the date preceding the Service 

Transfer Date, would be Relevant Employees but the Authority gives no warranty as 

to the accuracy or completeness of this information.  

Proposed Workforce Information  

59.6 The Operator Partner has provided to the Authority, and the Authority has agreed, the 

details set out in Schedule 11 Part 3 (Proposed Workforce Information)  

which show, in respect of each of the Services, the information detailed in Clauses 

59.7 to 59.9.   

59.7 The workforce which the Operator Partner proposes to establish to provide the Services 

(Proposed Workforce) classified by reference to grade, job description, hours 

worked, shift patterns, pay scales, rates of pay, terms and conditions and pension 

arrangements.  

59.8 The monthly costs of employing the Relevant Employees who are expected to be 

engaged in the provision of the Services. These costs (Remuneration Costs) have 

been calculated on the basis of (amongst other things) the information contained in 

the Employee List.    

59.9 The costs, including any lump sum payments, which have been agreed between the 

parties for the purposes of any reorganisation which may be required to establish 

the Proposed Workforce or a workforce which is as close as reasonably practicable 

to the Proposed Workforce. These costs (Reorganisation Costs) have been 

Pack Page 275



 

99120273.1\kp07                126  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

calculated by the Operator Partner and the Sub-Contractors on the basis of 

(amongst other things) the information contained in the Employee List.  

Price Adjustment Mechanism  

59.10 No later than one month after the Service Transfer Date the Operator Partner shall 

provide to the Authority in writing details of any inaccuracies in or omissions from 

the Employee List that was supplied prior to the Service Transfer Date clearly 

identifying which information was inaccurate; what is the correct information; and 

the impact of the correct information on the Remuneration Costs and/or the 

Reorganisation Costs (Revised Employment Information).  

59.11 The Operator Partner shall produce such evidence relating to the accuracy of the 

Revised Employment Information as the Authority may reasonably require and in 

any event no later than 21 days following the receipt of such a request.   

59.12 The Operator Partner warrants and undertakes that the Revised Employment 

Information will be a fair and accurate representation and interpretation of the 

position in respect of the relevant employment and related costs as at the Service 

Transfer Date.   

59.13 Where following the Service Transfer Date the Operator Partner provides reasonable 

evidence to the Authority that the Revised Employment Information is inaccurate 

and that any differences between the information in the Employee List and the 

position on the Service Transfer Date as reflected in the Revised Employment 

Information results in reasonable additional costs to the Operator Partner then a 

reasonable adjustment to the Annual Payment shall be made to meet such 

reasonable additional costs that the Operator Partner incurs as a result of such 

differences provided that such differences are not as a result of an act or omission 

of the Operator Partner and/or any Sub-Contractor and provided that the Operator 

Partner and any relevant Sub-Contractor shall take all reasonable steps to mitigate 

any such additional costs and any adjustment to the Annual Payment shall be 

calculated as if they had done so.  

59.14 Where, following the Service Transfer Date, the Authority provides reasonable 

evidence to the Operator Partner that any differences between the information in the 

Employee List and the position on the Service Transfer Date as reflected in the 

Revised Employment Information results in a reasonable reduction in costs to the 

Operator Partner then a reasonable adjustment to the Annual Payment to reflect 

any reasonable reduction in costs that the Operator Partner incurs as a result of 

such differences shall be made.   

59.15 To avoid double counting, no account shall be taken of any change to the  

Remuneration Costs or the Reorganisation Costs to the extent that the Operator  

Partner has been or will be compensated as a result of any Indexation of the Annual 

Payment under this Agreement or if any indemnity given by the Authority under any 

other provision of this Agreement would apply.   

Union Recognition  

Pack Page 276



 

99120273.1\kp07                127  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

59.16 The Authority shall and shall procure (to the extent that it has the contractual or legal 

powers to do so) and shall otherwise use reasonable endeavours to procure that 

Existing Operator Partner shall supply to the Operator Partner no later than five (5) 

Business Days prior to the Service Transfer Date true copies of its union recognition 

agreement(s) and the Operator Partner shall and shall procure that each and every 

Sub-Contractor shall in accordance with TUPE recognise the trade unions 

representing Relevant Employees (as relevant to each Sub-Contractor) after the 

transfer to the same extent as they were recognised by the Authority or the Existing 

Operator Partner before the Service Transfer Date.  

59.17 The Operator Partner shall procure that, on each occasion on which the identity of a 

Sub-Contractor changes pursuant to this Agreement, in the event that there is a 

Relevant Transfer, the new Sub-Contractor shall in accordance with TUPE 

recognise the trade unions representing the employees whose contracts of 

employment transfer to the new Sub-Contractor to the same extent as they were 

recognised before the change of identity of the Sub-Contractor in respect of the 

provision of the Services at the Authority’s premises.  Information and 

Consultation   

59.18 The Operator Partner shall comply (and shall procure that any Sub-Contractor 

complies) with its obligations under Regulation 13 of TUPE during the period prior 

to the Service Transfer Date.  

59.19 The Authority shall comply with its obligations under Regulations 13 and 14 of TUPE 

during the period prior to the Service Transfer Date, save where the Authority is 

unable to do so as a result of the failure of the Operator Partner and/or any Sub-

Contractor to comply with their duties under Regulation 13 of TUPE.   

Authority Indemnity  

59.20 The Authority shall indemnify the Operator Partner both for itself and any 

SubContractor against Employment Liabilities incurred by the Operator Partner 

and/or any Sub-Contractor in connection with or as a result of the following:  

59.20.1 any direct act, fault or omission of the Authority in respect of any Relevant 

Employee in the period before the Service Transfer Date;  

59.20.2 any failure by the Authority to comply with its obligations under Regulations 

13 and 14 of TUPE before the Service Transfer Date, or any award of 

compensation under Regulation 15 of TUPE, save where such failure 

arises from the failure of the Operator Partner and/or any Sub-Contractor 

to comply with its or their duties under Regulation 13 of TUPE; and,   

59.20.3 any claim (including any individual employee entitlement under or 

consequent on such a claim) by any trade union or other body or person 

representing the Relevant Employees arising from or connected with any 

failure by the Authority to comply with any legal obligation to such trade 

union, body or person before the Service Transfer Date.   

Operator Partner Indemnity  

Pack Page 277



 

99120273.1\kp07                128  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

59.21 The Operator Partner shall indemnify the Authority and, at the direction of the 

Authority, the Existing Operator Partner or any other relevant contractor of the 

Authority against Employment Liabilities incurred by the Authority in connection with 

or as a result of the following:  

59.21.1 any failure by the Operator Partner or any Sub-Contractor to comply with its 

obligations under Clause 60 (Pensions) in respect of the Relevant 

Employees;  

59.21.2 any act, fault or omission (arising directly or indirectly) of the Operator 

Partner or any Sub-Contractor in respect of any Relevant Employee on 

or after the Service Transfer Date;  

59.21.3 any failure by the Operator Partner or any Sub-Contractor to comply with its 

obligations under TUPE;  

 59.21.4  any failure by the Operator Partner or Sub-Contractor to meet the  

Employee Costs for the Relevant Employees on or after the Service 

Transfer Date;   

59.21.5 any claim (including any individual entitlement of a Relevant Employee 

under or consequent on such claim) by any trade union or other body or 

person representing the Relevant Employees arising from or connected 

with any failure by the Operator Partner or any Sub-Contractor to comply 

with any legal obligation to such trade union, body or person;  

59.21.6 any change or proposed change in the terms and conditions of employment 

or working conditions of the Relevant Employees on or after their transfer 

to the Operator Partner on the Service Transfer Date;  

59.21.7  any of the Transferring Employees informing the Authority they object to 

being employed by the Operator Partner or Sub-Contractor;  

59.21.8 any change of identity of employer occurring by virtue of TUPE and/or this 

Agreement being significant and detrimental to any of the Relevant  

Employees, or to any person who would have been a Relevant Employee 

but for their resignation or decision to treat their employment as 

terminated under Regulation 4(9) of TUPE on or before the Service 

Transfer Date as a result of the change in employer;  

59.21.9 any proposal by the Operator Partner and/or a Sub Operator Partner to 

change the terms and conditions of employment or working conditions or 

place of work of the Relevant Employees on or after the Service Transfer 

Date, or to change the terms and conditions of employment or working 

conditions or place of work of any person who would have been a 

Relevant Employee but for their resignation (or decision to treat their 

employment as terminated under Regulation 4(9) of TUPE) on or before 

the Service Transfer Date as a result of any such proposed changes;   

Pack Page 278



 

99120273.1\kp07                129  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

59.21.10 any proposal or action taken by the Operator Partner and/or a Sub 

Operator Partner to make any of the Relevant Employees redundant on 

or after the Service Transfer Date or to make redundant any person who 

would have been a Relevant Employee but for their resignation (or 

decisions to treat their employment as terminated under Regulation 4(9) 

of TUPE) on or before the Service Transfer Date as a result of any such 

proposed redundancy; and  

59.21.11  any proceeding claim or demand by HMRC or other statutory authority  

relating to the Operator Partner’s or Sub-Contractor’s financial 

obligations towards the Relevant Employees.  

Retendering  

59.22 The Operator Partner shall (and shall procure that any Sub-Contractor shall) within 

the period of twelve (12) months immediately preceding the Expiry Date, or as a 

consequence of the Authority notifying the Operator Partner of its intention to 

retender this Agreement, or as otherwise reasonably requested:  

59.22.1 on receiving a request from the Authority provide in respect of any person 

engaged or employed by the Operator Partner or any SubContractor in 

the provision of the Services (Assigned Employees) full and accurate 

details regarding the identity, number, age, sex, length of service, job title, 

grade and terms and conditions of employment of and other matters 

affecting each of those Assigned Employees who it is expected, if they 

remain in the employment of the Operator Partner or of any Sub-

Contractor as the case may be until immediately before the Termination 

Date or Expiry Date (as appropriate), would be Returning Employees 

(Retendering Information);  

59.22.2  provide the Retendering Information promptly and at no cost to the 

Authority;  

 59.22.3  notify the Authority forthwith in writing of any material changes to the  

Retendering Information promptly as and when such changes arise;  

59.22.4 be precluded from making any material increase or decrease in the numbers 

of Assigned Employees;  

59.22.5 be precluded from making any increase in the remuneration or other change 

in the terms and conditions of the Assigned Employees other than in the 

ordinary course of business and with the Authority’s prior written consent; 

and  

59.22.6 be precluded from transferring any of the Assigned Employees to another 

part of its business or moving other employees from elsewhere in its or 

their business who have not previously been employed or engaged in 

providing the Services to provide the Services save with the Authority’s 

prior written consent.  

Pack Page 279



 

99120273.1\kp07                130  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

59.23 Without prejudice to Clauses 59.22 and 59.24 the Operator Partner shall provide and 

shall procure that any Sub-Contractor shall provide the Employee Liability 

Information to the Authority at such time or times as are required by TUPE, and shall 

warrant at the time of providing such Employee Liability Information, that such 

information will be updated to take account of any changes to such information as 

is required by TUPE.  

59.24 The Operator Partner shall and shall keep indemnified in full the Authority and at the 

Authority’s direction any Future Operator Partner against all Direct Losses arising 

from any claim by any party as a result of the Operator Partner or SubContractor 

failing to provide or promptly to provide the Authority and/or any Future Operator 

Partner where requested by the Authority with any Retendering Information and/or 

Employee Liability Information or to provide full Retendering Information and/or 

Employee Liability Information or as a result of any material inaccuracy in or 

omission from the Retendering Information and/or Employee Liability Information.  

59.25 The Authority shall be permitted to disclose the Retendering Information to any Future 

Operator Partner.  

Termination of Agreement  

59.26 Upon all or part of the Services ceasing to be provided by the Operator Partner for 

any reason (such date(s) being termed "Return Date(s)"), the parties agree that it 

is their intention that TUPE shall apply in respect of the provision thereafter of any 

service equivalent to all or part of a Service but the position shall be determined in 

accordance with Legislation at the Expiry Date or Termination Date as the case may 

be and Clauses 59.26 to 59.30 is without prejudice to such determination.  

59.27 Upon the Return Date(s), the provisions of Clauses 59.28 and 59.29 will apply.   

59.28 The Operator Partner shall or shall procure that all Employee Costs of the Returning 

Employees and other employees or former employees of the Operator Partner or 

the Sub-Contractors (who had been engaged in the provision of the Services) up to 

the Return Date(s) are satisfied.   

59.29 Without prejudice to Clause 59.28, the Operator Partner shall:  

59.29.1 remain (and procure that Sub-Contractors shall remain) (as relevant) 

responsible for all the Operator Partner's or Sub-Contractor's employees 

(other than the Returning Employees) on or after the Return Date(s) and 

shall indemnify the Authority and any Future Operator Partner against all 

Direct Losses incurred by the Authority or any Future Operator Partner 

resulting from any claim whatsoever whether arising before on or after 

the Return Date(s) by or on behalf of any of the Operator Partner's or 

Sub-Contractor's employees who do not constitute the Returning 

Employees; and   

59.29.2 in respect of the Returning Employees the Operator Partner shall indemnify 

the Authority and any Future Operator Partner against all Direct Losses 

(including, without limitation, all Employment Liabilities) incurred by the 

Pack Page 280



 

99120273.1\kp07                131  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Authority or any Future Operator Partner resulting from any claim 

whatsoever by or on behalf of any of the Returning Employees in respect 

of the period on or before the Return Date(s) (whether any such claim, 

attributable to the period up to and on the Return Date(s), arises before, 

on or after the Return Date(s)) including but not limited to any failure by 

the Operator Partner or any SubContractor to comply with its or their 

obligations under Regulations 13 and 14 of TUPE and any award of 

compensation under Regulation 15 of TUPE and/or Article 6 of the 

Directive as if such Legislation applied, even if it does not in fact apply 

save to the extent that any such failure to comply arises as a result of an 

act or omission of the Authority or any Future Operator Partner.  

59.30 The Authority shall be entitled to assign the benefit of this indemnity to any Future 

Operator Partner.  

Offer of Employment on Expiry or Termination  

59.31 If TUPE does not apply on the expiry or earlier termination of this Agreement, the  

Authority shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that the relevant Future 

Operator Partner or the Authority (as the case may be) shall offer employment to 

the persons employed by the Operator Partner or a Sub-Contractor who are wholly 

or mainly engaged in the provision of the relevant Services immediately before the 

Return Date(s).  

59.32 If an offer of employment is made in accordance with Clause 59.31, the employment 

shall be on the same terms and conditions (except for entitlement to membership of 

an occupational pension scheme, which shall be dealt with in accordance with 

Clause 60 (Pensions) as applied immediately before the expiry or earlier termination 

of this Agreement including full continuity of employment, except that the Authority 

or Future Operator Partner may at its absolute discretion not offer such terms and 

conditions if there has been any change to the terms and conditions of the persons 

concerned in breach of Clause 59.22 to 59.24.  

59.33 Where any such offer as referred to in Clause 59.31 is accepted, the Operator Partner 

shall indemnify and keep indemnified in full the Authority and/or (at the direction of 

the Authority) any Future Operator Partner on the same terms and conditions as 

those set out in Clause 59.20 as if there had been a Relevant Transfer in respect of 

each and every employee who has accepted any such offer and for the purposes of 

this Clause 59 each and every such employee shall be treated as if they were a 

Returning Employee.  

59.34 Where any such offer as referred to in Clause 59.31 is not accepted and TUPE does 

not apply, the employee shall remain an employee of the Operator Partner or Sub-

Contractor as appropriate. The Authority and/or Future Operator Partner shall not 

be liable for any Employee Costs or Employment Liabilities incurred by the Operator 

Partner and/or Sub-contractor where an employee remains employed by the 

Operator Partner or Sub-Contractor as per this clause 59.34.   

Redundancy on Expiry or Termination  

Pack Page 281



 

99120273.1\kp07                132  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

59.35 If, on the expiry or earlier termination of this Agreement, all or any of the Services 

cease to be required by the Authority such that any person employed by the 

Operator Partner or Sub-Contractor who is wholly or mainly assigned to such 

Services is redundant, the Authority will bear Redundancy Costs associated with 

such person's redundancy subject to the Operator Partner or Sub-Contractor 

complying with the obligations described in Clause 59.36.  

59.36 The Operator Partner shall, and shall procure that any Sub-Contractor shall, use all 

reasonable endeavours to redeploy any person who is redundant in circumstances 

described in Clause 59.35.   

Sub-Contractors  

59.37 In the event that the Operator Partner enters into any Sub-Contract in connection with 

this Agreement, it shall impose obligations on its Sub-Contractors in the same terms 

as those imposed on it pursuant to Clause 59 (TUPE and Employees), Clause 60 

(Pensions) and shall procure that the Sub-Contractor complies with such terms. The 

Operator Partner shall indemnify and keep the Authority indemnified in full against 

all Direct Losses, incurred or by the Authority or any Future Operator Partner as a 

result of or in connection with any failure on the part of the Operator Partner to 

comply with this Clause 59.37 and/or the SubContractor's failure to comply with such 

terms.  

60.  PENSIONS  

Operator Partner to become Admission Body   

60.1 Where the Operator Partner or a Sub-Contractor employs any Eligible Employees from 

the Service Transfer Date it shall offer, and shall procure that any SubContractor 

shall offer, those Eligible Employees membership of the LGPS. The Operator 

Partner shall, and shall procure that any Sub-Contractor shall, become an 

Admission Body and shall execute a Partner Admission Agreement in respect of the 

Eligible Employees which will have effect from and including the Service Transfer 

Date.    

Indemnity or Bond  

60.2 Without prejudice to the generality of the requirements of this Clause 60, the Operator 

Partner shall, and shall procure that a Sub-Contractor shall, as soon as reasonably 

practicable obtain any indemnity or bond required in accordance with the Partner 

Admission Agreement.  

Indemnity for a Breach of the Partner Admission Agreement  

60.3 The Operator Partner will comply, and will procure that a Sub-Contractor complies with 

the terms of the Partner Admission Agreement and the LGPS Regulations. Without 

prejudice to the generality of this Clause 60, the Operator Partner hereby 

indemnifies the Authority and/or any Future Operator Partner from and against all 

Losses suffered or incurred by it or them which arise from any breach by the  

Pack Page 282



 

99120273.1\kp07                133  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Operator Partner or a Sub-Contractor of the terms of the Partner Admission 

Agreement to the extent that such liability arises before or as a result of the 

termination or expiry of this Agreement (howsoever caused).  

Right of Set Off  

60.4 The Authority shall have a right to set off against any payments due to the Operator 

Partner under this Agreement an amount equal to any overdue employer and 

employee contributions and other payments (and interest payable under the LGPS 

Regulations) due from the Operator Partner  or a Sub-Contractor under the Partner 

Admission Agreement.  

Funding   

60.5 The Authority shall procure that when the Operator Partner becomes an Admission 

Body under the Fund then, in respect of those Eligible Employees who elect to 

aggregate their periods of LGPS membership, the Operator Partner shall be credited 

by the Administering Authority for the Fund with a notional fund within the Fund at 

the Service Transfer Date (which for the avoidance of doubt shall not constitute an 

admission agreement fund for the purposes of the LGPS Regulations) of such 

amount to meet the entire cost of providing the benefits of those Eligible Employees 

accrued in the LGPS before the Service Transfer Date on an ongoing basis, as 

determined by an actuary appointed by the Administering Authority using the 

ongoing actuarial methods and assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of the 

Fund (or revision thereto) preceding the Service Transfer Date, adjusted by the 

actuary to take account of market conditions at Transfer Date.  

60.6 The Operator Partner shall, pursuant to the Partner Admission Agreement or the LGPS 

Regulations, pay to the Administering Authority for the credit of the LGPS such 

employer contributions or payments as are required under the Partner Admission 

Agreement or the LGPS Regulations.  

60.7 Subject to Clause 60.10 if, at any time following the Service Transfer Date, the rate of 

employer contributions payable by the Operator Partner  is more than the Initial 

Contribution Amount (Increased Amount), the Operator Partner shall be able to 

recover the Increased Amount from the Authority by means of an adjustment to the 

Annual Payment.  

60.8  NOT USED.  

60.9 Subject to Clause 60.10, where an actuarial valuation is obtained by the Administering 

Authority when the Operator Partner ceases to be an employer in the Fund for the 

purposes of the Eligible Employees, and the Operator Partner is required to pay an 

additional contribution to the Fund in respect of the Eligible Employees, the Authority 

will reimburse to the Operator Partner the amount payable by the Operator Partner 

to the Fund within 30 days of the payment being made.  

60.10 The Operator Partner accepts responsibility for any increase in employer contributions 

or any additional contribution or payment to the Fund payable in accordance with 

Clauses 60.7 or 60.9 to the extent it results from one or more of the following issues:   

Pack Page 283



 

99120273.1\kp07                134  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

60.10.1 awarding annual pay increases for the Eligible Employees which, in 

aggregate, exceed the percentage rate allowed for pay increases in the 

last valuation of the Fund prior to the award of the pay increase in 

question;   

60.10.2 granting early retirement requests from Eligible Employees or deferred 

members of the LGPS;  

 60.10.3  augmentation of benefits in relation to an Eligible Employee;  

 60.10.4  reducing or waiving any contributions due from an Eligible Employee;  

60.10.5  terminating the employment of an Eligible Employee aged 55 or over on 

the grounds of redundancy or efficiency of the service;  

60.10.6  terminating the employment of an Eligible Employee on the grounds of ill-

health;  

60.10.7 bringing the deferred benefit of an Eligible Employee into payment on the 

grounds of ill-health; or   

60.10.8  any liabilities in relation to new joiners who were not Eligible Employees.  

Undertakings from the Operator Partner  

60.11 The Operator Partner undertakes to the Authority and shall procure that any 

SubContractor undertakes to the Authority (for the benefit of the Authority itself and 

for the Authority as agent and trustee for the benefit of the Eligible Employees) that:  

60.11.1 all information which the Authority or the Administering Authority or their 

respective professional advisers may reasonably request from the 

Operator Partner or the Sub-Contractor for the administration of the 

LGPS or  concerning any other matters raised in this Clause 60  

(Pensions) shall be supplied to them as expeditiously as possible;  

60.11.2 it shall not, without the consent in writing of the Authority (which shall only 

be given subject to the payment by the Operator Partner or 

SubContractor of such reasonable costs as the Authority or the 

Administering Authority may require) consent to instigate, encourage or 

assist any event which could impose on the LGPS or on the Authority a 

cost in respect of any Eligible Employee greater than the cost which 

would have been payable in respect of that Eligible Employee had that 

consent, instigation, encouragement or assistance not been given; and  

60.11.3 until the Service Transfer Date, it shall not issue any announcements 

(whether in writing or not) to the Eligible Employees concerning the 

matters referred to in this Clause 60 (Pensions) without the consent in 

writing of the Authority and the Administering Authority (not to be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed); and  

Pack Page 284



 

99120273.1\kp07                135  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

60.11.4 it shall not take or omit to take any action which would materially affect the 

benefits under the LGPS or under the Operator Partner Scheme of any 

Eligible Employees who are or will be employed wholly or partially in 

connection with the Services without the prior written agreement of the 

Authority (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) provided that the 

Operator Partner will be so entitled without the requirement of consent to 

give effect to any pre-existing contractual obligations to any Eligible 

Employees.   

Discretionary Benefits  

60.12 Where the Operator Partner or a Sub-Contractor is an Admission Body, the Operator 

Partner shall procure that benefits are awarded to the Eligible Employees (where 

permitted) under the LGPS Regulations in circumstances where the Eligible 

Employees would have received such benefits had they still been employed by the 

Authority.  

60.13 Where the award of benefits in Clause 60.12 is not permitted under the LGPS 

Regulations or the Operator Partner or Sub-Contractor is not an Admission Body, 

the Operator Partner shall procure that benefits are awarded to the Eligible 

Employees which are identical to the benefits the Eligible Employees would have 

received under the LGPS Regulations in circumstances where the Eligible 

Employees would have received such benefits had they still been employed by the 

Authority.  

60.14 Under Clauses 60.12 and 60.13, where such benefits are of a discretionary nature, 

they shall be awarded on the basis of the Authority's written policy in relation to such 

benefits at the time of the Service Transfer Date (which the Authority shall provide 

upon request). Where the payment of such benefits is not, for whatever reason, 

possible, the Operator Partner shall procure that the Eligible Employees are 

compensated in a manner which is broadly comparable or equivalent, as determined 

by the Authority.  

Claims from Eligible Employees or Pensionable Employees or Trade Unions  

60.15 The Operator Partner hereby indemnifies the Authority and/or any Future Operator 

Partner from and against all Losses suffered or incurred by it or them which arise 

from claims by Eligible Employees of the Operator Partner or by any trade unions,  

elected employee representatives or staff associations in respect of all or any such 

Eligible Employees  which losses:  

60.15.1 relate to pension rights in respect of periods of employment on and after the 

Service Transfer Date until the date of termination or expiry of this 

Agreement;  or  

60.15.2 arise out of the failure of the Operator Partner to comply with the provisions 

of this Clause 60 before the date of termination or expiry of this 

Agreement,  

Pack Page 285



 

99120273.1\kp07                136  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

the Authority and the Operator Partner agree that the Contracts (Rights of Third 

Parties) Act 1999 shall apply to this provision to the extent necessary to enable a 

Future Operator Partner to enforce its rights.  

Liability for Costs  

60.16 The costs of the Authority necessarily and reasonably incurred in connection with the 

Partner Admission Agreement shall be borne by the Operator Partner.  

Pensionable Employees  

60.17 Where the Operator Partner employs any Relevant Employees from a Service 

Transfer Date, the Operator Partner shall comply with its obligations under sections 

257 and 258 of the Pensions Act 2004, the Transfer of Employment (Pension 

Protection) Regulations 2005 and its duties under the Pensions Act 2008, with effect 

on and from the Service Transfer Date.  

Transfer to another Employer  

60.18 If the employment of any Eligible Employee transfers to another employer (by way of 

a Relevant Transfer) the Supplier shall:  

60.18.1 consult with and inform those Eligible Employees of the pension provisions 

relating to that transfer; and  

60.18.2  procure that the employer to which the Eligible Employees are transferred 

complies with the provisions of this Clause 60 (Pensions).  

Pension Issues on Expiry or Termination  

60.19 The Operator Partner shall, and shall procure that a Sub-Contractor shall:  

60.19.1 maintain such documents and information as will be reasonably required to 

manage the pension aspects of any onward transfer of any person 

engaged or employed by the Operator Partner or Sub- 

Contractor in the provision of the Services on the expiry or termination of 

this Agreement (including, without limitation, identification of the Eligible 

Employees);  

 60.19.2  promptly provide to the Authority such documents and information  

mentioned in Clause 60.19.1 which the Authority may reasonably request 

in advance of the expiry or termination of this Agreement; and   

60.19.3 fully co-operate (and, where relevant, procure that the trustees of the 

Operator Partner's Scheme shall fully co-operate) with the reasonable 

requests of the Authority relating to any administrative tasks necessary 

to deal with the pension aspects of any onward transfer of any person 

engaged or employed by the Operator Partner or Sub-Contractor in the 

provision of the Services on the expiry or termination of this Agreement.  

 Direct Enforceability    

Pack Page 286



 

99120273.1\kp07                137  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

60.20 The Operator Partner shall procure (and shall ensure that its Sub-Contractors procure) 

that the provisions of this Clause 60 (Pensions) shall be directly enforceable by the 

Eligible Employees against the Supplier or (where relevant) its Sub-Contractors. The 

Authority and the Operator Partner agree that the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

Act 1999 shall apply to this provision to the extent necessary to enable an Eligible 

Employee to enforce these rights.  

61.  ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING  

Restrictions on Authority  

61.1 The rights and obligations of the Authority under this Agreement shall not be assigned, 

novated or otherwise transferred (whether by virtue of any Legislation or any 

scheme pursuant to any Legislation or otherwise) to any person other than to any 

public body (being a single entity) acquiring the whole of the Agreement and having 

the legal capacity, power and authority to become a party to and to perform the 

obligations of the Authority under this Agreement being:  

61.1.1 a Minister of the Crown pursuant to an Order under the Ministers of the Crown 

Act 1975;  

61.1.2 any Local Authority which has sufficient financial standing or financial 

resources to perform the obligations of the Authority under this 

Agreement; or  

61.1.3 any other public body whose obligations under this Agreement are 

unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed (in a form reasonably 

acceptable to the Operator Partner) by the Authority or a Minister of the 

Crown having the legal capacity, power and authority to perform the 

obligations under the guarantee and the obligations of the Authority under 

this Agreement.  

Restrictions on Operator Partner  

61.2 Subject to Clause 61.3, the Operator Partner shall not subcontract, assign, novate or 

otherwise dispose of or create any trust in relation to any or all of its rights, 

obligations or liabilities under this Agreement in whole or in part except with the prior 

written consent of the Authority.  

61.3 Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit the Operator Partner from providing or 

procuring the provision of the Services from a Sub-Contractor having the legal 

capacity, power and authority to become a party to and perform the obligations of 

the relevant Sub-Contract and employing persons having the appropriate 

qualifications, experience and technical competence and having the resources 

available to it which are sufficient to enable it to perform the obligations of the 

SubContractor under the relevant Sub-Contract provided that:  

61.3.1  such Sub-Contractor's identity has been notified to the Authority and the 

Authority has approved it in writing;  

Pack Page 287



 

99120273.1\kp07                138  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

61.3.2 the Operator Partner has complied with its obligations under Clause 61.5 

where applicable;  

61.3.3 such Sub-Contractor's terms of Sub-Contract have been notified to the 

Authority by the Operator Partner and the Authority has approved them 

in writing;  

61.3.4 the Operator Partner provides the Authority with a certified copy of the Sub-

Contract within ten (10) Business Days of the Sub-Contract being 

completed;  

61.3.5 if required by the Authority, the Operator Partner procures a parent company 

guarantee or bond from the Sub-Contractor; and  

61.3.6 the Operator Partner shall remain primarily and directly liable for the Operator 

Partner's obligations under this Agreement.  

61.4 By entering into this Agreement, the Authority approves the appointment of the [Leisure 

Operator and FM Contractor] under the [Leisure Contract and FM Agreement] in the 

Agreed Form, provided that the Operator Partner complies with its obligations under 

Clause 3.1 and the Operator Partner shall remain primarily and directly liable for the 

Operator Partner's obligations under this Agreement.  

61.5 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Operator Partner shall not 

engage any new Leisure Operator or FM Contractor in connection with this 

Agreement unless such person has delivered to the Authority a duly executed 

agreement substantially in the Agreed Form of the relevant Collateral Warranty and 

in each case such Collateral Warranties must be delivered to the Authority before 

such entity enters onto any Site.  

Operator Partner's Obligations  

61.6 The Operator Partner shall perform its obligations under and observe all the terms of 

any Sub-Contract with a Sub-Contractor.  

Sub-Contractors  

61.7  Nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit or prevent any Sub-Contractor employed 

by the Operator Partner from being employed by the Authority at any 

establishments of the Authority.  

Replacement of Sub-Contractors  

61.8 The rights set out in Clause 61.9 may be exercised on no more than two (2) occasions 

during the Contract Period.  

61.9  On the substitution or replacement of the defaulting Leisure Operator or FM  

Contractor or a defaulting sub-contractor to the Leisure Operator or the FM 

Contractor (in all cases provided that the Operator Partner is acting in compliance 

with Clause 6 (Ancillary Documents), the Operator Partner may elect that, for the 

purposes of Clause 40 (Termination on Operator Partner Default) only:  

Pack Page 288



 

99120273.1\kp07                139  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

61.9.1  any accrued Performance Failures and/or Performance Adjustments; 

and/or  

61.9.2 any warning notices or Final Warning Notices in respect of Clause 41 

(Termination for Persistent Breach by the Operator Partner),  

in each case relating to the relevant Services in respect of which the Leisure 

Operator or the FM Contractor (as the case may be) or any sub-contractor to the 

Leisure Operator or the FM Contractor (as the case may be) is being replaced, shall 

be cancelled.  The Operator Partner shall notify the Authority on or before the 

appointment of any such substitute or replacement Leisure Operator or FM 

Contractor or sub-contractor (as the case may be) whether it elects for this Clause 

61.9 to apply on that occasion.  

61.10 Where an election is made pursuant to Clause 61.9 on the substitution or replacement 

of the defaulting Leisure Operator or FM Contractor (as the case may be) or a 

defaulting sub-contractor (as the case may be) to the Leisure Operator or the FM 

Contactor then, for the purposes of Clause 40 (Termination on Operator Partner 

Default) only, no:  

61.10.1 Failure Points shall accrue for the purposes of sub-paragraph (h) of the 

definition of Operator Partner Default;   

61.10.2  Performance Failures shall be deemed to occur for the purposes of 

subparagraph (i) of the definition of Operator Partner Default; and  

61.10.3 warning notices or Final Warning Notices in respect of Clause 41 

(Termination for Persistent Breach by the Operator Partner) shall accrue 

for the purposes of sub-paragraph (b) of the definition of Operator Partner 

Default,  

in respect of a Service during a period of two (2) months from the date on which that 

Service is first provided by the replacement or substitute Leisure Operator or FM 

Contractor or sub-contractor as appropriate.   

62.  CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP  

Restricted Share Transfer  

62.1  A Change in Ownership may only occur to a Suitable Third Party.  

Notification  

62.2 The Operator Partner shall provide the Authority with at least ten (10) Business Days' 

prior written notice of any Change in Ownership contemplated by Clause 62.1.  

62.3 The Authority may, not more than twice in any calendar year, or at any time when an 

Operator Partner Default is outstanding, request that the Operator Partner inform it 

as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within twenty (20) Business 

Days of receipt of the Authority's request for details of any Change in Ownership.  

Pack Page 289



 

99120273.1\kp07                140  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

62.4  The Operator Partner's obligation under Clause 62.2 shall, except where a legal 

transfer of shares is proposed, be limited to the extent of the Operator Partner's 

awareness.  

62.5 The Operator Partner's obligation under Clause 62.3 shall, except where a legal 

transfer of shares has occurred, be limited to the extent of the Operator Partner's 

awareness having made all reasonable enquiry.  

62.6 For the purposes of this Clause 0 any change in legal or beneficial ownership of any 

shares that are listed on a recognised investment exchange (as defined in Section 

285 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) shall be disregarded.  

63.  WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES  

63.1 The rights and remedies under this Agreement may be waived only by notice and in a 

manner that expressly states that a waiver is intended. A failure or delay by a party 

in ascertaining or exercising a right or remedy provided under this Agreement or by 

law shall not constitute a waiver of that right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict 

the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. No single or partial exercise 

of any right or remedy shall prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any 

other right or remedy.  

63.2 Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, rights and remedies under this 

Agreement are cumulative and do not exclude any rights or remedies provided by 

law, in equity or otherwise.  

64.  RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  

Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, nothing in this 

Agreement, nor any actions taken by the parties pursuant to this Agreement, shall 

create a partnership, joint venture or relationship of employer and employee or 

principal and agent between the parties, or authorise either party to make 

representations or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of any other party.  

65.  SEVERANCE  

65.1 If any provision of this Agreement (or part of any provision) is held to be void or 

otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such provision (or 

part) shall to the extent necessary to ensure that the remaining provisions of this 

Agreement are not void or unenforceable be deemed to be deleted and the validity  

and/or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be 

affected.  

65.2 In the event of a holding of invalidity so fundamental as to prevent the accomplishment 

of the purpose of this Agreement, the parties shall immediately commence 

negotiations in good faith to remedy this invalidity.   

Pack Page 290



 

99120273.1\kp07                141  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

66.  FURTHER ASSURANCES  

Each party undertakes at the request of the other, and at the cost of the requesting 

party to do all acts and execute all documents which may be reasonably necessary 

to give effect to the meaning of this Agreement.  

67.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT  

67.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties in respect of its 

subject matter and supersedes and extinguishes all prior negotiations, 

arrangements, understanding, course of dealings or agreements made between the 

Parties in relation to its subject matter, whether written or oral.  

67.2 Neither Party has been given, nor entered into this Agreement in reliance on, any 

warranty, statement, promise or representation other than those expressly set out 

in this Agreement.  

67.3  Nothing in this Clause 67 shall exclude any liability in respect of misrepresentations 

made fraudulently.  

68.  THIRD PARTY RIGHTS  

No term of this Agreement is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third 

Parties) Act 1999 by a person who is not a party to this Agreement.  

69.  NOTICES  

Form and Service of Notices  

69.1 All notices under this Agreement shall be in writing and all certificates, notices or written 

instructions to be given under the terms of this Agreement shall be served by 

sending the same by first class post:  

Operator Partner  Authority  

  

[INSERT NAME]  
  

[INSERT ADDRESS]   

  

Provision of Information to Representatives  

69.2  Where any information or documentation is to be provided or submitted to the  

Authority's Representative or the Operator Partner's Representative it shall be 

provided or submitted by sending the same by first class post or by hand, or 

leaving the same at:  

Operator  

Representative  

Partner's  Authority's Representative  

[INSERT NAME]   [INSERT NAME]  

Pack Page 291



 

99120273.1\kp07                142  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

[INSERT ADDRESS]   [INSERT ADDRESS]  

  

Change of Details  

69.3 Either party to this Agreement (and either Representative) may change its nominated 

address or facsimile number by prior notice to the other party.  

Effectiveness of Notices  

69.4 Notices given by post shall be effective upon the earlier of actual receipt and five (5) 

Business Days after mailing.  Notices delivered by hand shall be effective upon 

delivery.  Notices given by facsimile shall be deemed to have been received where 

there is confirmation of uninterrupted transmission by a transmission report and 

where there has been no telephonic communication by the recipient to the senders 

(to be confirmed in writing) that the facsimile has not been received in legible form:  

69.4.1 within two (2) hours after sending, if sent on a Business Day between the 

hours of 9am and 4pm; or  

69.4.2 by 11am on the next following Business Day, if sent after 4pm on a Business 

Day but before 9am on that next following Business Day.  

70.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

Disputes  

70.1 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be resolved in 

accordance with this Clause 70.  

Consultation  

70.2 If a dispute arises in relation to any aspect of this Agreement, the Operator Partner and 

the Authority shall consult in good faith in an attempt to come to an agreement in 

relation to the disputed matter and, if necessary, shall escalate the dispute for 

discussion between senior colleagues at the Authority and Operator Partner.  

Adjudication  

70.3 Without prejudice to Clause 70.2, either party may give the other notice of its intention 

to refer the dispute to adjudication (Notice of Adjudication).  The Notice of 

Adjudication shall include a brief statement of the issue to be referred and the 

redress sought.  The party giving the Notice of Adjudication (Referring Party) shall 

on the same day and by the same means of communication send a copy of  

the Notice of Adjudication to an adjudicator selected in accordance with Clause 70.4.  

Identity of Adjudicator  

Pack Page 292



 

99120273.1\kp07                143  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

70.4 The Adjudicator nominated to consider a dispute referred to him shall be selected on a 

strictly rotational basis from the relevant panel of experts selected in accordance 

with the following:  

70.4.1 there shall be a panel of experts in respect of operational and maintenance 

matters.  All the experts on the panel shall be wholly independent of the 

Operator Partner, the Authority, the relevant SubContractor and any of 

the major competitors of the Operator Partner or relevant Sub-Contractor;  

70.4.2 the panel shall be comprised of three (3) experts who shall be selected jointly 

by the Operator Partner and the Authority.  Such selection shall take 

place within twenty (20) Business Days of the Commencement Date or 

otherwise as agreed between the parties;  

70.4.3 if any member of a panel resigns during the Contract Period, a replacement 

expert shall be selected by the Operator Partner and the Authority as 

soon as practicable;  

70.4.4 in the event that the nominated Adjudicator is unable or unwilling to confirm 

acceptance of his appointment as Adjudicator within two (2) Business 

Days of receipt of the Notice of Adjudication, then the  

Referring Party shall invite the person next in line to act as the 

Adjudicator.  In the event that the second panel member is unwilling or 

unable to confirm acceptance of his appointment as Adjudicator within 

two (2) days or if the parties disagree as to the relevant panel of experts 

to be used then the Referring Party may apply to the President for the 

time being of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators who shall within three 

(3) Business Days of any such application nominate an Adjudicator to 

determine the issue set out in the Notice of Adjudication; and  

70.4.5 if the Authority and the Operator Partner are unable to agree on the identity 

of the experts to be selected to the panels, the President for the time 

being of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators shall appoint such expert(s) 

within thirty (30) days of any application for such appointment by either 

party.  

Referral of the Dispute  

70.5 Within seven (7) days of the service of the Notice of Adjudication, or as soon thereafter 

as the Adjudicator is appointed, the Referring Party shall serve its statement of case 

(Referral Notice) on the Adjudicator and the other party (Responding Party).  The 

Referral Notice shall include a copy of this Agreement, details of the circumstances 

giving rise to the dispute as set out in the Notice of Adjudication, the reasons why 

the Referring Party is entitled to the redress sought, and the evidence upon which it 

relies.  

Response to the Referral  

70.6  The Responding Party shall serve its statement of case (Response) on the  

Adjudicator and the Referring Party within a period of time to be directed by the  

Pack Page 293



 

99120273.1\kp07                144  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Adjudicator.  The Response shall include any arguments in response to the Referral 

Notice of the dispute set out in the Notice of Adjudication and any additional 

evidence on which the Responding Party relies.  

Procedure  

70.7 Subject to Clause 70.18.1, the Adjudicator shall have absolute discretion as to how to 

conduct the adjudication, including whether a meeting is necessary.  He shall 

establish the procedure and timetable subject to any limitation within this 

Agreement. The parties shall comply with any request or direction of the Adjudicator 

in relation to the adjudication.  

Adjudicator's Decision  

70.8 In any event, the Adjudicator shall provide to both parties his written decision on the 

dispute, within twenty eight (28) days after the date of receipt of the Referral Notice 

(or such other period as the parties may agree).  The Adjudicator shall be entitled to 

extend the said period of twenty eight (28) days by up to fourteen (14) days with the 

consent of the Referring Party.  The Adjudicator shall state any reasons for his 

decision.  Unless and until revised, cancelled or varied by the English courts, the 

Adjudicator's decision shall be binding on both parties who shall forthwith give effect 

to the decision.  

Adjudicator's Costs  

70.9 The Adjudicator's costs of any referral shall be borne as the Adjudicator shall specify 

or, in default, equally by the parties.  Each party shall bear its own costs arising out 

of the referral, including legal costs and the costs and expenses of any witnesses.  

Adjudicator as Expert  

70.10 The Adjudicator shall be deemed not to be an arbitrator but shall render his decision 

as an expert, and the provisions of the Arbitration Act 1996 and the law relating to 

arbitration shall not apply to the Adjudicator or his determination or the procedure 

by which he reached his determination.  

Adjudicator's Powers  

70.11 The Adjudicator shall act fairly and impartially and may take the initiative in 

ascertaining the facts and the law.  The Adjudicator shall have the power to open 

up, review and revise any opinion, certificate, instruction, determination or decision 

of whatever nature given or made under this Agreement.  

Confidentiality  

70.12 All information, data or documentation disclosed or delivered by a party to the  

Adjudicator in consequence of or in connection with his appointment as 

Adjudicator shall be treated as confidential.  The Adjudicator shall not, save as 

permitted by Clause 56 (Confidentiality), disclose to any person or company any 

such information, data or documentation and all such information, data or 

documentation shall remain the property of the party disclosing or delivering the 

Pack Page 294



 

99120273.1\kp07                145  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

same and all copies shall be returned to such party on completion of the 

Adjudicator's work.  

Liability of Adjudicator  

70.13 The Adjudicator is not liable for anything done or omitted in the discharge or purported 

discharge of his functions as Adjudicator unless the act or omission is in bad faith.  

Any employee or agent of the Adjudicator is similarly protected from liability.  

Reference to the Courts  

70.14 Either party may (within ninety (90) calendar days of receipt of the Adjudicator's 

decision or where the Adjudicator fails to give a decision pursuant to Clause 70.8) 

give notice to the other party of its intention to refer the dispute to the courts of 

England and Wales for final determination.  

Parties' Obligations  

70.15 The parties shall continue to comply with, observe and perform all their obligations 

hereunder regardless of the nature of the dispute and notwithstanding the referral 

of the dispute for resolution under this Clause 70 and shall give effect forthwith to 

every decision of the Adjudicator and the courts delivered under this Clause 70.  

Similar Disputes  

70.16 If any dispute arising under this Agreement raises issues which relate to:  

70.16.1 any dispute between the Operator Partner and the FM Contractor arising 

under the FM Agreement or otherwise affects the relationship or rights of 

the Operator Partner and/or the FM Contractor under the FM Agreement 

(FM Agreement Dispute); or  

70.16.2 any dispute between the Operator Partner and the Leisure Operator arising 

under the Leisure Contract or otherwise affects the relationship or rights 

of the Operator Partner and/or the Leisure Operator under the Leisure 

Contract (Leisure Contract Dispute),  

then the Operator Partner may include as part of its submissions made to the 

Adjudicator or to the courts submissions made by the FM Contractor or by the 

Leisure Operator as appropriate.  

Jurisdiction over Sub-Contractors  

70.17 The Adjudicator shall not have jurisdiction to determine the Leisure Contract Dispute 

or the FM Agreement Dispute but the decision of the Adjudicator and/or the courts 

shall, subject to Clause 70.14, be binding on the Operator Partner and the Leisure 

Operator insofar as it determines the issues relating to the Leisure Contract Dispute 

and on the Operator Partner and the FM Contractor insofar as it determines the 

issues relating to the FM Agreement Dispute.  

Sub-Contractors' Submissions  

Pack Page 295



 

99120273.1\kp07                146  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

70.18 Any submissions made by the Leisure Operator or the FM Contractor shall:  

70.18.1 be made within the time limits applicable to the delivery of submissions by 

the Operator Partner; and  

70.18.2 concern only those matters which relate to the dispute between the Authority 

and the Operator Partner under this Agreement.  

Costs  

70.19 Where the Leisure Operator or the FM Contractor makes submissions in any 

reference before:  

70.19.1 the Adjudicator, the Adjudicator's costs of such reference shall be borne as 

the Adjudicator shall specify, or in default, one-third by the Authority and 

two-thirds (2/3) by the Operator Partner; and  

70.19.2  the courts, the costs of the litigation shall be in the discretion of the court.  

Authority's Liability  

70.20 The Authority shall have no liability to the Leisure Operator or the FM Contractor 

arising out of or in connection with any decision of the Adjudicator or courts or in 

respect of the costs of the Leisure Operator or the FM Contractor in participating in 

the resolution of any dispute under this Agreement.  

Access to Documents  

70.21 The Operator Partner shall not allow the Leisure Operator or the FM Contractor 

access to any document relevant to issues in dispute between the Authority and the 

Operator Partner save where:  

70.21.1 the document is relevant also to the issues relating to the Leisure Contract 

Dispute or the FM Agreement Dispute as the case may be; and  

70.21.2 the Operator Partner has first delivered to the Authority a written undertaking 

from the Leisure Operator and/or the FM Contractor (as appropriate) 

addressed to the Authority that they shall not use any such document 

otherwise than for the purpose of the dispute resolution proceedings 

under this Agreement and that they shall not disclose such documents or 

any information contained therein to any third party other than the 

Adjudicator or the courts or any professional adviser engaged by the 

Leisure Operator or the FM Contractor (as appropriate) to advise in 

connection with the dispute.  

71.  SOLE REMEDY  

Common Law Rights for the Operator Partner  

71.1  Without prejudice to any entitlement of the Operator Partner:  

Pack Page 296



 

99120273.1\kp07                147  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

71.1.1  to specific performance of any obligation under this Agreement; or 

71.1.2  to injunctive relief,  

the Operator Partner's sole remedy in relation to matters for which an express right 

or remedy is stated in this Agreement shall be that right or remedy and the Operator 

Partner shall have no additional right or remedy arising by common law, in equity, 

by statute or otherwise.  

71.2 The Operator Partner's sole remedy in relation to any Compensation Event shall be the 

operation of Clause 28 (Compensation Events).  

Common Law Rights of the Authority  

71.3  Subject to:  

 71.3.1  any other express right of the Authority pursuant to this Agreement; and  

71.3.2 the Authority's right to claim, on or after termination of this Agreement, the 

amount of its reasonable costs, losses, damages and expenses suffered 

or incurred by it as a result of rectifying or mitigating the effects of any 

breach of this Agreement by the Operator Partner, save to the extent that 

the same has already been recovered by the Authority pursuant to this 

Agreement or has been taken into account to calculate any compensation 

payable pursuant to this Agreement,  

the sole remedy of the Authority in respect of a failure to provide the Services in 

accordance with this Agreement shall be the operation of Schedule 5 (PPM  

71.4 Nothing in Clause 71.3 shall prevent or restrict the right of the Authority to seek 

injunctive relief or a decree of specific performance or other discretionary remedies 

of the court.  

No Breach  

71.5 The Operator Partner shall not be held to be failing to comply with its obligations under 

this Agreement to the extent that such failure to comply is a result of the Authority's 

breach of its obligations hereunder.  

Indirect Losses  

71.6 Save where stated to the contrary, the indemnities under this Agreement shall not apply 

and (without prejudice to the Authority's rights under the PPM) there shall be no right 

to claim damages for breach of this Agreement, in tort or on any other basis 

whatsoever, to the extent that any loss claimed by either party is for Indirect Losses.  

The Authority agrees that, notwithstanding the foregoing, any Losses of  

the Operator Partner arising under the Sub-Contracts as originally executed (or as 

amended in accordance with the terms of this Agreement) which are not of 

themselves Indirect Losses, shall not be excluded from such a claim solely by 

reason of this Clause 71.  

Pack Page 297



 

99120273.1\kp07                148  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

72.  NO DOUBLE RECOVERY  

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, neither party shall be 

entitled to recover compensation or make a claim under this Agreement in respect 

of any loss that it has incurred to the extent that it has already been compensated 

in respect of that loss pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise.  

73.  COUNTERPARTS  

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which when 

taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

74.  CAPACITY  

Save as otherwise expressly provided, the obligations of the Authority under this 

Agreement are obligations of the Authority in its capacity as a contracting 

counterparty and nothing in this Agreement shall operate as an obligation upon, or 

in any other way fetter or constrain the Authority in any other statutory capacity as a 

Relevant Authority, nor shall the exercise by the Authority of its duties and powers 

in any other statutory capacity as a Relevant Authority lead to any liability under this 

Agreement (howsoever arising) on the part of the Authority to the Operator Partner.  

75.  INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENT  

Save where otherwise specifically provided, where any payment or sum of money 

due from the Operator Partner to the Authority or from the Authority to the Operator 

Partner under any provision of this Agreement is not paid on the due date, it shall 

bear interest thereon at the Prescribed Rate from the due date (whether before or 

after any judgement) until actual payment and it is agreed between the parties that 

the Prescribed Rate and the provisions of this Agreement relating to the payment of 

compensation on termination of this Agreement following the occurrence of an 

Authority Default provide the Operator Partner with a substantial remedy pursuant 

to Sections 8 and 9 of the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998.  

76.  GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION  

The Agreement shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance 

with the laws of England and Wales.  Subject to Clause 70 (Dispute Resolution), the 

English Courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may 

arise out of or in connection with this Agreement.  

  

SCHEDULE 1 - SERVICES SPECIFICATION  

  

[ Note: to be included ]  

   

Pack Page 298



 

99120273.1\kp07                149  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 2 - SERVICE DELIVERY PROPOSALS  

  

[ Note: to be included ]  

   

Pack Page 299



 

99120273.1\kp07                150  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 3 - FACILITIES  

Facility (including address)  

Farnborough Leisure Centre  

Westmead, Farnborough GU14 7LD  

Aldershot Pools and Lido  

Guildford Rd, Aldershot GU12 4BP  

    

Pack Page 300



 

99120273.1\kp07                151  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 4 - SITE PLANS  

[      To be included             ]   

   

Pack Page 301



 

99120273.1\kp07                152  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 5 - PPM  

[ To be included ]   

Pack Page 302



 

99120273.1\kp07                153  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 6 - COLLATERAL WARRANTIES  

PART 1- WARRANTY FROM THE OPERATOR PARTNER'S FM CONTRACTOR  

    

Pack Page 303



 

99120273.1\kp07                154  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

 DATED    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

(1) [FM CONTRACTOR]  

(2) [AUTHORITY]  

(3) [OPERATOR PARTNER]  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

DEED OF CARE DEED  

relating to  

 
  

  

  

  

  

THIS DEED OF WARRANTY is made on [                    ]  

BETWEEN:  

(1) [FM Contractor] (Company Number [                    ]) whose registered office at  

[                    ] (FM Contractor);  

(2) [AUTHORITY] of [                    ] (Authority), (which expression includes its permitted 

successors in title and assigns); and  

Pack Page 304



 

99120273.1\kp07                155  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(3) [Operator Partner] (Company Number [                    ]) whose registered office at [                    

] (Operator Partner).  

WHEREAS:  

(A) By a leisure operating contract dated [                    ] (Agreement) the Authority has 

appointed the Operator Partner to carry out, in relation to the Sites, the provision of 

serviced accommodation to the Authority at each and every Facility as contemplated 

by the Agreement including the provision of the Services.  

(B) The FM Contractor has been appointed by the Operator Partner under a contract 

dated [                    ] (FM Agreement) to carry out the Maintenance Services.  

(C) The FM Contractor is obliged under the FM Agreement to give a warranty in this 

form in favour of the Authority.  

(D) The FM Contractor and the Operator Partner have agreed to execute this Deed in 

favour of the Authority.  

IT IS AGREED as follows:  

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION  

1.1 Unless expressly defined otherwise in this Deed any defined term in this Deed shall 

have the same meaning given to such term in the FM Agreement.  

1.2 Intellectual Property Rights  

Any and all patents, trade marks, service marks, copyright, database rights, moral 

rights, rights in design, know how, confidential information and all or any other 

intellectual or industrial property rights whether or not registered or capable of 

registration and whether subsisting in the United Kingdom or any other part of the 

world together with all or any goodwill relating or attaching thereto which is created, 

brought into existence, acquired, used or intended to be used by the FM Contractor 

for the purpose of carrying out the Maintenance Services.  

1.3 Project Data  

1.3.1 All drawings, reports, documents, plans, software, formulae, calculations 

and other data relating to the design, construction, testing or operation of 

the Facilities (as defined in the Agreement) in each case that is used by or 

on behalf of the FM Contractor in connection with the Maintenance Services 

or the performance of the FM Contractor Partner's obligations under the FM 

Agreement.  

1.3.2 Any other materials, documents or data acquired or brought into existence 

or used in relation to the Maintenance Services or the FM Agreement by or 

on behalf of the FM Contractor in connection with the provision of the 

Maintenance Services or the performance of the FM Contractor Partner's 

obligations under the FM Agreement.  

Pack Page 305



 

99120273.1\kp07                156  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

2. OPERATIVE PROVISIONS  

In consideration of the payment of one pound (£1.00) by the Authority to the FM 

Contractor, receipt of which the FM Contractor acknowledges.  

3. WARRANTY  

3.1 The FM Contractor warrants to the Authority that it has carried out and will continue 

to carry out all its obligations and duties under the FM Agreement in accordance 

with and to the standard required by the FM Agreement, provided always that the 

FM Contractor has no liability hereunder which is greater or of a longer duration than 

that it owes to the Operator Partner under the FM Agreement.  

3.2 The FM Contractor shall have no liability under Clauses 3.1 and 11 of this Deed that 

is greater or of longer duration than it would have had, and shall be entitled in any 

proceedings by the Authority to rely on any limitation in the FM Agreement and to 

raise equivalent rights in defence of liability as it would have against the Operator 

Partner under the FM Agreement.  

3.3 Notwithstanding anything in this Deed and not withstanding any payments which 

may be made by the Authority to the FM Contractor, the Authority and the FM 

Contractor will not be under any obligation to each other nor will any party have any 

claim or cause of action against the others unless and until the Authority has given 

written notice to the FM Contractor pursuant to Clause 7.1.1 or Clause 7.3.  

4. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY  

4.1 The FM Contractor shall make available to the Authority free of charge (and hereby 

irrevocably licences the Authority to use) all Project Data that might reasonably be 

required by the Authority.  The FM Contractor shall obtain all necessary licences, 

permissions and consents necessary for it to make the Project Data available to the 

Authority on these terms, for any purpose whatsoever connected with the Project 

and such other purposes as are reasonably foreseeable, (Approved Purposes), 

and in this Clause 4 "use" shall include the acts of copying, modifying, adapting and 

translating the material in question and/or incorporating them with other materials 

and the term "the right to use" shall be construed accordingly.  The Authority will not 

hold the FM Contractor liable for any use it may make of the Project Data for any 

purpose other than the Approved  

Purposes unless the FM Contractor authorises such use and confirms that the 

Project Data is suitable for it.  

4.2 The FM Contractor:  

4.2.1 hereby grants to the Authority, free of charge, an irrevocable non-exclusive 

and transferable (subject to the restrictions continued in Clause 5 of this 

Deed) licence to use the Intellectual Property Rights that are or become 

vested in the FM Contractor for the Approved Purposes; and  

Pack Page 306



 

99120273.1\kp07                157  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

4.2.2 shall (where any Intellectual Property Rights are or become vested in a third 

party) use all reasonable endeavours to procure the grant of a like licence 

to that referred to in Clause 4.2.1 to the Authority,  

in both cases, solely for the Approved Purposes.  

4.3 The FM Contractor agrees on reasonable request at any time and following 

reasonable written prior notice to give the Authority or those authorised by it access 

to the Project Data and to provide copies (including copy negatives and CAD disks) 

thereof at the Authority's expense.  

4.4 The FM Contractor warrants to the Authority that the Project Data (save to the extent 

duly appointed sub-contractors have been used to prepare the same) is its own 

original work and that in any event their use in connection with the Services will not 

infringe the rights of any third party.  

4.5 Where a claim or proceeding is made or brought against the Authority that arises 

out of the infringement of any Intellectual Property Rights or because the use of any 

materials, plant, machinery or equipment in connection with the Maintenance 

Services infringes any Intellectual Property Rights of a third party then, unless such 

infringement has arisen out of the use of any Intellectual Property Rights by or on 

behalf of the Authority otherwise than in accordance with this Deed, the FM 

Contractor shall indemnify the Authority at all times from and against all Direct 

Losses and Indirect Losses (as defined in the Agreement) arising as a result of such 

claims and proceedings.  

5. ASSIGNMENT  

The benefit of and the rights of the Authority under this Deed may be assigned 

without the consent of the FM Contractor on two (2) occasions only and the Authority 

will notify the FM Contractor in writing following any such assignment specifying the 

name and address of the assignee and the date of the assignment. The FM 

Contractor will not contend that any such assignee is precluded from recovering any 

loss resulting from any breach of this Deed (whatever the date of such breach) by 

reason only that that person is an assignee and not the original beneficiary 

hereunder or by reason that the original beneficiary or any intermediate beneficiary 

escaped any loss resulting from such breach by reason of the disposal of any 

interest in the Sites or that the original beneficiary or any intermediate beneficiary 

has not suffered any, or as much, loss.  

6. AUTHORITY'S REMEDIES  

The rights and benefits conferred upon the Authority by this Deed are in addition to 

any other rights and remedies it may have against the FM Contractor including 

without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing any remedies in negligence.  

7. STEP-IN RIGHTS IN FAVOUR OF THE AUTHORITY  

7.1 The FM Contractor will not exercise or seek to exercise any right which may be or 

becomes available to it to terminate or treat as terminated or repudiated the FM 

Pack Page 307



 

99120273.1\kp07                158  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Agreement or its employment under it or discontinue or suspend the performance 

of any duties or obligations thereunder without first giving to the  

Authority not less than thirty (30) Business Days’ prior written notice specifying the 

FM Contractor Partner's ground for terminating or treating as terminated or 

repudiated the FM Agreement or its employment under it or discontinuing or 

suspending its performance thereof and stating the amount (if any) of monies 

outstanding under the FM Agreement.  Within such period of notice:  

7.1.1 the Authority may give written notice to the FM Contractor that the Authority 

will thenceforth become the client under the FM Agreement to the exclusion 

of the Operator Partner and thereupon the FM Contractor will admit that the 

Authority is its client under the FM Agreement and the FM Agreement will 

be and remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any of the said 

grounds;  

7.1.2 if the Authority has given such notice as aforesaid or under Clause 7.3, the 

Authority shall accept liability for the Operator Partner's obligations under 

the FM Agreement and will as soon as practicable thereafter remedy any 

outstanding breach by the Operator Partner including any non-payment of 

sums due to the FM Contractor that properly has been included in the FM 

Contractor Partner's specified grounds pursuant to this Clause 7.1 (and 

which has been notified to the Authority) and which is capable of remedy; 

and  

7.1.3 if the Authority has given such notice as aforesaid or under Clause 7.3, the 

Authority will from the service of such notice become responsible for all 

sums properly payable to the FM Contractor under the FM Agreement 

accruing due after the service of the FM Contractor Partner's notice but the 

Authority will in paying such sums be entitled to the same rights of set-off 

and deduction as would have applied to the Operator Partner under the FM 

Agreement.  

7.2 Notwithstanding anything contained in this Deed and notwithstanding any payments 

which may be made by the Authority to the FM Contractor, the FM Contractor will 

not be under any duty to obey any direction or instruction from the Authority unless 

and until the Authority has given notice under Clauses 7.1.1 and 7.3.  

7.3 The FM Contractor further covenants with the Authority that if the employment of 

the Operator Partner under the Agreement is terminated or if the Agreement is 

terminated by the Authority the FM Contractor, if requested by the Authority by 

notice in writing and subject to Clause 7.1.2 and Clause 7.1.3, will accept the 

instructions of the Authority to the exclusion of the Operator Partner in respect of 

the Maintenance Services upon the terms and conditions of the FM Agreement and 

will if so requested in writing enter into a novation agreement in the form set out in 

Appendix 1 to this Deed whereby the Authority is substituted for the Operator 

Partner under the FM Agreement.  

Pack Page 308



 

99120273.1\kp07                159  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

7.4 If the FM Contractor is requested to enter into a novation agreement pursuant to 

Clause 7.3, the Operator Partner agrees to enter into the same at the request of the 

Authority.  

7.5 The Operator Partner acknowledges that the FM Contractor will be entitled to rely 

on a notice given to the FM Contractor by the Authority under Clause 7.3 as 

conclusive evidence that the Operator Partner’s employment under the Agreement 

has been terminated or that the Agreement has been terminated by the Authority.  

7.6 The Authority may by notice in writing to the FM Contractor appoint another person 

to exercise its rights under this Clause 7 subject to the Authority remaining liable to 

the FM Contractor as guarantor for its appointee in respect of its obligations under 

this Deed.  

8. LIMITATION  

Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 7.1, the Authority shall not be entitled 

to take any action or proceedings against the FM Contractor pursuant to this Deed 

unless and until the Agreement has been terminated.  

9. INDEPENDENT ENQUIRY CLAUSE  

The liability of the FM Contractor under this Deed shall not be modified released, 

diminished or in any way affected by any independent inspection investigation or 

enquiry into any relevant matter which may be made or carried out by or for the 

Authority nor by any failure or omission to carry out any such inspection, 

investigation or enquiry nor by the appointment by the Authority of any independent 

firm, company or party whatsoever to review the progress of or otherwise report to 

the Authority in respect of the Maintenance Services nor by any action or omission 

of any such firm, company or party whether or not such action or omission might 

give rise to any independent liability of such firm, company or party to the Authority 

provided always that nothing in this Clause 9 shall modify or affect any rights which 

the FM Contractor might have but for the existence of this Clause 9 to claim 

contribution from any third party whether under statute or at common law.  

10. NO VARIATION TO FM AGREEMENT WITHOUT AUTHORITY'S CONSENT  

The Operator Partner and the FM Contractor undertake with the Authority not to vary 

or depart from the terms and conditions of the FM Agreement without the prior 

written consent of the Authority (such consent to be sought in accordance with the 

Review Procedure where that procedure applies to the variation or departure in 

question), and agree that no such variation or departure made without such consent 

shall be binding upon the Authority, or affect or prejudice the Authority's rights 

hereunder, or under the FM Agreement or in any other way.  

11. SEVERABILITY  

If any term, condition or provision of this Deed shall be held to be invalid, unlawful 

or unenforceable to any extent, such term, condition or provision shall not affect the 

Pack Page 309



 

99120273.1\kp07                160  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

validity, legality and enforceability of the other provisions of or any other documents 

referred to in this Agreement.  

12. WAIVER  

12.1 No term or provision of this Deed shall be considered as waived by any party to this 

Deed unless a waiver is given in writing by that party.  

12.2 No waiver under Clause 12.1 shall be a waiver of a past or future default or breach, 

nor shall it amend, delete or add to the terms, conditions or provisions of this Deed 

unless (and only to the extent) expressly stated in that waiver.  

13. THE CONTRACTOR'S INCLUSION AS PARTY  

The Operator Partner has agreed to be a party to this Deed for the purpose of Clause 

8 and for acknowledging that the FM Contractor shall not be in breach of the FM 

Agreement by complying with the obligations imposed on it by this Deed.  

14. COUNTERPARTS  

This Deed may be executed in one or more counterparts.  Any single counterpart or 

a set of counterparts executed, in either case, by all the parties shall constitute a full 

and original instrument for all purposes.  

15. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION  

This Deed and all non-contractual obligations in connection with this Deed shall be 

governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws of England 

and Wales. The English Courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any 

disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed.  

16. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS  

No term of this Deed is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

Act 1999 by a person who is not party to this Deed. This Clause 16 does not affect 

any right or remedy of any person that exists or is available otherwise than pursuant 

to that Act.  

17. NOTICES  

Any notice to be given by either party hereunder will be sufficiently served if sent by 

hand, by facsimile transmission or by post to the registered office or if there is none 

the last known address of the party to be served.  Any notice sent by hand will be 

deemed to be served on the date of delivery and any notice sent by facsimile 

transmission will be deemed to be served in full at the time recorded on the facsimile 

report sheet, provided that if any notice sent by hand or facsimile is sent after 4:45 

pm on any day it will be deemed to be served on the next Business Day.  Any notice 

sent by post will be deemed to have been duly served at the expiration of forty-eight 

(48) hours after the time of posting if the end of that period falls before 4:45 pm on 

a Business Day and otherwise on the next Business Day.  

Pack Page 310



 

99120273.1\kp07                161  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

IN WITNESS whereof this document is executed by the parties as a Deed and delivered on 

the date stated at the beginning of this Deed.   

    

EXECUTED as a Deed by the FM Contractor 

acting by two of its directors or a director and its 

secretary:  

   

………………………………………  

Director  

  

………………………………………  

Director/Secretary  

  

  

  

EXECUTED AS A DEED by the Authority acting by 

two authorised signatories:  

   

………………………………………  

Authorised Signatory  

  

………………………………………  

Authorised Signatory  

  

  

  

EXECUTED as a Deed by  

[Operator  Partner] acting by two of its directors 

or a director and its secretary:  

   

………………………………………  

Director  

  

………………………………………  

Director/Secretary  

  

  

APPENDIX 1 - FORM OF DEED OF NOVATION  

    

Pack Page 311



 

99120273.1\kp07                162  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

THIS DEED is made on BETWEEN:  

(1) [CONTRACTOR'S FM Contractor] (Company Number [                    ]) whose 

registered office at [                    ] (FM Contractor);  

(2) [AUTHORITY] of [                    ] (Authority), (which expression includes its permitted 

successors in title and assigns); and  

(3) [Operator Partner] (Company Number [                    ]) whose registered office at [                    

] (Operator Partner).  

WHEREAS:  

(A) By a leisure operating contract dated [                    ] (Agreement) the Authority has 

appointed the Operator Partner to carry out in relation to [                    ] (Sites) the 

provision of the Services (a defined in the Agreement).  

(B) The FM Contractor has been appointed by the Operator Partner under a contract 

dated [                    ] (FM Agreement) to carry out the Maintenance Services.  

(C) [The employment of the Operator Partner under the Agreement has been 

terminated] [The Agreement has been terminated by the Authority].  

(D) The Operator Partner has transferred or agreed to transfer its interest in (or granted 

or agreed to grant a subordinate interest in) the Sites to the Authority.  

(E) The parties have agreed to novate the FM Agreement to the Authority on the terms 

set out below.  

IT IS AGREED as follows:  

1. NOVATION OF FM AGREEMENT  

The FM Agreement is hereby novated from the Operator Partner and the FM 

Contractor to the Authority and the FM Contractor.  

2. RELEASE OF THE OPERATOR PARTNER  

The Operator Partner shall no longer owe any duty or obligation to the FM Contractor 

under or in respect of the FM Agreement whether by virtue of its terms or by virtue 

of any breach or otherwise.  

3. RELEASE OF THE FM CONTRACTOR  

The FM Contractor shall no longer owe any duty or obligation to the Operator Partner 

under or in respect of the FM Agreement whether by virtue of its terms or by virtue 

of any breach or otherwise.  

4. BINDING OF THE FM CONTRACTOR TO THE AUTHORITY  

Pack Page 312



 

99120273.1\kp07                163  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

4.1 The FM Contractor binds itself to the Authority in the terms of the FM Agreement as 

if the Authority were and always had been named in the FM Agreement in place of 

the Operator Partner.  

4.2 The FM Contractor warrants to the Authority that prior to the date of this Deed it has 

performed and that it will continue to perform its duties and obligations as required 

by and in accordance with the terms of the FM Agreement.  

4.3 The Authority shall not be precluded from recovering any losses incurred by the 

Authority or the Operator Partner resulting from any breach of Clause 4.2 by reason 

that (if it be the case) the acts or omissions causing such breach occurred before 

this Deed took effect, or that the Operator Partner will not incur or has not or would 

not have incurred any such losses.  No waiver by the Operator Partner, either 

express or implied, will affect the FM Contractor Partner's liability to the Authority 

pursuant to this Clause 4.  

5. BINDING OF THE AUTHORITY TO THE FM CONTRACTOR  

The Authority binds itself to the FM Contractor in the terms of the FM Agreement as 

if the Authority were and always had been named in the FM Agreement in place of 

the Operator Partner and as if all acts and omissions of the Operator Partner 

(including any wrongful acts or omissions) under and in respect of the FM 

Agreement were the acts and omissions of the Authority.  

6. VESTING OF REMEDIES IN THE AUTHORITY  

All rights of action and remedies vested in the Operator Partner against the FM 

Contractor under and in respect of the FM Agreement shall hereupon vest in the 

Authority.  

7. VESTING OF REMEDIES AGAINST THE AUTHORITY  

All rights of action and remedies vested in the FM Contractor against the Operator 

Partner under and in respect of the FM Agreement shall hereinafter lie against the 

Authority.  

8. AFFIRMATION OF FM AGREEMENT  

Subject to the terms of this Deed the FM Agreement shall remain in full force and 

effect.  

9. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS  

No term of this Deed is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

Act 1999 by a person who is not party to this Deed.  This Clause 9 does not affect 

any right or remedy of any person that exists or is available otherwise than pursuant 

to that Act.  

10. GOVERNING LAW AND INTERPRETATION  

Pack Page 313



 

99120273.1\kp07                164  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

This Deed and all non-contractual obligations in connection with this Deed shall be 

governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws of England 

and Wales. The English Courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any 

disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed.  

IN WITNESS of which this document is executed as a deed and is delivered on the date first 

set out above.  

     

Pack Page 314



 

99120273.1\kp07                165  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 2 - WARRANTY FROM THE OPERATOR PARTNER'S LEISURE OPERATOR  

    

Pack Page 315



 

99120273.1\kp07                166  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

 DATED    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

(1) [LEISURE OPERATOR]  

(2) [AUTHORITY]  

(3) [OPERATOR PARTNER]  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

DEED OF CARE DEED  

relating to  

 
  

  

  

  

  

THIS DEED OF WARRANTY is made on [                    ]  

BETWEEN:  

(1) [LEISURE OPERATOR] (Company Number [                    ]) whose registered office 

at [                    ] (Leisure Operator);  

(2) [AUTHORITY] of [                    ] (Authority), (which expression includes its permitted 

successors in title and assigns); and  

Pack Page 316



 

99120273.1\kp07                167  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(3) [Operator Partner] (Company Number [                    ]) whose registered office at [                    

] (Operator Partner).  

WHEREAS:  

(A) By a leisure operating contract dated [                    ] (Agreement) the Authority has 

appointed the Operator Partner to carry out, in relation to the Site[s], the provision 

of serviced accommodation to the Authority at each and every Facility as 

contemplated by the Agreement including the provision of the Services.  

(B) The Leisure Operator has been appointed by the Operator Partner under a contract 

dated [                    ] (Leisure Contract) to carry out the Leisure Services.  

(C) The Leisure Operator is obliged under the Leisure Contract to give a warranty in this 

form in favour of the Authority.  

(D) The Leisure Operator and the Operator Partner have agreed to execute this Deed 

in favour of the Authority.  

IT IS AGREED as follows:  

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS  

Unless expressly defined otherwise in this Deed any defined term in this Deed shall 

have the same meaning given to such term in the Leisure Contract.  

1.1 Intellectual Property Rights  

Any and all patents, trade marks, service marks, copyright, database rights, moral 

rights, rights in design, know how, confidential information and all or any other 

intellectual or industrial property rights whether or not registered or capable of 

registration and whether subsisting in the United Kingdom or any other part of the 

world together with all or any goodwill relating or attaching thereto which is created, 

brought into existence, acquired, used or intended to be used by the Leisure 

Operator for the purpose of carrying out the Leisure Services.  

1.2 Project Data  

1.2.1 All drawings, reports, documents, plans, software, formulae, calculations 

and other data relating to the design, construction, testing or operation of 

the Facilities (as defined in the Agreement) in each case that is used by or 

on behalf of the Leisure Operator in connection with the Leisure Services  

or the performance of the Leisure Operator's obligations under the Leisure 

Contract.  

1.2.2 Any other materials, documents or data acquired or brought into existence 

or used in relation to the Leisure Services or the Leisure Contract by or on 

behalf of the Leisure Operator in connection with the provision of the Leisure 

Services or the performance of the Leisure Operator's obligations under the 

Leisure Contract.  

Pack Page 317



 

99120273.1\kp07                168  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

2. OPERATIVE PROVISIONS  

In consideration of the payment of one pound (£1.00) by the Authority to the Leisure 

Operator, receipt of which the Leisure Operator acknowledges:  

3. WARRANTY  

3.1 The Leisure Operator warrants to the Authority that it has carried out and will 

continue to carry out all its obligations and duties under the Leisure Contract in 

accordance with and to the standard required by the Leisure Contract, provided 

always that the Leisure Operator has no liability hereunder which is greater or of a 

longer duration than that it owes to the Operator Partner under the Leisure Contract.  

3.2 The Leisure Operator shall have no liability under Clauses 3.1 and 11 of this Deed 

that is greater or of longer duration than it would have had, and shall be entitled in 

any proceedings by the Authority to rely on any limitation in the Leisure Contract 

and to raise equivalent rights in defence of liability as it would have against the 

Operator Partner under the Leisure Contract.  

3.3 Notwithstanding anything in this Deed and not withstanding any payments which 

may be made by the Authority to the Leisure Operator, the Authority and the Leisure 

Operator will not be under any obligation to each other nor will any party have any 

claim or cause of action against the others unless and until the Authority has given 

written notice to the Leisure Operator pursuant to Clause 7.1.1 or Clause 7.3.  

4. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY  

4.1 The Leisure Operator shall make available to the Authority free of charge (and 

hereby irrevocably licences the Authority to use) all Project Data that might 

reasonably be required by the Authority.  The Leisure Operator shall obtain all 

necessary licences, permissions and consents necessary for it to make the Project 

Data available to the Authority on these terms, for any purpose whatsoever 

connected with the Project and such other purposes as are reasonably foreseeable, 

(Approved Purposes), and in this Clause 4 "use" shall include the acts of copying, 

modifying, adapting and translating the material in question and/or incorporating 

them with other materials and the term "the right to use" shall be construed 

accordingly.  The Authority will not hold the Leisure Operator liable for any use it 

may make of the Project Data for any purpose other than the Approved  

Purposes unless the Leisure Operator authorise such use and confirms that the 

Project Data is suitable for it.  

4.2 The Leisure Operator:  

4.2.1 hereby grants to the Authority, free of charge, an irrevocable non-exclusive 

and transferable (subject to the restrictions continued in Clause 5 of this 

Deed) licence to use the Intellectual Property Rights that are or become 

vested in the Leisure Operator for the Approved Purposes;  

Pack Page 318



 

99120273.1\kp07                169  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

4.2.2 shall (where any Intellectual Property Rights are or become vested in a third 

party) use all reasonable endeavours to procure the grant of a like licence 

to that referred to in Clause 4.2.1 to the Authority,  

in both cases, solely for the Approved Purposes.  

4.3 The Leisure Operator agrees on reasonable request at any time and following 

reasonable written prior notice to give the Authority or those authorised by it access 

to the Project Data and to provide copies (including copy negatives and CAD disks) 

thereof at the Authority's expense.  

4.4 The Leisure Operator warrants to the Authority that the Project Data (save to the 

extent duly appointed sub-contractors have been used to prepare the same) is its 

own original work and that in any event their use in connection with the Services will 

not infringe the rights of any third party.  

4.5 Where a claim or proceeding is made or brought against the Authority that arises 

out of the infringement of any Intellectual Property Rights or because the use of any 

materials, plant, machinery or equipment in connection with the Leisure Services 

infringes any Intellectual Property Rights of a third party then, unless such 

infringement has arisen out of the use of any Intellectual Property Rights by or on 

behalf of the Authority otherwise than in accordance with this Deed, the Leisure 

Operator shall indemnify the Authority at all times from and against all Direct Losses 

and Indirect Losses (as defined in the Agreement) arising as a result of such claims 

and proceedings.  

5. ASSIGNMENT  

The benefit of and the rights of the Authority under this Deed may be assigned 

without the consent of the Leisure Operator on two (2) occasions only and the 

Authority will notify the Leisure Operator in writing following any such assignment 

specifying the name and address of the assignee and the date of the assignment. 

The Leisure Operator will not contend that any such assignee is precluded from 

recovering any loss resulting from any breach of this Deed (whatever the date of 

such breach) by reason only that that person is an assignee and not the original 

beneficiary hereunder or by reason that the original beneficiary or any intermediate 

beneficiary escaped any loss resulting from such breach by reason of the disposal 

of any interest in the Sites or that the original beneficiary or any intermediate 

beneficiary has not suffered any, or as much, loss.  

6. AUTHORITY'S REMEDIES  

The rights and benefits conferred upon the Authority by this Deed are in addition to 

any other rights and remedies it may have against the Leisure Operator including 

without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing any remedies in negligence.  

7. STEP-IN RIGHTS IN FAVOUR OF THE AUTHORITY  

7.1 The Leisure Operator will not exercise or seek to exercise any right which may be 

or becomes available to it to terminate or treat as terminated or repudiated the 

Pack Page 319



 

99120273.1\kp07                170  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Leisure Contract or its employment under it or discontinue or suspend the 

performance of any duties or obligations thereunder without first giving to the 

Authority not less than thirty (30) Business Days’ prior written notice specifying the 

Leisure Operator's ground for terminating or treating as terminated or repudiated the 

Leisure Contract or its employment under it or discontinuing or suspending its 

performance thereof and stating the amount (if any) of monies outstanding under 

the Leisure Contract.  Within such period of notice:  

7.1.1 the Authority may give written notice to the Leisure Operator that the 

Authority will thenceforth become the client under the Leisure Contract to 

the exclusion of the Operator Partner and thereupon the Leisure Operator 

will admit that the Authority is its client under the Leisure Contract and the 

Leisure Contract will be and remain in full force and effect notwithstanding 

any of the said grounds;  

7.1.2 if the Authority has given such notice as aforesaid or under Clause 7.3, the 

Authority shall accept liability for the Operator Partner's obligations under 

the Leisure Contract and will as soon as practicable thereafter remedy any 

outstanding breach by the Operator Partner including any non-payment of 

sums due to the Leisure Operator that properly has been included in the 

Leisure Operator's specified grounds pursuant to this Clause 7.1 (and which 

has been notified to the Authority) and which is capable of remedy; and  

7.1.3 if the Authority has given such notice as aforesaid or under Clause 7.3, the 

Authority will from the service of such notice become responsible for all 

sums properly payable to the Leisure Operator under the Leisure Contract 

accruing due after the service of the Leisure Operator's notice but the 

Authority will in paying such sums be entitled to the same rights of set-off 

and deduction as would have applied to the Operator Partner under the 

Leisure Contract.  

7.2 Notwithstanding anything contained in this Deed and notwithstanding any payments 

which may be made by the Authority to the Leisure Operator, the Leisure Operator 

will not be under any duty to obey any direction or instruction from the Authority 

unless and until the Authority has given notice under Clauses 7.1.1 and 7.3.  

7.3 The Leisure Operator further covenants with the Authority that if the employment of 

the Operator Partner under the Agreement is terminated or if the Agreement is 

terminated by the Authority the Leisure Operator, if requested by the Authority by 

notice in writing and subject to Clause 7.1.2 and Clause 7.1.3, will accept the 

instructions of the Authority to the exclusion of the Operator Partner in respect of 

the Leisure Services upon the terms and conditions of the Leisure Contract and will 

if so requested in writing enter into a novation agreement in the form set out in 

Appendix 1 to this Deed whereby the Authority is substituted for the Operator 

Partner under the Leisure Contract.  

7.4 If the Leisure Operator is requested to enter into a novation agreement pursuant to 

Clause 7.3, the Operator Partner agrees to enter into the same at the request of the 

Authority.  

Pack Page 320



 

99120273.1\kp07                171  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

7.5 The Operator Partner acknowledges that the Leisure Operator will be entitled to rely 

on a notice given to the Leisure Operator by the Authority under Clause 7.3 as 

conclusive evidence that the Operator Partner’s employment under the Agreement 

has been terminated or that the Agreement has been terminated by the Authority.  

7.6 The Authority may by notice in writing to the Leisure Operator appoint another 

person to exercise its rights under this Clause 7 subject to the Authority remaining 

liable to the Leisure Operator as guarantor for its appointee in respect of its 

obligations under this Deed.  

8. LIMITATION  

Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 7.1, the Authority shall not be entitled 

to take any action or proceedings against the Leisure Operator pursuant to this Deed 

unless and until the Agreement has been terminated.  

9. INDEPENDENT ENQUIRY CLAUSE  

The liability of the Leisure Operator under this Deed shall not be modified, released, 

diminished or in any way affected by any independent inspection investigation or 

enquiry into any relevant matter which may be made or carried out by or for the 

Authority nor by any failure or omission to carry out any such inspection, 

investigation or enquiry nor by the appointment by the Authority of any independent 

firm, company or party whatsoever to review the progress of or otherwise report to 

the Authority in respect of the Leisure Services nor by any action or omission of any 

such firm, company or party whether or not such action or omission might give rise 

to any independent liability of such firm, company or party to the Authority provided 

always that nothing in this Clause 9 shall modify or affect any rights which the 

Leisure Operator might have but for the existence of this Clause 9 to claim 

contribution from any third party whether under statute or at common law.  

10. NO VARIATION TO LEISURE CONTRACT WITHOUT AUTHORITY'S CONSENT  

The Operator Partner and the Leisure Operator undertake with the Authority not to 

vary or depart from the terms and conditions of the Leisure Contract without the prior 

written consent of the Authority (such consent to be sought in accordance with the 

Review Procedure where that procedure applies to the variation or departure in 

question), and agree that no such variation or departure made without such consent 

shall be binding upon the Authority, or affect or prejudice the Authority's rights 

hereunder, or under the Leisure Contract or in any other way.  

11. SEVERABILITY  

If any term, condition or provision of this Deed shall be held to be invalid, unlawful 

or unenforceable to any extent, such term, condition or provision shall not affect the 

validity, legality and enforceability of the other provisions of or any other documents 

referred to in this Agreement.  

12. WAIVER  

Pack Page 321



 

99120273.1\kp07                172  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

12.1 No term or provision of this Deed shall be considered as waived by any party to this 

Deed unless a waiver is given in writing by that party.  

12.2 No waiver under Clause 12.1 shall be a waiver of a past or future default or breach, 

nor shall it amend, delete or add to the terms, conditions or provisions of this Deed 

unless (and only to the extent) expressly stated in that waiver.  

13. THE CONTRACTOR'S INCLUSION AS PARTY  

The Operator Partner has agreed to be a party to this Deed for the purpose of Clause 

8 and for acknowledging that the Leisure Operator shall not be in breach of the 

Leisure Contract by complying with the obligations imposed on it by this Deed.  

14. COUNTERPARTS  

This Deed may be executed in one or more counterparts. Any single counterpart or 

a set of counterparts executed, in either case, by all the parties shall constitute a full 

and original instrument for all purposes.  

15. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION  

This Deed and all non-contractual obligations in connection with this Deed shall be 

governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws of England 

and Wales.  The English Courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any 

disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed.  

16. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS  

No term of this Deed is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

Act 1999 by a person who is not party to this Deed.  This Clause 16 does not affect 

any right or remedy of any person that exists or is available otherwise than pursuant 

to that Act.  

17. NOTICES  

Any notice to be given by either party hereunder will be sufficiently served if sent by 

hand, by facsimile transmission or by post to the registered office or if there is none 

the last known address of the party to be served.  Any notice sent by hand will be 

deemed to be served on the date of delivery and any notice sent by facsimile 

transmission will be deemed to be served in full at the time recorded on the facsimile 

report sheet, provided that if any notice sent by hand or facsimile is sent after 4.45 

pm on any day it will be deemed to be served on the next Business Day.  Any notice 

sent by post will be deemed to have been duly served at the expiration of forty-eight 

(48) hours after the time of posting if the end of that period falls before 4.45 pm on 

a Business Day and otherwise on the next Business Day.  

IN WITNESS whereof this document is executed by the parties as a Deed and delivered on 

the date stated at the beginning of this Deed.  

    

EXECUTED as a Deed by the LEISURE  

Pack Page 322



 

99120273.1\kp07                173  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

OPERATOR  

acting by two of its directors or a director and its 

secretary:  

   

………………………………………  

Director  

  

………………………………………  

Director/Secretary  

  

  

  

EXECUTED AS A DEED by the Authority acting by 

two authorised signatories:  

   

………………………………………  

Authorised Signatory  

  

………………………………………  

Authorised Signatory  

  

  

  

EXECUTED as a Deed by  

[Operator  Partner] acting by two of its directors 

or a director and its secretary:  

   

………………………………………  

Director  

  

………………………………………  

Director/Secretary  

    

APPENDIX 1 - FORM OF DEED OF NOVATION  

    

Pack Page 323



 

99120273.1\kp07                174  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

THIS DEED is made on BETWEEN:  

(1) [CONTRACTOR'S LEISURE OPERATOR] (Company Number [                    ]) 

whose registered office at [                    ] (Leisure Operator);  

(2) [AUTHORITY] of [                    ] (Authority), (which expression includes its permitted 

successors in title and assigns); and  

(3) [Operator Partner] (Company Number [                    ]) whose registered office at [                    

] (Operator Partner).  

WHEREAS:  

(A) By a leisure operating contract dated [                    ] (Agreement) the Authority has 

appointed the Operator Partner to carry out in relation to [                    ] (Sites) the 

provision of the Services (as defined in the Agreement).  

(B) The Leisure Operator has been appointed by the Operator Partner under a contract 

dated [                    ] (Leisure Contract) to carry out the Leisure Services.  

(C) [The employment of the Operator Partner under the Agreement has been 

terminated] [The Agreement has been terminated by the Authority].  

(D) The Operator Partner has transferred or agreed to transfer its interest in (or granted 

or agreed to grant a subordinate interest in) the Sites to the Authority.  

(E) The parties have agreed to novate the Leisure Contract to the Authority on the terms 

set out below.  

IT IS AGREED as follows:  

1. NOVATION OF LEISURE CONTRACT  

The Leisure Contract is hereby novated from the Operator Partner and the Leisure 

Operator to the Authority and the Leisure Operator.  

2. RELEASE OF THE OPERATOR PARTNER  

The Operator Partner shall no longer owe any duty or obligation to the Leisure 

Operator under or in respect of the Leisure Contract whether by virtue of its terms 

or by virtue of any breach or otherwise.  

3. RELEASE OF THE LEISURE OPERATOR  

The Leisure Operator shall no longer owe any duty or obligation to the Operator 

Partner under or in respect of the Leisure Contract whether by virtue of its terms or 

by virtue of any breach or otherwise.  

4. BINDING OF THE LEISURE OPERATOR TO THE AUTHORITY  

Pack Page 324



 

99120273.1\kp07                175  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

4.1 The Leisure Operator binds itself to the Authority in the terms of the Leisure Contract 

as if the Authority were and always had been named in the Leisure Contract in place 

of the Operator Partner.  

4.2 The Leisure Operator warrants to the Authority that prior to the date of this Deed it 

has performed and that it will continue to perform its duties and obligations as 

required by and in accordance with the terms of the Leisure Contract.  

4.3 The Authority shall not be precluded from recovering any losses incurred by the 

Authority or the Operator Partner resulting from any breach of Clause 4.2 by reason 

that (if it be the case) the acts or omissions causing such breach occurred before 

this Deed took effect, or that the Operator Partner will not incur or has not or would 

not have incurred any such losses. No waiver by the Operator Partner, either 

express or implied, will affect the Leisure Operator's liability to the Authority pursuant 

to this Clause 4.  

5. BINDING OF THE AUTHORITY TO THE LEISURE OPERATOR  

The Authority binds itself to the Leisure Operator in the terms of the Leisure  

Contract as if the Authority were and always had been named in the Leisure Contract 

in place of the Operator Partner and as if all acts and omissions of the Operator 

Partner (including any wrongful acts or omissions) under and in respect of the 

Leisure Contract were the acts and omissions of the Authority.  

6. VESTING OF REMEDIES IN THE AUTHORITY  

All rights of action and remedies vested in the Operator Partner against the Leisure 

Operator under and in respect of the Leisure Contract shall hereupon vest in the 

Authority.  

7. VESTING OF REMEDIES AGAINST THE AUTHORITY  

All rights of action and remedies vested in the Leisure Operator against the Operator 

Partner under and in respect of the Leisure Contract shall hereinafter lie against the 

Authority.  

8. AFFIRMATION OF LEISURE CONTRACT  

Subject to the terms of this Deed the Leisure Contract shall remain in full force and 

effect.  

9. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS  

No term of this Deed is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) 

Act 1999 by a person who is not party to this Deed. This Clause 9 does not affect 

any right or remedy of any person that exists or is available otherwise than pursuant 

to that Act.  

10. GOVERNING LAW AND INTERPRETATION  

Pack Page 325



 

99120273.1\kp07                176  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

This Deed and all non-contractual obligations in connection with this Deed shall be 

governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws of England 

and Wales. The English Courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any 

disputes which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed.  

IN WITNESS of which this document is executed as a deed and is delivered on the date first 

set out above.  

   

Pack Page 326



 

99120273.1\kp07                177  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 7 - REVIEW PROCEDURE  

1. REVIEW PROCEDURE  

1.1 The provisions of this Schedule 7 shall apply whenever any item, documents or 

course of action are required to be reviewed, approved or otherwise processed in 

accordance with the Review Procedure.  

1.2 Each submission under the Review Procedure shall be accompanied by a copy of 

the document to be reviewed or a statement of the proposed course of action (the 

entire contents of a submission being referred to in this Schedule 7 as a "Submitted 

Item"). In relation to each Submitted Item, the following procedure shall apply:  

1.2.1 as soon as possible and, if the Submitted Item comprises a document or 

proposed course of action submitted in the case of an emergency,  

1.2.2 within ten (10) Business Days of the date of receipt of a submission (or re-

submission, as the case may be) of the Submitted Item to the Authority's 

Representative (or such other period as the parties may agree), the 

Authority's Representative shall return one (1) copy of the relevant 

Submitted Item to the Operator Partner endorsed "no comment" or (subject 

to and in accordance with paragraph 1.3) "comments" as appropriate; and  

1.2.3 if the Authority's Representative fails to return a copy of any Submitted Item 

(including any re-submitted Submitted Item) duly endorsed in accordance 

with this paragraph 1.2, within ten (10) Business Days (or within such other 

period as the parties may agree in writing) of the date of its submission to 

the Authority's Representative, then the Authority's Representative shall be 

deemed to have returned the Submitted Item to the Operator Partner 

endorsed "no comment".  

1.3 If the Authority's Representative raises comments on any Submitted Item in 

accordance with this paragraph 1.3 he shall state the ground upon which such 

comments are based and the evidence or other information necessary to 

substantiate that ground. To the extent that the Authority's Representative 

comments on a Submitted Item other than on the basis set out in this Schedule 7, 

or fails to comply with the provisions of this paragraph 1.3, the Operator Partner 

may, in its discretion, either:  

1.3.1 request written clarification of the basis for such comments and, if 

clarification is not received within five (5) Business Days of such request by 

the Operator Partner, refer the matter for determination in accordance with 

the Dispute Resolution Procedure; or  

1.3.2 at its own risk, proceed disregarding such comments.  

2. FURTHER INFORMATION  

2.1 The Operator Partner shall submit any further or other information, data and 

documents that the Authority's Representative reasonably requires in order to 

Pack Page 327



 

99120273.1\kp07                178  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

determine whether he has a basis for raising comments or making objections to any 

Submitted Item in accordance with this Schedule 7.  If the Operator Partner does 

not submit any such information, data and documents, the Authority's 

Representative shall be entitled to:  

2.2 comment on the Submitted Item on the basis of the information, data and documents 

which have been provided; or  

2.3 object to the Submitted Item on the grounds that insufficient information, data and 

documents have been provided to enable the Authority's Representative to 

determine whether he has a legitimate basis for commenting or objecting in 

accordance with this Schedule 7.  

3. GROUNDS OF OBJECTION  

3.1 The expression "raise comments" in this paragraph 3 shall be construed to mean 

"raise comments or make objections" unless the contrary appears from the context. 

The Authority's Representative may raise comments in relation to any Submitted 

Item on the grounds set out in the paragraph above or on the grounds that the 

Submitted Item would (on the balance of probabilities) breach any Legislation or not 

be in accordance with any Necessary Consent, but otherwise may raise comments 

in relation to a Submitted Item only as follows:  

3.1.1 in relation to any Submitted Item:  

(a) the Operator Partner's ability to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement would (on the balance of probabilities) be adversely 

affected by the implementation of the Submitted Item; or  

(b) the implementation of the Submitted Item would (on the balance of 

probabilities) adversely affect any right of the Authority under this 

Agreement or its ability to enforce any such right;  

3.1.2 in relation to any Submitted Item submitted pursuant to Clause 6.1:  

(a) the Authority's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement 

would be adversely affected by the proposed course of action;  

(b) the Authority's ability to carry out any of its statutory functions would 

(on the balance of probabilities) be adversely affected by the 

proposed course of action;  

(c) the proposed course of action would be likely to result in an increase 

to the Authority's liabilities or potential or contingent liabilities under 

this Agreement;  

(d) the proposed course of action would adversely affect any right of 

the Authority under this Agreement or its ability to enforce any such 

right; or  

Pack Page 328



 

99120273.1\kp07                179  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(e) the Operator Partner's ability to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement would be materially adversely affected by the proposed 

course of action;  

3.1.3 in relation to the submission of any proposed revision or substitution for the 

Service Delivery Proposals on the grounds that:  

(a) the proposed revision or substitution is not in accordance with Good 

Industry Practice;  

(b) the performance of the relevant Services in accordance with the 

proposed revision or substitution would (on the balance of 

probabilities):  

(i) be less likely to achieve compliance with relevant parts of 

the Services Specification;  

(ii) have an adverse effect on the provision by the Operator 

Partner of the Services or on the safety of any Users of the 

Facilities; or  

(iii) would cause the Authority to incur material additional 

expense; or  

(c) the proposed revision or substitution would (on the balance of 

probabilities) result in an inferior standard of performance of the 

relevant Services to the standard of performance in accordance with 

the Service Delivery Proposals prior to such proposed revision or 

substitution;  

3.1.4 in relation to the submission of any Schedule of Programmed Maintenance, 

any revision to any Schedule of Programmed Maintenance on the grounds 

that:  

(a) carrying out the programmed maintenance in the period or at the 

times suggested would (on the balance of probabilities) interfere 

with the operations of the Facilities and such interference could be 

avoided or mitigated by the Operator Partner rescheduling the 

Programmed Maintenance;  

(b) the safety of Users or staff would (on the balance of probabilities) 

be adversely affected; or  

(c) the period for carrying out the Programmed Maintenance would (on 

the balance of probabilities) exceed the period reasonably required 

for the relevant works; and  

3.1.5 in relation to any Submitted Item submitted pursuant to Clause 13 (Use of 

the Facilities), the proposed use of the Facilities by third parties:  

Pack Page 329



 

99120273.1\kp07                180  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(a) could reasonably be expected to impair the provision of the Services 

or such use is not compatible with the use of the Facilities as 

community leisure facilities;  

(b) the use is one which the Authority (acting reasonably) has objected 

to;  

(c) the use involves the sponsorship, advertisement or other direct 

involvement by an organisation, entity or person engaged in, or with 

substantial interest in the production or sale of products containing 

or derived from tobacco or the manufacture of sale of arms and 

weapons; or  

(d) the use could be expected to involve undue violence (provided that 

the provision of organised sport shall not be considered undue 

violence) or otherwise be incompatible with the ethos of the 

Authority; or  

3.1.6 in relation to any submission to defer the replacement of any part of the 

Facilities pursuant to Clause 14.21 on the grounds that:  

(a) the proposed deferral is not in accordance with Good Industry 

Practice;  

(b) the performance of the relevant Services in accordance with the 

proposed deferral would (on the balance of probabilities):  

(i) be less likely to achieve compliance with relevant parts of 

the Services Specification;  

(ii) have an adverse effect on the provision of the Services or 

on the safety of any Users; or  

(iii) would cause the Authority to incur material additional 

expense;  

(c) the proposed deferral would (on the balance of probabilities) result 

in an inferior standard of performance of the relevant Services to 

the standard of performance in accordance with the Service 

Delivery Proposals prior to such proposed revision or substitution; 

or  

(d) would result in a decrease or worsening of the quality of the Sites.  

4. EFFECT OF REVIEW  

4.1 Any Submitted Item which is returned or deemed to have been returned by the 

Authority's Representative endorsed "no comment" may be complied with or 

implemented (as the case may be) by the Operator Partner.  

4.2 In the case of any Submitted Item, if the Authority's Representative returns the  

Pack Page 330



 

99120273.1\kp07                181  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Submitted Item to the Operator Partner endorsed "comments", the Operator  

Partner shall comply with such Submitted Item after amendment in accordance with 

the comments unless the Operator Partner disputes that any such comment is on 

grounds permitted by this Agreement, in which case the Operator Partner or the 

Authority's Representative may refer the matter for determination in accordance with 

the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

4.3 The return or deemed return of any Submitted Item endorsed "no comment" shall 

mean that the relevant Submitted Item may be used or implemented for the 

purposes for which it is intended but, save to the extent expressly stated in this 

Agreement such return or deemed return of any Submitted Item shall not otherwise 

relieve the Operator Partner of its obligations under this Agreement nor is it an 

acknowledgement by the Authority that the Operator Partner has complied with such 

obligations.  

5. DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT  

5.1 The Operator Partner shall issue three copies of all Submitted Items to the 

Authority's Representative and compile and maintain a register of the date and 

contents of the submission of all Submitted Items.  

5.2 The Operator Partner shall compile and maintain a register of the date of receipt 

and content of all Submitted Items that are returned or deemed to be returned by 

the Authority's Representative.  

5.3 No review, comment or approval by the Authority shall operate to exclude or limit 

the Operator Partner's obligations or liabilities under this Agreement (or the 

Authority's rights under this Agreement).  

6. VARIATIONS  

6.1 Subject to paragraph 6.2, no approval or comment or any failure to give or make an 

approval or comment under this Schedule 7 shall constitute an Authority Change 

save to the extent expressly provided in this Schedule 7.  

6.2 If, having received comments from the Authority's Representative, the Operator  

Partner considers that compliance with those comments would amount to an 

Authority Change, the Operator Partner shall, before complying with the comments, 

notify the Authority of the same and, if it is agreed by the parties or determined 

pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure that an Authority Change would arise 

if the comments were complied with, the Authority may, if it wishes, implement the 

Authority Change and it shall be dealt with in accordance with Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol).  Any failure by the Operator Partner to notify the Authority that it considers 

compliance with any comments of the Authority's Representative would amount to 

an Authority Change shall constitute an irrevocable acceptance by the Operator 

Partner that any compliance with the Authority's comments shall be without cost to 

the Authority and without any extension of time.  

Pack Page 331



 

99120273.1\kp07                182  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 8 - PROHIBITED MATERIALS  

Materials which are generally known at the time of specification to be deleterious to health 

and safety or to the durability of works or of any part thereof in the particular circumstances 

in which they are used or are not in accordance with British or European standard or codes 

of practice current at the time of specification, (or where no such standard exists do not 

conform with a British Board of Agrément Certificate), or which do not comply with the 

guidance set out in (Good Practice in the Selection of Construction Materials 2011 published 

by the British Council of Offices.  

    

Pack Page 332



 

99120273.1\kp07                183  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 9 – NOT USED  

    

Pack Page 333



 

99120273.1\kp07                184  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 10 - WARRANTED DATA  

PART 1 - OPERATOR PARTNER 

WARRANTED DATA  

1.  Registered Name of Operator Partner:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE] 2. 

 Registered Office of Operator Partner:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE]  

3.  Company Registration Number of Operator Partner:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE] 4. 

 Directors of Operator Partner:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE]  

5.  Shareholders of Operator Partner (with respective shareholdings):  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE] 6. 

 Registered Name of Holdco:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE] 7. 

 Registered Office of Holdco:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE]  

8.  Company Registration Number of Holdco:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE] 9. 

 Directors of Holdco:  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE]  

10.  Shareholders of Holdco (with respective shareholdings):  

[PREFERRED BIDDER TO COMPLETE]  

    

PART 2 - PROPOSED WORKFORCE INFORMATION  

     

Pack Page 334



 

99120273.1\kp07                185  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 11 - PROJECT DOCUMENTS AND ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS  

PART 1 - PROJECT DOCUMENTS  

 Document  Parties  

[list to be completed on a case by  case 

basis but assumed to include   

this Agreement    

[Parent Company Guarantee]    

Collateral  Warranty  from  Leisure Authority, Leisure Operator, Operator Operator 

 Partner  

Collateral  Warranty  from  FM Authority, Leisure Operator, Operator Contractor 

 Partner  

[other Collateral Warranties]    

Head Lease[s]    

    

  

PART 2 - ANCILLARY DOCUMENTS  

 Document  Parties  

Leisure Contract    

FM Agreement    

[any other relevant subcontract]    

[guarantees/bonds provided in respect  of 

those]  

[Management Services Agreement][if  Operator 

Partner is an SPV]  

Underlease[s]    

    

  

Pack Page 335



 

99120273.1\kp07                186  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 12 - TITLE MATTERS  

PART 1- TITLE WARRANTIES  

Save as disclosed in the Disclosed Title Matters, the Replies to Enquiries and the Disclosed 

Searches the Authority warrants that for the period of this Agreement:  

1. each and every Site is in the sole legal and beneficial ownership of the Authority;  

2. the Sites are not subject to any Adverse Rights;  

3. no one is in adverse possession of the Sites or has acquired or is acquiring any 

Adverse Rights affecting the Sites;  

4. there are no disputes, claims, actions, demands or complaints in respect of the Sites 

that are outstanding or that are expected by the Authority and that would prevent or 

disrupt the provision of Services;  

5. from the Commencement Date no person, other than [the Authority], has any right 

(actual or contingent) to possession, occupation or use of or interest in the Sites;  

6. the information set out or described in the Replies to Enquiries has been prepared 

after due and careful enquiry and is true, accurate and complete as at the 

Commencement Date; and  

7. the Disclosed Title Matters comprise all of the documents relating to the title to the 

Sites.  

  

    

Pack Page 336



  

  

Per Site:  

 

99120273.1\kp07                187  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 2 - DISCLOSED TITLE MATTERS  

Official Copies and plan (where registered land) / epitome of title (where land is unregistered) 

and copies of any title documents.  

   

     

Pack Page 337



  

  

Per Site:  

 

99120273.1\kp07                188  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 3 - REPLIES TO ENQUIRIES  

Replies to relevant Standard Pre-contract Enquiries (CPSE).  

Replies to Standard Pre-contract Enquiries (Supplemental) Property subject to tenancies 

(commercial) (CPSE.2 v2.2).  

   

     

Pack Page 338



  

  

Per Site:  

 

99120273.1\kp07                189  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 4 - DISCLOSED SEARCHES  

Search:  

Date:  

Official search in the Index Map (SIM).  

Local search certificate and replies to enquiries in CON29R Enquiries of Local Authority  

(2007) and any other relevant enquiries in CON29O Optional Enquiries of Local Authority 

(2007).  

Commercial drainage and water enquiries.  

Common land and town and village greens search.  

Enquiries of The Coal Authority as to past, present and future mining operations in proximity 

to the Site.  

Where title to the Site is not registered, Land Charges Act searches against every estate 

owner who was a party to any transaction, or concerned in any event, comprised in the 

relevant title (see Section 25 of the Law of Property Act 1969) where there is no clear search 

with the title deeds.  

Land Registry search (whether of whole or part), date of expiry of priority and name of party 

having benefit of priority period.  

Where title to the Site is not registered, date of search at the Companies Registry of the file 

of all companies disclosed by the documents of title as estate owners of the Site since the 

root of title.  

Enquiries of the Highways Authority to ascertain the boundaries of publicly maintainable 

highways abutting, and any footpaths or rights of way affecting, the Site.  

Details of other searches or enquiries we considered to be appropriate:  

1. BT;  

2. Gas Utility Search;  

3. Electricity Company Search; 4.  Highways (including footpaths);  

5. London Transport:  

Pack Page 339



  

  

Per Site:  

 

99120273.1\kp07                190  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

6. Dockland Light Railway;   

7. London Underground Search;  

8. British Waterways – Commercial (canals/lakes etc);  

Pack Page 340



 

99120273.1\kp07                191  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

9. Chancel Liability Search;  

10. Cheshire Brine Subsidence Compensation Board (re salt extraction in Cheshire 

area);  

11. Radon;  

12. Clay (Ball/China);  

13. Tin Mining;  

14. Limestone; and  

15. Forestry.  

    

Pack Page 341



 

99120273.1\kp07                192  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 13 - INSURANCES  

This Schedule 13 (Insurances) comprises three Parts:  

Part 1: Authority Insurances.  

Part 2: Operator Partner Insurances.  

Part 3: Endorsements.  

  

     

Pack Page 342



 

99120273.1\kp07                193  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 1 - AUTHORITY INSURANCES  

 Physical damage buildings insurance for the Facilities.  

  

     

Pack Page 343



 

99120273.1\kp07                194  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 2 - OPERATOR PARTNER INSURANCES  

Common to all policies in Part 2 (unless stated otherwise):  

Insureds  

1. Operator Partner;  

2. [Leisure Operator];  

3. [FM Contractor],  

each for their respective rights and interests in the Facilities.  

1. PROPERTY DAMAGE INSURANCE  

1.1 Insured Property  

Any property of whatsoever nature or description associated with the Services at 

the Facilities that is the property of the Operator Partner or for which the Operator 

Partner may be responsible under this Agreement (excluding buildings insurance) 

including but not limited to the contents of the Facilities.  

1.2 Coverage  

"All risks" of physical loss or damage to the Insured Property from any cause not 

excluded, including machinery breakdown and computer breakdown in respect of 

appropriate equipment.  

1.3 Sum Insured  

At all times an amount not less than the total reinstatement or replacement value 

of the Insured Property plus provision to include other Principal Extensions as 

appropriate  (escalated  periodically  as  appropriate  in  accordance 

 with Clause 35.5).  

1.4 Maximum Deductible  

£5,000 each and every claim, escalated periodically as appropriate in accordance 

with Clause 35.5.  

1.5 Territorial Limits United Kingdom.  

1.6 Period of Insurance  

For the duration of this Agreement and renewable on an annual basis unless agreed 

otherwise by the parties.  

1.7 Cover Features and Extensions  

1.7.1 Terrorism.  

Pack Page 344



 

99120273.1\kp07                195  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

1.7.2 Pollution and contamination to the Insured Property arising from an event 

which itself is not otherwise excluded. To include pollution or contamination 

resulting from accidental damage.  

1.7.3 Insured Property whilst in transit.  

1.7.4 Automatic reinstatement of sum insured.  

1.7.5 Capital additions Clause.  

1.7.6 72 hour Clause.  

1.7.7 European Union local authorities Clause.  

1.7.8 Replacement of computer records.  

1.7.9 Professional fees.  

1.7.10 Debris removal.  

1.7.11 Repair / reinstatement basis of claims settlement with cash option for non-

reinstatement.  

1.8 Principal Exclusions  

4.8.1 War and related perils (UK market agreed wording).  

4.8.2 Nuclear/radioactive risks (UK market agreed wording).  

4.8.3 Pressure waves caused by aircraft and other aerial devices travelling at 

sonic or supersonic speeds.  

4.8.4 Wear, tear and gradual deterioration.  

4.8.5 Consequential financial losses.  

4.8.6 Cyber risks.  

2. BUSINESS INTERRUPTION INSURANCE  

2.1 Insureds  

2.1.1 Operator Partner;  

2.1.2 [Leisure Operator;] and 2.1.3  [FM Contractor], each for their respective 

rights and interests in the Facilities.  

2.2 Indemnity  

In respect of:  

Pack Page 345



 

99120273.1\kp07                196  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

2.2.1 loss of anticipated Revenue during the Minimum Indemnity Period arising 

from an interruption or interference in the operation of the Services as a 

result of loss or damage covered under Property Damage Insurance 

effected in accordance with paragraph 1 of Part 2 of this including physical 

loss or damage which would be indemnifiable but for the application of any 

deductible; and  

2.2.2 the additional expenditure necessarily and reasonably incurred for the 

purpose of avoiding or reducing the loss of Revenue of the Operator Partner 

which without such expenditure would have taken place, during the 

Minimum Indemnity Period.  

2.3 Sum Insured  

An amount sufficient to cover the sums the subject of the Indemnity for the Minimum 

Indemnity Period.  

2.4 Maximum Excess  

Nil  

2.5 Minimum Indemnity Period 36 months.  

2.6 Period of Insurance  

For the duration of this Agreement and renewable on an annual basis unless agreed 

otherwise by the parties.  

2.7 Cover Features and Extensions  

2.7.1 Denial of access.  

2.7.2 Utilities.  

2.7.3 Terrorism.  

2.7.4 Subrogation waiver and non-vitiation Clause.  

2.7.5 Accountants Clause.  

2.7.6 Automatic reinstatement of Sum Insured and Indemnity Period.  

2.8 Principal Exclusions  

2.8.1 War and related perils (UK market agreed wording).  

2.8.2 Nuclear/radioactive risks (UK market agreed wording).  

2.8.3 Pressure waves caused by aircraft and other aerial devices travelling at 

sonic or supersonic speeds.  

2.8.4 Wear, tear and gradual deterioration.  

Pack Page 346



 

99120273.1\kp07                197  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

2.8.5 Cyber risks.  

3. PUBLIC AND PRODUCTS LIABILITY INSURANCE  

3.1 Interest  

To indemnify the Insured in respect of all sums that they may become legally liable 

to pay (including claimant's costs and expenses) as damages in respect of 

accidental:  

3.1.1 death, or bodily injury, illness, disease contracted by any person;  

3.1.2 loss or damage to property; or  

3.1.3 interference to property or any easement right of air, light, water or way or 

the enjoyment or use thereof by obstruction, trespass, nuisance, loss of 

amenities, or any like cause,  

3.1.4 happening during the Period of Insurance and arising out of or in connection 

with the provision of the Services.  

3.2 Limit of Indemnity  

Not less than £40,000,000 (forty million pounds) (escalated periodically as 

appropriate in accordance with Clause 55.4) in respect of any one occurrence, the 

number of occurrences being unlimited, but in the aggregate in respect of pollution 

and products liability.  

3.3 Maximum Deductible  

£5,000 for each and every occurrence of property damage, escalated periodically 

as appropriate.  (Personal injury claims will be paid in full.)  

3.4 Territorial Limits  

Worldwide excluding USA, Canada and Australia.  

3.5 Jurisdiction  

Worldwide excluding USA, Canada and Australia.  

3.6 Period of Insurance  

For the duration of this Agreement and renewable on an annual basis unless agreed 

otherwise by the parties.  

3.7 Cover Features and Extensions  

3.7.1 Munitions of war.  

3.7.2 Cross liability Clause.  

Pack Page 347



 

99120273.1\kp07                198  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.7.3 Contingent motor liability.  

3.7.4 Subrogation waiver and non-vitiation Clause.  

3.8 Principal Exclusions  

3.8.1 Liability for death, illness, disease or bodily injury sustained by employees 

of the Insured.  

3.8.2 Liability arising out of the use of mechanically propelled vehicles whilst 

required to be compulsorily insured by Legislation in respect of such 

vehicles.  

3.8.3 Liability in respect of predetermined penalties or liquidated damages 

imposed under any contract entered into by the Insured.  

3.8.4 Liability in respect of loss or damage to property in the care, custody and 

control of the insured but this exclusion is not to apply to all property 

belonging to the Authority that is in the care, custody and control of another 

Insured.  

3.8.5 Liability arising out of technical or professional advice (given for a fee) other 

than in respect of death or bodily injury to persons or damage to third party 

property.  

3.8.6 Liability arising from the ownership, possession or use of any aircraft or 

marine vessel.  

3.8.7 Liability arising from seepage and pollution unless caused by a sudden, 

identifiable, unintended and unexpected occurrence.  

3.8.8 Losses under the insurances referred to in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Part 

2 of Error! Reference source not found..    

  

PART 3 - ENDORSEMENTS  

Unless the context otherwise requires defined terms set out in the following endorsements 

shall have the meaning set out in the Agreement.  

Endorsement 1  

Cancellation  

This policy shall not be cancelled or terminated before the original expiry date is to take 

effect except in respect of non-payment of premium.  

The insurer shall by written notice advise the Authority:  

Pack Page 348



 

99120273.1\kp07                199  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

1. at least thirty (30) Business Days before any such cancellation or termination is to 

take effect  

2. at least thirty (30) Business Days before any reduction in limits or coverage or any 

increase in deductibles is to take effect; and  

3. of any act or omission or any event of which the insurer has knowledge and which 

might invalidate or render unenforceable in whole or in part this policy.  

Endorsement 2  

Multiple Insured/Subrogation/Non-Vitiation Clause  

Each of the parties comprising the insured shall for the purpose of this policy be considered 

a separate co-insured entity, insured on a composite basis, with the words "the insured" 

applying to each as if they were separately and individually insured provided that the total 

liability of the insurers under each section of this policy to the insured collectively shall not 

(unless the policy specifically permits otherwise) exceed the limit of indemnity or amount 

stated to be insured under that section or policy. Accordingly, the liability of the insurers 

under this policy to any one insured shall not be conditional upon the due observance and 

fulfilment by any other insured party of the terms and conditions of this policy or of any duties 

imposed upon that insured party relating thereto, and shall not be affected by any failure in 

such observance or fulfilment by any such other insured party.  

It is understood and agreed that any payment or payments by insurers to any one or more 

of the insureds shall reduce, to the extent of that payment, insurers' liability to all such parties 

arising from any one event giving rise to a claim under this policy and (if applicable) in the 

aggregate.  

Insurers shall be entitled to avoid liability to or (as may be appropriate) claim damages from 

any insured party in circumstances of fraud misrepresentation non-disclosure or material 

breach of warranty or condition of this policy (each referred to in this Clause as a Vitiating 

Act) committed by that insured party save where such misrepresentation non-disclosure or 

breach of warranty or condition was committed innocently and in good faith.  

It is however agreed that a Vitiating Act committed by one insured party shall not prejudice 

the right to indemnity of any other insured who has an insurable interest and who has not 

committed the Vitiating Act.  

Insurers hereby agree to waive all rights of subrogation and/or recourse which they may 

have or acquire against any insured party (together with their employees and agents) except 

where the rights of subrogation or recourse are acquired in consequence of a Vitiating Act 

in which circumstances insurers may enforce such rights against the insured responsible for 

the Vitiating Act notwithstanding the continuing or former status of the vitiating party as an 

insured.  

Notwithstanding any other provision of this policy or any other document or any act and/or 

omission by any insured party insurers agree that:  

Pack Page 349



 

99120273.1\kp07                200  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

1. no party other than the Authority has any authority to make any warranty, disclosure 

or representation in connection with this policy on behalf of the Authority;  

2. where any warranty, disclosure or representation is required from the Authority in 

connection with this policy insurers will contact the Authority in writing (in 

accordance with Endorsement 3 to the Agreement) and set out expressly the 

warranty, disclosure and/or representation required within a reasonable period of 

time from the Authority (regarding itself); and  

3. save as set out in a request from insurers to the Authority in accordance with (2) 

above, the Authority shall have no duty to disclose any fact or matter to insurers in 

connection with this policy save to the extent that for the Authority not to disclose a 

fact or matter would constitute fraudulent misrepresentation and/or fraudulent non-

disclosure.  

Endorsement 3  

Communications  

All notices or other communications under or in connection with this policy shall be given to 

each insured (and the Authority) in writing or by facsimile.  Any such notice will be deemed 

to be given as follows:  

1. if in writing, when delivered;  

2. if by facsimile, when transmitted but only if, immediately after transmission, the 

sender's facsimile machine records a successful transmission has occurred.  

The address and facsimile number of the Authority for all notices under or in connection with 

this policy are those notified from time to time by the Authority for this purpose to the 

Operator Partner's insurance broker at the relevant time.  The initial address and facsimile 

number of the Authority is as follows:  

The Authority:  

Address:    

Facsimile No:  [                    ]   Attention: 

   

It is further agreed that a notice of claim given by the Authority or any other insured shall in 

the absence of any manifest error be accepted by the insurer as a valid notification of a claim 

on behalf of all insureds.  

Endorsement 4  

Primary Insurance  

It is expressly understood and agreed that this policy provides primary cover for the insured 

parties and that in the event of loss destruction damage or liability covered by this policy 

Pack Page 350



 

99120273.1\kp07                201  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

which is covered either in whole or in part under any other policy or policies of insurance 

effected by or on behalf of any of the insured parties the insurers will indemnify the insured 

parties as if such other policy or policies of insurance were not in force and the insurers 

waive their rights of recourse if any against the insurers of such other policy or policies of 

insurance.  

Endorsement 5  

Ring-fencing  

The level of any indemnity available to an insured party under this policy in relation to any 

claim(s) concerning the Services shall not be affected and/or reduced by any claim(s) 

unrelated to the Services.   

Pack Page 351



 

99120273.1\kp07                202  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 14 - AUTHORITY POLICIES  

Alcohol and Entertainment policies  

Anti-Fraud Corruption Policy  

Anti-Money Laundering Policy  

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Policy 2018  

Data Protection Policy 2018  

   

Pack Page 352



 

99120273.1\kp07                203  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 15 - NNDR  

1. DEFINITIONS  

Billing Authority  has the meaning given to the term "billing authority" in the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992  

National  

Domestic  Rates  

NNDR  

Non the National Non Domestic Rates as contained in the  

or  Local Government Finance Act 1988 (or any rates or tax 

that replaces it) payable in relation to the Sites and/or the 

Facilities  

NNDR Failure   means:  

(a) a failure by (or on behalf of) the Operator Partner 
[or Leisure Operator] to submit, or do anything 
reasonably required by the Authority (acting in its 
capacity as Billing Authority) in support of, an 
application for NNDR Relief  

(b) any act or omission of any Operator Partner 
Related Party and any of their servants, agents 
or employees which is calculated or intended to 
cause loss of or unavailability of NNDR Relief  

(c) any failure by the Operator Partner [or the 
Leisure Operator] to exercise reasonable skill 
and care and use all reasonable endeavours to 
obtain NNDR Relief or  

(d) a failure by the Operator Partner [or the Leisure 
Operator] to achieve the NNDR Relief status of  
[                    ]  

NNDR Pre-Application shall have the meaning given in paragraph 2.2.1  
Information  

NNDR Pre-Application shall have the meaning given in paragraph 2.2.2 Rate  

NNDR Relief  relief from the obligation to pay NNDR applicable to the  

Sites and/or the Facilities pursuant to the provisions of:  

(a) sections 47 to 50 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 (and/or any such similar 

scheme  making  provision  for 

 relief  or exemption from or reduction of 

the payment of any part of NNDR); and/or  

(b) the NNDR Relief Policy  

NNDR Relief Policy means the Authority's (acting in its capacity as Billing Authority) 

policy [include reference to the policy] for the application 

of NNDR Relief in the Authority's rating area and the 

Pack Page 353



 

99120273.1\kp07                204  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

exercise of its discretion to award NNDR Relief in respect 

of the Facilities pursuant to such policy  

 NNDR Report  shall have the meaning given in paragraph 5.3   

 Updated NNDR Rate  shall have the meaning given in paragraph 3.4   

  

2. ELIGIBILITY FOR NNDR RELIEF  

2.1 The Operator Partner acknowledges and agrees that, subject to the following 

provisions of this Schedule 15 (NNDR), the Operator Partner shall [or shall procure 

that the Leisure Operator shall] be responsible for the payment of NNDR applicable 

to the Facilities from the Commencement Date until the Expiry Date or, if earlier, the 

Termination Date.  

2.2 The parties acknowledge and agree that:  

2.2.1 the Operator Partner has, prior to the Commencement Date, submitted to 

the Authority information relating to the contractual arrangements and the 

Services and corporate structure proposed by the Operator Partner for the 

purposes of the Services to assist the Authority to assess the eligibility of 

the Operator Partner [and/or Leisure Operator] to claim NNDR Relief in 

connection with the Facilities on and from the Commencement Date, such 

information being in the Agreed Form [or as set out in the Operator Partner's 

tender documents] (NNDR Pre-Application Information); and  

2.2.2 having relied upon the information contained in the NNDR Pre-Application 

Information, the Authority has indicated to the Operator Partner that the 

contractual arrangements and Services and corporate structure proposed 

by the Operator Partner would, on the date of such indication, entitle the 

Operator Partner to claim NNDR Relief in connection with the Facilities on 

and from the Commencement Date at a particular rate (NNDR  

Pre-Application Rate) the parties acknowledging that for the purposes of 

the NNDR Pre-Application Rate, NNDR Relief will [include][not include] 

mandatory rate relief [only] and [no NNDR Policy] will apply in respect of 

discretionary rate relief].  

3. INITIAL APPLICATION FOR NNDR RELIEF  

3.1 The Operator Partner shall [or shall procure that the Leisure Operator shall] inform 

the [Financial Services Department] of the Authority in relation to the occupation of 

the Facilities by the [Operator Partner/Leisure Operator].  

3.2 The Operator Partner shall [or shall procure that the Leisure Operator shall] submit 

an application for NNDR Relief to the [Financial Services Department] of the 

Authority [on or before the Commencement Date or following the issue of the first  

NNDR demand note by the Authority in respect of the Facilities (whichever is the 

earlier)]. Such application will confirm whether the contractual arrangements and 

project and corporate structure vary from the NNDR Pre-Application Information.  

Pack Page 354



 

99120273.1\kp07                205  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.3 Where, following the application referred to in paragraph 3.2, the Authority (acting 

in its capacity as Billing Authority) determines that the contractual arrangements 

contemplated by this Agreement (and (where applicable) the Sub-Contracts) will 

entitle the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] to claim NNDR Relief in 

connection with the Facilities at the NNDR Pre-Application Rate, then the Operator 

Partner shall apply (and continue to apply) the full benefit of such NNDR Relief to 

the Services and the Operator Partner warrants and confirms that in calculating the 

Annual Payment it has taken into account NNDR Relief at the NNDR Pre-Application 

Rate in respect of the Sites and/or the Facilities (as the case may be), as 

contemplated in row [                    ] of the LOBTA.  

3.4 Where, following the application referred to in paragraph 3.2, the Authority (acting 

in its capacity as Billing Authority) determines that the contractual arrangements 

contemplated by this Agreement (and (where applicable) the Sub-Contracts) will not 

entitle the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] to claim NNDR Relief at the NNDR 

Pre-Application Rate and instead claim it at a different rate (including a nil rate) 

(Updated NNDR Rate) in connection with the Facilities so that the NNDR liability 

for the Services increases, then:  

3.4.1 where the information on which such determination is made is:  

(a) consistent (in all relevant respects) with the information submitted 

in the NNDR Pre-Application Information; and  

(b) the reason for such determination does not arise as a result of an 

NNDR Failure; and  

(c) the reason for such determination does not arise as a result of a 

General Change in Law which was foreseeable at the 

Commencement Date,   

then, subject to the following provisions of this Schedule 15 (NNDR), the 

Authority shall be responsible for the payment of additional NNDR in respect 

of the Facilities and the Annual Payment shall be adjusted in accordance 

with Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments) so as to put the Operator Partner in 

no better and no worse a position than it would have been in had the relevant 

determination not been made;  

3.4.2 where the information on which such determination is made is inconsistent 

(in any relevant respect) with the information submitted in the NNDR Pre-

Application Information and/or the reason for such determination arises as 

a result of an NNDR Failure and/or the reason for such determination arises 

because of a General Change in Law which was foreseeable at the date of 

this Schedule 15 (NNDR), the Operator Partner shall be responsible for 

meeting the additional costs of NNDR in respect of the Facilities.  

4. SUBSEQUENT APPLICATIONS FOR NNDR RELIEF  

4.1 Following the Operator Partner's [or Leisure Operator's] initial application for NNDR 

Relief pursuant to paragraph 3.2, the Operator Partner shall [or shall procure that 

Pack Page 355



 

99120273.1\kp07                206  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

the Leisure Operator shall] submit an application for NNDR Relief to the [Financial 

Services Department] of the Authority whenever thereafter so required by the 

relevant rules and procedures of the Authority (acting in its capacity as Billing 

Authority).  Such applications will confirm whether the contractual arrangements and 

project and corporate structure vary from the NNDR Pre-Application Information.  

4.2 Where, following an application referred to in paragraph 4.1, the Authority (acting in 

its capacity as Billing Authority) determines that the contractual arrangements 

contemplated by this Agreement (and (where applicable) the Sub-Contracts) will 

entitle the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] to claim NNDR Relief in 

connection with the Facilities at the NNDR Pre-Application Rate or the Updated 

NNDR Rate (as applicable), then the Operator Partner shall apply (and continue to 

apply) the full benefit of such NNDR Relief to the Services and the Operator Partner 

will warrant and confirm that in calculating the Annual Payment it has taken into 

account NNDR Relief at the NNDR Pre-Application Rate or the Updated NNDR Rate 

(as applicable) in respect of the Sites and/or the Facilities (as the case may be), as 

contemplated in row [                    ] of the LOBTA.  

4.3 Where, following an application referred to in paragraph 4.1, the Authority (acting in 

its capacity as Billing Authority) determines that the contractual arrangements 

contemplated by this Agreement (and (where applicable) the Sub-Contracts) will not 

entitle the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] to claim NNDR Relief at the NNDR 

Pre-Application Rate or the Updated NNDR Rate (as applicable) and instead claim 

it at a different rate in connection with the Facilities so that the NNDR liability for the 

Services increases, then:  

4.3.1 where the information on which such determination is made is:  

(a) consistent (in all relevant respects) with the information submitted 

in the NNDR Pre-Application Information;  

(b) the reason for such determination does not arise as a result of an 

NNDR Failure; and  

(c) the reason for such determination does not arise as a result of a 

General Change in Law which was foreseeable at the 

Commencement Date,   

then, subject to the following provisions of this Schedule 15 (NNDR), the 

Authority shall be responsible for the payment of additional NNDR in respect 

of the Facilities and the Annual Payment shall be adjusted in accordance 

with Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments) so as to put the Operator Partner in 

no better and no worse a position than it would have been in had the relevant 

determination not been made; and  

4.3.2 where the information on which such determination is made is inconsistent 

(in any relevant respect) with the information submitted in the NNDR Pre-

Application Information and/or the reason for such determination arises as 

a result of an NNDR Failure and/or the reason for such determination arose 

because of a General Change in Law which was foreseeable at the 

Pack Page 356



 

99120273.1\kp07                207  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Commencement Date, then, subject to the following provisions of this 

Schedule 15 (NNDR), the Operator Partner shall be responsible for meeting 

the additional costs of NNDR in respect of the  

Facilities.  

4.4 References in this paragraph 4 to "Updated NNDR Rate" shall include both any 

updated rate pursuant to paragraph 3.4 and also any subsequent updates pursuant 

to this paragraph 4 (Subsequent applications for NNDR relief).  

5. ALTERNATIVE STRUCTURES  

5.1 Where the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] is refused NNDR Relief at the 

NNDR Pre-Application Rate or the Updated NNDR Rate (as applicable) or has 

reason to believe that the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] will or is likely to 

lose all or any NNDR Relief (whether as a result of a General Change in Law or a 

change in the NNDR Relief Policy or otherwise), it shall notify the Authority as soon 

as reasonably practicable with full details of the implications of this and shall keep 

the Authority informed of any developments in relation to such occurrence or likely 

occurrence and the following provisions shall apply.  

5.2 The parties shall, within ten (10) Business Days of the Operator Partner's notification 

under paragraph 5.1 (Alternative Structures), meet to discuss the implications of the 

lack or loss of NNDR Relief and how the impact of the lack or loss of NNDR Relief 

can be mitigated. If either party identifies a way in which the whole or any part of the 

NNDR Relief can be lawfully obtained by the Authority, the Operator Partner and/or 

[the Leisure Operator], the Operator Partner shall [or shall procure that the Leisure 

Operator shall] use its reasonable endeavours to obtain such NNDR Relief or assist 

the Authority in obtaining such NNDR Relief.  

5.3 If the Authority so requests, the Operator Partner shall, from the date of such 

request, investigate what alternative lawful contract structures and/or forms of entity 

(which are acceptable to the Operator Partner, acting reasonably) may be available 

to minimise NNDR applicable to the Facilities and within one (1) month of such 

request present its findings to the Authority in a report (NNDR Report), provided 

that, except in the case of an NNDR Failure, the Authority shall reimburse the 

Operator Partner's reasonable expenses in taking the steps required under this 

paragraph 5.3.  

5.4 Upon presentation by the Operator Partner of the NNDR Report to the Authority in 

accordance with paragraph 5.3 (Alternative Structures), the Authority shall assess 

the details of the NNDR Report and shall within one (1) month of such presentation 

notify the Operator Partner that it:  

5.4.1 agrees the alternative structure and/or form of entity proposed in the NNDR 

Report; or  

5.4.2 does not agree the alternative structure and/or form of entity proposed in 

the NNDR Report; or  

Pack Page 357



 

99120273.1\kp07                208  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

5.4.3 requires further information as is reasonable to make an assessment in 

respect of the NNDR Report, in which case the Operator Partner shall issue 

such information as soon as reasonably practicable.  Alternatively, the 

Authority may require (at the Authority's cost) the opinion of a barrister or 

third party and the Authority will use its reasonable endeavours to not delay 

obtaining such opinion. The Authority shall within twenty (20) Business Days 

assess such additional information and/or opinion and shall notify the 

Operator Partner of its decision pursuant to paragraph 5.4.1 or 5.4.2 (as 

applicable).   

5.5 Where the Authority accepts the alternative structure and/or form of entity proposed 

in the NNDR Report pursuant to paragraph 5.4.1, with such revisions as may be 

agreed to by the parties (acting reasonably) the Operator Partner shall proceed to 

implement such alternative structure and/or form of entity in accordance with 

Legislation and as agreed with the Authority, both parties acting reasonably. Such 

implementation shall be treated as an Authority Change, except where the reason 

for such Change arises as a result of an NNDR Failure, in which chase it shall be 

treated as an Operator Partner Change.  

6. REDUCTIONS IN NNDR LIABILITY  

Where during the Contract Period, the Authority, subsequently becomes entitled to 

grant (and does so grant) the Operator Partner additional NNDR Relief in respect of 

the Facilities and/or where the total amount of NNDR payable in respect of the 

Facilities decreases for any other reason, then the Annual Payment shall be 

adjusted in accordance with Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments) by the same amount 

as the amount of relief from NNDR granted and/or the reduction in NNDR liability.  

7. NNDR FAILURE  

Where NNDR Relief is not granted or is lost, or where the percentage of NNDR 

Relief is changed from or different to that assumed in the LOBTA, so as to mean 

that additional NNDR is payable by the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator], or 

where an alternative structure and/or form of entity is implemented pursuant to 

paragraph 5 (Alternative Structures), due in each case to any NNDR Failure, the 

Annual Payment shall not be adjusted in respect of the NNDR Relief not being 

granted or being lost and the increase in NNDR applicable to the Facilities shall as 

a result of such lack of or loss of relief be for the account of the Operator Partner.  

8. NNDR CHALLENGES AND APPEALS  

If the Authority shall require (acting reasonably) the Operator Partner shall [or shall 

procure that the Leisure Operator shall] challenge or appeal any decision of the 

Billing Authority in respect of NNDR in relation to any of the Facilities or otherwise 

seek any rebates, revaluations or other lawful methods of reducing the NNDR 

payable (other than by way of the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] applying 

for NNDR Relief in the normal course of events pursuant to paragraphs 3 and 4 of 

this Schedule 15 (NNDR), to which paragraphs 2 to 7 shall apply), in which case the 

Operator Partner shall agree its proposals in advance with the Authority (both 

Pack Page 358



 

99120273.1\kp07                209  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

parties acting reasonably) and shall use its reasonable endeavours to succeed in 

any such challenge, appeal, rebate, revaluation or reduction. The Authority shall 

bear all reasonable and proper third party costs and disbursements properly 

incurred by the Operator Partner [or Leisure Operator] provided the Authority gives 

prior written approval for such costs and disbursements.  

9. If the amount of the NNDR is varied (including retrospectively) as a result of any 

challenge, appeal or other action taken pursuant to paragraph 8 (NNDR 

challenges and appeals), then the Annual Payment shall be adjusted in 

accordance with Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments) so as to put the Operator 

Partner in no better and no worse a position than if the relevant variation had not 

been made.  

10. COSTS  

Where a party is entitled to be reimbursed its reasonable costs pursuant to this 

Schedule 15 (NNDR), it shall issue an invoice in respect of such costs to the other 

party with such information that may be reasonably required to verify such costs.  

The relevant party shall pay the amount of any such invoice submitted to it within 

twenty (20) Business Days of its receipt.   

Pack Page 359



 

99120273.1\kp07                210  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 16 - HEAD LEASES  

    

Pack Page 360



 

99120273.1\kp07                211  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

DATED                                           

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

(1) [[                    ] COUNCIL]  

(2) [OPERATOR PARTNER]  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

LEASE  

of [                    ]  

 
  

  

  

  

  

  

 

LR1. Date of lease  [                    ]   

LR2. Title Number(s)  LR2.1 Landlord's title number(s)  

[                    ]  

LR2.2 Other title number(s)  

None  

Pack Page 361



 

99120273.1\kp07                212  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

LR3. Parties to this lease  Landlord  

[                    ]   

Tenant  

[                    ]  

Other parties  

None  

LR4. Property  In the case of a conflict between this Clause and the 
remainder of this lease then, for the purposes of 
registration, this Clause shall prevail.  

Refer to the definition of Premises in Clause 1 of this  

Lease.   

LR5. Prescribed statements 

etc.  

LR5.1.  Statements prescribed under rules 179 
(dispositions in favour of a charity), 180 
(dispositions by a charity) or 196 (leases under the  
Leasehold  Reform,  Housing  and  Urban 
Development Act 1993) of the Land Registration 
Rules 2003.  

None  

LR5.2  This lease is made under, or by reference to, 
provisions of:  

None  

LR6. Term for which the 

Property is leased  

The term as specified in this lease at Clause 1 ("Term)   

LR7. Premium  None  

LR8. Prohibitions or 

restrictions on disposing of 

this lease  

This lease contains a provision that prohibits or restricts 

dispositions.  

Pack Page 362



 

99120273.1\kp07                213  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

LR9. Rights of acquisition 

etc.  

LR9.1 Tenant's contractual rights to renew this 
lease, to acquire the reversion or another lease of 
the Property, or to acquire an interest in other land  

None  

LR9.2 Tenant's covenant to (or offer to) surrender 
this lease  

None  

LR9.3 Landlord's contractual rights to acquire this 

lease None  

LR10. Restrictive covenants 

given in this lease by the 

Landlord in respect of land 

other than the Property  

None  

LR11. Easements  LR11.1 Easements granted by this lease for the 
benefit of the Property  

The easements as specified in Schedule 2 of this lease.  

LR11.2 Easements granted or reserved by this lease 
over the Property for the benefit of other property  

The easements as specified in Schedule 1 of this lease.  

LR12. Estate rentcharge 

burdening the Property  

None  

LR13. Application for 

standard form of restriction  

The parties to this lease apply to enter the following 
standard form of restriction   

None  

LR14. Declaration of trust 

where there is more than one 

person comprising the Tenant  

None  

  

THIS LEASE is made on [                    ]   

Pack Page 363



 

99120273.1\kp07                214  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

BETWEEN:  

(1) [                    ] of [                    ] (Landlord); and  

(2) [                    ] (registered under company registration number [                    ]) whose 

registered office is [                    ] (Tenant).  

IT IS AGREED as follows:  

1.  DEFINITIONS  

The following expressions shall where the context so admits have the following 

meanings:  

"1954 Act"  means the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954  

"Authorised Use"  means use for the purposes prescribed under the Leisure 

Agreement  

"Conducting Media"  
means all pipes, wires, cables, sewers, tanks, cisterns, 

pumps, ducts, drains and other service conducting 

media now or at any time during the Term [in, under, over 

or on the Retained Land  and] serving the Premises and 

other adjoining land whether for gas, foul and surface 

water drainage, water, electricity, telephone, 

telecommunications or any other service to the Premises  

"this Lease"  means this deed as varied or supplemented by any 

document which is supplemental to this deed  

"Leisure Agreement"  means the agreement (and any agreement made 

supplemental to or in variation thereof from time to time) 

entered on today's date between (1) the Landlord and (2) 

the Tenant relating to the provision of [a] leisure centre[s] 

with ancillary uses at the Premises  

["Leisure Operator"  means [insert name and company number]]  

"Plan"  means the plan annexed  

"Planning Acts"  means the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended), the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Planning (Hazardous 

Substances) Act 1990 and the Planning (Consequential 

Provisions) Act 1990 and all secondary legislation 

including but not limited to the Town and Country 

(General Permitted Development) Order 1995  

"Premises" means the land and buildings at [                    ] shown [edged red] on 

the Plan together with all buildings, additions, alterations, 

improvements, and landlord's fixtures and fittings at the 

Pack Page 364



 

99120273.1\kp07                215  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

same from time to time as the same forms part of the 

land registered at the Land  

Registry under title number [                    ]  

["Retained Land"] means [the adjoining or neighbouring land of the Landlord being 

the land registered at the Land Registry under title 

number [                    ] but excluding the  

Premises and a copy of the title plan to title number [                    

] is attached to this Lease]  

 "Services"  means foul and surface water, drainage, gas, electricity,  

telephone, telecommunications and other services to or 

on the Premises [and the Retained Land]  

"Term" means the term of years from and including the date hereof and terminating 

on the [                    ] day of [                    ] 20[                    ]  

being the Expiry Date as defined in the Leisure 

Agreement  

["Underlease" means the underlease relating to the Premises to be granted by the 

Tenant to the Leisure Operator in the agreed form]  

 "Yearly Rent"  means £1 (one pound) per annum (if demanded)  

2. INTERPRETATION  

2.1 The expression "the Landlord" shall include the person for the time being 

entitled to the reversion immediately expectant on the determination of the 

Term while the expression "the Tenant" shall include the Tenant's 

successors in title and assigns.  

2.2 Subject to and without prejudice to Clause 27 (Change in Law) of the 

Leisure Agreement, in this Lease references to any statute or statutory 

provision shall be deemed to refer to any statutory modification or re-

enactment for the time being in force whether by statute or any directives 

and regulations (intended to have direct application within the United 

Kingdom) adopted by the Council of the European Communities.  

2.3 The headings are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in 

construing the terms and provisions of this Lease.  

2.4 References in this Lease to any Clause or sub-Clause, schedule or 

paragraph of a schedule without further designation shall be construed as a 

reference to the Clause, sub-Clause, schedule or paragraph of the schedule 

to this Lease so numbered.  

2.5 Where there is any inconsistency between the terms of the Leisure 

Agreement and this Lease the Leisure Agreement shall prevail.  

3. DEMISE AND RENT  

Pack Page 365



 

99120273.1\kp07                216  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

In consideration of the rents and covenants on the part of the Tenant reserved and 

contained in this Lease the Landlord DEMISES to the Tenant with full title guarantee 

ALL THOSE the Premises TOGETHER WITH the rights set out in Schedule 2 

EXCEPTING AND RESERVING nevertheless unto the Landlord the rights and 

matters set out in Schedule 1 TO HOLD the same to the Tenant for the Term but 

determinable as provided later in this Lease YIELDING AND PAYING the Yearly 

Rent throughout the Term if and when demanded.  

4. TENANT'S COVENANTS  

The Tenant covenants with the Landlord as follows:   

4.1 To Pay Rent  

To pay the Yearly Rent reserved in Clause 3.  

4.2 Signs  

Save where necessary to comply with its obligations under the Leisure Agreement 

not to affix, place or exhibit or permit or suffer to be affixed, placed or exhibited to or 

upon the exterior of any part of the Premises or to or through any windows or to or 

upon any boundary wall rail or fence at the Premises any sign, placard, poster, 

signboard or other advertisement save as may have been previously approved in 

writing by the Landlord such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  

4.3 Planning  

Subject to the terms of the Leisure Agreement not to do anything in breach of the 

Planning Acts and to give as soon as reasonably practicable full particulars to the 

Landlord of any notice, proposal or order issued under the Planning Acts in respect 

of or affecting the Premises.  

4.4 User  

Not to use or permit or suffer the Premises to be used otherwise than for the 

Authorised Use.  

4.5 Notices  

4.5.1 To transmit as soon as reasonably practicable to the Landlord the original 

or a full and accurate copy of any notice concerning the Premises which is 

received by the Tenant.  

4.5.2 As soon as reasonably practicable to give notice to the Landlord upon 

becoming aware of any defect or need of repair or renewal arising to the 

Premises which might result in the Landlord becoming liable to third parties 

by reason of the provisions of the Defective Premises Act 1972.  

4.6 Alienation  

[Subject to Clause 4.6.2:]   

Pack Page 366



 

99120273.1\kp07                217  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

4.6.1 not to assign, underlet, charge, part with the possession or share the 

possession, use or occupation of the whole or any part or parts of the 

Premises nor enter into a binding agreement to do any of the same;  

4.6.2 [the Landlord consents to the Tenant granting the Underlease to the Leisure 

Operator].   

4.7 To Yield Up  

To yield up the Premises in accordance with the provisions of the Leisure Agreement 

provided that the Landlord may treat as abandoned by the Tenant any property not 

removed by the Tenant prior to the expiration of the Term and may as agent of the 

Tenant (and the Landlord is hereby irrevocably appointed by the Tenant to act in 

that capacity) arrange for the removal and destruction or sale of the same after 

having given the Tenant at least 28 days' prior written notice of its intention to carry 

out such removal and destruction and having given the Tenant reasonable 

opportunity within such notice period to remove any such property.  

5. LANDLORD'S COVENANT  

The Landlord covenants with the Tenant that the Tenant shall and may peaceably 

and quietly hold and enjoy the Premises during the Term without any interruption by 

the Landlord or any person rightfully claiming under or in trust for the Landlord.  

6. PROVISOS AGREEMENTS AND DECLARATIONS  

Provided always and it is hereby expressly agreed as follows:  

6.1 Remedies  

Any breach of the covenants and obligations in this Lease by the Tenant shall be 

dealt with by way of Clause 6.2 and the remedies specified in the Leisure 

Agreement.  

6.2 Early Termination of the Term  

If the Leisure Agreement is terminated or determines for any reason in accordance 

with the terms of the Leisure Agreement then this Lease shall automatically 

determine on the same date without any further notice being served under this 

Lease but without prejudice to any claim by either party against the other in respect 

of any antecedent breach of any covenant or condition contained in this Lease and 

on such determination it shall be lawful for the Landlord at any time thereafter to re-

enter the Premises or any part of the Premises in the name of the whole.  

6.3 No implied Rights  

Save for the rights expressly granted nothing in this Lease shall by implication of 

law or otherwise operate to confer on the Tenant any easement, right or privilege 

whatsoever over or against [the Retained Land or] any other property of the Landlord 

Pack Page 367



 

99120273.1\kp07                218  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

which might in any way restrict or prejudicially affect the future rebuilding alteration 

or development of [the Retained Land or] such other property.  

6.4 Security of Tenure - Exclusion of sections 24 to 28 of the 1954 Act  

6.4.1 The parties confirm that before the Tenant became contractually bound to 

enter into the tenancy created by this Lease:  

(a) the Landlord served a notice on the Tenant, as required by 

section 38A(3)(a) of the 1954 Act applying to the tenancy created 

by this Lease; and  

(b) [the Tenant] / [name of declarant who was duly authorised by the  

Tenant to do so] made a [statutory] declaration dated [                    ] 

in accordance with the requirements of section 38A(3)(b) of the 

1954 Act.  

6.4.2 The parties agree that the provisions of sections 24 to 28 of the 1954 Act 

are excluded in relation to the tenancy created by this Lease.  

6.5 Notices  

The service and receipt of notices shall be undertaken in accordance with the terms 

of the Leisure Agreement.  

6.6 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999  

A person who is not a party to this Lease shall not have any rights under or in 

connection with this Lease by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 

1999.  

6.7 Landlord and Tenant (Covenants) Act 1995  

This Lease creates a new tenancy for the purposes of the Landlord and Tenant 

(Covenants) Act 1995.  

6.8 Warranty on Use  

Nothing in this Lease constitutes or shall constitute a representation or warranty that 

the Premises may lawfully be used for any purpose allowed by this Lease.  

6.9 Local Authority Landlord's Capacity and Powers  

The Landlord enters into this Lease solely in its capacity as a landowner in respect 

of the Premises and not in any other capacity.  Nothing in this Lease shall restrict 

the Landlord's powers or rights as a local authority, local planning authority or 

statutory body to perform any of its statutory functions.  

THIS LEASE is executed as a deed and is delivered on the date stated at the beginning of 

this Lease.  

Pack Page 368



 

99120273.1\kp07                219  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

   

Pack Page 369



 

99120273.1\kp07                220  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 1 EXCEPTIONS AND RESERVATIONS  

1. [The free and uninterrupted passage and running of Services to and from the 

Retained Land in and through the Conducting Media which now are or may at any 

time hereafter during the Term be in, upon, through, under or over the Premises.]  

2. [The right to maintain in, on, through, under or over the Premises at any time during 

the Term any easements or services for the benefit of the Retained Land, the right 

to connect into any Conducting Media on the Premises and the right to install and 

construct Conducting Media at the Premises to serve any part of the Retained Land.]  

3. The right at any time during the Term in accordance with the conditions for such 

entry included within the Leisure Agreement or otherwise (if no such conditions 

apply) at reasonable times and after reasonable prior written notice (except in an 

emergency when no notice shall be required) to enter upon the Premises to:  

3.1 [inspect, maintain, relay, repair, replace or renew or execute any works whatever to 

or in connection with any of the Conducting Media easements or Services referred 

to in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Schedule 1;]  

3.2 [carry out any cleaning and or maintenance of the Landlord's Retained Land; or]  

3.3 exercise any of the rights granted or reserved to the Landlord by this Lease or the 

Leisure Agreement,  

the Landlord exercising such rights only if such works cannot reasonably be effected 

without such entry and causing as little inconvenience as possible and remedying 

any physical damage so caused to the Tenant's reasonable satisfaction.  

4. [All liberties, privileges, easements, quasi-easements, rights and advantages 

whatsoever now held or enjoyed with or appertaining or reputed to appertain to any 

other part of the Retained Land provided always that those matters or any of them 

reserved pursuant to this paragraph do not materially interfere with the Tenant's 

proper performance and exercise of its obligations and rights contained in the 

Leisure Agreement.]  

5. [The right to deal in any manner whatsoever with the Retained Land and to erect, 

maintain, rebuild or alter or suffer to be erected, maintained, rebuilt or altered 

thereon any buildings whatsoever.]  

6. [The right of support and protection by and from the Premises for adjoining buildings 

(whether now in existence or erected during the term) situated on the Retained 

Land.]  

7. The mines and minerals under the Premises and the airspace above the buildings 

on the Premises.  

  

Pack Page 370



 

99120273.1\kp07            
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 2 RIGHTS GRANTED TO THE TENANT  

1. [The right of support and protection by and from the Retained Land for the Premises 

and buildings (whether now in existence or erected during the term) situated on the 

Premises.]  

2. [The free and uninterrupted passage and running of Services to and from the 

Premises in and through the Conducting Media which now are or may at any time 

hereafter during the Term be in, upon, through, under or over the Retained Land.]  

3. [The right at any time during the Term in accordance with the conditions for such 

entry included within the Leisure Agreement or otherwise (if no such conditions 

apply) at reasonable times and after reasonable prior written notice (except in an 

emergency when no notice shall be required) to enter upon the Retained Land to:  

3.1 inspect, maintain, relay, repair, replace or renew or execute any works whatever to 

or in connection with any of the Conducting Media, easements or Services referred 

to in paragraph 2 of this Schedule 2;   

3.2 carry out any cleaning and or maintenance of the Premises; or    

3.3 exercise any of the rights granted or reserved to the tenant by this Lease or the 

Leisure Agreement,  

the Tenant exercising such rights only if such works cannot reasonably be effected 

without such entry and causing as little inconvenience as possible and remedying 

any physical damage so caused to the Landlord's reasonable satisfaction.]  

  

    

223  

Pack Page 371



 

99120273.1\kp07            
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Executed as a Deed (but not delivered until the 

date of this Deed) by affixing the common seal 

of [NAME OF LOCAL AUTHORITY]  

in the presence of      

    

…………………………………………..  ………………………………………  

Full Name  Authorised Signature  

 
Common Seal  

  

  

  

Executed as a Deed (but not delivered until  the 

date of this Deed) by [                    ]  acting by  

   

…………………………………………..  

Full Name (Director)  

………………………………………  

Signature of Director  

    

…………………………………………..  

Full Name (Director/Secretary)  

  

………………………………………  

Signature of Director/Secretary  

224  

  

SCHEDULE 17 – BENCHMARKING  

The terms and expressions used in this Schedule 17 (Benchmarking) shall have 

the same meaning as set out in Clause 1 (Definitions and Interpretation). The 

following words and expressions shall have the meanings set out below:  

  

 Benchmark Consultant  means:  

  an expert appointed by agreement between the parties 

who:  

(a) possesses  at  least  five 

 years’ experience of operating in, or as 

a consultant to, the leisure and sports 

facilities management industries;  

(b) possesses  at  least  five 

 years’ experience of valuing services 

Pack Page 372



 

 

provided in the aforementioned industries; 

and  

(c) is engaged or employed by a reputable 

independent leisure organisation which is 

independent of the parties and of any 

other operator,   

or, in the absence of any such agreement:   

(i) a person appointed by such other 

mutually agreed professional body 

or, where the parties cannot agree 

on such person;  

(ii) such other competent person who 

is appointed by an  

Adjudicator,  

provided that the person appointed is 

independent of the parties and satisfies 

the criteria set out in (a) to (c) of this 

definition  

Comparable Market  the market for sports facilities of similar content to 

the Facilities operated by Reputable  

 Operators provided that at least three such facilities are considered and at least 

one of the three facilities is operated by a 

different Reputable Operator to the other two  

 Hard FM  any maintenance of a lifecycle nature provided  

 99120273.1\kp07            225  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Pack Page 373



 

 

  

by the Operator Partner  

Soft FM Benchmarking 
Process  

Reputable Operator  

  

Soft FM Benchmarking 
Date  

Soft FM Benchmarking  

Procedure  

  

Soft FM Benchmarking  

Proposal  

  

Soft FM Services  

Tested Period  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

the procedure to establish the Revised Soft FM 
Costs  as set out and described in this Schedule 
17 (Benchmarking)  

a reputable private sector leisure/sports facilities 

operator or trust leisure/sports facilities operator 

possessing a broadly comparable degree of 

skill, resources and financial standing as the 

Operator Partner has the meaning given to it in 

paragraph 1.1  

the process set out in this Schedule   

  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1.2  

  

the Services to be procured at the Facilities by the 
Operator Partner to satisfy the Services  
Specification, excluding Hard FM  

  

the five years immediately preceding the   

relevant Soft FM Benchmarking Date  

  

 

Pack Page 374



 

99120273.1\kp07                225  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

99120273.1\kp07    226  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

  

1. SOFT FM BENCHMARKING PROCESS  

1.1 The Authority shall be entitled to undertake a Soft FM Benchmarking Process once 

during the terms of this Agreement, with such process beginning on or around the 

fifth anniversary of: (i) this Agreement; or (ii) the previous Soft FM Benchmarking 

Date, as the case may be (in either case, the Soft FM Benchmarking Date).  

1.2 If the Authority, by notice in writing to the Operator Partner, states that it wishes to 

undertake a Soft FM Benchmarking Process, then the Operator Partner shall supply 

a proposal (Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal) which shall be a proposal containing 

the following information on a per Facility basis:  

1.2.1 details of all Actual FM Costs for the Tested Period, broken down into the 

categories defined in the LOBTA;  

1.2.2 full details set out on a monthly basis for the Tested Period and on an annual 

basis for the immediately preceding seven year period of the Performance 

Failures under Error! Reference source not found. (PPM) in relation to 

Soft FM Services, and all mitigatory steps that have been taken by the 

Operator Partner;  

1.2.3 the proposed Revised Soft FM Costs; and  

1.2.4 details of the assumptions used in calculating the Base Modelled Income 

and Base Modelled Cost and the current status of those assumptions.  

1.3 By a date that is two (2) months after receipt of the Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal, 

or such longer period as the parties, acting reasonably, shall agree, the Authority 

shall respond to the Operator Partner stating either:  

1.3.1 that it requires further information which is reasonably required to enable 

the Authority to have a clear understanding of the Soft FM Benchmarking 

Proposal. If, within fifteen (15) Business Days of the Authority’s response, 

the parties are unable to agree on the extent of any further information 

required, either party may appoint a Benchmark Consultant in accordance 

with the provisions of this Part 2.  Upon receipt of such further information 

the Authority shall assess the details and respond to the Operator Partner 

pursuant to paragraph 1.3.2 within twenty Business Days of receipt of such 

information; or   

1.3.2 that:  

(a) it accepts the Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal (together with further 

information provided by the Operator Partner pursuant to paragraph 

Pack Page 375



 

99120273.1\kp07                226  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

1.3.1, if applicable) and that it will amend the Annual Payment in 

accordance with the provisions of paragraph 4 (Implementation); or  

(b) it does not accept the Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal (together 

with further information provided by the Operator Partner pursuant  

to paragraph 1.3.1, if applicable). In these circumstances, the 

parties shall consult in good faith in an attempt to come to an 

agreement in relation to the Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal within 

twenty Business Days of the date of the Authority’s response. If, 

following such consultation, an agreement is reached by the parties, 

the Annual Payment shall be adjusted in accordance with the 

provisions of paragraph 4 (Implementation). If the parties have not 

come to an agreement, the Authority may notify the Operator 

Partner that it does not accept the Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal 

and the parties shall appoint a Benchmark Consultant in 

accordance with the provisions of this Part 3 of this Schedule 17 

(Benchmarking). Nothing shall prevent either party from seeking to 

agree a change to the Services Specification applicable to the Soft 

FM Services in accordance with the Change Protocol in which case 

such process shall run concurrently with this process.  

1.4 If the Authority fails to respond to the Operator Partner within the relevant time 

prescribed by paragraph 1.3 then the Authority shall be deemed to have accepted 

the Soft FM Benchmark Proposal and the Annual Payment shall be adjusted in 

accordance therewith.  

1.5 If the Operator Partner fails to issue a Soft FM Benchmark Proposal in accordance 

with the process described above, or issues a Soft FM Benchmark Proposal which 

is not a good faith attempt to comply with the intention of the Soft FM Benchmarking 

Process, the Authority may appoint a Benchmark Consultant in accordance with 

paragraph 2 and the Operator Partner shall be responsible for all of the costs 

resulting from such appointment.  

2. BENCHMARK CONSULTANT  

2.1 At the same time as seeking to agree the appointment of the Benchmark  

Consultant pursuant to this Part 3, the parties shall:  

2.1.1 obtain a cost estimate from the prospective Benchmark Consultant prior to 

the appointment of the same;  

2.1.2 notify the Benchmark Consultant that it is to act fairly and reasonably as 

between the Operator Partner and the Authority;  

2.1.3 ensure that all parties are aware of the date(s) by which decisions and 

reports are required; and  

2.1.4 agree the terms of reference for the Soft FM Benchmarking Process based 

on those set out in paragraph Schedule 172.2 of this Part 3,  

Pack Page 376



 

99120273.1\kp07                227  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

and any failure to do so shall entitle either party to submit the dispute to the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure.   

  

2.2 The Benchmark Consultant shall take into account the terms of reference for the 

Soft FM Benchmarking Process based on the criteria and factors set out in 

paragraph 0. The Benchmark Consultant shall benchmark on a like for like 

comparison basis, supported wherever possible by actual inputs from the 

Comparable Market, with the objective being in each case to determine what the 

Benchmark Consultant concludes the Revised Soft FM Costs should be for the 

purposes of any adjustment to the Annual Payment pursuant to paragraph 4 

(Implementation). In making this conclusion, the Benchmarking Consultant shall 

take into account the following factors (which shall be included in his terms of 

reference):  

2.2.1 the then current market-rate for Soft FM Services which are the same as, or 

similar to the Soft FM Services;   

2.2.2 the efficiencies which could be driven by bidders for the Soft FM Services 

taking into account, amongst other things, the costs of defaults and failures 

during the Tested Period which could be eliminated by a new provider of 

such services;   

2.2.3 efficiencies and best practice which could be introduced by a new provider 

of the Soft FM Services given current best practice.  

2.2.4 current labour rates and staffing costs at all levels (allowing for any regional 

variations) for the time being applying within the Comparable Market;   

2.2.5 cost variations in consumables and other materials used in the provision of 

the Soft FM Services;   

2.2.6 the age, specification and condition of the buildings comprising the Facilities 

and quality and availability of any on site hotel/ serviced accommodation 

serving the Facilities (based upon the assumption that they are being 

maintained in accordance with the Services Specification);  

2.2.7 the cost of any changes in work methods necessary for conformity with 

Quest  accreditation  (or  equivalent  or  successor 

 accreditation requirements), Good Industry Practice or Legislation 

including the impact of consequential additional capital investment;  

2.2.8 the terms and provisions of this Agreement and other agreements to which 

the Operator Partner is a party in relation to this Project;   

2.2.9 the range of services available within each Facility;  

2.2.10 information on the legal and taxation status of the organisations running 

leisure centres within the Comparable Market (including without limitation 

information as to whether the entities are not for profit organisations);   

2.2.11 information available from benchmark data collectors and distributors;  

Pack Page 377



 

99120273.1\kp07                228  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

2.2.12 proposals of the Operator Partner in relation to the Revised Soft FM Costs; 

and  

2.2.13 such other criteria or terms of reference as the parties may agree (acting 

reasonably) when appointing and instructing the Benchmark Consultant,  

provided always that all changes to be measured by the Benchmark Consultant 

pursuant to this paragraph 2 (Benchmark Consultant) shall be measured with 

reference to other local authority facilities offering similar services to the Soft FM 

Services in the Comparable Market during the time of the Tested Period and any 

other relevant resources.  

2.3 All discussions with the Benchmark Consultant will be attended by a representative 

from each party.  

2.4 Subject to paragraph 1.5, the parties shall bear their own costs, fees and expenses 

associated with the preparation, review and analysis of the Soft FM Benchmarking 

Process provided always that the Benchmark Consultant shall be paid his 

reasonable and proper costs in connection with the carrying out of his duties 

pursuant to the terms of his appointment and subject to paragraph 1.5 such costs 

shall be borne equally between the parties.  

3. BENCHMARKING REPORT AND RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES  

3.1 The Benchmark Consultant shall provide his final report (FM Benchmarking 

Report) as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any event, within not more than 

three months of his appointment and shall deliver a copy of the Income 

Benchmarking Report to each of the Authority and the Operator Partner.   

3.2 The Benchmark Consultant shall provide in the FM Benchmarking Report full 

supporting evidence of the assumptions, source of market pricing information and 

conclusions reached.  

3.3 The FM Benchmarking Report shall contain as a minimum details of:   

3.3.1 the proposed Revised Soft FM Costs income and costs in relation to each 

Facility, separately specifying any proposed consequential adjustment to 

the Annual Payment;  

3.3.2 the methodology and all assumptions by which the Revised Soft FM Costs 

were determined;   

3.3.3 assumptions made in respect of the Comparable Market;   

3.3.4 how the representations made by each party have been taken into account 

in determining the Revised Soft FM Costs, and shall include full details of 

issues and comments raised by both parties;  

3.3.5 full evidence to support the difference between: (i) the current costs in 

relation to Soft FM or Operator Partner’s Revised Soft FM Costs and; (ii) the 

Revised Soft FM Costs set out in the Benchmarking Report;  

Pack Page 378



 

99120273.1\kp07                229  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.3.6 full evidence in support of each of the criteria used to determine the Revised 

Soft FM Costs;  

3.3.7 full details of sources of information used in establishing the Revised Soft 

FM Costs;    

3.3.8 in respect of each component of the Revised Soft FM Costs, a breakdown 

of how each is comprised;   

3.3.9 costs of the Operator Partner’s staff including management or otherwise;  

3.3.10 details of the Operator Partner’s management and head office overhead 

costs;   

3.3.11 any efficiencies and innovations in Good Industry Practice and Sport 

England Guidance relevant to the delivery of the Soft FM Services at each 

Facility; and   

3.3.12 such other details as the parties may agree when appointing and instructing 

the Benchmark Consultant or which the Benchmark Consultant considers 

relevant.   

3.4 The Authority and the Operator Partner shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure 

the Benchmark Consultant complies with its obligations under its appointment and, 

in particular, to produce the Benchmarking Report on the due date under the 

appointment.   

3.5 Both parties shall within 20 Business Days of receiving the Benchmarking Report 

serve notice on the other party setting out whether or not it agrees with the Revised 

Soft FM Costs set out in the Benchmarking Report.  

3.6 In the event that the parties agree with the Revised Soft FM Costs, the Annual 

Payment will be adjusted in accordance with paragraph 4 (Implementation).  

3.7 In the event that neither party issues a notice disagreeing with the Revised Soft FM 

Costs within 20 Business Days of receiving the Benchmarking Report, unless either 

party requests in writing to the other that such period be extended, both parties shall 

be deemed to have approved the Revised Soft FM Costs and the Annual Payment 

will be adjusted in accordance with paragraph 4 (Implementation).   

3.8 In the event that either party disagrees with the Revised Soft FM Costs within the 

prescribed time period (or as extended by agreement between the parties) it shall 

include in its notice to the other party its reasons for disputing such Revised Soft FM 

Costs and paragraph 3.9 shall apply.  

3.9 If paragraph 3.8 applies and/or where the Authority does not agree with one or more 

other aspects of the relevant Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal, the Authority and the 

Operator Partner shall meet as soon as practicable and negotiate in good faith to 

agree the appropriate Revised Soft FM Cost and/or the contents of such Soft FM 

Benchmarking Proposal..  

Pack Page 379



 

99120273.1\kp07                230  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.10 In circumstances where, notwithstanding the parties’ efforts pursuant to paragraph 

3.9, the parties are unable to agree the Revised Soft FM Costs and/or any other 

aspect of the Soft FM Benchmarking Proposal, then either party may refer the  

matter for determination by the Dispute Resolution Procedure. For the purposes of 

this paragraph 3.10, the party referring the dispute shall instruct the Adjudicator (as 

defined in the Dispute Resolution Procedure) to determine the dispute in 

accordance with the terms of this Schedule 17 (Benchmarking).  

3.11 Once the Revised Soft FM Costs, and any other elements of the relevant Soft FM 

Benchmark Proposal are agreed or determined, paragraph 4 (Implementation) shall 

apply.  

4. IMPLEMENTATION  

4.1 Subject to paragraph 4.1, when the Revised Soft FM Costs and any other terms of 

the relevant Soft FM Benchmark Proposal is agreed, the parties shall seek to agree 

the any variations to this Agreement, including to the Annual Payment, required in 

order to reflect such agreement or determination. Any change in the Annual 

Payment shall be effective from the Benchmarking Date and, accordingly, 

backdated to such date there shall be no double counting or double recovery by the 

Operator Partner, and the Operator Partner may not propose Revised Soft FM Costs 

which represent an increase in the then current costs of providing the Soft FM 

Services.  

4.2 [Appendix 1 to this Schedule 17 (Benchmarking) comprises a worked example of 

how the Soft FM Benchmarking Process is intended to work]  

   

Pack Page 380



 

99120273.1\kp07                231  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 18- SURPLUS SHARE  

1. This Schedule shall be applied to calculate the overall Excess Surplus/Deficit 

generated as a result of the management of the Facilities.  

2. Subject to paragraph 6, within three (3) months of the end of each Contract Year 

following the Commencement Date the Operator Partner shall provide to the 

Authority a calculation of the Operating Surplus/Deficit and Excess Surplus/Deficit 

for the previous Contract Year, subject to the calculation being audited by the 

Operator Partner's auditors if an audited calculation cannot be provided within the 

required timescale. The calculation shall be in the form of a statement and certificate 

signed by the Operator Partner's auditors or another registered auditor (Operating 

Surplus Statement) confirming the figures for Income and  

Expenditure and presented in the same format as in the Leisure Operator's Base 

Trading Account and setting out details of the Operating Surplus/Deficit and Excess 

Surplus/Deficit for that previous Contract Year.  

3. The Operating Surplus/Deficit for each Contract Year, as set out in each Operating 

Surplus Statement, shall be calculated in accordance with the formula:  

OS/D = A – B, where:  

OS/Dmeans the Operating Surplus/Deficit for the relevant Contract Year  

A means the Income received by and/or due to the Operator Partner in relation 

to the Services during the relevant Contract Year   

B means all the Expenditure actually paid (or incurred but not paid) by the 

Operator Partner during the relevant Contract Year.   

4. The Excess Surplus/Deficit (ES/D) shall be calculated in accordance with the 

formula:  

ES/D = OS/D – the Operator Partner's Projected Surplus  

5. Where the Operating Surplus Statement shows an Excess Surplus, the Excess 

Surplus in respect of that Contract Year shall be divided between the parties 

according to the following table.  

Excess Surplus  Authority %5  Operator Partner %  

Up to £100,000  

  

    

£100,001 to £150,000  

  

    

Above £150,000      

  

6. Any dispute between the parties regarding the Operating Surplus Statement shall 

be dealt with in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.  

  

 
5 Table to be populated based on bidder’s submission  

Pack Page 381



 

99120273.1\kp07                232  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

7. Following agreement or as determined in accordance with paragraph 6, the 

Authority's share of any Excess Surplus shall be used at the discretion of the 

Authority.  

8. The Operator Partner shall pay the Authority's share of the Excess Surplus to the 

Authority within thirty (30) Business Days of agreement or determination.  

9. For the purpose of this Schedule the following terms shall have the following 

meanings:  

Base Modelled Income the annual operating income (Indexed) that is projected to 

be earned in relation to the Facilities by the Operator 

Partner as shown in row [X] of the 'summary' worksheet 

of the LOBTA6  

 Base Head Office  in relation to the Facilities an amount (Indexed) which is  

Costs [X%] of the Base Modelled Income shown in row [X] of the 'summary' 

worksheet of the LOBTA7  

Base Profit in relation to the Facilities an amount (Indexed) which is [X%] of the 

Base Modelled Income shown in row [X] of the 'summary' 

worksheet of the LOBTA  

Excess Surplus/Deficit the excess profit or deficit for the year, calculated as  

 or ES/D  per paragraph 4  

Expenditure the amount of direct costs and expenditure actually paid (or incurred 

but not paid) by the Operator Partner during the relevant 

Contract Year in respect of the Services [including any 

Surplus Annual Payment] but excluding:  

(a) any sums paid in respect of a previous Contract 

Year;  

(b) any Performance Adjustments levied through 

the terms of Schedule 5 (PPM  

(c) any Operator Partner Profit; and  

(d) any Head Office Costs  

Head Office Costs an amount which is a fixed amount of the income received by 

the Operator Partner in respect of the Services, 

calculated as [X%]8 of the Income for the relevant 

Contract Year  

  
 

 
6 Figures and row references to be inserted by the Operator Partner at financial close based on the agreed LOBTA  7 

Figures and row references to be inserted by the Operator Partner at financial close based on the agreed LOBTA. 8 

Row reference to be inserted by the Operator Partner at financial close based on the agreed LOBTA.  

Pack Page 382



 

99120273.1\kp07                233  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Income  means the actual operating income of the Operator 

Partner (or its Sub Operator Partner (without double 

counting)) in the operation of the Facilities (including any 

Annual Payment where it is a Deficit Annual Payment 

actually received by the Operator Partner in respect of 

the Services in respect of the relevant Contract Year) but 

excluding any sums received in respect of a previous 

Contract Year  

Operator Partner  

Profit  
an amount which is a fixed amount of the income 

received by the Operator Partner in respect of the 

Services, calculated as [X%] 7  of the Income for the 

relevant Contract Year  

Operator Partner's 

Projected Surplus  
the greater of the amount projected in the LOBTA, 

calculated in accordance with the definition of "Base 

Profit" plus "Base Head Office Costs" and the sum of 

"Operator Partner Profit" plus "Head Office Costs" for the 

relevant Contract Year  

Operating  

Surplus/Deficit or  

OS/D  

has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 3  

Operating Surplus  

Statement  

  

  

has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 2  

   

 
7 Percentage to be inserted by the Operator Partner at financial close based on the agreed LOBTA.  

Pack Page 383



 

99120273.1\kp07                234  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 19 - EQUALITY REQUIREMENTS  

1. The Operator Partner (including its agents and employees) shall not, and shall 

procure that any Operator Partner Related Party shall not:  

1.1 discriminate directly or indirectly, or by way of victimisation or harassment, against 

any person on Protected Characteristics; or  

1.2 contravene Sections 39, 108 to 109 and 111 to 112 of the Equality Act 2010 and 

Section 24A of the Equality Act 2006 (or any of them), where appropriate.  

2. The Operator Partner (including its agents and employees) shall, and shall procure 

that any Operator Partner Related Party shall, for purposes of ensuring compliance 

with paragraphs 1.1 to 1.2, in relation to staff engaged in the provision of Works or 

Services observe as far as possible the provisions of:  

2.1 the Equality and Human Rights Commission Code of Practice in Employment;  

2.2 the Equality and Human Rights Commission's Statutory Code of Practice on Equal 

Pay; and  

2.3 any other relevant code of practice introduced by a commission or other body set 

up by Parliament to promote, monitor and enforce Equalities Legislation,   

including, but not limited to, those provisions recommending the adoption, 

implementation and monitoring of an equal opportunities policy.  

3. The Operator Partner shall, and shall procure that any Operator Partner Related 

Party shall, in performing its/their obligations under this Agreement, comply (to the 

extent permitted by law) with the provisions of sections 149 and 150 of the Equality 

Act 2010 as if they were a body within the meaning of Schedule 19 to the Equality 

Act 2010.  

4. Where in connection with this Agreement the Operator Partner (including its agents 

and employees) or any Operator Partner Related Party are required to carry out 

work on the Authority's premises or alongside the Authority's employees on any 

other premises, they shall comply with the Authority's own employment policy and 

codes of practice relating to discrimination and equal opportunities.  

5. The Operator Partner shall, and shall procure that any Operator Partner Related 

Party shall, notify the Authority's Representative forthwith in writing as soon as it 

becomes aware of any investigation of or proceedings brought against the Operator 

Partner or any Operator Partner Related Party under the Equalities Legislation.  

6. Where any investigation is undertaken by a person or body empowered to conduct 

such investigation and/or proceedings are instituted in connection with any matter 

relating to the Operator Partner's performance of its obligations under this  

Agreement being in contravention of the Equalities Legislation, the Operator  

Partner shall, and shall procure that any Operator Partner Related Party shall, free 

of charge:  

6.1 provide any information requested in the timescale allotted;  

Pack Page 384



 

99120273.1\kp07                235  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

6.2 attend any meetings as required and permit any of its staff to attend;  

6.3 promptly allow access to and investigation of any documents or data deemed to be 

relevant;  

6.4 allow itself and any of its staff to appear as witness in any ensuing proceedings; and  

6.5 co-operate fully and promptly in every way required by the person or body 

conducting such investigation during the course of that investigation.   

Pack Page 385



 

99120273.1\kp07                236  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 20 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION  

PART 1 - COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS  

  

Column 1 - Commercially Sensitive  

Contractual Provisions    

Column 2 - For period ending on date 

below:  

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

  

PART 2 - COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE MATERIAL  

  

Column 1 - Commercially Sensitive  

Material  

Column 2 - For period ending on date 

below  :  

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

  

  

  

  

SCHEDULE 21 - LOSS OF REVENUE  

1. Subject to the provisions of this Schedule 21 (Loss of Revenue), any Loss of 

Revenue shall be calculated in respect of each relevant activity by determining the 

anticipated daily Revenue for the relevant activity in question for the period in 

question (Anticipated Daily Revenue) and deducting from that sum the actual daily 

revenue received for the relevant activity in question for the period in question.  

2. The Authority shall be entitled to audit, at frequent intervals, actual Revenue 

received by the Leisure Operator at the Facilities.  

3. The Anticipated Daily Revenue for each activity in respect of the Service Period can 

be calculated by reference to the LOBTA and will be indexed in accordance with 

Schedule 5.  

4. The Operator Partner shall at all times use all endeavours to minimise and mitigate 

any loss of Revenue and the consequences of any Relevant Event or Loss of 

Pack Page 386



 

99120273.1\kp07                237  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Revenue Event which shall include addressing variable costs and making 

appropriate cost adjustments.  Mitigation shall not include a reduction in Loss of 

Revenue based on an assessment of whether the prescribed rate for each area 

would have actually been achieved during the closure period in question.  

5. In calculating any Loss of Revenue, the Operator Partner shall not be entitled to 

recover, as Loss of Revenue, any greater amount than the level of Revenue which 

it is projected to recover calculated by reference to the LOBTA.  

6. The loss of membership revenue shall be equivalent to the price reduction given to 

the User in lieu of the relevant closures, to be agreed between the Operator Partner 

and the Authority in line with sensible commercial practice, plus the loss of 

membership revenue caused by membership cancellations during the closure 

period that are not replaced by membership revenue from new sales.  

7. [In the circumstances where the Loss of Revenue is triggered by a Relevant Event 

and a period of six (6) months has elapsed from the occurrence of such Relevant 

Event, the amount of daily rate recoverable by the Operator Partner shall be reduced 

by [x]%8 to remove the Operator Partner's profit from the calculation of the Loss of 

Revenue.]  

8. Compensation may be paid as follows  

8.1 Loss of Revenue Event  

The Authority shall (at its discretion) compensate the Operator Partner in respect of 

any Loss of Revenue arising from a Loss of Revenue Event by:  

8.1.1 lump sum payment  

8.1.2 instalments; or  

  
8.1.3 pursuant to Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments).  

8.2 Relevant Event  

The Authority shall compensate the Operator Partner in respect of any Loss of 

Revenue arising from a Relevant Event pursuant to Clause 37 (Financial 

Adjustments).  

   

 
8 Figure to be inserted by the Operator Partner at financial close based on the agreed LOBTA if agreed.  Bidders will want to be kept in a 
no better and no worse position in the LOBTA.  

Pack Page 387



 

99120273.1\kp07                238  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 22 - CHANGE PROTOCOL  

PART 1 - DEFINITIONS  

Affordable  within the revenue resource parameters determined by 

the Authority and notified in writing by it to the Operator 

Partner as available for a proposed High Value Change  

Approval Criteria  has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.4 of Part 4 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Approved Project  has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.5.2(a) of Part 

4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Assumed  

Redevelopment  
 the  assumed  features  of  the  Farnborough  

Redevelopment (including in relation to location, 

design, facilities mix, and periods of closure) set out in 

the Specification at paragraphs 2.3.3 and 2.3.44  

Authority Change  a Small Value Change, Medium Value Change or High 

Value Change  

Authority Notice of  

Change  

a Small Value Change Notice, a Medium Value Change 

Notice or a High Value Change Notice  

Calculation Date  
the relevant date for the purposes of calculating the 
Incurred Change Management Fee in accordance with  
Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Capital Cost  in relation to any High Value Change the cost of carrying 

out the design, construction and commissioning of that 

High Value Change  

Change  a change to the Services or additional works and/or 

Services or a change in the Authority Policies or a 

partial termination pursuant to Part 6 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) that may be made under Clause 

26 (Change Protocol) or this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol)  

Change Management 

Fee  

the fee calculated in accordance with paragraph 9 of 

Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Operator Partner 

Change  
a Change that is initiated by the Operator Partner by 

submitting an Operator Partner Notice of Change to the 

Authority  

Operator Partner Notice has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1 of Part 4 of  

of Change  this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

 

Pack Page 388



 

99120273.1\kp07                239  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Estimate has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.5.1 of Part 3 of this Schedule 
22 (Change Protocol)   

Farnborough Proposals the Operator Partner’s outline proposals in relation to  

 the Farnborough Redevelopment, which are set out [  ] 

and which are based on the Assumed Redevelopment  

Farnborough 

Redevelopment  

redevelopment of Farnborough Leisure Centre   

Farnborough  

Redevelopment  

Change Notice  

a High Value Change Notice which is intended to 

implement the Farnborough Redevelopment  

High Value Change  a Change requested by the Authority that, in the 

reasonable opinion of the Authority, is likely either to 

cost in excess of [£250,000] (Indexed) or to require an 

adjustment to the Annual Payment that is 5% or more 

of the Annual Payment in the relevant Contract Year 

provided that the parties may agree that such a Change 

should instead be processed as a Medium Value 

Change. Without prejudice to the generality of this 

definition, a Change requested in relation to the 

redevelopment of Farnborough Leisure Centre shall be 

classified as a High Value Change  

High Value Change 

Notice  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1 of Part 4 of 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

High Value Change 

Proposal  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.1.1 of Part 4 

of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

High Value Change 

Requirements  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.1.2 of Part 4 

of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

High Value Change Stage 

2 Submission  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.1.1 of Part 4 

of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Incurred Change 

Management Fee  
the amounts actually incurred or payable by or on behalf 

of the Operator Partner up to the Calculation Date in 

respect of matters identified by the Operator Partner 

pursuant to paragraphs 3.2.3 and/or 4.3.7 of Part 4 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)as falling within the 

Change Management Fee (and not already reimbursed 

by the Authority)  

Medium Value Change  a Change requested by the Authority which is not a 

Small Value Change or a High Value Change provided 

that the parties may agree that such a Change should 

instead be processed as either a Small Value Change  

or as a High Value Change  

Pack Page 389



 

99120273.1\kp07                240  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Medium Value Change 

Notice  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 1 of Part 3 of 

this Schedule 22  

Resubmission 

Longstop Date  

has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.5.3(a) of Part 

4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Small Value Change  a Change which has an individual cost not exceeding 

five thousand pounds (£5,000) (Indexed), or as 

otherwise agreed from time to time, except for any 

request that would (if implemented) increase the 

likelihood of the Operator Partner failing to meet the 

Services Specification or materially and adversely 

affect the Operator Partner's ability to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement, provided that the 

parties may agree that such a Change should instead 

be processed as either a Medium Value Change  

Small Value Change 

Notice  
a request for a Small Value Change in the form 

reasonably determined by the Authority from time to 

time  

Small Works Rates  the rates to be applied in respect of any request from 

the Authority for a Small Value Change set out in limb 

(b) of that definition  

Stage 1 Approval  has the meaning given to it in paragraph 3.5 of Part 4 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Stage 1 Approved Project  
has the meaning given to it in paragraph 3.5 of Part 4 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Stage 2 Approval  has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.5.2(a) of Part 

4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Stage 2 Approved Project  
has the meaning given to it in paragraph 4.5.2(a) of Part 

4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Target Cost  has the meaning given to it in paragraph 2.1.1 of Part 4 

of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  

Whole Life Cost  in relation to any High Value Change, the estimated and 

(to the extent that such information is available) the 

actual cost of operating and maintaining that High Value 

Change over its intended design life (consistent with the 

Service Delivery Proposals)  

  

    

PART 2 - SMALL VALUE CHANGES  

1. SMALL VALUE CHANGE NOTICE  

Pack Page 390



 

99120273.1\kp07                241  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Where a Small Value Change is required by the Authority, it shall submit to the 

Operator Partner a Small Value Change Notice.  

2. OPERATOR PARTNER RESPONSE AND AUTHORITY CONFIRMATION  

2.1 Within five (5) Business Days of receipt of the Small Value Change Notice, the 

Operator Partner shall confirm in writing and in accordance with this Part 2 of this 

Schedule 22:  

2.1.1 the cost of implementing the required Small Value Change;  

2.1.2 the time period for implementing the Small Value Change; and  

2.1.3 when it is proposed the Small Value Change is to be carried out.  

2.2 The cost of implementing the required Small Value Change shall be calculated by 

reference to paragraph 3 of this Part 2 of this Schedule 22.  

2.3 Other than the costs referred to in paragraph 2.2 of this Part 2 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol) the Operator Partner shall make no charge to the Authority for 

processing, implementing or managing a Small Value Change.  

2.4 The Authority may object in writing within five (5) Business Days of receipt of the 

Operator Partner's confirmation pursuant to paragraph 2.1 of this Part 2 of this 

Schedule 22 to any part of that confirmation and in such circumstances the parties 

shall act reasonably to agree as soon as practicable how the Small Value Change 

is to be implemented. In the absence of any such notification, the Operator Partner 

shall proceed with the Small Value Change in question in accordance with the terms 

of its confirmation.  

3. SMALL VALUE CHANGES  

For the purposes of paragraph 2.2 of this Part 2 of this Schedule 22, the cost of 

implementing any Small Value Change shall be calculated on the basis that:  

3.1 wherever practicable the Operator Partner shall procure that such works are carried 

out by an existing on-site and suitably qualified Operator Partner or Operator Partner 

Related Party employee and no labour element shall be charged to the Authority in 

respect of such works. Where such Small Value Change is not carried out by an 

existing on-site and suitably qualified Operator Partner or Operator Partner Related 

Party employee, the cost of the labour element shall be calculated in accordance 

with the Small Works Rates or, where such rates are not applicable, in accordance 

with rates which are fair and reasonable; and  

3.2 the materials element shall be charged at the cost of materials to the Operator 

Partner or to the contractor carrying out the work (net of all discounts) and there 

shall be no management fee, margin, overhead, contingency or other cost applied 

in relation thereto.  

4. IMPLEMENTATION  

4.1 The Operator Partner shall implement the required Small Value Change so as to 

minimise any inconvenience to the Authority and within the timescales specified in 

Pack Page 391



 

99120273.1\kp07                242  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

the confirmation provided pursuant to paragraph 2.1 of this Part 2 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) (or agreed by the parties pursuant to paragraph 2.4 of this 

Part 2 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)).  

4.2 The Operator Partner shall notify the Authority when it believes the Small Value 

Change has been completed.  

4.3 Where the Operator Partner has either:  

4.3.1 failed to provide a response pursuant to paragraph 2.1 of this Part 2 of this  

Schedule 22 within fifteen (15) Business Days of the date of the Small Value 

Change Notice; or  

4.3.2 has provided a response pursuant to paragraph 2.1 of this Part 2 of this 

Schedule 22 but has failed to fully implement the Small Value Change within 

ten (10) Business Days of the date that has been determined or agreed in 

accordance with paragraph 4.1 of this Part 2 of this Schedule 22 as being 

the date on which the Small Value Change should have been implemented,   

then the Authority may notify the Operator Partner that the Small Value Change 

Notice is withdrawn and, following such notification, may procure the implementation 

of the Small Value Change without further recourse to the Operator Partner.  

5. PAYMENT  

5.1 Where the Small Value Change has been implemented to the satisfaction of the  

Authority acting reasonably, the Operator Partner shall include the costs of the Small 

Value Change in the next report submitted pursuant to Clause 36.4 of this 

Agreement following completion or implementation of the relevant Small Value 

Change.  

5.2 All amounts payable for Small Value Changes shall be invoiced and paid in 

accordance with the procedure described in Clause 36 (Payment) of this 

Agreement.  

6. DOCUMENTATION AND MONITORING  

6.1 No due diligence (whether legal, technical, insurance or financial) shall be required 

in relation to Small Value Changes unless otherwise agreed between the parties.  

6.2 No changes shall be made to this Agreement or any Project Document as a result 

of a Small Value Change, unless otherwise agreed between the parties.  

6.3 Where it is agreed that an adjustment of the Annual Payment is required, the LOBTA 

shall be adjusted to give effect to such Small Value Changes once each Contract 

Year on a date to be agreed between the parties and all relevant Small  

Value Changes that have occurred in the preceding Contract Year shall be 

aggregated together into a single cumulative adjustment in accordance with Clause 

37 (Financial Adjustments).  

Pack Page 392



 

99120273.1\kp07                243  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

6.4 The Operator Partner shall keep a record of all Small Value Changes processed, 

completed and outstanding and shall provide the Authority with a copy of that record 

whenever reasonably required by the Authority.  

7. DISPUTES  

Any dispute may be referred by either party to the Dispute Resolution Procedure, 

but the Operator Partner shall, nevertheless, be required to carry out or implement 

the Small Value Change within the prescribed timescales notwithstanding the 

dispute, where such dispute concerns the cost of the Small Value Change.  

     

Pack Page 393



 

99120273.1\kp07                244  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 3 - MEDIUM VALUE CHANGES  

1. MEDIUM VALUE CHANGES  

The Authority has the right to propose Medium Value Changes in accordance with 

this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol). If the Authority requires a Medium 

Value Change, it must serve a notice (Medium Value Change Notice) on the 

Operator Partner in accordance with paragraph 2 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol). The Operator Partner shall be entitled to refuse a Medium Value 

Change that:  

1.1 requires the Services to be performed in a way that infringes any Legislation or is 

inconsistent with Good Industry Practice;  

1.2 would cause any Necessary Consent to be revoked (or would require a new consent 

to be obtained to implement the relevant change in the Services which, after using 

reasonable efforts, the Operator Partner has been unable to obtain);  

1.3 would materially and adversely affect the Operator Partner's ability to deliver the 

Services (except those Services which have been specified as requiring to be 

amended in the Medium Value Change Notice) in a manner not compensated for 

pursuant to this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol);  

1.4 would materially and adversely affect the health and safety of any person;  

1.5 would, if implemented, materially and adversely change the nature of the Services  

(including its risk profile);   

1.6 the Authority does not have the legal power or capacity to require implementation 

of; or  

1.7 is the subject of a Medium Value Change Notice that cannot reasonably be complied 

with.  

2. MEDIUM VALUE CHANGE NOTICE  

The Medium Value Change Notice shall:  

2.1 set out the change in the Services required in sufficient detail to enable the Operator 

Partner to calculate and provide the estimated Change in Costs and estimated 

Change in Revenue in accordance with paragraph 3 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol);  

2.2 set out whether, in respect of any additional works, the Operator Partner is expected 

to provide soft services, facilities management services and lifecycle maintenance 

services in respect of such additional works;   

2.3 set out the timing of the additional works or services required by the Authority;   

2.4 set out details of the Authority's budgetary constraints and/or affordability 

thresholds; and  

Pack Page 394



 

99120273.1\kp07                245  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

2.5 require the Operator Partner to provide to the Authority within fifteen (15) Business 

Days of receipt of the Medium Value Change Notice:  

2.5.1 an estimate of the likely effects of the proposed variation (Estimate);  

2.5.2 confirmation as to when the Estimate is to be provided to the Authority 

(provided that the Operator Partner shall use all reasonable endeavours to 

obtain such information as is required expeditiously) provided that if the 

Authority does not believe the proposal from the Operator Partner is 

reasonable, the parties shall seek to agree the time period, failing which any 

dispute as to what is an appropriate period for submission of the Estimate 

may be referred to the Dispute Resolution Procedure; or  

2.5.3 notification in writing if the Operator Partner believes that any of the 

circumstances outlined in paragraph 1 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol) apply .  

3. OPERATOR PARTNER'S ESTIMATE  

Other than where a notice is served under paragraph 2.5.3 of this Part 3 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) the Operator Partner shall as soon as practicable 

and in any event within the time period agreed or determined pursuant to paragraph 

2.5 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22, the Operator Partner shall deliver to the 

Authority the Estimate. The Estimate shall include the opinion of the Operator 

Partner on:  

3.1 a detailed timetable for implementation of the Medium Value Change;  

3.2 whether relief from compliance with obligations is required, including the obligations 

of the Operator Partner to meet the requirements set out in the Services 

Specification during the implementation of the Medium Value Change;  

3.3 an outline of the proposed design solution and design, including an appropriate 

analysis/risk appraisal and, to the extent relevant, the impact on whole life costings;  

3.4 any impact on the provision of the Services including whether the proposed change 

is in contravention of paragraph 1 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol);  

3.5 any amendment required to this Agreement and/or any Project Document or 

Ancillary Document as a result of the Medium Value Change;  

3.6 any estimated Change in Costs and estimated Change in Revenue that results from 

the Medium Value Change;  

3.7 any Capital Expenditure that is required or no longer required as a result of the 

Medium Value Change;  

3.8 any Necessary Consents that are required;  

3.9 its suggested payment schedule for the Change based on milestones where 

relevant;  

Pack Page 395



 

99120273.1\kp07                246  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.10 costs and details of:  

3.10.1 any other approvals required and/or due diligence permitted pursuant to 

paragraph 12 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol); and   

3.10.2 any third party costs (that is, external costs of the Operator Partner and its 

sub-contractors, including but without limitation the costs of consultants and 

advisers);  

3.11 the method of implementation and the proposed method of certification of any 

construction or operational aspects of the works or the Services required by the 

proposed Medium Value Change; and  

3.12 any other information requested by the Authority in the Medium Value Change 

Notice.  

4. COSTING OF THE ESTIMATE  

In computing the estimated Change in Costs and/or the Capital Expenditure and/or 

the estimated Change in Revenue, the Operator Partner shall apply the following 

principles wherever applicable:  

4.1 any lifecycle replacement and maintenance associated with additional works shall 

be consistent with the lifecycle and maintenance profile of the Facilities envisaged 

in Schedule 2 (Service Delivery Proposals) including (without limitation) in terms of 

the replacement cycles for equipment provided that the Operator Partner shall 

reflect improvements in technology that can optimise whole life costs for the 

Authority);  

4.2 any Loss of Revenue shall be calculated by applying Schedule 21 (Loss of 

Revenue);  

4.3 other than as referred to in paragraph 4.1 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22  (Change 

Protocol) no charge shall be made in respect of the Operator Partner's time, or that 

of any Operator Partner Related Party spent processing, managing or monitoring 

the Medium Value Change (or proposed Medium Value Change) (and no additional 

mark up or management fee shall be applied by the Operator Partner); and  

4.4 where elements of the Medium Value Change are not addressed by paragraphs 4.1 

to 4.3 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), they shall be costed on 

a fair and reasonable basis reflecting the then current market rates.   

5. STANDARDS OF PROVISION OF THE ESTIMATE  

In providing the Estimate the Operator Partner shall:  

5.1 use reasonable endeavours to oblige its Sub-Contractors to minimise any increase 

in costs and maximise any reduction in costs;  

5.2 demonstrate how any Capital Expenditure to be incurred or avoided is being 

measured in a cost effective manner, including showing that when such expenditure 

is incurred, reasonably foreseeable Changes in Law at that time have been taken 

into account by the Operator Partner;   

Pack Page 396



 

99120273.1\kp07                247  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

5.3 demonstrate that any expenditure that has been avoided, which was anticipated to 

be incurred to replace or maintain assets that have been affected by the Medium 

Value Change concerned, has been taken into account in the amount which in its 

opinion has resulted or is required under paragraphs 3.6 and/or 3.7 of this Part 3 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol); and   

5.4 provide written evidence of the Operator Partner's compliance with paragraphs 4 

and 5.1 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol).   

6. DETERMINATION OF THE ESTIMATE  

As soon as practicable after the Authority receives the Estimate, the parties shall 

discuss and agree the issues set out in the Estimate.  If the parties cannot agree on 

the contents of the Estimate, the matter may be referred to the Dispute Resolution 

Procedure to determine if the Estimate represents a fair and reasonable approach 

to implementing the Medium Value Change in all respects.  

7. CONFIRMATION OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE MEDIUM VALUE CHANGE 

NOTICE  

7.1 As soon as practicable after the contents of the Estimate have been agreed or 

otherwise determined pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure, the Authority 

shall:  

7.1.1 confirm in writing to the Operator Partner the Estimate (as modified); or  

7.1.2 withdraw the Medium Value Change Notice.  

7.2 If, in any Contract Year, the Authority has either not confirmed an Estimate (as 

modified) within twenty (20) Business Days of the contents of the Estimate having 

been agreed or determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Part 

3 of this Schedule 22  (Change Protocol) or has withdrawn a Medium Value Change 

Notice on an aggregate of three or more occasions then the Authority shall pay to 

the Operator Partner on the third and each subsequent such occasion in that 

Contract Year the reasonable additional third party costs incurred by the Operator 

Partner in preparing the Estimate provided that:  

7.2.1 the Operator Partner has used all reasonable endeavours to submit a 

reasonably priced Estimate;  

7.2.2 the Operator Partner made available, with the Estimate, to the Authority a 

cost breakdown of the Estimate including and in accordance with paragraph 

3.10 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) an estimate of third 

party costs to be incurred by the Authority in the event the Medium Value 

Change Notice is withdrawn or deemed to be withdrawn; and  

7.2.3 the Authority has:  

(a) approved the estimate of third party costs referred to in paragraph 

7.2.2 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) and the 

type of third party prior to any third party costs being incurred; and  

Pack Page 397



 

99120273.1\kp07                248  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

(b) agreed that, given the nature of the proposed Medium Value 

Change, it is reasonable to expect the relevant third party to incur 

costs in preparing the Estimate on the basis of the extent of the 

proposed change to the Services and the work required in 

submitting an accurate Estimate in compliance with this paragraph 

7.2 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change  

Protocol).  

8. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE MEDIUM VALUE CHANGE  

8.1 Where the Authority has confirmed the Estimate in accordance with paragraph 7.1 

of this Part 3 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) the Operator Partner shall 

implement the required Medium Value Change in accordance with the Estimate and 

so as to minimise any inconvenience to the Authority and to the provision of the 

Services.  

8.2 The Operator Partner shall notify the Authority when it believes the Medium Value 

Change has been completed.  

8.3 Where the Operator Partner has either:  

8.3.1 failed to provide a response pursuant to paragraph 3 of this Part 3 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) within fifteen (15) Business Days of the date 

of the Medium Value Change Notice;  

8.3.2 provided an Estimate in accordance with paragraph 3 of this Part 3 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) but failed to fully implement the Medium 

Value Change within ten (10) Business Days of the date set out in the 

Estimate as confirmed in accordance with paragraph 2.5.1 of this Part 3 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)  as being the date on which the Medium 

Value Change should have been implemented; or  

8.3.3 where it is determined pursuant to paragraph 6 of this Part 3 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) that the Operator Partner has failed to submit a fair 

and reasonable Estimate,  

then the Authority may notify the Operator Partner that the Medium Value Change 

Notice is withdrawn and, following such notification, may procure the implementation 

of the Medium Value Change without further recourse to the Operator Partner.  

9. CERTIFICATION OF THE MEDIUM VALUE CHANGE  

9.1 If the Medium Value Change constitutes works, the procedure set out and agreed 

in the Estimate for certifying the completion of the Medium Value Change shall  

apply to determine whether the Medium Value Change has been completed 

appropriately.  

9.2 Where the Medium Value Change constitutes additional or varied Services, the PPM 

shall apply to determine whether the Medium Value Change has been properly 

implemented.  

10. METHOD OF PAYMENT OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTION  

Pack Page 398



 

99120273.1\kp07                249  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

10.1 The Authority and the Operator Partner shall agree:  

10.1.1 a payment schedule in respect of the payment of a sum reflecting the 

amount and timing of the costs to be incurred by the Operator Partner in 

carrying out the Medium Value Change to the extent borne by the Authority; 

and  

10.1.2 where payment for part of a Medium Value Change reflects the carrying out 

of, or specific progress towards, an element within the Medium Value 

Change, an objective means of providing evidence confirming that the part 

of the Medium Value Change corresponding to each occasion when 

payment is due under the payment schedule appears to have been duly 

carried out,  

(such payment and evidence to be determined in accordance with the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure in the event of the Authority and the Operator Partner failing 

to agree its terms).  

10.2 The Authority shall make a payment to the Operator Partner within fifteen (15)  

Business Days of receipt by the Authority of invoices presented to the Authority 

(complete in all material respects) in accordance with the agreed payment schedule 

(as the case may be, varied by agreement from time to time) accompanied by the 

relevant evidence (where applicable) that the relevant part of the Medium Value 

Change has been carried out.  

10.3 If payment is not made in accordance with paragraph 10.2 of this Part 3 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), the Authority shall pay interest to the Operator 

Partner on the amount unpaid from the date fifteen (15) Business Days after receipt 

of the relevant invoice until paid at the Prescribed Rate.  

11. ADJUSTMENT TO ANNUAL PAYMENT  

Any adjustment to the Annual Payment that is necessary due to the implementation 

of a Medium Value Change shall be calculated in accordance with Clause 37 

(Financial Adjustments), together with any adjustment that is necessary pursuant to 

any Small Value Changes made under Part 2 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) 

that have not already been taken account of.  

12. DUE DILIGENCE  

It is acknowledged that Changes may require authorisation from the insurers under 

the Operator Partner Insurances. The Operator Partner shall notify the relevant 

insurance broker immediately upon any material Medium Value Change being 

agreed (materiality being judged in relation to the size and nature of the scope of 

the Medium Value Change).  

13. PROJECT DOCUMENTATION  

13.1 Unless the parties otherwise agree, no changes to the Project Documents or 

Ancillary Documents shall be made as a result of a Medium Value Change.  

Pack Page 399



 

99120273.1\kp07                250  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

13.2 The Operator Partner shall, no later than one (1) month following completion of the 

Change, update any As-built Drawings and the operating and maintenance manuals 

as necessary to reflect the Change.  

     

Pack Page 400



 

99120273.1\kp07                251  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 4 - HIGH VALUE CHANGES  

1. HIGH VALUE CHANGES  

1.1 The Authority has the right to propose High Value Changes in accordance with this  

Part 4. If the Authority requires a High Value Change, it must serve a notice (High 

Value Change Notice) on the Operator Partner in accordance with paragraph 2 of 

this Part 4 of this Schedule 22. Subject to paragraph 1.2 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) the Operator Partner shall be entitled to refuse a 

High Value Change that:  

1.1.1 requires the Services to be performed in a way that infringes any Legislation 

or is inconsistent with Good Industry Practice;  

1.1.2 would cause any Necessary Consent to be revoked (or would require a new 

consent to be obtained to implement the relevant change in the Services 

which, after using reasonable efforts, the Operator Partner has been unable 

to obtain);  

1.1.3 would materially and adversely affect the Operator Partner's ability to deliver 

the Services (except those Services which have been specified as requiring 

to be amended in the High Value Change Notice) in a manner not 

compensated pursuant to this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol);   

1.1.4 would materially and adversely affect the health and safety of any person;  

1.1.5 would, if implemented, materially and adversely change the nature of the 

Services (including its risk profile);  

1.1.6 is the subject of a High Value Change Notice that cannot reasonably be 

complied with; or  

1.1.7 the Authority does not have the legal power or capacity to require 

implementation of.  

1.2 The Operator Partner shall not be entitled to refuse a Farnborough Redevelopment 

Change Notice.  

2. HIGH VALUE CHANGE NOTICE  

2.1 Where the Authority wishes to propose a High Value Change, the Authority shall:  

2.1.1 submit a written request for the Operator Partner to produce outline 

proposals for any High Value Change (High Value Change Proposal), 

including indicative funding proposals, setting out the maximum available 

capital and/or revenue the Authority is able to commit to that High Value 

Change (Target Cost);  

2.1.2 identify any requirements in relation to the High Value Change that must be 

satisfied as part of the High Value Change Proposal (High Value Change 

Requirements);   

Pack Page 401



 

99120273.1\kp07                252  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

2.1.3 identify how the Authority shall assess whether the High Value Change 

Stage 2 Submission offers it value for money; and  

2.1.4 where the High Value Change is issued in order to effect the Farnborough 

Redevelopment, notify the Operator Partner of this and also provide details 

of the Farnborough Redevelopment (including, without limitation, the extent 

to which the Farnborough Redevelopment is consistent with, or differs from, 

the Assumed Redevelopment).  

2.2 The parties may agree written protocols with express reference to this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 which explain or clarify any aspects of the High Value Change approval 

procedure set out in this Part 4 of this Schedule 22  (Change Protocol) and such 

protocols shall be read as if incorporated into this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol) (including accelerated procedures with reduced requirements for High 

Value Changes of relatively low values).   

2.3 Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph 2.2 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) , the parties shall:  

2.3.1 within five (5) Business Days of receipt by the Operator Partner of any  

High Value Change Notice, discuss and review the nature of the High Value 

Change, including a discussion as to which of the items set out in paragraph 

3.2 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) are appropriate to 

be included within the High Value Change Proposal; and  

2.3.2 within five (5) Business Days of a High Value Change Proposal becoming a 

Stage 1 Approved Project, discuss and review the nature of the Stage 1 

Approved Project, including a discussion as to which of the items set out in 

paragraph 4.3 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) are 

appropriate to be included within the High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission.  

2.4 The parties acknowledge and agree that:   

2.4.1 as part of the Operator Partner’s [Submission], it set out in detail the 

Farnborough Proposals in response to the Assumed Redevelopment;  

2.4.2 part of the evaluation process undertaken by the Authority was based on 

the quality of the Farnborough Proposals; and  

2.4.3 accordingly, a High Value Change Proposal, in respect of a Farnborough 

Redevelopment Change Notice, should be based on and reflect the 

Farnborough Proposals except to the extent that the Farnborough 

Redevelopment differs materially from the Assumed Redevelopment.  

2.5 Without prejudice to any other specific provision of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol) the parties shall take into account the principles set out at paragraph 2.4 

of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) in establishing the terms on 

which relevant High Value Changes shall be agreed and implemented by the parties.  

3. HIGH VALUE CHANGE PROPOSAL  

Pack Page 402



 

99120273.1\kp07                253  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.1 The Operator Partner shall notify the Authority in writing as soon as practicable and 

in any event within fifteen (15) Business Days after having received the High Value 

Change Notice if any of the circumstances outlined in paragraph 1 of this Part 4 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) apply.  If no such notice is served, the Operator 

Partner shall (within thirty (30) Business Days of its request issued in accordance 

with paragraph 2 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)) submit either 

a High Value Change Proposal to the Authority or shall provide confirmation as to 

when the High Value Change Proposal will be provided to the Authority (provided 

that the Operator Partner shall use all reasonable endeavours to obtain such 

information as is required expeditiously). If the Authority does not believe the 

proposed time period from the Operator Partner is reasonable, the parties shall seek 

to agree the time period, failing which any dispute as to what is an appropriate period 

for submission of the High Value Change Proposal may be referred to the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure.  

3.2 Save where agreed by the parties to the contrary, all High Value Change  

Proposals will contain at least the following information in sufficient detail to enable 

the Authority to make an informed decision under paragraph 3.4 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol):   

3.2.1 a description of the High Value Change, with evidence of how the High 

Value Change meets the High Value Change Requirements;  

3.2.2 an outline of the proposed building solution and design including an 

appropriate analysis/risk appraisal of, in each case to the extent relevant (if 

at all), the preferred investment solution contemplated in terms of new build, 

refurbishment and whole life costings;  

3.2.3 a fixed Change Management Fee for the High Value Change;  

3.2.4 an estimated programme for submission of the High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission together with the implementation of the High Value Change;  

3.2.5 whether relief from compliance with obligations is required, including the 

obligations of the Operator Partner to meet the requirements set out in the 

Services Specification during the implementation of the High Value Change;  

3.2.6 any impact on the provision of the Services;  

3.2.7 any amendment required to this Agreement and/or any Project Document 

or Ancillary Document as a result of the High Value Change;  

3.2.8 any estimated Change in Costs and estimated Change in Revenue that 

results from the High Value Change;  

3.2.9 an outline of how the Operator Partner proposes to finance the High Value 

Change;  

3.2.10 the Operator Partner's suggested payment schedule for the Change, based 

on milestones where relevant;  

3.2.11 any Necessary Consents which are required;  

Pack Page 403



 

99120273.1\kp07                254  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.2.12 costs and details of any other approvals required or due diligence permitted 

pursuant to paragraph 13 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol);   

3.2.13 the proposed method of certification of any construction or operational 

aspects of the works or the Services required by the proposed High Value 

Change;  

3.2.14 a value for money assessment explaining why the Operator Partner's 

proposals represent value for money taking into account both the proposed 

Capital Cost and Whole Life Cost;   

3.2.15 if the Operator Partner reasonably believes that there is a substantial risk 

that it will not be able to obtain any Necessary Consent the High Value 

Change Proposal shall contain a statement to that effect along with 

evidence to support this belief; and  

3.2.16 in relation to a Farnborough Redevelopment Change Notice, and to the 

extent not addressed by the Operator Partner’s responses to the points 

above in this paragraph 3.2:   

(a) details of the extent to which, in the opinion of the Operator Partner, 

the features of the Farnborough Redevelopment set out in the 

Farnborough Redevelopment Change Notice differ from the 

Assumed Redevelopment; and  

(b) an illustration of the way in which the relevant High Value Change 

Proposals reflects all relevant elements of the Farnborough 

Proposal or, where this is not the case, a clear justification for such 

deviations based on the differences referred to above.  

3.3 Liaison between the Operator Partner, the Authority and relevant Users  

In developing a High Value Change Proposal the Operator Partner shall liaise with 

the Authority and relevant Users (being such persons or organisations as the 

Operator Partner in consultation with the Authority considers appropriate). The 

Authority shall provide to the Operator Partner such information as to its 

requirements as the Operator Partner may reasonably require and shall assist the 

Operator Partner in the review of any draft designs in relation to the High Value 

Change Proposal.  Any and all information and other input or feedback provided by 

the Authority to the Operator Partner shall, unless expressly stated otherwise by the 

Authority, be provided without warranty and shall be without prejudice to the 

Authority's rights under this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol).   

3.4 Consideration of a High Value Change Proposal by the Authority  

The Authority will consider in good faith each High Value Change Proposal put 

forward by the Operator Partner and the Authority will not unreasonably withhold or 

delay its consent to a High Value Change Proposal. If, acting reasonably, the 

Authority finds that:   

Pack Page 404



 

99120273.1\kp07                255  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.4.1 any material aspects of the High Value Change Proposal are unsatisfactory 

to it; and/or  

3.4.2 (in the case of  a Farnborough Redevelopment Change Notice) the High 

Value Change Proposal contains elements which deviate from the 

Farnborough Proposals in a manner which is not justified by differences 

between the relevant Farnborough Redeveloped and the Assumed 

Redevelopment,  

then it shall notify the Operator Partner of the same and offer reasonable assistance 

to the Operator Partner to enable it to address such deficiencies and resubmit the 

High Value Change Proposal as soon as reasonably practicable.  If the Operator 

Partner addresses such deficiencies to the Authority's satisfaction, acting 

reasonably, paragraph 3.5 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall 

apply.   

3.5 Authority response to a High Value Change Proposal  

If the Authority approves a High Value Change Proposal (subject to any 

amendments to it agreed with the Operator Partner), then it shall be a Stage 1 

Approved Project or be referred to as having received Stage 1 Approval, as the 

context requires.  

3.6 Operator Partner's costs in relation to a High Value Change Proposal that is 

not approved  

If a High Value Change Proposal submitted in accordance with this paragraph 3 of 

this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) does not become a Stage 1 

Approved Project then the Operator Partner's costs in relation to the proposal shall 

be borne by the Operator Partner unless the Authority has either not responded to 

the High Value Change Proposal pursuant to paragraph 3.4 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) and/or is in material breach of its obligations under 

paragraph 3.4 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), in which case 

the Authority shall reimburse the Operator Partner's reasonable and proper costs.   

4. STAGE 2 APPROVAL  

4.1 Development of a High Value Change Stage 2 Submission  

4.1.1 Within ten (10) Business Days of a High Value Change Proposal having 

become a Stage 1 Approved Project, the parties shall seek to agree the time 

period within which the Operator Partner shall develop the Stage 1 

Approved Project into a detailed submission (High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission). If the parties are unable to agree a reasonable time period  

for such submission any dispute may be referred to the Dispute Resolution 

Procedure.  

4.1.2 Following agreement or determination of what is an appropriate time period 

for submission by the Operator Partner of the High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission pursuant to paragraph 4.1.1 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol), the Operator Partner shall proceed regularly and 

Pack Page 405



 

99120273.1\kp07                256  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

diligently to produce and submit the same to the Authority in accordance 

with the agreed or determined time period.  

4.2 Liaison between the Operator Partner, the Authority and relevant Users  

In developing a High Value Change Stage 2 Submission the Operator Partner shall 

continue to liaise with the Authority and relevant Users (being such persons or 

organisations as the Authority in consultation with the Operator Partner considers 

appropriate). The Authority shall provide to the Operator Partner such information 

as to its requirements necessary to enable the Operator Partner to submit a full and 

complete High Value Change Stage 2 Submission and any such other information 

as the Operator Partner may reasonably require and shall assist the Operator 

Partner in the review of any draft designs in relation to the Stage 1 Approved Project 

and in the development of other aspects of the High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission (but not where this would involve the Authority incurring additional 

material expense). Any and all information and other input or feedback provided by 

the Authority to the Operator Partner shall be provided without warranty and shall 

be without prejudice to the Authority's rights under this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol).  

4.3 Content requirements in relation to a High Value Change Stage 2 Submission  

Save where the parties agree otherwise, in relation to the relevant Stage 1 Approved 

Project, the Operator Partner shall procure that a High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission shall include (but not be limited to):  

4.3.1 draft(s) of the relevant Project Document(s) identifying (if relevant) any 

material changes or amendments proposed in respect of the relevant Stage 

1 Approved Project, together with the reasons for any such changes or 

amendments proposed. This shall include full details of which provisions of 

the relevant Project Documents shall apply to the High Value Change so 

that it is implemented in equivalent manner and to an equivalent standard 

as required in respect of the Services as appropriate;  

4.3.2 detailed design solutions (to RIBA Stage 4);  

4.3.3 appropriate plans and drawings;  

4.3.4 relevant detailed planning permissions and any other relevant planning 

approvals and Necessary Consents (or such lesser confirmation or 

information in relation to planning as may be agreed with the Authority);  

4.3.5 a proposed revised LOBTA including the detailed price estimates for the 

Stage 1 Approved Project;  

4.3.6 an explanation (together with appropriate supporting evidence) as to why 

the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission meets the Approval Criteria (as 

defined in paragraph 4.4 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol));  

4.3.7 confirmation (or details of any requested variations to (with supporting 

justification)) of the Change Management Fee referred to in  

Pack Page 406



 

99120273.1\kp07                257  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

paragraph 3.2.3 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol);  

4.3.8 the proposed method of certification of any construction or operational 

aspects of the works or the Services required by the proposed High Value 

Change;  

4.3.9 a value for money assessment explaining why the Operator Partner's 

proposals represent value for money taking into account both the proposed 

Capital Cost and Whole Life Cost;  

4.3.10 a timetable and method statement setting out how the relevant High Value 

Change will be delivered which shall include (but not be limited to):  

(a) proposals for the effective management of the building programme;  

(b) an assessment as to the savings to be generated across the High 

Value Change, particularly on staff costs and lifecycle replacement 

and maintenance and operation of services;  

(c) details of the Sub-Contractors together with evidence and 

explanation of the value testing undertaken by the Operator Partner 

in relation to the High Value Change;  

(d) a completed risk register showing the potential risks identified in 

relation to the delivery of the High Value Change the occurrence of 

which are capable of adversely affecting the time for completion, 

cost and/or quality of the project, the probability of such risks 

occurring and a financial estimate of the most likely consequences 

of each risk occurring together with the prioritisation of all continuing 

risks and an action plan in respect of, and risk owners for, all risks 

prioritised as serious risks; and  

4.3.11 any surveys and investigations and associated reports that are reasonably 

necessary to ascertain (in relation to Changes involving the construction of 

additional buildings) information as to the nature, location and condition of 

the relevant land (including hydrological, geological, geotechnical and sub-

surface conditions) together with information relating to archaeological 

finds, areas of archaeological, scientific or natural interest and (in relation to 

the refurbishment of any existing buildings) information on the condition and 

quality of existing structures and, in particular, the presence of any latent 

defects.  

4.4 Approval Criteria  

For the purposes of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), "Approval 

Criteria" means the criteria against which any Stage 1 Approved Project is to be 

judged by the Authority in determining whether it achieves Stage 2 Approval.  The 

criteria are:  

4.4.1 whether the costs of the Stage 1 Approved Project are within the Target 

Cost notified to the Operator Partner by the Authority;  

Pack Page 407



 

99120273.1\kp07                258  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

4.4.2 whether it has been demonstrated that the Stage 1 Approved Project 

provides value for money assessed in accordance with the measures 

identified by the Authority in accordance with paragraph 2.1.3 of this Part 4 

of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol);  

4.4.3 whether the Authority, acting reasonably, is satisfied that the High Value 

Change Stage 2 Submission meets the Authority's requirements;  

4.4.4 whether any material changes or amendments to the relevant Project  

Document(s) as detailed pursuant to paragraph 4.3.1 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)   are acceptable to the Authority, acting 

reasonably;   

4.4.5 whether the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission contains all the 

information required pursuant to paragraph 4.3 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) (or as otherwise agreed by the parties); and  

4.4.6 in the case of a Farnborough Redevelopment Change Notice, that the 

criteria set out at paragraphs 2.4 and 2.5 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol) continue to be met.   

4.5 Submission of the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission to the Authority 

and consideration of that submission by the Authority  

4.5.1 The Operator Partner shall submit its High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission to the Authority.  The Authority will consider in good faith High 

Value Change Stage 2 Submissions put forward by the Operator Partner 

and the Authority will not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent to a 

High Value Change Stage 2 Submission.  The Authority shall be entitled to 

call for such reasonable information as it considers appropriate to enable it 

to decide whether the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission meets the 

Approval Criteria. The Operator Partner shall reply promptly to all such 

requests for further information and assistance. If, acting reasonably, the 

Authority finds that any material aspects of the High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission are unsatisfactory to it, it shall notify the Operator Partner of the 

same and offer reasonable assistance to the Operator Partner to address 

such deficiencies. If the Operator Partner addresses such deficiencies to 

the Authority's satisfaction, acting reasonably, paragraph 4.5.2(a) of this 

Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply. If the Operator 

Partner is unable to resolve such deficiencies  

to the satisfaction of the Authority (acting reasonably) paragraph 4.5.2(b) of 

this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply.  

4.5.2 As soon as reasonably practicable after the submission to it of a High Value 

Change Stage 2 Submission the Authority shall give written notice of 

whether it:  

(a) approves the relevant Stage 1 Approved Project (in which case the 

Stage 1 Approved Project shall be referred to as having received 

Stage 2 Approval or as being a Stage 2 Approved Project or an 

Pack Page 408



 

99120273.1\kp07                259  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Approved Project as the context requires); or (b) rejects the Stage 

1 Approved Project:  

(i) subject to paragraph 4.5.2(b)(ii) of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), on the grounds that the 

High Value Change Stage 2 Submission in relation to the 

relevant Stage 1 Approved Project has failed to meet one 

or more of the Approval Criteria in which case (subject to 

resubmission under paragraph 4.5.3 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)) paragraph 4.6 of this Part 

4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply;  

(ii) because, as a result of any change to the Target Cost 

referred to in paragraph 2 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol), the Stage 1 Approved Project is not in 

fact Affordable despite the High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission being within the Target Cost referred to in 

paragraph 2.1.1 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol); or  

(iii) otherwise on grounds other than those set out in paragraph 

4.5.2(b)(i) or 4.5.2(b)(ii) of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol),  

in which case paragraph 4.7 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol) shall apply.  

4.5.3 If the Authority rejects the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission on the 

grounds set out in paragraph 4.5.2(b)(i) of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol):  

(a) the Authority and the Operator Partner will work together to address 

the reasons for such failure and attempt in good faith to produce a 

revised High Value Change Stage 2 Submission which the Operator 

Partner shall re-submit to the Authority as soon as reasonably 

practicable after the rejection of the original submission and in any 

event within thirty (30) Business Days of the rejection 

(Resubmission Longstop Date);  

(b) the re-submission pursuant to paragraph 4.5.3(a) of this Part 4 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall be treated as a High Value 

Change Stage 2 Submission. If:  

(i) the resubmitted High Value Change Stage 2 Submission 

is rejected by the Authority on the grounds set out in 

paragraph 4.5.2(b)(i) of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol) (subject to having been through the 

Dispute Resolution Procedure under paragraphs 4.8 and 

4.9 (if applicable) of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol)); or  

(ii) no resubmission of the High Value Change Stage 2  

Pack Page 409



 

99120273.1\kp07                260  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Submission is made on or before the Resubmission 

Longstop Date,  

then the relevant Stage 1 Approved Project shall be treated as 

having been properly rejected and the provisions of paragraph 4.6 

of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply and 

neither the Authority nor the Operator Partner shall have any further 

obligations in relation to the relevant High Value Change referred to 

in the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission; and  

(c) if the Authority rejects the Stage 1 Approved Project pursuant to 

paragraph 4.5.2(b)(i) because the Operator Partner has failed to 

meet one or more of the Approval Criteria and the sole reason for 

that failure is that any planning consent identified by the Operator 

Partner (in compliance with paragraph 3.2.15 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)) has not been obtained then the 

provisions of paragraph 4.7 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol) shall apply, provided that the Operator Partner 

has used all reasonable endeavours to obtain the planning consent.  

4.6 If a High Value Change Stage 2 Submission is properly rejected by the 

Authority  

Where this paragraph 4.6 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) 

applies (as set out in paragraph 4.5.2(b)(i), paragraph 4.5.3(b) and paragraph 4.9 

of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)):  

4.6.1 the Authority shall not be required to reimburse or compensate the Operator 

Partner in respect of any costs relating to the High Value Change including 

the Change Management Fee; and  

4.6.2 the Authority shall be entitled to procure the High Value Change required 

under the relevant High Value Change Stage 2 Submission outside the 

terms of this Agreement.  

4.7 If a High Value Change Stage 2 Submission is improperly rejected by the 

Authority  

Where this paragraph 4.7 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) 

applies (as set out in paragraph 4.5.2(b)(ii) paragraph Schedule 224.8.2 and 

paragraph 5.2.1(b) and paragraph 5.2.2 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22)):  

 4.7.1    

(a) subject to paragraph 4.7.1(b) of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol), the Incurred Change Management Fee in 

relation to the relevant High Value Change will be paid by the 

Authority within ten (10) Business Days of the date on which the 

Operator Partner receives written notice of the rejection or the date 

of the deemed rejection (as the case may be) with the date of the 

rejection or the deemed rejection (as the case may be) being the 

Pack Page 410



 

99120273.1\kp07                261  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Calculation Date for the purposes of calculating the amount of the 

Incurred Change Management Fee (unless a different  

Calculation Date is expressly stated in this Part 4 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) in relation to the circumstances giving rise to 

the entitlement of the Operator Partner to be paid the Incurred 

Change Management Fee);and  

(b) if the parties are unable to agree the amount of the Incurred Change 

Management Fee for the purposes of paragraph 4.7.1(a) of this Part 

4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) the matter shall be resolved 

by reference to the Dispute Resolution Procedure; and  

4.7.2 the Authority shall be entitled to procure the High Value Change required under 

the relevant High Value Change Stage 2 Submission outside the terms of 

this Agreement.  

Dispute resolution  

4.8 If the Authority rejects a High Value Change pursuant to the provisions of paragraph 

4.5.3(b)(i) of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), the Operator Partner 

shall be entitled to refer the matter for consideration under the Dispute Resolution 

Procedure within ten (10) Business Days after receiving written notice of the 

Authority's decision. If, following a referral to the Dispute Resolution Procedure, it is 

agreed or determined that the High Value Change rejected by the Authority pursuant 

to paragraph 4.5.3(b)(i) of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) met the 

Approval Criteria the Authority shall either:  

4.8.1 declare that the relevant High Value Change has received Stage 2 Approval 

and that High Value Change shall proceed; or  

4.8.2 declare that its rejection of the relevant High Value Change be treated as 

an improper rejection and that the provisions of paragraph 4.7 of this Part 4 

of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply.  

4.9 If, following a referral to the Dispute Resolution Procedure under paragraph 4.8 of 

this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), it is agreed or determined that the 

High Value Change did not meet the Approval Criteria, the provisions of paragraph 

4.6 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply.  

4.10 If the Authority rejects a High Value Change Proposal either party may refer the 

matter to the Dispute Resolution Procedure to determine whether the High Value 

Change Proposal comprised a fair and reasonable response to the High Value 

Change Notice. If it is agreed or determined that the High Value Change Proposal 

was not a fair and reasonable response, paragraph 4.6 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) shall apply.  [If it is agreed or determined that the High Value 

Change Proposal was a fair and reasonable response no Performance Failures 

shall be deemed to occur r Performance Adjustments shall be applied under 

Schedule 5 (PPM) in relation to the High Value Change Proposal but the Authority 

shall not be obliged to accept the High Value Change Proposal and paragraph 0 of 

this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall still apply.]  

5. TIME PERIODS FOR APPROVAL  

Pack Page 411



 

99120273.1\kp07                262  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

5.1 Each High Value Change Proposal and each High Value Change Stage 2 

Submission shall be valid for a period of three (3) months from the date of its 

submission by the Operator Partner.  

5.2 If by the end of the three (3) month period referred to in paragraph 5.1 of this Part 4 

of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) the Authority has not:  

5.2.1 in relation to a High Value Change Proposal, approved or rejected that High 

Value Change Proposal in accordance with the procedures set out in this 

Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol):  

(a) the Operator Partner shall be entitled to withdraw the High Value 

Change Proposal at the end of that period; and  

(b) the Operator Partner shall not be entitled to any costs relating to the 

High Value Change Proposal unless the Authority has either not 

responded to the High Value Change Proposal and/or is in material 

breach of its obligations in paragraph 3.4 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) in which case paragraph 4.7 of this 

Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply;  

5.2.2 in relation to a High Value Change Stage 2 Submission, approved or 

rejected that High Value Change Stage 2 Submission in accordance with 

the procedures set out in this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) 

(or has not given any notification of the Authority's response to the High 

Value Change Stage 2 Submission or has given written notice to the 

Operator Partner withdrawing or cancelling the High Value Change to which 

the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission relates) then the High Value 

Change Stage 2 Submission shall be deemed to have been improperly 

rejected by the Authority and paragraph 4.7 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) shall apply.  

6. CO-OPERATION OF THE AUTHORITY  

The Authority will co-operate with the Operator Partner in relation to any High Value 

Change Stage 2 Submission being developed by the Operator Partner, including 

(without limitation) promptly providing:  

6.1 written confirmation of the Target Cost and/or High Value Change Requirements or 

any change to such Target Cost and/or High Value Change Requirements; and  

6.2 any information reasonably required by the Operator Partner to enable it to satisfy 

the requirements of paragraph 4.3 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol).  

7. CHANGES TO THE HIGH VALUE CHANGE REQUIREMENTS  

7.1 If the High Value Change Requirements or Approval Criteria are subject to any 

material variation in relation to a High Value Change by the Authority after the High 

Value Change Proposal has been submitted then:  

Pack Page 412



 

99120273.1\kp07                263  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

7.1.1 the Operator Partner and the Authority shall negotiate in good faith as to the 

implications on the High Value Change Proposal or High Value Change 

Stage 2 Submission (as the case may be) and shall seek to agree changes 

thereto to accommodate the variation (including any change to the Target 

Cost and/or to the Change Management Fee);  

7.1.2 if agreement has not been reached pursuant to paragraph 7.1.1 of this Part 

4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) within twenty (20) Business Days 

(or such longer period as the parties may agree) then:  

(a) the Operator Partner shall be entitled by notice in writing to the 

Authority to withdraw the High Value Change Proposal or the High 

Value Change Stage 2 Submission (as the case may be) and to be 

paid the Incurred Change Management Fee with the Calculation 

Date being the date of the change notified by the Authority; and  

(b) the Authority shall not be entitled to procure the High Value Change 

without recommencing and complying with the procedure in this 

Part 4 of this Schedule 22 in relation to that High Value Change.  

7.2 The Authority may, at any time, give notice in writing to the Operator Partner that it 

proposes to cancel a High Value Change without completing the process set out in 

paragraphs 3 to 5 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) in which case 

the Authority shall pay the Operator Partner the Incurred Change  

Management Fee in respect of the cancelled High Value Change with the 

Calculation Date being the date of such notice.  

8. INFORMATION AND NOTIFICATIONS BY THE AUTHORITY TO THE 

OPERATOR PARTNER AND CO-OPERATION OF THE AUTHORITY  

8.1 The Authority shall notify the Operator Partner as soon as it becomes aware of any 

matter which may have a reasonably foreseeable material adverse effect on the 

viability of any High Value Change including any:  

8.1.1 planning issues likely to cause a material delay in the anticipated 

programme for the High Value Change or material cost increases; and  

8.1.2 changes to funding which the Authority receives or to the way in which 

funding may be applied, either or both of which may affect whether a High 

Value Change is affordable.  

8.2 The Authority shall provide reasonable assistance to the Operator Partner in relation 

to the procurement by the Operator Partner of all relevant Necessary Consents, 

provided that this paragraph 8 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) 

shall not apply to the Authority to the extent it is exercising its functions as a Local 

Planning Authority or Highways Authority.  

9. CHANGE MANAGEMENT FEE  

A proposed fixed management fee for each High Value Change must be submitted 

by the Operator Partner as part of the High Value Change Proposal and, once 

agreed, shall be the Change Management Fee for the High Value Change.  The 

Pack Page 413



 

99120273.1\kp07                264  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

Change Management Fee submitted pursuant to paragraph 3.2.3 of this Part 4 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall include a breakdown of the proposed 

amount by reference to the following categories of costs (without any double 

counting between the amounts under paragraphs 9.1 to 9.8 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)):  

9.1 the time incurred by or on behalf of the Operator Partner in project managing the 

development and procurement of the High Value Change Proposal and High Value 

Stage 2 Submission, which shall:  

9.1.1 be based on actual time spent (validated by timesheet records); and  

9.1.2 not include any mark-up or profit cost or additional overheads;  

9.2 design costs;  

9.3 legal advice;  

9.4 financial advice;  

9.5 technical advice;  

9.6 surveys;  

9.7 fees in connection with obtaining any relevant Necessary Contracts; and  

9.8 other costs the Operator Partner shall be required to incur, acting reasonably, to 

finalise its High Value Change Stage 2 Submission,  

in each case applying the Small Works Rates where appropriate and otherwise 

applying current market rates on a fair and reasonable basis.  

10. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE HIGH VALUE CHANGE  

The Operator Partner shall implement any High Value Change approved by the 

Authority so as to minimise any inconvenience to the Authority and to the provision 

of the Services and in accordance with:  

10.1 the High Value Change Stage 2 Submission (subject to any amendments to it 

agreed by the parties);  

10.2 the provisions of this Agreement, Good Industry Practice and Guidance; and  

10.3 to the extent that the High Value Change involves works, the Operator Partner shall 

exercise in carrying out the design of the works, the level of skill and care reasonably 

to be expected from an appropriately qualified and competent professional designer 

providing those services in relation to a project of a similar size and scope to such 

works.  

11. METHOD OF PAYMENT OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTION  

11.1 This paragraph 11 of this Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) shall apply 

where an Approved Project provides that the High Value Change shall be funded in 

whole or part other than by adjustment of the Annual Payment.  

Pack Page 414



 

99120273.1\kp07                265  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

11.2 The Authority and the Operator Partner shall agree:  

11.2.1 a payment schedule in respect of the payment of such sum reflecting the 

amount and timing of the costs to be incurred by the Operator Partner in 

carrying out the High Value Change to the extent borne by the Authority; 

and  

11.2.2 where payment for part of a High Value Change reflects the carrying out of, 

or specific progress towards, an element within the High Value Change, an 

objective means of providing evidence confirming that the part of the High 

Value Change corresponding to each occasion when payment is due under 

the payment schedule appears to have been duly carried out,  

(such payment and evidence to be determined in accordance with the Dispute 

Resolution Procedure in the event of the Authority and the Operator Partner failing 

to agree as to its terms).  

11.3 The Authority shall make a payment to the Operator Partner within fifteen (15) 

Business Days of receipt by the Authority of invoices presented to the Authority 

(complete in all material respects) in accordance with the agreed payment schedule 

(as the case may be, varied by agreement from time to time) accompanied by the 

relevant evidence (where applicable) that the relevant part of the High Value Change 

has been carried out.  

11.4 If payment is not made in accordance with paragraph 11.3 of this Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), the Authority shall pay interest to the Operator 

Partner on the amount unpaid from the date fifteen (15) Business Days after receipt 

of the relevant invoice until paid at the Prescribed Rate.  

12. ADJUSTMENT TO ANNUAL PAYMENT  

Any adjustment to the Annual Payment which is necessary as a result of the 

implementation of a High Value Change shall be calculated in accordance with 

Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments), together with any adjustment that is necessary 

pursuant to any Small Value Changes made under Part 2 of this Schedule 22 

(Change Protocol) and/or any Medium Value Changes made under Part 3 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) that have not already been taken account of.  

13. DUE DILIGENCE  

It is acknowledged that High Value Changes may require authorisation from the 

insurers under the Operator Partner Insurances. The Operator Partner shall notify 

the relevant insurance broker immediately upon any material High Value Change 

being agreed (materiality being judged in relation to the size and nature of the scope 

of the High Value Change).  

14. PROJECT DOCUMENTATION  

14.1 The only changes to the Project Documents or Ancillary Documents to be made as 

a result of a High Value Change shall be those identified in the High Value Change 

Stage 2 Submission (subject to any amendments to it agreed by the parties).  

Pack Page 415



 

99120273.1\kp07                266  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

14.2 The Operator Partner shall, on completion of the Change, update any As-built 

Drawings and the operating and maintenance manuals as necessary to reflect the 

Change.   

    

PART 5 - OPERATOR PARTNER CHANGES  

1. If the Operator Partner wishes to introduce an Operator Partner Change, it shall 

serve a notice containing the information required pursuant to paragraph 2 of this 

Part 5 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) (Operator Partner Notice of Change) 

on the Authority.  

2. The Operator Partner Notice of Change shall:  

2.1 set out the proposed Operator Partner Change in sufficient detail to enable the  

Authority to evaluate it in full;  

2.2 specify the Operator Partner's reasons for proposing the Operator Partner Change;  

2.3 indicate any implications of the Operator Partner Change;  

2.4 indicate what savings, if any, will be generated by the Operator Partner Change, 

including:  

2.4.1 whether a revision of the Annual Payment is proposed (and, if so, give 

details of such proposed revision, taking account of paragraph 8 of this Part 

5 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol)); or   

2.4.2 whether such savings will be paid by a lump sum;  

2.5 if the Operator Partner Change is required as a result of a Qualifying Change in Law:  

2.5.1 indicate what sums, if any, will be payable by the Authority; and  

2.5.2 contain the information required by Clause 27.2;  

2.6 indicate whether there are any critical dates by which a decision by the Authority is 

required; and  

2.7 request the Authority to consult with the Operator Partner with a view to deciding 

whether to agree to the Operator Partner Change and, if so, what consequential 

changes the Authority requires as a result.  

3. The Authority shall evaluate the Operator Partner Notice of Change in good faith, 

taking into account all relevant issues, including whether:  

3.1 a revision of the Annual Payment will occur;  

3.2 the Operator Partner Change may affect the quality of the Services or the likelihood 

of successful delivery of the Services (or any of them);  

3.3 the Operator Partner Change will interfere with the relationship of the Authority with 

third parties;  

Pack Page 416



 

99120273.1\kp07                267  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

3.4 the financial strength of the Operator Partner is sufficient to perform the Services 

after implementation of the Operator Partner Change;  

3.5 the value and/or life expectancy of any of the Facilities and/or Assets is reduced; or  

3.6 the Operator Partner Change materially affects the risks or costs to which the 

Authority is exposed.  

4. As soon as practicable after receiving the Operator Partner Notice of Change, the 

parties shall meet and discuss the matters referred to in it, including in the case of 

a Qualifying Change in Law those matters referred to in Clause 27.3. During 

discussions, subject to paragraph 9 of this Part 5 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol), the Authority may propose modifications to, or accept or reject, the 

Operator Partner Notice of Change.   

5. If the Authority accepts the Operator Partner Notice of Change (with or without 

modification) the parties shall consult and agree the remaining details as soon as 

practicable and upon agreement the Authority shall issue a notice confirming the 

Operator Partner Change which shall set out the agreed Operator Partner Change 

and:  

5.1 shall enter into any documents to amend this Agreement or any relevant Project 

Document which are necessary to give effect to the Operator Partner Change;  

5.2 subject to paragraph 7 of this Part 5 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol), the 

Annual Payment shall be revised in accordance with Clause 37 (Financial 

Adjustments); and  

5.3 the Operator Partner Change shall be implemented within the period specified by 

the Authority in its notice of acceptance.  

6. If the Authority rejects the Operator Partner Notice of Change, it shall not be obliged 

to give its reasons for such a rejection and the Operator Partner shall not be entitled 

to reimbursement by the Authority of any of its costs involved in the preparation of 

the Operator Partner Notice of Change.  

7. Unless the Authority's written acceptance expressly agrees to an increase in the 

Annual Payment or that the Operator Partner should be entitled to relief from any of 

its obligations, there shall be no increase in the Annual Payment or relief granted 

from any obligations as a result of an Operator Partner Change.  

8. If the Operator Partner Change causes, or will cause, the Operator Partner's costs 

or those of a sub-contractor to decrease, there shall be a decrease in the Annual 

Payment where it is a Deficit Annual Payment such that any cost savings (following 

deduction of costs reasonably incurred by the Operator Partner in implementing 

such Operator Partner Change) shall be shared on the basis of 50 per cent (50%) 

of the saving being retained by the Operator Partner and 50 per cent (50%)  of the 

saving being paid to the Authority as a lump sum within ten (10) Business Days of 

agreement or determination or by way of revision of the Annual  

Payment pursuant to Clause 37 (Financial Adjustments). Where it is a Surplus 

Annual Payment, any cost savings shall be for the account of the Operator Partner.  

Pack Page 417



 

99120273.1\kp07                268  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

9. The Authority shall not reject an Operator Partner Change that is required in order 

to conform to a Change in Law.  The costs of introducing an Operator Partner 

Change resulting from a Qualifying Change in Law (including any resulting revision 

of the Annual Payment) shall be dealt with in accordance with Clause 27 (Change 

in Law) and, to the extent not dealt with therein, all costs shall be borne by the 

Operator Partner.   

     

Pack Page 418



 

99120273.1\kp07                269  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

PART 6 - PARTIAL TERMINATION  

1. Provided that the Authority's right under this paragraph 1 of Part 6 of this Schedule 

22 (Change Protocol) shall not be exercised more than three times during the 

Contract Period, the Authority may serve notice of its intention to remove a Facility 

from this Agreement by way of a High Value Change Notice (Partial Termination 

Authority Notice of Change) in accordance with this paragraph 1 of this Part 6 of 

this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol).   

2. Subject to paragraphs 3 and 4 of this Part 6 of this Schedule 22 (Change  

Protocol), where the Authority has served a Partial Termination Authority Notice of  

Change, the provisions of paragraphs 2 to 14 of Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol) shall apply. The Operator Partner shall not be entitled to serve a notice 

under paragraph 3.1 of Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) in respect of 

any Partial Termination Authority Notice of Change.  

3. Proposals delivered by the Operator Partner under paragraph 3.1 of Part 4 of this 

Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) relating to a Partial Termination Authority Notice of 

Change shall be calculated on the basis that the partial termination shall be carried 

out on the basis that the Annual Payment shall be adjusted so as to leave the 

Operator Partner in a "no better and no worse" position in accordance with Clause 

37.4.  

4. In the event that a High Value Change Proposal pursuant to a Partial Termination 

Authority Notice of Change is confirmed by the Authority in accordance with 

paragraph 4.5.2 of Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change Protocol) the adjustment to 

the Annual Payment under paragraph 12 of Part 4 of this Schedule 22 (Change 

Protocol) shall be carried out so as to leave the Operator Partner in a "no better and 

no worse" position in accordance with Clause 37.4.  

  

  

  

SCHEDULE 23 - LOBTA  

    

Pack Page 419



 

99120273.1\kp07                270  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

SCHEDULE 24 - EXIT STRATEGY REQUIREMENTS  

1. Without prejudice to any other provision of this Agreement, upon notification of 

termination of this Agreement, howsoever caused, or twelve months prior to the 

Expiry Date, the parties will meet to discuss a timetable for drawing up and will draw 

up a handover plan covering the performance of the obligations of both parties 

during the handover period. In any event, the Operator Partner will, at no cost to the 

Authority, provide such cooperation, information and assistance to the Authority 

and/or as may be reasonably required by the Authority to transfer and to enable a 

smooth migration of the Services being supplied by the Operator Partner including 

enabling the Authority and/or its New Operator Partner to perform services the same 

as or substantially the same as the Services in a similar manner as required under 

this Agreement.  

2. The Operator Partner and the Authority shall use all reasonable endeavours to 

ensure all appropriate arrangements are put in place to give effect to the transition 

of the Services to the Authority or a New Operator Partner.  

3. The Operator Partner agrees that if it is requested by the Authority it shall use all 

reasonable endeavours to assign or novate any then existing contracts which the 

Operator Partner has entered into with third parties in connection with the provision 

of the Services including the leasing of any equipment used in the delivery of the 

Services to the Authority or to any New Operator Partner.  

4. The Operator Partner shall not [(and shall procure that the Leisure Operator shall 

not)] in the twelve month period prior to the Expiry Date (or such period remaining 

where a Termination Notice has been issued) (Applicable Period) in relation to the 

Services except with the prior written consent of the Authority, such consent not to 

be unreasonably withheld or delayed:  

4.1 incur any expenditure or enter into any commitments other than in the ordinary 

course of trading;  

4.2 dispose of or agree to dispose of or grant any option in respect of any part of the 

Assets other than stock in the ordinary course of trading;  

4.3 materially vary the terms of any contracts with any provider of goods and/or services 

already entered into;  

4.4 enter into any long-term (being 12 months or longer), unusual or abnormal contract 

or commitment;  

4.5 enter into any leasing, hire purchase, contract hire or other agreements or 

arrangements for payment on deferred terms;  

4.6 grant or issue or agree to grant or issue any mortgages, charges, debentures or 

other securities for money or redeem or agree to redeem any such securities or give 

or agree to give any guarantees or indemnities or, without prejudice to the foregoing 

generality, create or permit to subsist any other encumbrance over all or any of its 

present or future incomes or assets affecting this Agreement and/or the provision of 

the Services;  

Pack Page 420



 

99120273.1\kp07                271  
LEGAL\42297367v1  

4.7 permit any of its insurances to lapse or do anything which would make any policy of 

insurance void or voidable;  

4.8 in any way depart from the ordinary course of its day to day business either as 

regards the nature or scope or the manner of conducting the same;  

4.9 pay any fees or commissions to any persons other than fees payable on arm's length 

terms to third parties who have rendered bona fide service or advice required in the 

ordinary course of business;  

4.10 release, waive or modify any warranty or guarantee given by any supplier of goods 

or services;  

4.11 cause or permit any item comprised in the records relating to the Services to be 

removed or destroyed or any programs or data held on the computer systems of the 

Operator Partner and relating to the Services to be removed or deleted except for 

the deletion of Personal Data where required to ensure compliance with the Data 

Protection Legislation or for the efficient running of the computer system in question 

after satisfactory back-up copies have been made and securely stored  

off-site;  

4.12 terminate the employment of any of the Relevant Employees for any reason 

whatsoever without first obtaining the consent of the Authority to such termination 

save where, in the reasonable opinion of the Operator Partner, termination is 

justified for cause due to the actions of any such of the Relevant Employees;  

4.13 alter or change in any way any of the terms and conditions of employment of any of 

the Relevant Employees whether with or without the consent of the Relevant 

Employees other than for wage or salary awards which are in line with those offered 

generally for similar individuals within the Operator Partner's workforce or as is 

required by law (the Operator Partner will provide upon request by the Authority 

evidence that any such wage or salary award is in line with those offered generally 

for similar individuals);  

4.14 relocate or assign to new duties any of the Relevant Employees, or assign to the 

provision of the Services any employee not so assigned at the commencement of 

the Applicable Period, or increase to any significant degree the proportion of working 

time spent on the Services by any such employee, without the prior written consent 

of the Authority, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed; or  

4.15 make any other alterations to the structure or composition of the Relevant 

Employees which are intended to or which may preclude the application of the 

Regulations upon the resumption of service by the Authority or another service 

provider.  

5. In the event that the Authority fails to respond within five (5) Business Days of the 

Operator Partner's request for consent, the Authority shall be deemed to have given 

consent.  

  

Pack Page 421



This page is intentionally left blank



Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub     
Stage 0 & 1 Report

Project Number: 23013
Produced by: ACu

Checked by: SBl

25/09/23 - First Issue

APPENDIX 4

P
ack P

age 423



2  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Contents

1.0  •   INTRODUCTION
1.1 Project Overview
1.2 Farnborough Civic Quarter
1.3 Project Team
 - Project Directory
1.4 Design Deliverables
1.5	 Project	Governance	&	Communications

RIBA STAGE 1 – STRATEGIC DEFINITION & PROJECT BRIEF

2.0  •   VISION & OBJECTIVES
2.1 Vision Workshops
2.2 User Workshops
2.3 Engagement Summary

PROJECT BRIEF

3.0  •   Masterplan Design Requirements document (LDA)

4.0  •   Culture & Leisure Hub
4.1 Graphic Brief
4.2	 Schedule	of	Accommodation
4.3	 User	Brief	&	Critical	Adjacencies
4.4	 Site	Analysis	and	Evaluation
4.5 Feasibility Layout

5.0  •   Mobility Hub
5.1 Graphic Brief
5.2	 Schedule	of	Accommodation
5.3 Feasibility Layout

6.0  •   Design Programme

7.0  •   Sustainability Strategy (by others)

8.0  •   Outline Cost Plan (by others)

Appendices
A Stage Report Deliverables
B Scope of Services (Stages 2 & 3)
C	 Designers	Responsibilities	Matrix
D Project Deliverables
E Vision Document & Technical Workshop
F Culture Workshop Summary

P
ack P

age 424



1 • Introduction                                                                                            

P
ack P

age 425



4  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Introduction
Overview (1 of 3)

Project Brief
Following a successful Levelling Up Fund (LUF) bid, Rushmoor 
Borough	Council	(RBC)	now	wish	to	move	into	the	next	stages	
of	the	Farnborough	Culture	&	Leisure	Hub	and	Mobility	Hub	
(FCLH	&	MH)	project	with	specific	reference	to	ensuring	that	
the scheme is desirable, viable and deliverable, that the project 
brief	is	clearly	defined	and	understood	by	key	stakeholders	and	
that	a	suitably	skilled	and	qualified	professional	team	is	in	place	
to design and deliver this landmark project.

The purpose of this Stage 1 Report is to build on the previous 
work	carried	out	by	RBC	and	through	engagement	and	testing,	
update	and	refine	the	Project	Brief.	Reference	has	been	made	
to the following documents:
• Levelling Up Funding Bid 
• Civic Quarter Vision 
• Farnborough Leisure Needs Analysis 
• Rushmoor Cultural Strategy 
• Hampshire Library Vision 
• Farnborough Library Overview
• GT3 Architects Leisure & Culture Hub Stage 1 Brief

Stage 1 is about developing the detail of the brief and making 
sure that everything needed for the design process is in place 
before Stage 2. This includes ensuring that the brief can be 
accommodated on the site.

Farnborough Civic Quarter
The project will be located in the new Farnborough Civic 
Quarter which recently obtained outline planning consent for 
a	large,	mixed-use	project	immediately	to	the	south	of	the	
existing	town	centre.	The	Civic	Quarter	is	a	joint	venture	project	
between Hill Investments and Rushmoor Borough Council, 
collectively	known	as	the	Rushmoor	Development	Partnership	
(RDP).	Further	information	on	the	project	can	be	found	at		
https://rushmoordevelopmentpartnership.com/civic-quarter/	
and	details	of	the	planning	application	can	be	found	on	the	RBC	
website	using	the	reference	number	22/00193/OUTPP.

The core components of this project include:

• New Cultural & Leisure Hub – At the heart of the Civic 
Quarter is a new Cultural and Leisure Hub. This new 
landmark,	community	building	is	located	on	the	existing	
site	of	the	leisure	centre	and	will	be	a	destination	for	
residents across Farnborough. The FCLH comprises a single, 
multi-use	building	containing	wet	and	dry	leisure	facilities,	
a	county	library	and	cultural	facilities	with	a	gross	area	of	
circa	8,000sqm.	The	FCLH	activities	will	promote	health	
and well-being and will facilitate in bringing a wide variety 
of people from the local community together.

• New	Mobility	Hub	–	The	Civic	Quarter	will	breathe	new	
life	into	Queensmead	by	creating	strong	pedestrian	
connections	and	delivering	two	new	mobility	hubs.	The	
masterplan links the mobility hubs and the network of 
public open spaces together through the public realm and 
integrated transport strategies. New and improved bus 
stops	and	other	supporting	sustainable	travel	initiatives	
facilitate movement both to the Civic Quarter and within 
the	wider	town	centre.	The	proposed	Mobility	Hub	within	
this project (Plot A) will contain circa 350 parking spaces 
with	a	construction	value	of	circa	£7M.

Further	details	relating	to	the	use	and	quantum	of	each	project	
are set out later in this document.

Vision & Objectives
The	ambition	for	this	project	was	set	out	in	the	LUF	bid	as	
follows:

‘At the heart of the ambitious Civic Quarter regeneration 
scheme in Farnborough town centre, the Leisure 
and Cultural Hub (LCH) will be an iconic, co-located, 
sustainable (net zero carbon) destination venue that will 
proactively address identified community needs aligned to 
health, physical activity, social wellbeing and culture. 

The new-build facility will provide a state-of-the-art 
leisure centre, library and cultural space, creating a heart 
for the community in a regenerated place they can be 
proud of. The Hub will bring together key services and 
create new opportunities to ‘level up’. 

With	over	46,750	overweight	or	obese	adults	and	over	7,300	
overweight	or	obese	children	and	the	4th	lowest	activity	
rate in the South East, we need to tackle the high levels of 
obesity,	inactivity,	and	poor	mental	health	experienced	by	the	
Borough’s	expanding,	ethnically	diverse	and	ageing	population.	

The	Hub	will	improve	access	to	cultural	and	learning	activities	
for	all	and	deliver	cost-effective	flexible	accommodation,	
improving	service	quality	and	reducing	operating	costs	for	a	
wide range of public and voluntary sector services’.

The vision is to deliver a project that is greater than the sum 
of	its	parts,	providing	new	leisure	facilities	alongside	library,	
cultural and community spaces in a fully sustainable building. 
A	destination	play	area,	town	park	and	skate	park	will	sit	
alongside	with	a	mobility	hub	supporting	the	sustainable	
transport	infrastructure	plans	for	the	town	centre.	Significantly	
contributing	towards	realising	the	regeneration	vision	for	
the Civic Quarter, this project will unlock a sequence of 
development phases across the wider Civic Quarter site. 

Through the disposal of development parcels a range of 
alternative	uses	can	be	delivered	that	support	the	vitality	
and vibrancy of the town centre in line with the Civic Quarter 
Masterplan.	Through	co-location,	the	Hub	will	deliver	an	offer	
which blends key services for the local community with state-
of-the-art	leisure	and	cultural	activities	for	families	and	users	of	
all ages.

The	core	objectives	of	the	Leisure	and	Cultural	Hub	(as	set	out	
in the LUF bid) are to;
1. Increase	participation	in	physical	activity	across	all	age	

groups.
2. Increase	participation	in	cultural	activity	across	all	age	

groups.
3. Improve	the	health	and	happiness	of	local	communities.
4. Provide	a	sustainable	solution	for	leisure,	culture	and	

wellbeing in the heart of the town centre with a focus on 
tackling	social	and	economic	inequalities.

5. Support	Sport	England’s	‘Uniting	the	Movement’	key	
outcomes	for	sport	and	physical	activity,	improving	the	
health and wellbeing of Rushmoor residents.

6. Deliver	long	term	better	public	health	outcomes	for	the	
community throughout the whole life of the asset, bringing 
about	a	generational	change	in	behaviour.

7.	 Act as a catalyst for wider economic development and 
regeneration	including700	new	homes.

8. Support statutory agendas of adult social care and 
children’s services.

9.	 Deliver	the	first	Net	Zero	Carbon	building	in	the	Borough

P
ack P

age 426



5  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Project Team
The	client	has	identified	suitably	qualified	consultants	and	
specialists	to	form	the	core	design	team	for	this	prestigious	
project and to design and develop the project through RIBA 
Stages 2 and 3 including the submission of a detailed planning 
application.	The	majority	of	the	multi-disciplinary	design	team	
(MDDT)	will	be	novated	to	the	selected	main	contractor	at	the	
end of Stage 3 to complete the design and delivery stages of 
the project.

The client has appointed GT3 Architects as Lead Consultant for 
the	project	with	all	other	members	of	the	MDDT	employed	as	
sub-consultants	to	form	a	single,	multidisciplinary	design	and	
technical	team	with	the	skills	and	expertise	to	cover	all	aspects	
of the project. The core team will include the following:
• Lead Consultant – GT3 Architects
• Architect & Lead Designer – GT3 Architects
• Civil & Structural Engineer – Hydrock
• MEP	Engineer	–	Hydrock
• Sustainability Consultant – Hydrock
• Landscape Architect – Colour Landscape
• Pool	Filtration	Design	–	Devin	Consulting
• Acoustic	Consultant	–	Apex
• Planning Consultant – DPP 
• Highways/Transport	Engineer	–	SAJ	
• Principal Designer – Summers Inman

Other consultants to be appointed directly by RBC include:
• Cost Consultant – Artelia
• Fore Engineer – Bespoke Fire Safety

Design Deliverables
The Appendices in this document contain a number of 
important documents that set out the deliverables throughout 
Stages	2	&	3	of	this	project.	A	brief	description	of	each	
document is set out below:
• Stage	Report	Deliverables	–	sets	out	the	expected	outputs	

for	all	members	of	the	MDDT	during	Stages	2	&	3	and	are	
based	on	best	practice	and	experience	on	other	projects	
similar to the Farnborough Leisure and Cultural Hub

• Scope of Services – sets out the scope of work for the 
core	design	team	in	general	and	with	specific	reference	to	
Stages 2 & 3

• Designers	Responsibilities	Matrix	–	sets	out	the	
responsibilities	of	the	core	design	team	in	relation	to	the	
main works packages and the role that each would play 
(leading	or	assisting)

• Project	Deliverables	–	sets	out	the	expected	outputs	for	
the	core	design	team	relative	to	each	RIBA	workstage.

Project Governance and Communications
Project delivery will be led by Rushmoor Borough Council 
working	with	representatives	from	Hampshire	County	Council	
(HCC) and Hampshire Cultural Trust (HCT). The project will be 
monitored internally through the Councils Capital Programme 
Board and through project-level governance as per the Project 
Delivery	Structure	diagram	below.	It	is	proposed	that	a	Multi-
Agency Project Steering Group is established and meets every 
six	weeks	to	ensure	all	partners	are	engaged	and	involved	in	
project delivery. A number of project delivery workstreams will 
be established and coordinated by the project team.

RBC Project Sponsor will be Karen Edwards with day-to-day 
guidance	and	Project	Management	provided	by	Gemma	Kirk	
and	Johanna	Cohen.

As Lead Consultant, GT3 Architects will be represented by:
• Simon Dunstan – Project Director
• Suzanne Blair – Project Leader
• Anna Cumberland – Project Architect
• Sam Sedgewick – Project Architect

Rushmoor Capital 
Programme Board

RBC Project Sponsor
(Executive Director)

Partner Project 
Steering Group

Project 
Delivery Team

Design, Technical 
& Cost

Finance & 
Funding Legal Operator 

Procurement

Community 
Consultation	&	

Engagement

Library & Cultural 
Transition

Project Board

Project Delivery Workstreams

Introduction
Overview (2 of 3)

Project Structure & Governance

Effective	client	liaison	is	an	essential	tool	in	delivering	effective	
project	management	and	meeting	key	programme	objectives	
and	timescales.	The	benefits	of	regular	meetings	include	
building	project	awareness,	increasing	client	participation	and	
‘buy	in’	(with	related	benefits	when	it	comes	to	‘sign-off’),	
building	trusting	relationships	through	face-to-face	contact	and	
creating	a	safe	environment	to	debate	issues	as	a	team.	We	
have	set	out	below	a	co-ordinated	pattern	of	regular	meetings	
across	the	proposed	Stage	2	&	3	programme.	These	meetings	
are	structured	to	ensure	that	the	right	people	attend	the	right	
meetings	and	that	decisions	are	made	in	a	timely	fashion,	
based	upon	clear	outputs	and	that	resources	are	effectively	
deployed to deliver the programme.

1. Fortnightly	–	Design	Team	Meetings/Workshops	(Stages	
2-3).	Mix	of	in-person	and	virtual.

2. Monthly	–	Client	Project	Meetings	(Stages	2-3).	Mix	of	in-
person and virtual.

3. Stakeholder/Ad	Hoc	Meetings	–	allow	for	4	additional	
meetings	during	each	of	Stages	2	and	3.	Mix	of	in-person	
and virtual.

In-person	meetings	are	likely	to	be	held	in	either	RBC	offices	in	
Farnborough,	GT3	studio	in	Newcastle	or	at	the	London	offices	
of members of the project team. Regular days, dates and 
attendees	for	all	meetings	will	be	agreed	as	part	of	the	Project	
Inception	Meeting.

Client	Project	Meetings	will	primarily:
• Provide updates on design progress in line with RIBA 

Stages,	including	workshops	on	specific	topics.
• Provide updates on costs and suitability of the budget.
• Monitor	against	the	Master	Programme.
• Review procurement status.
• Identify	any	issues	that	might	affect	either	the	end-user	

functionality	of	the	scheme,	and/or	the	operation	and	
maintenance of the scheme.

• Identify	any	design	issues	that	might	reflect	a	change	to	
the original brief.

• Review,	discuss,	approve	and/or	reject	client	changes	when	
presented.

• Approve any design changes that may arise from 
buildability	issues	and/or	value	engineering.

• Identify/	eradicate/	action	any	CDM-related	risks	or	issues	
that occur.P

ack P
age 427



6  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Design	Team	Meetings/Workshops	will	occur	every	other	week	
and the agenda will typically include:
• Design	progress/update	from	each	discipline	highlighting	

any changes or issues to address
• Anything that impacts cost or programme
• Operational	and	logistical	issues	to	be	raised	with	the	

Council/Stakeholders
• Decisions	required	by	the	Client/Steering	Group
• CDM	issues.

Stakeholder	Consultation	Meetings	–	A	list	of	key	partners,	
user	groups	and	stakeholders	will	be	identified	with	the	Council	
at	the	Inception	Meeting.	It	is	proposed	that	these	partners	
/	groups	will	be	consulted	at	various	stages	of	the	design	
development,	and	prior	to	the	planning	application	being	
submitted.

 

Introduction
Overview (3 of 3)

Stage 0 & 1 Architectural Report
This Stage 0 & 1 Report is intended to develop, capture and 
articulate	the	Project	Brief	as	set	out	by	the	client	and	key	
stakeholders	and	reflects	almost	2	years	of	work	culminating	
in the successful Levelling Up Fund bid in early 2023. The 
document	sets	out	the	vision	and	a	clear	set	of	objectives	
for	the	project	alongside	key	qualitative	and	quantitative	
parameters including the following:
• Farnborough Civic Quarter Design Requirements 

documents	–	which	set	out	the	quality	aspirations	for	the	
Civic	Quarter	and	specifically	for	the	Leisure	&	Cultural	Hub	
and	Mobility	Hub	Plots;

• Schedule	of	Accommodation	–	which	quantifies	the	Project	
Brief	in	relation	to	areas	for	specific	uses	and	activities;

• Cost	Estimate	–	which	translates	and	aligns	the	Project	
Brief with an overall capital budget envelope for the whole 
project including buildings, landscape and infrastructure;

• Design	Programme	–	which	sets	out	the	pre-construction	
programme	activities	and	timescales	up	to	a	start	on	site.

The contents of this report are strategic in nature and do not 
represent a design for the project. All drawings within this 
report have been produced to support brief-development 
discussions	with	key	stakeholders	and/or	to	test	the	capacity	of	
the	site	in	relation	to	the	proposed	quantum	of	development.	
A key purpose of this document is to ensure that everything 
needed for the design process is in place before the start of 
Stage 2.

P
ack P

age 428



2 • Vision & Objectives                                                                                           

P
ack P

age 429



8  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Technical WorkshopVision Workshop 20/03 21/03

GT3 carried out a Vision workshop, with key stakeholders, 
to establish the key principles for the Farnborough Leisure 
& Culture Hub.

The Vision Workshop is used to: 

Understand, articulate and illustrate a 
project’s vision, values, objectives and 
aspirations and consider users, functions, 
activities, spaces and design.

In Workshop 1 (Vision) representatives from ‘Arts & 
Culture’, ‘Leisure & Wellbeing’ and ‘Library & Community’ 
were assigned to mixed groups, to try to understanding 
the combined, overarching Vision for the scheme. 

The Vision Document should act as a constant point of 
reference throughout the project to ensure that design 
proposals reflect the vision, objectives and themes 
identified by the Client team. 

It also acts as a way to measure success at the end of the 
project.

As such it is important that the outcomes, principles and 
statements set out in this document have full buy-in and 
sign-off from all the stakeholders/Board members so that 
the project can progress with clarity and conviction. 

The full Vision Document is included in the appendices. 

GT3 carried out a Technical workshop, with key 
stakeholders, to establish the key principles for the 
Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub.

The technical workshop is used to:

Provide detailed information regarding spaces 
and operational factors, which allow for the 
development and testing of the core project 
brief.

In Workshop 2 (Technical) we asked participants to 
group themselves by sector, to understand the specific 
requirements for each area, from those who understand 
it best. 

The full Technical Workshop summary is included in the 
appendices. 

GT3 carried out a workshop on 18/05/23 with 
representatives of HCC Library Services and RBC.

The purpose of this workshop was to:

Understand core HCC Library activities 
and partner organisation needs. To review 
operational needs of specific Library spaces.

GT3 presented a review of the space utilisation provided 
by HCC and discussed how activities were accommodated 
in the current library facility.

The outputs of the HCC Library engagement sessions have 
been reviewed, and the feedback incorporated into the 
proposed Schedule of Accommodation. 

GT3 carried out a workshop on 24/05/23 with 
representatives of Arts & Culture in Rushmoor and the 
surrounding area.

The purpose of this workshop was to:

Establish the key principles for the 
Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub and begin 
the wider conversation around opportunities 
for future Arts & Culture activities in 
Farnborough and Rushmoor.

Participants were representative of a variety of Arts & 
Culture disciplines, including dance companies, individual 
artists (fine arts, textiles, music), theatre companies, 
events programmers and arts organisations (such as the 
Hampshire Cultural Trust).

During the workshop, they were assigned to mixed 
groups,
to try to understanding the combined, overarching Vision 
for Rushmoor Arts & Culture, and the FCLH. The workshop 
aimed to gradually work down in scale, beginning with 
understanding the vision for integrated Arts & Culture 
across Rushmoor borough and the surrounding area, 
what activities may happen in the FCLH and the details of 
what the facility needs to include, to make this successful.

The workshop summary document is included in the 
appendicies. The document has been split into feedback 
relevant to the wider ‘Arts & Culture in Rushmoor’ 
discussion and that feedback which is specific to the 
FCLH. 

HCC Library Engagement Culture Focus Group

Vision & Objectives
Engagement Summary

As part of the Stage 0 & 1 development, GT3 Architects have carried out a series of workshops with Key Stakeholder’s to further understand certain requirements of the brief. 
These looked at the how the FCLH and Mobility Hub fit into the wider masterplan, and key questions around the size, use and operation of the building. 
The main outputs of key workshops are summarised below.

18/05 24/05

P
ack P

age 430



9  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Vision & Objectives
Vision & Technical Workshop

Strategic Objectives

Vision Statement

Two of the key outputs of the Vision Workshop are to establish 
a	defined	Vision	and	Strategic	Objectives	for	the	whole	project.	
These are overarching aims which should be referred back to 
throughout the project, and are summarised here.

The full Vision document can be found in the appendices.

£  TIER 01 OBJECTIVES

£  TIER 03 OBJECTIVES

REDUCE 
INEQUALITIES  TIER 04 OBJECTIVES

£  TIER 02 OBJECTIVES

DEVELOP 
& SUPPORT 

LOCAL ARTS & 
CULTURE

INNOVATION 
& SKILLS  TIER 05 OBJECTIVES

“ Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub should be an inclusive, 
community-first facility which supports the holistic health & wellbeing 

of all users, through recreation, support and service provision.

It should expand the range of services currently offered through the Leisure, Library and 
Culture provision to increase participation across a diverse range of groups, based on a 

model which is financially, socially and environmentally sustainable.

Combining these facilities under one roof should be an opportunity to open up activities 
and services to new user groups and make the most of spaces, programming them 

throughout the week and across all times of the day.”

Key objectives for the scheme focus 
on:

Creating	an	inclusive	community	facility	
which supports the health & wellbeing of 
all users. (Tier 1)

Providing a wider range of services 
to	increase	participation	based	on	a	
model	which	is	financially,	socially	and	
environmentally sustainable. (Tier 2&3)

Foundation	factors	that	will	make	the	
scheme successful as part of the wider 
development in Farnborough. (Tier 4&5) 

Tier 01:  
• Support Health & Wellbeing
• Promote	Inclusion	/Accessibility
• Create Community Facility

Tier 02: 
• Increase	Participation
• Enhance	Service	Offer
• Financial Sustainability
• Enhance Community Cohesion

Tier 03:
• Create	Leisure	&	Culture	Destination
• Increase	Operational	Efficiency
• Promote Sustainability

Tier 04:
• Reduce	Inequalities
• Kick-start	Regeneration	Of	Civic	Quarter
• Enhance	Image	&	Identity

Tier 05:
• Develop & support Local Arts & Culture
• Innovation	&	Skills

After scoring and weighting the individual groups responses we can form a combined set of strategic objectives for the project.

P
ack P

age 431



10  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Vision & Objectives
Culture Focus Group

HAMPSHIRE	&	
WIDER AREA 

EXTERNAL SPACE

FARNBOROUGH

RUSHMOOR
(ALDERSHOT)

EXTERNAL SPACE

FARNBOROUGH

RUSHMOOR
(ALDERSHOT)

Arts & 
Business 

Incubators

Non-
arts 

venues

Events

Non-
arts 

venues

Non-
arts 

venues

Bring 
London 
‘cool’ inExpertise

Specialist 
knowledge

MOD 
History

Aviation 
History

opportunities to bring expertise IN and OUT

Arti
sts

 M
UST

 w
ork 

with
 th

e c
ommunity

Reference 
- without 

making it a 
museum

“Tell the story 
of the region”

Touring buses

Festivals

Activities
Connection	to	

the outside

Community 
Funding

Give the community 
funding to try things, 
not	organisations,	just	

individuals

satellite events linked back to the hub

programme these with specialists

WIDER CONSIDERATIONS

Artist’s in 
residence

Developing a connected Arts Strategy

HAMPSHIRE	&	
WIDER AREA 

FARNBOROUGH CULTURE & 
LEISURE  HUB 

Nurture 
talent Outreach

Draw 
audiences 

from Surrey

Expertise

LOCAL AND REGIONAL INFLU
EN

CES

FC
LH

 LE
D O

UTR
EA

CH
 &

 IN
IT

IA
TI

VE
S

KN
OW

LE
DG

E 
EX

CH
AN

GE

The Culture Focus Ground workshop aimed to understand the 
what a wider, integrated Arts & Culture Strategy for Rushmoor 
and	Hampshire	may	look	like,	and	how	the	activities	housed	in	
the FCLH may be supported by and integrated into this strategy. 

This page summarises the wider strategy elements, how they 
should	link	between	different	areas	and	how	and	where	they	
relate back to the proposed Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub 
(FCLH).

The full Culture Workshop summary can be found in the 
appendices.

P
ack P

age 432



3 • Masterplan Requirements                                                                    

P
ack P

age 433



12  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Masterplan Design Requirements document (LDA)

A	key	part	of	the	planning	application	for	the	Farnborough	Civic	
Quarter was the Design Requirements document produced by 
DLA.	The	intention	of	the	Civic	Quarter	Design	Requirements	
was	to	support	the	documents	submitted	for	approval	as	part	
of	the	Outline	Planning	Application,	and	provide	strategic	
design guidance for future architects, designers and developers 
working on the Civic Quarter masterplan.

The Design Requirements set out the strategies which underpin 
the	illustrative	masterplan	submitted	as	part	of	the	Outline	
Planning	Application	and	detail	the	key	design	aspirations	that	
will	ensure	future	Reserved	Matters	Applications	will	meet	the	
high	standard	of	quality	local	stakeholders	expect.

The primary purpose of the design guidance within this 
document can be outlined as follows:
• Provide tested guidance on the masterplan’s design 

principles and strategies to inform the development of 
future	Reserved	Matters	Applications	(RMAs).

• Ensure	the	coordination	of	high-quality	urban	design	and	
public realm principles.

• Support	in	strategically	defining	the	character	of	the	
physical	environment	and	the	aspirations	of	the	proposed	
building plots and public open spaces to support that 
character.

• Help co-ordinate the delivery of a more sustainable and 
liveable built environment.

It	is	intended	that	this	document	will	assist	the	determination	
of	future	Reserved	Matters	Applications	including	the	Leisure	&	
Cultural	Hub	and	Mobility	Hub	projects.

Masterplan Design Requirements
Overview

Plot A
Mobility	Hub

Plot B
Farnborough Culture & 
Leisure Hub

Overall	Masterplan	
Proposal by LDA Design 

P
ack P

age 434



13  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Masterplan Design Requirements
Plots A & B

Development Zone B

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Deliver a new Civic Hub with reprovided and 
enhanced Leisure Centre facilities.

• Provide active ground floor frontage and a 
primary entrance on the southern facade.

• Deliver a massing strategy that minimises any 
adverse impacts on surrounding context.

• Encourage pedestrian movement from 
Queensmead into the Civic Quarter with a car 
free southern edge.

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active non-residential uses along 
the park edge with appropriate spill-out 
space to the public realm

• Minimise negative frontage , blank facades  
and exposed podium parking

• Provide a primary entrance on the southern 
facade

• Typical upper floors must:
• Prioritise surveillance of the central park
• Adhere to NDSS standards
• Provide access to external amenity space 

through private balconies or landscape 
podium

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 27m development free zone from 
Braircliffe House on the eastern edge of plot 
C

• Retain a 3.6m development free zone from 
existing development to the north of plot C

Height andvertical limits:
• Max height

• 2-8 storeys
• Massing approach must:

• Address the northern edge by reducing 
in height to mitigate adverse effects to 
existing development. Massing should 
increase to the south-east corner. 

• Daylight/sunlight - At RMA stages the plots must 
demonstrate:
• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

that at least 50% of the open space areas 
should receive atl least 2 hous of direct 
sunlight on the equinox (21st March) with 
the proposed development in place.

• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

in regards to impacts on nearby buildings and 
internal habitable rooms

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise podium parking contained within the 
core of the development plot

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum of 
5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access parking

• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 
to the north 

• Pedestrian movement must:
• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 

enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between Queensmead 
and the Central Park 

• Contribute to a well activated public plaza, 
with appropriate space for activity and 
circulation

• Tree retention must:
• Retain the cluster of category B trees to the 

south of the development zone
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible.

Development Zone C

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Provide a mobility hub with active ground 
floor frontages on the southern and eastern 
facades.

• Reduce vehicle movement into the scheme by 
being accessed close to Westmead

• Prioritise mobility related uses  through 
groundfloor commercial spaces

• Reduce blank facades to public realm
• Provide suitable quantum of EV charging 

points

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active commercial uses along the 
eastern and southern edges with appropriate 
spill-out space to the public realm

• Minimise blank facades  and exposed 
parking facing the public realm

• Building cores and entrances should activate 
side streets and be easily legible

• Typical upper floors must:
• Be designed predominantly for mobility use
• Be designed to Hampshire County Council 

standards in regards to size of parking zones
• Explore opportunities for facade treatments 

of architectural merit or biodiversity 
enhancement such as greenwalls

• Explore floor to ceiling heights and 
structural column spacing that would allow 
future adaptation for other uses 

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 15m development free zone from 
the site boundary on the northern edge

• Retain a 35.2m development free zone from 
existing development to the north

Height and vertical limits:
• Max height

• 6 storeys

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise a multi-level parking solution 
wrapped with commercial units on the 
ground floor

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum 
of 5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access 

parking
• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 

to the north 
• Accommodate neccessary circulation and ramps 

within the plot, avoiding external structures
• Allow for leisure centre drop offs and taxi ranks 

to the north east
• Pedestrian movement must:

• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 
enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between the skate park 
and the Central Park 

• Work to positively interact with the 
reprovision of the skatepark and where 
appropriate deliver a multi-functional 
landscape with street furniture, cycle parking,  
and other facilities to support the skatepark.

• Accommodate wayfinding and mobility / live 
transport display boards

• Tree retention must:
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible in the construction 
process

66

FARNBOROUGH CIVIC QUARTER  / LDA DESIGN

Mobility Hub Development Zone B

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Deliver a new Civic Hub with reprovided and 
enhanced Leisure Centre facilities.

• Provide active ground floor frontage and a 
primary entrance on the southern facade.

• Deliver a massing strategy that minimises any 
adverse impacts on surrounding context.

• Encourage pedestrian movement from 
Queensmead into the Civic Quarter with a car 
free southern edge.

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active non-residential uses along 
the park edge with appropriate spill-out 
space to the public realm

• Minimise negative frontage , blank facades  
and exposed podium parking

• Provide a primary entrance on the southern 
facade

• Typical upper floors must:
• Prioritise surveillance of the central park
• Adhere to NDSS standards
• Provide access to external amenity space 

through private balconies or landscape 
podium

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 27m development free zone from 
Braircliffe House on the eastern edge of plot 
C

• Retain a 3.6m development free zone from 
existing development to the north of plot C

Height andvertical limits:
• Max height

• 2-8 storeys
• Massing approach must:

• Address the northern edge by reducing 
in height to mitigate adverse effects to 
existing development. Massing should 
increase to the south-east corner. 

• Daylight/sunlight - At RMA stages the plots must 
demonstrate:
• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

that at least 50% of the open space areas 
should receive atl least 2 hous of direct 
sunlight on the equinox (21st March) with 
the proposed development in place.

• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

in regards to impacts on nearby buildings and 
internal habitable rooms

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise podium parking contained within the 
core of the development plot

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum of 
5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access parking

• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 
to the north 

• Pedestrian movement must:
• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 

enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between Queensmead 
and the Central Park 

• Contribute to a well activated public plaza, 
with appropriate space for activity and 
circulation

• Tree retention must:
• Retain the cluster of category B trees to the 

south of the development zone
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible.

Development Zone C

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Provide a mobility hub with active ground 
floor frontages on the southern and eastern 
facades.

• Reduce vehicle movement into the scheme by 
being accessed close to Westmead

• Prioritise mobility related uses  through 
groundfloor commercial spaces

• Reduce blank facades to public realm
• Provide suitable quantum of EV charging 

points

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active commercial uses along the 
eastern and southern edges with appropriate 
spill-out space to the public realm

• Minimise blank facades  and exposed 
parking facing the public realm

• Building cores and entrances should activate 
side streets and be easily legible

• Typical upper floors must:
• Be designed predominantly for mobility use
• Be designed to Hampshire County Council 

standards in regards to size of parking zones
• Explore opportunities for facade treatments 

of architectural merit or biodiversity 
enhancement such as greenwalls

• Explore floor to ceiling heights and 
structural column spacing that would allow 
future adaptation for other uses 

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 15m development free zone from 
the site boundary on the northern edge

• Retain a 35.2m development free zone from 
existing development to the north

Height and vertical limits:
• Max height

• 6 storeys

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise a multi-level parking solution 
wrapped with commercial units on the 
ground floor

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum 
of 5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access 

parking
• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 

to the north 
• Accommodate neccessary circulation and ramps 

within the plot, avoiding external structures
• Allow for leisure centre drop offs and taxi ranks 

to the north east
• Pedestrian movement must:

• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 
enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between the skate park 
and the Central Park 

• Work to positively interact with the 
reprovision of the skatepark and where 
appropriate deliver a multi-functional 
landscape with street furniture, cycle parking,  
and other facilities to support the skatepark.

• Accommodate wayfinding and mobility / live 
transport display boards

• Tree retention must:
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible in the construction 
process

66

FARNBOROUGH CIVIC QUARTER  / LDA DESIGN

Culture & Leisure Hub

Extract	from	LDA	Design	
document	highlighting	key	
requirement for the sites.

This stage report reviews the brief for the Proposed Culture & Leisure Hub and the Mobility Hub.
These masterplanning requirements will be referenced and incorporated as designs are developed. 

P
ack P

age 435



4 • Culture & Leisure Hub Brief                                                                          

P
ack P

age 436



15  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

FCLH Project Brief
Schedule of Accommodation

The	accommodation	schedule	has	been	updated	to	reflect	the	
revised areas developed during the engagement process. 

Category Proposed area (sqm)

Leisure Wet 1,410
Leisure Dry 1,306
Leisure Health / Fitness 1,181
Leisure Support 900
Leisure Commercial 275

5,072
Leisure Circulation & partitions 659
Total Gross Area Leisure 5,731

Library Library 663

Library Community 140

Library Partner Space 0
Library Support 38

841
Library Circulation & Partitions 109

Total Gross Area Library 950

Culture Public Access 370

Culture Artist Space 104

Culture Support 36

510

Culture Circulation & Partitions 66

Total Gross Area Culture 576

Shared (L&C) Shared Public Spaces 50
Shared (L&C) Shared Support 65

115

Culture Circulation & Partitions 15

Total Gross Area Culture 130

Shared Café 265
Shared Retail 50
Shared Support 138

453
Shared Circulation & Partitions 59
Total Gross Area Support 512

Shared Plant 250

8,150

Total Net Area

Total Net Area

Total Net Area

Total Net Area

Total Development Area

Total Net Area

P
ack P

age 437



16  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

FCLH Project Brief
Graphic Brief

Total: 1,410 sqm Total: 1,306 sqm Total: 1,181 sqm Total: 885 sqm

WET-SIDE DRY-SIDE HEALTH/FITNESS SUPPORT

Main pool: 660sqm
(inc. Surrounds)

Intermediate 
pool: 312 sqm
(inc. Surrounds)

Steam/sauna: 
50 sqm

Pool store: 
94 sqm

First aid 
room: 9 sqm

6 court sports hall / 
Performance Hall: 
932 sqm

Hall Stores: 
150 sqm

Squash courts: 
126 sqm

Fitness suite: 675 sqm

Fitness studios: 288 sqm Studio store: 30 sqm

Spin studio: 
125 sqm

Fitness office: 
14 sqm

Consultation rooms: 
3 @ 12m

Dry change: 
350 sqm

Wet change: 
460 sqm

Building stores: 
15sqm

Offices:
48 sqm

Spectator seating: 
135 sqm

Spectator seating: 
72 sqm

Note: 
• All areas are approximate only

Total: 590 sqm

Bistro Servery: 
20 sqm

Storage: 15 sqm

Bistro Prep Area / 
Kitchen: 30 sqm

Soft play: 
100 sqm

Bistro: 
200 sqm

Clip n climb: 
175 sqm

COMMERCIAL

FACILITIES

Pool Plant: 
150 sqm

Area totals shown are net figures. Circulation and 
partitions % are added to generate a gross figure. 

Bleacher Seating: 
27 sqm

Server: 
12sqm

Spin Store: 13 sqm Staff Welfare: 
15sqm Retail: 

50 sqm

P
ack P

age 438



17  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

FCLH Project Brief
Graphic Brief

Total: 841 sqm Total: 510 sqm

Total: 250 sqm

LIBRARY CULTURE

FACILITIES

Library Floor: 645sqm

Shared Plant 
Centre: 250 sqm

Sm Group Rooms x 2: 
20sqm each

Store: 
30 sqm

Note: 
• All areas are approximate only

GIS Gallery
140 sqm

WCs: 
75 sqm

Digital Lab: 
70sqm

Reception 
18 sqm

BUILDING SHARED 
SPACES

Area totals shown are net figures. Circulation and 
partitions % are added to generate a gross figure. 

Community Gallery
110 sqm

Artist Collab
40 sqm

Studio Workspaces
4 @ 16 sqm

Multi-use: 
50sqm

Server
8 sqm

Building stores: 
15sqm

Meeting Room:
30sqm

Reception:
18 sqm

Total: 138 sqm

Multi-Use 
Rooms x 2: 
50sqm each

Server: 
8 sqm

Gallery Prep
12 sqm

SHARED

Multi-use 
Creative: 
50sqm

Workroom: 
45sqm

Welfare: 
20sqm

Total: 115 sqm

P
ack P

age 439



18  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

FCLH Project Brief
Indicative Layouts (Library Spaces)

These are not necessarily the proposed layouts for these space, but are intended to demonstrate 
how the required functions and furniture can be accommodated in the given areas.

Reception Areas

Office & Workroom Staff welfare

14sqm
18sqm

14sqm

15sqm

20sqm
37sqm

Workspace

45sqm

Set down spacePrint

Reception Areas

Office & Workroom Staff welfare

14sqm
18sqm

14sqm

15sqm

20sqm
37sqm

Workspace

45sqm

Set down spacePrint

45 sqm

• 4 Workstations  - up to 3 for Library use, other for HCT
• Printer and storage
• Workroom near to/linked to the office
• Set down space for boxes in the workroom
• Surface space for library work and event preparation

• 2 Workstations for staffed reception desk
• Counter area for enquiries
• Area for digital/self check-in stand
• Interim storage area

• Small teapoint
• Lockers for staff
• Seating area

18 sqm 20 sqm
OFFICE & WORKROOM RECEPTION STAFF WELFARE

Reception Areas

Office & Workroom Staff welfare

14sqm
18sqm

14sqm

15sqm

20sqm
37sqm

Workspace

45sqm

Set down spacePrint

Reception Areas

Office & Workroom Staff welfare

14sqm
18sqm

14sqm

15sqm

20sqm
37sqm

Workspace

45sqm

Set down spacePrint

Reception Areas

Office & Workroom Staff welfare

14sqm
18sqm

14sqm

15sqm

20sqm
37sqm

Workspace

45sqm

Set down spacePrint

Reception Areas

Office & Workroom Staff welfare

14sqm
18sqm

14sqm

15sqm

20sqm
37sqm

Workspace

45sqm

Set down spacePrint

These layouts have been discussed and tested with the HCC 
Library	representatives	to	understand	the	areas	required	
for	specific	spaces	and	how	they	are	best	arranged.	These	
form the basis of the areas allowed for in the schedule of 
accommodation.

P
ack P

age 440



19  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

FCLH Project Brief
Library & Culture - Indicative Adjacencies

Library

GROUND FLOOR

CORE

Work Room
Welfare

St.

Serv.

Group

Group

Gr
ou

p

Gr
ou

p

Sports Hall

Bistro

All library 
services grouped 

together on ground 
floor

Library accessed 
at main entrance 
of the building

Opportunity 
for Library 
to spill out 
into Bistro 
space

Direct delivery access to Library

Multi-Use
Creative

Multi-Use
Room

CORE

Community 
Gallery

GIS Gallery

St
ud

io

St
ud

io
St

ud
io

St
ud

io

Artist’s
Collab Digital 

Lab

Serv.

Gallery 
Prep

FIRST FLOOR

Dedicated 
entrance for 
Studios and 
deliveries 
via core (inc. 
out of hours 
access) 

Opportunity 
for	flexible	
walls to 
provide 
connections	
at high-level 
inside the 
building

Opportunity for views and 
connections	to	the	outside	and	
high-level over an atrium

All 
Arts & Culture 

services grouped 
together	on	first	

floor

The Library and Culture brief has been developed through 
Stage	0	&	1,	in	conjunction	with	RBC,	HCC	and	HCT.	

These diagrams are intended to show the adjacencies between 
spaces, and a variety of ways in which they may work together.

These are NOT A FINAL LAYOUT and	further	iterations	will	be	
developed as we design the building.

Access will also be available to required support spaces such as 
toilets,	main	reception,	bistro	area	and	delivery	areas.

The	sports	hall	could	be	used	intermittently	as	a	larger	volume	
space for events.

Potential Layout A

P
ack P

age 441



20  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Multi-Use
Creative Group

Multi-Use
Room Group

CORE

Community 
Gallery

GIS Gallery

St
ud

io

St
ud

io
St

ud
io

St
ud

io

Artist’s
Collab Digital 

Lab

Serv.

Gallery 
Prep

GROUND FLOOR

Dedicated entrance for Studios 
(inc. out of hours access)

Community 
Gallery acts at 
the key entrance 
point for Arts & 
Culture

Cluster of 
community 
spaces 

Library

CORE

Work Room

St.

Serv.

Gr
ou

p

Gr
ou

p

FIRST FLOOR

Opportunity 
for views 
and 
connections	
to the 
outside and 
high-level 
over an 
atrium

Easy access 
for deliveries 
directly up core

Welfare

Sports Hall

Bistro

Opportunity 
for Library 
to spill out 
into Bistro 
space

Potential Layout B Potential Layout C

Community 
Gallery

Multi-Use
Creative

Multi-Use
Room

COREGIS Gallery

St
ud

io

St
ud

io
St

ud
io

St
ud

io

Artist’s
Collab

Digital 
Lab

Serv.
Gallery 
Prep

Library

CORE

Work Room

St.

Serv.

Group

Group

Gr
ou

p

Gr
ou

p

GROUND FLOOR FIRST FLOOR

Dedicated 
entrance for 
Studios via core 
(inc. out of 
hours access)

Library main 
floor	&	galleries	
work together 
as main public 
facing entrance & 
attractions

All space used 
more via bookings 
or appointments 
grouped together 
upstairs

Direct delivery access to galleries

Library and 
Arts & Culture are 

integrated across two 
floors,	benefiting	from	

co-location

Welfare
Sports Hall

Bistro

Opportunity 
for Library & 
Galleries to 
spill out into 
Bistro space

The 
majority of Library 

services are located on 
first	floor

FCLH Project Brief
Library & Culture - Indicative Adjacencies

P
ack P

age 442



21  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Project Brief
Site Analysis - Constraints

N

Potentially	loud	elevation	to	skatepark Limited	vehicular	access	to	Mobility	Hub

No-build	/	offset	zones Site to be developed prior to rest of the 
masterplan

Existing	trees	to	be	maintained/protected

FCLH Site

Mobility	
Hub Site

Key challenges for the FLCH may  be anticipating 
the future development on the site, and how this 

may tie in, and constrained access to the north.

P
ack P

age 443



22  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Project Brief
Site Analysis - Opportunities

Opportunity	to	create	active	
elevation

Potential	connection	to	Mobility	
Hub

Opportunity for high level 
views

Connections	to	the	play	park Potential	vehicle/servicing	routes

Key long views of FCLH from 
south

Opportunity	for	active	routes	
around	the	park	to/from	the	centre

N

FCLH Site

Mobility	
Hub Site

The FCLH has great opportunity to spill out on to 
the public park, with good pedestrian connections 

around the proposed masterplan. 

P
ack P

age 444



23  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Brief Development
Concept Site Layout

The building layout will be designed and developed in the RIBA Stage 2 period.
This is a test layout, to confirm the current Schedule of Accommodation will fit 

on the site, within the parameters set out in the Masterplan.

NP
ack P

age 445



24  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Project Brief - Precedents
Redcar Leisure & Community Heart

46 / Redcar Leisure & Community Heart / Retrospective

Redcar Leisure & Community Heart                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                

15 / Redcar Leisure & Community Heart / Retrospective

Brief Development                                                                                                                                   
Design Process - Concepts                                                                                        

4 - Expressed Circulation

5 - Visual Connections

6 - Active Frontages

15 / Redcar Leisure & Community Heart / Retrospective

Brief Development                                                                                                                                   
Design Process - Concepts                                                                                        

4 - Expressed Circulation

5 - Visual Connections

6 - Active Frontages

15 / Redcar Leisure & Community Heart / Retrospective

Brief Development                                                                                                                                   
Design Process - Concepts                                                                                        

4 - Expressed Circulation

5 - Visual Connections

6 - Active Frontages

Swim, Gym, Civic & Events
Redcar, North Yorkshire, UK
GT3 Architects

The building combines a leisure centre, civic facility, a business 
centre, car park and major public realm improvements into a 
single development that knits together a formerly disparate 
part of town. The Community Heart project, which was 
designed	in	collaboration	with	S&P	Architects,	brings	together	a	
range	of	council	functions	into	a	dedicated	civic	hub	alongside	a	
state	of	the	art	leisure	centre	with	innovative	facilities	and	even	
a	static-surf	‘flow-rider’.

All	functions	are	located	around	a	new	civic	square	which	
itself	is	tied	back	into	the	surrounding	fabric	via	a	tree-lined	
boulevard.

14 / Redcar Leisure & Community Heart / Retrospective

Brief Development                                                                                                                                   
Design Process - Concepts                                                                                        

1 - Shared Spaces

2 - Community Pods

3 - Atria

14 / Redcar Leisure & Community Heart / Retrospective

Brief Development                                                                                                                                   
Design Process - Concepts                                                                                        

1 - Shared Spaces

2 - Community Pods

3 - Atria

14 / Redcar Leisure & Community Heart / Retrospective

Brief Development                                                                                                                                   
Design Process - Concepts                                                                                        

1 - Shared Spaces

2 - Community Pods

3 - Atria

These precedents review a variety of other centres which offer a combination of Leisure, Arts, Culture & Civic activities in the 
UK and around the world, to demonstrate how programmes may be combined and mutually support one another.

P
ack P

age 446



25  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Project Brief - Precedents
Sands Centre, Carlisle

Theatre, Swim, Sports Hall, Gym & Healthcare
Carlisle, Cumbria, UK
GT3 Architects

The Sands Leisure Centre combines a community sports & 
leisure facility, health services and regional concert and arts 
venue,	unified	by	a	central	street	which	houses	a	cafe	bar	
serving	all	aspects	of	the	facility.	The	theatre	offers	retractable	
seating	for	a	variety	of	performance	types.

P
ack P

age 447



26  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Project Brief - Precedents
South Surrey Recreation & Arts

Visual arts, pottery, gym and spin.
Surrey, British Columbia, Canada
TKA+D Architecture and Design

TKA+D Architecture + Design -
An	extensive	community	consultation	and	integrated	design	
approach	led	the	design	process	for	the	Arts	and	Fitness	Ex-
pansion	to	the	South	Surrey	Recreation	Centre.	A	new	entrance	
and lobby provides a welcomed social gathering space and the 
connection	between	the	existing	facility	and	the	expansion.	
A	north-south	circulation	axis	leads	to	a	new	arts	plaza	at	the	
north	end	of	the	expansion,	and	lends	porosity	between	the	
fitness	and	arts	components.

The	expansion	includes	a	9,000	sf	weight	room,	multi-purpose	
studios	for	arts	and	fitness,	child	minding	facilities,	and	ad-
ministration	offices,	to	supplement	the	existing	gymnasiums,	
classrooms, and youth lounge at the centre.

https://tkad.ca/portfolio/south-surrey-recreation-and-arts-cen-
tre/?portfolioCats=188%2C66%2C65%2C15%2C70%2C189

P
ack P

age 448



27  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Swim, gym, exhibition, rehearsal & performance.
Eurobodalla Shire NSW, Australia
Donovan Payne Architects

Accommodation:
25-metre, eight-lane pool; separate 10-metre warm water 
program pool; freeform indoor leisure pool; water play splash 
pads,	waterslides,	gym,	group	fitness	and	wellness	areas.

Theatre	with	large	flexible,	flat	floor	auditorium	and	retractable	
seating	for	350	people,	dressing	rooms,	green	room,	art	gallery/
exhibition	space,	rehearsal/dance	studio/music	room,	wet	and	
dry	arts	workshop	spaces	along	with	community	meeting	and	
multi-purpose	rooms.

Donovan Payne - 
This 5 star Green star new development project is a gateway 
facility, iconic in style and symbolising the natural beauty of 
the region. The design theme “water” is driven by the cultural, 
physical	and	historical	contexts	of	the	local	community.	With	
sustainable design principles employed throughout, this 
infrastructure is one that will remain as a wellness hub for 
many	future	generations.

https://www.donovanpayne.com.au/project/batemans-bay-
regional-aquatics-arts-and-leisure-centre-2022/

NBRS - 
Amplifying performance, on stage and underwater:
Oil	and	water	do	mix.	A	new	arts,	aquatic	and	leisure	centre	
in the heart of the Eurobodalla Shire, Bay Pavilions gives the 
community	an	exciting	place	to	play,	explore	their	talents	and	
share their skills. An iconic new gateway for the region, Bay 
Pavilions,	the	Batemans	Bay	Regional	Aquatic	&	Arts	Leisure	
Centre, is set to become a drawcard for sports, tourism and 
regional arts programs.

Working	in	conjunction	with	Donovan	Payne	Architects,	we	
met	the	challenges	of	co-locating	performance	and	aquatic	
functions	by	creating	two	distinct	pavilions.	One	houses	three	
pools, a gymnasium and waterslide tower, while the other 
boasts	a	350	seat	black	box	theatre,	back	of	house	facilities,	
rehearsal room and art studios. The two pavilions connected by 
a	streamlined	central	building,	complete	with	main	reception,	
foyer	and	administration	areas.

https://nbrs.com.au/projects/bay-pavilions

Project Brief - Precedents
Bay Pavilions Arts & Aquatic

P
ack P

age 449



5 • Mobility Hub Brief                                                                                              

P
ack P

age 450



29  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

BICYCLE STORAGE

BICYCLE SHARING

LOCKER & DRYING ROOM

CAR PARKINGCOFFEE KIOSK

ELECTRIC VEHICLE 
CHARGING

Utilise cutting-edge technology to 
assist consumers in planning their 
transportation needs through booking of 
car club vehicles and spaces

Serve as the hub for a local car club that 
promotes the use of car sharing and daily 
rentals.

Provide both bicycle storage and 
amenities for cycling in order to promote 
cycling as a key means of transportation 
and provide for the needs of nearby 
businesses and inhabitants.

Charging outlets for electric vehicles Contribute to enhanced walking and 
cycling routes throughout the scheme 

Facilities such as a bike café and 
workshop next to the amenities for the 
cycle hub to stimulate the ground-floor 
appearance.

BICYCLE REPAIRS CAR SHARINGCOMMERCIAL (RETAIL)

Mobility Hub Brief
Overview

The mobility hub brief has been developed in line with the key 
specifications	from	the	masterplan	and	reviewed	with	RBC	to	
confirm	the	initial	scope.

The key requirements are:
• Area for 13 club cars
• Space provision for cycle storage, hire and workshop at 

ground	floor
• Option	for	small	retail	concessions	on	ground	floor
• Approx.	350	standard	parking	spaces

The	scope	and	extent	of	retail,	workshop	and	commercial	
space	is	yet	to	be	confirmed.	The	following	pages	give	
examples	of	what	may	be	included	and	how	the	spaces	can	be	
accommodated within the footprint.

Potential UsesMasterplan Aims

Ambitions for a mobility hub

4.13  Illustrative Mobility Hub 
Arrangement & Frontage

The illustrative plans presented on this page work to 
show the interaction between the mobility hubs and 
activity in the public realm, with the emphasis to be on 
activating key frontages to the structures and facilitating 
further transport features within the streetscape.

Car club spaces

Mobility Components Non-Mobility Components

Community concierge

Bicycle parking

Storage

Greenwall

Solar/PV

EV charging

Bike repairs

Last mile delivery

Coffee kiosk

Play area

Fitness area

Wifi/phone charging

Waiting areas
Digital pillars

Parcel lockers

Plot A - Mobility Hub Illustrative  Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot A is active on the eastern and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with the park and pedestrian passages.

Plot D - Mobility Hub Illustrative Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot D is active on the western and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with Westmead , Westmead Square and the park 
beyond.

Community concierge, 
parcel delivery, and 
delivery lockers

Bike Parking & 
Storage Space

Core assumed on core 
to support upper floor 
parking efficiency

Lobby and core 
for hotel on NW 
corner of plot

Core for 
mobility hub

Farnborough Civic Quarter - Design & Access Statement 

45

P
ack P

age 451



30  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Development Zone B

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Deliver a new Civic Hub with reprovided and 
enhanced Leisure Centre facilities.

• Provide active ground floor frontage and a 
primary entrance on the southern facade.

• Deliver a massing strategy that minimises any 
adverse impacts on surrounding context.

• Encourage pedestrian movement from 
Queensmead into the Civic Quarter with a car 
free southern edge.

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active non-residential uses along 
the park edge with appropriate spill-out 
space to the public realm

• Minimise negative frontage , blank facades  
and exposed podium parking

• Provide a primary entrance on the southern 
facade

• Typical upper floors must:
• Prioritise surveillance of the central park
• Adhere to NDSS standards
• Provide access to external amenity space 

through private balconies or landscape 
podium

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 27m development free zone from 
Braircliffe House on the eastern edge of plot 
C

• Retain a 3.6m development free zone from 
existing development to the north of plot C

Height andvertical limits:
• Max height

• 2-8 storeys
• Massing approach must:

• Address the northern edge by reducing 
in height to mitigate adverse effects to 
existing development. Massing should 
increase to the south-east corner. 

• Daylight/sunlight - At RMA stages the plots must 
demonstrate:
• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

that at least 50% of the open space areas 
should receive atl least 2 hous of direct 
sunlight on the equinox (21st March) with 
the proposed development in place.

• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

in regards to impacts on nearby buildings and 
internal habitable rooms

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise podium parking contained within the 
core of the development plot

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum of 
5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access parking

• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 
to the north 

• Pedestrian movement must:
• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 

enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between Queensmead 
and the Central Park 

• Contribute to a well activated public plaza, 
with appropriate space for activity and 
circulation

• Tree retention must:
• Retain the cluster of category B trees to the 

south of the development zone
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible.

Development Zone C

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Provide a mobility hub with active ground 
floor frontages on the southern and eastern 
facades.

• Reduce vehicle movement into the scheme by 
being accessed close to Westmead

• Prioritise mobility related uses  through 
groundfloor commercial spaces

• Reduce blank facades to public realm
• Provide suitable quantum of EV charging 

points

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active commercial uses along the 
eastern and southern edges with appropriate 
spill-out space to the public realm

• Minimise blank facades  and exposed 
parking facing the public realm

• Building cores and entrances should activate 
side streets and be easily legible

• Typical upper floors must:
• Be designed predominantly for mobility use
• Be designed to Hampshire County Council 

standards in regards to size of parking zones
• Explore opportunities for facade treatments 

of architectural merit or biodiversity 
enhancement such as greenwalls

• Explore floor to ceiling heights and 
structural column spacing that would allow 
future adaptation for other uses 

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 15m development free zone from 
the site boundary on the northern edge

• Retain a 35.2m development free zone from 
existing development to the north

Height and vertical limits:
• Max height

• 6 storeys

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise a multi-level parking solution 
wrapped with commercial units on the 
ground floor

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum 
of 5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access 

parking
• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 

to the north 
• Accommodate neccessary circulation and ramps 

within the plot, avoiding external structures
• Allow for leisure centre drop offs and taxi ranks 

to the north east
• Pedestrian movement must:

• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 
enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between the skate park 
and the Central Park 

• Work to positively interact with the 
reprovision of the skatepark and where 
appropriate deliver a multi-functional 
landscape with street furniture, cycle parking,  
and other facilities to support the skatepark.

• Accommodate wayfinding and mobility / live 
transport display boards

• Tree retention must:
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible in the construction 
process

66

FARNBOROUGH CIVIC QUARTER  / LDA DESIGN

The	following	proposal	encroaches	approx.	1.2m	into	the	15m	non-development	zone.

Drop	off	zone	provided.	Coach	drop	off	and	access	distances	to	be	tested	as	Leisure	&	
Culture hub design is developed.

Bays	allow	at	contemporary	standard	of	2.5x5m.	Hampshire	standards	required	for	
review.

Tree survey to be reviewed.

5%	of	the	total	is	17.5.	18	accessible	spaces	have	been	allowed	for.

Floor	to	floor	set	a	3.2m	which	would	allow	for	future	conversion	(ceiling	heights	
approx.	2.4m	allowing	nominal	500mm	structural	zone	plus	300mm	servicing	zone).	

Included To be developed Not met

Mobility Hub Brief
Key Requirements

P
ack P

age 452



31  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

B

AA

Total Plot

Limits of building within plot

Extract	from	LDA	masterplan

Plot limits

B

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1

El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63

62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82
70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66

El Sub Sta

74

64

86

Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68
84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

Plot A

Plot B

Plot E

Plot C

Plot D

Plot G

Plot I

Plot F

28.1m
7m16.5m

3.8m

15.5m27m
3.6m

8.4m

9.2m

48m

51m

23.5m

35.2m

3.3m

11.6m

10m

15m

Plot H1

Plot H2

Plot J3

37.3m

12.6m Plot J4

10m

54m

Plot J1

Plot J2

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
4.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Horizontal Limits of Development Parameter Plans

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00004

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

Area of Boundary Restriction
(Facade line to be set back from
parameter envelope of the
development zone)

53

FARNBOROUGH CIVIC QUARTER  / LDA DESIGN

Mobility Hub Brief
Plot Limits & Indicative Footprint

P
ack P

age 453



32  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

Indicative Ground Floor Layout

Skate park

W
es

tm
ea

d

Park

Boulevard	/	
landscaped  pedestrian 

route

Plot B

Ac
ce

ss
 ro

ad

Indicative First Floor Layout Indicative Upper Floor Layout

350 car parking spaces and associated facilities over 6 storeys

Pedestrian entrances to MSCP

Car parking (including 18 accessible 
spaces and EV charging)

Cores & servicing

Car sharing

Secure bike park & workshop

Drop-off zone Main car entrance
Retail/mobility use entrances

Car share vehicular entrance
Main MSCP car routes
Vehicular access from main road

Green roof

Mobility Hub Brief
Test Fit

The quantity of retail/commercial space required at ground foor level will be reviewed during Stage 2 and elements 
such as drop-off zones will be developed as the FCLH and landscaping design proposals are tested. 

P
ack P

age 454



33  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

0

1

2

3

4

5

Retail

Opportunity for brown/green roof

Westmead Access Road

22m

Lvl 1
Lvl 1.5

3.2m

45 spaces

350 
Spaces Total

61 spaces

61 spaces

61 spaces

61 spaces

61 spaces

Mobility Hub Brief
Indicative Section

P
ack P

age 455



6 • Programme                                                                                              

P
ack P

age 456



35  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

•  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Pre-construction Programme

2023 2024
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep
01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

RIBA Stage 0/1

Client sign-off

RIBA Stage 2

Pre-app submission & advice

Stage 2 cost plan

Client sign-off

RIBA Stage 3

Stage 3 Cost Plan

Client sign-off

Contractor review

PCSA & novation agreements

Collate info for Planning

Planning submission

Planning determination

RIBA Stage 4A

RIBA Stage 4B

Contractor pricing

Submit CPs

CPs Review & Contract Award

Pre-construction: 15 monthsFarnborough Leisure & Culture Hub
Pre-Construction Programme

N
O

VA
TI

O
N

The	GT3	Architects	Pre-Construction	programme	sets	out	
a	15-month	programme	of	activities	starting	at	RIBA	Stage	
2	in	July	2023	and	culminating	in	Contract	award	to	the	
main contractor in September 2024. Key milestones of note 
include:
• Completion	of	RIBA	Stage	2	at	the	end	of	September	

2023
• Completion	of	RIBA	Stage	3	at	the	end	of	December	

2023
• Submission	of	a	Reserved	matters	planning	application	

mid-February 2024
• Novation	of	key	members	of	the	MDDT	mid-February	

2024
• Planning	Determination	and	Stage	4A	design	running	in	

parallel from mid-February 2024
• Contractor pricing and RIBA Stage 4B running in parallel 

from	mid-May	to	late	August	2024
• Contract Award in September 2024

Programme
Overview

sup
ers

ed
ed

Pre-construction: 15 months

P
ack P

age 457



36  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Stage 0 & 1 Report

A	second,	‘shadow	programme’	has	been	produced	by	Willmott	
Dixon	Construction	(WDC).	This	illustrates	an	extended	
programme with a period of 20 months from the start of RIBA 
Stage	2	to	Contract	Award	and	a	construction	period	of	104	
weeks (24 months). 

Please note that this programme is currently being used to 
guide	expectations	with	stakeholders	and	to	provide	a	degree	
of	contingency	for	extended	periods	of	governance	and	sign-
off.	But	the	MDDT	will	be	using	the	GT3	programme	to	drive	
activities	and	outputs	in	order	to	improve	on	the	dates	in	the	
WDC programme.

Programme
Overview

M1 M2 M3 M4 M5 M6 M7 M8 M9 M10 M11 M12 M13 M14 M15 M16 M17 M18 M19 M20 M21 M22 M23 M24 M25 M26

Farnborough Leisure & Cultural Hub Project Time line
Rev 13Preconstruction

Cabinet meeting

Sign R.I.B.A. Stage 2 order

12wks. R.I.B.A. Stage 2 design

Submit Stage 2 report & cost plan

2wks
.

Customer sign off

Sign R.I.B.A. Stage 3 order

14wks. R.I.B.A. Stage 3 design

Submit Stage 3 report & cost plan

4wks. Governance period / Customer sign off

Commence Stage 4 design

16wks. R.I.B.A. Stage 4a design

16wks.

R.I.B.A. Stage 4b design12wks.

Pricing

Submit Contractors Proposals

6wks. Review of Contractors Proposals

6wks. Governance period / Customer sign off

Contract award

Planning submission Planning granted

Pre-construction

M20 M21 M22 M23 M24 M25 M26 M27 M28 M29 M30 M31 M32 M33 M34 M35 M36 M37 M38 M39 M40 M41 M42 M43 M44 M45 M46 M47 M48 M50

Farnborough Leisure & Cultural Hub Project Time line
Rev 13

Construction

4wks. Mobilisation

Start on site

104 wks. Leisure & Cultural Hub

Completion

90 wks. Leisure Only

Completion

Construction

sup
ers

ed
ed

P
ack P

age 458



7 • Sustainability Strategy (by others)                                                                                              

P
ack P

age 459



8 • Outline Cost Plan (by others)                                                                                              

P
ack P

age 460



• Appendices                                                                 

P
ack P

age 461



A • Stage Report Deliverables    

P
ack P

age 462



B • Scope of Services (Stages 2&3)   

P
ack P

age 463



C • Designer’s Responsibility Matrix 

P
ack P

age 464



D • Project Deliverables

P
ack P

age 465



E • Vision & Technical Workshop Document                                                     

P
ack P

age 466



F • Culture Workshop Summary                                                     

P
ack P

age 467



Newcastle Studio
John Dobson House

49 New Bridge Street West
Newcastle 

NE1 8AN
t: 0191 281 7700

info@gt3architects.com

Nottingham Studio
The Wallis Building
Plumptre Place
Nottingham
NG1 1LW
t: 0115 947 0800

www.gt3architects.com

P
ack P

age 468



Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub and Mobility Hub                                                                                                                                  
Design Update

Project Number: 23013
Produced by: SSe
Checked by: SDu

19/09/23 - First Issue

APPENDIX 5

P
ack P

age 469



2  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

History & Locality
Aviation Technology

Flight
Motion 
Speed
Innovation
Breaking Barriers

World Firsts
Engineering 
Technology
Defence
Military

Pushing Boundaries
Invention
No limits
Kinetic
Vapour Trails

P
ack P

age 470



3  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

History & Locality
Farnborough Air Show

P
ack P

age 471



4  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

History & Locality
Flight

Nulli Secundus - First Powered Flight

‘Cody 1’ 
S.E.5a

P
ack P

age 472



5  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

History & Locality
Supersonic

Test at Farnborough

Thrust SSC - 1997 - First land vehicle to break the sound barrier World Land Speed Record

P
ack P

age 473



6  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Key Themes

Integrated Sustainability

FCLH as a key part of the wider routes 
and destinations in Farnborough

A sustainble building, designed to suit the 
needs of the community for the future

Low operational carbon

The first building on the masterplan

Setting ambitions for sustainability

A base for innovation in Arts & Culture

Building on Farnboroughs history of 
innovation and inventive spirit

A PioneerCommunity Cohesion

A space for the community first

Aiming to increase the participation of 
peole across Farnborough in Culture & 

Leisure Activities

P
ack P

age 474



7  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Concept
The Courtyard

Centralised cafe & atrium
Visibility across and between spaces

‘If I can see, I can do’ ethos

The Courtyard

P
ack P

age 475



8  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Organise the spaces around a 
courtyard to maximise visibility and 

access between spaces

Intersect and overlap large volume 
spaces to create an active atrium 
space where people interact and 

intergrate

Top with a ‘Halo’ to provide a beacon 
to the building and frame the entrance

Culture & Library to ‘break away from 
mould’ and provide an active street-

scape

The ‘Courtyard’ Intersect & Overlap Halo Cultural Identity

Strategic Moves

P
ack P

age 476



9  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

The accommodation schedule has been updated to reflect the 
revised areas developed during the engagement process. 

Service Category Proposed Area (sqm)

Leisure Wet 1,410
Leisure Dry 1,180
Leisure Health / Fitness 1,145
Leisure Support 880
Leisure Commercial 275

4,890
Leisure Circulation & Partitions 636

5,526

Library Library 663
Library Community 140
Library Partner Space 0
Library Support 38

841
Library & Comm Circulation & Partitions 109

950

Culture Public Access 370
Culture Artist Space 104
Culture Support 36

510
Culture Circulation & Partitions 66

576

Shared (L&C) Shared Public Spaces 50
Shared (L&C) Shared Support 65

115
Shared (L&C) Circulation & Partitions 15

130

Shared Café 265
Shared Retail 50
Shared Support 138

453
Shared Circulation & Partitions 59

512

Office Office 1,780

1,780
Shared (L&C) Circulation & Partitions 231

2,011

Shared Plant 250

Total Development Area 9,956

Total Net Area

Total Gross Area SHARED LIBRARY & CULTURE

Total Net Area

Total Gross Area SHARED WHOLE BUILDING

Total Net Area

Total Gross Area SHARED LIBRARY & CULTURE

Total Net Area

Total Gross Area LEISURE

Total Net Area

Total Gross Area LIBRARY & COMMUNITY

Total Net Area

Total Gross Area CULTURE

Brief Development
Updated Accommodation Schedule

P
ack P

age 477



10  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Brief Development
Updated Graphic Brief

Total: 1,410 sqm Total: 1,180 sqm Total: 1,145 sqm Total: 880 sqm

WET-SIDE DRY-SIDE HEALTH/FITNESS SUPPORT

Main pool: 660sqm
(inc. Surrounds)

Intermediate 
pool: 312 sqm
(inc. Surrounds)

Steam/sauna: 
50 sqm

Pool store: 
94 sqm

First aid 
room: 9 sqm

6 court sports hall / 
Performance Hall: 
932 sqm

Hall Stores: 
150 sqm

Fitness suite: 675 sqm

Fitness studios: 288 sqm Studio store: 30 sqm

Spin studio: 
125 sqm

Fitness office: 
14 sqm

Dry change: 
330 sqm

Wet change: 
460 sqm

Building stores: 
15sqm

Offices:
48 sqm

Spectator seating: 
135 sqm

Spectator seating: 
72 sqm

Note: 
• All areas are approximate only

Total: 590 sqm

Bistro Servery: 
20 sqm

Storage: 15 sqm

Bistro Prep Area / 
Kitchen: 30 sqm

Soft play: 
100 sqm

Bistro: 
200 sqm

Commercial Leisure: 
175 sqm

COMMERCIAL

FACILITIES

Pool Plant: 
150 sqm

Area totals shown are net figures. Circulation and 
partitions % are added to generate a gross figure. 

Bleacher Seating: 
27 sqm

Server: 
12sqm

Spin Store: 13 sqm Staff Welfare: 
15sqm Retail: 

50 sqm

8 Lane x 25m

4 Lane x 20m

P
ack P

age 478



11  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Brief Development
Updated Graphic Brief

Total: 841 sqm Total: 510 sqm

Total: 250 sqm

LIBRARY CULTURE

FACILITIES

Library Floor: 645sqm
Shared Plant 
Centre: 250 sqm

Sm Group Rooms x 2: 
20sqm each

Store: 
30 sqm

Note: 
• All areas are approximate only

GIS Gallery
140 sqm

WCs: 
75 sqm

Digital Lab: 
70sqm

Reception 
18 sqm

COUNCIL OFFICES

Area totals shown are net figures. Circulation and 
partitions % are added to generate a gross figure. 

Community Gallery
110 sqm

Artist Collab
40 sqm

Studio Workspaces
4 @ 16 sqm

Multi-use: 
50sqm

Server
8 sqm

Building stores: 
15sqm

Meeting Room:
30sqm

Reception:
18 sqm

Total: 138 sqm

Multi-Use 
Rooms x 2: 
50sqm each

Server: 
8 sqm

Gallery Prep
12 sqm

SHARED

Multi-use 
Creative: 
50sqm

Workroom: 
45sqm

Welfare: 
20sqm

Total: 115 sqm

BUILDING SHARED SPACES

Main Offices: 1600sqm

Office Support Spaces: 
180 sqm

Total: 1,780 sqm

P
ack P

age 479



12  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Massing Development
Model Testing

Option 1

Option 2

Option 3

A B C

P
ack P

age 480



13  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Massing Development
Prefered Option (3C)

Offices

Sports Hall
(Double Height)

Studios

Fitness Suite

Dry Change

Soft Play & Tag Active
(Double Height)

Culture

Library

Pool Hall
(Double Height)

Plant & Wet Change

Level 00

(Wet Leisure &

Library & Culture)

Level 01

(Dry Leisure)

Level 02

(Offices)

P
ack P

age 481



14  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

A A

Level 01

Level 00

Level 02

CO
RE

CO
RE

Wet Change

Sauna/
Steam

Le
ar

ne
r P

oo
l

20
m

 x
 8

m

Main Pool
25m x 8 lane

W
Cs

Tag 
Active

Soft 
Play

Cafe

CO
RE

Culture

Library

Dry Leisure

Wet Leisure

Office

N

Library
Gardens

Culture
Gardens

Layout
Plan Update / Summary

A A

CORE

Office

CORE

CO
RE

Section AA

Pool 
Store

Plant

Following design team workshops it was 
agreed a localised basement circa 200m2 

located beneath the wet changing village is 
to be provided for the pool plant to optimise 
filtration entry points to both the main pool 
and intermediate pool.

To help ensure the Cultural & Library 
community do not feel ‘shoe horned into a 
leisure shaped box’, the Cultural and Library 
block has been sculpted into an organic, 
expressive form that breaks the lesiure mould  
and provides a distinct idenitity for the people 
who use the arts and library spaces. 

To help break down and delinate the forms of 
the ‘Halo’ from the Sports Hall, the Sports 
Hall has been detached from the Halo and 
moved roughly 6m (1 structural bay) further 
to the East 

CO
RE

CO
RE

Culture

Library

Meeting Rooms

Meeting Rooms

A A

CORE

CO
RE

CO
RE

6 Court Sports Hall

Spin
Studio

Studio Studio

Fitness Suite

Spectator Seating

Dry Change

Plant

Hall Store Hall Store
Hall 
Viewing 
& Class 
waiting 

Staff

CO
RE

CORE

P
ack P

age 482



15  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Layout
Site Plan N

A

A

CORE

CO
RE

CO
RE

Wet Change

Sauna/

Steam

Le
ar

ne
r P

oo
l

20
m

 x 
8m

Main Pool

25m x 8 lane
W

Cs

Tag 

Active

Soft 

Play

Cafe

CO
RE

Library

Gardens

Culture

Gardens

Pool 

Store

Plant

CO
RE

Culture

Library

Meeting Rooms

Meeting Rooms

P
ack P

age 483



16  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Layout
Plan Update - Level 00

Level 00

CO
RE

CO
RE

Wet Change

Sauna/
Steam

Le
ar

ne
r P

oo
l

20
m

 x
 8

m

Main Pool
25m x 8 lane

W
Cs

Tag 
Active

Soft 
Play

Cafe

CO
RE

Library
Gardens

Culture
Gardens

Pool 
Store

Plant

CO
RE

CO
RE

Culture

Library

Meeting Rooms

Meeting Rooms

CORE

N

A A

P
ack P

age 484



17  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Layout
Plan Update - Level 01

Level 01
N

A A

CORE

CO
RE

CO
RE

6 Court Sports Hall

Spin
Studio

Studio Studio

Fitness Suite

Spectator Seating

Dry Change

Plant

Hall Store Hall Store
Hall 
Viewing 
& Class 
waiting 

Staff

CO
RE

P
ack P

age 485



18  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Layout
Plan Update - Level 02

Level 02
N

CORE

Office

CORE

CO
RE

A A

P
ack P

age 486



19  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Layout
Concept Section & Elevation

Mobility Hub Skate Park FCLH Plot C

Max Height +99.5m AOD (34m)

Max Height +94.5m AOD (29m)
Max Height +89.2m AOD 

(23.7m)

Max Height +99.1m AOD 
(33.6m)

22m

Section AA

Mobility Hub Skate Park FCLH Plot C

Max Height +99.5m AOD (34m)

Max Height +94.5m AOD (29m)
Max Height +89.2m AOD 

(23.7m)

Max Height +99.1m AOD 
(33.6m)

22m

South Elevation

P
ack P

age 487



20  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Key Spaces
Pool hall - Soffit & Simple Structure 

DAYLIGHT

COOL TONES

SO
FF

IT

Cool Tones
Natural Daylight
Perforated Soffit
Simple Structure

Transparency Vs Privacy
Dappled Light
Volume
Large Spans

Structural connections
Engineered
Translucent
Structural Silhouettes

P
ack P

age 488



21  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Key Spaces
Sports hall - Soffit & Simple Structure 

SOFFIT

LI
N

IN
G

S

DAYLIGHT

Cool Tones
Warm Linings
Perforated Soffit
Simple Structure
Light

Kinetic
Translucent
Dappled Light
Volume
Large Spans

Structural connections
Engineered
Translucent
Structural Silhouettes
Energy

P
ack P

age 489



22  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Key Spaces
Library - Ornate Structure Celebrated

Warm Tones
Natural Linings
Views In & Out
Light
Calm

Fun
Natural Daylight
Colour
Cultural Identity
Inspiring

Engaging
Inside / Outside
Celebrated Structure
Feature Joinery
Organic

CALM

INSPIRING

LIGHT

FUN
N

AT
U

RA
L

P
ack P

age 490



23  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Key Spaces
Atrium - Ornate Structure Celebrated
N

AT
U

RA
L INSPIRING

WELCOMING

DAYLIGHT

VIEWS IN & OUT

Warm Tones
Innovative
Views to Sky
Structure Celebrated

Integration
Natural Finish
Overlap
Inspiring

Translucent
Views In & Out
Link
Natural Daylight

P
ack P

age 491



24  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Design Update

Key Spaces
Workplace - Structure expressed

Warm Tones
Engaging
Inspiring
Structure Celebrated

Elegant
Natural Finish
Beacon
Inspiring

Glowing
Views In & Out
Healthy
Cantilever

N
AT

U
RA

L

SU
ST

A
IN

A
BL

E

HEALTHY

ELEGANT

INSPIRING

P
ack P

age 492



Newcastle Studio
John Dobson House

49 New Bridge Street West
Newcastle 

NE1 8AN
t: 0191 281 7700

info@gt3architects.com

Nottingham Studio
The Wallis Building
Plumptre Place
Nottingham
NG1 1LW
t: 0115 947 0800

www.gt3architects.com

P
ack P

age 493



T
his page is intentionally left blank



10  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Meetings & Engagement

DATE
OCTOBER NOVEMBER

02 09 16 23 30 06 13 20 27

REGULAR 
MEETINGS

DTM DTM DTM DTM

PTM PTM PTM

CABINET 03/10

KEY DESIGN 
TEAM 
ACTIVITIES

Developing building plans, landscaping layout and strategies for structures and MEP.
Developed landscape plan. 

Elevation development and interiors strategy.
Develop MEP and structural layouts.

SESSION STAGE 2 
SIGN-OFF ADJACENCIES STRATEGIES EXTERNAL 

LOOK & FEEL
OPERATIONAL 

BRIEFS
INTERIORS 

LOOK & FEEL LOOK & FEEL SUSTAINABILITY

Attendees
Elected Members
Senior Officers

Library  & Culture

Contractor

Elected Members
Senior Officers

Library  & Culture
Elected Members
Senior Officers

Local Community 
Groups

Elected Members
Senior OfficersSport, Leisure and 

Culture Groups
Sport, Leisure and 
Culture GroupsPlanning

Agenda/
Topic

• Schedule of
accommodation

• Whether or not
to proceed with
inclusion of
Council Offices

• Agreement of
design concept

• Whether to
proceed with
passivhaus
design

• Review layout
principles
and detailed
adjacencies

• Test
opportunities
for sharing /
flexibility

• Review key
construction
strategies

• Review key
sustainability
strategies.

• Discuss key
themes

• Review
material &
colour scheme
principles

• Review
requirements
space by space,
including:

• Equipment &
furniture

• Power & data
• Security

• Discuss key
themes

• Review
material &
colour scheme
principles

• “Pride in Place”
Placemaking
discussion, look
& feel of the
proposal within
the wider town

• Arts strategy?

• Update on
progress and
principles

FCLH
Stage 3 Engagement Programme (1/3)

* Note: Formal planning consultation programme in development with DPP

DRAFT

CLIENT GROUPS PRINCIPAL USER GROUPS LOCAL COMMUNITY GROUPS SPORT, LEISURE & CULTURE USER GROUPS PLANNING GROUPS *
Elected members Leisure (RBC) TBC Cultural Compact Town Planning
Senior Officers Culture (HCT) Sports clubs (TBC) Masterplan
Portfolio Holders Library (HCT) Others (TBC) Highways
Project Board

APPENDIX 6

P
ack P

age 495



11  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Meetings & Engagement

DATE
DECEMBER JANUARY

04 11 18 25 01 08 15 22 29

REGULAR 
MEETINGS

DTM DTM

CH
RI

ST
M

AS
 B

RE
AK

DTM DTM DTM

PTM PTM

KEY DESIGN 
TEAM 
ACTIVITIES

Finalise elevations and developed interiors strategy
Developed landscaping/planting strategies.

Develop Energy Statement.
Develop outline specifications

Stage 3 drawings 
and documentation 

preparation

SESSION
MASTERPLAN 

COORDINATION
OPERATIONAL 

BRIEFS
OPERATIONAL 

BRIEFS REVIEW

Attendees Masterplan Team Operator Group Library & Culture

Agenda/
Topic

• Review 
integrated 
design and 
how this fits 
into developing 
masterplan 
ahead of 
planning 
submission

• Review require-
ments space by 
space, including 
equipment, fur-
niture, power & 
data and secu-
rity.

• Test pool, soft 
play, tag active 
and spin studio 
arrangement 
and manage-
ment require-
ments.

• Review outline 
specifications 
against specific 
requirements.

FCLH
Stage 3 Engagement Programme (2/3)

CLIENT GROUPS PRINCIPAL USER GROUPS LOCAL COMMUNITY GROUPS SPORT, LEISURE & CULTURE USER GROUPS PLANNING GROUPS
Elected members Leisure (RBC) TBC Cultural Compact Town Planning
Senior Officers Culture (HCT) Sports clubs (TBC) Masterplan
Portfolio Holders Library (HCT) Others (TBC) Highways
Project Board

DRAFT

P
ack P

age 496



12  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Meetings & Engagement

DATE
FEBURARY

05 12 19 26

REGULAR 
MEETINGS

DTM

PTM

CABINET 24/02

KEY DESIGN 
TEAM 
ACTIVITIES

Stage 3 drawings and documentation preparation

SESSION ARTS STRATEGY

Attendees Cultural Compact

Agenda/
Topic

• Proposals for 
meanwhile Arts 
Stratgey during 
development 
ahead of 
Planning 
submission eg:

• Hoarding 
• Temp. use
• Club/class 

development
• Forging wider 

links

FCLH
Stage 3 Engagement Programme (3/3)

CLIENT GROUPS PRINCIPAL USER GROUPS LOCAL COMMUNITY GROUPS SPORT, LEISURE & CULTURE USER GROUPS PLANNING GROUPS
Elected members Leisure (RBC) TBC Cultural Compact Town Planning
Senior Officers Culture (HCT) Sports clubs (TBC) Masterplan
Portfolio Holders Library (HCT) Others (TBC) Highways
Project Board

DRAFTP
ack P

age 497



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 499

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub   
Initial Layout

Project Number: 18039
Produced by: ACu

Checked by: SDu

07/06/23 - First Issue

APPENDIX 8

P
ack P

age 511



2  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

The Masterplan
Site locations

A

A

B

B

‘Mobility hub’ 

Leisure & Culture

P
ack P

age 512



3  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

Mobility Hub
Potential Aims

Provide both bicycle storage and amenities 
for cycling in order to promote cycling as a 
key means of transportation and provide 
for the needs of nearby businesses and 
inhabitants.

Utilise cutting-edge technology to assist 
consumers in planning their transportation 
needs through booking of car club vehicles 
and spaces

Charging outlets for electric vehiclesServe as the hub for a local car club that 
promotes the use of car sharing and daily 
rentals.

Contribute to enhanced walking and cycling 
routes throughout the scheme 

Facilities such as  a bike café and workshop 
next to the amenities for the cycle hub to 
stimulate the ground-floor appearance.P

ack P
age 513



4  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

BICYCLE STORAGE BICYCLE SHARING BICYCLE REPAIRSSOLAR PANELS

CAR PARKING CAR SHARING COFFEE KIOSK COMMERCIAL (RETAIL)

LOCKER & DRYING ROOM

ELECTRIC VEHICLE 
CHARGING

Mobility Hub
Elements to include?

P
ack P

age 514



5  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

The Masterplan
Key Requirements

P
ack P

age 515



6  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

Development Zone B

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Deliver a new Civic Hub with reprovided and 
enhanced Leisure Centre facilities.

• Provide active ground floor frontage and a 
primary entrance on the southern facade.

• Deliver a massing strategy that minimises any 
adverse impacts on surrounding context.

• Encourage pedestrian movement from 
Queensmead into the Civic Quarter with a car 
free southern edge.

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active non-residential uses along 
the park edge with appropriate spill-out 
space to the public realm

• Minimise negative frontage , blank facades  
and exposed podium parking

• Provide a primary entrance on the southern 
facade

• Typical upper floors must:
• Prioritise surveillance of the central park
• Adhere to NDSS standards
• Provide access to external amenity space 

through private balconies or landscape 
podium

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 27m development free zone from 
Braircliffe House on the eastern edge of plot 
C

• Retain a 3.6m development free zone from 
existing development to the north of plot C

Height andvertical limits:
• Max height

• 2-8 storeys
• Massing approach must:

• Address the northern edge by reducing 
in height to mitigate adverse effects to 
existing development. Massing should 
increase to the south-east corner. 

• Daylight/sunlight - At RMA stages the plots must 
demonstrate:
• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

that at least 50% of the open space areas 
should receive atl least 2 hous of direct 
sunlight on the equinox (21st March) with 
the proposed development in place.

• Compliance with BRE Assessment guidance 

in regards to impacts on nearby buildings and 
internal habitable rooms

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise podium parking contained within the 
core of the development plot

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum of 
5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access parking

• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 
to the north 

• Pedestrian movement must:
• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 

enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between Queensmead 
and the Central Park 

• Contribute to a well activated public plaza, 
with appropriate space for activity and 
circulation

• Tree retention must:
• Retain the cluster of category B trees to the 

south of the development zone
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible.

Development Zone C

Mandatory development zone elements:

• Provide a mobility hub with active ground 
floor frontages on the southern and eastern 
facades.

• Reduce vehicle movement into the scheme by 
being accessed close to Westmead

• Prioritise mobility related uses  through 
groundfloor commercial spaces

• Reduce blank facades to public realm
• Provide suitable quantum of EV charging 

points

Mandatory Development Requirements*

Land use:
• Ground floors must:

• Prioritise active commercial uses along the 
eastern and southern edges with appropriate 
spill-out space to the public realm

• Minimise blank facades  and exposed 
parking facing the public realm

• Building cores and entrances should activate 
side streets and be easily legible

• Typical upper floors must:
• Be designed predominantly for mobility use
• Be designed to Hampshire County Council 

standards in regards to size of parking zones
• Explore opportunities for facade treatments 

of architectural merit or biodiversity 
enhancement such as greenwalls

• Explore floor to ceiling heights and 
structural column spacing that would allow 
future adaptation for other uses 

Building envelope and key edges:
• Vertical limits must:

• Retain a 15m development free zone from 
the site boundary on the northern edge

• Retain a 35.2m development free zone from 
existing development to the north

Height and vertical limits:
• Max height

• 6 storeys

Access and circulation:
• Vehicular access and parking must:

• Utilise a multi-level parking solution 
wrapped with commercial units on the 
ground floor

• Podium parking spaces must be a minimum 
of 5mx2.5m bays with 5% disabled access 

parking
• Prioritise access and servicing from Westmead 

to the north 
• Accommodate neccessary circulation and ramps 

within the plot, avoiding external structures
• Allow for leisure centre drop offs and taxi ranks 

to the north east
• Pedestrian movement must:

• Be prioritised over vehicular movement and 
enhance the main thoroughfares on the eastern 
and southern edges

• Cycle movement must:
• Be integrated with surrounding phases and 

accomodate the cycle infrastructure proposed 
within the wider masterplan

• Avoid siginificant conflicts of movement 
between cyclists, cars and pedestrians

• Waste and servicing  must:
• Size of bin stores must be compliant with 

the relevant planning policy at time of RMA 
submission

Landscape and public realm:
• Public realm must:

• Facilitate movement between the skate park 
and the Central Park 

• Work to positively interact with the 
reprovision of the skatepark and where 
appropriate deliver a multi-functional 
landscape with street furniture, cycle parking,  
and other facilities to support the skatepark.

• Accommodate wayfinding and mobility / live 
transport display boards

• Tree retention must:
• Prioritise the retention of category B trees
• Deliver an appropriate quantum of new tree 

planting as early as possible in the construction 
process

66

FARNBOROUGH CIVIC QUARTER  / LDA DESIGN

The Masterplan
Key Requirements

The following proposal encroaches approx. 1.2m into the 15m non-development zone.

Drop off zone provided. Coach drop off and access distances to be tested as Leisure & 
Culture hub design is developed.

Bays allow at contemporary standard of 2.5x5m. Hampshire standards required for 
review.

Tree survey to be reviewed.

5% of the total is 17.5. 18 accessible spaces have been allowed for.

Floor to floor set a 3.2m which would allow for future conversion (ceiling heights 
approx. 2.4m allowing nominal 500mm structural zone plus 300mm servicing zone). 

Included To be developed Not met

P
ack P

age 516



7  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

4.13  Illustrative Mobility Hub 
Arrangement & Frontage

The illustrative plans presented on this page work to 
show the interaction between the mobility hubs and 
activity in the public realm, with the emphasis to be on 
activating key frontages to the structures and facilitating 
further transport features within the streetscape.

Car club spaces

Mobility Components Non-Mobility Components

Community concierge

Bicycle parking

Storage

Greenwall

Solar/PV

EV charging

Bike repairs

Last mile delivery

Coffee kiosk

Play area

Fitness area

Wifi/phone charging

Waiting areas
Digital pillars

Parcel lockers

Plot A - Mobility Hub Illustrative  Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot A is active on the eastern and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with the park and pedestrian passages.

Plot D - Mobility Hub Illustrative Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot D is active on the western and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with Westmead , Westmead Square and the park 
beyond.

Community concierge, 
parcel delivery, and 
delivery lockers

Bike Parking & 
Storage Space

Core assumed on core 
to support upper floor 
parking efficiency

Lobby and core 
for hotel on NW 
corner of plot

Core for 
mobility hub

Farnborough Civic Quarter - Design & Access Statement 

45

4.13  Illustrative Mobility Hub 
Arrangement & Frontage

The illustrative plans presented on this page work to 
show the interaction between the mobility hubs and 
activity in the public realm, with the emphasis to be on 
activating key frontages to the structures and facilitating 
further transport features within the streetscape.

Car club spaces

Mobility Components Non-Mobility Components

Community concierge

Bicycle parking

Storage

Greenwall

Solar/PV

EV charging

Bike repairs

Last mile delivery

Coffee kiosk

Play area

Fitness area

Wifi/phone charging

Waiting areas
Digital pillars

Parcel lockers

Plot A - Mobility Hub Illustrative  Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot A is active on the eastern and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with the park and pedestrian passages.

Plot D - Mobility Hub Illustrative Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot D is active on the western and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with Westmead , Westmead Square and the park 
beyond.

Community concierge, 
parcel delivery, and 
delivery lockers

Bike Parking & 
Storage Space

Core assumed on core 
to support upper floor 
parking efficiency

Lobby and core 
for hotel on NW 
corner of plot

Core for 
mobility hub

Farnborough Civic Quarter - Design & Access Statement 

45

4.13  Illustrative Mobility Hub 
Arrangement & Frontage

The illustrative plans presented on this page work to 
show the interaction between the mobility hubs and 
activity in the public realm, with the emphasis to be on 
activating key frontages to the structures and facilitating 
further transport features within the streetscape.

Car club spaces

Mobility Components Non-Mobility Components

Community concierge

Bicycle parking

Storage

Greenwall

Solar/PV

EV charging

Bike repairs

Last mile delivery

Coffee kiosk

Play area

Fitness area

Wifi/phone charging

Waiting areas
Digital pillars

Parcel lockers

Plot A - Mobility Hub Illustrative  Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot A is active on the eastern and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with the park and pedestrian passages.

Plot D - Mobility Hub Illustrative Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot D is active on the western and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with Westmead , Westmead Square and the park 
beyond.

Community concierge, 
parcel delivery, and 
delivery lockers

Bike Parking & 
Storage Space

Core assumed on core 
to support upper floor 
parking efficiency

Lobby and core 
for hotel on NW 
corner of plot

Core for 
mobility hub

Farnborough Civic Quarter - Design & Access Statement 

45

4.13  Illustrative Mobility Hub 
Arrangement & Frontage

The illustrative plans presented on this page work to 
show the interaction between the mobility hubs and 
activity in the public realm, with the emphasis to be on 
activating key frontages to the structures and facilitating 
further transport features within the streetscape.

Car club spaces

Mobility Components Non-Mobility Components

Community concierge

Bicycle parking

Storage

Greenwall

Solar/PV

EV charging

Bike repairs

Last mile delivery

Coffee kiosk

Play area

Fitness area

Wifi/phone charging

Waiting areas
Digital pillars

Parcel lockers

Plot A - Mobility Hub Illustrative  Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot A is active on the eastern and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with the park and pedestrian passages.

Plot D - Mobility Hub Illustrative Arrangement

The mobility hub in Plot D is active on the western and southern frontages.  These 
frontages strengthen the connection with Westmead , Westmead Square and the park 
beyond.

Community concierge, 
parcel delivery, and 
delivery lockers

Bike Parking & 
Storage Space

Core assumed on core 
to support upper floor 
parking efficiency

Lobby and core 
for hotel on NW 
corner of plot

Core for 
mobility hub

Farnborough Civic Quarter - Design & Access Statement 

45

The Masterplan
LDA Indicative Layout

P
ack P

age 517



8  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

The Masterplan
Plot Limits

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1

El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63

62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82

70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66
El Sub Sta

74

64

86
Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68

84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
7.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Public Open Space Parameter Plan

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00007

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Public Open Space

Existing Building

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

1. The detail of the public open space shall be agreed at Reserved
Matters stage but should be substantially in accordance with the
parameter plan. Additional guidance and detail at this stage is
provided in the Design and Access Statement and the design
guidelines.

Notes

Zone allocated for re-provision of 915m2 skatepark

Cat A tree stem and root protection area to be retained

Approximate location of 1,000m2 destination play space

A

Total Plot

Limits of building within plot

Extract from LDA masterplan

Plot limits

B

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1

El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63

62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82
70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66

El Sub Sta

74

64

86

Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68
84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

Plot A

Plot B

Plot E

Plot C

Plot D

Plot G

Plot I

Plot F

28.1m
7m16.5m

3.8m

15.5m27m
3.6m

8.4m

9.2m

48m

51m

23.5m

35.2m

3.3m

11.6m

10m

15m

Plot H1

Plot H2

Plot J3

37.3m

12.6m Plot J4

10m

54m

Plot J1

Plot J2

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
4.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Horizontal Limits of Development Parameter Plans

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00004

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

Area of Boundary Restriction
(Facade line to be set back from
parameter envelope of the
development zone)

53

FARNBOROUGH CIVIC QUARTER  / LDA DESIGN

P
ack P

age 518



9  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1

El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63

62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82

70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66
El Sub Sta

74

64

86
Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68

84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
7.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Public Open Space Parameter Plan

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00007

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Public Open Space

Existing Building

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

1. The detail of the public open space shall be agreed at Reserved
Matters stage but should be substantially in accordance with the
parameter plan. Additional guidance and detail at this stage is
provided in the Design and Access Statement and the design
guidelines.

Notes

Zone allocated for re-provision of 915m2 skatepark

Cat A tree stem and root protection area to be retained

Approximate location of 1,000m2 destination play space

Mobility Hub
Indicative Footprint

B

A

P
ack P

age 519



10  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1
El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63

62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82

70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66
El Sub Sta

74

64

86
Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68

84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
7.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Public Open Space Parameter Plan

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00007

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Public Open Space

Existing Building

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

1. The detail of the public open space shall be agreed at Reserved
Matters stage but should be substantially in accordance with the
parameter plan. Additional guidance and detail at this stage is
provided in the Design and Access Statement and the design
guidelines.

Notes

Zone allocated for re-provision of 915m2 skatepark

Cat A tree stem and root protection area to be retained

Approximate location of 1,000m2 destination play space

Skate park

W
es

tm
ea

d

ParkPedestrian entrances to MSCP

350 car parking spaces and associated 
facilities over 6 storeys

Indicative Ground Floor Layout

Mobility Hub
Test Fit - Ground Floor

Car parking (including 18 accessible 
spaces and EV charging)

Cores & servicing

Car sharing

Secure bike park & workshop

Retail/mobility units

Drop-off zone

Car share vehicular entrance

Main car entrance

Main MSCP car routes

Vehicular access from main road

Retail/mobility use entrances

Boulevard / 
landscaped  pedestrian 

route

Plot B

Ac
ce

ss
 ro

ad

P
ack P

age 520



11  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1
El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63

62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82

70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66
El Sub Sta

74

64

86
Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68

84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
7.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Public Open Space Parameter Plan

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00007

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Public Open Space

Existing Building

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

1. The detail of the public open space shall be agreed at Reserved
Matters stage but should be substantially in accordance with the
parameter plan. Additional guidance and detail at this stage is
provided in the Design and Access Statement and the design
guidelines.

Notes

Zone allocated for re-provision of 915m2 skatepark

Cat A tree stem and root protection area to be retained

Approximate location of 1,000m2 destination play space

Indicative First Floor Layout

Mobility Hub
Test Fit - First Floor

350 car parking spaces and associated 
facilities over 6 storeys

Car parking (including 15 accessible 
spaces and EV charging)

Cores & servicing

Main MSCP car routes

Retail/mobility units

P
ack P

age 521



12  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1
El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63

62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82

70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66
El Sub Sta

74

64

86
Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68

84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
7.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Public Open Space Parameter Plan

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00007

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Public Open Space

Existing Building

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

1. The detail of the public open space shall be agreed at Reserved
Matters stage but should be substantially in accordance with the
parameter plan. Additional guidance and detail at this stage is
provided in the Design and Access Statement and the design
guidelines.

Notes

Zone allocated for re-provision of 915m2 skatepark

Cat A tree stem and root protection area to be retained

Approximate location of 1,000m2 destination play space

Indicative Upper Floor Layout

Mobility Hub
Test Fit - Upper Floor

350 car parking spaces and associated 
facilities over 6 storeys

Car parking (including 15 accessible 
spaces and EV charging)

Cores & servicing

Main MSCP car routes

Green roof

P
ack P

age 522



13  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

Shelter

Shelter

9

Sub Sta

AV
EN

U
E

23

14

El

5

10 18

19

27

1

75.0m

24
to
1

1

Solartron Retail Park

4

Park

Solartron Retail

SU
N

D
ER

LA
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

58

1

El Sub Sta

ESS

Village Hotel

12

9

17

24
18

14

Q
ueensm

ead

6

134

156a

148
186

51

158a

8

182a

168

ROAD

67.4m

180

1

188

182

2

122

158

178

10

5

CEDAR ROAD

OAK
68.6m

2

65

184

53

156

1

146

186a

7

Car Park

Shelters

El Sub Sta

21 to 27

1 
to

 1
4

Unit C

Sta

Unit A to B

2

6

Horizon Farnborough

El Sub Stas

1

IQ Farnborough

El Sub

96

96
a

92
 to

 94

96
b

96
c

11
5

JU
PI

TE
R

 C
LO

SE

PO

Store

Tk

12 17

18

20

14

8
1

9 14

12 179

81

College

Sh
el

te
r

Balancing Pond

Posts

EA
ST

M
EA

D

Th
e 

C
on

ve
nt

Play Area

5 to 6

C
R

72

29

64

73

27

22
 to

 2
6

74

62

58

93

61

66

82

El Sub Sta

84

ELLES CLOSE

17
 to

 2
1

56

87

Drai
n

Job

64

85

68

86

63
62

72

62

54

89

34

51

70

93 to 99

SO
LAR

TR
O

N
 R

O
AD

Bank

60

52

8 to 10

11 to 15

Posts

Footpath

LB

6

Centre

82

70

28

91

71

30

80

50

66

El Sub Sta

74

64

86

Bank

Rafborough

WESTMEAD

32

Subway

68

84

65 to 69

44
 to

 5
0

21

1

64.0m

Cy
cle

 T
ra

ck

020 7467 1470London T:

Planning

N
or

th

0 50m

1:1,000

L EGE ND

ISSUED BY

DWG. NO

DATE
SCALE@A1
STATUS

DRAWN
CHECKED
APPROVED

X:
\J

O
BS

\7
74

9_
FA

R
N

BO
R

O
U

G
H

_C
IV

IC
_Q

U
AR

TE
R

_S
TA

G
E_

2\
7C

AD
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
00

_P
AR

AM
ET

ER
_P

LA
N

S\
FC

Q
-L

D
A-

ZZ
-X

X-
XX

-D
R

-N
-S

T-
00

00
7.

D
W

G

PROJECT TITLE

REV. DESCRIPTION APP. DATE

DRAWING TITLE

This drawing may contain: Ordnance Survey material by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright 2015. All rights reserved. Reference number
OS Open data / © Natural England / © DEFRA / © DECC / © English Heritage. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2015  | Aerial Photography -

Farnborough Civic Quarter

Public Open Space Parameter Plan

09 NOV 2022 JB
MW
MW

FCQ-LDA-ZZ-XX-XX-DR-N-ST-00007

No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing except for 
planning purposes.
All dimensions are to be checked on site.
Area measurements for indicative purposes only.

© LDA Design Consulting Ltd.  Quality Assured to BS EN ISO 9001 : 2008

Sources Ordnance Survey

0100031673.
ESRI, DigitalGlobe, GEOEye, i-cubed, USDA FSA,USGD, AEX, Getmapping, Aerogrid, IGN,IGP,swisstopo, the GIS User Community

Planning Application Boundary

Public Open Space

Existing Building

Development Zone Boundary

Development Plot Boundary

1. The detail of the public open space shall be agreed at Reserved
Matters stage but should be substantially in accordance with the
parameter plan. Additional guidance and detail at this stage is
provided in the Design and Access Statement and the design
guidelines.

Notes

Zone allocated for re-provision of 915m2 skatepark

Cat A tree stem and root protection area to be retained

Approximate location of 1,000m2 destination play space

RetailWestmead Access Road

Mobility Hub
Indicative Section

21.9m

Lvl 1
Lvl 1.5

3.2m

P
ack P

age 523



14  •  Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub  •  Briefing

0
45 spaces

350 
Spaces Total

61 spaces

61 spaces

61 spaces

61 spaces

61 spaces

1

2

3

4

5

Mobility Hub
Spaces

P
ack P

age 524



Newcastle Studio
John Dobson House

49 New Bridge Street West 
Newcastle upon Tyne 

NE1 8AN
t: 0191 281 7700

info@gt3architects.com

Nottingham Studio
The Wallis Building
Plumptre Place
Nottingham
NG1 1LW
t: 0115 947 0800

www.gt3architects.com

P
ack P

age 525



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Project Number: 23013
Produced by: JWa

Checked by: GT3

Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub                                                                
Sustainability Strategy 20/09/2023 - Rev A

APPENDIX 9

P
ack P

age 527



2  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Contents Page

1 • Introduction

2 • Overview & Benchmarking

3 • Project Options

4 • Analysis

5 • Conclusions & Further Information

P
ack P

age 528



1 • Introduction

P
ack P

age 529



4  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

As designers we are frequently asked a variety of questions:

"How do we get a Net-Zero Leisure Centre?"

"What does Sustainability mean?"

"Where do we Start?"

The purpose of this report is to explore the sustainability 
strategy in the context of Sport & Leisure & aid understanding 
of the options available, as well as the return on investment 
in relation to Carbon. This report reflects the project’s 
development up to RIBA stage 2.

It will also provide all the relevant information to allow the 
client to make an informed decision on whether the project 
will progress as a Passivhaus Accredited design or follow a Low 
Energy design approach. Additionally it will aim to set out 
some of the defining principles that will be followed through 
into any of the applicable options into the next stage. As such 
it is important that the document is reviewed and signed-off 
by the Client (or their advisors) so that the project team can 
proceed with confidence into the next stages of the project.

Introduction
Overview

28% of Global Emissions 
are from Building Operation

11% of Global Emissions are from 
building materials & construction

“Buildings are currently responsible for 39% of global energy related carbon emissions: 
28% from operational emissions, from energy needed to heat, cool and power them, and the 
remaining 11% from materials and construction” - World Green Building Council
worldgbc.org/advancing-net-zero/embodied-carbon/

P
ack P

age 530



2 • Overview & Benchmarking

P
ack P

age 531



6  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Global Sustainability
Overview

Sustainable Development has been a central 
concern for many countries for many years. In June 
1992, at the Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, 
more than 178 countries adopted Agenda 21, a 
comprehensive plan of action to build a global 
partnership for sustainable development to improve 
human lives and protect the environment.

Following this, the Member states of the United Nations 
adopted the Millennium Declaration which led to the 
elaboration of eight Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) to 
reduce extreme poverty by 2015. – This was the first major 
international, goal-orientated set of targets that all countries 
could measure and compare against.

In January 2015, the General Assembly began the negotiation 
process on the post-2015 development agenda. The process 
culminated in the adoption of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable 
Development, with 17 SDGs (sustainable development goals) at 
its core, at the UN Sustainable Development Summit in 
September 2015.

The 17 SDGs are overarching sustainability goals 
that are broken down into 169 targets and are 
measured through 231 unique indicators (247 
in total with 12 indicators repeating across 
different targets). The SDGs address the key global 
challenges being faced, such as climate change, 
environmental degradation and socio-economic 
issues such as human health and well-being, 
inequality and justice, visioning and aiming for a 
better, more sustainable world for all.

The development goals are reviewed each year and a report 
is issued to note the progress. The SDGs are universal with all 
signatories expected to contribute to them internationally and 
deliver them domestically, and more importantly is a reminder 
of all the aspects of sustainability that can be targeted.

In 1987, the United Nations Brundtland Commission defined sustainability as 
“meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.”

P
ack P

age 532



7  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

UK Sustainability
Overview

Following the SDG’s, each government is responsible for setting 
and maintaining their own policy. The UK Government has 
responded by commissioning a report by the Committee on Cli-
mate Change (CCC), and in 2019, signing into law the NET ZERO 
by 2050. This is then supported by the ‘Net Zero Strategy: Build 
Back Greener’ report, which outlines key targets and methods 
for achieving Net Zero. Below are some of the key findings:

“The UK has around 30 million buildings and 
includes some of the oldest building stock in 
Europe.”

“Including indirect emissions (e.g. from electricity 
generation) emissions from heating buildings make 
up around 78% of all buildings emissions and about 
21% of all UK emissions.”

“Non-domestic buildings account for around a 
quarter of [total] UK building emissions.” & “Public 
sector buildings account for about 9% of [total UK] 
building emissions.”

In 2008, The UK Government signed into law the Climate Change Act, which was amended in 2019, 
“to ensure the UK reduces its greenhouse gas emissions by 100% from 1990 levels by 2050”���� �()��*+,��������	
���
�	�
��
���	�������������	��������������������������!�"�#�$%&'

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/net-zero-strategy

��������������������	���
�����������
���������
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/net-zero-strategy

P
ack P

age 533



8  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

While a building can be operationally net zero (utilising sustainable power sources), the reality is no building can be embodied carbon zero, as current construction materials all have some carbon content.
To achieve whole life carbon zero, the approach should be to minimize the carbon as much as possible and then offset the remainder.

The ‘net zero target’ refers to a government commitment to 
ensure the UK reduces its greenhouse gas emissions by 100% 
from 1990 levels by 2050. If met, this would mean the amount 
of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions produced by the UK would 
be equal to or less than the emissions removed by the UK from 
the environment.

In real terms, this means that all inclusive, a building has to 
emit less than zero emissions across its whole life. In order to 
do this, embodied and operations carbon needs to have a set 
of key performance indicators to measure the overall carbon / 
GHG emissions.

The UK has a series of optional targets and measures that each 
try and tackle different aspects of carbon and energy, however:

Policy falls short, as there are no specific metrics 
or limits in legislation for operational carbon or 
embodied carbon.

With a lack of specific guidance, our aim is to 
understand the carbon impact of buildings, and to 
set a series of Key performance indicators (KPI’s) 
that are measurable and attainable.

Understanding that a building can never be truly Net Zero on 
completion / opening day is key to tackling the climate crisis. 
There are a number of things that we as designers can do, to 
reduce and eliminate the overall carbon.

Sustainability
Lack of Policy

Global - Sustainable development goals (SDG’s)

Net Zero 2050Building Regulations

UK

Policy Performance / Carbon Gap

Whole Life Carbon

Operational Carbon Embodied Carbon+}

P
ack P

age 534



9  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Combined, these create the ‘whole life carbon’ of a building. While this can never 
truly be zero (physical construction materials contain carbon), decisions made 
during the design process can enable us to significantly reduce the whole life 
carbon by tackling BOTH embodied and operational carbon.

Whole Life Carbon
The Component Parts

Performance / Carbon Gap

Whole Life Carbon

Embodied Carbon Operational Carbon+ {
P

ack P
age 535



10  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Climate Emergency
Carbon Breakdown

Carbon (or more accurately CO2 equivalent (KgCO2eq/m
2) is becoming the worldwide measurement for the environmental impact of an activity / economy / policy.

There are two parts to carbon in buildings:
- Embodied carbon used to construct
- Operational carbon - the carbon used to run the building (assumed 60 years)

P
ack P

age 536



11  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Understanding where Carbon is used in a building is key in decision making. The Diagrams shown here 
indicate the approximate distribution of how carbon is used in a buildings life time and an approximate 
breakdown. Diagrams taken from ‘LETI Climate Emergency Design Guide’ - https://www.leti.uk/cedg

The majority of embodied carbon is typically used in lumps, operational energy / carbon is steadily used 
over a buildings life, however operational carbon is cumulatively higher, generally being up to 70% of the 
whole life carbon and potentially even more in high energy demand building types such as Leisure Centres

Climate Emergency
Tackling Whole Life Carbon

�����+�6�A LV���������	�
����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ���������������!"� # $% &��������!'���%(�������������'��� #���������������)�������������*�,-.V-,/�-012/�.V03 435�07�/V7�8��������������8�������������98�������������:8�������������;8�������������<8������������=8>�2/,-�1�3.�,35�1,V3.�3,3-�?2��,.V03,/�1V@@V03@>�5�-V3���3���B�5�1,35�07�C�V/.�,@@�.@���5�-�@�@.��@@�03���V5�V37�,@.��-.����D�������������������������������'������������������������������������'��������������E�������������������������F�������G�������������F�����'�������������������H������������������������������������������������I�J��������������������������������"���������F����������������������"��'������������KMNOPQM�RSM�TU�TWM�TWMXYZQ�[TZPOQOT\�U]�TWM�PSOQRÔ_̀
P

ack P
age 537



12  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Considering 'Business as Usual' practice for kgCO2/m2.year emission rates. We can visualise 
what that relates to in real world terms below, in the context of leisure centre emissions:

690 - 1,579 kWh/m2
.year ≈ 194 - 444 KgCO2.eq/m2

.year

Sports & Leisure
Operational Carbon Visualised

Based on CIBSE 2021 collated data, Leisure Facilities use more 
energy (kWh, per m2, per year) than almost every other category of 
building. The graph opposite highlights the latest data with Sport 
& Recreation facilities in red. This ranges from ‘good practice’ to 
‘typical use’.

Additionally plotted on the graph are; GT3 completed Sport & 
Leisure Projects (19 total (18 with wet side facilities)), are plotted 
in orange, and at the bottom in green, are low operational energy 
standards (as well as 2 Key projects meeting the Passivhaus - 
Spelthorne Leisure Centre & St.Sidwells Point).

Energy used translates into both COST & CARBON, 
both are key drivers for new build projects. Leisure and 
swimming pool centres have the two highest energy 
use intensity’s (EUI’s), ranging from:

690 - 1,579 kWh/m2
.year

equal to
193.89 - 443.699 KgCO2.eq/m2

.year

[Conversion rate of 0.281 KgCO2.eq = 1kWh
European Environment Agency 2016 (latest) Data

www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/daviz/co2-emission-intensity]

Extrapolate that over a 60 Year life span (assumed as standard 
for the purpose of whole life carbon assessments) of a building 
(assuming that emission rates remain constant) with an average 
5291m2 area (averaged across 18No. GT3 Projects), a Leisure 
Centre with a pool could emit between:

61,552 - 140,856 metric tons of Carbon Dioxide (CO2eq)
equal to

142,366 - 325,791
Barrels of Oil consumed in its lifetime

[Conversion rate of 0.43 metric tons CO2.eq = 1 barrel of oil
United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) "Greenhouse 

Gas Equivalences Calculator"
www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator]

This is considered business as usual scenario*

99 - 227 Litres of Petrol
(per square metre, per year)

497 - 1,137 miles driven in an average car
(per square metre, per year)

23,585 - 53,973 Smartphones charged
(per square metre, per year)

P
ack P

age 538



13  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Sport & Leisure
Operational Carbon Visualised

Extract from CIBSE 2021 collated data showing only: Sport & Leisure categories, 
GT3 completed projects (DEC data [19No. + Spelthorne Leisure Centre listed 
seperately]), and Low Energy Benchmarks (Including St.Sidwells Point).

P
ack P

age 539



14  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

As Sport & Leisure Facilities are amongst the highest Energy & Carbon users, the opportunity for efficiency and reducing the usage is 
greater than any other building typology. Small changes of efficiency can give significant savings on operating cost, energy use and carbon.

Leisure Sustainability
Operational Carbon / Energy Limits

*These values will be used later in the document for calculation purposes.

As there is a lack in prescriptive targets in both policy and building 
regulations, in order to achieve net zero, we have to set our own.

Subsequent to the previous charts, we can use the data to form 3No. 
achievable benchmarks for embodied energy use:

Option A - “Business as usual”
690 - 1579 kWh/m2.year equal to 299 - 684 KgCO2.eq/m2

.year

*Typically 800 kWh/m2
year equal to 224.8 KgCO2.eq/m

2
year

Based on CIBSE 2021 collated data, this ranges from ‘good practice’ (690 
kWh/m2.year) to ‘typical use’ 1579 (kWh/m2.year). This is following the 
current building regulations.

Option B - Low Carbon
420 - 539 kWh/m2.year equal to 182 - 296 KgCO2.eq/m2

.year

*Typically 400 kWh/m2
year equal to 112.4 KgCO2.eq/m

2
year

Based on DEC’s for 19No. completed GT3 Sport & Leisure projects, 18No. 
of which have Pools / Water facilities. The lowest performing Wet Facility 
(420 kWh/m2.year), and the average across them (539 kWh/m2.year).

Option C - Passivhaus Standard

*120 kWh/m2.year equal to 33.72 KgCO2.eq/m
2
.year

Passivhaus is generally accepted as the best standard for in-use energy. 
It is an optional accreditation and has a strict limits for all aspects of the 
energy in-use.

Target / Option CTarget / Option A Target / Option B

Operational Energy / Carbon Limits

800 kWh/m2/year 120 kWh/m2/year400 kWh/m2/year

Based on the benchmarking guidance, we would prescribe 
the below limits for operational energy.

*These values will be used later in the document for calculation purposes.

-50%

-85%

P
ack P

age 540



15  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Similar to operational energy / carbon, there are no prescribed 
limits for embodied carbon in the building regulations, we can 
only prescribe targets based on the latest research.

‘Globally, Embodied Carbon of materials accounts 
for ~50% of all annual human-made GHG emissions 
from fossil fuels.

Global consensus agrees on the need for an 
immediate 40% reduction in embodied carbon 
today, moving towards 65% by 2030, and net zero 
by 2040.’ - footprintcompany.com/embodied-
carbon-roadmap

Below are some examples from key industry bodies:

• World Green Building Council: -40% from average practice 
by 2030, Net Zero by 2050

• Royal British Institute of Architects (RIBA) & London Energy 
Transformation Initiative (LETI): -40% immediately, -55% by 
2025, -70% by 2030, Net Zero by 2040

• American Institute of Architects (AIA): -40% immediately, 
-45% by 2025, -65% by 2030, Net Zero by 2040

• Green Building Council of Australia (GBCA): Net Zero by 
2030

• Low Carbon Living CRC: Start Best Practice Method of 
Measurement & Report immediately, Mandatory Quotas by 
2025, -70% by 2030, Net Zero by 2040’

Sport & Leisure
Embodied Carbon ���� ������"�7B�HII������������	�
��I�������7�
�����7��H�
7������������������������ ������� ���!���#$%&'�()*+����%+��,���-�.�/*,��01*2�37	���	�
��I�������H��4����56��I�4H����8H�����H�����$9:;9:�%:<=>?�&=@:AC9=D@EF9:':FEF@EFG<

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/net-zero-strategy

����,6A6�JK������J��KK�	
����������	�,��,6,�� ������������������� �!"#$%&'&�()�*+� �(�+)) �� �+�---.+/0��� 0��/ .0�*1%&'&0�+)) �� 2345�7898:;3<5=>:?5;;>@B>CD!�"EF�%�G%&%HI
https://www.architecture.com/about/policy/climate-action/2030-climate-challenge

P
ack P

age 541



16  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

The main two documents of relevance are the RIBA climate 
Challenge and the LETI climate emergency design guide. 
Both have set targets for Embodied carbon in construction, 
however the RIBA Challenge specifies directly towards; offices, 
schools, and the domestic sectors. There are however some 
comparables to offices in size and scale so could be considered 
a similar benchmark. The RIBA challenge set the below targets 
for Office sector projects:

<1400 kgCO2eq/m2 = “Business as Usual”
< 970 kgCO2eq/m2 = “2025 Targets”
< 750 kgCO2eq/m2 = “2030 Targets”

While these figures are higher than LETI, it has been proven 
that with large spans and even complex builds, these could be 
more ambitious.

London Energy Transformation Initiative (LETI), produced a 
thorough review of the Net zero target and proposed a path to 
zero carbon in the ‘Climate Emergency Design Guide’. LETI has 
set embodied carbon targets for the upfront embodied carbon 
emissions (Building Life Cycle Stage A1-A5).

LETI is the only guidance available that sets realistic 
targets on embodied carbon that is also non-sector 
specific. Therefore this will be used to set the limits 
for the Embodied Carbon of the project as a mid 
ground value between LETI and RIBA*

*Comparative to another recently measured project (Spelthorne 
Leisure Centre) with a reported figure, excluding external works 
outside the buildings footprint, of 672 kgCO2eq/m2 over a 60 year 
period life-cycle assessment - note stages A1-A5 = 720gCO2eq/m2

Sport & Leisure
Embodied Carbon Limits

Target / Option A Target / Option B Target / Option C

Embodied Carbon Limits

1200 
(kgCO2/m2)

<800 
(kgCO2/m2)

<400 
(kgCO2/m2)

Equivalent to 1/3rd 
reduction over baseline

1/3rd materials from 
re-used sources

50% materials can be 
re-used at end of life

Equivalent to 2/3rd 

reduction over baseline

2/3rd materials from re-
used sources

80% materials can be 
re-used at end of life

Based on the LETI guidance, we would prescribe the below 
limits for the project.

*These values will be used later in the document for calculation purposes.

P
ack P

age 542



17  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Whole Life Carbon

97.12% Operat onal : 2.88% Embodied [1]

89
.40% Operat onal : 10.60% Embodied [2]

62
.7

7%
 O

perati onal : 37.23% Embodied [3]

Whole Life Carbon
Embodied vs Operational Ratio ���)3>�Ŝi��������������� ��!�"��"# ��$��%���#�� &�'!�����'�#"� ���'(*#$�"�+,-./0�1/2451�6.78/�9/642/:;478�7:2�6.<++8�2/=/8+?1/:;6�+=/9�@A�(���BCD9+25.;6E17;/94786�FGHIGJKL���B*��'�MNOPQ��B'�&$'#���MNRPT�#�'����$��������*"�$�U��'B�M�VW�RPX*���'#���"�����Y(�M�ZP[���� �"# ���#B*�B�"�MQVWQOP\]_̀ab>c�)d�efgh>�3>e�c>jk�ghlfmnnh ohk3g�hnp�>j>3�q�r)�hc�j��sgfm�>�>e�kg3�>k�e>k�n)k��j��3fm>kq�>��g�>e���mg�k>3�	
�)�hc�j��fnd�h�gjk�p�km�f)33>jk��)�hc�j���>�)hgk�njeZZ VZ VRV VV �O����� � ��V�V Z� ��VZ� �VV�V V�V OO�V��� �V�� R����V O �R�
Whole life carbon is the sum total of the Embodied + 
Operational Carbon. The typical methodology for assessing 
whole life carbon and is to add up the expected usage over a 60 
year period.

LETI have done this for the 3 main typologies: offices, schools, 
and the domestic sectors and the representative pie charts are 
shown here denoting the percentage of energy / carbon used in 
its lifetime.

Following the same methodology we can estimate the ratio for 
Leisure Centre facilities.

Leisure Centres have a significantly higher Energy 
Use Intensity (EUI) than other building typologies. 

Over the period of 60 years. This means that in even 
in the best case ratio scenario, in excess of 66%* of 
the overall Carbon and Energy emissions are in-use.
(Embodied Carbon not reduced at all & Operational 
Carbon reduced to Passivhaus levels of emissions)

*The min/max of the combinations of embodied vs operational 
carbon are shown on the pie charts opposite

While it is important to understand the ratio of Embodied to 
Operational Carbon, it is worth noting that the Operational 
Carbon is by far the biggest contributor, especially in Sport & 
Leisure Buildings. Below the donut chart is a graph of the same 
data showing the sum total of the ratios as a comparison of the 
whole life carbon emissions per square metre.

Leisure facilities are high energy consumers & can be prone to comfort and overheating issues. Temperatures are maintained at high levels 
with plant operating 24 hours a day, 365 days a year. Space heating & hot water loads are far higher than all other building types.
This means over a period of 60 years, at least 66% of the energy is used in operation, going up to 98% in the business as usual scenario.

[1] Embodied Carbon 1200 (kgCO2eq/m2) : 2032.2 (KgCO2.eq/m2) Operational Carbon (33.72 (KgCO2.eq/m2.year) x 60 years)
[2] Embodied Carbon 800 (kgCO2eq/m2) : 6,744 (KgCO2.eq/m2) Operational Carbon (112.4 (KgCO2.eq/m2.year) x 60 years)
[3] Embodied Carbon 400 (kgCO2eq/m2) : 13,488 (KgCO2.eq/m2) Operational Carbon (224.8 (KgCO2.eq/m2.year) x 60 years)

The ratio of carbon is influenced the most by 
the operational carbon. Therefore, the greatest 

impact on the whole life carbon is to adopt 
'Passive principles' or full 'Passivhaus certification'

P
ack P

age 543



18  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Carbon Targets
Summary

Target / Option CTarget / Option A Target / Option B

Operational Energy / Carbon Limits

800 kWh/m2/year 120 kWh/m2/year400 kWh/m2/year

Based on the benchmarking guidance, we would prescribe 
the below limits for operational energy.

*These values will be used later in the document for calculation purposes.

-50%

-85%

Target / Option A Target / Option B Target / Option C

Embodied Carbon Limits

1200 
(kgCO2/m2)

<800 
(kgCO2/m2)

<400 
(kgCO2/m2)

Equivalent to 1/3rd 
reduction over baseline

1/3rd materials from 
re-used sources

50% materials can be 
re-used at end of life

Equivalent to 2/3rd 

reduction over baseline

2/3rd materials from re-
used sources

80% materials can be 
re-used at end of life

Based on the LETI guidance, we would prescribe the below 
limits for the project.

*These values will be used later in the document for calculation purposes.

Below is a summary of the 3 benchmarks for both embodied and operational carbon. 
These will be used for the basis of calculations and comparing 3 options for the project.

P
ack P

age 544



19  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

In order to positively step towards the Net Zero Emissions goal 
for any project, the following areas were identified as the key 
building strategies that have the greatest impact on the whole 
life carbon. These will inform the Key performance Indicators 
(KPI's) for the options previously outlined. Circles indicate the 
aspect of the carbon that is impacted.

Proposed Framework
10 Things to Consider

    Embodied Carbon       Operational Carbon

Building weight & Substructure Design (Below Ground)
Reducing the building weight (swapping heavy floor/wall constructions for 
timber, hybrid timber/steel frame) creates a lighter building and therefore a 
much reduced foundation solution. Less structure = Less embodied carbon

Pool tank construction
Stainless steel pool tanks provide a circa. 40% reduction in embodied carbon 
over a traditional concrete tank as well as steel can more easily be recycled. 
However advances in concrete can dramatically reduce the carbon content. 
Careful analysis of the most optimal solution is required per project.

Heat & Power Source
The heat and power source directly impacts the amount of carbon used during 
the life of the building. Marginal gains in efficient systems provide significant 
savings on energy over the building life cycle. This also includes Pool filtration.

Building Structure (above Ground)
Steel and concrete contain large amounts of carbon, while timber is considered 
carbon zero. The choice of frame has a large impact on the embodied carbon.

Building Orientation & Compact Form
Proper orientation impacts the heating & cooling loads and helps to balance 
where areas of glazing are useful for the internal room use.

Operational Temperatures & Water Use
Every ±1°C has a significant effect of the overall energy demand. Small changes 
to operating temperatures can have a significant impact on the sizing and 
specification of heating / cooling systems. Setting these early are a key factor 
for energy optimisation.

U-Values & Air Tightness
Both factors directly influence the heating & cooling requirements of the 
building. While increased U-values marginally increase the embodied carbon 
(additional insulation thickness), the payback period on reduced operational 
energy / carbon can offset this as quickly as 12 months.

Thermal Zoning
Properly distributing hot - cold zones through the building reduces the 
temperature differential between spaces. This helps mitigate unwanted 
internal heat gains and reduces overall system demand

External Material Choices
The overall impact of the external  façade finish is marginal, Different cladding 
& envelope solutions have different amounts of embodied carbon, and heavier 
elements also require additional structure to support.

Building Glazing & Shading
Optimising both glazing ratios & shading factors can greatly effect both energy 
demand and load. Proper design should balance the right amount of solar 
gains across the year, maximising the low winter sun to reduce heating, and 
minimising excess gains in summer.

P
ack P

age 545



20  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Proposed Framework
'Passive Principles'

The 10 things to consider collectively form the principles of Low Carbon Design. By following the 'Passive' Principles' every project will 
make meaningful steps towards optimising the building performance, bringing the carbon emissions down, and be closer to Net-Zero

While a building can be operationally net zero (utilising sustainable power sources), the reality is no building can be embodied carbon zero, as current construction materials all have some carbon content.
To achieve whole life carbon zero, the approach should be to minimize the carbon as much as possible and then offset the remainder.

The ratio of carbon is influenced the most by 
the operational carbon. Therefore, the greatest 

impact on the whole life carbon is to adopt 
'Passive principles' or full 'Passivhaus certification'

P
ack P

age 546



3 •   Project Options                                               

P
ack P

age 547



22  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Stage 2 Brief Output
The 3 Project Options

Option C - Full Passivhaus Certification
Option B - Low carbon / Passive Principles

Option A - 'Business As usual' i.e. Building regs compliant�����#.9D9NY�9Y�N��N��D9Y	����
���#Y.�#YD����N����#�9Y��Y	��Y.����������������� �� !"$%&'() !� *�*+$,�'!-�/ 0$%�12#�3�9�.9Y	�4#	���D9NY�������� ,+5$�67�8+),-)!:"� (;$%�(;'!�-0$,,)!:"<=>?@A=B=CE�FGH�IJCK=ALME@JC�JO�O?=P�MCQ�RJS=A<=>?@A=B=CE�FTH�UCVK@E=�W=C=AME@JC�JO�=P=XEA@X@EZ�<=W?PME@JCKH�[\�TT\�T]\�T̂\�T_\�T_̀\�T_a\�T[\�T[I\�Tb\�TbI\��Tc\�̂�\�̂�̀\�̂]\�̂̂�MCQ�̂̂�̀� + +

For the purpose of the following exercises, there are 3 sustainability options proposed, each tackling with increasing levels of efficiency and 
carbon reduction. This can then be further used to cost each option for the project.

BREEAM is a further accreditation that is a holistic approach to sustainability. Many Local Authorities use it as a benchmark as it covers a wider spectrum of sustainability including: 
Energy, Land use and ecology, Water, Health and well-being, Pollution, Transport, Materials, Waste & Management. It provides a broad approach to construction and is recognised 
internationally as a sustainability standard, however it does not directly target carbon or energy, as it only accounts for a small amount of the overall credits / score.

P
ack P

age 548



23  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Option A - 'Business as Usual' Option B - Low carbon / 'Passive Principles' Option C - Passivhaus Certified

U-value 
External Wall

≤ 0.26 W/m2K
(As per part L) 

100mm Insulation
(mineral wool type)

≤ 0.15 W/m2K 
200mm Insulation

(mineral wool type)

≤ 0.125 W/m2K 
300mm Insulation

(mineral wool type)

U-value 
Floor

≤ 0.18 W/m2K
(based on P/A ratio) 

100mm Insulation
(rigid board Type)

≤ 0.15 W/m2K
(based on P/A ratio) 

150mm Insulation
(rigid board Type)

≤ 0.15 W/m2K
(Whole Floor) 

250mm Insulation

U-value 
Roof

≤ 0.18 W/m2K
(As per part L) 

200mm Insulation
(rigid board Type)

≤ 0.125 W/m2K 
250mm Insulation
(rigid board Type)

≤ 0.125 W/m2K 
350mm Insulation
(rigid board Type)

U-value 
Window & Doors

≤ 1.6 W/m2K
(As per part L) 
Double glazed

≤ 1.2 W/m2K 
Premium glazing

 + Superior frames

≤ 0.85 W/m2K 
Triple glazed

+ Superior Frames
+ Superior Spacers

Air Tightness ≤ 8.0 m³/m².h 
(As per part L)

≤ 3.0 m³/m².h

≤ 0.4 m³/m².h
≤ 0.6 ach 

building to achieve 
both values

Internal Thermal 
Separation

Only wet side to 
remaining facilities 
100mm Insulation

(mineral wool type)

Only wet side to 
remaining facilities 
100mm Insulation

(mineral wool type)

All spaces with ±4°C 
temp. difference 

150mm Insulation
(mineral wool type)

Thermal Bridging

No requirement 
for quantification 
- design to reduce 

where possible

Some quantification 
- design to reduce 

where possible

All thermal bridges 
quantified & reduced

Proposed Framework
Key Performance Indicators (KPI's)

In all 3 options, the primary difference is in the fabric performance. Below is the key 7 things that differ between them to inform that 
capital cost uplift and payback exercise. It can also form the KPI's for taking the project into the technical design phases.

P
ack P

age 549



24  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Payback Periods
Cost & Carbon

Assumptions made for the basis of the calculations:
• All electric power and electric rates (Advised by Hydrock)
• Does not include future inflations of energy prices
• Assumed 60 year life for calculating the operational energy as per BS EN 15978 & leti guidance
• Embodied Carbon Option B (achievable based on Spelthorne Leisure Centre) & Operational Energy Targets set previously within this document.
• Conversion rate of conversion rate of 0.281 KgCO2.eq = 1kWh - European Environment Agency 2016 (latest) Data - www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/daviz/co2-emission-intensity

Area : 9,950m² Carbon Conversion Rate : 0.281 (kgCO₂/kWh)

Cost Per kWh : £0.165/kWh Embodied Carbon Target Intensity : 800 (kgCO₂/m²)

Option A - 'Business as Usual' Option B - Low Carbon / 'Passive Principles' Option C - Passivhaus Certified

Capital Cost £49,450,000.00 £54,855,000.00 £57,614,000.00

Capital Cost Increase - £5,405,000.00 £8,164,000.00

Uplift Percentage from baseline - +10.93% (over Option A) +16.51%

Embodied Carbon Intensity (per m2 upfront) 800 (kgCO₂/m²) 800 (kgCO₂/m²) 800 (kgCO₂/m²)

Total Expected Embodied Carbon 7,960.00 (tonnes CO₂) 7,960.00 (tonnes CO₂) 7,960.00 (tonnes CO₂)

Operational Carbon (per m2) 224.80 (kgCO₂/m²) 112.40 (kgCO₂/m²) 33.72 (kgCO₂/m²)

Total Operational Carbon (60 years) 134,205.60 (tonnes CO₂) 67,102.80 (tonnes CO₂) 20,130.84 (tonnes CO₂)

Whole life carbon estimate (excl. Demolition) 142,165.60 (tonnes CO₂) 75,062.80 (tonnes CO₂) 28,090.84 (tonnes CO₂)

Whole life carbon saving - -67,102.80 (tonnes CO₂) -114,074.76 (tonnes CO₂)

Whole life carbon (per m2) 14.29 (tonnes CO₂/m²) 7.54 (tonnes CO₂/m²) 2.82 (tonnes CO₂/m²)

Lifetime Carbon Saving - 47.20% (Whole Life Carbon Saving) 80.24% (Whole Life Carbon Saving)

Energy Use Intensity (EUI) 800 (kWh/m².year) 400 (kWh/m².year) 120 (kWh/m².year)

Yearly Energy Demand 7,960,000 (kWh/year) 3,980,000 (kWh/year) 1,194,000 (kWh/year)

Estimated Operational Cost (per Year) £1,312,604.00 £656,302.00 £196,890.60

Operational Cost Savings (per Year) - £656,302.00 (Saving per year) £1,115,713.40 (Saving per year)

Payback Period - 8.24 (years) 7.32 (years)

Operational Cost (per month) £109,383.67 (month) £54,691.83 (month) £16,407.55 (month)

Operational Cost (per m2) £131.92/m² £65.96/m² £19.79/m²

P
ack P

age 550



25  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Payback Periods
Summary

Leisure facilities are high energy consumers and can be prone to comfort and overheating issues. Temperatures are 
maintained at high levels with plant operating continuously 24 hours a day over 365 days a year. Space heating 
and hot water loads are higher than any other building type. In addition, electrical energy demand is high due to 
pool water filtration processes, and fan power and pump power loads, not to mention fit out items such as gym and 
catering equipment.

Of all building types, applying the proven and tested
low energy Passivhaus standard to Leisure Facilities makes most sense.

A high performing thermal envelope along with thermal bridge free details and triple glazing, coupled with airtight 
construction, will mitigate against rising energy costs, and will also better protect the fabric. Air tightness, will reduce 
the risk of warm moist air migrating into the fabric due to unwanted infiltration. Triple glazing and high insulation 
levels will reduce condensation risk.

A Passivhaus optimised design that focuses on orientation, glazing ratios, internal thermal zones layout, low energy 
services design and making the most of heat recovery processes to move energy between zones, all can result in 
significant energy savings when compared to standard new build designs.

By following the Passivhaus approach, minimum energy savings
in the region of 50-60%+ can be easily realised vs CIBSE benchmarks

The dramatically reduced energy consumption is through a number of factors including reduced heat loss, reduced 
pool water evaporation, reduced air change rate and fan power, reduced water heating loads.

P
ack P

age 551



4 • Analysis

P
ack P

age 552



27  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Building Strategy
Site, Climate & Comfort

Aside from the obvious benefits of low energy buildings having 
lower operational costs and carbon emissions, an unknown 
fact is that the higher levels of insulation also protect from 
overheating in the summer as well as increases user comfort. 
This is a direct result of building physics as more insulation 
generally creates warmer surface internally.

Generally buildings in the UK have a standard assessment 
method - known as CIBSE TM59, which feeds into SAP and 
SBEM modelling - and this is applicable as standard for 
calculations for Option A & Option B. This then produces the 
EPC rating of the building.

"To achieve consistency across the country, SAP 
[and SBEM] models every building in the centre 
of the country (East Pennines) so that the climate 
conditions are always the same.
----------
This means that if you built two houses to exactly 
the same specification, one in Cornwall occupied by 
a family of four who are out during the day and one 
in Scotland with a single occupant working from 
home, you would get the same EPC rating – which 
is exactly what SAP is supposed to deliver. However, 
in reality, the actual energy use of each property is 
likely to be different." - EPCs as Efficiency Targets, 
Passivhaus Trust 2020 - www.passivhaustrust.org.

"The Passivhaus standard includes an overheating 
criterion which requires that the building, as 
a whole, spends less than 10% of the year at 
temperatures of 25°C or above...It should also be 
noted that the Passivhaus modelling system uses 
local climate data rather than the generic mid-
UK location used by SAP & SBEM in support of 
Building Regulation compliance" - Avoiding summer 
overheating - Passivhaus Trust 2021 - www.
passivhaustrust.org.

*If the project brief pursues Passivhaus Certification as per 
Option C, then the climate criteria set here are to be input as 
the nearest applicable data for the site. Graph taken from PHPP.

Passivhaus Climate Key:
• Arctic
• Cool
• Cool/moderate
• Warm/moderate
• Warm
• Hot
• Very Hot �� ���",�"�7� �ALW�����W������ �	�
�L�W���"��W",�� �	�
�L�"��W",�� �	�
�L������� �	����"�� ���,�W",��� ��������""�"���� ����"��W",���	��	����W",��� � ��,������ �����L�W���7� �W�����""�"����� �W���!"���W��� ��W������ ������	����W",��� �W���	����W",��� �����L�W���	����W",��� �#��L�W",���� �������"�$����7�� �%�&"��7�� �	L���W",77� �����L��"�$���W",'(�)*+-./0�12304�+3�5655 89:9;<=>?@�B<C=D>9E�<F�DG9�HI�J�K:M=?=B9�NC:O9P8<=D?>=E�KN�M?D?�Q�8:<R=�B<SP:>TGD�?=M�M?D?U?E9�:>TGD�VXVV�P

ack P
age 553



28  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Building Strategy
Form Factor

Heat will gradually make its way to the outside of the building 
through building’s external faces (e.g. walls, roofs, terraces). 
The larger the area of external faces, the more place heat has 
to escape to the outside. In principle, to minimise heat transfer 
through the building’s external faces, the building shape should 
be as compact as possible.

Form Factor is a useful tool for evaluating the relative 
compactness of a building and determining the feasibility of 
achieving low energy building performance, particularly for 
Passivhaus Certified Projects.

There are 2 main ways of evaluating the form 
factor for a building:

Heatloss form factor - external envelope : floor area
Achieving a heat loss Form Factors of ≤ 3 is a useful bench mark 
guide when designing Passivhaus buildings

A:V - Ratio of ventilated volume to external area
A favourable compactness ratio is considered to be one were 
the A:V ratio ≤ 0.7m²/ m³

On larger scale buildings such as leisure centres, 
the form factor is typically better than in small 
domestic properties. Even though the building 
as a whole is significantly larger, its relative 
compactness can be significantly lower.

N

*The Form factor will be revisited at each stage to ensure any changes that are made do not have a significantly adverse effect to the overall ratio. It will also develop with a greater level of detail as the design develops.

Building envelope areas:

External walls ≈ 4,310m2

Roofs ≈ 5,396m2

Floor ≈ 4,644m2

_______________
Total ≈ 14,350m2

Total GIFA = 9,950m2

Total Internal Ventilated Volume 
= GIFA x 2.8m = 27,860m3

(Passivhaus Methodology)

Heat loss form factor
= 14,350m2 / 9,950m2

= 1.44

Area : Volume ratio
= 14,350m2 / 27,860m3

= 0.515 m2/m3

Based on the current massing of Farnborough Leisure Centre, the form factors are favourable for the design of a low energy building and 
for achieving passivhaus certification. The form factors calculated are the same for all 3 options.

P
ack P

age 554



29  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Building Strategy
Air Tightness

Similar to carbon ratios described earlier in this report, Air 
tightness can be a significant amount of the overall energy loss 
of a building. Hence, for low energy optimised designs, a clear, 
concise and considered airtightness strategy is required.

Research suggests that up to 40% of all energy 
usage in a building is through unwanted air 
infiltration; either through hot air leaking out of 
the building causing more energy use to reheat 
the inside space, or through hot air coming in 
the building causing more energy usage to cool 
the space. By increasing the air tightness of the 
building, those losses can be reduced significantly. 

Air leakage is not only direct heat loss, but air movement 
through insulating components which can reduce their 
effectiveness by up to a factor of 5.

UK Building Regulations express air tightness as the volume of 
air that escapes per m² of external surface area per hour, this 
is referred to as Air Permeability (m3/m2.h), and for large scale 
projects aiming for Passivhaus Certification, it must also achieve 
a specific Air Change Rate (ACH).

Simplicity is key in airtightness design. The fewer 
junctions, balconies, & other features, the simpler 
the airtightness design & delivery will be.
Below is an excerpt from the 'Good Practice Guide to 
Airtightness' from the Passivhaus Trust 2020.
www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/news/detail/?nId=900

Relative air leakage per m2 of external envelope (1:1 @ A4)

Option A

≤ 8.0 m³/m².h

Option B

≤ 3.0 m³/m².h

Option C

≤ 0.4 m³/m².h & ≤ 0.6 ach 
building to achieve both values

Passivhaus 0.6 ACH & 0.4 m3/m2.h [Option A]

EnerPhit 1.0 ACH

AECB 1.5 ACH

3 m3/m2.h [Option B]

Building Regs 'good practice' 5 m3/m2.h

Building Regs backstop 8 m3/m2.h [Option C]

From Option A-B there should be no additional systems to achieve the ≤ 3.0 m³/m².h. - however to achieve the targets mandated for 
Passivhaus Certification, additional airtight systems are required. As they have such a small embodied carbon, they are insignificant in the 
embodied carbon of the building, but by drastically reducing the operational carbon, can have a significant impact on lifetime carbon.

In the case of Farnborough Leisure & Culture Hub, the Air tightness strategy is to use a series of membranes 
mostly on the external  façade) to form a complete system in combination with the general construction. Some 
materials used in construction can form part of the air barrier even though they are not marketed as such and 

these include: Concrete cast in situ, screed, plaster > 5mm depth, EPDM's & glazing/doors > class 3.

Below is an overview of a tried and tested system (Proctors Wraptite system) that can form the air tightness 
barrier - If the project brief is to achieve Passivhaus Certification then these items will form part of the NBS 

specification. https://proctorgroup.com/products/wraptite

Proctors Wraptite 
as general barrier 

membrane on 
sheathing board

Proctors detailing Tape 
around and windows & 

doors connecting the EPDM

Proctors liquid flashing 
around penetration and 
difficult junctions

P
ack P

age 555



30  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Building Strategy
Shading & Temperature Zones

Overheating needs to be considered from the start of a project. 
This is becoming more and more important as that overall 
global temperature is rising and we are collectively facing 
warmer summers. This means that suitable shading strategies 
are considered from the start of the Farnborough Leisure 
centre design process.

"The building orientation should be optimised as far 
as possible to benefit from the opportunity of solar 
gains in the winter without the risk of too much 
gain in the summer. The ideal situation is a north-
south orientation with daylight-optimised glazing 
on the north façade and somewhere between 15 
and 25% glazing on the south façade" - Avoiding 
summer overheating - Passivhaus Trust 2021 - 
www.passivhaustrust.org.

The above ratio is true for typical spaces that have a set 
temperature range similar to a domestic space. For Sport & 
Leisure however, it is important to maximise the solar gains in 
the highest temperature zones such as the *Pool Hall's, to do 
this it is recommended that adjustable internal shading is used 
as this maximises the solar gain year round by letting the light 
(and heat in), while also preventing spectral reflection (glare) 
on the pool water.

Pool Halls should be orientated towards the south 
& south-west in the FLCH design where possible, 
and cooler spaces towards the north & east.
The two main things that effect the amount of solar gain in an 
internal space are:

• G-value of glass - the percent of heat let through - this will 
be between 25% and 65% (covered in the nbs specification)

• Shading - internal vs external

*The recommendation for Farnborough generally based on 
the orientation and internal facilities are recommended here, 
however at stage 3 there will be a further study on a room by 
room basis to evaluate the effectiveness of the shading strategy 
and implications on optimising the solar gain to heat loss ratio

South facing 
*POOL HALL'S

Ex
te

rn
al

Internal

Adjustable Internal Shading

Winter

Summer

South facing 
*generally

Ex
te

rn
al

60°

Internal

Fixed External Shading

Winter

Summer
*The current building design is still under design development. During stage 3 (for all options) a further analysis will be done on the shading extents and types, as well as a review of the orientation.

P
ack P

age 556



31  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Building Strategy
Shading & Temperature Zones cont.

LEGEND

-

+X°C = Heating Set Point

-X°C = Cooling Set Point

This chart has been presented using the heating and cooling 
set points of the spaces for the Leisure facilities only from the 
graphic brief (the office facilities are the same temperature 
and generally no special provision would be required for 
Passivhaus). This then informs the orientation and relationship 
of spaces to maximise Passivhaus Principles. Note that some 
spaces do not have a cooling set point meaning that no 
mechanical cooling is expected for this space and heat only is 
supplied. The set points for both heating & cooling are required 
per room if the project Brief required Passivhaus Certification.

8 Lane x 25m

4 Lane x 20m

No heating/cooling required

Pool Plant: 150m2

Pool store: 94m2

First aid room: 9m2

Hall Stores: 150m2

Studio store: 30m2

Spin Store: 13m2

Fitness office: 14m2

Building stores: 15m2

Storage: 15m2

South & South-West Orientation North & North-East Orientation
30+°C 30°C 29°C 28°C 27°C 26°C 25°C 24°C 23°C 22°C 21°C 20°C 19°C 18°C 17°C 16°C 15°C

Spectator seating: 135m2 +30°C

Steam/sauna: 50m2 
TBC : 30+°C

Main pool: 660m2

(inc. Surrounds) +30°C

Intermediate pool: 312m2 
(inc. Surrounds) +30°C

6 court sports hall / 
Performance Hall: 
932m2 +16°C -18 °C

Spectator seating: 
72m2 +16°C -18 °C

Bleacher Seating: 
27m2 +16°C -18 °C

Fitness studios: 288m2 

+18°C -23 °C

Fitness suite: 675m2 
+18°C -23°C

Spin studio: 125m2 

+18°C -23 °C

Wet change: 460m2 

+24°C

Offices: 48m2

+21°C -23 °C
Dry change: 330m2 

+24°C 

Server: 12m2 

+23°C -23 °C

Staff Welfare: 15m2

+21°C -23 °C

Bistro: 200m2 

+21°C -23 °C

Bistro Servery: 20m2

+21°C -23 °C

Bistro Prep Area / Kitchen: 30m2

+21°C -23 °C

Commercial Leisure: 
175m2 +16°C -18 °C

Soft play: 100m2 

+21°C -23 °C

Retail: 50m2

+21°C -23 °C

P
ack P

age 557



32  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Building Strategy
Filtration, Hot & Cold Water

One of the primary energy users in any building is the hot and 
cold water, not only in the volume of the water being used, but 
also where long runs of pipework pass through cool spaces and 
lose heat to their surrounding, thus overheating the space.

Additionally in the case of Leisure Centres with water facilities 
(any type i.e. standard pools, splash water, steam rooms etc), 
there is a significant amount of energy used to both heat the 
water required. Further, the evaporation of the water increases 
the heating demand on the building.

For context, Spelthorne Leisure Centre & St.Sidwells 
Point (both Passivhaus Project) has almost 35% of 
the total energy of the building to heat the water 
and the pools.

BREEAM water category credits address the distribution and 
usage of domestic. It is then split into 3 sections: domestic 
water consumption, water metering and further evaluation of 
other water uses (i.e. pool filtration). By specifying low flow 
devices with 50% reduction of water use, installing a water 
meter, and evaluating sand vs micro-filtration, 7/10 credits 
are achievable in any of the options which is the equivalent of 
excellent rating for water use as required in the local Plan.

Aside from the volume of water used, hot and cold water 
distribution and heating should form a key part of the energy 
strategy. The strategies and suggestions shown here can also be 
used to address the WAT03 category for BREEAM as above.

The pros vs cons of micro-filtration vs standard sand filtration 
can be found on the FTLeisure website (manufacturer & 
consultants). Further information can also be found in the 
document below. - ftleisure.co.uk/pool-design-and-build/water-
technology/ftmicron4-ceramic-membrane-filtration-system/���������� ������������ ����� ��������������������	
	������������������������������������ ��	�
����	�
�������	���	���������",�7BLO����������	�7""O�
O�����"��������������������B���������L���
O�����"���"����"���7�����BO������������������OO�����"B������",������
O����������������"O"	��������7O�������,,���������������L����7�"�����"���������	""���B�O����7""O����������B��������L���
O������"����������,������OO��	����L"������������",�����	������"7�����"������� !#�$%&''�#!��(�)*O����""���7����,"��
O���������,B�B�����7O���������)*O����""�����	������7���OO��+���������B���)-"	������.��������B���	������OO�����,B�B����������������)/��B��B��O�O"����	�0�B7��"�12�"�����"7�����"��O����	����)3�����	����������,"��L��4������	�0�B7��"��2O���.�����56�8&9 :#&'�$%&''�#!��(�);��B���	��"������L��4�����<"��������)=��B�O�L��4������	�����������"B���	�7�"��������);��B���	�*>?��"���	������������"�������)=�������7O��������������@0A2��������)/���O�
O������"�LO�����	�������O����	��)CD*�
O������7O��������EFG�HFIJKMN

Design challenges:
• Plantroom space for filters and future replacement.
• Plantroom height, typically 3.5m minimum.
• Logistics/access during install and future maintenance.
• Structural loading – up to 20 tonnes operational weight.
• Drainage systems for backwashing – up to 50ltrs/sec.

Operational challenges:
• Ensuring correct backwash flowrates.
• Manual backwashing and air scouring processes.
• Ensuring PAC dosing system is correct.
• Media replacement every 7-10 years.
• Steel filter shotblasting and relining.
• GRP filter replacement.

Benefits of Micro-filtration for the Building:
• 40% Less plantroom footprint than media bed filters
• Greater flexibility on location of filtration plant
• Only 2.5m plantroom height required
• No backwash attenuation tank required
• Less drainage infrastructure
• Smaller balance tanks for level deck pools
• Less structural load on plantroom slab
• Reduced access requirements
• Lower mains power supply

Benefits for the Operator:
• Up to 40% less absorbed power – as a result of the regular washing process, the friction loss across the 

membranes is kept to a minimum. Pumps can therefore be designed with as low as 12m head (against 18m 
head for a media bed filtration system).

• Up to 40% less water – microfiltration removes more particulate than media bed filtration, thereby helping 
keep TDS levels under control. Microfiltration pools can operate using only 15-20ltrs per bather dilution.

• Less heating and chemicals – the potential to reduce water consumption leads to a reduction in the 
amount of chemicals and heat load.

• Less operator time – a completely automated and remotely monitored systems. No manual operations.

Our recommendation is to use micro-filtration system for the pool water regardless of the option selected. It is a tried & tested solution 
both in general projects & in Passivhaus certified Projects, successfully being used in St.sidwells point & Spelthorne Leisure Centre.

P
ack P

age 558



33  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Building Strategy
Filtration, Hot & Cold Water Cont.

Up to 15% of the overall energy use of a Passivhaus building 
can be attributed to heating hot water, and in domestic projects 
can be as much energy as heating the rest of the building. In 
the case of Leisure Centres, it makes sense to invest in drain 
heat recovery systems regardless of which Option (A/B/C) if 
chosen for this project.

There are a number of products on the market that 
can recover heat from showers, all with varying 
degrees of efficiency. The Passivhaus Institute 
actively promote efficiency and have pre-certified a 
number of products. This means that the efficiency 
is already calculated so inclusion is straight forward 
for PH projects. The products can be used on any of 
the options, the certification simply streamlines the 
process to Passivhaus Certification.

*Images and information are based on the 'Joulia' product line, 
which achieves a 60% measured heat recovery rate - https://
joulia.com/en/

Significant amounts of water and energy is used (and subsequently wasted) in Leisure Centre Facilities from showering both pre and post 
swim. This is from water being heated, travellng a long distance through cold zones, coming out of the shower and directly down the drain. 
A simple rethink of this process can save significant amounts of energy by heating water at the shower, and then recoveing the heat within 
the drainage channel before existing to drain.

'Business As Usual'
Hot & Cold water directly connect to the mixing valve, 
flows out of the shower and directly into the drain

Re-directed water supply
The cold water is redirected through the drainage 
channel prior to reaching the mixing valve.

Recovered Heat
The hot shower waste water is directed over the 
cold water, upt o 60% of that heat is extracted and 
used to warm the new incoming cold water, creating 
significant savings on hot water heating energy

'Business As Usual' Recovered heat

P
ack P

age 559



5 • Conclusions & Further Information

P
ack P

age 560



35  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Conclusions
Summary & key findings

The aim of this report was to establish 3 options for costing and 
review based on a series of key performance indicators and 
existing Sport and Leisure performance data.

With a distinct lack of sector specific data regarding embodied 
carbon and operational carbon limits in Sports & Leisure, 
the benchmarks set were based on the CIBSE guide F values, 
Passivhaus and a middle ground (option B).

Once the benchmarks were set, these were then used for the 
basis of the calculations to identify the below for each option:

• Capital Cost
• Operational Cost per year
• Lifetime Carbon emissions

These were then used to calculate the relative carbon 
emissions as well as the payback period. This page summarises 
the Key findings from this excercise.

Subsequent analysis on the design of Farnborough culture and 
leisure hub, concluded that should the client wish to pursue 
full Passivhaus Certification [Option C] as the most ambitious 
strategy, then this should be achievable.

As such, it is important that the document is 
reviewed and signed-off by the Client (or their 
advisors) so that the project team can proceed with 
confidence into the next stages of the project on the 
chosen sustainability strategy.

Option C - Full Passivhaus Certification
Option B - Low carbon / Passive Principles

Option A - 'Business As Usual' �����#.9D9NY�9Y�N��N��D9Y	����
���#Y.�#YD����N����#�9Y��Y	��Y.����������������� �� !"$%&'() !� *�*+$,�'!-�/ 0$%�12#�3�9�.9Y	�4#	���D9NY�������� ,+5$�67�8+),-)!:"� (;$%�(;'!�-0$,,)!:"<=>?@A=B=CE�FGH�IJCK=ALME@JC�JO�O?=P�MCQ�RJS=A<=>?@A=B=CE�FTH�UCVK@E=�W=C=AME@JC�JO�=P=XEA@X@EZ�<=W?PME@JCKH�[\�TT\�T]\�T̂\�T_\�T_̀\�T_a\�T[\�T[I\�Tb\�TbI\��Tc\�̂�\�̂�̀\�̂]\�̂̂�MCQ�̂̂�̀� + +

Capital cost = £49,450,000
Operational cost per year = £1,312,604

Lifetime carbon emissions = 142,165.6 Tonnes (CO2)

Capital cost = £54,855,000 (+10.93%)
Operational cost per year = £656,302 (-50%)

Lifetime carbon emissions = 75,062.8 Tonnes (CO2)

Capital cost = £57,614,000 (+16.51%)
Operational cost per year = £196,890 (-85%)

Lifetime carbon emissions = 28,090.84 Tonnes (CO2)

-47.2%
Lifetime Carbon Emissions -80.24%

Lifetime Carbon Emissions
8.24 year payback period

7.32 year
payback period

P
ack P

age 561



36  •  Farnborough Culture & Leisure Hub  •  Sustainability Strategy

Appendix
Further Reading �����������������������	
�������������������������������������	�
����������

��������������������������������������������������� � ��� �!�"#��$���������	!��
 ��#�� ����� �	������	����#���� ����$������� ��� ��#���������!��!����������
!�������	�		�������#��!���
 ��#���� �� �� ��
 ��#��� ������!!,5�6758�������	�
��������	��������	�������	��������	����������� "#$� %�&��'��#�()**+-��#.�����/0$�� #�&���1�2��"%3�#��4"��$

www.passiv.de/en/03_certification/02_certification_build-
ings/08_energy_standards/08_energy_standards

www.bregroup.com/products/breeam/sustainable-develop-
ment-goals/

www.passivhaustrust.org.uk/guidance_detailwww.betterbuildingspartnership.co.uk/energy-perfor-
mance-certificates-buildings-%E2%80%93-call-evidence

The below are a series of useful reads that elaborate further 
on the wide ranging topics of sustainability and Passivhaus 
for both clients and contractors. Snippets have been used 
throughout this report and credited as necessary.

P
ack P

age 562



Newcastle Studio
John Dobson House

49 New Bridge Street West
Newcastle

NE1 8AN
t: 0191 281 7700

info@gt3architects.com

Nottingham Studio
The Wallis Building
Plumptre Place
Nottingham
NG1 1LW
t: 0115 947 0800

www.gt3architects.com

P
ack P

age 563



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 565

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 567

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	3 FARNBOROUGH LEISURE AND CULTURAL HUB – NEXT STEPS
	AGENDA ITEM NO. ?
	FARNBOROUGH LEISURE AND CULTURAL HUB – NEXT STEPS
	1. INTRODUCTION

	Confidential Appendix 1 - Land Assembly proposals
	Appendix 2 - Operator Procurement Draft Specification
	Appendix 3 - Operator Procurement Contract Conditions
	Appendix 4 - Stage 0 and 1 Report
	Appendix 5 - RIBA 2 Design Update and SoA
	Appendix 6 - Partner and Community Outline Engagement Schedule
	Confidential Appendix 7 - Office Move Options Overview
	Appendix 8 - Mobility Hub Proof of Concept
	Appendix 9 - Sustainability and RoI report
	Confidential Appendix 10 - Order of Cost Estimate Summary Table as at 250923
	Confidential Appendix 11 - Risk Register




